Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences

Natalia Ankusheva · Igor V. Chechushkov · Ivan Stepanov · Maksim Ankushev · Polina Ankusheva *Editors*

Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy

Proceedings of 7th Geoarchaeological Conference, Miass, Russia, 19–23 October 2020



Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences

Series Editors

Natalia S. Bezaeva, The Moscow Area, Russia

Heloisa Helena Gomes Coe, Niterói RJ Brazil, Brazil

Muhammad Farrakh Nawaz, Department of Forestry and Range Management, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan

The series Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences publishes proceedings from scholarly meetings and workshops on all topics related to Environmental and Earth Sciences and related sciences. This series constitutes a comprehensive up-to-date source of reference on a field or subfield of relevance in Earth and Environmental Sciences. In addition to an overall evaluation of the interest, scientific quality, and timeliness of each proposal at the hands of the publisher, individual contributions are all refereed to the high quality standards of leading journals in the field. Thus, this series provides the research community with well-edited, authoritative reports on developments in the most exciting areas of environmental sciences, earth sciences and related fields.

More information about this series at https://link.springer.com/bookseries/16067

Natalia Ankusheva · Igor V. Chechushkov · Ivan Stepanov · Maksim Ankushev · Polina Ankusheva Editors

Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy

Proceedings of 7th Geoarchaeological Conference, Miass, Russia, 19–23 October 2020



Editors Natalia Ankusheva D South Ural Federal Research Center of Mineralogy and Geoecology Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences Miass, Russia

Ivan Stepanov South Ural Federal Research Center of Mineralogy and Geoecology Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences Miass, Russia

Polina Ankusheva D South Ural Federal Research Center of Mineralogy and Geoecology Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences Miass, Russia Igor V. Chechushkov Institute of History and Archaeology Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences Ekaterinburg, Russia

Maksim Ankushev D South Ural Federal Research Center of Mineralogy and Geoecology Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences Miass, Russia

ISSN 2524-342X ISSN 2524-3438 (electronic) Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences ISBN 978-3-030-86039-4 ISBN 978-3-030-86040-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0

@ The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

The Conference "Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy" is dedicated to the famous Russian scientist, Honored Scientist of Russia, Doctor of Geological and Mineralogical Sciences, Prof. Victor V. Zaykov—the founder of geoarchaeology in the Urals. Traditionally, the conference takes place in the Middle September at the South Ural Federal Research Center of Mineralogy and Geoecology of the Urals Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences in Miass.

The conference is organized by the South Ural Federal Research Center of Mineralogy and Geoecology of Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, the South Ural State Humanitarian Pedagogical University, and the South Ural State University.

The multidisciplinary archaeometric research is an important aspect of archaeological surveys. Various mineralogical, chemical, and isotopic research methods that are currently used in the geological study are only just beginning to be introduced into widespread archaeological practice in Russia.

The "Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy" is one of the first conferences which provided a successful collaboration of various researchers from both geological and archaeological areas.

The Geoarchaeological Conference is aimed to coordinate and effectively improve the multilevel training of scientists and make linkages between the young scientists and scientific geological and archaeological institutions. The conference aims to accumulate knowledge on new modern geological, geophysical, mineralogical, petrographic, and geochemical methods for searching and studying of archaeological sites and ancient mines. The conference promotes the application of natural scientific methods in archaeology and contributes to the knowledge of the mineral resource base of ancient societies, the analysis of economic relations in antiquity, and a combination of traditions and innovations from a historical perspective. The main social task of the conference is to form scientific linkages between the young scientists from various geological and archaeological scientific institutions of Russia and the international community and to introduce the new generation of students into the field of science.

The conference meetings deal with several topics. The plenary presentations of professors from leading Russian universities and institutions concern the theoretical

problems of geoarchaeology and ways to select the best research methods aimed at solving specific multidisciplinary issues.

In the presentations of young scientists and students, the examples of the application of rocks and minerals by ancient societies are considered, indicating the mineralogical, petrographic, and geochemical features of natural rocks, the structure of ancient mines, and composition of metal items and slags discovered during the archaeological excavations.

At the conference "Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy-2020," the following topics were covered:

- 1. General Issues of Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy.
- 2. The Methods of Archaeological Sites and Artifacts Investigation.
- 3. Extraction of Ores and Minerals in Ancient Times.
- 4. The Use of Rocks by Ancient Societies.
- 5. Paleometallurgy, Composition of Products of Metallurgical Manufacturing and Ancient Metallic Items.
- 6. GIS in Geoarchaeology.

Since 2014, all meetings of the conference have been broadcast live on the Internet at http://video.mineralogy.ru/live/cast/24. A video archive of presentations is posted on the Website of the Institute of Mineralogy of South Ural Federal Scientific Center of Mineralogy and Geoecology of Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences.

The previous proceedings are available at https://www.springer.com/gp/book/978 3030488635.

Miass, Russia

Natalia Ankusheva Igor V. Chechushkov Ivan Stepanov Maksim Ankushev Polina Ankusheva

Acknowledgments

The VII All-Russian Conference "Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy-2020" and proceedings preparation are supported by the South Federal Research Center of MG UB RAS and the South Ural State Humanitarian Pedagogical University.

The board of editors and authors would like to thank twenty-two reviewers whose feedback allowed improving the quality of the manuscript. All mistakes are sole responsibilities of the authors and the board of editors.

About This Book

All papers published in this volume of *Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences* "Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy— Proceedings of the 6th Geoarchaeological Conference, Miass, Russia, October 19–23, 2020," were subjected by the editors. The expert reviews were complying with professional and scientific standards expected from a scientific journal published by Springer.

Abstract

The proceedings include the extended abstracts presented at the "VII Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy-2020" All-Russian Conference held at the Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia at October 19–23, 2020.

Part I "Ancient Metallurgy: General Issues" is devoted to the general problems of archaeometallurgy of the Bronze and Early Iron Ages, affecting wide regions from the Northern Black Sea coast to China. Here are the authors' concepts on the development of metal production, as well as a series of the latest isotopic–geochemical studies of bronze and iron artifacts.

Part II "Ancient Metallurgy: Case Studies" presents the mineralogical and geochemical characteristics of metal artifacts, ancient ores and metallurgical processing products discovered during archaeological excavations. The results of this part are devoted to the period from the Bronze Age to the Middle Ages.

In the part "Bioarchaeology and Residue Analysis" are the features of the isotopic research of C, N, and Sr in organic and mineral sources from prehistoric sites of Central Eurasia, related to the issues of diet, migration, and individual mobility of people and technologies in antiquity.

The part "Mining of Ores and Minerals in the Past" combines the results of field and analytical studies of the ancient mines. The materials in this chapter are devoted to the Ural region primarily in the Bronze Age.

About This Book

The part "Archaeological Pottery" is devoted to the features of the chemical and mineral composition of ancient ceramic artifacts originating from archaeological sites in the European part of Russia.

The part "Lithic Tolls and Materials" considers stone raw materials from the Paleolithic, Mesolithic, Neolithic and Bronze Age sites of Eastern Europe, the Urals and Central Asia. Taking into account the analysis of morphological and petrographic features, questions of the origin, the use of stone tools, and their role in the subsistence of prehistoric societies are discussed.

The part "Site Analyses and Geographic Information Systems (GIS) in Archaeology" highlights the application of the complex investigation (GIS, photogrammetry, and remote sensing methods) in the study of archaeological heritage of Eurasia.

The last part "Reviews. Thoughts. Memoirs" brings together historical, social, and methodological reviews related to geoarchaeological problems of different eras and regions. The final part of the section is an article dedicated to the memory of Gennady B. Zdanovich, the famous archaeologist of the Southern Urals, who made a significant contribution to the development of interdisciplinary archeology of the region.

The book is intended for archaeologists, historians, museum workers, and geologists and also would benefit students, graduate students, and specialists—who are interested in the application of minerals at different stages of human development.

Contents

Ancient	M	etal	lurgy:	General	Issues
1 uncient	1.11	i c uu	uu Sj.	General	Ibbucb

Internal and External Impulses for the Development of Ancient Chinese Metallurgy	3
Iron Sources and Technologies During the Early Iron Age in the Northern Pontic Region Marianna A. Kulkova, Maya T. Kashuba, Aleksandr M. Kulkov, Tatyana V. Ryabkova, Mariya N. Vetrova, Aurel Zanoci, and Olga V. Bubnova	11
Lead Isotope Analysis of the Bronze Age Metal in the Steppe Cis- and Trans-Urals	29
Metalworking and Metallurgical Slags in Tokskoe Late Bronze Age Settlement Maksim N. Ankushev, Ildar A. Faizullin, Dmitry A. Artemyev, and Ivan A. Blinov	41
Arrowheads from Two Sarmatian Burials of the One Mound: Metal Composition and Shape Relation Ivan A. Blinov and Alexander D. Tairov	53
The Ancient Bronzes of Bashkiria: Findings on the Composition of Non-ferrous Metal Obtained at the Burial Grounds of the Bronze Age Ilshat I. Bakhshiev and Elvir V. Kamaleev	67

Co	ont	ter	nts
U	л	eı	its

The Mineral Composition of Ground Material from the Stone Pestles of the Gonur-Depe Administrative and Religious Center (South-Eastern Karakum)	75
Comparison of the Results of Studying the Composition of the Alloy of Coins of Chersonesus Minting of the Roman and Byzantine Times Anna V. Antipenko, Elena M. Maksimova, Valery Ye. Naumenko, Igor A. Nauhatsky, Tatiana N. Smekalova, and Nikolay A. Alekseienko	83
"A Crucible with Solidified Substance" or an Ore Sample: Experience of the Complex Analysis of a Unique Find of the Chepetskaya Archaeological Culture Elena L. Russkikh, Vasiliy A. Volkov, and Faat Z. Gilmutdinov	93
Kazburun Archaeological Micro-district of the Late Bronze Ageand Copper Ore Mines in the Southern Trans-UralsNikolai B. Shcherbakov, Iia A. Shuteleva, and Alexandra A. Golyeva	105
Bioarchaeology and Residue Analysis	
Diet and Mobility in the Pre-Urals Bronze Age, Russia (Preliminary Results of Stable Isotope Analysis) Andrey V. Epimakhov and Elya P. Zazovskaya	117
Sampling Methodology for Assessing a Multi-proxy Bioavailable Strontium Isotope Baseline for the Orenburg Region (Russia): Fieldwork Results Daria V. Kiseleva, Evgeny S. Shagalov, Anastasia D. Ryanskaya, and Elizaveta A. Pankrushina	127
The Provenance of the Bronze Age Wool Textiles from the Western Orenburg Region (Russia) Natalia I. Shishlina, Daria V. Kiseleva, Lidia V. Kuptsova, Tatyana G. Okuneva, Natalia G. Soloshenko, Evgeny S. Shagalov, and Ildar A. Faizullin	137
Preliminary Results of the Analysis of REE Distribution and ⁸⁷ Sr/ ⁸⁶ Sr Ratios in Organic and Mineral Sources from Paleolithic Sites in the Orkhon Valley, Mongolia Irina A. Vishnevskaya, Tatiana G. Okuneva, Dashzeveg Bazargur, Kristina K. Urazova, Alexei M. Klementiev, Daria V. Marchenko, Byambaa Gunchinsuren, Evgeny P. Rybin, John W. Olsen, and Arina M. Khatsenovich	151

Contents

Mining of Ores and Minerals in the Past

Starodubtseva Yama—A New Ancient Mine of the SouthernTrans-Urals SteppesPolina S. Ankusheva, Irina P. Alaeva, Maksim N. Ankushev,Dmitry A. Artemyev, Evgeny A. Bazhenov, and Anatoly M. Yuminov	167
The Paleosoils Properties of Vorovskaya Yama Copper Mine and the Late Bronze Age Climate on the Trans-Urals Plateau Liudmila N. Plekhanova	181
New Objects of Geoarchaeology of the Baishevsky Archaeological District and the Adjacent Territory of the Bashkir Trans-Urals (The Southern Urals)	189
Assessment of Excavated Volume and Labor Investment at the Novotemirsky Copper Ore Mining Site	199
Archaeological Pottery	
Middle Eastern Glazed Ceramics of the 11th Century in Bilyar, the Capital of Volga Bulgaria Svetlana I. Valiulina	209
Chemical and Technological Characteristics of Glazed Vessels from the Pottery Workshop of the Tsarevskoye Medieval City Svetlana I. Valiulina and Sergei G. Bocharov	223
Asbestos Ceramics from Archaeological Sites of Southern Fennoscandia (Karelia): Mineralogical and Geochemical Aspects Marianna A. Kulkova, Dmitry V. Gerasimov, Alexander M. Kulkov, Alexander M. Zhulnikov, Gleb K. Danilov, and Mikhail A. Streltsov	233
Lithic Tools and Materials	
Diversity of Lithic Raw Material Types Used by the Population of the Mountain-Forest Trans-Urals (3rd–2nd Millennium BC) Olga N. Korochkova, Ivan A. Spiridonov, Irina V. Usacheva, and Evgeny S. Shagalov	257
On the Issue of Consumer Settlements of Flint Products from the Tripolye Settlement-Workshop of the Bodaki in Phase BII Vera V. Terekhina, Natalia N. Skakun, and Vyacheslav M. Bicbaev	267

Contents

The Role of Stone Raw Materials (Not Flint) in Industrial Complexes of the Upper Paleolithic Sites (Based on Materials from the Cosauti Site, Republic of Moldova) Natalia N. Skakun, Sergey I. Kovalenko, Vera V. Terekhina, Dmitrii M. Shulga, and Elena Yu. Mednikova	289
The Use of Pebble Raw Materials in the Paleolithic and Mesolithic of the Urals Yury B. Serikov	303
Obsidian as the Main Raw Material for the Production of Tools in the Early Agricultural Societies of Azerbaijan Roza B. Arazova and Natalia N. Skakun	309
"Home, Sweet Home": Stones from the Bronze Age Settlement Hearths (South Trans-Urals, Russia) Irina P. Alaeva, Maksim N. Ankushev, Egor O. Vasyuchkov, and Polina S. Ankusheva	319
Site Analyses and Geographic Information Systems (GIS) in Archaeology	
Geoarchaeological Studies of Kurgans with Moustaches: Achievements and Prospects Ivan V. Grudochko	335
The Remote Methods for Search and Study of ArchaeologicalObjects in BashkortostanRamil R. Nasretdinov, Ilshat I. Bakhshiev, and Roman N. Gabitov	355
Complex Investigation (GIS, Photogrammetry, and Natural-Scientific Methods) of the Northwestern Colchis Historical and Cultural Landscape in the Late Antique and Medieval Times Galina V. Trebeleva, Gleb Yu. Yurkov, Andrey S. Kizilov, Konstantin A. Glazov, and Tatiana Yu. Shvedchikova	365
The Use of Remote Sensing Methods for Studying of the AncientGreek Land Division System of Tauric Chersonesoson the Mayachnyy Peninsula of the Crimea PeninsulaTatiana N. Smekalova and Edgar A. Terekhin	383
Geoarchaeological Studies on the Territory of Baikal Siberia: Approach and Methods Natalia E. Berdnikova, Ivan M. Berdnikov, Galina A. Vorobieva, Alexander A. Shchetnikov, Ivan A. Filinov, Ksenia A. Krutikova, Dmitrii P. Zolotarev, and Ekaterina A. Lipnina	391

Contents

Reviews. Thoughts. Memoirs

Historical Experience and Ancient Metal Production in the South	
Trans-Urals	413
Nikolay B. Vinogradov	
The Problems with the Definition of Artifacts Material (Geologists' Help for Archaeologists)	421
Larisa Ya. Kabanova and Elizaveta V. Zaykova	
Search and Mining of Silver in the Urals Evgenii A. Kurlaev	435
Problems and Perspectives of Stone Type Investigation: Attempts to Find Out an Origin of Medieval Sculptures of Eurasian Nomads Aleksandr V. Yevglevskyy	443
About the Life and Work of Archaeologist Prof. Gennady B. Zdanovich Natalia Ankusheva	449

Ancient Metallurgy: General Issues

Internal and External Impulses for the Development of Ancient Chinese Metallurgy



Stanislav A. Grigoriev

Abstract There are two points of view on the origins of Chinese metallurgy. The most widespread idea is that it originated and developed as a result of impulses from the steppe cultures of Southern Siberia. The second point of view: Chinese metallurgy originated in the Neolithic of the Yangtze basin and then spread to the Yellow River basin. This version explains the paradox of Chinese metallurgy better, as copper-tin alloys replaced pure copper. However, the analysis of the Neolithic materials of the Yangtze and Yellow River basins showed that metallurgical production was there in a much-underdeveloped form. The number of copper objects has been exaggerated due to erroneous dating. The earliest well-documented smelting sites appeared in the late 3rd millennium BC in Gansu, but there is no evidence of their connection with Siberian cultures. There is no evidence of Andronovo influences. The Seima-Turbino impulse, which coincided with the beginning of the Shang Dynasty around the 16 century BC, probably, had an impact. But it spread not from the west but the north. This impulse probably stimulated the use of copper-tin alloys, but the use of bronzes in a ritual context was the main reason.

Keywords Bronze Age · Metallurgy · China · Technologies · Socio-economic processes

1 Introduction

In most regions of the Old World (Northern Eurasia, Europe, and the Near East), the development of ancient metallurgy was realized according to one pattern that can be considered universal. With the socio-economic development, the demand for metal increased, which caused a transition to new types of ores and technologies of their smelting. This, in turn, stimulated the transition to new types of alloys. As a result, everywhere there were two interrelated trends: (1) copper-oxidized ore—ore with low-melting gangue–ore with gangue and impurities of arsenic–ore with additions

Institute of History and Archeology, Ural Branch of RAS, Ekaterinburg, Russia

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_1

S. A. Grigoriev (🖂)

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences,

of arsenic minerals—copper-iron sulfides and ores in refractory rocks (e.g., quartz); (2) pure copper–arsenic copper–tin bronze (Grigoriev 2017, 2018). However, the dynamics are different in China. Here, after a very limited use of pure copper, there was a sharp rise in production with the transition to the smelting of tin bronzes. Two explanations have been proposed for this paradox. The first is based on the idea that the metallurgy of the Gansu province (between Xinjiang and the Great Plain) was a transmission link between the metallurgy of the Eurasian steppe and the Erlitou culture of the Yellow River, which formed the basis of the subsequent metallurgy formed in the Neolithic of the Middle Yangtze. During this period, the use of sulfides and tin bronzes developed; therefore, it is proposed to consider this period as the Bronze Age (Guo et al. 2019, etc.).

2 Results and Discussion

2.1 Cultural Specificity in Metal Consumption

An important difference between China and other regions is the role that metal played in culture. The bulk of the metal is found in a prestigious ritual context. In comparison with this, the use of metal in warfare was somewhat limited while growing steadily. Despite the rapid development of agriculture and the emergence of large urban centers in the Neolithic, this did not increase metal consumption. Changes begin only with the formation of the Shang State, and the overwhelming mass of metal of this time is represented by ritual bronze vessels. This had a significant impact on the nature of changes in the types of alloys and smelting technologies. But it is also necessary to understand the significant difference in metallurgy in different regions of modern China and different periods. A summary statistical procedure for this entire territory is meaningless, and it is necessary to analyze all these territories separately. However, this requires many analyses, but the number of chemical analyses for China is slightly more than 3000, and the finds of smelting places are extremely rare. Therefore, we can trace only the most general trends.

2.2 Western Periphery

The most straightforward situation is observed in the west of Xinjiang, where during the first half of the 2nd millennium BC, metal objects have analogies in the Andronovo culture, and then in the cultures of the steppe Final Bronze Age (see Mei 2000), and smelting of copper-iron sulfides and tin alloys appeared. In Gansu, the first metallurgical production was formed in the late 3rd—early 2nd millennia BC in the Xichengyi culture (Li et al. 2015), and then in the Qijia and Siba cultures. It is

characterized by the smelting of oxidized ore in quartz rock and subsequent remelting of the resulting product together with arsenic minerals. Sometimes tin minerals were used as an alloying component. However, this technology has nothing in common with Eurasian technologies to produce both arsenic and tin alloys. In addition, the parallels proposed in the Qijia and Siba cultures in the metal of southern Siberia (Afanasievo, Okunev, Seima-Turbino, Andronovo) are primarily erroneous. More correct are parallels with the later Karasuk metal, which in China is chronologically comparable already with the Late Shang period (the thirteenth to eleventh centuries BC). Nevertheless, this technology was probably borrowed from an unclear source so far, since it should be preceded by several stages given in the introduction.

About the beginning of the second half of the 2nd millennium BC, this technology, apparently, spread to the southwest of Shaanxi (Chen et al. 2017). Still, we cannot deduce from this its spread to the east and the formation of the Shang metallurgy of the Yellow River basin since the latter was based on copper-iron sulfides and alloying of metallic copper with tin.

2.3 Metallurgy of the Yellow and Yangtze Rivers

Metallurgy in the Yangtze and the Yellow River basins formed already in the Neolithic, during the 5–3 millennia BC (Li 2004, p. 189, 191). However, the number of copper objects from this period is exaggerated. Probably, the total number from the Pre-Shang period does not exceed 150 units. However, it is difficult to calculate due to the erroneous or uncertain context of many finds. Moreover, most objects belong to the final phase, to the late 3rd—first third of the 2nd millennium BC (An 1982–83, p. 69). In the north, the metal is represented mainly by pure copper, and single objects were made of arsenic copper and brass.

In the south, metallurgy remains are associated with the Qiujialing and Shijiahe cultures (Fig. 1). But what is described as copper ingots are pieces of oxidized ore; objects described as metallurgical furnaces are usual pits. The fragments of large "smelting vats" are fragments of vats for making alcoholic beverages. There is no reliable evidence on ore smelting in any of these regions, although some finds (arsenic copper in the north, tuyeres, and ore in the south) suggest this. But even if it is possible to show the existence of metallurgy, it could not be a base for the subsequent Shang production.

The developed metallurgy of the Bronze Age, with tin and tin-lead alloys and smelting of copper-iron sulfides, appeared in the Yellow River Basin during the transition from period 2 to period 3 of Erlitou, and the beginning of the Shang Dynasty can be associated with this transition. In radiocarbon chronology, period 3 is dated between 1610 and 1555 BC (Zhang et al. 2008, 197–210). Chinese scholars see the roots of this dynasty to the northeast from the future core of the Shang state, in Hebei, and the west of Shandong (Chang 1983, p. 500, 501, 509, 510). Significantly, the Seima-Turbino tradition of casting socketed objects from tin bronzes appeared exactly in the area of distribution of ceramics of the Middle Shang period and to the



Fig. 1 Map of metallurgical sites and cultures on the territory of the PRC mentioned in the text

northeast of it (Lin 2014). Most of the objects are concentrated in the area of the Early Shang capital, Erlitou. Some objects are also present to the west, in Gansu, but they are cast from pure and arsenic copper, in some instances with minimal tin admixtures (see Fig. 1). The coincidence of these processes suggests that the tradition of these alloys was brought to China by the Seima-Turbino tribes, not through Xinjiang and Gansu, but Liaoning and Hebei. This route is confirmed by the fact that the spearheads in the northeast are morphologically closer to the Seima spearheads and were cast from alloys with a high tin content (Grigoriev 2021). To the south and southwest, this alloy is replaced by arsenic or pure copper. The formation of the Shang state led to a sharp increase in the demand for the metal, and this growth was provided by the classic combination of alloys with tin and smelting of copper-iron sulfides. At the same time, smelting of sulfides was carried out in large volumes in the mining areas, and copper or matte was already delivered to the Shang foundries in the core area.

The increased demand for metal led to the territorial expansion of the ore base. As a result, Shang metallurgical technologies penetrated the Yangtze, where the richest deposits of copper and tin are located. Large centers, for example, Panlongchen, began to function there, providing metal supplies to the north (Liu et al. 2019). These centers mark the distribution of Shang culture and technology, but it does not follow that they were a part of the Shang in a political sense.

In addition, Shang technologies penetrated to the west, to Shaanxi and Gansu, up to the east of Xinjiang, and the north, to Inner Mongolia and Liaoning, forming a broad belt of the Northern periphery of the Shang civilization. About the fourteenth to thirteenth centuries BC, in the late Shang period, on this periphery, Karasuk-type objects of southern Siberia are widespread, and the production of arsenic copper (Li et al. 2013, 4, 6), which is characteristic of Karasuk culture. Thus, the Northern periphery, with its Siwa culture in Gansu, Zhukaigou in the south of Inner Mongolia, and the Lower Xiajiadian culture in the east of Inner Mongolia and west of Liaoning, becomes for many years an area of interaction between steppe and Chinese cultures and a place where steppe and Chinese technologies coexisted.

3 Conclusions

Thus, there are no grounds for the opinion that Chinese metallurgy developed in a somehow unusual way. It was developing according to the same principles as metallurgy in the western regions of Eurasia. The growing demand for metal also stimulated its development, and the latter by the socio-economic development of society. As in the west, we see a strict correspondence of ore and technological schemes to the same types of alloys. Of course, as in the west, there are some deviations from this, caused by the specific raw material situation, trade relations, etc. Sharp technological changes were driven by external technological impulses, which was not unusual in many other regions. Therefore, the opinion about the unique ways of Chinese metallurgy is largely mythologized. It was subordinated to general trends based on universal socio-economic and physicochemical laws and the peculiarities of different types of raw materials in ore deposits.

In the Yellow River and Yangtze basins, metallurgy originated in the Neolithic and existed in a very weak undeveloped form. At the end of the 3rd millennium BC, there was a technological impulse from an undefined western source to Gansu, which spread to the east in the 2nd millennium BC (Fig. 2). For the formation of the Shang metallurgy, the spread of the Seima-Turbino tradition from the north was especially important. Subsequently, we see the influence of the Shang metallurgy to the south, north, and west. In western Xinjiang, during this period, Andronovo impulses are observed, followed by impulses of the steppe cultures of the Final Bronze Age. Finally, in the 2nd millennium BC, there was an interaction between the Karasuk metallurgical traditions from southern Siberia and the Shang tradition along the entire Northern periphery.



Fig. 2 Cultural impulses influenced the development of Chinese metallurgy

Acknowledgements This work was supported by a grant from the Center for Chinese Studies (Taipei, Taiwan).

References

- An, Z.: Some problems concerning China's early copper and bronze artifacts. Early China, 8, 53–75 (1982-83)
- Chang, K.C.: Sandai archaeology and the formation of states in ancient China: processual aspects of the origins of Chinese civilization. In: The origins of Chinese civilization. Berkley, Los Angeles, London: University of California Press, 495–582 (1983)
- Chen, K., Liu, S., Li, Y., Mei, J., Shao, A., Yue, L.: Evidence of arsenical copper smelting in Bronze Age China: A study of metallurgical slag from the Laoniupo site, central Shaanxi. Journal of Archaeological Science, 82, 31–39 (2017)
- Grigoriev, S. Social processes in Ancient Eurasia and development of types of alloys in metallurgical production. Archaeoastronomy and Ancient Technologies, 5(2), 17–44 (2017)
- Grigoriev, S.A. Social processes in ancient Europe and changes in the use of ore and alloys in metallurgical production. Archaeoastronomy and Ancient Technologies, 6(2), 1–30 (2018)
- Grigoriev, S.A. Proniknovenie seyminsko-turbinskoy traditsii v kitay i razvitie tehnologii olovyannogo legirovaniya (Penetration of Seima-Turbino tradition into China and the development of tin alloying technology). Multidistsiplinarnyie issledovaniya v arheologii (Multidisciplinary Research in Archeology), 1 (2021) (In press)

- Guo, J., Qiu, Sh., Guo, L. [郭静云, 邱诗萤, 郭立新].: Shijiahe Culture: The Bronze Civilization created in East Asia [石家河文化:东亚自创的青铜文明]. Cultural Relics in Southern China [郭静云; 邱诗萤; 范梓浩; 郭立新; 陶洋], 4, 67–82 (2019) (In Chinese)
- Li, B.: Patterns of development among China's Bronze cultures. In: X. Yang (Ed.). New perspectives on China's past. Chinese archaeology in the twentieth century. New Haven, London: Yale university press, 2004. P. 188–199.
- Li Y., Chen G., Qian W., Wang H. [李延祥, 陈国科、潜伟, 王辉].: Research on the Smelting Relics of Zhangye Xichengyi Site [张掖西城驿遗址冶铸遗物研究]. Archaeology and Cultural Relics [考古与文物], 2, 119–128 (2015) (In Chinese)
- Li, Y., Du, N., Gao, Y. [李延祥,杜宁, 高月志].: A preliminary study on copper smelting slag unearthed from Ying City relics in Laiwu City, Shandong Province, China [山东莱芜赢城遗 址炼铜渣初步研究]. Science of conservation and archaeology [文物保护与考古科学], 25(2), 1–6 (2013) (In Chinese)
- Lin, M. [林梅村].: Eurasian Steppe Culture and the Prehistoric Silk Road [欧亚草原文化与史前丝绸之路]. In: The Silk Road Tianshan Corridor–Changji, Xinjiang Ancient Ruins and Collection of Cultural Relics [丝绸之路天山廊道—新疆昌吉古代遗址与馆藏文物精品]. Beijing: Wenwu chubanshe, 656–673 (2014) (In Chinese)
- Liu, R., Pollard, A.M., Rawson, J., Tang, X., Bray, P., Zhang, C.H.: Panlongcheng, Zhengzhou and the Movement of Metal in Early Bronze Age China. Journal of World Prehistory, 32, 393–428 (2019)
- Mei, J.: Copper and Bronze Metallurgy in Late Prehistoric Xinjiang. Its cultural context and relationship with neighbouring regions. BAR International Series 865. Oxford: Archaeopress, 202 p (2000)
- Mei, J.: Cultural Interaction between China and Central Asia during the Bronze Age. Proceedings of the British Academy, 121, 1–39 (2003)
- Zhang, X., Qiu, S.H., Cai, L., Bo, G., Wang, J., Zhong, J.: Establishing and Refining the Archaeological Chronologies of Xinzhai, Erlitou and Erligang Cultures. Chinese Archaeology, 8, 197–210 (2008)

Iron Sources and Technologies During the Early Iron Age in the Northern Pontic Region



Marianna A. Kulkova, Maya T. Kashuba, Aleksandr M. Kulkov, Tatyana V. Ryabkova, Mariya N. Vetrova, Aurel Zanoci, and Olga V. Bubnova

Abstract The questions about the early stages of development of iron technology (the first millennium BC) in the Northern Pontic region are considered in the article. Three traditions of iron making were identified: the Eastern European, the Caucasian/Ancient Oriental, and the Hallstattian (Carpathian-Danube). It is important to compare geochemical and technological features of the earliest iron items belonging to different iron-making traditions and to determine the iron ore sources. The precise analytical methods (Metallography, SEM–EDX, pXRF, XRD, m-CT) were used for the determination of geochemical and mineralogical composition of iron items and slags from the sites of Saharna Mare (Hallstatt tradition) and Tarasova Balka (the Eastern European tradition). As a result of investigations, various iron manufacturing technologies and used iron ore sources were determined.

Keywords Early iron manufacture \cdot Metallography \cdot SEM-EDX slags \cdot Geochemistry of iron slags \cdot Hallstatt (Carpathian-Danube) iron making tradition \cdot The Eastern European iron making tradition \cdot m-CT of iron items

1 Introduction

One of the innovations in the ancient technologies is the discovery of iron ore mining and iron smelting. This allowed for the development of iron-working. Unlike the

M. A. Kulkova (⊠) Herzen State University, St. Petersburg, Russia

M. T. Kashuba Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS, St. Petersburg, Russia

A. M. Kulkov · M. N. Vetrova · O. V. Bubnova St.Petersburg State University, St. Petersburg, Russia

T. V. Ryabkova Hermitage State Museum, St. Petersburg, Russia

A. Zanoci
Moldova State University, Chişinău, Moldova

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_2

bronze production where the process of casting was used, the production of iron items required drastically new methods such as hammering. The modern technology of cast iron production was developed only in 18 c. AD after the high-temperature blast furnaces started being used. Therefore, the development of blacksmithing craft in ancient times was a long and multistep process requiring repetitive work and practice. This process lasted from 3 to 1th millenia BC and incorporated the early skills with working of meteoritic iron, ore mining, the production of bloomery iron, and mastering of work with this material.

The process of penetration of iron technology in the societies of Eastern Europe (from the Urals to the eastern Carpathians) was uneven. Primarily it was developed in the societies which previously mastered the bronze making. They were familiar with copper and tin ore mining and the methods of production and working of bronze and copper alloys. Societies of Eastern Europe fully mastered the methods of iron manufacture by the 9th c. BC. The total number of artifacts from the Bronze-Iron Ages transition phase in Eastern Europe consists of more than 100 items. Among them, 20% were found in the kurgans of early nomads and belong to the "Cimmerian" culture. This common occurrence of iron products suggests the existence of iron production technology among the local people of Eastern Europe. At the same time, bronze began to be replaced with iron in two main categories of objects, weapons and tools, which needed to be sharp and hard.

The chronology of Early Iron Age cultures in the Northern Pontic region is currently debated. Mainly it is because of the lack of sufficient number of radiocarbon dates for the Final Bronze age and the Early Iron age. There are about 30 radiocarbon dates for a period of 13/12th–8th c. BC. For this timespan, the distribution of the radiocarbon dates bears uneven character, with existence of chronological lacunas for some archaeological cultures. Based on archaeological collections and radiocarbon dates the transition period (*Ferraeneum*) between Bronze Age and Iron Age was identified (Bochkarev and Kashuba 2018). This period incorporates the later phases of the Late Bronze cultures including Gáva-Holigrady, Bondarikha, Belozerskaya, as well as Visotskaya, Chernolesskaya, Saharna and Holercani-Hanska. It also includes the "Cimmerian" sites of the first phase and earlier sites of the second phase. Iron items were not found during excavations of the sites dated to this time in the eastern part of the Eastern Europe (Kašuba et al. 2019).

On the basis of the investigation of evidence from early iron metallurgy in the region, Terekhova and Erlikh (2002) developed a concept of the appearance of the Eastern European iron technological tradition. The main technical characteristics of this tradition are the use of the heterogenous mixture of soft iron and low carbon steel. The Eastern European tradition was developed in the Belozerskaya culture. This tradition was spread throughout the Northern Pontic region reaching the western part of the forest zone. In the steppe zone of the sites of Belozerskaya culture, the iron products represent items for thrusting and cutting (knives and daggers) and adornments. There are also finds of bimetallic daggers combining bronze and iron metal. The dating of these items is 11th–10th c. BC. In the forest-steppe zone (the Middle Dnieper region), the thrusting and cutting items (knives and awls) were found in excavations of sites of Belogrudovskaya and Chernolesskaya cultures (the right

bank of Dnieper) as well Bondarikhinskaya culture (on the left bank of Dnieper). They are dated to the end of 11th(?) and 10th–9th c. BC (Kašuba et al. 2019).

In the area of the Northern Pontic region apart from the Eastern European tradition, N. Terekhova and V. Erlikh also identified the Caucasian (Trans-Caucasus) or Ancient Near Eastern iron-working tradition. Kashuba (2013) identified the Hallstatt (Carpathian-Danube) iron-working tradition. The latter appeared in the Eastern Carpathian region due to the spread of tribes from the Carpathian basin, Middle and Low Danube basin during the final Bronze—early phases of the Early Iron Age (end of 2nd-beginning of 1st millenium BC). The chronological framework of these cultures coincides with the European chronology of the Hallstatt period: HaA–HaD phase (Kashuba, 2012).

The results of investigation of iron artifacts produced via Eastern European tradition were presented in several publications (Shramko et al. 1977; Bidzilja et al. 1983, etc.). The results of investigation of iron products from the Bel'skoe settlement (Fig. 1) are presented in the recent publication by Shramko et al. (2020). The metallography of three knives from the sites of Bondarikhinskaya culture (11th-9th c. BC) showed that one product (knife from the Chervony Shlyakh-1 site) has a poor quality with low level of iron-working skills. However, the other two items (knives from the Oskol site) are characterized by good quality and high level of forge welding and were manufactured from the soft iron and unevenly carburized steel (Shramko and Buinov 2012). Metallography and X-ray analysis of two bimetallic daggers from the Sofievka and Goloviatino sites belonging to Chernolesskaya culture showed that the dagger from the Golovjatino site was produced from the low quality bloomery iron, while the dagger from the Sofievka site was produced from the moderately carburized steel (Shramko et al. 1977). The metallography of two iron knives from burial-1 of Kochkovatoe mound-31 of Belozerskaya culture showed that bloomery iron was used for their manufacture (Vanchugov 1990). In the artefact assemblage



Fig. 1 Map of the location of Saharna Mare (11-10 cc. BC) and Tarasova Balka (7-6 cc. BC) sites

from the burial-2 of Stepnoy/Zapovitne mound-5 a bimetallic dagger dated to 11th c. BC was found (Otroshchenko 2003). Recently, the radiocarbon date of 1375–1131 cal BC was obtained for the bimetallic dagger from burial-3 of Khadzhillar mound-1. This date indicates the use of bronze-iron daggers by people of Belozerskaya culture already at the 12th–11th c. BC.

The above-named iron-making traditions were distinguished mainly based on the investigation of materials from archaeological collections via traditional archaeological methods. The advanced analytical methods have not been applied to most of the archaeological iron artifacts of this period. In this sense, it is important to compare the geochemical characteristics of the earliest iron items belonging to different traditions in order to reconstruct their technologies and to find out about the raw ore sources from which the iron was smelted. The main problem of the researchers is often a small number of iron artifacts from the transition period and the early phases of the Early Iron Age for the considered territory. One of the causes for the lack of iron materials is their bad preservation during burial due to corrosion. Due to these factors, many initially existent objects were not preserved. Almost all iron artifacts of the named period are stored in museums. Therefore very small number of iron fragments was sampled for investigation. Apart from metallography, we used modern high precision analytical methods (e.g. SEM-EDX) for the study of iron pieces of 1–5 mm size. The sampling of this small amount of material largely did not affect the appearance of the museum items. In some cases, just iron corrosion from the item surface was analyzed.

2 Materials and Methods

In this work, we present the first results of multidisciplinary investigation of five archeological iron artefacts belonging to various metallurgical traditions and seven iron slags. The complex analytical methods were applied for the study of (1) iron knives from the Saharna Mare site (11th–10th c. BC) manufactured via the Hall-statt Carpathian-Danube iron-working tradition (Figs. 1 and 2) and (2) steel arrow-heads and metallurgical slags from the Tarasova Balka site (Ryabkova 2015) (see



Fig. 2 Iron knives from the Saharna Mare site (a 44/4, b 65/1, c 144/1) and iron arrowheads from the Tarasova Balka site (d V11/47, e B 11/40)



Fig. 3 XRD analysis of slag mineralogical composition

Fig. 1). These products are from the early Scythian period (7th–6th c. BC) and were manufactured via the Eastern European iron-working traditions.

Three small iron pieces from three knives (see Fig. 2a, b, c) from the Saharna Mare site were analyzed by SEM-EDX, metallography (Polarizing Microscopy Leica 4005P), and Digital microscopy (Keyence VHX1000) (Fig. 3).

It needs to be noted that only above-listed iron artifacts were found at the site. The remains of slags and other by-production of metallurgical production have not been found during the excavations. Small pieces of iron (2-3 mm) were embedded into epoxy resin and polished. Then, the surfaces were treated with a 10% solution of HNO₃ in ethanol. This pretreatment allowed conducting metallographic investigation on the surface of the fragments (see Fig. 3b).

The rich collection of bronze and iron products was found at Tarasova Balka site located in the North-Western Caucasus region (see Fig. 1). The most interesting are two arrowhead samples (Fig. 2d, e). For their investigations, the methods of SEM-EDX, p-XRF, and m-CT were applied. Slags were dispersed across the whole of Tarasova Balka not concentrating at any specific area of the site. No possible manufacturing zones were identified at the site. Overall, using various analytical methods we investigated seven slag samples and one ore sample. The chemical composition was determined by p-XRF on the polished surfaces three times. The

average values of elemental concentrations are presented in Table 1. In accordance with instruction of the pXRF analyzer, standard reference materials were measured after initialization of the system, and before each set of measurement of archeological samples. The detailed geochemical-mineralogical analysis was done using scanning

Sample number	P, ppm	S, pp	m	Cl, ppn	n	K, %	Ca,	%	Ti, ppm	V, ppm
#30, YUKE, R5 (ore)	709	373		3262		0.7	1.57	7	782	66
#34, TB, V5-1 (slag)	n/o	776		2541		0.82	5.39)	787	34
#37, TB, V11-1(slag)	n/o	929		2689		0.37	25.0)8	344	17
#31, TB, A19-1(slag)	n/o	1211		3344		1.56	2.22	2	934	21
#40, TB, B19-1(slag)	2835	168		2154		1.34	1.43	3	2290	51
#35, TB, V12-2(slag)	n/o	1033		1437		1.02	1.28	3	1708	44
#39, TB, A1-2(slag)	n/o	922		1599		4.24	5.2	l	779	43
#33, TB, B12-2(slag)	n/o	<150		2021		1.36	2		778	29
E11/40 (arrow)	6610	1092		n/o		1.24	3.09)	2337	218
B11/47 (arrow)	10,011	1610		n/o		1.01	3.9		1840	176
Sample number	Cr, ppm	Mn, p	pm	Fe, %	N	i, ppm	Cu, j	opm	Zn, ppm	Zr, ppm
#30, YUKE, R5 (ore)	27	620		4.29	42	2	1		5	42
#34, TB, V5-1(slag)	8	65		3.88	5	5	1		6	45
#37, TB, V11-1(slag)	5	496		0.38	9		3		3	44
#31, TB, A19-1(slag)	23	154		6.27	9	1	37		2	46
#40, TB, B19-1(slag)	34	129		5.41	83	3	3		4	50
#35, TB, V12-2(slag)	45	294		1.48	3	7	16		11	49
#39, TB, A1-2(slag)	<8	156		9.97	1'	76	103		2	42
#33, TB, B12-2(slag)	<9	57		10.65	1:	56	59		2	41
E11/40 (arrow)	82	231		11.33	n/	/o	25		22	20
B11/47 (arrow)	101	189		9.16	n/	/o	37		36	28
Sample number	Pd, p	pm	Ag	, ppm		Cd, ppn	n	Sn,	ppm	LE, %
#30, YUKE, R5(ore)	4		16)		8		5		92.84
#34, TB, V5-1(slag)	56		34	ŀ		20		55		89.46
#37, TB, V11-1(slag)	56		26	ó		8		51		73.7
#31, TB, A19-1(slag)	n/o		15	5		14		14		89.36
#40, TB, B19-1(slag)	39		33	5		5		51		91.03
#35, TB, V12-2(slag)	2		6	ó		6		5		95.76
#39, TB, A1-2(slag)	48		52	2		33		35		80.18
#33, TB, B12-2(slag)	25		60)		34		31		85.67
Б11/40 (arrow)	n/o		159)		n/o		36		83.25
B11/47 (arrow)	n/o		156)		n/o		44		84.51

Table 1 The contents of chemical elements in slags and iron items by pXRF analysis

electron microscopy (SEM-EDX) on polished section surfaces and XRD analysis of powder probes.

SEM-EDX analysis of samples was carried out at the Hitachi S-3400 N Scanning electron Microscope. The automatic powder diffractometer D2Phaser (Bruker) was applied for XRD analysis of slag mineralogical composition (see Fig. 3). The bulk chemical composition of samples was obtained on p-XRF Innov XSystems. Inner reconstruction of arrowheads was provided by the SkyScan m-CT Scanner 1172 (Bruker). All measurements were carried out at the Centres of RDMI and "Geomodel" in the St. Petersburg State University using standard procedures.

3 Results and Discussion

Saharna Mare site. The samples from three iron knives were analyzed (see Fig. 2a, b, c).

In sample 44/4 (#62 in Database of iron items) in according to SEM–EDX analysis (Fig. 4c) material of light-gray color consists of pure iron (Fe) without impurities. Inclusions of minerals of dark gray color consist of Fe-olivine (fayalite), porous inclusions (grains) of light gray color have a composition of FeO (Mn, Ti) and comprised by goethite and magnetite. The composition of fayalite is close to stoichiometric; admixtures of Mn and Mg are attested. Inclusions of fayalite (Fe₂(SiO₄))



Fig. 4 a Digital microscopy of a thin section of knives; **b** Optical reflected microscopy of knives; **c** SEM-EDX microscopy of knives

were formed as a result of the melting of iron ores. In the sample, the presence of Mn, Ti in olivine can be a marker of iron ore type. Such geochemical association and olivine formation during fusion can be evidence of using magnetite-ilmenite ores which are genetically connected with intrusive magmatic rocks (e.g. granite, diorite). At the same time, alluvial deposits of titan-magnetite sands which are known in the coastal part of the Black Sea could have also been used (Inozemtcev et al. 2019).

In the reflected light, the alloy used in the sample 65/1 (#63) (Fig. 4b) is different in comparison to the sample 44/4. The objects mainly consist of secondary minerals (goethite and limonite) and has strongly corroded structure. Individual grains and secondary multilayer oolites with needle crystals were formed during the secondary corrosion. The main mineral of the matrix is hematite (Fe₂O₃) with the presence of elements (Si, P, Ca, K). The most corroded part has a composition of limonite (FeOOH × H₂O) (Fig. 4c). The mineralogical and geochemical composition suggests that the sedimentary ores were used for bloomery iron production. Possibly, it was lake or bog ores. The metal was smelted at the temperature of about 900–1100 °C.

The structure and mineralogy of sample 144/1 (#64) (see Fig. 4) according to optical parameters is close to those of the sample 44/4. Based on the results of SEM-EDX the matrix of the sample consists of pure iron. In the matrix, there are individual grains of silicate minerals (plagioclase) and goethite (FeO (Mn, Ti)), and oxides of iron. Traces of Mn, Ti can be an evidence of the use of magnetite ore.

The mineralogical and geochemical investigation allowed determining two different sources of iron ores which probably were used for the manufacture of iron alloys for knives from the Saharna Mare site. Two of these samples (44/4, 144/1) were made of iron ores of high quality (magnetite-ilmenite composition). Possible sources of these ores are alluvial magnetite sands deposited in the coastal part of the Northern Black Sea. Their use for iron metallurgy was published elsewhere (Inozemtcev et al. 2019). The fusion of these ores was at temperatures about 1100–1200 °C and more. Another source of raw material for the making of 65/1 knife was the lake bog or floodplain limonitic (oolite) ores. Their elaboration for bloomery iron did not require such high smelting temperature as in the first case. The temperature could have reached about 900–1100 °C. Iron is more corrosive and of bad quality. Probably, there were two impulses of receipt of raw material: one way—from the South (Northern Black Sea coast) and another way was from the North. The second source could be presented by local bog iron ores.

Tarasova Balka site. The investigation of slag and ore allowed determining their mineralogical and geochemical compositions and textural features which provides information about ancient technological processes of iron making and raw material sources. The results of XRF and XRD analysis are presented in Tables 1 and 2.

1. Sample of ore (#30, YUKE, R5). Ferruginous sandstone is bright red color (Fig. 5a).

Based on SEM-EDX analysis, the structure of the sample is a grainy aggregate consisting of rounded grains of quartz, calcite, angular grains of feldspar, and pyroxene. Quartz is presented by isometric $100-250 \ \mu m$ grains. On the surface of

Table 2 The mineralogical compositi	on of slags and ores on data of XRD a	nalysis	
#30, YUKE, R5	#34, TB, V5-1	#37, TB, V11-1	#31, TB, A19-1
Quartz SiO ₂	Quartz SiO2	Quartz SiO2	Quartz SiO ₂
Feldspar NaAlSi ₃ O ₈ -CaAl ₂ Si ₂ O ₈	Feldspar NaAlSi ₃ O ₈ -CaAl ₂ Si ₂ O ₈	Feldspar NaAlSi ₃ O ₈ -CaAl ₂ Si ₂ O ₈	Olivine-fayalite Fe ₂ SiO ₄
Kaolinite Al ₂ Si ₂ O ₅ *(OH) ₄	Kaolinite Al ₂ Si ₂ O ₅ *(OH) ₄	Pyroxene-diopside CaMg[Si ₂ O ₆]	Leucite K(Si ₂ Al)O ₆
Calcite CaCO ₃	Calcite CaCO ₃	Calcite CaCO ₃	Magnetite Fe3O4
Hematite Fe2O3	Goethite FeO(OH)	Mica	Roenite Ca4(Mg8Fe2Ti2)O4[Si6Al6O36]
Microcline KAlSi ₃ O ₈	Mica		Molybdenite MoS2
Mica			
#40, TB, B19-1	#35, TB, V12-2	#39, TB, A1-2	#33, TB, B12-2
Quartz SiO ₂	Quartz SiO2	Quartz SiO ₂	Quartz SiO ₂
Feldspar NaAlSi ₃ O ₈ —CaAl ₂ Si ₂ O ₈	Feldspar NaAlSi ₃ O ₈ –CaAl ₂ Si ₂ O ₈	Olivine (Montichellite-kirschsteinite) Ca	MgSiO4 Olivine-fayalite
Olivine-fayalite Fe ₂ SiO ₄	Magnetite Fe ₃ O ₄	Magnetite Fe ₃ O ₄	Magnetite Fe ₃ O ₄
Leucit K(Si ₂ Al)O ₆	Mullite (from $Al_2O_3*2SiO_2$ to $2Al_2O_3*SiO_2$)	Wustite FeO	Leucit K(Si ₂ Al)O ₆
Magnetite Fe ₃ O ₄	Pyroxene-aegirine NaFe[Si ₂ O ₆]	Pyroxene-zhadeit NaAl[Si2O6]	Analcime Na(Si ₂ Al)O ₆ *H ₂ O
			(continued)

Iron Sources and Technologies During the Early Iron Age ...

Table 2 (continued)			
#40, TB, B19-1	#35, TB, V12-2	#39, TB, A1-2	#33, TB, B12-2
Mullite (from Al ₂ O ₃ *2SiO ₂ to2Al ₂ O ₃ *SiO ₂)	Cordierite (Mg,Fe) ₂ Al ₃ [Si ₅ AlO ₁₈]	Anataz TiO2	
Pyroxene-aegirine NaFe[Si2O6]		Sphalerite ZnS	
		Pentlandite (Ni, Fe)9S ₈	
		Millerite NiS	

20



Fig. 5 SEM-EDX of **a** ferruginous sandstone (#30, YUKE, R5) Qu-quartz, Hem-hematite, Zrnzircon; **b** slag (#34, TB, V5-1) Cal-calcite; Gt-goethite, Ms-mica; **c** slag (#37, TB, V11-1) Carbcarbonate, Ap-apatite, Pl-plagioclase

quartz grains, there are secondary minerals (chlorite and stilpnomelane). The feldspar consists of microcline and albite 100–200 μ m grains. The grains of carbonate have a round shape and contain isomorphic admixtures of MgO and FeO. All grains have coats of iron oxides (hematite). Accessory minerals are apatite, rutile, and pyroxene. According to XRD analysis, the main mineral phase is hematite and the ferruginous (hematite) sandstone are known to locally occur.

2. Sample of slag (#34, TB, V5-1) of red-brown color (Fig. 5b).

According to SEM-EDX analysis, the matrix consists of iron oxides embedding angular grains of quartz, feldspar, carbonate, and fiber crystals of muscovite. The carbonate grains are eroded and replaced by iron oxides. Accessory minerals are zircon (enriched by Hf, Y), rutile, and monazite. Geochemical and mineralogical

compositions of slag (see also Tables 1 and 2) (presence of a sand component of quartz, feldspar, accessory minerals like zircon, rutile, and monazite) show that ferruginous (hematite) sandstone of local origin could been smelted. The chemical composition of slag is close to the sandstone sample. The high carbonate content (as well as Ca) is evidence of carbonate flux addition.

3. Sample of slag (#37, TB, V11-1) of red-brown color (Fig. 5c).

The results of SEM–EDX analysis show the matrix consists of iron oxides with inclusions of grains of quartz and K-Na feldspar. The grains have angular shape with sizes from 10 to 100 μ m. K-Na feldspar is albite and K-feldspar with an isomorphic mixture of orthoclase (KAlSi₃O₈) and albite (NaAlSi₃O₈). Accessory minerals are zircon (enriched in Hf), olivine (kirschsteinite), apatite, rutile, and monazite. This slag is similar to the slag (#34).

4. Sample of slag (#31, TB, A19-1) of black color with gray inclusions (Fig. 6d).



Fig. 6 SEM-EDX of d slag (#31, TB, A19-1); e slag (#40, TB, B19-1); f slag (#35, TB, V12-2)

As the results of SEM-EDX and XRD analysis, the matrix consists of long skeletal crystals of fayalite, dendrites of Iron (wustite), and some leucite and pyroxene esseneite (CaFe₃ + (AlSiO₆). Crystals of olivine are needles of 250–500 μ m in length with an admixture of MgO (0.85–3.9%). Iron oxides formed skeletal crystals and dendrites. There are some admixture of SiO₂ (0.48–8.96%). Esseneite is present as needle crystals between olivine crystals. Leucite fills voids and veins of a matrix. Iron consists of pure iron and wustite. In comparison to samples (#37, 34) this sample has higher concentration of Fe and Ni (Table 1). The smelting occurred at reducing conditions in a furnace at a temperature of about 1100–1200 °C in the presence of carbonate flux (forming esseneite and roenite). The cooling was fast. This is evidenced from the presence of dendrites of wustite and skeletal crystals of olivine. The slag is of a tap type, formed during flow of the melt outside of the furnace. Magnetite ores could be used as raw sources.

5. Sample of slag (#40, TB, B19-1) of black color with gray inclusions (Fig. 6e).

The results of SEM-EDX analysis, show that the matrix consists of amorphous silica and mullite with inclusions of iron oxides (FeO = 17-49%). In comparison to samples (#37, 34) this sample contains a higher concentration of Fe and Ni. The smelting happened at high temperature in a reduced atmosphere. Ti-magnetite ores could be used as raw sources. This slag is similar to the slag (#34).

6. Sample of slag (#35, TB, V12-2) of light-gray color with black inclusions (Fig. 6f).

According to the SEM-EDX analysis, the matrix has a zonedl structure. The central part consists of iron oxides, the inner zone consists of olivine (fayalite + kirschsteinite) and the outer zone (10–500 μ m) is filled by leucite. In the bottom part of the matrix (see Fig. 6F) there is a fragment of charcoal replaced by iron oxides. In the central part of charcoal, there are fragments of olivine + iron oxides. Olivine has some amount of Mg (1.24–3.74%). Accessory minerals are pure copper and cassiterite. Iron oxide phase contain inclusions of chromium oxides. In comparison to other slags, this sample is characterized by a high concentration of Ti (see Table 1). The smelting happened inside of the furnace, at high temperature (1200–1300 °C)—the olivine and mullite were formed in a reduced atmosphere (Table 2). The bottom of the slag characterized by the structure of slow cooling. Ti magnetite ores could have been smelted. Mullite and cordierite formed in presence of clay components from the furnace walls.

7. Sample of slag (#39, TB, A1-2) of light-gray color with black inclusions (Fig. 7g).

The matrix consists of species of olivine (montichellite-kirschsteinite) and wustite according the results of SEM-EDX and XRD (see Table 2) analysis. Kirschsteinite contains admixture of MgO (2.61–3.36%). Iron oxide phase contains TiO_2 (1.49–2.21%). Accessory minerals are copper oxides and sulfides (chalcocite). Cuprite contentains isomorphic admixtures of As₂O₃ (2.73–8.16%) and FeO (6.21–7.11%).
$\begin{array}{c}
\begin{array}{c}
\begin{array}{c}
\begin{array}{c}
\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\end{array}\\
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\end{array}\\
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\end{array}\\
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array}\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})\\
\left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})$ \left(\begin{array}{c}
\end{array})

Fig. 7 SEM-EDX of g slag (#39, TB, A1-2); h slag (#33, TB, B12-2)

Based on the geochemistry and mineralogy of the sample (see Tables 1 and 2), we can suggest that sulfides and fahlore were smelted. The smelting happened in a reducing atmosphere, with fast cooling. The smelting temperature was about 1200–1300 °C.

8. Sample of slag (#33, TB, B12-2) of dark-gray color (Fig. 7h).

According to the SEM–EDX analysis, the matrix consists of smectite with some zones of amorphous silica. Accessory minerals are rutile and chrome-rich spinels. The smelting occurred at high temperatures, in an unstable atmosphere without flux. The cooling was fast.

Based on the geochemical and mineralogical study of the slag, four groups can be distinguished.

1st group—hematite-goethite slags (#34, 37) were formed as a result of smelting of local ore (ferruginous (hematite) sandstone (#30)). They have red-brown color and granular structure. In the matrix, there are angular grains of different sand minerals (quartz, carbonates, apatite, rutile, mica, monazite). The smelting occurred in an open furnace, at a temperature of about 900–1100 °C. Carbonates were added as a flux. This is evidenced from the presence of angular grains of carbonates in the matrix and high Ca concentrations.

2nd group—Ti-magnetite slags (#31, 33, 40) have dark-gray and black color. The main part of the matrix consists of olivine (fayalite) with fewer other high-temperature minerals like Ca-pyroxene (esseneiite), and leucite. According to (Olovčić et al. 2014) and (Chuenpee et al. 2014), the presence of Ca-rich pyroxene and Ca-olivine (kirschsteinite) could be the results of the addition of lime-rich flux to achieve

minimal temperature melting and facilitate the welding process. Kirschsteinite is not a naturally occurring mineral and commonly forms during smelting. The magnetite is an indicator of an unstable atmosphere inside the furnace with the presence of oxygen and insufficient reduction (Bella et al. 2018). A little amount of carbonate flux was probably added. As a result, these slag samples have a lower contents of calcium in comparison to the first group. The smelting happened in a closed furnace at a high temperature (1200–1300 °C). The cooling was fast and slag is tap-type that has been formed outside of the furnace at a temperature of 1100–1300 °C. The skeletal crystals of olivine and eutectic wustite dendrite are the indicators of this process (Török et al. 2010, 2015). The presence of an amorphous phase of mullite and some Al-rich minerals could occur during the smelting of solution with clay component from clay walls of the furnace (Olovčić et al. 2014). One of the samples (#33) was formed without flux addition.

3rd group—magnetite slags (#35). Slags have a light-gray color with inclusions of black color. The slag formed inside the furnace as deduced from a zoned structure. If the system contains relatively high CaO content, the olivine may become kirschsteinite (CaFeSiO₄). Kirschsteinite is not a natural mineral phase. It is typically found in metallurgical slags whose formation requires reducing conditions and high temperature (Bella et al. 2018). These slags are a cintered-type slag formed at the bottom of the furnace during smelting with charcoal (Török et al. 2015; Barros et al. 2020; Veldhuijzen and Rehren 2007). The smelting happened in a reducing atmosphere, at high temperatures (1200–1300 °C). Magnetite ores could have been used as a raw material.

4th group—slag of sulfide and fahlore ores (#39) have a light-gray color with inclusions of black color. The matrix contains inclusions of pentlandite, sphalerite, chalcocite and millerite. The smelting happened in a reduced, unstable atmosphere, with fast cooling. The temperature of smelting was about 1200–1300 °C with the addition of carbonate flux (formation of montichellite–kirschsteinite).

The formation of tap-slag type can occur if the iron production was welldeveloped where the furnace allowed a slag removal. Such kind furnace construction is characterized by high productivity.

We investigated the mineralogical and geochemical composition of two iron arrowheads (Fig. 2). According to the SEM–EDX analysis (Figs. 8b, and 9b), the sample (#58, V11/47) consists of olivine (fayalite), quartz, phosphates (apatite-vivianite), iron oxides (goethite, magnetite). The composition of the sample (#53, B11/40) is iron oxides (goethite, magnetite), quartz, zircon and traces of phosphates.

The data from SEM and p-XRF analysis shows the varying compositions of alloys. Probably, different types of ores were used. The steel of sample (#58, V11/47) was made of the ore that was more hard to smelt. Steel formed at high temperature (olivine is an indicator of this) and with the addition of flux. The presence of phosphates and high Ca and P concentrations allow assuming an application of crushed bones as a flux. The steel of the sample (#53, B11/40) varies in mineralogical composition. It contains quartz and zircon. The concentrations of calcium and phosphorus lower than in the sample (#58, V11/47). Probably, flux for this sample consisted of sand. It is known that the addition of quartz as flux resulted in a melting temperature decrease



Fig. 8 Iron arrowhead (#58, V11/47) a m-CT b SEM-EDX analysis



Fig. 9 Iron arrowhead (#53, B11/40) a m-CT b SEM-EDX analysis

of around 200°C and decrease of the furnace temperature down to 980–1000 °C (Portillo-Blanco et al. 2020). Probably, Ti-magnetite ores were used as raw material for production of metal for both items.

The technologies of manufacture of arrowheads show variation. This is seen from the results of m-CT analysis (Figs. 8a, and 9a). The sample (#53, B11/40) could have been made from a steel plate by curving and twisting in a spiral shape. To be used by such a technique the steel must have been ductile. The presence of high phosphorus concentration in steel alloy promotes brittleness increase. The sample (#58, V11/47) has a high P concentration and was probably brittle. Therefore arrowhead was made using another technique. The steel rod could have been flattened to form a blade.

Therefore, in the Tarasova Balka site several types of iron ore could have been used for iron making: local ferruginous sandstones, Ti-magnetite ores, sulfide and fohlore (polymetallic) ores. Several types of smelting technologies can be considered: the smelting in a close furnace at high temperature (1200–1300 °C) with high yield and smelting in an open furnace at low temperature (900–1200 °C). Techniques of arrowhead making vary and probably depended on the quality of steel.

4 Conclusions

The consideration of geochemical and mineralogical data of the ancient iron items and slags from the sites of Northern Black Sea cost dated to 11th–6th c. BC and belonging to different iron-making traditions allowed to identify several technological processes that used different types of iron ores. In the Early Iron Age the iron technology began to be rapidly adopted in the different parts of the Northern Pontic Sea region. It can suggested that these processes happened independently from each other.

Acknowledgements The study was supported by RFBR, project 18-09-40063.

References

- Bidzilja, V.I., Voznesnskaja, G.A., Nedopako, D.P, Pankov, C.V: Istorija chernoji metallurgii I metalloobrabotki na territirii USSR (III v. do n.e. III v.n.e.), 111 p. Naukova dumka, Kiev (1983) (in Russian)
- Bochkarev, V.S., Kashuba, M.T.: Between bronze and iron. In: Principles and Methods of Dating in Archaeology (Neolithic – Middle Ages): Collective Monograph: Ed M.T. Kashuba & E. Kaiser, Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS, St. Petersburg, 55–76. (2018)
- Chuenpee, T., Won-In, K., Natapintu, S. Takashima, I.: Archaeometallurgical studies of ancient iron smelting slags from Ban Khao Din Tai archaeological site, Northeastern Thailand. Journal of Applied Sciences 14, 1–6 (2014)
- Di Bella, M., Nero, C., Aleo, Chiovaro, M., Italiano, F., Quartieri, S., Romano, D., Leonetti, F., Marcianò, G., Sabatino, G.: Archaeometric study of the Hellenistic metallurgy in Sicily: Mineralogical and chemical characterization of iron slags from Punic Panormos (Palermo, Italy). Mediterranean Archaeology and Archaeometry 18(2), 127–139 (2018)
- Portillo-Blanco, H., Zuluaga, M.C., Ortega, L.A., Alonso-Olazabal A., Cepeda-Ocampo J.J., Salcedo A.M.: Mineralogical characterization of slags from the Oiola Site (Biscay, Spain) to Assess the development in bloomery iron smelting technology from the Roman Period to the Middle Ages. Minerals 10 (321), 1–17 (2020)
- Inozemtcev Yu.I., Paryshev O.O., Krasnozhyna Z.V., Maslakov M.O.: Magnetite from coastal depozits of Black and Azov seas. Geology and Mineral Resources of World Ocean 15(1), 74–86 (2019)
- Kashuba M.T.: O galshtatte I Galshtatte v Severnom Prichernomor'e sovremennoe sostojanije issledovanij. Arheologicheskie vesti 18, 232–252 (2012) (In Russian)
- Kashuba M.T.: "Uskol'zajushchee" gelezo ili perehod k rannemu geleznomu veku v Vostochnom Prikarpatje. Rossijskij arheologicheskij sbornik 3, 233–257 (2013) (In Russian)

- Kašuba, M., Lehnhardt E., Šramko I., Zadnikov S.: Eisenmetallurgie in der Bronzezeit Osteuropas. Die archäologischen Quellen und ihre Interpretation. Praehistorische Zeitschrift 94(1), 158–209 (2019)
- Olovčić, A., Memić, M., Žero, S., Huremović, J., Kahrović, E.: Chemical Analysis of Iron Slags and Metallic Artefacts from Early Iron Age. International Research Journal of Pure & Applied Chemistry 4(6), 859–870 (2014)
- Otroshchenko, V.V.: Radiocarbon chronology of the bilozerka culture based on barrows near the village of Zapovitne (the 'Stepnoy' cemetery).In: The Foundations of Radiocarbon Chronology of Cultures between the Vistula and Dnieper: 4000–1000 BC (Eds: A. Kośko, V. Klochko). Baltic-Pontic Studies 12, 336–364 (2003)
- de Barros, Ph.L., Iles, L., Frame, L. D., Killick, D.: The Early Iron Metallurgy of Bassar, Togo: furnaces, metallurgical remains and iron objects, Azania. Archaeological Research in Africa 55(1), 3–43 (2020)
- Ryabkova, T.V.: Poselenie Tarasova balka pamjatnik rannego eleznogo veka v Zakubanje (predvaritel'naja publikacija). In: Arheologija bez granic: kollekcii, problem, reshenija. Trudi Gosudarstvennogo Ermitaga 27, 359–374 (2015) (In Russian)
- Shramko, I.B., Fomin, L.D., Solncev, L.A.: Nachalnii etap obrabotki geleza v Vostochnoi Evrope (doskifskii period). Sovetskaja Arheologija 1, 57–74 (1977) (In Russian)
- Shramko, I.B., Buinov, Y.V.: Perehod ot bronzi k gelezu v Dnepro-Donetckoi lesestepi. Rossiiskij arheologicheskij egegodnik 2, 309–332 (2012) (In Russian)
- Shramko, I.B., Zadnikov, S.A., Korost, I.I.: Zahisni sporudi Zahidnogo ukrepleniya bilskogo gorodishcha: doslidgennja ta interpretacii. In: Phenomenon of Bilsk hillfort – 2020, CKyiv-Kotelva: CP NAN Ukraini i UTOPIK, 22–71 (2020)
- Terekhova, N.N., Erlikh, V.R.: K probleme perehoda k rannemu geleznomu veku na Severnom Kavkaze. Dve kulturno-istoricheskie tradicii. Material'naja kultura Vostoka 3, 134–152 (2002) (In Russian)
- Török, B., Kovács, Á.: Crystallization of Iron Slags Found in Early Medieval Bloomery Furnaces. Materials Science Forum 649, 455–460 (2010)
- Török, B., Kovács, Á., Gallina, Z.: Iron metallurgy of the Pannonian Avars of the 7th 9th century based on excavations and material examinations: Archaeometallurgy in Europe III. Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference Deutsches Bergbau-Museum Bochum June 29 – July 1, 2011. Editors Andreas Hauptmann Diana Modarressi-Tehrani, 229–239 (2015)
- Vanchugov, V.P.: Belozerskie pamyatniki v Severo-Zapadnom Prichernomor'e. Problemi formirovanija belozerskoi, Naukova dumka, Kiev, 162 p. (1990) (In Russian)
- Veldhuijzen, H.A., Rehren, T.: Slags and the city: early iron production at Tell Hammeh, Jordan, and Tel Beth-Shemesh, Israel. In: Metals and mines: studies in archaeometallurgy. Ed. by Susan La Niece, Duncan Hook & Paul Craddock, 189–201, London (2007)

Lead Isotope Analysis of the Bronze Age Metal in the Steppe Cis- and Trans-Urals



Daria V. Kiseleva, Natalia G. Soloshenko, Tatyana G. Okuneva, Evgeny S. Shagalov, Vitaly V. Tkachev, Sergey V. Bogdanov, Maksim N. Ankushev, Lyudmila N. Koryakova, and Nikolay B. Vinogradov

Abstract The Southern Urals in the 4th-2nd millennium BC was a key mining and metallurgical region of Eurasia with hundreds of copper deposits and thousands of ore occurrences developed from the beginning of the Bronze Age to the Iron Age, where three major (the Trans-Urals, Cis-Urals, and Ural-Mugodzhary) mining and metallurgical centers were located. Lead isotope ratios are used in archaeology to identify raw materials for the production of metal in antiquity. The lead isotope composition does not change during metallurgical processes and remains constant regardless of the ore roasting temperature or Red-Ox conditions of smelting this work aims to identify the potential sources of ore raw materials for the production of many copper artifacts of the steppe Cis-Urals and Trans-Urals of the Bronze Age by multicollector inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (MC-ICP-MS) lead isotope analysis. The results of lead isotope analysis made it possible to obtain new data for many copper artifacts (products and ingots) of various periods of the Bronze Age (4th-2nd millennia BC). The detected variations in lead isotopes indicate a rather clear connection between copper artifacts and the original ores of the Trans-Urals or Cis-Urals.

E. S. Shagalov Ural State Mining University, Ekaterinburg, Russia

V. V. Tkachev · S. V. Bogdanov Orenburg Federal Research Center UB RAS, Institute of Steppe, Orenburg, Russia

M. N. Ankushev Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia

L. N. Koryakova Institute of History and Archaeology UB RAS, Ekaterinburg, Russia

N. B. Vinogradov South Ural State Humanitarian Pedagogical University, Chelyabinsk, Russia

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_3

D. V. Kiseleva (🖾) · N. G. Soloshenko · T. G. Okuneva Institute of Geology and Geochemistry UB RAS, Ekaterinburg, Russia e-mail: kiseleva@igg.uran.ru

Keywords Lead isotopes \cdot Copper ingots \cdot Copper ores \cdot Provenance \cdot Late Bronze Age \cdot Cis- and Trans-Urals

1 Introduction

The Southern Urals in the 4th-2nd millennium BC was a key mining and metallurgical region of Eurasia with hundreds of copper deposits and thousands of ore occurrences developed from the beginning of the Bronze Age to the Iron Age (Chernych 1970). Three mining and metallurgical centers (MMC) were distinguished on the territory of the Southern Urals in the Bronze Age: the Trans-Urals, Cis-Urals, and Ural-Mugodzhary (Chernych 1970; Tkachev 2011; Tkačev u.a. 2013; Zaikov et al. 2013; Yuminov et al. 2013, 2017; Bogdanov 2017). Ancient mines confined to sulfide and quartz-azurite-malachite ore deposits in copper sandstones and conglomerates of the Late Permian served as the raw material base of the Cis-Urals MMC (Bogdanov et al. 2018). The Cis-Urals MMC is the largest historical and metallurgical formation in Eurasia regarding its scale of mining and metallurgical activities, the extraction volume of copper ores, and areal characteristics (Kargaly I 2002, Kargaly II 2002, Kargaly III 2004, Kargaly IV 2005, Kargaly V 2007). The Trans-Urals MMC is associated with the development of zones of secondary enrichment and oxidation of volcanogenic massive sulfide (VMS), skarn, hydrothermal quartz vein, and porphyry copper deposits localized in volcanic and ultramafic rocks. In the Ural-Mugodzhary MMC, ancient mines are found in ultramafic and talc-carbonate rocks, pyroxenites, basalts and jaspers, granitoids, and in contact zones.

Lead isotope analysis (LIA) is based on the use of lead stable isotopes resulting from the radioactive decay of uranium and thorium (Faure and Mensing 2005). Due to different half-lives of ²³⁵U, ²³⁸U, and ²³²Th, decaying to ²⁰⁶Pb, ²⁰⁷Pb, and ²⁰⁸Pb, respectively (while Pb²⁰⁴ is non-radiogenic and its content is constant and corresponds to its initial content in lead at the moment of the start of U and Th decay), it is possible to determine the Earth's age and geological developments, which have led to the emergence of ore deposits (Hauptmann 2007). Lead isotope composition remains constant regardless of the ore roasting temperature or Red-Ox conditions of smelting (assuming a sole ore source and no mixing or recycling) (Pernicka et al. 1984); although several factors complicate the interpretation of LIA results of ancient metal. For example, ore deposits may have identical or partially overlapping lead isotope composition, even at significant distances from each other; moreover, the remelting of metal scrap, as well as the use of raw mixtures from two or more ore sources with different lead isotope ratios might complicate the correct assignment of metal products to ore sources (Hauptmann 2007). The using of chemical composition to assign metal objects with a particular ore deposit is subject to criticism due to the geochemical variability of ore deposits and the fractioning of trace elements during metallurgical processes from ore to metal (Hauptmann 2007). The lead isotope composition of metal can be influenced by silicon, calcium, and other fluxes used in melting copper, as well as ligations in alloys. However, with

careful consideration of the above factors, lead isotope ratios can be successfully used in archaeology to identify raw materials for the production of metal, glass, ceramics, pigments, etc.

The measurement of Pb isotopes stands to gain the most from MC-ICP-MS (Multicollector Inductively Plasma Mass Spectrometry) techniques because there is no suitable isotope ratio against which instrumental mass bias can be corrected on a TIMS (Thermal Ionization Mass Spectrometry) (Kamber and Gladu 2009). Although this issue can be overcome using double or triple spike techniques (labor and costintensive) yielding the most precise and accurate data, the analytical resolution of multi-collector MC-ICP-MS without double-spiking appears more than sufficient to explore a large number of geochemical tasks (Kamber and Gladu 2009).

This work aims to identify the potential sources of ore raw materials for the production of copper artifacts of the steppe Cis-Urals and Trans-Urals of the Bronze Age by multi-collector inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (MC-ICP-MS) lead isotope analysis.

2 Materials and Methods

The fragments of copper ingots and metal artifacts originating from archaeological sites and accidental finds in the Trans-Urals (Ustye, Kamenny Ambar) and the Cis-Urals (Turganik, Ordynsky Ovrag, Usolka in the center of the Kargaly ore field, Tokskoe, Kyzyloba, Kurganny burial ground near the Baryshnikov hamlet and Ileksky burial ground, ingot hoards near the Novo-Privolny, Almala, Belousovka, and Mayorskoye villages, in the Sol-Iletsk town, near the Verkhneozernoe village) located, respectively, on the territory of the Chelyabinsk and Orenburg regions, are studied. The geographical locations of the studied objects are shown in Fig. 1. The cultural and chronological features of the analyzed metal products and the products of metallurgical processing are different. The Cis-Urals series is represented by the samples of metal from various tools and two crude copper ingots from the Yamnaya (Pit Grave) culture of the Early Bronze Age (4th millennium BC-first half of the 3rd millennium BC), as well as by 12 plano-convex discoid, or "bun" crude copper ingots from the Srubnaya and Alakul cultures of the Late Bronze Age (2nd millennium BC). The Trans-Urals sites comprise the materials from the Sintashta culture of the early phase of the Late Bronze Age (early 2nd millennium BC), the early (Petrovka) stage of the Alakul culture, and syncretic Srubno-Alakul complexes of the Late Bronze Age (second and third quarters of the 2nd millennium BC). An impressive series of sulfide ores and products of pyrometallurgical processing obtained from the Mikhailovsky, Belousovsky, and Karpovsky mines and associated mining metallurgical complexes with fire pits and sludge dumps located in the south-western outskirts of the Kargaly ore field (Bogdanov et al. 2018; Bogdanov 2019) dated by the middle of the 2nd millennium BC, was studied.

Sample preparation and analysis were carried out in cleanrooms (classes 1000 and 10,000) and laminar flow boxes (class 100) at the IGG UB RAS, Ekaterinburg



Fig. 1 The key archaeometallurgical and geoarchaeological sites of the Southern Urals. I—Archaeological sites of the steppe Cis-Urals: 1-Turganik settlement, 2-Ordynsky Ovrag settlement, 3—location of a copper ingot in the south of the Kargaly ore field near the Uranbash village, 4— Tokskoe settlement, 5-mining and processing complex at the Kyzyloba mine, 6-Kurganny burial ground near the Baryshnikov hamlet, 7-Ileksky burial ground, 8-hoard near the Novo-Privolny village, 9-hoard near the Almala village, 10-hoard near the Mayorskoe village, 11-hoard in the Sol-Iletsk town, 12-hoard near the Verkhneozernoe village. II-VMS deposits of the Southern Urals and ore from archaeological sites: 13-ore from the Kamenny Ambar settlement, 14-Yaman-Kasy, 15-Gai, 16-Ishkinino, 17-Ivanovskove, 18-Dergamysh, 19-Barsuchii Log, 20—Dzhusa, 21—Molodezhnoe, 22—Uchaly, 23—Babarik, 24—Alexandrinskoe. III—key copper mines and mining and processing complexes of the south-western outskirts of the Kargaly mines: 25-Mikhailovsky mine and Mining processing complex, 26-Karpovsky mine, 27-Belousovsky mine and Mining processing complexes Nº1-Nº2, 28-Kyzyloba mine. The dotted line shows the boundaries of mining and metallurgical centers and the main cultural and historical communities in the Southern Urals (Artemyev and Ankushev 2019): C-Ur-Cis-Urals MMC; T-Ur-Trans-Urals MMC; Ur-M-Ural-Mugodzhary MMC

(Kiseleva et al. 2021). Each of the items was mechanically micro-sampled. The dissolution of metal samples (0.01 g) was carried out in closed PFA vials using a mixture of concentrated HNO₃ (1 ml) and HCl (3 ml) on a hot plate at 120 °C until complete dissolution (several hours). After evaporation to dryness, 0.1 ml of concentrated HBr was added and evaporated again. The residue was then redissolved in 0.5 ml of 0.05 M HBr, placed in microtubes, and centrifuged for 15 min at 6000 rpm.

Although MC-ICP-MS has transformed the field of isotope ratio determination for Pb-isotope determination, the optimistic early hope that isotope ratio determination by ICP-MS might overcome the need for labor-intensive, costly, and failureprone element purification has largely evaporated and given way to a more cautious view that precise and accurate determinations require very careful separation of the element of interest from the geological, biological or environmental matrix (Kamber and Gladu 2009). The conventional ion-exchange chromatography technique proposed by (Kamber and Gladu 2009) was used for lead isolation. Bio-Rad AG 1 × 8 resin (100–200 mesh) was loaded into pre-cleaned polypropylene funnels (Vitlab) fitted by chemically resistant glass wool (11 μ m, Carl Roth). The parameters of the resin layer and the elution protocol are given in (Kiseleva et al. 2021). A fresh portion of resin was used for each sample, thus eliminating the memory effects of the resin. The purified lead fraction was evaporated to dryness and dissolved in 2 ml of Tl-containing 3% (v/v) HNO₃.

Lead isotopes were measured on a Neptune Plus multicollector ICP mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with an ASX 110 FR automatic sample introduction system (Teledyne CETAC) fitted by PFA micro-flow nebulizer ($50 \,\mu$ l·min⁻¹) connected to a quartz spray chamber. A blank correction was obtained using a 3% (v/v) HNO₃ washing solution. Detailed operational conditions of Neptune Plus are given in (Kiseleva et al. 2021). Lead isotopes were measured using the Tl-normalization technique (Woodhead 2002) with the correction of ²⁰⁴Pb isobaric interference by ²⁰²Hg/²⁰⁴Hg = 4.350370 and normalization according to the exponential law. The accuracy and long-term reproducibility of the lead isotope ratio measurements were evaluated using NIST SRM-981 (n = 63): ²⁰⁸Pb/²⁰⁶Pb = 2.1681 ± 0.0008, ²⁰⁷Pb/²⁰⁶Pb = 0.91452 ± 0.00036, ²⁰⁴Pb/²⁰⁶Pb = 0.059059 ± 0.000042 (Kiseleva et al. 2021).

3 Results and Discussion

Determined lead isotope ratios in comparison with the ores of the VMS deposits of the Trans-Urals and the northern outskirts of the Ural-Mugodzhary region (Tessalina et al. 2016) are shown in Fig. 2. The clusters of archaeological samples from the Trans-Urals and Cis-Urals are located, respectively, at the beginning and end of the plots, which may be associated with the geochemical features of the ore-bearing complexes of the Upper Permian (copper ores of the Cis-Urals) and deposits of various formations within the ophiolite belt of the considered part of the Urals, associated with Devonian geological structures. The relative range of the sample points with a grouping in the central part of the plot indicates a fairly wide development of all available ore occurrences in the Cis-Urals and Trans-Urals differing in genesis and chemistry, by ancient metallurgical miners. Relatively rich deposits of various types were developed with Cu content in the ore protolith of 15–20% and higher.

Two Early Bronze Age artifacts belonging to the Yamnaya culture of the steppe Cis-Urals fall into the cluster of the Trans-Urals and Ural-Mugodzhary samples. These are a battle hammer axe from mound No. 2 of the Ileksky burial ground and a razor blade from mound No. 6 of the burial ground near the Baryshnikov hamlet, dating back to the first half of the 3rd millennium BC (Bogdanov 2004). That data could be the first evidence of ore development in the zones of secondary enrichment and oxidation of the VMS deposits in the Trans-Urals and the northern part of the Ural-Mugodzhary region, as well as the presence of probable traffic of ore materials



Fig. 2 Lead isotope ratios in the studied samples of copper ores, ingots, and Bronze Age artifacts from the Cis-Urals and Trans-Urals in comparison with the VMS ores of the Southern Urals (Tessalina et al. 2016). Numbers correspond to the sample codes for copper ingots. The error bars are smaller than symbols

and metal between the Trans-Urals and the Cis-Urals. Still, the trade of metallic items or metal recycling cannot be excluded.

A dramatic scatter of lead isotope ratios is observed for the drops and ingots of crude and refined copper from the settlements of Kamenny Ambar and Ustye (the first half-mid-2nd millennium BC). Such a scatter in the samples of the Southern Trans-Urals may indicate the use of various types of deposits (skarn, VMS) and copper ores (quartz-azurite-malachite and sulfide), which is confirmed by the study of metallurgical slags (Ankushev 2019; Artemyev and Ankushev 2019). Since the Kamenny Ambar is a two-layer monument, the Trans-Urals copper ore sources confined to ultramafic rocks could probably have been used at the Sintashta stage of the settlement at the beginning of the 2nd millennium BC, while the other sources of sulfide ores could have been exploited in the Srubno-Alakul times.

Two Cis-Urals bun ingots of crude copper of the Srubnaya culture (the ingot No. 10 (P-22-42 m) from an ancient mine dump in the outskirts of the Late Bronze Age Ordynsky Ovrag settlement dated by the middle of the 2nd millennium BC, and

the ingot No. 14 (P-25 m) from the southern outskirts of the Kargaly mines (accidental find near the village of Uranbash)) refer to the field of the Trans-Urals and Ural-Mugodzhary MMC on the graphs. Late Permian sulfide and quartz-azuritemalachite ore occurrences in clay rocks, sandstones, and conglomerates were the main raw material for 14 bun ingots of the crude copper from the steppe Cis-Urals. Nevertheless, the isotope signature of ore originating from the minerals from the zones of secondary enrichment of VMS deposits was objectively recorded in the metal of the two ingots under discussion. This fact indicates the possibility of the existence of traffic of ore materials and the products of pyro-metallurgical processes between the Cis-Urals and the Trans-Urals. The archaeological complexes of the steppe Cis-Urals generally confirm this conclusion. According to the settlement and burial sites of the Kargaly ore field and its steppe outskirts, a significant mixing of ceramic, funeral, and other traditions is noted for synchronous cultures-the Srubnaya culture of the steppe Cis-Urals and the Alakul culture of the Cis-Urals and Trans-Urals (Kargaly I 2002, Kargaly II 2002, Kargaly III 2004, Kargaly IV 2005, Kargaly V 2007).

Alakul ingot No. 8 (P-94 m) from the hoard near the Verkhneozernoe village is close in the lead isotope composition to a copper button from the metallurgical slags of the mining complex of the Kyzyloba mine (Orenburg region), which reflects the use of copper ore sources with a close geological position by metallurgists of the Western Alakul cultural group. They are characterized by the maximum lead isotope ratios, but, in general, they are in the trend of the Cis-Urals samples. The separation of these two samples is probably due to the chemical features of the original ore protolith (sulfides and silicates of the Kyzyloba mine), apparently associated with different geological formations of the Late Permian ore occurrences of the steppe Cis-Urals developed in the Bronze Age.

4 Conclusions

The implemented method of lead isotope analysis made it possible to obtain new data for many copper artifacts (products and ingots) of various periods of the Bronze Age (4th-2nd millennia BC) of the steppe Cis-Urals and Trans-Urals. The detected variations in lead isotopes indicate a rather clear connection between copper artifacts and the original ores of the Trans-Urals or Cis-Urals, at least within the confines of the reference materials (VMS ores) used. The interpretation of results is difficult for several samples. Further, more precise comparisons will become possible only after the implementation of a large-scale program of isotopic analyses of ore deposits and occurrences of all mining and metallurgical centers of the Bronze Age in the Southern Urals.

Acknowledgements Lead isotope analysis was carried out at the "Geoanalitik" shared research facilities of the IGG UB RAS and supported by RSF, project No. 21-78-20018. The re-equipment and comprehensive development of the "Geoanalitik" shared research facilities of the IGG UB RAS

is financially supported by the grant of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation (Agreement No. 075-15-2021-680).

References

- Ankushev, M.N.: Mineralogiya i istochniki syr'ya drevnikh metallurgicheskikh shlakov Yuzhnogo Urala (Mineralogy and sources of raw materials for ancient metallurgical slags of the Southern Urals). Metallogeniya drevnikh i sovremennykh okeanov (Metallogeny of ancient and modern oceans) 1, 270–274 (2019) (In Russian)
- Artemyev, D.A., Ankushev, M.N.: Trace Elements of Cu-(Fe)-Sulfide Inclusions in Bronze Age Copper Slags from South Urals and Kazakhstan: Ore Sources and Alloying Additions. Minerals 9, 746 (2019)
- Bogdanov, S.V.: Epokha medi stepnogo Priural'ya (Copper epoch of the steppe Cis-Urals). 285 p. UrO RAN, Ekaterinburg (2004) (In Russian)
- Bogdanov, S.V.: Sistematika kompleksov drevneyamnoi kul'tury vostoka Ponto-Kaspiiskikh stepei v kontekste problemy transferta gorno-metallurgicheskikh traditsii v Severnuyu Evraziyu (The systematics of the Yamna cultural complexes of the Western Ponto-Caspian steppes in the context of the transfer of mine metallurgical traditions into Northern Eurasia). Stratum plus. Arkheologiya I Kul'turnaya Antropologiya (Stratum plus. Archaeology and Cultural Anthropology) 2, 133–157 (2017) (In Russian)
- Bogdanov, S.V.: Tekhnologii gorno-metallurgicheskogo proizvodstva epokhi rannego metalla Severnoi Evrazii s pozitsii eksperimental'noi arkheologii. Fenomeny kul'tur rannego bronzovogo veka stepnoi i lesostepnoi polosy Evrazii: puti kul'turnogo vzaimodeistviya v V–III tys. do n.e. (The technologies of mining and metallurgical production of the early metal epoch in the Northern Eurasia from the standpoint of experimental archaeology. The phenomena of the Early Bronze Age cultures in the Eurasian steppe and forest-steppe areas: the paths of cultural interaction in the 5th–3rd millennia BC), 161–174. OGPU publishing house, Orenburg (2019) (In Russian)
- Bogdanov, S.V., Tkachev, V.V., Yuminov, A.M., Avramenko, S.V.: Geoarkheologicheskaya sistema istoricheskikh mednykh rudnikov Priural'skogo (Kargalinskogo) stepnogo gornometallurgicheskogo tsentra (Geoarchaeological system of historical copper mines of the steppe Cis-Urals (Kargaly) mining and metallurgical center). Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya (Geoarchaeology and archaeological mineralogy) 5, 121–133 (2018) (In Russian)
- Chernych, E.N.: Drevneishaya metallurgiya Urala I Povolzhya (Ancient metallurgy of the Urals and Volga region). 180 p. Nauka, Moscow (1970)
- Faure, G., Mensing, T.M.: Isotopes: principles and applications. 928 p. John Wiley & Sons, (2005)
- Hauptmann, A.: The archaeometallurgy of copper: evidence from Faynan, Jordan. 388 p. Springer Science & Business Media (2007)
- Kamber, B.S., Gladu, A.H.: Comparison of Pb Purification by Anion-Exchange Resin Methods and Assessment of Long-Term Reproducibility of Th/U/Pb Ratio Measurements by Quadrupole ICP-MS. Geostandards and Geoanalytical Res 33(2), 169–181 (2009)
- Kargaly I. Geologo-geograficheskie kharakteristiki. Istoriya otkrytii, ekspluatatsii i issledovanii. Arkheologicheskie pamyatniki (Geological and geographic features. History of discoveries, exploitation and studies). Ed. E.N. Chernykh. 112 p. Yazyki slavyanskoy kul'tury, Moscow (2002). (In Russian)
- Kargaly II. Gornyi poselenie epokhi pozdnei bronzy. Topografiya, litologiya, stratigrafiya. Proizvodstvenno-bytovye i sakral'nye sooruzheniya. Otnositel'naya i absolyutnaya khronologiya (Gorny – Lated Bronze Age settlement. Topography, lithology, stratigraphy. Production and utilitarian and sacred buildings. Relative and absolute chronology). Ed. E.N. Chernykh. 184 p. Yazyki slavyanskoy kultury, Moscow (2002) (In Russian)

- Kargaly III. Selishche Gornyi: Arkheologicheskie materialy. Tekhnologiya gornometallurgicheskogo proizvodstva. Arkheobiologicheskie issledovaniya (The Gorny settlement: archaeological materials. The technology of mining and metallurgical production. Archaeobiological studies. Ed. E.N. Chernykh. 321 p. Yazyki slavyanskoy kul'tury, Moscow (2004). (In Russian)
- Kargaly IV. Nekropoli na Kargalakh. Naselenie Kargalov: paleontologicheskie issledovaniya (Kargaly necropoles. Kargaly population: palaeontological studies). Ed. E.N. Chernykh. 240 p. Yazyki slavyanskoy kul'tury, Moscow (2005) (In Russian)
- Kargaly V. Kargaly: fenomen i paradoksy razvitiya; Kargaly v sisteme metallurgicheskikh provintsii; Potaennaya (sakral'naya) zhizn' arkhaichnykh gornyakov i metallurgov (Kargaly: phenomenon and paradoxes of development: Kargaly in the system of metallurgical provinces; hidden (sacred) life of archaic miners and metallurgists). Ed. E.N. Chernykh. 200 p. Yazyki slavyanskoy kul'tury, Moscow (2007) (In Russian)
- Kiseleva, D.V., Shishlina, N.I., Streletskaya, M.V., Soloshenko, N.G., Okuneva, T.G., Shagalov, E.S.: MC ICP-MS Lead Isotope Analysis of Archaeological Metal Artifacts from the Bronze Age Sites of Eurasia. In: Yuminov, A., Ankusheva, N., Ankushev, M., Zaykova, E., Artemyev, D. (eds) Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. GAM 2019. Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Cham (2021)
- Pernicka, E., Seeliger, T., Wagner, G.A., Begemann, F., Schmitt-Strecker, S., Eibner, C., Öztunali, Ö., Baranyi, I.: Archäometallurgische Untersuchungen in Nordwestanatolien. Jb Röm-German Zentralmuseum 31(2), 533–599 (1984)
- Tessalina, S.G., Herrington, R.J., Taylor, R.N., Sundblad, K., Maslennikov, V.V., Orgeval, J.-J.: Lead isotopic systematics of massive sulfide deposits in the Urals: Applications for geodynamic setting and metal sources. Ore Geology Reviews 72, 22–36 (2016)
- Tkachev, V.V.: Ural'sko-Mugodzharskii gorno-metallurgicheskii tsentr epokhi pozdnei bronzy (Ural-Mugodzhary mining and metallurgical center of the Late Bronze Age). Rossiiskaya arkheologiya (Russian Archaeology) 2, 43–55 (2011) (In Russian)
- Tkačev, V., Zajkov, V., Juminov, A.: Das spätbronzezeitliche bergbaumetallurgische Zentrum von Mugodžary im System der Eurasischen Metallurgischen Provinz (Geoarchäologische Untersuchungen in Mugodžary). Unbekanntes Kasachstan – Archäologie im Herzen Asiens. Katalog der Ausstellung des Deutschen Bergbau-Museums Bochum vom 26. Januar bis zum 30. Juni 2013, pp. 471–482. Band I. Bochum: Deutsches Bergbau-Museum (2013)
- Woodhead, J.: A simple method for obtaining highly accurate Pb isotope data by MC-ICP-MS. J. Anal. At. Spectrom 17, 1381–1387 (2002)
- Yuminov, A.M., Zaikov, V.V., Korobkov, V.F., Tkachev, V.V.: Dobycha mednykh rud v bronzovom veke v Mugodzharakh (The development of copper ores in the Bronze Age Mugodzhary). Arkheologiya, etnografiya i antropologiya Evrazii (Archaeology, ethnography and anthropology of Eurasia) 3(55), 87–96 (2013) (In Russian)
- Yuminov, A.M., Bogdanov, S.V., Tkachev, V.V., Avramenko, S.V., Manbetova, G.R.: Geokhimicheskaya kharakteristika rud istoricheskikh mednykh rudnikov stepnogo Priural'ya (Ore geochemical features of historical copper mines of the steppe Cis-Urals). Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya (Geoarchaeology and archaeological mineralogy) 4, 118–123 (2017) (In Russian)

Zaikov, V.V., Yuminov, A.M., Ankushev, M.N., Tkachev, V.V., Noskevich, V.V., Epimakhov, A.V.: Gorno-metallurgicheskie tsentry bronzovogo veka v Zaural'e i Mugodzharakh (Bronze Age mining and metallurgical centers in the Trans-Urals and Mugodzary. Izvestiya Irkutskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Seriya "Geoarkheologiya, etnologiya, antropologiya" (Bulletin of the Irkutsk State University. Geoarchaeology, Ethnology, and Anthropology Series) 1(2), 174–195 (2013) (In Russian)

Ancient Metallurgy: Case Studies

Metalworking and Metallurgical Slags in Tokskoe Late Bronze Age Settlement



Maksim N. Ankushev, Ildar A. Faizullin, Dmitry A. Artemyev, and Ivan A. Blinov

Abstract The paper is devoted to the copper ore sources and the peculiarities of the metallurgical process in the Tokskoe Late Bronze Age settlement (first half of 2nd millennium BC). The results of archaeological excavations of past years are briefly described. House structures with pit-wells were found at the settlement; stone works related to metallurgy; a large number of copper ore fragments, metallurgical slags, metal artifacts. The mineralogy of slags and the composition of minerals were established by optical microscopy and SEM-EDS. Trace elements in sulfides and copper droplets were determined by LA-ICP-MS. As a result of the interpretation of mineralogical and geochemical data, it was established that rich chalcocite-covellite ores were exploited at the Tokskoe settlement. This is evidenced by the confinement of the settlement to copper sandstone deposits, the presence of relict and newly formed sulfides in slags, impurities of Ba and Cl in slag glass, as well as S, Ag, and Pb in copper droplets. The use of copper sandstones as raw materials and the technology of the metallurgical process at Tokskoe settlement are typical for the Late Bronze Age Srubna assemblages of the Southern Cis-Urals.

Keywords Metallurgical slags · Late Bronze Age · Kargaly · Copper sandstones · Southern Cis-Urals · Srubna culture

1 Introduction

The Cis-Urals copper sandstones, due to the near-surface location of stratiform and rich sulfide ore bodies, were a large copper ore base in the Bronze Age. The development of these deposits dates back to the beginning of the 3rd millennium BC the Yamna population, which was later replaced by the Abashevo, Srubna, and the Final Bronze Age assemblages (Chernykh 2008). At the largest Kargaly ore field and

I. A. Faizullin Orenburg State Pedagogical University, Orenburg, Russia

M. N. Ankushev $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. A. Artemyev $\cdot I$. A. Blinov

Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_4

a specialized settlement of miners-metallurgists Gorny, large-scale archaeological work was previously carried out with subsequent analytical studies (Kargaly 2004).

To date, traces of metallurgical activity have been found in twelve settlements in the Western Orenburg region (Koryakova and Epimakhov 2007). Previously, only metalworking was noted at them, which includes the redistribution of finished ingots and billets, the casting of future products in molds, as well as their subsequent processing with a whole set of forging operations. Metal products are not very diverse and are most often represented by tools: tip, awls, knives, and tool blanks. However, in the Late Bronze Age burial sites and hoards of the Western Orenburg region, the amount of copper and bronze artifacts is quite large, which indicates the widespread use of metal items among the population.

Today, the technologies of ore mining, metal smelting, and alloying seem to be much more interesting. The Late Bronze Age settlements in the Western Orenburg region, which are located near Kargaly, allow a more detailed study of the metallurgical production in the region. Copper smelting at each specific settlement and the raw material base is a rather interesting question, and it can be answered by applying analytical methods to the products of metallurgical processing—slags. The main object of study in the article was the metallurgical slags from the Tokskoe Late Bronze Age settlement.

2 Materials and Methods

The Tokskoe settlement is located 6 km south of the Ivanovka village and 1.5 km northeast of the Yulty village of the Orenburg region. The settlement is located on the terrace of the right bank of the Tok River. During two field seasons (1979 and 1990), an area of 220 m² was excavated at the settlement. The materials from the 1979 excavations were briefly published (Morgunova and Porokhova 1989; Faizullin 2012, 2015). The results of the study of the osteological material are given just as briefly (Kosintsev and Varov 1992). Bone artifacts have been examined in the most detail, traceological analysis of all artifacts has been carried out (Usachuk and Faizullin 2016). The settlement dates back to the Late Bronze Age and was founded by the Srubna assemblages.

One house structure specializing in metalworking has been investigated in the settlement area. The excavation covered part of the house structure and a small area around it. A pit well with stonework was revealed in the center. It had a rounded shape with dimensions of 1.97×2.27 m and vertical walls. Filling strengthened the stonework in the center of the pit—the mouth of the well. The stonework began at the level of the house-structure floor; it was laid out of rough stones of various sizes, tightly packed in a circle.

In the southeastern part of the house structure, an oval depression was found in the sterile soil, 2×2 m in size and 13–26 cm deep. It had a bright brown color, apparently from burning. Separate blocks and accumulations of sandstone were found along the edges of the depression, without traces of thermal effects. Among the stones and in



Fig. 1 Stone baths from Tokskoe Bronze Age settlement

the filling of the depression, many fragments of coal, several samples of slag, droplets of copper, and two fragments of ceramics that had undergone thermal action were found. The house structure described is probably associated with metallurgy.

Traces of metallurgical activity were also recorded around the well. A large number of copper ore fragments, metallurgical slags, animal bones with copper mineralization, melted blocks of sandstone were found here. Near the well, four fragments of pottery with a slagged inner surface were found.

Two baths were found near the stonework of the well (Fig. 1). One of them was a monolith with a hollowed-out depression. The dimensions of the bath are 0.6×1 m, the depth is up to 17 cm, and the walls are 8–10 cm thick. Nearby, a smaller bath was found, 0.3×0.56 m, with walls up to 8 cm thick, also made of a stone monolith. Similar finds were found at the Bronze Age metallurgist settlement in the Donbas (Tatarinov 1988). Usually, they are interpreted as baths for washing and enrichment copper ore (Khalyapina 2000).

At the bottom of the house structure, human bone remains from at least 10 individuals were found in random clusters around the pit-well and the northwestern part of the house structure. The position of the skeletons was recorded only in three places (Faizullin 2012). The interpretation of burials can be varied. Those buried could have been victims of ritual activities or part of the abandonment process practiced in traditional societies. The mass 'burial' of people in the Tokskoe settlement of Chemyakin (2015) refers to the traces of a military conflict. Citing as an example a whole series of Andronovo sites, on which, in his opinion, because of the sudden attack and the destruction of the settlement, people were not buried.

Two metal tools were found in the excavation: a four-sided awl, sharpened on both sides, and a needle, hollow and round in cross-section. Metallurgical slags from the Tokskoe settlement are represented by fragments of 4–7 cm, brown and black; oxidized regulus of copper are observed on the surface of the sample (Fig. 2). On the chip, the slag is glassy, with a large number of pores and secondary copper mineralization. The mineralogy of slags and the features of the composition of minerals were established in 3 samples by optical (Olympus BX 51, analyst M. N. Ankushev) and electron microscopy (Tescan VEGA 3 SBU, analyst I. A. Blinov). Trace elements in sulfides and copper droplets were determined by laser ablation on an Agilent 7700



Fig. 2 Metallurgical slags of Tokskoe settlement

 \times inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer and an NWR UP-213 attachment using NIST SRM-500, NIST SRM-610, USGS GSD-1 g, USGS MASS-1 standards. All analyzes were carried out in the Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS laboratories.

3 Results and Discussion

Metallurgical slags from Tokskoe settlement belong to the glassy sulfide-containing mineralogical type (Ankushev et al. 2021a). The main slag component is glass, which corresponds to intermediate composition rocks and normal, rarely sub-alkaline petrochemical series (Table 1). A specific feature of the glass composition is also the increased content of BaO (up to 9.5 wt %) and the presence of Cl (up to 1.4 wt %) in almost all analyses.

Quartz is widespread in slags, represented by small $(1-10 \ \mu\text{m})$ grains distributed in the glass matrix and large relics of various morphologies. As single inclusions, there are relics of serpentinite, minerals of the serpentine group have the following composition (wt %): MgO 44.38; SiO₂ 48.24; FeO 3.24; Al₂O₃ 1.43; CuO 0.43; K₂O 0.33; Na₂O 0.17. Also in the glass matrix, we recorded a 30 μ m single grain of Cr-rich spinel, partially destroyed. The composition (wt %): Cr₂O₃ 49.09; FeO

Table	1 Composit	ion of a glass of me	etallurgical	slags of J	lokskoe se	ttlement								
Nº	Sample	Content, wt %												Summary
		SiO ₂	Al ₂ O ₃	CaO	Na_2O	K_2O	MgO	BaO	FeO	TiO_2	CuO	P_2O_5	CI	
-	Tok 1-1	60.7	11.9	6.4	1.8	1.6	0.9	6.4	7.8	I	0.9	I	0.3	98.5
5		57.1	7.3	9.6	1.4	1.1	1.4	4.8	12.0	0.2	5.4	0.4	0.4	101.0
e		61.6	11.3	5.5	2.1	2.0	0.7	5.2	7.6	Ι	2.7	I	0.4	99.1
4		54.3	6.2	13.2	1.2	1.0	1.1	4.7	11.6	I	4.7	0.4	0.3	98.7
5	Tok 1-2	56.3	7.1	14.0	1.5	0.6	1.8	9.5	<i>T.</i> 7	Ι	0.6	I	1.4	100.4
9		59.5	6.5	16.1	1.2	0.7	2.7	4.6	5.7	0.5	0.8	0.6	0.7	99.5
7		56.0	11.6	18.3	3.7	1.4	2.1	I	3.8	0.8	2.0	0.3	I	9.66
8	Tok 1-3	57.7	3.7	16.3	0.9	0.7	2.2	4.5	12.8	Ι	0.3	0.9	0.4	100.3
6		57.1	3.3	16.4	1.0	1.2	1.5	4.4	13.6	Ι	0.5	0.7	0.5	100.3
10		62.2	13.3	8.3	2.1	2.0	1.6	4.7	5.0	0.4	I	Ι	0.2	8.66
=		58.2	5.8	14.9	1.0	0.8	2.2	3.7	11.2	0.5	0.3	0.5	0.7	7.66

ement
e settle
oksko
of T
slags
gical
tallur
of me
glass
of a
mposition
1 Coi

Note Dash—below the detection limit

28.64; MgO 9.72; Al_2O_3 6.93; CuO 3.61; MnO 0.81; CaO 0.49; TiO₂ 0.31. More common are relic inclusions of bornite, which retained the angular shape and texture of the primary ore fragments. Sometimes bornite relics are partially melted and have around the drop-like shape. Newly formed non-stoichiometric Ba-Al-Si-O phases are rarely found in slags.

Metal inclusions in the slags of Tokskoe settlement are widespread, forming rounded single- and multiphase droplets of various sizes. The most common are single-phase drops of copper and two-phase inclusions, where the copper droplet is bordered by a chalcocite "jacket" (Table 2). Cuprite develops along the periphery of copper droplets, as well as in voids, in which submicron inclusions of native silver are frequent (Fig. 3).

The LA-ICP-MS method was used to study the composition of newly formed sulfide and copper droplets in slags from the Tokskoe settlement (Table 3). The newly formed sulfides contain high concentrations (average over 24 analyzes, ppm): Ag—509, Ba—534, Pb—182 (Table 4). Copper droplets contain high concentrations (average over 17 analyzes): Fe—0.58 wt %, S—0.46 wt %, Ag—912 ppm, Pb—269 ppm, As—248 ppm.

Glassy sulfide-containing slags from Tokskoe settlement are products of metallurgical processing of copper sandstone ores. This is indicated by a large number of quartz grains in the slag, the presence of Ba and Cl impurities in the glass, and the high Ba and Pb concentration in the newly formed sulfide and copper droplets. The high sulfur content in the copper droplets indicates the processing of predominantly secondary copper sulfides. The high iron content also indicates the use of bornite ores, which is consistent with the bornite relics in the slag. Similar mineralogical and geochemical features were noted in slags from other Cis-Urals Late Bronze Age

N⁰	Sample	Content, wt %			Summary
		Cu	Fe	S	
1	Tok 1-1	100.8	-	-	100.8
2		80.2	0.3	19.4	99.9
3		100.3	-	-	100.3
4		100.6	0.3	-	100.9
5	Tok 1-2	100.3	0.3	-	100.6
6		100.1	0.3	-	100.4
7		79.8	0.2	19.8	99.8
8	Tok 1-3	99.7	0.4	-	100.1
9		77.6	2.3	20.6	100.5
10]	99.7	0.8	-	100.5
11		79.1	0.7	20.4	100.3

Table 2 SEM-EDS data of metal and sulfide inclusions in metallurgical slags from Tokskoe settlement

Note Dash-below the detection limit



Fig. 3 Mineralogical composition of Tokskoe settlement metallurgical slags. **a**—partially oxidized copper droplet in a glass matrix; **b**—copper droplets in a newly formed chalcocite "jacket"; **c**—relic fragments of serpentinite and quartz grains in slag glass; **d**—partially destroyed single grain of Crrich spinel. Cct—chalcocite, Chr—Cr-rich spinel, Cpr—cuprite, Cu—metallic copper, Gl—glass, Qu—quartz, Serp—serpentinite

settlements, for example, Gorny and Rodnikovoe, for which Kargaly also served as a source of copper raw materials (Kargaly 2004; Ankushev et al. 2021b). The presence of serpentinite relicts in the slags, as well as a slightly increased As content in the metal, in contrast to sulfides, may indicate the use of a mixed ore charge. In this case, ores associated with copper deposits in ultrabasites are added to the concentrate of copper sandstone sulfides. Previously, the use of a mixed charge was recorded during the analysis of metallurgical slags at the nearby Turganik settlement (Artemyev and Ankushev 2019). Another source could be As-enriched interlayers in copper sandstones (Blinov 2020).

In the Late Bronze Age, about 1700–1500 BC, numerous deposits of copper sandstones of the Western Orenburg region were located in the area of the Srubna

Table 3 Cor	nposition of	f metal ii	nclusions	in slags fro	om Toksk	oe settle.	ment (act	cording t	to LA-IC	P-MS d	ata)					
$M^{\underline{o}}$	Sample	Cu	Fe	S	Co	Ni	Zn	As	Se	Ag	Sn	\mathbf{Sb}	Te	Au	Pb	Bi
		%	%	%	mqq	bpm	bpm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm
1	Tok 1-2	98.0	1.02	0.623	28.9	35.0	1110	258	8.8	1290	7.1	19.3	3.0	1.34	336	3.89
2		98.6	0.95	0.29	23.8	76.7	170	347	10.3	636	0.23	5.44	<3.0	0.16	225	0.05
3		98.5	06.0	0.44	17.9	26.8	84	292	6.9	1144	1.17	14.1	0.52	0.21	335	1.06
4		98.7	0.75	0.35	24.2	24.4	45	256	6.2	799	4.2	17.9	1.5	0.22	214	2.91
5		98.6	0.88	0.35	26.3	33.5	75	174	7.9	1060	<5.8	11.8	1.5	0.24	356	2.20
9		98.9	0.72	0.27	14.8	19.0	18.2	149	6.5	1122	<0.79	7.05	<0.6	<0.1	258	0.14
7		98.9	0.64	0.26	13.0	19.2	8.2	156	<4.9	1188	<0.62	7.4	<0.6	<0.1	299	0.12
8		98.9	0.67	0.35	13.1	23.1	11.1	200	3.3	773	<0.51	9.6	<0.7	<0.1	240	0.07
6		98.9	0.49	0.37	12.1	22.1	12.8	208	4.7	1269	0.47	8.85	<1.5	0.10	402	0.10
10		99.0	0.47	0.33	12.5	21.7	8.8	139	3.9	1170	0.47	6.87	<0.47	<0.1	370	0.05
11		99.0	0.48	0.41	10.6	20.6	8.3	114	3.9	969	0.41	5.35	<0.91	<0.1	188	0.02
12	Tok 1-3	99.7	0.011	0.234	1.40	15.6	88	111	148	392	<0.85	4.44	<4.8	0.40	16.2	0.93
13		99.7	0.017	0.260	0.61	49.0	124	160	28	300	<0.84	10.7	0.35	<0.1	11.7	1.08
14		9.66	0.011	<0.41	25.3	61.6	86	924	57	1559	7	44.3	7.6	1.08	367	19.3
15		96.6	1.52	1.86	19.1	40.1	20	181	92	258	2.4	17	<۲	<0.1	64	8.6
16		99.1	0.25	0.47	17.9	56.2	7.1	213	14.8	742	<0.86	18.6	<4.7	0.10	684	1.81
17		99.8	0.018	<0.03	10.4	15.6	35	342	56	635	<4.7	7.6	1.0	<0.1	209	2.87
Minimum		96.6	0.011	0.23	0.61	15.6	7.1	111	3.3	258	0.23	4.44	0.35	0.1	11.7	0.02
Maximum		99.8	1.52	1.86	28.9	76.7	1110	924	148	1559	7.1	44.3	7.6	1.34	684	19.3
Average		98.9	0.576	0.46	16.0	33.0	112	248	28.6	912	2.61	12.7	2.2	0.43	269	2.66
Median		98.9	0.641	0.35	14.8	24.4	35.0	200	8.4	766	1.17	9.6	1.5	0.22	258	1.06

48

IVIC	calw		ing a	1110	wiet		rgica		ags	111 I	OKS				JHZE	: Ag	e						
	Ba	9.4	15.2	21.7	33.9	156	97.5	34.7	1007	420	239	1650	6600	93	105.9	104.9	392	24.1	<1.4	<1.3	106.1	160	ntinued
	Bi	0.34	0.23	0.17	1.11	<0.21	<0.01	<0.01	<0.26	<0.12	<0.09	<0.16	3.8	1.66	0.84	0.42	0.21	0.75	0.17	0.1	0.12	0.07	(cor
	Pb	2.44	10.5	1.9	48.4	81	258	4.2	32.5	624	308	4.1	101	225	226	205	248	283	330	522	168	161	
	Ag	434	519	334	247	35.5	67.5	206	1370	225	439	1680	36.1	144	155	152	502	2380	1817	102	353	353	
рш	Sb	0.83	0.64	0.59	0.84	1.88	2.45	0.4	1.15	0.44	14.4	0.06	7.1	2.96	1.28	0.64	0.96	2.02	0.62	1.94	0.34	0.65	
ata), pj	Мо	1.72	1.75	7.93	3.02	31.2	52.2	326	144	598	296	354	18.7	206	201	189	75.6	34.5	3.1	9.3	22.9	81	
P SM-9	Se	66.2	63.8	72.7	67.4	40	34.6	46.1	48	39	45	37	202	936	850	860	679	2062	301	169	725	669	
LA-ICF	As	28.5	5.35	38.6	20.8	136	104	5.4	14.1	12.6	12.1	53	24.3	21.1	19.1	18.4	23.3	41	8.2	25	19.4	24.2	
ding to	ja 1	.294	.291 6	.65	.95	.06	.38	.18	8.8	S	1	7.8	21	.76	.54	.71	S.	.6	.71 8	.27	.66	.12	
(accor	Cn C	7 0	.3 0	5 0	0 0	is S	.8	.2		<i>с</i> : 8	.9	18 2	00	.5	57 2	10 1	1 6	8	7 1	10 0	9 1	5	
lement	vi Z	.35 3	3.1 3	2.5 5	17 7	.23 4	.22 5	.00	.16	4.	.56 2	3.0 <	0.	.38	.6 5	.04	 6	0.7 7	.9	> 6.	.6 2	.14 3	
soe sett	~	246 5	332 1	318 2	71 1	23 1	.6 2	254 1	31 1	51 1	5	41	4.0	8	89 1	.1 1	8	5 1	02 1	.6 1	.7 0	.8 1	
Toks	Ŭ	2 0.1	.5 0.3	.5 0.		3.	9 10	.6 0.	.0 0.	0.0	.2 0.3	1 0.	8 34	4 9.	9.8	10	4 6.	9 5.0	1.0	6 18	15	14	
slags of	Mı	.5 &	С	С	.2 3.3	4.1	16.	8. 4>	۲. ۵	9. 4>	Q 12	.5 ⊲1	173	5 18.	7 20	9 20	15.	93.	9.1	.4 27.	8.6	.3 7.6	
rgical s	C	7 <3	2	5 <2	7 <2	4 6.9	8 3.7	7 49	7 13.	2 13.	9 22	20	1 48	7 72	1 79	2 71	3 49	26	7 8.5	4 12	1 7.4	6 10.	
netallu	>	7 14.	2 6.2	4 38.	8 29.	Ξ.	28.	4 23.	2 2.7	3 16.	8 10.	8 5.6	Ξ	17.	13.	13.	17.	4.4	1.3	1.2	0.6	1.9	
ets in n	Fe, %	0.23	0.13	0.48	0.18	0.95	3.39	0.03	0.00	0.03	0.17	<0.00	7.07	9.98	10.51	66.6	5.96	1.68	0.02	2.04	9.25	8.78	
e dropl	S, %	30.5	30.4	32.0	27.1	26.1	21.9	20.8	18.6	24.2	19.7	16.1	27.6	34.2	33.8	31.4	39.9	25.1	19.0	23.0	40.0	37.7	
of sulfid	Cu, %	69.1	69.4	67.4	72.6	72.9	74.6	79.0	81.2	75.6	80.0	83.6	65.3	55.6	55.5	58.4	54.0	72.8	80.7	74.9	50.6	53.5	
omposition c	Sample	Tok 1-2	_										Tok 1-3										
Table 4 Co	Nº	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	

Table 4 (co	ntinued)																		
Nº	Sample	Cu, %	S, %	Fe, %	Λ	Cr	Mn	Co	Ni	Zn	Ga	As	Se	Mo	Sb	Ag	Pb	Bi	Ba
22		54.9	36.1	8.92	1.51	8.6	8.52	18.5	2.1	5.6	2.02	26.3	653	81.9	0.58	344	147	0.08	127
23		66.7	27.6	5.63	11.6	70.5	<3.5	18.9	4.3	4.7	0.57	49.2	446	112	1.37	257	114	0.07	16.5
24		76.0	22.6	1.38	0.66	5	8.3	5.59	0.73	<4.0	5.49	20.9	117	51.2	1.28	70.1	258	0.05	342
Minimum		50.6	16.1	0.002	0.61	3.7	3.3	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.27	6.35	34.6	1.72	0.06	35.5	1.9	0.05	9.4
Maximum		83.6	40.0	10.5	111	7.9.7	178	34.4	117	557	121	136	936	598	14.4	2380	624	3.8	6600
Average		68.5	27.7	3.8	16.0	30.0	29.3	7.8	8.7	72.2	9.7	30.1	332	121	1.9	509	182	0.6	534
Median		71	27.4	1.7	11.5	17.2	15.4	9	1.9	9.8	2.25	22.05	143	63.9	0.9	296	165	0.21	106

Note The values of Ge, Cd, In, Sn, Te, Au, Tl are below the detection limit

population, which provided them with rich sulfide ores (Kargaly 2004). Ore-bearing siltstones and marls made it possible to mine near-surface deposits with relatively low labor costs. At the same time, to the east was the area of the Alakul population, and to the south-east—the Kozhumberdy population (Tkachev 2017). There are rare, poor on the surface volcanic massive sulfide and skarn copper deposits of the Southern Trans-Urals and Mugodzhary (Yuminov et al. 2013). Ore-bearing rocks here are strong serpentinites, granites, and volcanites (basalts and rhyolites), which significantly complicated the establishment of mine workings. These factors determined the formation, development of mining and metallurgy technologies, and the general scale of metal production in various regions.

4 Conclusions

In the Late Bronze Age, at Tokskoe settlement, rich chalcocite-covellite ores were exploited. This is evidenced by the confinement of the settlement to the Kargaly copper sandstone deposits, the presence of relict and newly formed sulfides in slags, impurities of Ba and Cl in glass, as well as S, Ag, and Pb in copper droplets. These impurities are typical for the products of metallurgical redistribution of copper sandstones, which was also noted in other Cis-Urals Late Bronze Age settlements (Kargaly 2004; Ankushev et al. 2019). The revealed relics of serpentinites and increased As contents in copper droplets may indicate the use of a mixed ore charge. The use of copper sandstones as raw materials and the technology of the metallurgical process in the settlement are typical for the Srubna population of the Late Bronze Age of the South Urals.

Acknowledgements Archaeological work was supported by the RFBR project No. 18-09-40031.

References

- Ankushev, M.N., Artemyev, D.A., Blinov, I.A., Bogdanov, S.V.: Bronze age metallurgical slags from the South urals: types, mineralogy and copper sources. Periodico di Mineralogia, 90, 173–193 (2021a). https://doi.org/10.13133/2239-1002/17314
- Ankushev, M.N., Faizullin, I.A., Blinov, I.A. Metallurgical Slags of Rodnikovoe Late Bronze Age Settlement. In: Yuminov A., Ankusheva N., Ankushev M., Zaykova E., Artemyev D. (eds) Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. GAM 2019. Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Cham., 117–124 (2021b). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-48864-2_16
- Artemyev, D.A., Ankushev, M.N.: Trace elements of Cu-(Fe)-sulfide inclusions in Bronze Age copper slags from South Urals and Kazakhstan: ore sources and alloying additions. Minerals 9(12), 746 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/min9120746
- Blinov, I.A.: Arsenates from copper sandstone ores of the Turganik settlement (Orenburg Cis-Urals). Metall. Ancient Modern Oceans 94–98 (2020) (In Russian)

- Chemyakin, Yu.P.: Sledy voyennykh konfliktov na alakulskikh poseleniyakh (Traces of military conflicts in the Alakul settlements). Etnicheskiye vzaimodeystviya na Yuzhnom Urale. Materialy VI Vserossiyskoy nauchnoy konferentsii (Ethnic interactions in the Southern Urals. Materials of the VI All-Russian Scientific Conference). Chelyabinsk: Chelyabinsk State Museum of Local Lore, 169–176 (2015) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Formation of the Eurasian 'steppe belt' of stockbreeding cultures: viewed through the prism of archaeometallurgy and radiocarbon dating. Archaeology, Ethnology, and Anthropology of Eurasia 3(35), 36-53 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aeae.2008.11.003
- Faizullin, I.A.: K voprosu o funktsionalnom naznachenii postroyek epokhi bronzy s territorii Zapadnogo Orenburzhya (To the question of the functional purpose of Bronze Age house-structure from the territory of Western Orenburg region). Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii i etnografii (Bulletin of archeology, anthropology and ethnography) **2**(29), 80–86 (2015) (In Russian)
- Faizullin, I.A.: Pogrebeniya na poseleniyakh epokhi bronzy na territorii Zapadnogo Orenburzhya (Burials in the Bronze Age settlements on the Western Orenburg region territory). Izvestiya Samarskogo nauchnogo tsentra Rossiyskoy akademii nauk (Bulletin of the Samara Scientific Center RAS) **14(3)**, 226–230 (2012) (In Russian)
- Kargaly, III: selishe Gornyy: Arkheologicheskiye materialy. Tekhnologiya gornometallurgicheskogo proizvodstva. Arkheobiologicheskiye issledovaniya (Kargaly, vol. III: Gorny Settlement: Technology of Mining-Metallurgical Production: Archaeological Research). Eds. Chernykh E.N. Languages of Slavic Culture, Moscow, 320 p (2004) (In Russian)
- Khalyapina, O.A.: Kartograficheskiy i formalno-tipologicheskiy analiz poseleniy epokhi pozdney bronzy iz Zapadnogo Orenburzhya (Cartographic and formal-typological analysis of the Late Bronze Age settlements from the Western Orenburg region). Problemy izucheniya eneolita i bronzovogo veka Yuzhnogo Urala (Problems of the Eneolithic and Bronze Age study of the Southern Urals), 84–92. Orsk: Institute of Eurasian Studies, Institute of the Steppe UB RAS, (2000) (In Russian)
- Koryakova L.N., Epimakhov A.V.: The Urals and Western Siberia in the Bronze and Iron Ages. Cambridge university press, 384 p (2007). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511618451
- Kosintsev, P.A., Varov, A.I.: Kostnyye ostatki iz dvukh poseleniy pozdnego bronzovogo veka Yuzhnogo Urala (Bone remains from two Late Bronze Age settlements of the Southern Urals). Margulanovskiye chteniya. Sbornik materialov konferentsii (Margulan proceedings. Conference materials), 80-81. Petropavlovsk (1992) (In Russian)
- Morgunova, N.L., Porokhova, O.I.: Poseleniya srubnoy kultury v Orenburgskoy oblasti (Settlements of the Srubna culture in the Orenburg region). Poseleniya srubnoy obshchnosti (Settlements of the Srubna community), 160–172. Publ. house of Voronezh State University, (1989) (In Russian)
- Tkachev, V.V.: Formirovaniye kulturnogo landshafta Ural'sko-Mugodzharskogo regiona v pozdnem bronzovom veke: osvoyeniye mednorudnykh resursov i strategiya adaptatsii k usloviyam gornostepnoy ekosistemy (Cultural Landscape Formation within the Ural-Mugodzhary Region in the Late Bronze Age: development of copper ore resources and a strategy of adaptation to the mountain-steppe ecosystem). Stratum plus. Arkheologiya i kulturnaya antropologiya (Stratum plus. Archaeology and Cultural Anthropology) 2, 205–230 (2017) (In Russian)
- Tatarinov, S.I.: Sezonnoye zhilishche gornyakov-metallurgov epokhi bronzy u sela Pilipchatino v Donbasse (Seasonal house-structure of miners-metallurgists of the Bronze Age near the Pilipchatino village in the Donbass). Sovetskaya Arkheologiya (Soviet Archeology) **4**, 98–99 (1988) (In Russian)
- Usachuk, A.N., Faizullin, I.A.: Kostyanyye izdeliya Tokskogo i Pokrovskogo poseleniy epokhi pozdney bronzy v Zapadnom Orenburzhye (Bone products of the Tokskoe and Pokrovskoe Late Bronze Age settlements in the Western Orenburg region). Arkheologicheskiye pamyatniki Orenburzhya (Archaeological sites of the Orenburg region) 12, 127–148. Orenburg: IPK University, (2016) (In Russian)
- Yuminov, A.M., Zaykov, V.V., Korobkov, V.F., Tkachev, V.V.: Bronze age copper mining in the Mugodzhary. Archaeol. Ethnol. Anthropol. Eurasia. 41(3), 87–96 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.aeae.2012.08.004

Arrowheads from Two Sarmatian Burials of the One Mound: Metal Composition and Shape Relation



Ivan A. Blinov and Alexander D. Tairov

Abstract The arrowheads from Mound 3, Burial pit 1 (240 items), and Burial pit 2 (130 items) of the Kichigino I Burial Ground were subjected to the XRF analysis. In both burials of Mound 3, the arrowheads have a similar chemical composition. The admixtures are Ni, As, Sb, Pb, and Bi with contents that do not exceed 1 wt%. In individual cases As content can reach 34.2%. The arrowheads metals are divided into 7 groups. Metal groups are distributed unevenly. Pure copper arrowheads prevail, then As minor admixture items follow them in numbers. The items with a high concentration of Sb and As are rare. Other metals are found in low quantities. Communities conducted burying in the burials 1 and 2 of mound 3 used mainly copper and its alloys of local manufacture. They did not practice copper alloying for arrowheads production.

Keywords Kichigino I \cdot Early iron age \cdot Pre-Sarmatian \cdot Bronze arrowheads \cdot Trans-Urals

1 Introduction

Bronze arrowheads are commonly found in the southern Urals Pre-Sarmatian burial grounds. In our opinion, these are expended supplies: being often lost while shooting, its functioning time most likely was short. To manufacture an ample quantity of the arrowheads, the most accessible material was used; therefore arrowheads could be presented as an indicator of such material sources. An important key in the understanding of both the sources of raw materials and the ancient metal makers' knowledge on metal characteristics is the alloying components such as Sn, As, Pb, Zn, and rarely such elements as Sb, Bi, Ag, Ni.

I. A. Blinov (🖂)

Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia

A. D. Tairov South Urals State University, Chelyabinsk, Russia

53

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_5

The Kichigino I burial ground is situated on a flattened area Tushkanskaya Mountain in the South Urals, on the left bank of the Uvelka River, 1.5 km west of Kichigino village, Uvelsky area, Chelyabinsk region (Tairov et al. 2008).

The Necropolis consists of 10 mounds spread in an irregular chain from WNW to ESE along the hill slope. Its dirt fills diameter ranges from 14 to 35 m with 0.1–1.5 m high. The burial ground was completely excavated in 2006–2011 in the course of the protective work conducted by the South Urals State University in cooperation with the Institute of History and Archeology of UB RAS, and the Chelyabinsk Regional Museum (nowadays—South Urals State Historical Museum). In the graves nos. 1 and 2 of Mound 3, as well as in the underside entrance hole untouched Pre-Sarmatian male martial burials were found.

In Burial pit 1, the burial was conducted in a plank coffin located in the central part of the burial. A deceased male individual aged 25–30, was positioned supinely with his head oriented to the West. In the left part of the chest, in the heart area, a heavily corroded bronze arrowhead was found. To the left from the bones, between the coffin and the burial wall, there was a long iron sword with arcuate crossing. Upon its grip, a foreleg bone of a sheep/goat was laid. To the left of the crossing, there was a big spotted glass bead. A bead of the same type was laid left to the sword-blade under the crossing. A similar bead was found near the right bone wrist (Fig. 1).

Upon the middle and lower parts of the sword-blade, quiver's pieces were found. That contained the 247 bronze socketed arrowheads (240 of them were analyzed). The 70 of 247 items had raised sockets and the 177 had hidden sockets (Fig. 2).

All the arrowheads with raised sockets were three-bladed, their length varies from 2.3 to 3.9 cm, but the vast majority has average size, varying from 2.7 cm to 3.4 cm. Most of them have an arched head and almost one-third of them have a triangular head, or the head close to this form.

The arrowhead's size varies from 2.7 cm to 4.1 cm; predominantly, the item's size is 3.2–3.7 cm. Most of the arrowheads with the hidden socket are three-bladed.



Fig. 1 a Location of Kichigino I Burial Ground. **b** Kichigino I Burial Ground, Mound 3, general plan (by A. Tairov). 1—burned soil; 2—wood; 3—charred wood, charcoal; 4—birch bark; 5—bedrock, loam



Fig. 2 Arrowhead sketches of Burial pit 1. On figure: I, II, etc.—metal groups; 1, 2, etc.—the number of arrowheads of the same type

One-fifth of the basic arrowheads are represented by the three-bladed/three-edged form: their three-bladed head in its lower part transforms into the three-edged one. Practically, all basic arrowheads are arched, triangular, though tower-shaped ones are rare. A significant number of the arrowheads with the hidden socket (99 items) ornamented with welts shaped in the form of a tick, sidelong cross, two parallel

horizontal lines, two or three parallel slanting lines, two vertical arches assembled in the arrowhead central part, etc.

Across the upper part of the quiver, an iron slightly bent plate is laid. Iron quiver hanger fragments are found under the quiver. Besides arrows, in the quiver, there was an iron knife with a broad grip and a slightly curved blade and an iron piercer with a wooden handle.

Immediately next to the quiver, between the quiver and burial wall, there was a long iron-tanged knife with a slightly curved blade. To the East from the quiver, right next to the northern wall, to the north from the knee joint, there was a snaffle with iron bits and cheek-pieces; its hide ropes were decorated with many bronze inserts of various sizes and shapes, half-round tassels.

Burial pit 2 is situated at 4.6 m to NEE from Burial pit 1. In the central part of the burial male's skeleton was found. The individual died at the age of 40–45 years. The deceased was laid supinely with his head towards SSW.

Between the north-western wall of the chamber and the bones to the left of its left hand in parallel to the body, there was a long (93.5 cm) iron sword with an arched crossing, a wide oval grip expanded towards the crossing, and, possibly, with a slightly curved umbrella-shaped pommel. To the left from the sword, next to its crossing and upper part of the blade, there were two conical tassels found.

Upon the middle and lower part of the sword blade, similarly to the burial 1, the quiver's pieces were found, located in 0.2–0.3 m to the West from the left knee joint. The quiver contains 130 bronze socketed arrowheads. There was a well-preserved iron claw-shaped hanger near the upper part of the quiver. Next to the feet bones, there was a very poorly preserved iron socketed spearhead.

The quiver contained arrowheads with raised sockets: there are 106 items, among them, there are 24 items of the basic type (Fig. 3). The length of the arrowheads with the raised socket varies from 2.1 to 3.7 cm, though the size of 2.5 to 3.0 cm



Fig. 3 Arrowhead sketches of Burial pit 2. On figure: I, II, etc.—metal groups; 1, 2, etc.—the number of arrowheads of the same type

prevails. The length of the arrowheads with the hidden socket varies from 2.2 to 3.9 cm. Most of the arrowheads have a narrow-arched head, which in some cases has a triangular shape. The arrowheads with a triangular head are also in the quiver. All the arrowheads with the raised socket are three-bladed. The arrowheads with the hidden socket predominantly have a transitional three-bladed/three-edged form, but one of them is three-edged. Six of the basic arrowheads are ornamented with welts.

2 Methods and Materials

At present, the arrowheads from mound 3 burials 1 and 2 are stored in State South Urals Historical Museum (Chelyabinsk, Russia). Therefore, these items are available only for non-destructive analysis. Among those, X-ray fluorescence analysis is the most accessible method. This method allows defining a wide spectrum of elements (heavier than Ti).

The research has been conducted with XRF- analyzer Innov X Alfa 400 apparatus on Process Analytical Mode, 30 s exposure time, 0.1% sensitivity. The size of the analyzed window is about 1 cm².

The specifics of them are that only the surface of an item is being analyzed. Due to that technologic coat (tin-plating), oxidation film or patina obstruct the process of analysis and/or seriously impact its results, distorting metal composition data. All the items studied for the present work are covered by patina layers. Previous works demonstrated that the patina layer can overestimate the analyzed values Sn, As, Sb by 1.5–2 times (Blinov et al. 2017; Blinov and Tairov 2018). The distortion of the analysis is 1.5–2 times, but not by an exponent. The analysis can be considered "semi-quantitative". Correctly determines the qualitative composition and the order of the magnitude of concentrations.

3 Results and Discussion

Among admixtures in the arrowheads, such metals as Ni, As, Sb, Pb, and Bi are detected. On whole, the impurity content is not high and rarely outreaches the 1 wt. %. However, the content of As could be quite high and reach in particular cases 34.2 weight percentage though in the vast majority of cases it does not exceed 0.2 wt%.

Burial pit 1

There are 240 out of 248 bronze socketed arrowheads (71 items have raised sockets and 177 items have hidden sockets) that are subjected to the analysis. They can be further subdivided into several groups (Table 1, Fig. 4). The arrowheads made from pure copper are the most common ones (144 items). The arrowheads with As content up to 0.3% follow the primary group. In some cases, the As concentration reaches 0.7-0.8 wt% (91 items). The other three groups are small in numbers. Thus, the third

Element	Concentration (wt%)	Average (wt%)	Standard deviation	N
Ni	0.1–0.4	0.2		3
As	<0.1-34.2	0.9	4.4	96
Sb	0.4–2.2	1.2		3
Pb	0.1–0.5	0.2		3
Bi	0.3			1
Cu pure				144

 Table 1
 Summary composition of arrowheads in the burial pit 1

Note Table shows a variety of content of element admixtures that could be several in one item. Therefore, the N sum is bigger than the number of the items analyzed



Fig. 4 Histograms of elemental abundances of arrowheads in the burial pit 1

group comprised of the arrowheads containing Sb, Ni, and As in high concentrations (more than 1 wt%), and possible admixtures of Pb and Bi (3 items). One arrowhead has a low content of As and Pb (up to 0.3 and 0.2 wt% accordingly); and another one has a content of As of more than 10%.

Burial pit 2

There are 130 arrowheads sampled for the analysis. The metal of all arrowheads contains impurities of Ni, As, Sn, Sb, Pb, and Bi (Table 2, Fig. 5). The content of impurities usually does not exceed 1%. As an exception, impurities of Sb occur together with elevated concentrations of As (>2%).

The metal artifacts can also be divided into several groups. Here, pure copper prevails as well (82 items), and then the group with the As admixture has up to

Element	Concentration (wt%)	Average (wt%)	Standard deviation	N
Ni	0.1	0.1		2
As	<0.1-9.3	0.5	1.6	45
Sn	0.3			1
Sb	0.9–4.6	2.2		6
Pb	0.1–0.5	0.2		3
Bi	0.2–0.4	0.3		3
Cu pure				82

Table 2 Summary composition of arrowheads in the Burial pit 2

Note Ttable shows a variety of content of element admixtures that could be several in the same item. Therefore, the total number (N) is larger than the number of the items analyzed



Fig. 5 Histograms of elemental abundances of arrowheads in the burial pit 2

0.1 wt% (39 items) and follows in numbers. The third group is characterized by the combination of high contents of Sb and As (>2%), and possible Ni and Bi admixtures (6 items). Two arrowheads have the admixture of Pb with the content of up to 0.5% and one arrowhead has the Sn admixture up to 0.3% and Pb admixture up to 0.1%.

Morphologically, the arrowheads differ in size, the form of the socket, and the form of the blade. Among them, there are several similar morphologies, but their chemical composition varies. The largest series has 12 arrowheads of the identical form, and 10 of 12 belong to metal group I, while the rest—to metal group III. Besides that, a similar shape occurs among arrowheads in the following combinations of the groups: group II and group III; of group I and group II; of group I, II, and III; of group I, III, and V; of groups I and VI. In such cases, the number of arrowheads in one series does not exceed 8 items.

Some arrowheads are decorated with welts that are shaped in the form of a tick, sidelong cross, two parallel horizontal lines, two or three parallel slanting lines, two vertical arches assembled in the arrowhead central part, etc. Also, the arrowheads differ in the forms of their sockets: there are the arrowheads with the raised socket and the arrowheads with the hidden socket. By the form of the blade, they can be subdivided into the three-bladed, the three-bladed with the triangular base, the three-bladed with a developed triangular base, and the three-edged arrowheads.

In Burial pit 1, the three-bladed arrowheads with the hidden socket (HT) are the most common (Table 3). About two-thirds of them are decorated. The three-bladed arrowheads with the hidden socket and triangular base (HB), and the three-bladed arrowheads with raised socket (RT) are less common. The correlation of the type with the metal also varies. In group I, the HB arrowheads are often presented, though, in group III, there are only the RT arrowheads. The HB arrowheads are ornamented in 50% of cases in group I, and 17% cases in group III. Among the RT arrowheads, only one is decorated.

The hidden socket three-bladed arrowheads with the developed triangular base (HT-B) are very rare. In the case of group I and group III, they have presented only at 3% and 5% cases (4 and 5 items), respectively. However, all of them are decorated.

The arrowheads of group II (3 items), one arrowhead of group IV (1 item) belong to the RT morphological type. The arrowhead of metal group VI (1 item) is of the HT type. No ornament is registered.

In Burial pit 2, arrowheads of the RT type prevail largely (Table 4). The second in numbers is the HB arrowhead type: in metal group I, there are 9% of them, and in metal group III there is 17%. The HT arrowheads are distributed as 6% and 5%, respectively. A significant part of the HB and HT arrowheads are ornamented. The hidden socket three-edged arrowheads (HE) are rare (a single item of each) and they belong to metal groups I and III. These are lacking ornament. The arrowheads of metal types II, IV, and V are rare (6, 1, and 2 items, respectively) and all of them are the RT arrowheads.

4 Results and Discussion

The available metal arrowheads can be divided into 7 groups (Table 5): the pure Cu arrowheads with no admixtures (I); the high Sb and As content (>1%) with the possible admixtures of Pb, Ni, Bi (II) arrowheads; the low As content arrowheads, in which As usually does not exceed 0.2%, but in particular cases As content reaches 0.8% (III); the high As content arrowheads with no other admixtures (IV); the Pb admixture arrowheads, with the content of up to 0.5% (V); the Pb and As admixture arrowheads, with the content of both of up to 0.7% (VI); the Sn admixture and the possible Pb admixture up to 0.2% arrowheads (VII).

The metal groups are uneven in numbers. In both burial pits of Mound 3, the arrowheads have similar compositions. The pure copper arrowheads prevail (group I, 60-63%), the second position belongs to the low As admixture arrowheads (group
Metal group	RT (%)	Ornamented RT (%)	HB (%)	Ornamented HB (%)	HT (%)	Ornamented HT (%)	HT-B (%)	Ornamented HT-B (%)	Number of items in the metal group
	20.6	3.4	25.5	50.0	51.1	63.9	2.8	100.0	141
II	100								3
III	34.8		19.6	16.7	40.2	59.5	5.4	100.0	92
IV	100								1
VI					wt%	100			1
	•			•	•				

	-
pit 1	(
ne Burial	
wheads In th	E
the arro	(
Iorphology of	E C
Table 3 M	-

Note RT—raised socket, three-bladed; HB—hidden socket, three-bladed with triangular base; HT—hidden socket, three-bladed; HT-B—hidden socket, three-bladed with a developed triangular base

Metal group	RT (%)	HB (%)	Ornamented HB (%)	HT (%)	Ornamented HT (%)	HE (%)	Number of items in the metal group
Ι	83.8	8.8	28.6	6.3	40.0	1.3	80
II	100						6
III	76.2	16.7	28.6	4.8		2.4	42
IV	100						1
V	100						2

 Table 4
 Morphology of the arrowheads in the Burial pit 2

Note RT—raised socket, three-bladed; HB—hidden socket, three-bladed with triangular base; HT— hidden socket, three-bladed; HT-B—hidden socket, three-bladed with a developed triangular base

Metal groups	Characteristics	Quantity in burial pit 1	Quantity in burial pit 2
Ι	Cu pure	144 (60.0%)	82 (63.1%)
Ш	Sb + As (high concentrations > 1% or >10%) ± Pb, Ni, Bi	3 (1.3%)	6 (4.6%)
III	As up to 1% (usualy up to 0.2%)	91 (37.9%)	39 (30.0%)
IV	As > 10%	1 (0.4%)	
V	Pb under 0.5%		2 (1.5%)
VI	Pb + As up to 1%	1 (0.4%)	
VII	Sn \pm Pb (up to 1%, usualy 0.2%)		1 (0.8%)
	Summ	240 (100%)	130 (100%)

Table 5 Metal groups of arrowheads from burial1 and 2 Kichigino I burial ground

III, 30-36%). The arrowheads of group II with the high concentrations of Sb and As and other admixtures are fairly rare (1.3–4.6%). The other compositions are extremely rare: they are found only in one of the burial pits.

Thus, people conducted burying in burials 1 and 2 of the Kichigino burial ground; mound 3 had stable access to two main sources of metal or the groups of such sources. These sources produced pure copper and copper with the low As admixtures. The additional source was metal compounded with fahlore that contained simultaneously the As and Sb high content. Arrowheads of other metal groups are most likely from other regions and ended up in the Kichigino mound by accident.

Most likely, the metal of groups I and III are of a local origin. In general, it is consistent with the composition of metal artifacts found in the sites of the Itkul archaeological culture. More than 88% of the artifacts are made of pure copper. (Kuzminykh and Degtyaryova 2015, 2017). In the Southern Urals, there is quite a large amount of copper mines exploited in ancient times (Beltikova 2002; Chernykh

1970). Group II metal could be of a non-local origin. This metal is not typical for the Southern Urals.

The metal of the arrowheads with the relatively little Sn content is extremely rare for the Southern Urals. In contrast with the Bronze Age, when Sn-bronze was widely used (Vinogradov 2013), where its distribution is much lower. That could be caused by a breach of connections with regions excavating tin. As well as, expensive metal use for the manufacture of such mass products as arrowheads.

Kichigino is among many Early Iron Age sites in the Central Eurasia steppe zone where bronze arrowheads were found. By the present time, data are published on bronze arrowheads found at the Tegizzhol site, the Philippovsky burial ground, and the Dautov I ancient settlement. However, we can cite the study of the composition of the metal of arrowheads of the Arzhan-Mayemir period from the territory of the Upper Ob and Altai as an example of using X-ray fluorescence analysis from the most distant regions of the Eurasian Steppes (Tishkin et al. 2014; Tishkin 2017). Below, we provide data for comparison.

The Philippovsky burial ground, Mound 1, Grave 2 is situated in the Orenburg region, Russia. The burial site is dated within the IV century BC (Yablonsky 2014). Despite the big quiver, only two arrowheads were analyzed. One of them has the high As (16.9%) and Sb (4.8%) contents, the second arrowhead has the high As and Pb concentration (qualitative measurement) (Blinov et al. 2014).

The Tegizzhol site, Mound 27 is situated 10 km west of Temirtau city in the Karaganda region, Kazakhstan. It is classified as a part of the Tasmolino archaeological culture and dated to the VI–VII centuries B.C. Arrowheads are found in graves 1 and 2 (Varfolomeev 2011). In Burial pit 1 five arrowheads are found. Morphologically all the arrowheads are tanged, i.e., they are shaped differently than ones from the Kichigino mound. Besides that, their metal composition is different: here, the content of the element varies a lot: Pb (0.2–2.3%), As (1.1–10.2%), Sn (0.3–26.0%), and Bi (up to 0.7%) are detected in three of the five arrowheads. In Burial pit 2 only one arrowhead is found. Its composition differs from the composition of metal from Burial pit 1. It also has Pb, As and Bi, but no Sn while Sb admixture is present (Blinov and Varfolomeev 2015).

The Dautov I ancient settlement is situated in the mining works zone of the Chelyabinsk region, Russia, on the shore of the Itkul Lake. Beltikova dated the settlement back to the end of the VII century CE—the beginning of the IV century CE (Beltikova 1986, p. 77). The composition of seven arrowheads was defined. Three of them are of pure copper; two have the As admixture of about 0.1%. There is a Pb admixture of about 0.1% in one of them, and in another one, there is 9.9% of Sn (Tairov and Blinov 2019).

The Borovoe-III settlement is located in the lower part of the Biya River (the Upper Ob region), in Altai Krai, Russia. It is dated from the VIII to the last quarter of the VII century BC. There are 18 arrowheads from the settlement's collection which were analyzed. All of these arrowheads are bilobed. The most common is the shape with the rhombic cross-section and less often is the leaf-shaped morphology. The arrowheads are alloyed. The common formulations are Sn + As + Pb \pm Bi, Sb, Ni. Less common are Sb + As + Bi \pm Ni, Sn (Tishkin et al. 2014).

The Eleknomar II complex (Mounds 10 and 6) is dated back to the VII-V century BC and is located in Altai (the Republic of Altai, Russia). It contains triangular (2 pieces) and two-bladed (3 pieces) arrowheads. All of them have as well as a constant impurity of Sn, Pb \pm As, Zn. One three-bladed tip contains only As and Pb impurities (2.5% and 0.2% in the patinated surface, respectively) (Tishkin 2017).

Among the above-mentioned sites, only Philippovsky and Dautov I are contemporaneous with the Kichigino I burial ground. Tegizzhol appeared one or two centuries earlier.

5 Conclusions

It is difficult to come to any certain conclusions yet as the sample is small. However, it is possible to outline some tendencies. Thus, the composition of the five arrowheads from the Dautov I settlement is close to the metal types I and III of Kichigino. One arrowhead from the Philippovsky burial ground is similar in composition to the type II. The 27 arrowheads from the Mound of Tegizzhol have no conformity with the Kichigino ones. However, two parameters may be significant here: they belong to the different period and they differ in their geographic locations, what could impact the trade connections.

Communities conducted burying in Kichigino Burial pits 1 and 2 of Mound 3 used mainly copper and its alloys of local production. They did not practice copper alloying for arrowheads production. A small amount was supplied from the Orenburg area. There were several metal sources provided by the earlier nomads of the southern Trans-Urals who buried their deceased on the mountain of Tushkan, These sources provided a stable supply.

Acknowledgements The work is supported by RFBR, project No. 20-09-00205 "Culture and community of earlier nomads in South Trans-Urals (a case study of Kichigino I burial grounds)". The authors thank Marina V. Ivanova who helped to make this study available to a wider audience.

References

- Beltikova, G.V.: Itkulskoye I gorodishche mesto drevnego metallurgicheskogo proizvodstva (Itkul I Settlement The Place of Ancient Metallurgical Manufacture) Problemy Uralo-Sibirskoy arkheologii (Ural-Siberian Archeology Issues) 63–78 (1986) (In Russian)
- Beltikova, G.V.: Itkulskiy ochag metallurgii: oriyentatsiya, svyazi (Itkul metal making area: orientation, connections) In: Uralskiy istoricheskiy vestnik, 8 Drevniye i srednevekovyye kul'tury Urala v yevraziyskom kulturnom prostranstve) (Urals Historical Herald 8 (Ancient and Middle-Age Cultures of Urals in Eurasian Cultural Area). 142–163, Yekaterinburg: Akademkniga (2002) (In Russian)
- Blinov, I.A., Varfolomeev, V.V.: Sostav bronzovykh izdeliy iz kurgana 27 mogil'nika Tegiszhol (Karagandinskaya oblast', Kazakhstan) (Composition Of Bronze Items From Tegizzhol Burial

Ground Mound 27 (Karaganda Region, Kazakhstan)) Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya (Geoarcheology and Archeological Mineralogy) 2, 136–142 (2015) (In Russian)

- Blinov, I.A., Tairov, A.D., Yuminov, A.M.: Vliyaniye sposoba chistki bronzovykh izdeliy na rezultaty analiza RFA (na primere poyasnykh oboym iz kurgana 5 mogil'nika Kichigino I v Yuzhnom Zauralye) (Influence of Copper Items Treatment Methods on XRF Analysis Results (Exemplified by belt stripping clips from Kichigino I burial ground, barrow 5 in South Transurals)). Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy) 4, 181–184 (2017) (In Russian)
- Blinov, I.A., Tairov, A.D.: Sostav bronz poseleniya Shibayevo iz pod"yemnykh sborov sezona 2017 (Bronze Composition Of Shibaevo Settlement Discovered Collections in 2017). Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya (Geoarcheology and Archeological Mineralogy) 5, 152–155 (2018) (In Russian)
- Blinov, I.A., Ankushev, M.N., Yablonsky, L.T., Halyapina, O.A.: Sostav zolotykh, serebryanykh i bronzovykh izdeliy iz mogil'nika Filippovka I (kurgan 1, pogrebeniye 2) (Composition Of Golden, Silver And Bronze Items From Philippovka I Burial Ground (Mound 1, burial pit 2)) Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya-2014 (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy-2014) 1, 84–92 (2014) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Drevneyshaya metallurgiya Urala i Povolzhya (Ancient Metallurgy of Urals And Volga Region) Materialy i issledovaniya po arkheologii SSSR (USSR archeological materials and researches) 172, 180 p. (1970) (In Russian)
- Kuzminykh, S.V., Degtyaryova, A.D. Tsvetnaya metalloobrabotka itkul'skoy kultury: (Predvaritel'nyye rezultaty analiticheskikh issledovaniy) (Itkul Culture Copper Metal-Working (Preliminary Results of Analytical Research) Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii i etnografii (Herald of Archaeology, Anthropology and Ethnography) 4, 57–66 (2015) (In Russian)
- Kuzminykh, S.V., Degtyaryova, A.D.: Metalloproizvodstvo krasnoozerskoy i itkulskoy kultur Tobolo-Ishim'ya (Tomolo-Ishim Itkul and Krasnoozerskaya Cultures Metal-Making) Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii i etnografii (Herald of Archaeology, Anthropology and Ethnography) 4, 37–50 (2017) (In Russian)
- Tairov, A.D., Blinov, I.A.: Metall Pervogo Dautovskogo (Itkulskogo I) gorodishcha iz kollektsii gosudarstvennogo istoricheskogo muzeya Yuzhnogo Urala (Dautovo I (Itkul I) Settlement Metal From South Urals State Historical Museum Collection) Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya-2019 (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy-2019) 6, 125–128 (2019) (In Russian)
- Tairov, A.D., Botalov, S.G., Pleshanov M.L.: Issledovaniya kurgannogo mogil'nika Kichigino v 2007 godu (predvaritel'nyye rezultaty) (The Research Of Kichigino Burial Ground Mounds in 2007 (Preliminary Results)) Ranniye kochevniki Volgo-Ural'skogo regiona : materialy mezhdunarodnoy nauchnoy konferentsii «Ranniye kochevniki Yuzhnogo Priural' ya v svete noveyshikh arkheologicheskikh otkrytiy» (Earlier Nomads of Volga Urals Region: Materials Of International Scientific Conference "Earlier Nomads Of South Cisurals In The Sught Of Newest Archeological Breakthrough) 139–145 (2008) (In Russian)
- Tishkin, A.A., Kungurov, A.L., Likhacheva, O.S. Rentgenoflyuorestsentnyy analiz metallicheskikh nakonechnikov strel arzhano-mayemirskogo vremeni s poseleniya Borovoye-III (Verkhneye Priob'ye) (X-ray fluorescence analysis of metal arrowheads of the Arzhan-Mayemir period from the Borovoe-III settlement (Upper Ob region)) eoriya i praktika arkheologicheskikh issledovaniy (Theory and practice of archaeological research) 10(2), 96–111 (2014) (In Russian)
- Tishkin, A.A.: Metallic Artifacts of Arjan-Mayemir Period from the Altai Territory: X-Ray Fluorescence Analysis, Cultural and Chronological Attribution. Theory and practice of archaeological research (Teoriya i praktika arkheologicheskikh issledovaniy) 17(1), 123–144 (2017)
- Varfolomeev, V.V.: Tasmolinskoye pogrebeniye s nabornym poyasom iz mogil'nika Tegiszhol (Tasmolino Burial Ground with the Belt Decorated with Plates from Tegizzhol Burial Ground) Voprosy arkheologii Kazakhstana (Kazakhstan Archaeology Issues) 3, 315–324 (2011) (In Russian)

- Vinogradov, N.B.: Drevneye Ustye: ukreplennoye poseleniye bronzovogo veka v Yuzhnom Zauralye (The Ancient Ustye: the Bronze Age fortified settlement in the Southern Trans-Urals), 482 p. Abris, Chelyabinsk (2013) (In Russian)
- Yablonsky, L.T.: Zoloto rannikh kochevnikov Yuzhnogo Priuralya kak istoricheskiy istochnik (po materialam mogilnika Filippovka 1) (South Cisurals Nomads Gold As Historical Source (Based On Materials From Philippovka I Burial Ground)) Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya-2014 (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy-2014) 1, 81–84 (2014) (In Russian)

The Ancient Bronzes of Bashkiria: Findings on the Composition of Non-ferrous Metal Obtained at the Burial Grounds of the Bronze Age



Ilshat I. Bakhshiev and Elvir V. Kamaleev

Abstract The article presents the results of the elemental analysis of the composition of metal objects obtained at the burials dating back to the Srubnaya Culture of the Southern Urals. The data was received by energy-dispersive analysis of the most common category of jewelry-bronze bracelets. The predominant shapes are open grooved bracelets with rounded ends, as well as bracelets made of rods and twisted wires with semicircular and triangular sections. The primary purpose of this work is to provide a general description of the composition of the ancient metal and compare series of findings from the Urals and the Trans-Urals. The first stage of the work involved the examination of ten samples from the Trans-Ural group of sites, namely objects from Tavlykaevsky burial grounds I and II, and seven ornaments from the Srubnaya culture burials of the Staro-Yabalaklinsky cemetery (Urals). The leading metallurgical group is tin bronze with ternary alloys of copper, tin, and lead or copper, tin, and antimony. In terms of its composition, the series of findings was quite clearly differentiated. In the Trans-Ural assemblages, objects with added lead were mainly found in burials of the Tavlykaevsky I burial ground, while in the Tavlykaevsky II burial ground, there was a predominance of copper-tin alloys with antimony inclusions. In the Staro-Yabalaklinsky necropolis, an object might contain an admixture of antimony and lead. Depending on the elemental composition of copper-based metals in various categories of objects, it is hypothetically possible to reconstruct the sources of metal supply of the South Urals and to characterize the local features of the metallurgy development in this region in the Bronze Age.

Keywords Bronze age \cdot South Ural \cdot Metal production \cdot Composition analysis of bronzes

I. I. Bakhshiev (🖂) · E. V. Kamaleev

R.G. Kuzeev Institute for Ethnological Studies - Subdivision of the Ufa Federal Research Centre of the RAS, Ufa, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_6

1 Introduction

In recent decades, a multidisciplinary approach in studying materials found at excavations of archaeological sites has created an extended information space to help understand cultural genetic processes. The given perspective equipped with a variety of up-to-date archaeometry methods provides us with an opportunity to approach already well-known sites that possess significant features. The key sites to study the South Urals Bronze Age are the Tavlykaevsky complex in the Bashkir Trans-Urals, Staro-Yabalaklinsky cemetery (Gorbunov and Morozov 1991) in the Trans-Urals. Based on these materials, the researchers have formed schemes illustrating cultural dynamics of the region (Rutto 2003; Bakhshiev 2014; Bakhshiev and Bakhshiev 2014; Alaeva 2015; Tkachev 2017). The necessity to continue research of the "old" collections is conditioned by the broad analytic opportunities of the archaeological material itself, as well as a perspective to implement an interdisciplinary program of a complex study of archeology of the Bronze Age in Bashkortostan.

2 Materials and Methods

The research has been carried out with the electronic scanning microscope Vega 3SBH (TESCAN, the Czech Republic), equipped with a reflected electron detector (SE) and an X-ACT energy-dispersive analysis detector (Oxford Instruments)., A section of the sample surface of 2–5 mm was ground to remove the oxide layer to identify the composition of the metal. Then, this area was polished with diamond paste.

In the course of the analysis, at least five spectral samples of each item were obtained, the average value of which was an indicator of the elemental composition of a non-ferrous item. The studies were carried out at the Institute for Metals Superplasticity Problems of the Russian Academy of Sciences (the abbreviated name is the IMSP RAS).

In the course of the research, ten samples from the Trans-Ural group of monuments were analyzed—items that fell under the category of ornaments of the Srubnaya Culture from Tavlykaevsky burial grounds I and II. Most items were grooved bronze bracelets, namely: four items (found at Grave 1, Mound 2) and with one item found at Grave 1, Mound 3 and Grave 14, Mound 2 of the Tavlykaevsky II burial ground, as well as three bracelets from the Tavlykaevsky I burial ground: Grave 1, Mound 5 (1 item) and Grave 10, Mound 5 (2 items). Samples of a fragment of one plate of a braided fillet or ribbon used as an ornament were also taken (burial 1, mound 2).

3 Results and Discussion

The primary and most common category of metal objects found at the sites under study is bronze bracelets. The predominant shapes are open grooved bracelets with pointed and rounded ends (13 items), twisted wire bracelets with semicircular and sub-triangular sections (2 items), as well as one false twist bracelet. Out of 106 burial mounds (kurgans) excavated at the Staro-Yabalaklinsky burial ground, 81 contained 165 burials of the Srubnaya Culture. In 8 burials, there were 20 items of copper-based metals, with bracelets (16 items) found in all these burials. In the Tavlykaevsky II burial ground, in 6 burial mounds, 30 burials of the Srubnaya Culture were excavated, 7 of which contained non-ferrous metals (34 items), with bracelets (8 items) also present in all burials. The situation is similar to the Tavlykaevsky I burial ground, where 41 burials of the Srubnaya Culture were examined in 9 mounds, 2 of which contained non-ferrous metals (4 items) with the obligatory presence of bracelets (3 items).

According to their elemental composition, grooved bracelets from the Trans-Urals group can be further subdivided into two groups. The first group includes bracelets from Group 1, Mound 2 of the Tavlykaevsky burial ground, which have the following composition: copper varies from 84.08 to 90.85, tin varies from 8.39 to 13.62. Two bracelets contain antimony in the amount of 0.31 and 1.62. One bracelet contains 0.39 of iron. The plate fragment of the bib necklace was additionally analyzed to make the obtained quantitative indicators more precise. Its elemental composition turned out to be identical to the primary group of grooved bracelets.

The second group includes the remaining grooved bracelets, which contain from 85.50 to 88.66 copper, from 4.98 to 14.03 tin, and from 0.15 to 0.47 silicon. Apart from the indicated elements, two bracelets contain iron (0.14 and 0.07) and lead (2.68 and 4.30), as well as phosphorus and nickel (Table 1, No. 6, No. 8). Regarding the chemical composition, this group also includes twisted wire bracelets from Grave 7, Mound 10 of the Tavlykaevsky I burial ground, which also consists of copper, tin, silicon, iron, lead, phosphorus, and nickel (Table 1, No. 9–10). Despite a smaller number of composition elements in contrast to the second group, the grooved bracelet from Grave 14, Mound 2 of the Tavlykaevsky II burial ground does not have an aluminum admixture like the other ones.

Thus, the leading metallurgical group is tin bronzes with three-component copper—tin–lead (4 items) and copper–tin-antimony alloys (3 items) (see Table 1).

Regarding its composition, the series under study demonstrates the inner variability. Items with the addition of lead were found mainly in the graves of the Tavlykaevsky I burial ground (except for the bracelet from Grave 1, Mound 3 of the Tavlykaevsky II burial ground). Whereas items from the female burial in Grave 1, Mound 2 of the Tavlykaevsky II burial ground, were made of an alloy of copper (from 84.08 to 90.85), tin (from 8.39 to 13.62), and antimony is1.08 in the plait ornament, and 1.62 and 0.31 in the grooved bracelets. In addition to inclusions of antimony, the group is distinguished by fixed natural admixtures of aluminum (0.22–0.44) that are not found in other analyzed objects.

Table 1Res(Trans-Urals)	ults of the and Staro	elemental analysis of -Yabalaklinsky necropo	the composition of the compositi	sition of me	stal obj	jects obt	tained	at the	burials	dating	back 1	o I and	l II Ta	vlykae	vsky b	ourial g	rounds
No	Sample #	Site	Artifacts	Complex	Fe	Cu	Pb	Al	Si	Sn	ï	s	IJ	Р	Br	Sb	Alloy types
Trans-Urals																	
	620/1	II Tavlykaevsky burial ground	Plait ornament	Mound 2 burial 1		88.86		0.25	0.3	9.53						1.08	Cu + Sn + Sb
5	620/4	1	Grooved bracelets	Mound 2 burial 1		84.08		0.36	0.69	13.24						1.62	Cu + Sn + Sb
3	620/17	1	Grooved bracelets	Mound 2 burial 1	0.39	85.49		0.22	0.28	13.62							Cu + Sn
4	620/20	I	Grooved bracelets	Mound 2 burial 1		88.43		0.37	0.27	10.93							Cu + Sn
5	620/24	1	Grooved bracelets	Mound 2 burial 1		90.85		0.44		8.39						0.31	Cu + Sn
9	620/25	1	Grooved bracelets	Mound 3 burial 1	0.14	88.66	2.68		0.19	4.98	0.24				3.12		Cu + Sn + Pb
7	620/28	I	Grooved bracelets	Mound 2 burial 14		85.50			0.47	14.03							Cu + Sn
×	631/52	I Tavlykaevsky burial ground	Grooved bracelets	Mound 5 burial 1	0.07	86.39	4.30		0.15	9.03				0.09			Cu + Sn + Pb
																(con	tinued)

Table 1 (con	tinued)																
No	Sample #	Site	Artifacts	Complex	Fe	Cu	Pb	AI	Si	Sn 1	ïZ	s	CI	Р	Br	Sb	Alloy types
6	631/53	1	Bracelets made of rods	Mound 7 burial 10	0.8	84.26	3.02		0.73	11.15				0.04			Cu + Sn + Pb
10	631/54	1	Bracelets made of rods	Mound 7 burial 10	0.05	84.89	3.09		0.24	11.36				0.37			Cu + Sn + Pb
Urals																	
11	622/3	Staro-Yabalaklinsky burial ground	False twisted bracelet	Mound 23 burial 1		82.9	2.7	0.26	0.27	13.6						0.19	Cu + Sn + Pb
12	622/18	1	Grooved bracelets	Mound 48 burial 3		70.32			1.24	20.25		0.55	6.86	0.78			
13	622/19	1	Grooved bracelets	Mound 48 burial 3		65.01		0.24	0.51	31.08		0.44	2.51	0.21			
14	682/21		Grooved bracelets	Mound 101 burial 1	0.21	83.99	1.17		60.0	13.57						0.27	Cu + Sn + Pb
15	682/22	1	Grooved bracelets	Mound 101 burial 1	0.19	88.63		0.16	0.16	10.68		60.0	0.07				Cu + Sn
16	683/44	1	Grooved bracelets	Mound 106 burial 8	0.07	90.26		0.43	0.04	8.28					0.66	0.25	Cu + Sn
																(con	tinued)

The Ancient Bronzes of Bashkiria: Findings on the Composition ...

q
o
n
·=
Ξ
5
- Ö
J
_
-
e
-
0
_

Table 1	(continued)																
No	Sample #	Site	Artifacts	Complex	Fe	Cu	Pb	Al	Si	Sn	Я	S	CI	Ρ	Br	Sb	Alloy types
17	683/45	I	Grooved bracelets	Mound 106 burial 8	0.23	89.51		0.37	0.71	9.18							Cu + Sn

According to Yu. A. Morozov, the materials of the Tavlykaevsky I burial ground may date back to earlier burial mounds than the complexes of the Tavlykaevsky II burial ground, and correlate with the early Srubnaya Culture antiquities (Morozov 1984, p. 134).

E. N. Chernykh points out the morphological and chemical-metallurgical closeness of the metal of the Srubnaya culture to the metal of the Andronovo culture community (Chernykh 1970, p. 112), which is also confirmed by the materials of the Tavlykaevsky burial grounds I and II located in the Srubno-Alakul contact zone of the eastern foothills of the South Urals.

The Ural group of the Srubnaya culture objects is represented by grooved bracelets (6 items) and a false twisted bracelet, rare for the South Urals (1 item).

The leading metallurgical group is tin bronzes with two-component copper-tin alloys (3 items) and copper-tin-lead alloys (2 items) (Table 1, No. 11–17).

Three grooved bracelets have almost identical elemental composition, where copper ranges from 88.63 to 90.26, tin from 8.28 to 10.68, aluminum from 0.16 to 0.43, silicon from 0.04 to 0.71, and iron from 0.07 to 0.23, as well as individual admixtures of either sulfur and chlorine, or bromine and antimony (Table 1, No. 15–17). In the Urals' group, a grooved bracelet from Grave 1, Mound 101 stands out as it does not contain aluminum admixtures, but it contains lead, which makes it close to the bracelets of the Trans-Ural group. The twisted wire bracelet of the Staro-Yabalaklinsky burial ground has a copper-tin–lead alloy with an admixture of aluminum (Table 1, No 11).

In the presence of the objects mentioned above, two grooved bracelets from Grave 3, Mound 48 are prominent with such composition elements as sulfur, chlorine, and phosphorus. These bracelets are also distinguished by the abnormally high tin content (20.25–30.08) within the analyzed series.

4 Conclusions

The use of a tin ligature additive is explained, on the one hand, by the traditions of Andronovo metallurgy and, on the other hand, by a possible correlation between the choice of complex alloys and the typology of the analyzed products—jewelry (Tigeeva 2013). The point is that there are no significant ore occurrences of tin in the South Urals; therefore, the literature considers several regions from where tin could be imported in the Late Bronze Age—Altay, North and South Kazakhstan, as well as Central Asia (Zaravshan) (Tkachev 2020).

Depending on the element composition of non-ferrous metal in different categories of objects, it is hypothetically possible to reconstruct the paths of transporting metal to the South Urals and characterize local features of regional metallurgy development at the Bronze Age.

Acknowledgements This study supported by Budget Project "Cultural integration of the population of the Southern Urals in antiquity, the Middle Ages, Early and Late Modern Periods: factors, dynamics, models" (No. AAAA-A21-121012290083-9 by Ilshat I. Bakhshiev).

References

- Alaeva, I.P.: Kulturnaia spetsifika pamiatnikov pozdnego bronzovogo veka stepnoi zony Yuzhnogo Zauralya (Cultural specifics of the Late Bronze Age monuments in the steppe zone of the Southern Trans-Urals), PhD thesis, Moscow, 33 p. (2015) (In Russian)
- Bakhshiev, I.I.: Poseleniya epohi pozdnej bronzy Bashkirskogo Zauralya (The settlements of the Late Bronze Age of Bashkir Trans-Ural region). In Kuznecov, P.F. (ed.). Protsess kulturogeneza nachalnoy pory pozdnego bronzovogo veka Volgo-Uralskogo regiona: voprosy khronologii, periodizatsii, istoriografii (The Process of Cultural genesis at the Early Stage of the Late Bronze Age in the Volga-Ural Region: Issue of Chronology, Periodization and Historiography), 11–24. Samara State Academy of Social Sciences and Humanities Publ., Samara (2014) (In Russian)
- Bakhshiev, I.I., Bakhshiev, R.I.: Struktura rasseleniya i modeli organizacii zhiznennogo prostranstva drevnego naseleniya Bashkirskogo Zauralya (analiz prostranstvennyh dannyh) (Settling structure and models of organizing living space with ancient population of Bashkir Trans-Urals (analysis of spatial data). Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii i etnografii (Bulletin of Archaeology, Anthropology and Ethnography) 2(25), 40–53 (2014) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Drevneyshaya metallurgiya Urala i Povolzhya (The earliest metallurgy of the Urals and the Volga region). Nauka Publ., Moscow, 180 p. (1970) (In Russian)
- Gorbunov, V.S., Morozov, Yu.A.: Nekropol epokhi bronzy Yuzhnogo Priuralya (Bronze Age necropolis in Southern Cis-Urals). Bashkirskoye knizhnoye izdatelstvo Publ., Ufa., 160 p. (1991) (In Russian)
- Morozov, Yu.A.: Mogilniki epohi bronzy u sela Verhnetavlykaevo (Burial grounds of the Bronze Age near the village of Verkhnetavlykaevo). In: Pamyatniki kochevnikov YUzhnogo Urala (Monuments of the nomads of the South Urals). BFAN SSSR Publ., Ufa, 117–135 (1984) (In Russian)
- Rutto, N.G.: Srubno-alakulskiye svyazi na Yuzhnom Urale (Srubnaya and Alakul relations in South Urals). Gilem Publ., Ufa, 212 p. (2003) (In Russian)
- Tigeeva, E.V.: Himiko-metallurgicheskaya harakteristika metalla alakulskoy kultury Srednego Pritobolya (Chemical and metallurgical characteristics of the metal of the Alakul culture of the Middle tributary). Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii i etnografii (Bulletin of Archaeology, Anthropology and Ethnography) 3(22), 31–39 (2013) (In Russian)
- Tkachev, V.V.: Formirovanie kulturnogo landshafta Uralsko-Mugodzharskogo regiona v pozdnem bronzovom veke: osvoenie mednorudnykh resursov i strategiia adaptatsii k usloviiam gornostepnoi ekosistemy (Shaping of the cultural landscape of Ural-Mugodzhary region in the Late Bronze Age: Development of coper ore resources and a strategy of adaptation to mountainsteppe ecosystem conditions). Stratum plus. Arkheologiia i kulturnaia antropologiia (Stratum plus Journal. Archaeology and Cultural Anthropology) 2, 205–230 (2017) (In Russian)
- Tkachev, V.V.: Transgranichnaya zona srubnoj i alakul'skoj kultur v stepnom Priurale: fizikogeograficheskij i gorno-metallurgicheskij aspekty (Crossborder Zone of Srubnaya and Alakul Cultures in the Steppe Pre-Urals: Physical-Geographical and Mining-Metallurgical Aspects). Povolzhskaya Arkheologiya (The Volga River Region Archaeology) 3(33), 116–128 (2020) (In Russian)

The Mineral Composition of Ground Material from the Stone Pestles of the Gonur-Depe Administrative and Religious Center (South-Eastern Karakum)



Anatoly M. Yuminov, Ivan A. Blinov, and Natalia Ankusheva

Abstract In this paper, we analyzed grounded materials on working surfaces of stone tools from the Gonur-Depe archaeological site (Turkmenistan). There are groups of minerals used for paint manufacturing (gypsum, antimonite, bismuthine, hematite, red lead) and bronze-casting (cassiterite, fluorite). In addition, we detected the chemical composition of stone products treated with microinclusions of ground material.

Keywords Stone tools \cdot Mineral microinclusions \cdot Chemical and mineral composition \cdot Gonur-Depe \cdot Late bronze age \cdot Bactrian-Margian archaeological culture

1 Introduction

Gonur-Depe is one of the most famous Late Bronze Age archaeological sites in Central Asia. It is located in the south-eastern part of the Karakum desert, 85 km north of the city of Bayramali (Mary Velayat, the Republic of Turkmenistan). The site belongs to the Bactrian-Margian archaeological complex and in ancient times was the largest administrative and religious center of the surrounding area (Sarianidi 2010). Gonur-Depe was founded at the end of the third millennium BC of the Murghab River delta and lasted until the middle of the second millennium BC (Zaitceva et al. 2008).

The monument was discovered in 1972 and studied by V. I. Sarianidi for the rest of his life. During the years of work, the research team has collected ceramics, copper, bronze, and precious metals, as well as many stone-made objects (Sarianidi et al. 2020). However, despite the long study period, a systematic study of it has been started recently. The stone tools on Gonur-Depe are common artifacts. They were

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_7

A. M. Yuminov (🖂) · I. A. Blinov · N. Ankusheva

Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia

South-Urals State University, Miass, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences,

detected on almost every burial grave as well as in residential, administrative, and religious contexts.

In the process of work with the lithic collection, we examined 294 different types of stone tools, mainly (about 80%) represented by abrasives: pestles, mortars, sharpeners, grating plates, hollows, etc. The microscopic study has revealed linear traces on the working surface in the form of multidirectional shallow thin lines with soft, blurred edges, scuffing, and spotty polishing (Yuminov 2012; Yuminov and Manbe-tova 2016; Yuminov and Tyutev 2016). A detailed study of the working surface of 12 tool samples has revealed the presence of grounded materials, namely, microinclusions of minerals that were rubbed (pressed) into the intergranular space during the work with stone tools. В 12 обнаружены следы растертого материала.

The work aims to diagnose the composition of the material that was rubbed onto stone tools.

2 Materials and Methods

The size of the identified microinclusions varies from the first to tens of microns. Their detection is possible with an electron microscope, and the diagnosis of the substance can be determined by the mean of microprobe analysis. Electron microscopy provides data about the shape, size, and position of inclusions (Vlasov et al. 2011). Using the analysis of microprobes, we are conducting a high-quality local chemical analysis of mineral grains.

In total, twelve stone pestles-chimes of various shapes and sizes were analyzed. The working surface of the abrasive tools was visually examined for the detection of strips, thin crusts, spots, or small inclusions of foreign matter on them. Then the samples were examined in detail using a binocular microscope, sketched, and photographed. After a macroscopic study of the tools, the part of the tool surface with the microinclusion of minerals was cut off with a diamond saw. The resulting material (1–2 cm across) was glued to an aluminum substrate using conductive adhesive tape. Then, the samples were sprayed with graphite or gold in a vacuum and submitted for analysis. The analysis was conducted using a Tescan Vega 3 sbu scanning electron microscope with an Oxford Instruments X-act EDA; accelerating voltage is 5–30 kV, a spatial resolution of the electron-optical system is up to 3 nm, the spectral resolution of the detector on the line is Mn 114 eV. However, while interpreting the results of the analysis, it is important to pay attention to the fact that some artifacts sometimes contain scratches left by modern steel tools (shovels, picks, knives, trowels, etc.). Usually, such modern tools are made of steel with special ligatures. Therefore, the presence of Cr, Ni, and Mn in EDS makes it possible to cull off fragments left by modern tools.

3 Results and Discussion

Three technological groups of the material have been identified during the analysis (Table 1). They could be used in crushed and ground forms for the following processes:

- (1) Paint producing;
- (2) The processing of mineral raw materials in the bronze foundry;
- (3) The subsequent processing of metal products.

The leftovers of coloring pigments are most often recorded on surfaces of stone pestles and pestles-chimes (Fig. 1a). This is because the colors were used to paint buildings in Gonur Depe with white, red, green, blue, black, and other colors (Veresotskaya 2012).

White and light gray pigments are the most widespread. They covered the walls of administrative and religious buildings, i.e. altars of Fire, the "White" Room,

Technological groups	Function	Mineral (formula)	No sample
1. Paints	White pigment	Gypsum (Ca[SO] ₄ * 2H ₂ O)	GD 137-133c GD 143-6
	Black pigment	Soot, coal (C)	GD 137-117a
	Dark-grey pigment	Antimonite (Sb ₂ S ₃) Bismuthine (Bi ₂ S ₃)	GD 142-9ad GD 4c
	Red-brownish pigment	Hematite (Fe ₂ O ₃)	GD 4e GD 137-133 g
	Yellow-red pigment	Lead litharge (PbO) or red lead (Pb ₃ O ₄)	GD 137-98c
	Paint stabilizer (?), poison (?)	Anglesite (Pb[SO] ₄)	GD 137-133a
2. Bronze foundry	alloying elements for Sn bronzes manufacture	Cassiterite (SnO ₂)	GD 137-113a
	Flux (?)	Fluorite (CaF ₂)	GD 137-113b GD 137-133c
3. Metal items	Jewelry abrasion	Cupronickel (Cu, Ni, Fe)	GD 4 d
processing	Cu tools sharpening	Metal copper (Cu, Fe)	GD 142-115ba GD 142-115bb
Contamination of artifacts during excavation and sample	'Soil' ground	Carbonates; Fe sulfates; halite, sylvite; clayey minerals	GD 137-133d
making for analysis	Contact with modern Fe tool	(Fe, Ti, Cr, V, Mn)	
	Cutting through the samples in the workshop	Bronze (Cu, Sn)	GD 137-133g
	Scratch of pen and ink	Ni	GD 137-107a

 Table 1
 Brief description of the rubbed material on the working surface of Gonur-Depe abrasives



Fig. 1 Fragments of ground material on the working surface of a pestle: **a** gypsum grains (sample GD 137-98); **b** a thin crust of hematite (sample GD 143-6)

etc. Gypsum was used for the manufacture of white paint. This material is in large quantities on the abrasive bar (mod. GD-143-6) and composes numerous crusts with various shapes and sizes, usually pressed into numerous cracks (Fig. 1b). The mineral composition of the raw material is determined not only by microprobe studies but also confirmed by the RFA. In addition to gypsum, a small amount of calcite and cerussite is in the mixture. At Gonur-Depe, in addition to whitewashing the walls, gypsum was used to coat the inner walls of large ceramic vessels intended for the production and storage of various fluids (Yuminov and Manbetova 2016).

Black and dark gray pigments. There are papers on the use of charred organic matter as a paint on the texture that was published in 2012 (Veresotskaya 2012; Kovaleva 2012; Pisareva 2012). They describe the black carbonaceous pigment. Indeed, coal or soot material rubbing, due to its availability, was widely developed at this facility. This is evidenced by numerous finds of tools with fragments of thin crusts of black matter composed of carbon (Fig. 2a).

Stibnite (antimonite-Sb₂S₃) was discovered on the working surface of the pestle GD 142-9. The mineral formed lamellar fragments, angular in shape, with a size of about 5 μ m (Fig. 2b). The chemical composition is dominated by antimony and sulfur. Bismuth and lead are presented as trace impurities. When mashed, they have a dark gray to black color. Probably, the mineral has been used for cosmetic purposes as eyeliner. In nature, it is found in quartz veins of the antimony-mercury deposits.

Bismuthine (Bi_2S_3) was found on the working surface in the brick-red grout of the pestle-courant GD 4. The mineral is presented by a thin plate-shaped fragment of 3–5 μ m in diameter. In addition to the main elements (Bi and S), it contains small amounts of Sb, Pb, and Cu. It is a rare mineral and it is never found in large masses. It has bactericidal properties. As well as stibuite, it could be used for cosmetic manufacture.

The red pigments are presented by grains of two minerals of Pb-oxides: lead litharge (PbO) and red lead (Pb₃O₄). They were found on the working surface of a pestle-chime of a washer-shaped shape (mod. GD 137-98) and presented by fragments of flattened grains with diameters of about 15–20 μ m (Fig. 2c). Their chemical composition was also diagnosed. Red lead is a stable paint of a reddish-orange color. This mineral is formed in the zones of oxidation of sulfide deposits. In addition, red



Fig. 2 Micrographs of the ground material on the working surface of the Gonur-Depe stone tools: **a** fragments of carbonaceous matter (sample GD 137-117a); **b** antimonite (**d**) in the recess between quartz grains (gray) (sample GD 142-9); **c** lead oxide on the limonite crust (dark gray) (sample GD 137-98); **d** small fragments of cassiterite (**a** light gray) and fluorite grains (**b** gray) in the intergranular area of the stone pestle (sample GD 137-113); **e** nickel silver chips (sample GD 4d); **f** metallic copper (**a**) pressed between the grains of plagioclase (sample GD 142-115a)

lead can be obtained by oxidation of metallic lead and re-forged a lead whitewash (Popular ... 1983).

Hematite (Fe_2O_3) is found in the vast majority of samples as thin accretions with limonite. Hematite, when rubbed, has a stable reddish-brown color and can be used for making paints. It is widespread and has been used as red ochre.

The discovery of lamellar angular grains of anglesite or lead vitriol ($Pb[SO]_4$) on the surface of one of the pestles (mod. GD 137-133) is not entirely clear. Anglesite is found in the oxidation zone of lead deposits but does not form large accumulations. It can be used as a paint stabilizer. At the same time, lead vitriol is a very toxic substance that causes kidney damage, visual impairment, and damage to the central nervous system. Therefore, this substance could be used as a poison or for medicinal purposes.

The second technological group includes minerals that could be used in metallurgical or bronze-casting production. In the production premises of Gonur-Depe, in the so-called "metalworker's workshops", there are finds of crucibles, ice cubes, foundries, as well as fragments of drains and metal drops (Sarianidi and Dubova 2006; Papachristou 2016). This indicates the possibility of metalworking on Gonur-Depe. An important and necessary material for the production of tin bronzes is cassiterite (SnO₂). Cassiterite grains were found on the working surface of the pestle GD 137-113 (Fig. 2d).

The nearest tin deposits are known in Central Asia. They are located in the territory of modern Uzbekistan (Karnak), Tajikistan (Mushiston), Kazakhstan (Syrymbet), Iran (Deh Hosain), and Afghanistan (Helmand) (Cleuziou and Berthoud 1982; Weisgerber and Cierny 2002; Ciernyand and Weisgerber 2003; Boroffka and Parzinger 2003; Stöllner et al. 2011, 2013; Pigott 2011: 284–285).

Radiocarbon studies of eco- and artifacts, as well as finds in mine workings and accompanying settlements of Andronovo-Fedorovo and Batria ceramics prove the active contacts of ancient miners with the population of the Bactrian-Margiana archaeological complex (Lyonnet 2005; Avilova 2008).

In addition, fragments of *fluorite* (CaF_2) were used in ancient times as a special additive to reduce the melting point and facilitate the dissolution of the added substance in the total volume of the alloy. The presence of these minerals on the working surface of the stone tools left in the process of their operation, suggests the presence of the bronze-casting production in ancient Gonur-Depe.

Thus, the study of separate stone tools revealed traces of the processing of metal products. Between the grains, sometimes there were fine particles of nickel silver (a copper-nickel alloy with small iron content) and metallic copper (Fig. 2e, f). The analysis of the metallic copper composition revealed a slight admixture of iron. The presence of iron in the range of 1.5–0.5% in ancient copper products is a typical feature of metallurgical copper.

4 Conclusions

Thus, the current study has shown that the preparation of mineral paints obtained by fine grinding of gypsum, calcite, red lead, hematite, stibnite (antimonite), and bismuthine took place directly at Gonur-Depe. As a tool for grinding, small pestleschimes were used, usually made of fine-grained arkose or polymictic sandstone. All the dye raw materials were imported from other regions.

In addition, fragments of grains of cassiterite or tinstone (SnO_2) —the main mineral used for the production of bronze since ancient times,—was found in the intergranular space of individual stone tools, as well as, grains of fluorite (CaF_2) —a mineral used as a flux to reduce the melting point and viscosity of metallurgical slag. These findings raise questions about the presence of metalworking skills among the ancient artisans of Gonur-Depe (previously, the ruins of bronze-casting furnaces with the remains of inventory and drops of tin bronze were found on the monument) and also the possibility for the production of bronze.

Our approach has made it possible to specify the technological groups of minerals. Its further development allows to identify of new types of mineral raw materials used on the site and also to describe in detail the technology of their application. Acknowledgements The research was supported by the RFBR, project no. 18-09-40082 "Technologies in the material culture of the BMAC in the context of cultural interaction of the population of the Bronze Age of Eurasia and the dynamics of the natural environment (on the example of the southern regions of Central Asia)".

References

- Avilova, L.: Regional Models of Metal Production in Western Asia in the Chalcolithic, Early and Middle Bronze Ages Trabajos de prehistoria 65(1): 73–91 (2008)
- Borofka, N., Parzinger H.: Research at Karnab-Sichnochi A Metallurgists Settlement of the Bronze Age in the Samarkand District of Uzbekistan". In: Problyemy girnichoy archeologii. Alchevsk: Institut NAN archeologii Ukrainy, 7–13 (2003)
- Cierny, J., Weisgerber G.: Bronze Age Tin Mines in Central Asia. In: Le problème de l'étain à l'origine de la métallurgie / ed. by A. Giumlia-Mair and F. Lo Schiavo. BAR International Series 1199. Oxford: BAR-Hadrian Books, 23–31 (2003)
- Cleuziou, S., Thierry B.: Early Tin in the Near East: A Reassessment in the Light of New Evidence from Western Afghanistan." Expedition, 14–19 (1982)
- Kovaleva, N.A.: Preliminary research and preservation of two fragments of "carpet mosaics from Gonur". Proceedings of Margiana archaeological expedition, 4. Research of Gonur-Depe in 2008– 2011: Ed. by V.I. Sarianidi. Moscow, Stariy Sad, 176–184 (2012) (In Russian)
- Lyonnet, B. Another Possible Interpretation of the Bactro-Margiana Culture (BMAC) of Central Asia: The Tin Trade. South Asian Archaeology. Vol. 1 Prehistory. Ed. by C. Jarrige & V. Lefèvre. Paris: Editions Recherche sur les Civilisations, 191–200 (2005)
- Popular Library of Chemical Elements / ed. by I.V. Petryanov-Sokolov. Moscow: Nauka, p. 272 (1983) (In Russian)
- Papachristou, O.A.: Experience of comparison: the workshop of metallurgists on the site of Gonurdepe (Turkmenistan) and the quarter of metallites on the site of Shahrad (Iran). Proceedings of Margiana archaeological expedition, 6. Research of Gonur-Depe in 2008–2011: Ed. by N.A. Dubova, Moscow: Stary Sad, 232–256 (2016) (In Russian)
- Pigott, V.: Sources of Tin and the Tin Trade in Southwest Asia: Recent Research and Its Relevance to Current Understanding. In: Metallurgy: Understanding How, Learning why: Studies in Honor of James D. Muhly / ed. by Ph.P. Betancourt & S.C. Ferrence. Philadelphia: INSTAP Academic Press, 273–291 (2011)
- Pisareva, S.A.: Results of research of material composition of archaeological samples from excavations at Gonur-Depe. Proceedings of Margiana archaeological expedition, 4. Research of Gonur-Depe in 2008–2011: Ed. by V.I. Sarianidi, Moscow: Stary Sad, 192–198 (2012) (In Russian)
- Sarianidi, V.I., Dubova, N.A.: Excavations of the foundry at Gonur-Depe settlement. Miras 1(21). Ashadat, 128–131 (2006) (In Russian)
- Sarianidi, V.I., Dubova N.A.: The treasures of ancient Margiana. Photoalbum. Publisher's note. 2nd ed. amended and supplemented. 180 p. (In Russian)
- Sarianidi, V.I.: Long before Zarathushtra (Archaeological Proto-Zoroastrianism Evidence in Bactria and Margiana). Moscow: Old Garden, 200 p. (2010) (In Russian)
- Stöllner, Th.: Tin from Kazakhstan Steppe Tin for the West? In: Anatolian Metal V / ed. by Ü. Yalçin. Veröffentlichungen aus dem Deutschen Bergbau-Museum Bochum no. 180. Bochum: Deutsches Bergbau-Museum, 231–251 (2011)
- Stöllner, Th.: Zin und Kupfer aus dem osten Kasachstans. Ergerbnisse eines Deutsch-Kasachischen Projektes 2003–2008. In: Unbekanntes Kasachstan: Archäologie im Herzen Asiens, Band I. Bochum: Deutsches Bergbau-Museum, 357–382 (2013)

- Veresotskaya, G.E.: Restoration of the wall of the gift box and the study of the technical and technological features of the mosaic material from the royal tomb No. 3230 of Gonur Depe. Proceedings of Margiana archaeological expedition, 4. Research of Gonur Depe in 2008–2011: Ed. by V.I. Sarianidi. Moscow, Old Garden, 185–188 (2012) (In Russian)
- Vlasov, A.I., Elsukov, K.A., Kosolapov, I.A.: Electron microscopy: training manual. Publishing house of Moscow State Technical University n.a. N.E. Bauman, Moscow. Bauman Moscow State Technical University, 168 p. (2011) (In Russian)
- Yuminov, A.M. Manbetova, G.R.: Mineral composition and geochemical features of the inner lining of hooms for the production of Soma-Khaoma in the administrative and cultural center of Gonur-Depe (SE Karakum). Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy-2016. Miass: UB RAS, 89–93 (2016) (In Russian)
- Yuminov, A.M., Tyutev Ya.M.: Stone tools from the destroyed workshop of the administrative and cultural complex of Gonur-Depe (Southern part of the palace and Temenos). Proceedings of the Margiana archaeological expedition, 6. In memory of V.I. Sarianidi / ed. by N.A. Dubova. Moscow: Stary Sad, 285–271 (2016) (In Russian)
- Yuminov, A.M.: Rocks used for making tools and stone products, found during archeological excavations of an administrative-cultural complex of Gonur-Depe (Southern Part of the Palace and Temenos). Proceedings of Margiana archaeological expedition, 4. Investigation of GonurDepe in 2008–2011 / Ed. by V.I. Sarianidi. Moscow: Stary Sad, 163–166 (2012) (In Russian)
- Zaitseva, G.I., Dubova, N.A., Sementsov, A.A., Reimar, P., Melori, J., Junger, H.: Radiocarbon chronology of Gonur-Depe monument. Proceedings of Margiana archaeological expedition, 2: Ed. by V.I. Sarianidi, Moscow, Stary Sad, 166–179 (2008) (In Russian)

Comparison of the Results of Studying the Composition of the Alloy of Coins of Chersonesus Minting of the Roman and Byzantine Times



Anna V. Antipenko, Elena M. Maksimova, Valery Ye. Naumenko, Igor A. Nauhatsky, Tatiana N. Smekalova, and Nikolay A. Alekseienko

Abstract This work presents a comparative analysis of the elemental composition of two groups of coins minted in Chersonesos/Cherson of the Roman period from the collection of the Chersonesean Museum Preserve and coins of the Byzantine time from excavations of the hillfort of Mangup-Kale in South-Western Crimea. The analysis of the elemental composition of coins was carried out using energydispersion X-Ray fluorescent desktop spectrometers. Totally 55 coins of late Roman and Byzantine times were investigated dated from the second to the sixth centuries A.D. It was found out that lead-tin bronze was used as the material for making coins of both periods. Comparing the elemental composition of coins minted in Chersonesos/Cherson indicates that the practice of "spoiling" a coin alloy with an unnecessarily large amount of lead, which appeared in Roman times, was widely used throughout the Byzantine period.

Keywords Crimea · Mangup · Chersonesos/Cherson · Roman Empire · Byzantine Empire · Coin copper-based alloys

1 Introduction

One of the most essential sources for studying the history of Tauric Chersonesos is coins, minting of which continued with some interruptions for 1500 years. In 2019–2020, we began studying the alloy composition of coins from ancient Chersonesos belonging to the collection of the Chersonesean Museum Preserve and Byzantine Cherson, from excavations of the hillfort of Mangup in South-Western Crimea.

T. N. Smekalova NRC "Kurchatov Institute", Moscow, Russia

A. V. Antipenko · N. A. Alekseienko Institute of the Archaeology of Crimea, Russian Academy of Sciences, Simferopol, Russia

83

A. V. Antipenko (⊠) · E. M. Maksimova · V. Ye. Naumenko · I. A. Nauhatsky · T. N. Smekalova V.I. Vernadky Crimean Federal University, Simferopol, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_8

Previously, the alloy composition of the coins of this center was investigated on the materials from the State Hermitage Museum (Smekalova 2001).

In 144 AD, Tauric Chersonesos gained from the Roman emperor Antoninus Pius (138–161 AD) the status of a free town. This period, which continued until the AD 260s and was called the 'second eleutheria' in the literature, was a special one in the history of Chersonesos because during two and a half centuries, although under a strong influence of Bosporos, it enjoyed the rights of a free town. This lead to the further economic development of the chora of Chersonesos, which started already in the third century BC when equal civil plots were replaced by large vineyards (Smekalova and Terekhin 2018, pp. 91–93; Smekalova et al. 2018, p. 72). With the beginning of a new period, also the coinage of Chersonesos changed. Now coins were minted, although varied stylistically, extremely weighted with diverse additional signs, monograms, etc. Only four denominations were issued: tetrassarion (head of a deity Chersonas/Maiden and a hind), tressis (Asklepios/Hygieia), dupondius (Maiden and hind/butting bull), and assarion of two types: Chersonas/Maiden or Chersonas/Nike).

2 Methods and Materials

The analysis of the elemental composition of coins from the Chersonesean Museum-Preserve collection was carried out using an energy-dispersion X-Ray fluorescent spectrometer M1 Mistral (Bruker) with a semiconductor silicon drift detector of high resolution (50 keV, 50 W), PO—XSpectPro. Registration of the fluorescent emission was conducted 'in the air' enabling us to detect elements with an atomic number over 17 (Cl). Identification of the elemental composition was conducted in several points on the obverse and reverse of the coins. The investigated area in each measurement was 1.5×1.5 mm. The time of measurement was 20 s. For the comparative analysis, averaged data for a particular studied coin were selected. The elemental composition was measured in the concentration range up to 0.01%. The identification of the main components in the alloy (Cu, Sn, Pb, Ag, Ni, Zn, Fe, As, Sb) is presented in Table 1 and introduced into a general database.

The investigation of the elemental composition of the alloy of the surface of 17 coins found during archaeological excavations of the medieval hillfort of Mangup (see Table 1) was conducted by the method of X-ray fluorescent analysis using a desktop sequential wave dispersion spectrometer Supermini 200 (Rigaku, Japan). This instrument makes it possible to analyze elements from oxygen (O) to uranium (U). The equipment Supermini 200 (X-ray tube: 50 kV, 200 W, Pd-anode; spectral resolution—5 to 10 eV; the limit of the detected concentration <0.01%) provides for the possibility to identify the contents both of the heavy and light elements in the composition of the alloys of the coins under investigation. The measurement is conducted on examples in the vacuum in a non-destructive way. The cell diameter for a solid sample is 44 mm, with the diameter of the measurement window of 32 mm.

	er beseng	, iono i	or the unaryzed com	is inclusioned also if	14010 0	
Nr	Place of find, Nr. in the collection list	Wt, g	Obverse	Reverse	Emperor, date, mint	References
1	Tauric Cape, 22	4.19	DN LEOP[E] PRETAC. Diademed, draped and cuirassed bust, right	SALVS RPVRLICA. Emperor standing to right, holding standard and globe, spurning captive; in exergue: CON	Later Roman Empire, Leo I (457–474). Mint of Constantinople	Grierson and Mays (1992), pl. 22: Leo I (3), nr. 561 (Class 2)
2	Palace, 45	2.86	[DN IVSTINIANVS]. Profile bust r. with diadem and cuirass	Emperor standing holding long cross and globe, around VIC [TOR]	Byzantine Empire. Justinianus I (527–565) Pentanummium. Mint of Cherson. V.A. Anokhin considers this type of coin issued in Constantinople	Hahn (2000), p. 157, nr. 252a, pl. 29,252a; Anokhin (1977), nr. 310–311; Anokhin (2016), pp. 245, 246
3	Palace, 121	1.33	as nr. 2	-	-	-
4	Palace, 186	1.68	[DN IVSTINIANVS PP AVC]. Profile bust r. with diadem and cuirass	Monogram combining the name of the city of Cherson	Byzantine Empire. Justinianus I (527–565) Pentanummium. Mint of Cherson	Hahn (2000), p. 158, nr. 253, pl. 29,253; Anokhin (1977), nr. 314
5	Palace, 222	3.82	as nr. 2	-	-	_
6	Palace, 427	1.74	as nr. 4	-	-	-
7	Palace, 428	2.31	as nr. 2	-	-	
8	Palace, 385	3.71	Large B. Linear border	Cross crosslet on base and two steps. To left and right, pellet. Linear border	Byzantine Empire. Basile I (867–886). AE. The cast of Cherson 879–886	Bellinger and Grierson (1993), p. 505, nr. 20a, pl. XXXIII, 20a; Anokhin 1977, nr. 371

 Table 1 Descriptions of the analyzed coins mentioned also in Table 3

(continued)

Nr	Place of find, Nr. in the collection list	Wt, g	Obverse	Reverse	Emperor, date, mint	References
9	"Garrison Church", 311	2.61	Patriarchal cross on base and two steps. To left – Λ. To right – Α	Cross on base and two steps with crosslets at extremities. To the left and right pellet	Byzantine Empire. Leo VI and Alexander (886–912). AE. The cast of Cherson	Bellinger and Grierson (1993), p. 522, nr. 12.1–3, pl. XXXV, 12.1–3; Anokhin 1977, nr. 390
10	"Garrison Church", 312	3.8	Monogram of the name of Romanus	Cross on base and two steps with crosslets at extremities. To the left and right pellet	Byzantine Empire. Constantin VII (913–959). AE. The cast of Cherson under Romanus I (920–944)	Bellinger and Grierson (1993), p. 577, nr. 3a.1–5, pl. XL, 3a.3–4 (Romanus II); Anokhin (1977), nr. 408–413
11	Palace, 408	2.52	as nr. 10	_	-	-
12	Palace, 425	0.58	as nr. 10	-	-	-
13	Palace, 180	9.23	Monogram of the name of Romanus	Cross on base and two steps with crosslets at extremities of arms. To the left and right pellet	Byzantine Empire. AE. The cast of Cherson of the End of 11th – early 12th c	Bellinger and Grierson (1993), p. 571, nr. 32a-b, pl. XL,32a-b (Romanus I alone)
14	Palace, 41	1.43	[DN IVSTINIANVS PP AVC]. Profile bust r. with diadem and cuirass	Large I, above the cross. To left—AlNINIO, to right—year (?), in exergue: [CON ?]	Byzantine Empire. Justinianus I (527–565) Decanummium. Mint of Constantinople (?) 538–565	Hahn 2000, p. 133, nr. 99–100, pl. 21, 99–100
15	Palace, 54	3.57	as nr. 14	_	-	-
16	Palace, 119	1.75	[DN IVSTINIANVS PP AVC]. Profile bust r. with diadem and cuirass	Large I, above the star. To left—AlNINIO, to right—year (XIXXI'UI = 36), in exergue: NIK	Byzantine Empire. Justinianus I (527–565) Decanummium. Mint of Nicomedia 560–565	Hahn (2000), p. 138, nr. 118b, pl. 22, 118b

 Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Nr	Place of find, Nr. in the collection list	Wt, g	Obverse	Reverse	Emperor, date, mint	References
17	Palace, 225	2.88	[DN IVSTINIANVS PP AVC]. Profile bust r. with diadem and cuirass	Large I, above the star. To left—[AlNINIO], to right—year (?), in exergue: NI[K]	Byzantine Empire. Justinianus I (527–565) Decanummium. Mint of Nicomedia 553–565	Hahn (2000), p. 138, nr. 118f-b, pl. 22,118b

Table 1 (continued)

Measurements were carried out on a single side of the samples. Results of chemical analyses should be presented and referred to in Results and discussion.

3 Results and Discussion

The results of the measurements of coins alloy composition are presented in Tables 2 and 3.

By AD 222, the composition of the alloy of coins of the 'second eleutheria' significantly changed. Previously the coins were predominantly made from leadtin bronze with a high lead content, sometimes up to the third or even half of the composition (Smekalova 2001). Now coins of a large denomination are struck from a multi-component alloy identical to that of Roman asses, which contains almost no lead and includes a moderate concentration (a few percent) of tin. For coins of small denominations (dupondii and extremely rare assarii), leaded tin bronze is employed with high, occasionally superfluous, the content of lead (more than half of the composition) (Table 2, 2, 7–9). This feature has been already noted during the examination of similar coins from the collection of the State Hermitage Museum (inventory nr. 26245/290, 26241/286, 26248/292–293) (Smekalova 2001).

The next series of AD 222–235 coins (Anokhin 1977, nr 296–303) differs in the alloy from the previous issues. Now the coins repeat only the types of tetrassaria and are struck from bronze with large lead contents (Table 2, *37*). The last issue of coins of Chersonesos of 253–268 AD (Anokhin 1977, nr. 304–308) turned to be the most numerous one. There is a degradation of the style of images on the coins and their weight and a deterioration of the quality of the coin alloy so that now all the coins are minted from an alloy containing still more lead (Table 2, *38*). This phenomenon probably is connected with the social and political changes occurring both in the Roman Empire and in Olbia and Bosporos. The 'Gothian' and 'Scythian'

Table : Preserv	2 Alloy co ve	mposition (Wt%) of	the coins of a	uncient Che	rsonesos from second and th	iird centurie	s A.D. fron	n the colle	ction of th	le Cherso	onesean l	Museum
No	Inv. No	(Anokhin 1977)	Date	Wt, gr	Alloy composition, Wt%							
					Cu	Pb	Sn	Zn	Fe	Ag	As	Sb
-	17757	251	138-161	11.9	96.84	0.88	1.85	0.00	0.09	0.22	0.00	0.12
5	20829	261		2.55	53.70	44.25	1.02	0.33	0.28	0.24	0.00	0.19
e	14107	262		5.00	98.71	0.30	0.15	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.00	0.01
4	13427	270	161-180	4.95	90.37	2.12	6.95	0.13	0.19	0.09	0.00	0.14
S	17107	270		1.85	92.14	0.98	5.95	0.21	0.00	0.42	0.00	0.23
9	18026	271		2.80	85.54	2.60	8.88	0.43	0.07	0.05	0.00	0.12
2	21416	271–272		2.85	18.01	66.35	14.56	0.00	0.00	0.24	0.00	0.83
~	21426	271		3.20	44.15	45.29	6.64	2.87	0.55	0.10	0.00	0.40
6	21496	271		3.55	60.68	37.38	1.19	0.40	0.00	0.10	0.00	0.24
10	17770	273	180-192	4.26	99.34	0.24	0.23	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.12
11	17771	273		3.67	96.07	1.12	1.88	0.59	0.1	0.09	0.00	0.13
12	14191	273		1.50	96.98	0.08	0.16	0.00	0.12	0.31	0.00	0.06
13	13544	275		7.30	85.84	2.67	11.09	0.20	0.08	0.04	0.00	0.09
14	13434	276		6.30	92.95	1.03	4.37	1.12	0.30	0.09	0.00	0.13
15	17773	278		3.76	99.07	0.73	0.00	0.00	0.13	0.00	0.00	0.07
16	13951	278		3.85	99.37	0.32	0.21	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.00	0.04
17	80	280		3.45	97.69	0.672	0.522	0.464	0.085	0.17	0.25	0.14
18	13362	280		3.45	95.57	0.44	3.89	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.04
19	13436	280		3.30	93.36	0.89	5.62	0.00	0.09	0.00	0.00	0.04
20	16721	283		1.15	82.68	5.56	11.23	0.00	0.10	0.05	0.00	0.12

(continued)

Table (2 (continue	(pa										
No	Inv. No	(Anokhin 1977)	Date	Wt, gr	Alloy composition, Wt%							
					Cu	Pb	Sn	Zn	Fe	Ag	As	Sb
21	17776	284	192–211	4.00	93.27	5.46	1.16	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.00	0.06
22	13505	284		2.95	94.81	3.97	0.81	0.14	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.09
23	17777	285		2.29	97.71	0.88	1.4	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
24	17778	286	212-217	4.35	98	1.18	0.52	0.00	0.14	0.08	0.00	0.07
25	17779	286–287		5.01	98.09	1.02	0.04	0.00	0.23	0.12	0.45	0.05
26	13555	286		4.20	98.04	1.02	0.62	0.12	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.11
27	13559	287		4.15	99.02	0.53	0.25	0.11	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.06
28	13425	289	218-222	5.90	99.22	0.51	0.10	0.00	0.08	0.05	0.00	0.04
29	13433	289		3.65	98.74	0.79	0.08	0.00	0.19	0.10	0.00	0.10
30	17780	291	212-222	3.23	99.03	0.65	0.1	0.08	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.06
31	5822	291		5.05	98.83	0.71	0.11	0.10	0.12	0.07	0.00	0.07
32	17781	292		3.05	97.58	1.55	0.56	0.00	0.15	0.08	0.00	0.09
33	17782	293		3.42	96.39	2.8	0.51	0.00	0.16	0.08	0.00	0.07
34	19604	294		3.20	96.53	2.32	0.61	0.00	0.24	0.14	0.00	0.16
35	13966	300	222-235	3.95	94.70	0.53	2.43	0.34	0.11	0.11	0.00	0.08
36	13557	301		4.70	81.34	3.10	13.9	0.29	0.94	0.22	0.00	0.11
37	2046	296–303		7.45	76.58	11.24	9.05	2.05	0.77	0.10	0.00	0.21
38	17667	306-307	253-268	3.10	56.62	36.66	5.69	0.38	0.24	0.14	0.00	0.27

	ionical minimum of							0.1					
\mathbf{r}	Place of find, Nr. in the	Wt, g	Alloy composition, mass V	Vt %									
	collection list		Cu	Pb	Sn	Zn	Fe	Ag	As	Sb	Ņ	In	Other elements
	Tauric Cape, 22	4.19	56.56	28.86	9.45	1.99	1.63	I	0.77	I	0.07	0.67	I
5	Palace, 45	2.86	56.34	34.15	5.67	Ι	1.44	1.01	0.67	I	0.07	0.67	1
e	Palace, 121	1.33	62.76	30.4	4.91	0.13	0.81	I	0.91	I	0.1	I	1
4	Palace, 186	1.68	30.97	59.24	7.41	0.18	0.85	I	0.8	I	0.12	0.44	0.02 (Co)
s	Palace, 222	3.82	58.6	31.08	6.62	0.21	1.63	I	1.05	1	0.1	0.71	
9	Palace, 427	1.74	14.59	68.18	14.26	0.13	0.92	I	0.65	I	0.12	1.15	1
7	Palace, 428	2.31	37.07	50.91	8.70	0.22	1.99	Ι	1	I	0.12	I	I
8	Palace, 385	3.71	35.72	58.7	3.81	0.34	1.43	I	I	I	I	I	1
6	"Garrison Church", 311	2.61	10.46	73.93	7.83	0.52	0.57	1.92	0.59	2.91	I	1.11	0.19 (Ru)
10	"Garrison Church", 312	3.8	22.58	69.52	6.19	0.31	0.22	Ι	0.54	0.63	I	I	0.34 (Bi)
1	Palace, 408	2.52	36.39	61.9	1.52	I	0.19	I	I	1	I	I	1
12	Palace, 425	0.58	44.73	52.7	2.32	I	0.15	I	I	I	I	I	0.1 (Cr)
13	Palace, 180	9.23	23.04	69.75	3.77	0.09	2.37	0.49				0.49	I
14	Palace, 41	1.43	17.01	61.22	13.85	1.16	5.15	I	1.29	I	0.15	I	0.17 (Mn)
15	Palace, 54	3.57	23.37	73.46	I	0.15	0.97	I	I	2.05	I	I	1
16	Palace, 119	1.75	35.75	53.81	7.08	0.35	0.79	Ι	0.82	1	0.14	0.56	I
17	Palace, 225	2.88	20.21	72.93	3.92	0.47	1.22	Ι	0.56	I	I	I	1

dnŝ
lang
\geq
of]
ort.
Ĕ
\equiv
.E
hel
at ti
~
ŭ
ö
Ξ.
a
2
3
ž
e)
d
E
2
Ð
Ś
p
fin
S
÷Ē
a
Ξ
S
· =
E
2
Ħ
ē
Ę.
Ţ,
ō
~
6
0
ť
3
\sim
ō
÷Ξ
÷
õ
ă
Ē
H
<u></u>
a
H
e
ă
H
Ë,
Ш
~
Ĕ,
q
<u>,</u>

wars violated the traditional routes of delivery of coin metals, while under the emperor Gallienus (253–268), Chersonesos ceases its minting completely.

The researchers link the resumption of the activities of the mint of Cherson with the time of the rule of the emperor Zenon (474–491) (Anokhin 1977, 97). Possibly, already under his predecessor Leo I (457–474), the needs of the monetary circulation of the city demanded issuing of a new 'copper' coin. This supposition is suggested by several signs characteristic of the Chersonesean mint's issues in the time of that ruler: a high percentage of tin or lead in the composition of the coins and the flaky edge (Korshenko 2000). Several researchers believe that these coins could have been minted in Cherson or for it (Grierson and Mays 1992, pp. 148, 149; Kent 1994, p. 92; Hahn and Wojtek 1996, p. 388; Korshenko 2000, 34–36; Anokhin 2016, 242; Sidorenko 2018, 130, 131).

Table 3 represents the results of the analysis of the elemental composition of the numismatic finds from excavations at the hillfort of Mangup in South-Western Crimea. The coins examined in this work were found in the archaeological investigations of 2019 at two sites of the Mangup hillfort—the palace complex of 1425–1475 in the central area of the Mangup plateau the so-called 'garrison church' on the Teshkli-Burun promontory. The collection of the coins under study includes samples characteristic of the coinage of Byzantine Cherson from the mid-5th—early twelfth century. For comparison, the data on the composition of the alloy of coins minted in other Byzantine Empire centers are represented. The most numerous examples are petty 'copper' coins of lower denominations dated to the time of the rule of Justinian I (527–565) (Table 3, 2–7) and Constantine VII Porphyrogenitus (913–959) (Table 3, 10–12).

4 Conclusions

It is of note that in all these cases, lead-tin bronze was used as the material for making coins of Byzantine Cherson. The concentration of lead in the composition of the alloy is considerably higher than that of tin. In particular samples, the content of lead exceeds half of the composition. In coins of the 5th-sixth century AD, arsenic is found in quantities bordering the doping threshold (1%) and micro-additions of nickel are detected. The alloy also contains zinc in trace concentrations, but in a coin struck during the rule of Leo I (457–474) its content reaches almost 2%. In two cases, silver content over 1% was detected (Table 3, 2, 9), and in another case, below 1% (Table 3, 13).

Comparison of the results of elemental analysis of the composition of coins issued at Chersonesos and other mints, both metropolitan and provincial ones (Table 3, 14–17) demonstrates that 'spoiling' of coin metal with lead started in the Roman period was a widespread practice in the medieval Byzantine Empire. The Chersonesean mint was not exclusion. It is worth noting, however, that also the active use of lead ligature was characteristic not only of the Chersonesean mint.

Acknowledgements The studies of the composition of coin alloys were supported by RSF (No. $18-18-00193-\Pi$) «The initial period of the history of money: the transition from a coin of a full metallic value to a sign of conventional value».

References

- Anokhin, V.A.: Monetnoye delo Khersonesa (IV v. do n.e. XII v. n.e.) (Mining of Chersonesos (IV century BC XII century AD)). Naukova Dumka, Kiev (1977) (In Russian)
- Anokhin, V.A.: Monety Severnogo Prichernomor' ya i tsarey Kolkhidy (Coins of the Northern Black Sea region and the kings of Colchis). Stilos, Kiev (2016) (In Russian)
- Bellinger, A.R., Grierson, Ph. (eds.).: Catalogue of the Byzantine Coins in the Dumbarton Oaks Collection and in the Whittemore Collection. Dumbarton Oaks Research Library and Collection, Washington D.C. Vol. 3. Part 2 (1993)
- Grierson, Ph., Mays, M. (eds.): Catalogue of the Late Boman Coins in the Dumbarton Oaks Collection and in the Whittemore Collection. Dumbarton Oaks Research Library and Collection, Washington D.C. (1992)
- Hahn, W.: Money of the Incipient Byzantine Empire (Anastasius I Justinian I, 491–565) with the collaboration of M.A. Metlich. City Press, Wien (2000)
- Hahn, W.R.O., Wojtek, B.E.: Review: The Roman Imperial Coinage. Vol. X. The Divided Empire and the Fall of the Western Parts AD 395–491 by J.P.C. Kent. Numismatic Chronicle. London, vol. 156. 382–392 (1996)
- Kent, J.P.C.: The Roman Imperial Coinage. The Divided Empire and the Fall of the Western Parts A.D. 395–491. London. Vol. X (1994)
- Korshenko, A.N.: Rimskiye monety chekanki Khersonesa (Roman coins minted by Chersonesos). Eighth All-Russian Numismatic Conference. Moscow, April 17–21. Abstracts of reports. Moscow, 34–36 (2000) (In Russian)
- Sidorenko, V.A.: O meste proizvodstva nakhodimykh v Khersone i Yugo-Zapadnom Krymu bronzovykh ili mednykh monet Feodosiya (II-?), Valentiniana (III-?), L'va I (457–474), Veriny (457–484) i Zenona (474–491) (About the place of production of bronze or copper coins of Theodosius (II-?), Valentinian (III-?), Leo I (457–474), Verina (457–484) and Zeno, found in Kherson and South-West Crimea (474–491))// X-th International Byzantine Seminar (Sevastopol - Balaklava May 28 - June 1, 2018) Materials of the scientific conference/Ed. Nikolay Alekseenko. Sevastopol; Simferopol, 129–133 (2018) (In Russian)
- Smekalova T.N.: Sostav splava monet Khersonesa (The composition of the alloy of Chersonesos coins). Problemy istorii, filologii, kul'tury (Problems of history, philology, culture) 10, 110–134 (2001) (In Russian)
- Smekalova, T.N., Terekhin, E.A., Pasumanskiy, A.E.: Rekonstruktsiya antichnoy sistemy mezhevaniya khory Khersonesa Tavricheskogo s ispol'zovaniyem metodov distantsionnogo zondirovaniya (Reconstructing the ancient land division system of Tauric Chersonesos with the aid of remote sensing). Vestnik Drevnei Istorii (Journal of Ancient History) 2, 306–332 (2018) (In Russian)
- Smekalova, T.N., Terekhin, E.A.: Novyye dannyye o voyennoy organizatsii grazhdan Khersonesa Tavricheskogo, otrazhennoy v strukture yego zemel'nogo kadastra (New data about military organization of Chersonessian citizens, reflected in the structure of its land cadaster). Stratum Plus 6, 89–105 (2018) (In Russian)

"A Crucible with Solidified Substance" or an Ore Sample: Experience of the Complex Analysis of a Unique Find of the Chepetskaya Archaeological Culture



Elena L. Russkikh, Vasiliy A. Volkov, and Faat Z. Gilmutdinov

Abstract In this paper, we present the results of the complex analysis of "a crucible with the solidified substance". This "crucible" was found during the archaeological research of the Kachkashursky I burial ground—one of the 9–13th centuries CE funeral sites of the basin of the Cheptsa RiverA unique find was revealed during a study of the 1971 collection. A primary interpretation of the find as a crucible and a search for analogies requested a further archaeometry study. The results of the chemical and phase composition analysis are presented in the work. The chemical analysis has revealed that "solidified substance" from the artifact is oxidized iron. The phase analysis revealed that the basis of the material of the contents of the "crucible" and the "crucible" itself is iron metahydroxide FeO(OH) (goethite) with quartz impurities. This composition is typical for bog ore. We examined that the find is a large nodule—a type of bog ore, which was the main source of iron ore during the Middle Ages.

Keywords Middle ages · Chepetskaya culture · Kachkashursky I burial ground · Crucible · Chemical analysis · Phase analysis · Marsh ore · Concretion

1 Introduction

Among the finds from ancient burial grounds, various tools are especially interesting. Tools located in a grave may indicate that a "craftsman" was buried in it. By studying such burials, researches may obtain knowledge to reconstruct ideas about the social structure of the ancient society and new pieces of information about the prehistoric production.

We aim to study the non-ferrous metalworking of the population of the Cheptsa River basin during the 9–13th centuries CE. There are many metalworking-related

E. L. Russkikh (🖂)

Udmurt Institute of History, Language and Literature of UdmFRC UB RAS, Izhevsk, Russia

V. A. Volkov · F. Z. Gilmutdinov

Physical-Technical Institute of UdmFRC UB RAS, Izhevsk, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_9

finds including casting tools, metal ingots, metal plates, and wire in the materials from the settlements of the Chepetsky archaeological culture of the 9–13th centuries CE. This fact indicates that non-ferrous metals were processed on these settlements. To date, we have investigated certain aspects of medieval non-ferrous metalworking of the Cheptsa River basin. The markers of jewelry production were identified and analyzed in the materials of the fortified settlements and burial sites of the Chepetsky culture. The data was received on the composition of non-ferrous metal alloys used by the local goldsmith's foundry (Russkikh and Sabirova 2017, 2018, 2019). In this paper, we analyze a crucible from the materials from the Kachkashursky I burial ground. This finding gathered our particular interest during the processing of the archaeological collection of this site (Fig. 1, *I*).

The Kachkashursky I (Ludoshurskiy) burial ground of the 9–13th centuries is located 3 km south of the village of Kachkashur, 1.5 km east of the villages of Maly and Bolshoy Ludoshur of the Glazovsky region of the Udmurt Republic, Russia. It occupies a promontory and a steep slope of the high right bank of the Sepich River (a left tributary of the Cheptsa River) (Fig. 2, 9).

Currently, the burial ground is completely covered with the forest. Its surface has been damaged by illegal excavations. The monument has been known since

Fig. 1 The fragments of crucibles from the Chepetskaya culture sites: 1—"a crucible with solidified substance", the Kachkashursky I burial ground, 1971; 2—the Kushmansky settlement Uchkakar, 2016; 3, 4—the Kachkashursky settlement, 1971; 5—the Soldyrsky III burial ground, 2000–03; 6—the Adamsky II burial ground, 1957





Fig. 2 The sites of the Chepetskaya culture (the 9–13th centuries): 1—the Kushmansky settlement Uchkakar; 2—the Dondykarsky settlement Dondykar; 3—the Soldyrsky I settlement Idnakar; 4—the Vesyakarsky settlement Vesyakar; 5—the Gordinsky I settlement of Guryakar; 6—the Kachkashursky settlement; 7—the Soldyrsky III (Idnakarsky I) burial ground; 8—the Adamsky II burial ground; 9—the Kachkashursky I burial ground

the end of the 19th century under the name of Ludoshursky "Bigershai". In 1894, small excavations were carried out by Smirnov. In 1967–1968, the burial ground was investigated by Kondratyeva (the number of excavated burials remains unknown, as the report is missing, and a part of the collection was also lost). In 1971, Korepanov investigated a crumbling grave (Ivanov 2004). In 1987–1988, Ivanov studied 78 burials on the area of 362 m². In 1999, the burial ground was examined in the process of an inventory of the archaeological sites in the Glazovsky district of the Udmurt Republic. In 2004, Ivanova carried out emergency excavations at the burial ground. On an area of 110 m², she investigated 34 burials of the 11–12th centuries CE (Ivanova 2004; Kirillov 1999).

The research on the burial ground revealed the following. Burials were made in the sub-rectangular pits. Human remains inside the burial pit were usually located stretched out on the back, heading to the North-West and North. The usual funeral inventory consists of ceramic vessels, metal cauldrons, beads, bronze jewelry, iron tools, weapons, bone products, household items made of metal and bone (Ivanov 1989, 1991; Alekseeva and Ivanov 1999).

The archaeological collections of the Kachkashursky I burial ground (from excavations in 1971, 1987–1988, 2004) are currently kept in the Historical and Cultural Museum-Reserve of the Udmurt Republic "Idnakar" (the City of Glazov). While working with these collections, the author's attention was drawn to an interesting find of a production nature. An archaeologist named Kranit I. Korepanov interpreted it as "a fragment of a crucible containing a solidified piece of a yellowish-brown mass of unknown composition (but not iron)" (Semenov and Korepanov 1971a, b).

At first glance, the find really resembles a fragment of the bottom part of a cylindrical ceramic crucible. The "crucible" contains compact contents of an indefinite shape and composition, similar in color to iron oxides (Fig. 1, 1). The interpretation of the artifact by Korepanov was not in doubt. First of all, finds of crucibles from other burial sites of the Chepetsky culture, despite their rarity, have been previously identified (Fig. 1, 6, 7). Secondly, samples of crucibles, similar in appearance to the investigated one, have been also gathered from the collections of foundry tools of the Chepetsky culture medieval settlements. In particular, similar fragments of crucibles were found at the nearby Kachkashursky unfortified settlement, which forms an archaeological microdistrict with the Kachkashursky I burial ground (Fig. 1, 3, 4). However, such finds of crucibles with a "hardened" remnant of metal have never been found before in the medieval settlements of the Chepetskava archaeological culture. This is the uniqueness of the investigated find. It is generally accepted that crucibles are small vessels designed to melt alloys of non-ferrous metals, but not iron. In addition, the finds of foundry equipment in the burial accompanying inventory are interesting from the point of view of studying the "phenomenon of craftsmen burials." In this regard, we have decided to conduct a comprehensive analysis of the artifact.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Historical Method: A Search for Similar Finds of Crucibles in Medieval Burial Grounds in the Cheptsa River Basin

Burials containing tools for metal processing are found, although quite rarely, among the medieval burial grounds of the Cheptsa River basin. Thus, Ivanov revealed the following (Ivanov 2001). There are only 9 or 10 burials of the Chepetsky burials of the fifth-fourteenth centuries CE that can be attributed as the "craftsmen" burials
(0.5% of the total number of excavated burials). There are 2 burials out of 10 which is associated with metal processing (burials containing small hammers), 5 burials (0.25%) with blacksmithing-related inventory (burials containing finds of ticks and hammers), and 1 burial (0.05%) containing woodcarving tools.

The burials with the tools for the processing of non-ferrous metals are of the greatest interest. According to Ivanov (2001), they are extremely rare sharing only 0.1%. These include two female and one children's burial. The first of them was found in Grave 7 of the Polomsky I burial ground (a second half of the 7th century). Along with a rich complex of femalejewelry, two fragments of casting molds were discovered. In the Adamskiy II Mydlanshai burial ground, a crucible was found in Grave 37 of thr Soldyrskii III (Idnakar I) burial ground of the 11–12th centuries. A cone-shaped crucible with a pointed bottom (Fig. 1, 5) was found in a child's burial right to the child's skull (Soldyrsky 3 cemetery... 2019).

Thus, in the basin of the Cheptsa River, three medieval graves containing finds of crucibles among the grave goods have been identified. There are two synchronous burial grounds—Kachkashursky I (IX–XIII centuries) and Soldyrsky III (dated to the 9–12th centuries CE), and—Adamsky II burial grounds is earlier, dated to the (8–9th centuries CE). Geographically, these burial grounds there are located closely one to another (Fig. 2, 7, 9). Gazimzyanov's studies of anthropological materials from the Soldyrsky III burial ground revealed the proximity of some anthropological indicators to the population of the Soldyrsky III, Kachkashur I burial grounds, as well as their connection with the earlier Adamsky II and Varninsky burial grounds (Soldyrsky 3 cemetery... 2019). This fact suggests that these burial grounds were left by the same group, who lived in the territory of the Cheptsa River basin in the Middle Ages.

The crucibles found in the Soldyrsky III and Adamsky II burial grounds (Fig. 1, 5, 6) are similar in shape (cone-shaped with a pointed bottom), but slightly different in dating. It is also noteworthy that in each grave only a single crucible was found. The "crucible" from the Kachkashursky I burial ground differs from its counterparts in its shape and some characteristics (Fig. 1, I). In the process of working with the Korepanov's field materials (1971), it has become clear that this "crucible" was found in the destroyed layer of excavations of previous years and not inside the grave. Nevertheless, the authenticity of the find is beyond doubt. Since the search for analogies did not explained the nature of the substance in the "crucible", we have decided to perform a complete archaeometry analysis of the find.

2.2 The Archaeometry Study of the Chemical and Phase Composition of the "Crucible"

The study of the chemical and phase composition of the "crucible" were carried out in the Physical-Technical Institute of the Udmurt Federal Research Center of the UB RAS by Faat Z. Gilmutdinov and Vasily A. Volkov. The obtained data has helped to clarify the nature of the artifact.

The analysis of the chemical composition of the "crucible" was performed by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy on a SPECS spectrometer using MgK α excitation (operated by Faat Z. Gilmutdinov). Initially, we aimed to prepare a sample by cutting off the upper part of the "crucible" and then examine a flat part of the cutout. However, the substance turned to be extremely hard and it could not be cut with a conventional sheet metal. Therefore, a sample for analysis in a form of powder was prepared using emery. Before preparing the powder for analysis, the surface area was cleaned. Further, while grinding the powder, it was found that the investigated object is hollow and forms a capsule.

The data of chemical analysis were significantly supplemented by the study of the phase composition of the sample, which was carried out by the method of X-ray phase analysis (operated by Vasily A. Volkov). In hole area formed during the sampling for photoelectron spectroscopy, an annular piece of the capsule with a width of about 1.5 mm was sawed off with a diamond wheel. Sections of the outer "clay" layer were separated from the metal-like layer. It was not possible to separate loose formations from the inner surface of the capsule from the metal-like layer because the hard and brittle material collapsed and pieces were mixed. A piece of the crucible material was separated from the object. The samples taken for the analysis were ground into powder in an agate mortar and glued onto a plexiglass substrate of 20×20 mm with a layer of about 0.5 mm thick.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Results of the Chemical Analysis of the Contents of the "Crucible"

On the cut, the capsule wall consists of a layer of a metal-like substance of black-gray color with a thickness of 1-2 mm. Outside, there is a thin layer similar to the material of the "crucible". The inner surface of the capsule is covered with uneven, looser formations, which are up to 2-3 mm in height, similar to rust on iron (Fig. 1, *1*).

Figure 3 shows an overview spectrum obtained by analyzing the powder; Fig. 4 shows a section of the survey spectrum with low intensity which is shown on an enlarged scale.

The analysis of the spectrum showed that the substance of the investigated powder consists of iron, oxygen, as well as silicon and aluminum with small impurities of calcium, sodium, and potassium. The average elemental composition of the powder was calculated from the X-ray electron spectra, wt.%. The total content of calcium, sodium and potassium is less than 1% (Table 1).



Table 1 Elemental composition of the substance of the "crucible" content

С	0	Fe	Si	Al
3	25	52	12	8

An analysis of the Fe2p and O1s spectra suggests that the substance of the metallike layer of the capsule wall is oxidized iron. The parameters of the Fe2p spectrum (Fig. 3) correspond to the data of Mansour and Brizzolara (1996), and can be attributed to the goethite substance (a-FeOOH). No signs of iron carbides were found. Silicon and aluminum are oxidized to the 4+ and 3+ states, respectively, which can be attributed to the presence of SiO_2 and aluminosilicates. It is assumed that silicon, aluminum and part of the oxygen are parts of the material of the strong clay-like "crucible" covering the capsule.

3.2 Results of the Phase Analysis of the Contents and Shell of the "Crucible"

Figure 5 shows the diffractgram of the sample obtained from the material of the contents of the "crucible" with superimposed standard bar-diagrams of the detected phases. The phase composition of the sample is represented by two main phases— FeO (OH) (goethite, about 95 vol. %) and SiO₂- α (quartz) with a content of 3–5 vol. %. There are small impurities of other phases.

Figure 6 shows an X-ray diffractogram of a sample obtained from a "crucible"





material with superimposed reference bar-diagrams of the detected phases.

This sample is also represented mainly by the FeO(OH) (goethite) (a) and SiO₂ $-\alpha$ (quartz) (b) phases. However, in this case, the phase ratio is different. The sample is also based on the FeO(OH) phase (about 80 vol.%). At the same time, a significant part of the sample is represented by the Si O2 phase (about 10%). In addition, the diffractogram contains additional lines that cannot be deciphered. Their contribution to the intensity of the diffractogram can be estimated at about 10–15%. According to the results of X-ray electron spectroscopy, which revealed the presence in the sample of aluminum, calcium, potassium and sodium in addition to iron and silicon, these lines may belong to clay particles.

Despite the outward similarity of the "crucible" material with clay materials, the phase composition of the sample differs from that of clays. Clays are usually represented by aqueous aluminosilicates such as kaolinite (Al₂O₃ × 2SiO₂ × 2H₂O), and alusite, disthene and sillimanite (Al₂O₃ × SiO₂), halloysite (Al₂O₃ × SiO₂ × H₂O), monothermite ($0.2[K_2MgCa]^0 \times Al_2O_3 \times 2SiO_2 \times 1.5H_2O$), montmorillonite (MgO × Al₂O₃ × 3SiO₂ × 1.5H₂O), muscovite (K₂O × Al₂O₃ × 6SiO₂ × 2H₂O),

narcite ($Al_2O_3 \times SiO_2 \times 2H_2O$), pyrophyllite ($Al_2O_3 \times 4SiO_2 \times H_2O$) and other compounds. The basis of the material for the contents of the "crucible" and the "crucible" itself is iron metahydroxide FeO(OH) (goethite) with quartz impurities. This phase composition is typical for bog ores (CCLIJKA).

Swamp ore is a kind of brown iron ore naturally deposited on the rhizomes of bog plants in stagnant water bodies. Main components of ore are iron oxides and silica (SiO₂). Silica, constituting the basis of the waste rock of ore, is an easily separable impurity. Other impurities such as lime, phosphorus and sulfur oxide are found in smaller quantities. These properties make brown iron ores and marsh ores most suitable for ancient metallurgical production. This is a common method during the Early Iron and the late Middle Ages. The iron processing and related processes in the Cheptsa River basin in the 5–13th centuries CE Zavyalov (2005), Perevoshchikov (2002), Ivanova (1976, 1979), Semenov (1985). These authors described the main types of raw materials, methods of making iron products and types of production facilities; recorded on the ancient settlements of the Cheptsa River basin, namelt the settlements of Idnakar, Uchkakar, Vesyakar, Dondykar (see Fig. 2, 1-5). Acording to these authors, the primary raw material during the time of the Chepts culture was precisely bog ores, among the deposits of which the Omutnitskoe bog ore deposit is the closest to the Cheptsa River (see Fig. 2).

The shape of the sample can be explained by its origin from bog ore. It can be assumed that this sample was formed as a concretion (spherical mineral aggregate) on a piece of organic matter. Over time, organic materials decomposed and formed a hollow space within the clay-covered metal object.

4 Conclusions

Thus, comprehensive analysis of a non-typical archaeological find allowed us to obtain reliable results. The interpretation of this unusual artifact, found during archaeological research of the Kachkashur I burial ground of the 9–13th centuries CE have been formulated. The artifact, originally attributed as a "crucible with solidified matter," turned out to be a natural specimen, namely, a fragment of bog ore that was common in the area and served as the main source of iron. The ore fragment is a nodule (a spherical mineral body containing a fairly "pure" iron, hollow inside, and an outer "clay-like" shell), most likely attracted the attention due to its unusual shape. The fact is that nodules of bog ores formed by ferrophilic bacteria, as a rule, are clusters of small balls, much smaller in size, in contrast to the one under study. It can be assumed that a specimen which was found during the mining of bog ore, or by accident, attracted the attention of "miners" as an unusual natural phenomenon. It is possible that such an object was endowed with some supernatural properties, and for this reason it accompanied its owner after death as a burial inventory.

Acknowledgements The research was carried out with the use of equipment from the Center for Shared Use of Instruments of the UdmFRC UB RAS: "Center for Physical and Chemical Methods

of Analysis, Research of Properties and Characteristics of Surfaces, Nanostructures, Materials and Products".

References

- Alekseeva, Je.V., Ivanov, A.G.: Kosti zhivotnyh iz mogilnika Kachkashur I (IX–XIII vv., Udmurtija) (Bones of animals from the burial ground Kachkashur I (the 9–13th centuries, Udmurtia). In: Permskij mir v rannem srednevekovye (The Permian world in the early Middle Ages), 232–244. Izhevsk (1999) (In Russian)
- Ivanov, A.G., Ivanova, M.G., Ostanina, T.I., Shutova, N.I.: Arheologicheskaja karta severnyh rajonov Udmurtii (Archaeological map of the northern regions of Udmurtia), 276 p. Izhevsk (2004) (In Russian)
- Ivanov, A.G.: Issledovanija Kachkashurskih mogil'nikov (Researches of Kachkashursky burial grounds). In: Arheologicheskie otkrytija Urala i Povolzh'ja (Archaeological discoveries of the Urals and Volga region), 56–57. Syktyvkar (1989) (In Russian)
- Ivanov, A.G.: Kachkashurskij mogilnik IX–XIII vv. v bassejne r. Chepcy (The Kachkashursky burial ground of the 9–13th centuries in the basin of the Cheptsa River). In: Materialy po pogrebalnomu obrjadu udmurtov (Materials on a funeral ceremony of Udmurts), 140–180. Izhevsk (1991) (In Russian)
- Ivanov, A.G.: Pogrebenija «remeslennikov»: po materialam srednevekovyh mogil'nikov chepeckogo porechya (Burials of "handicraftsmen": on materials of medieval burial grounds of a river basin of Cheptsa). In: Drevnie remeslenniki Priuralya: Materialy Vserossijskoj Nauchnoj Konferencii (Ancient handicraftsmen of Prikamye area: materials of a Russian scientific conference), 169–183. Izhevsk (2001) (In Russian)
- Ivanova, M.G.: Kushmanskoe gorodishhe (Kushmansky ancient settlement). In: Voprosy arheologii Udmurtii (Questions of archeology of Udmurtia), 93–107. Izhevsk (1976) (In Russian)
- Ivanova, M.G.: Hozjajstvo severnyh udmurtov v konce IX– nachale XIII vv. n.je. (Economy of northern Udmurts at the end of IX— the beginning of the 13th centuries AD). In: Severnye udmurty v nachale II tysjacheletija n.je (Northern Udmurts at the beginning of the II millennium AD), 6–69. Izhevsk (1979) (In Russian)
- Ivanova, M.G.: Pogrebal'nye pamjatniki severnyh udmurtov XI–XIII vv. (Funeral monuments of northern Udmurts of the 11–13th centuries), 184 p. Izhevsk (1992) (In Russian)
- Ivanova, M.G.: Istoki udmurtskogo naroda (Sources of the Udmurt people), 191 p. Izhevsk (1994) (In Russian)
- Ivanova, M.G.: Otchet ob issledovanijah na gorodishhe Idnakar, Soldyrskom III selishhe i Kachkashurskom mogilnike v Glazovskom rajone UR v 2004 g. (The report on researches on the ancient settlement Idnakar, Soldyrsky III settlement and the Kachkashursky burial ground in the Glazov district of the Udmurt Republic in 2004). In: Nauchno-otraslevoj Arhiv UIIJaL UdmFIC UrO RAN (Archive of the Udmurt institute of history, language and literature of the UdmFRC UB RAS). RF, Op. 2-N. T. 1, 2. D. 1311, D. 1312 (In Russian)
- Kirillov, A.N.: Otchet o NIR. Istoriko-kul'turnye (arheologicheskie) izyskanija v Glazovskom rajone Udmurtskoj Respubliki. 1999 g. (Report on research. Historical and cultural (archaeological) researches in the Glazov district of the Udmurt Republic in 1999). In: Nauchno-otraslevoj Arhiv UIIJaL UdmFIC UrO RAN (Archive of the Udmurt institute of history, language and literature of the UdmFRC UB RAS). RF, Op. 2-N. T. 1, 2. D. 1163 (In Russian)
- Mansour, A.N., Brizzolara, R.A.: Characterization of the Surface of α-FeOOH Powder by XPS. Surface Science Spectra 4, 357–362 (1996)
- Perevoshhikov, S.E.: Zhelezoobrabatyvajushhee proizvodstvo naselenija Kamsko-Vjatskogo mezhdurechya v jepohu srednevekovya (tehnologicheskij aspekt) (Iron-working production of the

population of the Kama and Vyatka Entre Rios during a Middle Ages era (technological aspect), 175 p. Izhevsk (2002) (In Russian)

- Russkikh, E.L., Sabirova, T.M.: Cvetnoi metall Kushmanskogo gorodishha Uchkakar IX–XIII vv.: rentgenofluorescentnyj analiz izdelij i litejnogo oborudovanija srednej i vneshnej ploshhadok pamyatnika (Non-ferrous metal of the Kushmansky ancient settlement Uchkakar of the 9–13th centuries: X-ray fluorescent analysis of products and foundry equipment of average and external platforms of a monument). In: Ezhegodnik finno-ugorskih issledovanij (Year-book of Finno-Ugric researches) 3, 90–105. Izhevsk (2017) (In Russian)
- Russkikh, E.L., Sabirova, T.M.: Sostav cvetnogo metalla gorodishh chepeckoj kultury (Idnakar i Uchkakar) (Composition of non-ferrous metal of ancient settlements of Chepetskaya culture (Idnakar and Uchkakar). In: Istoriko-kul'turnoe nasledie narodov Uralo-Povolzh'ja (Historical and cultural heritage of the people of the Ural-Volga region), № 2(5), 94–101. Izhevsk (2018) (In Russian)
- Russkikh, E.L., Sabirova, T.M.: Cvetnoj metall Kushmanskogo kompleksa pamjatnikov X–XIII vekov po rezul'tatam rentgenofluorescentnogo analiza (Non-ferrous metal of the Kushmansky complex of monuments of the 10–13th centuries by results of the X-ray fluorescent analysis). In: Vestnik UdGU. Serija istorija i filologija (Udmurt State University Proceedings. Series History and Philology) 1(98), 97–108. Izhevsk (2019) (In Russian)
- Semenov, V.A., Korepanov, K.I.: Otchet o rabote UAJe za 1971 g (The report about works of UAE for 1971). In: Nauchno-otraslevoj Arhiv UIIJaL UdmFIC UrO RAN (Archive of the Udmurt institute of history, language and literature of the UdmFRC UB RAS). RF. Op. 2-N. D. 149. L. 23–25 (In Russian)
- Semenov, V.A., Korepanov, K.I.: Chertezhi i tablicy k otchetu UAJe za 1971 g. (Drawings and tables to the report about works of UAE for 1971). In: Nauchno-otraslevoj Arhiv UIIJaL UdmFIC UrO RAN (Archive of the Udmurt institute of history, language and literature of the UdmFRC UB RAS). RF. Op. 2-N. D. 150. L. 12–13, 130, 151–152 (In Russian)
- Semenov, V.A.: Gorodishhe Vesya-Kar (ancient settlement Vesya-Kar). In: Materialy srednevekovyh pamjatnikov Udmurtii (Materials of medieval monuments of Udmurtia), 48–77. Ustinov (1985) (In Russian)
- Soldyrskij III (Idnakarskij I) mogilnik XI–XII vv. v bassejne r. Chepcy (Soldyrsky III (Idnakarsky I) the burial ground of the 11–12th centuries in the basin of the Cheptsa River), 80 p. Izhevsk (2019) (In Russian)
- Terehova, N.N., Rozanova, L.S., Zavyalov, V.I., Tolmacheva, M.M.: Ocherki po istorii drevnej metalloobrabotki v Vostochnoj Evrope (Sketches on history of ancient metal working in Eastern Europe), 315 p. Moscow (1997) (In Russian)
- Zavyalov, V.I. Istoriya kuznechnogo remesla permyan: arheometallograficheskoe issledovanie (The history of the blacksmith craft of the Permians: archaeometallographic research), 244 p. Izhevsk (2005) (In Russian)

Kazburun Archaeological Micro-district of the Late Bronze Age and Copper Ore Mines in the Southern Trans-Urals



Nikolai B. Shcherbakov, Iia A. Shuteleva, and Alexandra A. Golyeva

Abstract The Late Bronze Age in the Southern Trans-Urals is represented by a large number of archaeological cultures and population groups, including Srubnaya and Andronovo (Alakul). New analyses currently applied to bronze wares of the Late Bronze Age, once again raise the matter of copper-ore sources of bronze metallurgy of the Late Bronze Age in the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals. The analysis to bronze materials in the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals and northern part of the Kargaly mines (the Saygachy mines), such as light microscopy techniques, sample examination by scanning electron microscope, X-ray electron probe method of elemental analysis, neutron activation analysis, and isotopic analysis of lead, puts forward a topic of materials gathering in copper-ore sources. Another matter is studying of the bronze production technology at the settlements of the Kazburun archaeological micro-district dates to the Late Bronze Age (1770–1630 Cal BCE).

Keywords Mines \cdot Copper \cdot Tin \cdot Bronze \cdot Metallurgy \cdot Late bronze age \cdot Srubnaya and Andronovskaya cultures

1 Introduction

The Late Bronze Age of the Southern Trans-Urals is studied quite properly (Gorbunov 1989; Obydennov and Obydennova 1992; Rutto 2003). The same refers to the Dyoma-Urshak interfluve area. At present moment, there are 41 settlements of the Late Bronze Age known on this territory; archaeological excavations were conducted at 14 of them. Despite extensive archeological studies, the subject of archaeometallurgy of bronze and ore resources for metal production is still open.

105

N. B. Shcherbakov (🖂) · I. A. Shuteleva

Bashkir State Pedagogical University n.a. M.Akmullah, Ufa, Russia

A. A. Golyeva Institute of Geography, Russian Academy of Science, Moscow, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_10

The complex under study is the settlement and burial complex in the Kazburun archaeological micro-district of the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals. The Kazburun archaeological micro-district comprise a part of the area of Srubnaya and the Andronovo (Alakul) cultural interaction area of the Late Bronze Age. The archaeological micro-district consists of three burial mounds and seven settlements in the Urshak and Bely Kluch rivers interfluve.

The results of radiocarbon dating of materials from the Kazburun archaeological micro-district, conducted from 2007 to 2017 (Shuteleva et al. 2017; Shcherbakov et al. 2014; Krzewińska et al. 2018), produced a quite wide range of measurements. At the Usmanovo-3 settlement, a piece of ceramic resulted in 4040 ± 30 BP (Beta— 352,489), cal. BC 2830-2820. A sample of soil was also dated, and results of the dating cover the span from 3440 ± 30 BP (Beta-395,800) cal. BC 1875-1840 to 3380 \pm 30 BP (Beta—347,343) cal. BC 1890-1740. Obtained series of only 14 dates (2–3 dates from each buried in the mound complex) allowed characterizing chronology of archaeological micro-district during 1765-1690 cal. BC (2 sigma): 3420 ± 30 BP (Beta—347,344) cal. BC 1930—1750; 3520 ± 30 BP (Beta—439,417) cal. BC 1780-1630; 3360 \pm 30 BP (Beta-451,578) cal. BC 1735-1565; 3440 \pm 30 BP (Beta-451,579) cal. BC 1875-1665; 3410 ± 30 BP (Beta-451,577) cal. BC 1765- $1630; 3415 \pm 31$ BP (Ua—56,444) cal. BC 1750-1620; 3459 ± 30 BP (Ua—56,445) cal. BC 1880-1690; 3407 ± 30 BP (Ua—54,446) cal. BC 1745-1620; 3422 ± 30 BP (Ua-54,447) cal. BC 1755-1630; 3479 ± 30 BP (Ua-56,448) cal. BC 1880-1690; 3401 ± 29 BP (Ua—56,449) cal. BC 1745-1620. This allowed pushing back the dating of the artifacts of the Late Bronze Age from the Urshak River basin for 300-400 radiocarbon years. Also, one can acknowledge the synchronism of the Kazburun I burial mounds and the Usmanovo I/III settlements. Thus, chronologically wise, the bronze artifacts from the Kazburun archaeological micro-district are probably the earliest in the Urshak River basin, which makes their production a topic of particular interest. Almost all examined settlements and mounds of the Kazburun archaeological micro-district provided evidence for metallurgy of bronze.

The primary problem in studying of metallurgy of bronze is the exploration of copper ore mines. It is a well-known fact that the copper ore mines of the Late Bronze Age in the southern Urals were re-used during the development of copper-smelting production in the 1700–1800 CE. This justifies a study of the ancient copper ore mines in the Kazburun archaeological micro-district.

The territory of the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals represents an area of multiple and quite various copper deposits in terms of their density. These deposits were utilized in the 1700–1800 CE. Their commercial development ends in the 19th c. CE as opposed to deposits of the Cis-Urals (area behind the Ural Mountains).

Deposits of the Cis-Urals, abundant in copper pyrite, constitute the focal point for the studies in the beginning of the 20th c. CE (Krasnopolsky 1901; Zavarytzky 1920), as well as the most recent studies (Kuzin 2013).

On the contrary, the mines of the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals, which development relates to the production of cupriferous sandstones, are studied to the lesser degree. The exception is the Kargaly ore-mining and smelting center (Chernykh 1997; Bogdanov and Ryabukha 2005). The copper ore mines in the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals became an object of study in works by Nechyaev (1902), Efremov (1954); Chernykh (1997); Dolotov and Grek (2001).

There was a similar issue while analyzing archival sources: a study by Gudkov and Gudkova (1993) states archival data (about copper-mining sources) characterizing the number of copper mines belonging to one copper mine works in the 1700s CE named Arkhangelsky (Sharansky)—122 copper mines in the Middle Urals.

There was a similar issue with identifying copper mines and their number has arisen earlier. In the investigate of Gudkov and Gudkova (1993) provides archival data that describe the number of copper mines included in one common copper mine in the 1700s AD called Arkhangelsk (Sharansky). There were 122 such mines in the Middle Urals.

The copper ore mines of the Voskresensky and Verkhnetorsky copper-smelting plants connected with the production of cupriferous sandstone, apart from the Kargaly mines, are almost not mentioned in the current archaeological literature.

The copper ore mines of the Southern Trans-Urals and systematic archaeological researches of this territory have been performed by Chernykh (1970). In this area, he outlines the West-Asian metallurgical province which was connected with the Eurasian steppe. On the territory of the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals, systematic archaeological works in the area of copper ore mines have not been yet conducted. Chernykh (1970) developed a study program but this still has not been implemented.

The known copper ore mines have not been always included in the register of archaeological sites, and most of them are not mapped, hence, they are not covered by monitoring of archaeological sites, they are being destroyed and are used for industrial purposes without any initial archaeological examination (one example are the destroyed workings of the Bashkir Cis-Urals and the Bakr-Uzyak ore mine).

Currently, the Late Bronze Age metal artifacts and metal wares from the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals are being studied through the prism of new analytical approaches. All this became a stimulus to continue the copper-ore sources studies, first of all, on the territory of the Southern Trans-Urals. The copper-ore sources of the Southern Trans-Urals in relation to the production of bronze items in the region are within the scope of the current study.

2 Methods and Materials

The analyses were conducted by the RAN, the UCL Institute of Archaeology, and the Centre for Archaeometry in Mannheim. In 2013, the primary analysis of copperore sources of the region an example of a small northern part of the Kargaly mines (the Saygachy mines) was conducted. A series of complex analyses were applied to obtained materials: optical microscopy, scanning electron microscopy equipped with SEM–EDS, electron probe X-ray microanalysis (EPMA), neutron activation analysis (NAA), and lead isotope analysis (LIA). We generated a database of the copper ore mines of the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals as the potential sources of metal ore for the Late Bronze Age sites and to apply the whole range of possible analyses (OM, SEM / EDS, EPMA, NAA, LIA).

Our project aims to study the copper-ore sources of the Kazburun archaeological micro-district of the Late Bronze Age within the methodological framework proposed by Chernykh (1970).

The copper ore mines associated with the Myakinsky-Sterlibashevsky and Fedorovsky-Kuzminovsky minefields were explored (Rakhimov 2013); in the Orenburg Region of Russia, the Saygachy mines were examined. The territory of the copper ore mine is stretched out considerably. The Saigachiy Mine (the Leninsky district of Orenburg) is located on the swinging hill, at a distance of 20.8 km SE of Orenburg, and a distance of 3.52 km NE of the Berdyanka village, on the elevated terrace of the left bank of the Berdyanka River. The visible part of the mine covers the area of 9.75 ha. The mining remains are recorded on the surface of the mine; today, they look like shallow caves in sandy soil. Also, fragments of ceramic vessels from various periods, as well as individual fragments of copper oxides, were found on the surface. The mine itself is the old working of copper sandstones of the Tatar stage of the Permian geological period. Sandstones with malachite and azurite in cement, chalcedony pseudomorphs on fossilized wood with deposits of azurite and malachite are found in the dumps. The mouth part of the adit that passed through the sandstones has been located. In 1769, the mine was examined by the Pallas of who reported on the finds of clay smelting ceramic, crucible, and smelted copper in the form of a flat round cake. Based on this, it can be assumed that the extraction of copper ore at the mine began in the Late Bronze Age.

In the Fedorovsky district of the Republic of Bashkortostan, copper ore mine of Novoye Dedovo was examined, which is located near the village of the same name. The site of the copper ore mine was destroyed earlier. The Novoye Dedovo mine is located on a hill, almost on the top of a small ridge, at the distance of 2.89 km southeast of the Dedovo village, at the distance of 2.14 km to the east of the Yurkovka village, and the distance of 2.05 km to the west of the Karmalka River. The mine covers the area of 8.51 ha. Based on the current state of the mine, it can be concluded that ore was mined in the 1700s–early 1900 CE with the open-pit method. Such a method of development could destroy workings traces belonging to the earlier periods of the mine operation. Isolated fragments of copper oxides are found on the surface.

Also, the road construction ruined the territory of the copper ore mine near the Sukhorechka village in Bizhbulyak district of the Republic of Bashkortostan. The Sukhorechka mine is located on a rocky hill, at a distance of 2.0 km southeast of the Sukhorechka village, on a cliff on the right bank of the Sukhoi stream. The surviving part of the mine covers the area of 0.45 ha.

The majority of the copper ore mines were examined in the central part of the Republic of Bashkortostan, the Alsheevsky district. The distance from them to Kazburun archaeological micro-district does not exceed 30 km. In 2009, while monitoring the archaeological sites, Akbulatov (2009) examined two copper ore mines, near Verkhnee Avruzovo. In 2015, the topographic characteristics of the copper ore

mines were observed. It was noted that they had a good state of preservation. The Verkhnee Avruzovo mine 1 is located in the forested area, 3.4 km northeast of the village of the same name and 2.23 km south-southeast of the Mikhailovka village. The mine covers an area of 120.78 ha and is located between the Avryuz and Ishma rivers. Inside the forest area, there are traces of works represented by small dumps of soil and waste rock. Between the dumps, there are traces of the road that previously led to the mine. Isolated fragments of copper oxides are found on the surface.

The Verkhnee Avruzovo mine 22, is located in the forested part, at a distance of 4.12 km west-northeast of the village, 3.49 km southeast of the Mikhailovka village, 3.43 km west-northwest of the Avryuztamak village, and 1.23 km southeast of the mine 1. The mine covers an area of 26.78 ha and is forest-covered. In its appearance, it is similar to the mine 1.

Also, in the Alsheevsky the district of the Republic of Bashkortostan copper ore mines, Nizhnee Avruzovo (being damaged by waste deposit) and the Kunkas copper ore mine (good condition of the site) were examined. The Nizhnee Avryuzovo mine is located at an elevated position relative to the village and the river, partially wooded, at the distance of 0.82 km to the WNW from the village of same name and 0.41 km southeast of the Avruz River. The mine covers the area of 0.84 ha. Inside the forest, there are traces of work, represented by small dumps of soil and waste rock. Soil is completely taken to the depth of 2.5–3 m to the NNE of the mine, thus it is likely that this area could also belong to the mine.

The Kunkas mine is located on a high cliff of the left bank of the Dyoma River, at the distance of 1.67 km WNW of the village of the same name, at the distance of 2.23 km to the NNE of the Kul-Kunkas village and 2.83 km ENE of the Abishevo village. The mine covers the area of 1.82 hectares. On the surface, there are traces of open work going into the cliff of the river.

3 Results and Discussion

The extensive studies of typology, composition, and distribution of metal implements found throughout the Eurasian steppes laid the building blocks of narratives explaining cultural dynamics of Late Bronze Age societies in this region (Shcherbakov et al. 2016a, b). The widely accepted model of metallurgical provinces, established by Chernykh, differentiates multiple core areas of metal production and, hence, innovative centers of the copper and bronze making industry across the Eurasian steppes. The territory of the Republic of Bashkortostan did not turn to be not covered by integrated studies of such type and currently have neither comparative analysis of metallographic samples of the bronze foundry, nor radiocarbon dates for the comparison. On the territory of the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals, copper ore mines were located and mapped, and copper-ore materials were collected.

If we take look at the map, it can be seen that all the mines except Sukhorechka are located almost on the same line with the length of 276.78 km, which is passing towards the north-northwest—the south-southeast (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Map of Mines

An attempt to apply modern data on the isotopic composition of ores to ancient mines and historical sources is extremely difficult, because, as a rule, the ancient mines have not been studied in their entirety or were completely exhausted during the work in the antiquity, or, completely developed and destroyed in during the industrial development of the 1700–1900s CE.

The explored mines are located in the Southern Urals, which geologically consists of the Devonian, Carboniferous, and Permian layers. It can be noted that the eastern part of the region is represented mainly by igneous rocks—tuffs and the ancient lava fields. The territorial location of the mines is characterized by the Permian sediments correlated with the lower and upper sections of the sediments. Lower ones were presented by the Asselian-Sakmarskaya reef arrays (the Shikhany mountains in Sterlitamak district of the Republic of Bashkortostan), as well as the Artinskian and Kungurian stages. The Upper Permian deposits are composed of the Ufa, Kazan, and Tatar stages located in the Trans-Urals fore deep, which are exposed along the banks of the Belaya and Bolshoy Ik Rivers occupying the watershed territories.

4 Conclusions

The study of the Late Bronze Age archaeological sites in the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals has produced a massive database on the metal production in the region (waste products, casting molds, copper drops, and ingots, particles of copper ore, containers with traces of waste products) and also numerous artifacts made of bronze (knives, chisels, awls, holdfasts for vessels, sickles, ornamentals and so on). Metal was worked out on the Kazburun archaeological micro-district-refining, melting, casting. The primary (Cu) metal could have been imported from other regions as 'raw' ingots (bars)/artifacts. The UCL and RAN analyses show that there is significant number of pure copper artifacts that represent stock, ingots, working debris. The pure copper artifacts as implements (knives, etc.) still need a closer look in terms of typology (RAN analyses). Tin bronzes are already present as finished artifacts and there is no evidence for their production in this area. Due to the research, a new interesting problem in the Southern (Bashkir) Trans-Urals archaeology came up. Having a large number of copper sandstones and mines, developed in the Late Bronze Age (the Kargaly mines), we got the evidence for the ore export. Also, there are interesting problems. There are many hoards with bronze ware of the Late Bronze Age were found in the Urals. However, near the Kazburun archaeological micro-district only the Kuganaksky treasure with cast bronzes of the Early Iron Age (exports from Siberia) was found. Unfortunately, we have not found graves of metallurgist in the Kazburun archaeological micro-district. Only one such burial was found at Kargaly (the Pershin mound). As a result, deposits of copper sandstone of the Upper Permian red color formations in the Southern Urals from the Kargaly mines to Elek River in the area of 16,378 km² were examined. Probably in the Late Bronze Age, ore was imported the the Andronovo (Alakul) culture groups of south-eastern Kazakhstan (Shcherbakov et al. 2016a, b).

Thus, we can assert, firstly, that the number of copper-ore sources currently identified in the territory associated with the Kazburun archaeological micro-district is less than it could have been even in the 1700–1800 CE. Secondly, a small complex of bronze items found at the archaeological sites of the Kazburun archaeological micro-district may indicate that the ancient population did not have "direct" access to raw materials. They could have been supplied to the territory of the micro-district either in the form of finished products, in the form of raw materials or as prepared copper bars. Thirdly, today it is necessary to continue mapping the survived mines with sampling for metallographic analyzes and keep on searching for previously known, but "forgotten" over time, copper-ore outcrops.

This keeps the matter of exploration of copper ore mines for Kazburun archaeological micro-district open.

Acknowledgments The work was supported by the State Contract "Pedological analysis was carried out by A.Golyeva within the framework of the state assignment No. 0148-2019-0006".

References

- Akbulatov, I.M.: Nauchnyj otchet o provedenii monitoringa pamyatnikov arheologii Alsheevskogo rajona RB. Birsk (2009) (In Russian)
- Bogdanov, S.V., Ryabuha, A.S.: Istoriko-kulturnoe nasledie Kargalinskogo drevnego gornometallurgicheskogo centra // Vestnik Orenb. gos. un-ta. Prilozhenie: gumanitarnye nauki 2, 4–10. Orenburg (2005) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Drevnejshaya metallurgiya Urala i Povolzh'ya // Materialy i issledovaniya po arheologii SSSR, 172. 180 p. Moscow (1970) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Kargaly. Zabytyj mir. 177 p. Moscow (1997) (In Russian)
- Dolotov, Yu.A., Grek, I.O.: Issledovaniya drevnih rudnikov v Orenburgskoj oblasti i Bashkirii // Spelestologicheskij Ezhegodnik ROSI, 61–86. Moscow (2001) (In Russian)
- Efremov, I.A.: Fauna nazemnyh pozvonochnyh v medistyh peschanikah // Trudy paleontologicheskogo instituta Akademii nauk SSSR, LIV. 453 p. Moscow (1954) (In Russian)
- Gorbunov, V.S.: Poselencheskie pamyatniki bronzovogo veka v lesostepnom Priural'e: Uchebnoe posobie po speckursu. 134 p. Kujbyshev (1989) (In Russian)
- Gudkov, G.F., Gudkova, Z.I.: Iz istorii Yuzhnoural'skih gornyh zavodov XVIII–XIX vekov. Istorikokraevedcheskie ocherki. Chast 2. 480 p. Ufa (1993) (In Russian)
- Krasnopolskii, A.: Predvaritelnyj otchet po issledovaniyu rudnyh rajonov Yuzhnogo Urala za 1901 god. 20 p. St. Peterburg (1902) (In Russian)
- Krzewińska, M., Kılınc, G.M., Juras, A., Koptekin, D., Chyleński, M., Nikitin, A.G., Shcherbakov, N., Shuteleva. I., Leonova, T., Kraeva, L., Sungatov, F.A., Sultanova, A.N., Potekhina, I., Łukasik, S., Krenz-Niedbała, M., Dalen, L., Sinika, V., Jakobsson, M., Stora, J., Gotherstrom, A. Ancient genomes suggest the eastern Pontic-Caspian steppe as the source of western Iron Age nomads // Science Advances (ISSN 2375–2548) is published by the American Association for the Advancement of Science. Sci Adv 4 (10), eaat4457. P.1—12 (2018)
- Kuzin, A.V.: Idei i etapy poiskov kolchedanov na Urale. In: Kolchedannye mestorozhdeniya geologiya, poiski, dobycha i pererabotka rud. Materialy Vserossiiskoi nauchnoi konferencii (V Chteniya pamyati S.N. Ivanova), 84–86. Ekaterinburg (2013) (In Russian)
- Nechaev, A.V.: Geologicheskie issledovaniya v oblasti 130-go lista desyativyorstnoj karty Evropejskoj Rossii. Izvestiya geologicheskogo komiteta, 21(5), 291–308. St. Peterburg (1902) (In Russian)
- Obydennov, M.F., Obydennova, G.T.: Severo-vostochnaya pereferiya srubnoi kulturnoistoricheskoi obshchnosti. 173 p. Samara (1992) (In Russian)
- Rakhimov, I.R.: Rudnye poleznye iskopaemye permskoi sistemy Priuralya Respubliki Bashkortostan. Problemy geologii i osvoeniya nedr I, 216–218. Tomsk (2013). (In Russian)
- Rutto, N.G.: Srubno-alakulskie svyazi na Yuzhnom Urale. 211 p. Ufa (2003) (In Russian)
- Shcherbakov, N.B., Shuteleva, I.A., Radivoevich, M., Pernicka, E.: Problemy transformacii arheologicheskoj hronologii pozdnego bronzovogo veka Bashkirskogo Priural'ya v ramkah Kazburunovskogo arheologicheskogo mikrorajona // Trudy IV(XX) Vserossijskogo arheologicheskogo syezda v Kazani v 2014 g. I, 684–686. Kazan (2014) (In Russian)
- Shcherbakov, N., Radivojević, M., Shuteleva, I., Leonova, T.: Mines—Copper—Artisans in the steppe of the Late Bronze Age. In: The Metalworker and his tools / Le metallurgiste et ses outils 23–26 Jun 2016 Belfast United Kingdom, 49–50. Belfast. United Kingdom (2016)
- Shcherbakov, N.B., Radivoevic, M, Shuteleva, I.A.: Problemy issledovaniya drevnih rudnikov Bashkirskogo Priuralya v kontekste proizvodstva bronz pozdnego bronzovogo veka // Aktualnye problemy arheologii Evrazii. Sbornik materialov mezhdunarodnoj nauchno-prakticheskoj konferencii, posvyashchennoj 25-letiyu nezavisimosti Respubliki Kazahstan i 25-letiyu Instituta arheologii im. A.H. Margulana, 231–234. Almaty (2016). (In Russian)
- Shuteleva, I.A., Shcherbakov, N.B., Golyeva, A.A., Lunkov, V.Yu., Lunkova, Yu.V., Leonova, T.A., Orlovskaya, L.B., Radivoevich, M.: Rezultaty interdisciplinarnyh issledovanii pamyatnikov srubno-alakulskogo tipa Bashkirskogo Priuralya (na primere Kazburunovskogo arheologicheskogo mikrorajona), KSIA. 246, 261–279. Moscow (2017) (In Russian)

Zavarickii, A.N.: Tanalyksko-Baimakskii mednorudny rayon. In: Gornoe delo. Prilozhenie / Zhurn. Gornogo Soveta V.S.N.H., 4(1). 38 p. Moscow (1920) (In Russian)

Bioarchaeology and Residue Analysis

Diet and Mobility in the Pre-Urals Bronze Age, Russia (Preliminary Results of Stable Isotope Analysis)



Andrey V. Epimakhov and Elya P. Zazovskaya

Abstract The purpose of this work is to summarize and analyze all data on the composition of stable isotopes in human remains from the Bronze Age sites in the Pre-Urals region, as well as to draw preliminary conclusions about the diet of these groups. About 30 samples are at our disposal, covering a very long period (from the end of the 4th to the begging of the 1st-millennium cal BC). Despite a small sample size, some important conclusions can be drawn. First, livestock products were stapled foods of all cultural groups. Evidence for the fish consumption and related reservoir effect was diagnosed only in some individuals. Second, the scatter of values for the early period (the Yamnaya culture) correlates with a mobile lifestyle and animal husbandry. On the contrary, for the Late Bronze Age (the Srubnaya and Alakul cultures), we see very similar values of nitrogen and carbon isotopes within one locus, including cases of long-term residence of the collectives in these places (according to the ${}_{14}C$ data). This is probably due to the stability of the subsistence and settlement systems (stationary settlements). Finally, the obtained results differ from the previously obtained data for the adjacent territory (the Southern Trans-Urals). Interpreting this conclusion requires expanding the analysis base, including collecting the information on stable isotope values from the natural reservoirs.

Keywords Stable isotopes · Diet · Bronze age · Southern Urals

1 Introduction

Isotope analysis occupies a significant place in the list of geoarchaeological methods. The reconstruction of the diet of the ancient population (as, indeed, of animals) based on the composition of stable isotopes in ancient bones is one of the lines of research.

E. P. Zazovskaya Institute of Geography, Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow, Russia e-mail: zazovskaya@igras.ru

A. V. Epimakhov (🖂)

South Ural State University, Chelyabinsk, Russia e-mail: epimakhovav@susu.ru

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_11

The procedure and scope are well presented in the literature (Kuzmin 2017, etc.). The relative simplicity and availability of the method make it a good tool for solving the mentioned problem. Besides, it is often used in the radiocarbon dating process to test for the aging reservoir effect, because the consumption of aquatic products by an individual can significantly change the result of radiocarbon dating (Shishlina et al. 2012; Svyatko et al. 2017, etc.). Strictly speaking, only a small part of isotope studies in the Pre-Urals region have focused on diet, most of the results have been obtained from radiocarbon dating. For this reason, the information in the publications is incomplete in the aspect of interest to us.

The work aims to analyze the stable nitrogen and carbon isotope data for the reconstruction of the diet of the Bronze Age population in the Southern Pre-Urals. In total, we have at our disposal 35 samples originating from four burial grounds and one settlement of the steppe and forest-steppe zones (Fig. 1): Shatmantamak I, Kazburunovsky I, Krasikovsky I, Bulanovo (U Gory Berezovoi), and Muradymovo settlement. Kazburunovsky I burial ground and Muradymovo settlement form a single cultural-chronological complex.

The materials cover the period from the end of the 4th to the beginning of the 1stmillennium cal BC (29 dates) and belong to the Yamnaya, Abashevo, Sintashta, Srubnaya, Alakul cultures, and a single example comes from the burial of the transition



Fig. 1 The map of archaeological complexes (1—Krasikovsky I; 2—Bulanovo (U Gory Beresovoi); 3—Shatmantamak 1; 4—Kazburunovsky 1 and Muradymovo)

to the Early Iron Age period (Epimakhov and Tairov 2020). The Yamnaya culture is represented exclusively by burial mounds; later cultures (Sintashna, Abashevo, Srubnaya, Alakul') are well documented by stationary settlements and burial grounds, sometimes forming unified complexes. The transition to the Early Iron Age is documented so far by a few burials.

The territory is poorly studied regarding stable isotopes, in contrast to the Trans-Urals and the adjacent part of Kazakhstan (Ventresca Miller et al. 2014; Hanks et al. 2018, etc.). Moreover, we have analytical data only for human remains, although comparative materials on animals for a full analysis are needed. In our sample, as in most similar case studies, collagen from human bones (n = 30) was used for analysis, part of it was obtained from human teeth (n = 5). Keeping in mind the significant limitation of the informational capabilities of the source, we will focus on the internal characteristics of the series, their comparison with each other, and the explanation of differences.

2 Methods and Materials

The sites have been investigated by excavations since the 1990s, and materials have been introduced into scientific circulation with varying degrees of completeness (Khalyapin 2000; Shcherbakov et al. 2017; Morgunova et al. 2019; Epimakhov et al. 2020). Analytical data on some of them were published earlier (Rasmussen et al. 2015; Krzewińska et al. 2018; Morgunova and Kulkova 2019; Shcherbakov and Shuteleva 2020). The authors of the excavations carried out cultural and chronological attribution. The advantage of the sample is its serial nature: four loci, four chronological groups (the Early Bronze Age, the Abashevo-Sintashta, the Srubnaya-Alakul period, and the transition to the Early Iron Age). One burial could not be culturally attributed.

Sex and age definitions are available for 26 individuals. The share of children's burials is 27%. There are more male burials than female ones for the Yamnaya culture; the parity of sexes is recorded for other cultures. It is possible to compare the isotopic composition of teeth and long bones for one buried person (male, over 50 years old). The discrepancy turned out to be insignificant.

The data were obtained in five laboratories (the Center for Collective Use "Laboratory of Radiocarbon Dating and Electron Microscopy" in the Institute of Geography of the Russian Academy of Sciences; the Center for Applied Isotope Research at the University of Georgia (USA); Beta Analytic (Miami USA), The Ångström Laboratory Department of Physics and Astronomy, Uppsala University (Uppsala, Sweden); Oxford Radiocarbon Accelerator Unit (Great Britain); Laboratory of isotope studies of the Center for Collective Use "Geoecology" of the Russian State Pedagogical University named after A. I. Herzen (St. Petersburg)).

The analysis procedure is usually not described in the publications we used; moreover, some examples lack C/N_{at} values, i.e. it is impossible to assess the quality

of collagen. For this reason, further conclusions are preliminary, require verification, and indicate the direction of further research. The results of isotope studies are presented in Table 1, and Table 2 presents the data summarized within the cultural-chronological groups. The way of presenting the results is the graph of the ratio of

Site	Complex (individual)	Bone	Lab code	δ ¹³ C, ‰	δ ¹⁵ N, ‰	C/N _{at}	C ¹⁴	Culture
1	1/1 (adult)	Bone	SPb-1853	-20.11	11,33	3.04	4779 ± 50	Ya
1	2/1 (adult, male)	Bone	SPb-2093	-18.41	12.38	3.22	4542 ± 70	Ya
1	2/2 (adult, female)	Bone	SPb	-18.16	12.31	2.52*		Ya
1	3/3 (infant)	Bone	SPb-1856	-18.41	14.28	3.04	4620 ± 55	Ya
1	3/4 (adult)	Bone	SPb-1857	-19.95	12.15	3.21	4565 ± 55	Ya
1	3/2 (adult)	Bone	SPb	-18.51	13.93	2.79^{*}		?
1	4/1 (adult, male)	Bone	SPb-2095	-18.78	14.82	3.03	4610 ± 70	Ya
1	3/1 (adult)	Bone	SPb-2224	-18.57	11.97	3.17	3632 ± 55	Aba
2	4 (adult, male)	Tooth	OxA-30990	-20.9	14.1	3.3	3740 ± 33	Sin
2	- * -	Tooth	OxA-30991	-21.3	14	3.3	3775 ± 34	Sin
2	6/1 (adult, female)	Tooth	OxA-30993	18.7	12	3,3	3532 ± 34	Sin
2	8 (?)	Tooth	OxA-30992	-21	14.2	3.3	3822 ± 33	Sin
3	1/2 (infant)	Bone	IGAN _{AMS} -7054	-17.69	10.45	3.21	2615 ± 20	Tr
3	2/1 (adult, male)	Bone	IGAN _{AMS} -7050	-19.4	8.7	3.22	3575 ± 25	Al
3	3/2 (adult, female)	Bone	IGAN _{AMS} -7051	-19.16	8.91	3.23	3520 ± 20	Sru-Al
3	3/3 (adult, male)	Bone	IGAN _{AMS} -7051	-19.25	8.87	3.21	3460 ± 20	Al
3	3/4 (infant)	Bone	IGAN _{AMS} -7034	-19.37	9.21	3.21	3400 ± 20	Sru
4	4/1 (adult, male)	Bone	Beta-451579	-19.3	10.7		3440 ± 30	Sru-Al
4	- * -	Bone	Beta-439417	-19.1	11			Sru-Al
4	- * -	Tooth	Beta-347344	-19.7	11		3420 ± 30	Sru-Al
4	4/2 (infant)	Bone	Beta-451578	-19.3	10.8		3360 ± 30	Sru-Al
4	5/1 (?)	Bone	Beta-451577	-19.6	10.7		3410 ± 30	Sru-Al
4	23/2 (adult, female)	Bone	Ua-56444	-19.3	12.6		3415 ± 31	Sru-Al

 Table 1
 Data on stable isotope results for human remains sampled from the bronze age sites of the pre-urals region

(continued)

Site	Complex (individual)	Bone	Lab code	δ ¹³ C, ‰	δ ¹⁵ N, ‰	C/N _{at}	C ¹⁴	Culture
4	- * -	Bone	Beta-439414	-19.4	11.2			Sru-Al
4	23/3 (male)	Bone	Ua-56445	-19.2	12.2		3456 ± 30	Sru-Al
4	- * -	Bone	Beta-439416	-19	10.7			Sru-Al
4	23/4 left (adult, female)	Bone	Ua-56446	-19.4	12.1		3407 ± 30	Sru-Al
4	23/4 right (adult, male)	Bone	Ua-56447	-19.3	12.6		3422 ± 30	Sru-Al
4	23/5 (male)	Bone	Ua-56448	-19.4	11.9		3479 ± 30	Sru-Al
4	- * -	Bone	Beta-439415	-19.7	10.6			Sru-Al
4	23/6 (female)	Bone	Ua-55449	-19.7	12.5		3401 ± 29	Sru-Al
5	2 (infant)	Bone	Beta-497470	-19.8	11		3360 ± 30	Sru-Al
5	1 (infant)	Bone	Beta-497471	-20	10.7		3320 ± 30	Sru-Al
5	3 (adult)	Bone	Beta-451574	-19.2	11.3		3450 ± 30	Sru-Al
5	4 (adult)	Bone	Beta-451573	-19.1	10.4		3480 ± 30	Sru-Al

Table 1 (continued)

(Results marked with * are excluded from consideration because they signal unreliable or corrupted collagen)

List of sites 1—Krasikovsky I; 2—Bulanovo (U Gory Beresovoi); 3—Shatmantamak 1; 4—Kazburunovsky 1; 5—Muradymovo

List of archaeological cultures Ya—Yamnaya; Sin—Sintashta; Aba—Abashevo; Sru—Srubnaya (Timber-Grave); Al—Alakul; Tr—Transition to Early Iron Age

Period/culture	Site	Number of	Range of variation			
		samples	δ ¹³ C (‰)	δ ¹⁵ N (‰)	C/N _{at}	
Yamnaya	Krasikovsky I	6	-20.11 to -18.41	11.33–14.82	3.03-3.22	
Abashevo	Krasikovsky I	1	-18.57	11.97	3.17	
Sintashta	Bulanovo (U Gory Beresovoi)	4	-21.3 to - 18.7	14–12	3.3	
Srubnaya–Alakul	Kazburunovsky 1	14	-19.7 to - 19.0	10.6–12.6	-	
	Muradymovo	4	-20.0 to - 18.1	10.4–11.3	-	
	Shatmantamak 1	4	-19.4 to - 19.16	8.7–9.21	3.21-3.23	
Transition to early iron age	Shatmantamak 1	1	-17.69	10.45	3.21	

 Table 2
 Generalized values of stable isotopes data for the bronze age in the pre-urals



Fig. 2 The ratio of stable nitrogen and carbon isotopes from human remains in the Southern Urals Bronze Age. 1—Yamnaya culture (Krasikovsky I burial ground); 2—Abashevo-Sintashta period (burial grounds Krasikovsky I and Bulanovo (U Gory Beresovoi)); 3—Srubnaya-Alakul period (Kazburunovsky I burial ground); 4—Srubnaya-Alakul period (Shatmantamak I burial ground); 5—transition to the early iron age burial site (Shatmantamak I burial ground); 6—Srubnaya-Alakul period (Muradymovo settlement); 7—infants

 δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C for each site and period (see Fig. 2). Two C/N_{at} values were outside the confidence range and were not used in further analysis.

3 Results and Discussion

The Yamnaya site demonstrates a relatively high degree of variability within the burial ground (Fig. 1) in comparison to other series. The range of values was from -20.11 to -18.41 for δ^{13} C and 11.33-14.82 for δ^{15} N. If there is no measurement error behind this, then the explanation may be a noticeable difference in the characteristics

of the diet of individuals. In this case, we are talking about the long-term accumulation of stable isotopes as we have diagnosed the nutritional characteristics of the recent years (up to 10). We have to emphasize that the only child burial in our series does not practically differ from adult individuals in the isotope ratio and all people look within one food chain. The causes for some heterogeneity may be related to the sphere of social relations, but more likely in the peculiarities of economic activity and the ratio of food sources. In this regard, the belonging of the deceased individuals to the same collective is in doubt, unless, of course, we record chronological changes for the necropolis, which was used for a long time (4779 \pm 50BP (SPb-1853)–4542 \pm 70BP (SPb-2092)). We emphasize that fluctuations in values are generally in the "corridor" of consumers of livestock products. The data of a single Abashevo analysis can be interpreted in the same way.

The Sintashta diet is reconstructed in a fundamentally different way (the Bulanovo cemetery). Three out of four results are very close to each other and reliably illustrate deviations towards the underestimated carbon isotope values and overestimated values for the nitrogen isotope (Fig. 2) –s from -21.30 to -20.90 for δ^{13} C and 14.00– 14.20 for δ^{15} N. This indicator usually signals a significant proportion of aquatic foods in a mixed diet (Rasmussen et al. 2015). In the light of the lack of additional data, we rely on the conclusion of analysts from the Oxford laboratory, as well as the differences between this series from the rest of the Urals materials of the Bronze Age. This conclusion contrasts sharply with the Trans-Urals single-cultural data as no reliable traces of fish consumption have been diagnosed here, although fish bones are found on the settlements (Stobbe et al. 2013). In this case, we are dealing with a reservoir effect and to determine its magnitude, additional studies of animal bones from the same context are needed. Three radiocarbon dates of these burials are significantly older than the date without traces of reservoir effect from the same burial ground (Bulanovo); they are also older than the rest of the Sintashta series. We have to emphasize the fact that all the results were obtained from the analysis of the teeth. Therefore, their direct comparison with the rest of the findings is impossible.

The series of the Srubnaya-Alakul sites are divided into two parts (Fig. 2, *3*, *4*) since different results were obtained for each locus with compact samples of results (also within the framework of a comprehensive livestock diet). Despite the territorial proximity, their levels of nitrogen isotopes are significantly different: 10.4–12.6 (Kazburunovsky/Muradymovo) and 8.7–9.21 (Shatmantamak). At the same time, for the Shatmantamak burial ground, it is impossible to assume the cultural and chronological unity of materials, as the radiocarbon dates are stretched over the two centuries ($3575 \pm 25BP$ (IGAN_{AMS}-7050)–3400 $\pm 20BP$ (IGAN_{AMS}-7053)); the burials demonstrate differences in rituals and the appearance of material culture. Paradoxically, the available data indicate no change in diet for individuals of different traditions.

For the Kazburunovsky burial ground and Muradymovo settlement, the data are not entirely uniform, but the differences in nitrogen levels correlate with the laboratory in which the studies were carried out. Most likely, these differences reflect measurement errors. Radiocarbon dating indicates that the material was deposited within a short period. This series also does not show significant differences between the isotopic composition of adult and children's bones. This may be evidence of early weaning of children from breastfeeding (Ventresca Miller et al. 2017). Another point is important for the reconstruction of the diet. Peleogenetic analyzes of individuals from the Kazburunovsky burial ground showed that six out of ten individuals were intolerant to lactose (Shcherbakov and Shuteleva 2020). Thus, the thesis about the dairy diet requires adjustment and additional research.

A single measurement of the transition time from the Bronze Age to the Iron Age was obtained for an individual aged 5 years \pm 16 months, the isotope data for which differ in increased values of δ^{13} C from all analyzed samples. It is premature to comment on this single result pending new data. New isotope data for adults and animals are critically needed.

4 Conclusions

The absence of isotope values for animals and the small sample size severely limit the possibilities for meaningful interpretation. Rather, the author focused on summarizing all the published data and proposing some explanatory hypotheses. Throughout the Bronze Age, livestock products remained the basis of nutrition. Fish diet markers were found only once and, possibly, reflect the local characteristics of the specific group. Adult individuals with a "fish" diet were found in the Bulanovo burial ground. The burials are attributed to the Sintashta culture with some reservations, perhaps this was a group of migrants since some features of rituals and funeral goods have the Seima-Turbino features. It is extremely important that the data on the isotopes of these individuals were obtained from the analysis of the teeth. It is not excluded that migrants followed a "fish" diet only at an early age in the place of origin. To test the diet at a later date, the study of long bones is required.

The Early Bronze Age is characterized by the variability in isotope indices, which may signal the accumulated differences in the constant nutrition system by individuals. We can propose that those, buried within the same necropolis, lived in various conditions (environmental and/or social). For the Late Bronze Age, on the contrary, we see the homogeneity of the series for each site, even in the case of their long-term functioning. This indirectly confirms the low degree of local mobility in the Late Bronze Age. Thus, according to the characteristics of nutrition, we propose different models of the subsistence system and the degree of group consolidation for the Bronze Age. Cattle-breeding specialization and the absence of reliable traces of stationary living are considered a confirmation of the mobile lifestyle for the Yamnaya culture of the Volga-Ural region. This does not imply the concentration of people and the unification of the food system.

Stationary dwellings and finds are set to confirm the relative settledness for the Late Bronze Age only. This lifestyle could be one of the reasons for less variability in the diet. In addition, the features of social heterogeneity for the Late Bronze Age are difficult to capture. This factor also did not significantly affect the variety of diets.

Diet and Mobility in the Pre-urals Bronze Age ...

The further development of the research requires a serious increase in the analyses of human bone samples and the investigation of other isotope sources as a basis for comparisons. The second direction of verification of the conclusions about the mobility of individuals and groups is the study of radiogenic strontium isotopes and it is currently taking the first steps for the Urals region (Kiseleva et al. 2019 and others).

Acknowledgements The authors are grateful to the anonymous reviewers for very useful comments, most of which were eliminated during the preparation of the manuscript. The research was conducted with the financial support of the Government of the Russian Federation, project No. FENU-2020-0021.

References

- Epimakhov, A.V., Tairov, A.D.: Mezhdu bronzovym vekom i zheleznym (mogil'nik Shatmantamak I v Bashkortostane) (Between Bronze and Iron ages (burial ground Shatmantamak I in Bashkortostan). Povolzhskaya Arkheologiya **33**(3), 171–180 (2020). (in Russian)
- Epimakhov, A.V., Tairov, A.D., Epimakhova, M.G.: Kulturnaya atributsiya vs radiouglerodnaya khronologiya (mogil'nik bronzovogo veka Shatmantamak I) (Cultural attribution vs radiocarbon chronology (on the example of materials from the Bronze Age burial ground of Shatmantamak I)). Vestnik Archeologii, Antropologii i Etnografii, **51**(4), 31–39 (2020). (in Russian)
- Hanks, B.K., Ventresca Miller, A., Judd, M. et al.: Bronze Age Diet and Economy: New Stable Isotope Data from the Central Eurasian Steppes (2100–1700 BC). Journal of Archaeological Science **97**, 14–25 (2018)
- Khalyapin, M.V.: Novyye abashevskiye materialy iz Orenburzh'ya (New Abashevo materials from the Orenburg region). In: Problemy izucheniya eneolita i bronzovogo veka Yuzhnogo Urala (Problems of studying the Eneolithic and Bronze Age of the Southern Urals), pp. 102–119. Institute for Eurasian Studies. Orsk (2000). (in Russian)
- Krzewińska M., Kılınc G.M., Juras A. et al.: Ancient genomes suggest the eastern Pontic Caspian steppe as the source of western Iron Age nomads. Science Advances 4(10), eaat4457 (2018)
- Kuzmin, Ya.V.: Geoarkheologiya: yestestvennonauchnyye metody v arkheologicheskikh issledovaniyakh (Geoarcheology: Natural Science Methods in Archaeological Research). 396 p. Izdatel'skiy Dom Tomskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta, Tomsk (2017). (in Russian)
- Morgunova, N.L., Kulkova, M.A.: Rezul'taty radiouglerodnogo datirovaniya kurgannogo mogil'nika Krasikovskiy I (Results of radiocarbon dating of the Krasikovsky I burial mound). In: Arkheologicheskiye pamyatniki Orenburzhya (Archaeological Sites of the Orenburg Region), 14, OGPU, Orenburg, pp. 39–45 (2019). (in Russian)
- Morgunova, N.L., Evgeniev, A.A., Kryukova, E.A. et al.: Kurgannyy mogilnik Krasikovskiy I bronzovogo veka v Orenburgskoy oblasti (Krasikovsky burial mound of the 1st Bronze Age in the Orenburg region). In: Arkheologicheskiye pamyatniki Orenburzhya (Archaeological Sites of the Orenburg Region), 14, OGPU, Orenburg, pp. 4–39 (2019). (in Russian)
- Rasmussen, S., Allentoft, M.E., Nielsen, R. et al.: Early Divergent Strains of *Yersinia pestis* in Eurasia 5,000 Years Ago. Cell **163**(3), Supplementary (2015)
- Shcherbakov, N.B., Shuteleva, I.A.: Rekonstruktsiya paleodiyety naseleniya epokhi pozdnego bronzovogo veka Kazburunovskogo arkheologicheskogo mikrorayona: osobennosti i vozmozhnost' ekstrapolyatsii (Reconstruction of the paleo-diet of the population of the Late Bronze Age for the Kazburunovsky archaeological microdistrict: features and the possibility of extrapolation). In: Trudy VI (XXII) Vserossiyskogo arkheologicheskogo s'yezda v Samare (Proceedings of the

VI (XXII) All-Russian Archaeological Congress in Samara in 3 volumes), pp. 361–363. SGSPU, Samara (2020) (in Russian)

- Shcherbakov, N.B., Shuteleva, I.A., Golyeva, A.A. et al.: Kazburunovskiy arkheologicheskiy mikrorayon pozdnego bronzovogo veka Yuzhnogo Priural'ya: rezul'taty yestestvennonauchnykh issledovaniy (Kazburunovsky archaeological microdistrict of the Late Bronze Age century of the Southern Urals: results of natural science research). 164 p. Inesh, Ufa (2017). (in Russian)
- Shishlina, N., Zazovskaya, E., van der Plicht J. et al.: Isotopes, plants, and reservoir effects: case study from the Caspian steppe Bronze Age. Radiocarbon **54**(3–4), 749–760 (2012)
- Stobbe, A., Rühl, L., Nekrasov A., Kosintsev, P.: Fish an important dietary component in the settlement of Kamennyi Ambar (2013). In: Krause R., Koryakova L.N. (eds.). Multidisciplinary Investigations of the Bronze Age Settlements in the Southern Trans-Urals (Russia), pp, 233–237. Verlag Dr. Rudolf Habelt GmbH, Bonn (2013)
- Svyatko, S.V., Reimer, P.J., Schulting R.: Modern freshwater reservoir offsets in the Eurasian steppe: implications for archaeology. Radiocarbon **59**(5), 1597–1607 (2017)
- Ventresca Miller A., Hanks B.K., Judd M. et al.: Weaning practices among pastoralists: New evidence of infant feeding patterns from Bronze Age Eurasia. American Journal of Physical Anthropology **162**(3), 409–422 (2017)
- Ventresca Miller, A., Usmanova, E., Logvin, V. et al.: Subsistence and social change in central Eurasia: stable isotope analysis of populations spanning the Bronze Age transition. Journal of Archaeological Science **42**, 525–538 (2014)

Sampling Methodology for Assessing a Multi-proxy Bioavailable Strontium Isotope Baseline for the Orenburg Region (Russia): Fieldwork Results



Daria V. Kiseleva, Evgeny S. Shagalov, Anastasia D. Ryanskaya, and Elizaveta A. Pankrushina

Abstract To assess the mobility of ancient populations and identify local/non-local individuals, it is necessary to compare their tooth and bone ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr isotopic ratios with the local baseline (background) of bioavailable strontium, characteristic of each specific location or potential provenance region of an individual or artifact. This paper describes the results of a field expedition to the Orenburg region (Russia) to collect samples characterizing bioavailable strontium. This article presents the sampling strategy used to select samples that characterize the bioavailable strontium (proxies)—vegetation, soil, rocks, surface, and groundwater, as well as bone and dental remains of modern fauna, and mollusk shells. Further construction of maps of ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr distribution (Sr isoscapes) will greatly expand the possibilities of historical interpretations and allow the traditional archaeological cultural and geographical models to be tested.

Keywords Sr isotopes \cdot Provenance \cdot Mobility \cdot Bioavailable strontium \cdot Proxy \cdot Sr isoscapes \cdot Orenburg region

1 Introduction

⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr isotopic ratio, characteristic of a particular region of residence, is considered to remain unchanged when it enters the bone (dental) tissues of humans and animals from the underlying rocks through the soil and food chain, while Sr replaces Ca in the hydroxylapatite crystal lattice (Ericson 1985). Thus, to assess the mobility of ancient populations and identify non-local individuals, it is necessary to compare their dental (bone) ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr isotopic ratios with the local baseline (background) of bioavailable strontium, characteristic of each specific location or potential provenance region of

D. V. Kiseleva (⊠) · E. S. Shagalov · A. D. Ryanskaya · E. A. Pankrushina Institute of Geology and Geochemistry, Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Ekaterinburg, Russia e-mail: kiseleva@igg.uran.ru

E. S. Shagalov Ural State Mining University, Ekaterinburg, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_12

an individual or artifact. Consequently, in addition to obtaining Sr isotopic ratios in archaeological skeletal tissues, it is extremely important to have a database on the background strontium isotopes present within a studied location or potential provenance region of an individual or artifact.

Often, the use of a formal approach, which utilizes the isotopic data on bedrocks as a geochemical background, standardized at the regional level and not taking into account intra-regional variability in terms of homogeneity and heterogeneity, may be unjustified, since, for some regions (for example, the Urals with its complex block structure), the geological structure, and, consequently, geochemical features can dramatically change at a distance of several tens of kilometers. At the same time, to obtain correct conclusions about provenance (place of birth of a person or animal, the region of the raw material base, the area of production workshops, etc.), the comparison should be made with samples containing bioavailable strontium, that is, passed through the cycle of not only hydrochemical transformations and weathering, but also bio-purification in living organisms (plants or animals). For these purposes, several materials are used-tooth enamel of fossil and modern animals, river water, soil leachates, vegetation, wood, mollusk shells (Price et al. 2002; Copeland et al. 2008; Snoeck et al. 2020; Maurer et al. 2012; Scharlotta and Weber 2014; Hajj et al. 2017). All of these materials have their advantages and disadvantages. The above environmental materials (proxies) for assessing the local bioavailable strontium isotope baseline can be used both individually and in combination with each other (multi-proxy) (Ladegaard-Pedersen et al. 2020; Grimstead et al. 2013).

It should be noted that the sampling strategy and the number of samples taken may differ depending on the regional geology and archaeological material, the origin of which is planned to be identified (skeletal tissues, wood, textiles, etc.) (Grimstead et al. 2013). For a relatively homogeneous geological system, it is possible to carry out sampling in fewer places (1 sample per 500 km² is enough), but a significantly larger number of points should be sampled for regions with a more heterogeneous geological system (Grimstead et al. 2013).

The result of the study of such proxies is the construction of ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr maps, or isoscapes (iso—isotope, scape—landscape), representing lines/areas with known isotopic ratios of bioavailable strontium in different territories, so the migration of humans and animals in antiquity can be tracked by referring to these isoscapes (Hobson et al. 2010). Such Sr isoscapes have been constructed for Central America (Hodell et al. 2004), Great Britain (Evans et al. 2010), Ireland (Snoeck et al. 2020), Cyprus (Ladegaard-Pedersen et al. 2020), Denmark (Frei and Frei 2010,2013), France (Willmes et al. 2014), and some other countries, based on multi-proxy combinations of various eco- and biological samples (plants, water, soil leachates, etc.).

In contrast to other countries we still only have a limited understanding of the Sr isoscapes of Russia, partly due to the sheer size of the country. Regions that have seen such work conducted include a part of the Black Sea coast, the lowland-foothill zone of the North-Western Caucasus (Shishlina and Larionova 2013), the forest zone of Eastern Europe and the Southern Trans-Urals (Shishlina et al. 2018), some regions of the Southern Urals (Kiseleva et al. 2018), and the Baikal region (Scharlotta and

Weber 2014). This current study presents the initial stages of work conducted in the collection of samples characterizing bioavailable strontium on the territory of the Orenburg region (Russia) to construct 87 Sr/ 86 Sr isoscapes.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Geological Setting

The Orenburg region covers an area of 124,000 km², encompassing the southeastern edge of the East European Plain, the southern tip of the Urals, and the southern Trans-Urals. The length of the region from west to east is 760 km and is 445 km from north to south. Due to its location, the territory of the Orenburg region has a complex geological structure (Chibilev et al. 2000). Since the isotopic composition of the bio-geosphere is due to the influence of the geology of the underlying rocks, the geological map of the Orenburg region was taken as the basis for the primary selection of points for mapping bioavailable strontium.

The oldest rocks of the Orenburg region that emerge on the surface are gneisses (a widely distributed type of metamorphic rock) with an age of 1.5-1.7 Ga. In the Precambrian, and, especially, in the Paleozoic, the development of the western and eastern parts of the region followed different paths. The western part was a passive margin (the transition between oceanic and continental lithosphere) of the ancient Russian platform and was practically amagmatic, i.e. not related to or involved in the magmatic activity. Here, sedimentary rocks from the Early Permian to Neogene appear on the surface. During the Paleozoic, the eastern part went through the full geodynamic Wilson cycle (a model that describes the opening and closing of ocean basins and the subduction and divergence of tectonic plates during the assembly and disassembly of supercontinents). It was characterized by the rift opening, ocean formation, subduction, and collision processes with widespread volcano-plutonic complexes and corresponding to the geodynamics of sedimentary rocks, currently exposed by the erosional truncation. Over the past two hundred million years, the entire territory of the region had turned into a young platform. Magmatism did not manifest, and tectonic movements were of a slow platform nature, as a result of which the easternmost part of the region was covered by a sedimentary cover. Thus, the majority of rocks of various geological natures and ages known to science occur in the Orenburg region (Chibilev et al. 2000).

2.2 Sampling Strategies

Geochemical mapping was carried out with the selection of samples characterizing bioavailable strontium (vegetation, soil, rocks, surface, and groundwater, as well as

bone and dental remains of modern fauna, shells of bivalves and gastropods) across the territory of the Orenburg region over one month (mid-July–mid-August) field season. Besides its geological variability, the Orenburg region is home to unique and significant archaeological monuments. Analysis of the resulting patterning of bioavailable strontium and comparison with known archaeological artifacts will shed light on the history of peoples inhabiting the Orenburg region from the Mesolithic era to the Middle Ages.

At least several points were selected on each large geological unit to assess the variation in strontium isotope ratios. The need for several points per geological unit was due to local differences in the isotopic ratios of rocks belonging to the same geological structure and samples of biological origin in different areas, resulting from various factors (surface deposits, atmospheric precipitation—dust, and rainwater). About 260 points were tested (Fig. 1). The total length of the route was about 10,000 km.

Sampling was carried out as far as possible from cultivated fields and farmland because fertilizers represent a potential source of strontium with a modified isotopic composition (Thomsen and Andreasen 2019; Maurer et al. 2012). To assess the interspecific variations in strontium isotope ratios, herbaceous plants from the families Poáceae (bluegrass) and Asteraceae (wormwood) were collected. In some areas, river floodplains, and relict forests, the sampling included wood, bark, and leaves (needles) of trees. The surface soil layer, depending on the thickness, was sampled from a depth of up to 10 cm, where the bulk of plant roots was located.



Fig. 1 Geological map and sampling locations across the Orenburg region and adjacent areas. Different colors correspond to different rock types; for legend see (Geologicheskaya ... 2016)

Surface water was taken from permanent and temporary streams, from the large rivers of the Orenburg region—the Ural, Samara, Sakmara, and Ilek and their tributaries, and some lakes of natural and artificial origin. Several samples of groundwater were taken from springs and artesian wells. During the work, atmospheric precipitation (raindrops) was also collected in various parts of the region during intense rains. All water samples were acidified with 1 ml of purified concentrated nitric acid and stored in polypropylene test tubes with screw caps.

Mollusk shells (subsequently identified as *Unio pictorum*, *Unio tumidus*, *Anodonta sp*, *Lymnaea fragilis*, *Viviparus viviparus*, and *Planorbarius corneus*) were taken directly from their habitat.

Bone and dental tissues of the fauna (cattle *Bos taurus* and small cattle *Ovis aries*, *Ovis et Capra*, horse *Equus caballus*, dog *Canis familiaris*, marmot *Marmota bobak*, and bustard *Otis tarda*) were random finds and were taken from the surface (without excavations).

The stone material characterizing the underlying rocks was sampled in places of natural and artificial outcrops following its exposed stratigraphy without separating the parts not affected by weathering. In cases where the underlying rocks were severely destroyed, the zones of supergene enrichment were sampled as a source of strontium in the soil-vegetation layer.

For the most significant archaeological sites of the Orenburg region, osteological material (human bones and teeth) was obtained from several laboratories for comparative studies.

3 Results and Discussion

Sample types and their numbers are given in Table 1.

We were aimed at performing sample collection rather according to bedrock lithologies than using a regular grid since some small-scale geological changes could have been missed. And it also gave us the possibility of the variation of several collected samples at different lithological units so we could make lesser sampling points across relatively uniform lithologies omitting hard-to-reach locations, and perform more detailed sampling in the areas with contrasting bedrocks.

When sampling for the baseline data collection, we utilized the bottom-up approach (from bedrock to animal) following (Grimstead et al. 2013). Since the final objects of archaeological interest were bone and dental tissues of humans and animals, as well as plant and woolen textiles from the burials in the Orenburg region, the chain of samples was as follows: bedrock and/or supergene rock (sands and clays)—soil—vegetation (grasses with shallow roots)—water (including rainwater)—mollusks—modern fauna (teeth and bones).

Note that it was not possible to select the entire set of proxies at every point, for example, it was difficult to find mollusks in the study region outside the aquatic environment, and in some steppe regions there were very few rivers/streams/springs. Since there were many nature reserves in the Orenburg region, it was also problematic

Sample type	Number of samples	Note
Surface water	124	The Ural, Samara, Sakmara, and Ilek rivers and their tributaries, lakes
Groundwater	10	Springs and artesian wells
Rainwater	5	
Vegetation	213	Families Poáceae (bluegrass) and Asteraceae (wormwood) Wood, bark, and leaves (needles) of trees
Soil	214	
Mollusk shells	29	
Faunal bone and tooth remains (modern)	19	Cattle and small cattle, horse, dog, marmot, bustard
Total	763	

Table 1 Sample description

to take a large number of samples of modern animals. A bone that was later diagnosed as belonging to a bustard, a bird from the endangered species list, which, nevertheless, did not fly long distances and was an indigenous inhabitant of the steppes, could be considered a particularly successful find. Also, we were not sure that the found dead domestic animals (cattle and small cattle, horses, and dogs) had the strontium isotope ratio corresponding to the local bioavailable Sr signal due to the lack of information about their diets. Only wild marmot can be more or less considered local.

For many rivers that are significant both in archaeological and hydrological terms, several samples were taken at different points of their course, taking into account the rocks they drained. In general, rivers are mixtures in various proportions of different sources with strontium isotopic ratios characterizing the composition of the drained rocks (which can change dramatically along the course of the river), atmospheric precipitation (rain or snow at different times of the year, Aeolian particles from nearby or distant regions), and groundwater.

Some parts of the Orenburg region are characterized by a developed oil and gas production and processing, as well as mining industry; in others, agriculture is widely developed. Therefore, when analyzing the data obtained, it will be necessary to take into account the possible impact of the use of fertilizers and the scale of industrial pollution of the environment.

⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios were analyzed for some of the samples by multi-collector inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (MC-ICP-MS) using a Neptune Plus (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and the standard-sample bracketing (SSB) technique with chromatographic separation of strontium. Preliminary data obtained for several archaeological sites of the Orenburg region (both local baseline of bioavailable strontium and archaeological skeletal tissues and wool textile) were used to discuss the provenance of the sheep fleece used for the manufacture of wool textile and accessories of the four Srubnaya culture burials (see (Shishlina et al. 2021)). The rest of the samples will be analyzed and serve as the base for integrated Sr isoscape construction for the Orenburg region.

4 Conclusions

The determination of the local baseline of bioavailable strontium is a complex task that requires an integrated approach to the collection and analysis of several heterogeneous samples characterizing the ecosystem of the archaeological site under study. It is extremely important to identify the proxies most suitable for constructing local baselines of bioavailable strontium, as well as to unify and standardize the protocol for sampling and analysis of such samples.

The data obtained in the course of the research will greatly expand the possibilities of historical interpretations and allow the traditional archaeological cultural and geographical models to be tested. In addition to archaeological and archaeometric applications, the data obtained are planned to be used to study the hydrological features of the basins of large rivers in the Orenburg region—the Ural, Samara, Sakmara, and Ilek. Besides, such a database on bioavailable strontium created based on collected samples can be used for authentication and counterfeiting of food products, estimating the scale of anthropogenic pollution of water resources, as well as for studying the origin and mobility of groups and individuals in environmental and forensic science.

Acknowledgements The work was carried out at the "Geoanalitik" shared research facilities of the IGG UB RAS and supported by RFBR grant no. 20-09-00194 and IGG UB RAS State Assignment, nos. AAAA-A18-118052590029-6 and AAAA-A18-118053090045-8. The re-equipment and comprehensive development of the "Geoanalitik" shared research facilities of the IGG UB RAS is financially supported by the grant of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation (Agreement No. 075-15-2021-680).

References

- Chibilev, A.A., Musikhin, G.D., Petrishchev, V.P., Pavleichik, V.M., Sivokhip, Zh.T., Kirsanov, M.V., Plugin, D.V.: Geologicheskie pamyatniki prirody Orenburgskoy oblasti (Geological natural monuments of the Orenburg region), 400 p. Orenburg book publishing house, Orenburg (2000) (In Russian)
- Copeland, S.R., Sponheimer, M., le Roux, P.J., Grimes, V., Lee-Thorp, J.A., de Ruiter, D.J., Richards, M.P.: Strontium isotope ratios (⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr) of tooth enamel: a comparison of solution and laser ablation multicollector inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry methods. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry 22, 3187–3194 (2008)
- Ericson, J.E.: Strontium isotope characterization in the study of prehistoric human ecology. Journal of Human Evolution 14, 503–514 (1985)
- Evans, J.A., Montgomery, J., Wildman, G., Boulton, N.: Spatial variations in biosphere ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr in Britain. Journal of the Geological Society 167, 1–4 (2010)

- Frei, K.M. and Frei, R.: The geographic distribution of strontium isotopes in Danish surface waters A base for provenance studies in archaeology, hydrology, and agriculture. Applied Geochemistry 26, 326–340 (2010)
- Frei, R. and Frei, K.M.: The geographic distribution of Sr isotopes from surface waters and soil extracts over the island of Bornholm (Denmark) – a base for provenance studies in archaeology and agriculture. Applied Geochemistry 38, 147–160 (2013)
- Geologicheskaya karta Rossii i prilegayushchikh akvatoriy, m-b 1: 2 500 000 [Geological map of Russia and adjoining water areas, scale 1:2 500 000] https://vsegei.ru/ru/info/atlas/geol/geo 12500-16_min.zip (2016)
- Grimstead, D.N., Nugent, S., Whipple, J.: Why a Standardization of Strontium Isotope Baseline Environmental Data Is Needed and Recommendations for Methodology. Advances in Archaeological Practice 5(2), 184–195 (2013)
- Hajj, F., Poszwa, A., Bouchez, J., Guérold, F.: Radiogenic and "stable" strontium isotopes in provenance study: A review and first results on archaeological wood from shipwrecks. Journal of Archaeological Sciences 86, 24–49 (2017)
- Hobson, K.A., Barnett-Johnson, R., Cerling, T.: Using Isoscapes to Track Animal Migration. In: Isoscapes (Eds. West, J.B., Bowen, G.J., Dawson, T.E. and Tu, K.P.), 273–298. Springer, Netherlands (2010)
- Hodell, D.A., Rhonda, Q.L., Brenner, M., Kamenov, G.: Spatial variation of strontium isotopes (⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr) in the Maya region: a tool for tracking ancient human migration. Journal of Archaeological Science 31, 585–601 (2004)
- Kiseleva, D.V., Shagalov, E.S., Zaitseva, M.V., Streletskaya, M.V., Karpova, S.V.: Izotopnogeokhimicheskoe (Sr, Pb) issledovanie razreza pochvenno-rastitel'nogo sloya v rayone arkheologicheskikh pamyatnikov epokhi bronzy na Yuzhnom Urale (Isotope-geochemical (Sr, Pb) study of the section of the soil and plant layer in the area of archaeological sites of the Bronze Age in the Southern Urals). Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy) 10, 37–41 (2018) (In Russian)
- Ladegaard-Pedersen, P., Achilleos, M., Dörflinger, G., Frei, R., Kristiansen, K., Frei, K.M.: A strontium isotope baseline of Cyprus. Assessing the use of soil leachates, plants, groundwater and surface water as proxies for the local range of bioavailable strontium isotope composition. Science of The Total Environment 708, 134714 (2020)
- Maurer, A.-F., Galer, S.J.G., Knipper, C., Beierlein, L., Nunn, E.V., Peters, D., Tütken, T., Alt, K.W., Schöne, B.R.: Bioavailable ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr in different environmental samples – Effects of anthropogenic contamination and implications for isoscapes in past migration studies. Science of The Total Environment 433, 216–229 (2012)
- Price, T.D., Burton, J.H., Bentley, R.A.: The characterization of biologically available strontium isotope ratios for the study of prehistoric migration. Archaeometry 44, 117–135 (2002)
- Scharlotta, I., Weber, A.: Mobility of middle Holocene foragers in the Cis-Baikal region, Siberia: Individual life history approach, strontium ratios, rare earth and trace elements. Quaternary International 348, 37–65 (2014)
- Shishlina, N.I., Kiseleva, D.V., Medvedeva, P.S., Leonova, N.V., Orfinskaya, O.V., Zaitseva, M.V., Soloshenko, N.G., Azarov, E.S.: Izotopnyi sostav strontsiya v sherstyanom tekstile epokhi bronzy iz mogil'nikov Berezovyi rog (lesnaya zona vostochnoi Evropy) i Chernyaki II (Yuzhnoe Zaural'e) (The strontium isotopic composition of woolen textiles of the Bronze Age from the burial sites of Berezovy Rog (forest zone of Eastern Europe) and Chernyaki II (Southern Trans-Urals)). Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy) 5, 41–47 (2018) (In Russian)
- Shishlina, N.I., Larionova, Yu.O.: Variatsii izotopnogo sostava strontsiya v obraztsakh sovremennykh ulitok yuga Rossii: pervye rezultaty (Variations in the strontium isotopic composition of modern snail shells in the south of Russia: first results). In: Materialy po izucheniyu istorikokul'turnogo naslediya Severnogo Kavkaza. Vypusk XI. Arkheologiya, kraevedenie, muzeevedenie (Materials on the study of the historical and cultural heritage of the North Caucasus. Issue XI.
Archeology, local history, museology) (Ed. Belinskiy A.B.), 159–168. Pamyatniki istoricheskoi mysli, Moscow (2013) (In Russian)

- Shishlina, N.I., Kiseleva, D.V., Kuptsova, L.V., Okuneva, T.G., Soloshenko, N.G., Faizullin I.: Provenance of the Bronze Age wool textiles from the Western Orenburg region (Russia). In: Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. Proceedings of 7th Geoarchaeological Conference (Eds. Yuminov A., Ankusheva N., Ankushev M., Zaykova E., Artemyev D.) Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Cham. 2021. In press
- Snoeck, C., Ryan, S., Pouncett, J., Pellegrini, M., Claeys, P., Wainwright, A.N., Mattielli, N., Lee-Thorp, J.A., Schulting, R.J.: Towards a biologically available strontium isotope baseline for Ireland. Science of The Total Environment 712, 136248 (2020)
- Thomsen, E. and Andreasen, R.: Agricultural lime disturbs natural strontium isotope variations: Implications for provenance and migration studies. Science Advances 5(3), eaav8083 (2019)
- Willmes, M., McMorrow, L., Kinsley, L., Armstrong, R., Aubert, M., Eggins, S., Falguères, C., Maureille, B., Moffat, I., Grün, R.: The IRHUM (Isotopic Reconstruction of Human Migration) database – bioavailable strontium isotope ratios for geochemical fingerprinting in France. Earth System Science Data 6, 117–122 (2014)

The Provenance of the Bronze Age Wool Textiles from the Western Orenburg Region (Russia)



Natalia I. Shishlina, Daria V. Kiseleva, Lidia V. Kuptsova, Tatyana G. Okuneva, Natalia G. Soloshenko, Evgeny S. Shagalov, and Ildar A. Faizullin

Abstract The appearance of wool fabrics in the burials of the Srubnaya culture in the steppe zone of the Trans-Urals in 1925–1475 cal BC was a part of the general process of textile industrial transformation in the Bronze Age. This study aims to determine ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr variations in the fragments of archaeological wool fiber from four burials of the Srubnaya culture and compare them with the local baseline of bioavailable strontium (mollusk shells, vegetation, soil leachates, river water, and modern animal bones) of the western Orenburg region. The conducted study has indicated that the samples of bioavailable strontium for the studied sites are characterized by complex isotope-geochemical interactions, and the "riverine" sample association (river water, wetland vegetation, shells) could not be excluded from the consideration and isoscape construction. For four studied archaeological textiles of the Srubnaya culture (from the burial grounds of Gerasimovka III, Pleshanovo, Kamenka, and Bogolyubovka), we assume the possible local origin of raw materials (wool) for textile production. The place of lambing and sheep/goat grazing could have been on pastures in the south-eastern slope of the East European platform.

Keywords Strontium isotopes · Archaeological textiles · Srubnaya (Timber grave) culture · Provenance · Sheep wool · Orenburg region

N. I. Shishlina (🖂)

D. V. Kiseleva · T. G. Okuneva · N. G. Soloshenko Institute of Geology and Geochemistry, Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Ekaterinburg, Russia

L. V. Kuptsova · I. A. Faizullin Orenburg State Pedagogical University, Orenburg, Russia

E. S. Shagalov Ural State Mining University, Ekaterinburg, Russia

137

State Historical Museum, Moscow, Russia

Peter the Great Museum of Anthropology and Ethnography (the Kunstkamera), Saint-Petersburg, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_13

1 Introduction

The expansion of the wool fiber production technology across the steppe zone of the Trans-Urals is a part of the general process of textile industrial transformation in the Eurasian Bronze Age. The results of direct ¹⁴C AMS-dating of wool fibers and associated carbon-rich materials show a clear chronological sequence that correlates well with the relative chronology of Bronze Age cultures across northern Eurasia. This helps us identify the cultural communities associated with the transmission of innovative wool technologies. The pastoralist cultures of the Eastern European steppe transferred new wool fiber technology to their neighbors in the forest zone of Eastern Europe and further to the forest-steppe and steppe regions of the Volga region and the Urals. Between 1925 and 1775 cal BC there was the rapid eastward transmission of the wool (and associated technologies) across the steppe and forest-steppe of the Volga to southern Urals (Shishlina et al. 2020).

In this paper, we examine textile fragments from burials attributed to the Srubnaya (Timber-grave) culture of the Late Bronze Age from the western Orenburg region.

The local geochemical environment in different regions is characterized by specific ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios obtained from rock, groundwater, soil, plants, and animals because strontium is incorporated through the components of diet into an individual's hard tissues (teeth and bones) during the time of its formation. Thus, the variations in ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratio in archaeological and modern objects are used to determine the place of birth of humans and animals (Ericson 1985; Bentley 2006).

Recently, this method has also been applied to the studies of the strontium isotope composition of archaeological textiles (Frei et al. 2009, 2015, 2017; Frei 2014, 2019; Kiseleva et al. 2019; Shishlina et al. 2019). The study of the strontium isotope composition of contemporary sheep fleece and archaeological wool textiles of the Bronze and Early Iron Age and the Middle Ages from Scandinavia demonstrates that the ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratio in animal (sheep and Greenlandic musk ox) wool fiber corresponds to bioavailable strontium in grazing lands (Frei et al. 2009; Frei 2014). The pilot study of the strontium isotope composition of modern sheep fleece from the southern steppe region of Eastern Europe also indicates that the ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratio in local sheep fleece is correlated with local bioavailable ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr signatures of the pastures (Kiseleva et al. 2019).

We believe that wool textiles retain ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr isotopic signature, which allows the information related to its probable provenance to be obtained, and the possible resource areas of the raw materials to be outlined. Such knowledge would contribute to the discussion on the developed resource areas and assessing the economic potential of ancient cultures.

This study aims to determine ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr variations in the fragments of archaeological wool fiber from four burials of the Srubnaya culture and compare them with the local baseline of bioavailable strontium (mollusk shells, vegetation, soil leachates, river water, and modern animal bones) of the western Orenburg region. Such comparison would contribute to the discussion on the localization of grazing pastures of sheep, which fleece could have been used for the manufacture of wool textile and accessories of the Srubnaya culture.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Geological Setting

The territory of the Orenburg region has a complex geological structure (Chibilev et al. 2000). The Orenburg region in the Southern Urals is located at the border of two large structural and tectonic zones, i.e., the East European Craton and the Urals orogeny. The Craton includes the Volga-Uralian crustal segment, the Caspian Depression, and the Pre-Urals foreland basin.

The burial grounds where the fragments of the wool textiles have been found are located in the interfluves of the Tok and Samara rivers and the Salmysh and Ural rivers in the southeastern slope of the East European Craton. Clays, sands, and Quaternary gravel are abundant along the valleys of these rivers; Paleozoic argillites, aleurolits, sandstones, conglomerates, limestones, dolomitic rocks, gypsum, anhydrites, rock and potassium salts, as well as Triassic clay shales, aleurolits, sandstones, and conglomerates have been found in the Bolshoy Uran and Tok interfluve (the Bogolyubovka, Pleshanovo, and Kamenka burial grounds). Jurassic sands, sandstones, clays, marls, phosphorites, oil-shale, and lignite, as well as Neogene loam, clays, sands, and lignite, are found in the Kindelya and Ural interfluve. Quaternary deposits of the terraces above the flood-plain and the plain river terraces are made up of gravel, sand, and clay (Geologicheskaya 2016).

2.2 Archaeological Textile and Bioavailable Sr Local Baseline Samples

The fragments of wool textile are found in the female burials of the Gerasimovka III, Pleshanovo, Bogolyubovka, and Kamenka burial grounds (Orenburg region) (Fig. 1). All burials belong to the Late Bronze Age Srubnaya culture and are dated back to 1750–1650 cal BC. The textile has been preserved due to the presence of bronze decorations. One fragment of the wool cloth originates from sleeve edges (Pleshanovo, kurgan 2, grave 2); one is the fragment of a face accessory (Kamenka, kurgan 2, burial 1); the other two are the fragments of headwear (Bogolyubovka, kurgan 1, burial 31; Gerasimovka III, kurgan 1, burial 3) (Fig. 2).

The analysis of the fragments has determined the general technical characteristics of wool textiles. The yarn was spun. The thickness of the warp and the weft threads in various fragments of the textiles is ranging from 0.4 to 1 mm. There are threads with the Z-twist and the S-twist. All cloths have a tabby weave; the thread count



Fig. 1 The locations of the Gerasimovka III, Pleshanovo, Bogolyubovka, and Kamenka burial grounds (Orenburg region) of the Late Bronze Age Srubnaya culture (1750–1650 cal BC)



Fig. 2 Studied fragments of wool textiles from burials of the Srubnaya culture of the Orenburg Cis-Urals. 1—Gerasimovka III burial ground, kurgan 1, burial 3; 2—Kamenka burial ground, kurgan 2, burial 1; 3—Bogolyubovka burial ground, kurgan 1, burial 31; 4—Pleshanovo burial ground, kurgan 2, burial 2

varies; the band has a twill weave. In general, it may be noted that textile production was quite advanced, the weavers have used various technologies.

Thus, we believe that similarities in the technological characteristics of wool textile obtained from different graves could indicate the possible local production. Local craftsmen also used leather, fur, wood, metal jewelry to ornament clothes.

A pilot study of the relative provenance of four animal fibre textiles based on the strontium isotope ratios in textile was conducted to test this hypothesis.

To assess the local baseline of bioavailable strontium, many environmental samples (mollusk shells, vegetation, river water, soil, and modern animal bones) were collected near archaeological sites understudy and analyzed.

2.3 Strontium Isotope Analysis

The preparation and measurement of samples were carried out in cleanrooms (classes 1000 and 10,000) and laminar flow boxes (class 100) at the IGG UB RAS, Ekaterinburg (Kiseleva et al. 2019). Preliminary cleaning of wool textiles from external contaminants and silicate minerals was performed according to the protocol proposed by Frei et al. (2009) using 20% (v/v) HF and an ultrasonic bath. In the later works by Frei et al. (2015) and Frei (2014, 2019) an improved pre-cleaning/decontamination protocol was introduced including the preliminary stage of carbonate particle dissolution by 1 M HCl and a final step of oxidation by 0.2 M (NH4)2S2O8 ammonium peroxodisulfate (in case of dved textile). In the absence of credible information about using organic dyes for studied textile samples, we tried to keep the crosscontamination and procedural blanks as low as possible by minimizing the number of reagents used. Besides, rather a low carbonate content in the rocks of the studied area (mostly sandstones) might have resulted in the small proportion of contaminating carbonate particles present in ancient textile, which could be effectively removed by centrifugation and filtration after their precipitation in the form of CaF₂ calcium fluoride.

Before analysis, rock, shell, and bone samples were manually ground in a jasper mortar. During on-site sampling, water samples were preserved with concentrated nitric acid. Ultrasonic cleaning of bone and shell samples using acetic acid was performed according to Corti et al. (2013). The vegetation samples were air-dried, ground in an electric mill, and cleaned from external contaminants by ultrasonication with ultrapure water, then ashed in a muffle furnace at 500 °C for 12 h (Snoeck et al. 2020). Soil leachates were obtained by shaking 1 g of soil, ground manually in a jasper mortar, with 10 ml of ultrapure water for 2 h, centrifuged, and filtered (Maurer et al. 2012).

Dried samples of textile, bone, shells and vegetation were dissolved in 3 ml of 14 M HNO₃ with the addition of 1 ml of 42 M H_2O_2 on a hotplate at 150 °C and evaporated to dry salts. Weighed portions of rock samples about 100 mg were taken into Savillex vials with a screw cap. A mixture of acids (HF, HNO₃, and HCl) was used for digestion in an oven at 120 °C for two days. Water samples were placed

in PFA vials and evaporated to dry salts on a hotplate at 120 °C. After that, the dry residues in all samples were re-dissolved in $0.5 \text{ ml} \text{ of } 7 \text{ M HNO}_3$, placed in Eppendorf microtubes, and centrifuged at 6000 rpm for 15 min.

For the chromatographic separation of strontium, the SR resin (100–200 mesh, Triskem) and the one-stage scheme were used, adapted from Muynck et al. (2009), and described in detail in Kasyanova et al. (2019).

The strontium isotope composition was measured on a Neptune Plus (Thermo Fischer) magnetic sector multicollector inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (MC-ICP-MS) with double-focusing, according to Kiseleva et al. (2019). To control the measurements of the strontium isotope composition, the NIST SRM 987 isotope standard was regularly measured during 2019: 87 Sr/ 86 Sr = 0.71025, 2SD = 0.00012 (104 measurements in 2 replicates). Uncertainty under the conditions of within-laboratory reproducibility (2 σ) for NIST SRM-987 was \pm 0.003%.

3 Results and Discussion

The results of strontium isotope analysis in the studied samples of archaeological textiles and local baseline of bioavailable strontium (grass, soil leachates, modern cattle bone, and mollusk shells) are shown in Table 1 and Fig. 3.

The assessment of the local Sr isotopic baseline is of crucial importance for provenance studies. For these purposes, several materials are used, such as tooth enamel of fossil and modern animals, surface water and groundwater, soil and soil leachates, vegetation, and mollusk shells (Snoeck et al. 2020; Ladegaard-Pedersen et al. 2020; Lengfelder et al. 2019; Hoogewerff et al. 2019; Frei 2019; Willmes et al. 2018; Hajj et al. 2017; Maurer et al. 2012). Such environmental materials (proxies) for assessing the local bioavailable strontium isotope baseline can be used both individually and in combination with each other (multi-proxy) (Ladegaard-Pedersen et al. 2020; Grimstead et al. 2013). ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratio in each of those proxies is a mixed value resulting from the interrelations of lithospheric, biospheric, and atmospheric strontium uptake. Moreover, the local isotopic signatures of bedrock, soil, water, vegetation, and fauna do not always match with ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios in vertebrate body tissues since their strontium originates from various sources in different amounts and animal strontium uptake is heavily diet-dependent (Lengfelder et al. 2019).

It should be mentioned that until nowadays no unified methodology is elaborated for bioavailable Sr isotope baseline assessment (Frei 2019). Different scholars use different proxies and their combinations depending on their availability and correspondence to studied archaeological samples (thus, a combination of water and plants should be considered when dealing with animal fleece or ancient woolen textile). Such proxies can include soil leachates (Hoogewerff et al. 2019), plants (Snoeck et al. 2020), a combination of plant samples, and soil leachates (Willmes et al. 2018), a combination of soil leachates, plants, groundwater, and surface water (Ladegaard-Pedersen et al. 2020).

	Sample name	Sample coordinates	Sample description	⁸⁷ Sr/ ⁸⁶ Sr	\pm SE, abs
1	GER 1	N51 46.146 E53 16.553	Grass from the burial ground	0.709266	0.000008
2	GER 2	N51 46.354 E53 16.226	Grass (sedge)	0.708956	0.000008
3	GER 3	N51 46.222 E53 15.117	Grass (sedge)	0.708844	0.000011
4	GER 4	N51 46.556 E53 15.510	Grass (sedge)	0.709078	0.000027
5	GER 5	N51 46.759 E53 15.460	Grass (sedge)	0.709114	0.000024
6	GER 2 U	N51 46.354 E53 16.226	Mollusk shell	0.708790	0.000005
7	GER 3 U	N51 46.222 E53 15.117	Mollusk shell	0.708924	0.000004
8	GER 4 U	N51 46.556 E53 15.510	Mollusk shell	0.708922	0.000008
9	GER 5 U	N51 46.759 E53 15.460	Mollusk shell	0.708889	0.000007
10	Gerasimovka III burial ground, kurgan 1, burial 3	N51.76963 E53.27698	Archaeological wool textile, Srubnaya culture	0.709158	0.000009
11	PL 1	N52 50.606 E53 30.549	Grass	0.709408	0.000008
12	PL 2	N52 51.069 E53 30.644	Grass	0.707806	0.000005
13	PL 3	N52 51.189 E53 30.769	Grass (sedge)	0.707591	0.000005
14	PL 4	N52 51.174 E53 31.118	Grass (sedge)	0.707525	0.000007
15	PL 5	N52 51.261 E53 30.530	Grass (sedge)	0.707582	0.000006
16	Plesh-1	N52 50.651 E53 30.522	Grass	0.709075	0.000011
17	Plesh-2	N52 50.651 E53 30.522	Soil leachate	0.708562	0.000016
18	PL 3 U	N52 51.189 E53 30.769	Mollusk shell	0.707502	0.000010
19	PL 4 U	N52 51.174 E53 31.118	Mollusk shell	0.707500	0.000006
20	PL 5 U	N52 51.261 E53 30.530	Mollusk shell	0.707519	0.000012

 Table 1
 87 Sr/86 Sr in archaeological textiles and local baseline samples of bioavailable strontium

(continued)

	Sample name	Sample coordinates	Sample description	⁸⁷ Sr/ ⁸⁶ Sr	\pm SE, abs
21	Plesh-3	N52 50.972 E53 37.550	Water from the Tok river	0.707460	0.000010
22	Pleshanovo burial ground, kurgan 2, burial 2	N52 50.651 E53 30 522	Archaeological wool textile, Srubnaya culture	0.709534	0.000013
23	KAM 1	N52 27.373 E53 22.030	Grass (sedge)	0.708373	0.000006
24	КАМ 2	N52 26.869 E53 21.160	Grass (sedge)	0.708842	0.000019
25	КАМ 3	N52 27.475 E53 22.471	Grass (sedge)	0.708547	0.000023
26	KAM 4	N52 27.903 E53 20.688	Grass	0.709205	0.000021
27	КАМ 5	N52 28.393 E53 18.965	Grass	0.709122	0.000022
28	КАМ 6	N52 28.542 E53 18.852	Grass	0.709665	0.000012
29	Kamen-1	N52 28.508 E53 18.700	Grass	0.709783	0.000007
30	Kamen-2	N52 28.508 E53 18.700	Soil leachate	0.708419	0.000009
31	KAM 1 U	N52 27.373 E53 22.030	Mollusk shell	0.708302	0.000006
32	KAM 2 U	N52 26.869 E53 21.160	Mollusk shell	0.708291	0.000005
33	KAM 3 U	N52 27.475 E53 22.471	Mollusk shell	0.708308	0.000005
34	Kamen-3	N52 28.508 E53 18.700	Clayey soil	0.710107	0.000012
35	Soroch-3	N52 24.831 E53 14.022	Water from the Sorochinskoe reservoir, Samara and Bolshoy Uran rivers	0.708541	0.000008
36	Kamenka burial ground, kurgan 2, burial 1	N52 28 33.2 E53 18 57.0	Archaeological wool textile, Srubnaya culture	0.709773	0.000009
37	BG 1	N52 24.096 E53 47.455	Grass	0.709101	0.000005
38	BG 2	N52 24.224 E53 47.696	Grass	0.708799	0.000005

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

	Sample name	Sample coordinates	Sample description	⁸⁷ Sr/ ⁸⁶ Sr	\pm SE, abs
39	BG 3	N52 24.298 E53 47.848	Grass (sedge)	0.708343	0.000006
40	BG 4	N52 24.439 E53 47.597	Grass (sedge)	0.708307	0.000006
41	BG 5	N52 24.245 E53 48.127	Grass (sedge)	0.708516	0.000006
42	Bogol-1	N52 24.093 E53 47.427	Grass	0.709334	0.000007
43	Bogol-1	N52 24.093 E53 47.427	Grass (wormwood)	0.709300	0.000008
44	Bogol-2	N52 24.093 E53 47.427	Soil leachate	0.708511	0.000009
45	BG 3 U	N52 24.298 E53 47.848	Mollusk shell	0.708220	0.000005
46	BG 4 U	N52 24.439 E53 47.597	Mollusk shell	0.708172	0.000007
47	BG 5 U	N52 24.245 E53 48.127	Mollusk shell	0.708206	0.000008
48	Bogol-3	N52 25.213 E53 46.180	Water from the Bolshoy Uran river	0.708072	0.000008
49	Bogolyubovka burial ground, kurgan 1, burial 31	N52 24.096 E53 47.455	Archaeological wool textile, Srubnaya culture	0.709262	0.000020
50	Bogol-4	N52 25.213 E53 46.180	Cattle (<i>Bos taurus</i>) sacrum	0.709147	0.000013

Table 1 (continued)

(grass, soil leachates, modern cattle bone, and mollusk shells). SE—single measurement error, $2\sigma = 0.003\%$ (SRM 987, n = 123)

To generate predictive models of ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr local variability, a novel geostatistical framework including kriging is used (Willmes et al. 2018) as well as mixing models are established using several two-component mixture systems (Lengfelder et al. 2019) or based on Bayesian modeling (Hoogewerff et al. 2019).

It is noteworthy that the sampling strategy and the number of samples taken may differ depending on the regional geology and archaeological material, the origin of which is planned to be identified (skeletal tissues, wood, textiles, etc.) (Grimstead et al. 2013). So, for a relatively homogeneous geological system, it is possible to carry out sampling in fewer places, but with a larger heterogeneity, a significantly larger number of points should be sampled (Grimstead et al. 2013). The sampling grid can be regular or irregular, featuring geological and geochemical properties of the underlying bedrock.

Since our isotopic study is a pilot, we have tried to use as many proxies as possible to characterize four archaeological sites, and have found rather significant variations



Fig. 3 ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr in archaeological textiles and local baseline samples of bioavailable strontium (grass, river water, soil leachates, mollusk shells, and modern cattle bone). The grey rectangles are the ranges of bioavailable strontium isotope ratios for different localities of the Orenburg Cis-Urals

in ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios of different proxies, especially between terrestrial samples and water-related samples (river water, wetland vegetation and mollusks, including water-soluble or labile Sr fraction of soil leachates) (Fig. 3).

All three soil leachates have close ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios (0.7084–0.7085), probably due to the mixing of strontium from two major sources: the weathering of the underlying rock and atmospheric input (precipitation and dust) (Hajj et al. 2017). Since Sr from atmospheric precipitation is deposited on the soil surface, while soil weathering releases Sr from deep horizons (Hajj et al. 2017), similar strontium isotope ratios in leachates of the surface soil layers are more likely due to the predominant influence of atmospheric input than by the processes weathering of the underlying Middle Permian rocks of the Tatarian Stage. In general, the Sr isotope ratios in soil leachates are shifted from the corresponding grasses (0.7091–0.7098) towards less radiogenic values. An additional study of Sr isotope ratios in atmospheric precipitation, underlying rocks, and groundwater is required; however, the soil leachates fall within the local baseline of bioavailable strontium for the studied sites.

All four localities are characterized by a wide range of ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr in the samples characterizing bioavailable strontium, reflecting a complex system of interactions between water and rocks, vegetation, and animals.

River water in the Tok (in the vicinity of Pleshanovo) and Bolshoy Uran (in the vicinity of Kamenka) rivers, as well as the Sorochinskoe reservoir located at the confluence of the Samara and Bolshoy Uran rivers, is characterized by low ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr values: Bolshoy Uran (0.708072), Sorochinskoe Reservoir (0.708541), and the least radiogenic ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratio is observed for the river Tok (0.707460). These ratios are

likely to reflect the average composition of the rocks drained by these rivers along their course.

The ranges of Sr isotope ratios in vegetation are: 0.708790–0.708924 (Gerasimovka), 0.707525–0.709075 (Pleshanovo), 0.708373–0.709783 (Kamenka), 0.708307–0.709334 (Bogolyubovka). Moreover, wetland vegetation (sedge) has a smaller scatter within each locality and lower Sr isotope ratios, and tends towards the river water and mollusk shells.

Note that mollusk shells are characterized by extremely low variations within each locality: 0.708790–0.708924 (Gerasimovka), 0.707500–0.707519 (Pleshanovo), 0.708291–0.708308 (Kamenka), 0.708172–0.708220 (Bogolyubovka), and are located in the areas of the lowest (least radiogenic) ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios, close to river water and wetland vegetation (sedge), which may reflect their isotopic-geochemical relation.

The Gerasimovka III site has a rather narrow range of bioavailable strontium (0.708790–0.709266), which corresponds to the isotopic signature of archaeological textile (0.709158), while the grass from the Gerasimovka III burial ground (0.709266) does not differ significantly from the sedge. This allows us to make an assumption about grazing sheep on the flooded meadows in the flood-plain of the Kindelya river, which does not contradict the geographic location and bedrock.

The Pleshanovo site is characterized by the largest scatter of bioavailable strontium. Nevertheless, the isotopic signature of the archaeological textile is very close to the vegetation near the Pleshanovo burial ground, although slightly higher. It is quite different from the "riverine" sedge-shell-water sample associated with the lowest isotopic ratio among all the studied localities. We believe that taking into account the technological features of the Pleshanovo textile indicating its probable local origin, and the greatest bioavailable ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr variation for the Pleshanovo site, the difference in ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios between the grass and ancient textile can be considered negligible contributions to the version of its local origin and production.

Wide ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr variations are observed for the Kamenka site, where the "riverine" sedge-shell-water sample association has low strontium isotope ratios, while the terrestrial vegetation collected near the Kamenka burial ground has the highest radiogenic ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr of all studied localities and coincides with archaeological textile. Such a high ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratio is probably inherited from clayey soil (0.710107).

For the Bogolyubovka site, a similar situation is noted: archaeological textile coincides with terrestrial vegetation and the bone of a modern cattle (0.709147), while "riverine" sedge-shell-water samples are characterized by less radiogenic ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr.

The variations of strontium isotope ratios in the samples of Srubnaya wool textiles from Gerasimovka III, Pleshanovo, Kamenka, and Bogolyubovka fall within the corresponding ranges of local bioavailable Sr for each site. Thus, a comparative analysis of the local baseline of bioavailable strontium (grass, soil leachates, mollusk shells, river water, and modern cattle bone) and four archaeological wool fibers suggests that the place of lambing and sheep/goat grazing could have been on pastures in the south-eastern slope of the East European platform.

Sheep grazing at Gerasimovka could occur on flooded meadows in the flood-plain of the Kindelya river and other localities—in the meadows located on hills (gentle

slopes of syrts), far from river valleys. Wetland vegetation (sedge), mollusk shells, and river water samples are grouped according to the sampling sites and characterized by close (and lowest) ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr isotope ratios within each locality.

4 Conclusions

The conducted study has indicated that the samples of the local baseline of bioavailable strontium (grass, soil leachates, mollusk shells, river water, and modern cattle bone) for the studied sites are characterized by complex isotope-geochemical interactions, and the "riverine" sample association (river water, wetland vegetation, shells) couldn't be excluded from consideration and isoscape construction.

For four studied archaeological textiles of the Srubnaya culture, we assume the possible local origin of raw materials (wool) for textile production. This result corresponds to the technological analyses of wool textile.

The results obtained might confirm that the technology for the production of wool fiber from local raw materials in the steppe Trans-Urals by the end of the first quarter of the 2nd millennium BC was a part of the overall transformation process of textile production in the Bronze Age. We may infer from our analysis that in 1750–1650 calBC the production of wool textiles in the southern Urals steppe belt was integrated into the economy of the local Srubnaya Ural population.

Acknowledgements The archaeological excavation of Stubnaya graves with wool textile was conducted by Orenburg State Pedagogical University. The isotope analyses were carried out in the "Geoanalitik" IGG UB RAS Center for Collective Use, Ekaterinburg. Technological analyses of wool textile were conducted in the State Historical Museum, Moscow. We would like to thank O. Orfinskaya and A. Mamonova for technological analyses of wool textile. The project was supported by the RSF grant № 21-18-00026.

References

- Bentley, R.A.: Strontium Isotopes from the Earth to the Archaeological Skeleton: A Review. Journal of Archaeological Method and Theory 13(3), 135–187 (2006)
- Chibilev, A.A., Musikhin, G.D., Petrishchev, V.P., Pavleichik, V.M., Sivokhip, Zh.T., Kirsanov, M.V., Plugin, D.V.: Geologicheskie pamyatniki prirody Orenburgskoy oblasti (Geological natural monuments of the Orenburg region), 400 p. Orenburg book publishing house, Orenburg (2000) (In Russian)
- Corti, C., Rampazzi, L., Ravedoni, C., Giussani, B.: On the use of trace elements in ancient necropolis studies: Overview and ICP-MS application to the case study of Valdaro site, Italy. Microchemical Journal 110, 614–623 (2013)
- Ericson, J.E.: Strontium isotope characterization in the study of prehistoric human ecology. Journal of Human Evolution 14, 503–514 (1985)
- Frei, K.M.: Provenance of archaeological wool textiles: new case studies. Open Journal of Archaeometry 2, 5239 (2014)

- Frei, K.M.: Wool production and Strontium isotope Analyses. In Sabatini, S. and Bergerbrant, S. (eds) The textile revolution in Bronze Age Europe. Cambridge, 239-254 (2019)
- Frei, K.M., Frei, R., Mannering, U., Gleba, M., Nosch, M.L., Lyngstrøm, H.: Provenance of ancient textiles – a pilot study evaluating the strontium isotope system in wool. Archaeometry 51(2), 252–276 (2009)
- Frei, K.M., Mannering, U., Kristiansen, K. et al.: Tracing the dynamic life story of a Bronze Age Female. Scientific Reports 5, 10431 (2015)
- Frei, K.M., Mannering U., Vanden Berghe, I., Kristiansen, K. Bronze Age wool: provenance and dye investigations of Danish textiles. Antiquity 91(357), 640–654 (2017)
- Geologicheskaya karta Rossii i prilegayushchikh akvatoriy, m-b 1: 2 500 000 [Geological map of Russia and adjoining water areas, scale 1:2 500 000] https://vsegei.ru/ru/info/atlas/geol/geo l2500-16_min.zip (2016)
- Grimstead, D.N., Nugent, S., Whipple, J.: Why a Standardization of Strontium Isotope Baseline Environmental Data Is Needed and Recommendations for Methodology. Advances in Archaeological Practice 5(2), 184–195 (2013)
- Hajj, F., Poszwa, A., Bouchez, J., Guérold, F.: Radiogenic and "stable" strontium isotopes in provenance study: A review and first results on archaeological wood from shipwrecks. Journal of Archaeological Sciences 86, 24–49 (2017)
- Hoogewerff, J.A., Reimann, C., Ueckermann, H., et al.: Bioavailable ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr in European soils: A baseline for provenancing studies. Science of The Total Environment 672, 1033–1044, (2019)
- Kasyanova, A.V., Streletskaya, M.V., Chervyakovskaya, M.V., Kiseleva, D.V.: A method for 87Sr/86Sr isotope ratio determination in biogenic apatite by MC-ICP-MS using the SSB technique. AIP Conference Proceedings 2174(1), 020028 (2019)
- Kiseleva, D.V., Chervyakovskaya, M.V., Shishlina, N.I., Shagalov, E.S.: Strontium Isotope Analysis of Modern Raw Wool Materials and Archaeological Textiles. In: Yuminov, A., Ankusheva, N., Ankushev, M., Zaykova, E., Artemyev, D. (eds) Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. GAM 2019. Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Cham. (2021) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-48864-2_4
- Ladegaard-Pedersen, P., Achilleos, M., Dörflinger, G., Frei, R., Kristiansen, K., Frei, K.M.: A strontium isotope baseline of Cyprus. Assessing the use of soil leachates, plants, groundwater and surface water as proxies for the local range of bioavailable strontium isotope composition. Science of The Total Environment 708, 134714 (2020)
- Lengfelder, F., Grupe, G., Stallauer, A., Huth, R., Söllner, F.: Modelling strontium isotopes in past biospheres Assessment of bioavailable ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios in local archaeological vertebrates based on environmental signatures. Science of the Total Environment 648, 236–252 (2019)
- Maurer, A.-F., Galer, S.J.G., Knipper, C., Beierlein, L., Nunn, E.V., Peters, D., Tütken, T., Alt, K.W., Schöne, B.R.: Bioavailable ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr in different environmental samples – Effects of anthropogenic contamination and implications for isoscapes in past migration studies. Science of The Total Environment 433, 216–229 (2012)
- Muynck, D.D., Huelga-Suarez, G., Heghe, L.V., Degryse, P., Vanhaecke, F.: Systematic evaluation of a strontium-specific extraction chromatographic resin for obtaining a purified Sr fraction with quantitative recovery from complex and Ca-rich matrices. Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry 24, 1498–1510 (2009)
- Shishlina, N.I., Kiseleva, D.V., Medvedeva, P.S., Leonova, N.V., Orfinskaya, O.V., Zaitseva, M.V., Soloshenko, N.G., Azarov, E.S.: Strontium isotope composition of wool textiles from the Berezovy Rog (Eastern Europe forest zone) and Chernyaki II (Southern Trans-Urals) Bronze Age burials. Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy) 5, 41–47 (2019) (In Russian)
- Shishlina, N., Orfinskaya, O., Hommel, P., Zazovskaya, E., Ankusheva, P., van der Plicht, J.: Bronze Age wool textile from northern Eurasia: new 14C AMS-data. Nanotechnologies in Russia 15, Nos 9-10, 629-638 (2020).https://doi.org/10.1134/S1995078020050146

- Snoeck, C., Ryan, S., Pouncett, J., Pellegrini, M., Claeys, P., Wainwright, A.N., Mattielli, N., Lee-Thorp, J.A., Schulting, R.J.: Towards a biologically available strontium isotope baseline for Ireland. Sci. Total Environ. 712, 136248 (2020)
- Willmes, M., Bataille, C.P., James, H.F., et al.: Mapping of bioavailable strontium isotope ratios in France for archaeological provenance studies. Applied Geochemistry 90, 75–86 (2018)

Preliminary Results of the Analysis of REE Distribution and ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr Ratios in Organic and Mineral Sources from Paleolithic Sites in the Orkhon Valley, Mongolia



151

Irina A. Vishnevskaya, Tatiana G. Okuneva, Dashzeveg Bazargur, Kristina K. Urazova, Alexei M. Klementiev, Daria V. Marchenko, Byambaa Gunchinsuren, Evgeny P. Rybin, John W. Olsen, and Arina M. Khatsenovich

Abstract We present a description of stratigraphic profiles and paleontological remains from three Paleolithic sites in the Orkhon River valley, central Mongolia. The Orkhon-1 and Orkhon-7 sites contain cultural sequences spanning the Final Middle through Upper Paleolithic periods (ca. 50–12 kya), where cultural horizons are divided by archaeologically sterile layers of significant thickness. The Moiltynam site is an exception where archaeological materials were found in every lithological layer, albeit impacted by post-depositional changes. The analysis of the distribution of rare, trace, and rare earth elements (REE) and Sr isotopic composition indicate that accumulation of sediments at the Moiltyn-am site occurred under semi-arid to semi-humid climatic conditions and that the climate did not change significantly during the period of the site's occupation. ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios for samples extracted from ungulate teeth found at the Orkhon-1 and Orkhon-7 sites indicate that these animals lived in another region during the first years of their lives. This constitutes evidence of equids and bovids migrating between regions.

Keywords Mongolia · Orkhon Valley · Paleolithic · Pleistocene · Paleoclimate · Ungulates · Sr isotopes · 87 Sr/ 86 Sr ratio · REE · *Bos (Poephagus) baikalensis*

I. A. Vishnevskaya Vernadsky Institute of Geochemistry and Analytical Chemistry, RAS, Moscow, Russia

T. G. Okuneva \cdot K. K. Urazova Zavaritsky Institute of Geology and Geochemistry, UB RAS, Ekaterinburg, Russia

D. Bazargur · B. Gunchinsuren Institute of Archaeology, MAS, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia

J. W. Olsen School of Anthropology, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, USA

I. A. Vishnevskaya (⊠) · A. M. Klementiev · D. V. Marchenko · E. P. Rybin · A. M. Khatsenovich Institute of Archaeology and Ethnography, SB RAS, Novosibirsk, Russia e-mail: vishnevskaia@geokhi.ru

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_14

1 Introduction

The human occupational history of different geographical regions during the Pleistocene depended on several factors including migrations of human populations and their interactions with autochthonous settlers, climatic conditions and environmental productivity, routes of migrating ungulate prey suitable for human hunters, and the availability of high-quality lithic raw material appropriate for knapping. These factors predetermined the character of regional exploitation as discontinuous or sporadic occupational episodes. In the first case, it is possible to trace gradual technological evolution through changing lithic industries or the rapid replacement of local populations by newcomers. In the second case, human groups with different or the same cultural suite left evidence of their sporadic appearances. Reconstruction of past climatic and environmental conditions is key to understanding the character of human occupation and cultural adaptation.

2 Materials and Methods

Several Paleolithic sites in Mongolia reflect distinct occupational episodes. Cultural horizons embedded in stratigraphic profiles without sterile dividing sublayers have been identified at sites in northern Mongolia including Kharganyn Gol-5, Tolbor-4, Tolbor-15, and Tolbor-21, but radiocarbon and OSL dates indicate significant hiatuses in the archaeological records in this region. The cultural sequence there includes assemblages from the Final Middle through the Upper Paleolithic. A different situation has been identified at archaeological sites in the Orkhon Valley in central Mongolia where cultural sequences spanning the Middle-Upper Paleolithic were revealed at the Orkhon-1 and -7 sites, in which cultural horizons are separated by archaeologically sterile layers of a significant thickness (Derevianko et al. 2010). The only known exception to this pattern, the Moiltyn-am site, contains cultural material impacted by significant post-depositional alteration (Khatsenovich et al. 2019) (Fig. 1).

A new course of research initiated in Mongolia in 2018 focuses on paleoenvironmental studies based on Sr isotopic and REE analyses, faunal and pollen analyses, grain size measurements, and OSL and radiocarbon dating to reconstruct paleoclimatic and paleoenvironmental records for the Orkhon Valley. Here, we present the methods employed and preliminary results of our REE and isotopic studies.

The Moiltyn-am site is situated in central Mongolia on the second terrace of the Orkhon River at the confluence of the currently dry Tuul (Tola) River at the elevation of 1482 m above sea level. Here, six lithological layers were identified in the 1.7 m deep 2018–2019 excavation stratigraphic profile. Every layer contained archaeological material, redeposited to greater (Layer 2) or lesser (Layers 4–6) degrees. The deposits of layers 2–4 are deformed in the one vertical line, which is probably associated with cryogenic processes. The lithic industry from Layers 4–6 is considered



Fig. 1 Stratigraphic profiles: **a** Orkhon-1; **b** Orkhon-7; **c** Moiltyn-am, indicating sample locations. Locations of mammalian teeth were analyzed for ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios

Initial Upper Paleolithic, reflecting specific knapping techniques and a Levallois component based on local pebble raw materials. The most common faunal remains belong to the marmot, *Marmota* sp. (Layers 5 and 6), typical of the Late Pleistocene. A humerus fragment of *Bos* sp. (Layer 2) and a scapula of *Equus* sp. (Layer 5) record the presence of large mammals at the site.

The Orkhon-1 site is also situated on the second terrace of the Orkhon River, at an elevation of 1482 m above sea level. The stratigraphic profile includes seven lithological layers accumulated during the first half of the Marine Isotope Stage (MIS) 3. Artifacts are dispersed vertically within each stratigraphic unit. Large artifacts occur as a single horizon in the upper part of Layer 4 and are associated with the Early or Middle-Upper Paleolithic. Layer 7 includes a Final Middle Paleolithic cultural horizon including the mandible of an extinct yak, *Bos (Poephagus) baikalensis*.

The geomorphology of the Orkhon-7 site is similar to the six kiloPameter distant Orkhon-1 localities. The stratigraphic profile revealed at Orkhon-7 provides the most complete paleoenvironmental records in Mongolia associated with ancient human occupation. Its initial stage of sedimentological accumulation began during the first half of MIS 3. The 2019 stratigraphic profile revealed 12 lithological layers and cultural horizons in Layers 8, 9, and 10. Faunal remains of *Equus* sp. in Layers 8 and 9, *Bos* sp. in Layer 8, and *Ovisammon* and a rhinoceratid in Layer 10were uncovered.

All three sites in the Orkhon Valley can be preliminarily described as shortterm episodic occupations. The lithic assemblages indicate that human activity was associated with a workshop for knapping pebbles collected from local alluvium. Radiocarbon dates point out significant temporal gaps in the exploitation of this workshop, probably caused by paleoclimatic changes. It is not clear where these people hunted, but a large amount of recovered butchered faunal remains may inform us about the behavioral traits of these past human societies.

The integrated study of various isotopic systems (C, O, N, Sr) reveals the paleodiets of both animals and humans and can facilitate the reconstruction of their migrations (Scharlotta and Weber 2014). This approach assumes, first, the study of archaeological material, and the sampling of relevant remains minimally impacted by post-depositional changes. Based upon research conducted both in the field and in the laboratory, we sampled visually intact animal teeth. We also sampled sediments underlying the analyzed bones. These sedimentological samples create an isotopic and geochemical baseline for comparison with results obtained from locally sourced bones. We studied ten sedimentological samples from Moiltyn-am, an equid tooth from Layer 8 at Orkhon-7, and a tooth identified as *Bos (Poephagus) baikalensis* from Layer 7 at Orkhon-1. We used the ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios of modern horses' teeth as the additional check-data of local determination.

Isotopic studies were carried out in the laboratory of physical and chemical methods of analysis, the Zavaritsky Institute of Geology and Geochemistry, Ekaterinburg, Russia. We employed methods described in Kiseleva et al. (2017) to analyze the chemical and isotopic composition of Sr in mammalian teeth. Unpretreated sediment samples weighing 30–50 mg were placed in polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) sample bottles containing a mixture of concentrated HF and HNO₃acids at a ratio of 3:1. After resolution, we evaporated the preparation to a dry state and added a mixture of HCl and HNO₃ acids to the dry residue at a ratio of 3:1. After subsequent evaporation at a temperature of 190 °C, the dry residue was treated with 10 N HCl and dried again at a temperature of 190 °C.

We used the following protocol to pretreat samples for analyses of trace and rare earth elements (REE): five-milliliter portions of each sample were placed in polypropylene containers to which 100 μ l of In solution (internal standard) (1 mg/l) and 15 μ l of 14 N HNO₃ diluted with ultrapure water to 10 ml to achieve a final 3% concentration of HNO₃. Calibration curves were created using Inorganic Ventures multi-element standard solutions. A NexION 300S (PerkinElmer, USA) quadrupole mass spectrometer was used to quantitatively determine the isotopes. We used an Inorganic Ventures certified multi-element solution to control the precision and accuracy of determining microelement composition. Concentrations of microelements fell within acceptable deviations of 15%.

We used the following protocol to pretreat samples for analyses of Sr isotopic composition: ion-exchange chromatography using Triskem Sr-Spec 100–200 mesh and the stepwise elution technique in 7 N and 0.05 N HNO₃ were applied to extract Strontium. The eluate was evaporated down to wet salts which were dissolved in 5 ml of 0.5% HNO₃. Isotopic ratios were determined on a Neptune Plus ICP-MS.

Mass was corrected with normalization to a ratio of 88 Sr/ 86 Sr = 8.37861 and the method of bracketing every two samples concerning the standard NIST SRM-987 with a ratio of 87 Sr/ 86 Sr 0.710245 (GeoReM database, http://georem.mpch-mainz. gwdg.de/). Interference of the isotopes 86 Kr and 87 Rb were factored into normalization concerning 83 Kr/ 86 Kr = 0.664162, 83 Kr/ 84 Kr = 0.201579, and 87 Rb/ 85 Rb = 0.386.

3 Results and Discussion

The composition of rare, trace, and rare earth elements are homogeneous in Layers 1–6 at the Moiltyn-am site, except for one sample from Layer 5 (MA 19 1837), which contains twice the number of elements (Table 1). This results from the distinct lithological composition of this layer which contains more gravel and debris than in overlying layers. Nonetheless, the plotted compositions fall within the narrow area on the triangular Nd-Gd-Yb diagram.

Concentrations of REE were normalized regarding PAAS (Post-Archean Australian Shale)(Taylor and McLennan 1985)—the standard for Phanerozoic sedimentary rocks (Fig. 2). All spectra have a similar shape, approximating a horizontal line. However, the ratios of LREE/HREE (light and heavy REE) or La/Yb vary insignificantly (0.8-1.0 and 0.67-0.99, respectively). There is no cerium anomaly (Ce/Ce* 0.9–1.0), but a low positive europium anomaly is evident (Eu/Eu* 1.1–1.3), and it is negative in one sample (MA815: Eu/Eu* 0.95). Ce/Ce*, Eu/Eu* rations were calculated according to Bau and Alexander (2006). A Y anomaly is characteristic of almost all samples, its value varying by 100%. Y/Ho falls within an interval from 0.43 to 0.98, and anomalies are absent in sample MA 19 1155. The spectrum of sample MA 19 1837 (Layer 5) is similar to the others but contains twice the concentration of elements. In Fig. 2, the Graph provides supplemental data on the average composition of loess from the Chinese Loess Plateau (CLP; formerly known as the Central Loess Plateau of China) (Yokoo et al. 2004). The graph demonstrates the differences between samples from the Moiltyn-am site and average loess composition: a europium anomaly is positive for the first and negative for the second, which may indicate different amounts of plagioclase in the rocks and the degree of reworking. The distribution spectra are similar, but it seems as if the sources of these rocks were different.

It is possible to reconstruct some aspects of paleoclimate, including accumulated precipitation. It is known (Ronov et al. 1967) that anon-normalized LREE (La + Ce + Pr + Nd + Sm + Eu)/HREE + Y(Gd + Tb + Dy + Ho + Er + Tm + Yb + Lu + Y) ratio indicates climate conditions: <2.5—arid, 2.5–4—semi-arid—semi-humid, >4—humid. The LREE/HREE ratio for massive material from the Moiltyn-am profile varies between 2.9 and 3.8 (average 3.5). This characterizes rocks and other massive material accumulated in semi-arid—semi-humid climate conditions. Data from Th/U ratios (Sikosek and Goikovi 1966) support these results since it varies between 2.6

Table 1 REE	and Sr isotopic	composition o	f sediments i	n the Moiltyn	-am section					
	MA 19 144	MA 19 161	MA19 815	MA 19 854	MA 19 1154	MA 19 1155	MA 19 1336	MA 19 1361	MA 19 1837	MA 19 2401
La	18	20	29	22	15	23	19	19	27	17
Ce	40	40	60	50	33	48	43	38	60	35
Pr	5	5.1	7	6.1	4	5.5	5.6	5.2	8	4
PN	20	20	29	24	17	21	22	20	32	17
Sm	3.8	4.2	6	4.4	3.5	4	4.7	3.9	6	3.4
Eu	0.9	1.1	1.1	1.1	0.9	1.1	1.1	0.9	1.6	0.7
Gd	3.5	4	5	4	3.1	4	4	3.5	6	3.1
Tb	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.9	0.4
Dy	2.8	3.4	4	3.2	2.8	3.1	3.8	3.1	5	2.8
Y	15	17	11	16	13	17	18	14	25	8
Но	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.8	0.6	1	0.5
Er	1.6	2	2.2	1.8	1.6	1.8	2.3	1.8	3	1.6
Tm	0.23	0.29	0.32	0.26	0.23	0.26	0.33	0.26	0.4	0.23
Yb	1.5	1.9	2.1	1.7	1.5	1.7	2.1	1.7	2.8	1.5
Lu	0.24	0.3	0.3	0.26	0.22	0.25	0.3	0.25	0.4	0.2
Total REE	114	121	158	136	76	132	128	113	179	95
Ce/Ce*	0.98	0.92	0.95	1.01	0.97	0.99	0.99	0.00	0.96	0.95
Eu/Eu*	1.16	1.26	0.95	1.23	1.29	1.29	1.19	1.15	1.25	1.01
										(continued)

156

 Table 1 (continued)

	MA 19 144	MA 19 161	MA19815	MA 19 854	MA 19 1154	MA 19 1155	MA 19 1336	MA 19 1361	MA 19 1837	MA 19 2401
La _N /Yb _N	0.89	0.78	1.02	0.96	0.74	1.00	0.67	0.83	0.71	0.84
LREE _N /HREE _N	0.76	0.68	0.81	0.82	0.70	0.80	0.66	0.72	0.69	0.70
Y _N /Ho _N	0.92	0.89	0.50	0.98	0.95	1.04	0.83	0.86	0.92	0.59
$^{87}\mathrm{Sr}/^{86}\mathrm{Sr}$	0.709265	0.709595	0.709401	0.709588	0.709543	0.709381	0.709255	0.709549	0.709101	0.708936
$\pm 2\sigma$, abs	0.000013	0.000012	0.000006	0.000016	0.000014	0.000016	0.000016	0.000013	0.000018	0.00000
Notes Ce/Ce*, Eu/F	Eu* are calcula	ted according	to equations fr	om Bau and A	Jexander (2006)); the "N" index	denotes norma	lization to PAA	S (Taylor and M	cLennan 1985)



Fig. 2 Results of the analysis of massive material from the Moiltyn-am profile. **a** spectra of REE distribution normalized to PAAS from the analyzed sediment samples **b** the same, for each layer; **c** variation in Sr isotopic composition in the profile. R^2 is the coefficient of correlation; PAAS—Post-Archean Australian Shale, (Taylor et al. 1983; Taylor and McLennan 1985); CLP—Chinese Loess Plateau (Yokoo et al. 2004)

and 3.8 (average 3.1) which falls between typical arid and typical humid climate parameters.

The isotopic composition of Sr varies from 0.7089 to 0.7096 (Fig. 2, Table 1) with 87 Sr/ 86 Sr values increasing up the stratigraphic section. The coefficient of correlation (R²) is 0.83, but several samples fall out of this value. We endeavor to explain each such case, beginning with the significance of the variability of 87 Sr/ 86 Sr ratios in the samples derived from Layer 2. Different contents of diagenetic carbonate material in these samples may impact this ratio. Layers 2–4 were deformed vertically, probably due to cryogenic processes (Khatsenovich et al. 2021). The Sr isotopic composition of sample MA 19 1361 supports the conclusion of vertical mixing. The 87 Sr/ 86 Sr ratio for this sample is 0.70955; close to the values for Layer 3.

It is believed (Price et al. 2002; Kasiri and Karimi 2017) that samples of teeth and bones can be considered local if they fall within the range of two standard deviations $(\pm 2 \text{ SD})$ from local background values. In our case, the $\pm 2 \text{ SD}$ range is from 0.70894 to 0.70978 (Fig. 4).

The chemical and isotopic composition of animal bones and teeth depends directly on the food individuals consumed (Bentley et al. 2002; Barberena et al. 2019). Teeth grow within a short period relative to an animal's lifetime. The chemical and isotopic composition of enamel remains fixed after competing for the mineralization and does not change, even in diagenesis. This is not characteristic of dentin, because it is porous and less resistant to the impact of environmental degradation. Depending upon conditions of preservation, the isotopic and chemical composition of teeth may be minimally affected by internal changes and become a good source material for reconstruction of the trophic chain and possible migrations of animals (Kohn et al. 1999; Bentley et al. 2002; Frei et al. 2009, 2015). REE distribution, normalized to chondrite (Sun and McDonough 1989), in tooth enamel and dentin of *Bos (Poephagus) baikalensis* from Orkhon-1 (Layer 7) is presented in Fig. 3. The resulting spectra are nearly horizontal, and the content of REE in enamel is ten times greater than in dentin (Fig. 4).

Heavy lanthanides overwhelm their light counterparts in enamel (La/Yb 0.89) while, in dentin, the situation is reversed (La/Yb 1.23). Both spectra are characterized by a low negative cerium anomaly (Ce/Ce* 0.5–0.7) and a significant positive europium anomaly (Eu/Eu*_{enamel} 12, Eu/Eu*_{dentin} 114). The difference in REE composition in the tooth enamel and dentin from Orkhon-1 is especially evident in heavy REE: here it is the so-called "saw". One possible cause is ultra-low concentrations of heavy REE, close to the detection threshold. The ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios of enamel and dentin are similar, amounting to 0.71013 ± 1, although the spectra of REE distribution are different. It is most likely that the post-diagenetic equation of isotopic composition took place.



Fig. 3 REE distribution spectra in tooth enamel and dentin normalized to PAAS. CLP—Chinese Loess Plateau (Yokoo et al. 2004)



The graph reflecting the fractionation of light, medium, and heavy REEs makes it possible to identify a group of bone samples fossilized in an environment not affected by soil processes (Fig. 5a). Those samples of bones, the composition of which differs from the composition of the soil, we considered the least altered. These results are confirmed by the plot of the dependence of the Sr isotopic composition on its reverse content (Fig. 5b). The least altered bone samples were found in layers 3 and 4, which accumulated 36–28 ka. The Sr isotopic composition of these samples varies from 0.70973 to 0.70983.



Fig. 5 a Comparison of REE compositions in bones and sediments from the Moiltyn-am site, Mongolia; b Dependency diagram of Sr inverse content from Sr isotopic composition

Tooth enamel and dentin of an equid from Orkhon-7 (Layer 8) are similar in REE composition and close in REE concentration, where heavy lanthanides overwhelm their light counterparts (La/Yb 0.3). The resulting spectra are characterized by a low negative cerium anomaly (Ce/Ce* 0.5–0.7) and a significantly positive europium anomaly (Eu/Eu* ~ 70). One specific feature of this tooth is that the content of all REE in the dentin is nearly double that in the enamel. Within the realm of heavy REE, it is the same "saw" as in the teeth from Orkhon-1. The Sr isotopic composition of equid tooth enamel from Orkhon-7 is similar to the yak tooth from Orkhon-1, amounting to 0.71055. The⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratio is higher in the dentin of this tooth, amounting to 0.71207.

Sr isotopic composition of modern horses enamel placed between 0.70906 and 0.70966 and completely falls within the range from 0.70894 to 0.70978, described above. It supports our supposition that studied sediment samples, as well as the methods of their pretreatment together with criteria of their selection, can be used as the characteristic of Sr local sources.

The Orkhon Valley is geologically homogenous (Badarch et al. 2002) and the sites studied here are located within 8 km of one another, so, we can tentatively conclude that the isotopic and chemical composition of sediments from Moiltyn-am and Orkhon-1 and -7 are similar at this stage of our research. It is known that the dental enamel of herbivores reflects the Sr isotopic composition of grass consumed by animals during their first years of life (Bentley et al. 2002; Scharlotta and Weber 2014; Barberena et al. 2019). The ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios of teeth analyzed here differ from the isotopic composition of the archaeological sediments that enclosed them, thus we conclude that these animals—yak and equid—initially grazed in some other region during the first years of their lives, not in the Orkhon Valley. The chronometric age estimate of both animals from Orkhon-1 and -7 is about 40–45 kya.

Based on this assumption, we conclude that the herbivores spent the last years of their lives in the Orkhon Valley at a short distance from the Moiltyn am site. Our assumption about the size of the range of possible values of the Sr isotopic composition is confirmed by the results obtained for the teeth of modern equines. The 87Sr/86Sr ratio in tooth enamel varies in the range from 0.70906 to 0.70966, which is consistent with the proposed range for local representatives of the fauna.

4 Conclusions

The Moiltyn-am site sediments do not reveal any anomalous elemental contents. Admixtures and their geochemical characteristics are comparable to argillaceous rocks of PAAS: 87 Sr/ 86 Sr ratios of these rocks are typical of the upper continental crust, indicating that these rocks were well-mixed (Jahn et al. 2001). The spectra of REE + Y distribution are stable within the studied stratigraphic profiles. Sr isotopic composition has changed gradually, without "migrations," indicating that the climate did not change significantly while sediments were accumulating, and prevailing environmental conditions were semi-arid to semi-humid. This is supported by data on

paleoclimatic changes in Khangai Mountains, based on other sources (Khatsenovich et al. 2021). Upcoming results of additional Sr isotopic and geochemical compositions of the stratigraphic profiles at Orkhon-1 and -7 will hopefully yield additional relevant data.

The Sr isotopic composition of the teeth of *Bos (Poephagus) baikalensis* from Orkhon-1 and the equid from Orkhon-7 indicates that these animals grew up grazing in an area far removed from the Orkhon Valley.

Acknowledgements This study was principally supported by the RSF (project 19-78-10112) "Human adaptations in arid and high-altitude regions of eastern Central Asia in the Late Pleistocene and Early Holocene." The JeTsongkhapa Endowment for Central and Inner Asian Archaeology at the University of Arizona provided additional funding. We thank A. P. Derevianko (Russia) and J. Jaubert (France) for generously sharing the results of their archaeological work in the Orkhon Valley and for their support of our research project there. The Kharkhorin Museum (XapxopuHMy3eй) kindly facilitated our fieldwork.

References

- Badarch G., Cunningham W.D., Windley B.: A new terrane subdivision for Mongolia: Implications for the Phanerozoic crustal growth of Central Asia. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 21, 87–110 (2002)
- Barberena R., Tessone A., Cagnoni M., Gasco A., Durán V., Winocur D., Benítez A., Lucero G., Trillas D., Zonana I., Novellino P., Fernández M., Bavio M.A., Zubillaga E., Gautier E.A.: Bioavailable Strontium in the southern Andes (Argentina and Chile): A tool for tracking human and animal movement. Environmental Archaeology 24, 1–13 (2019)
- Bau M., Alexander B.: Preservation of primary REE patterns without Ce anomaly during dolomitization of Mid-Paleoproterozoic limestone and the potential re-establishment of marine anoxia immediately after the "Great Oxidation Event." South African Journal of Geology 109, 81–86 (2006)
- Bentley R.A., Price T.D., Luning J., Gronenborn D., Wahl J., Fullagar P.D.: Human migration in early Neolithic Europe. Current Anthropology 43, 799–804 (2002)
- Derevianko A.P., Kandyba A.V., Petrin V.T.: Paleolithic of the Orkhon. IAET, Novosibirsk, 2010, 384 p
- Frei K.M., Frei R., Mannering U., Gleba M., Nosch M.L., Lyngstrøm H.: Provenance of ancient textiles a pilot study evaluating the strontium isotope system in wool. Archaeometry 51, 252–276 (2009)
- Jahn B.M., Gallet S., Han J.: Geochemistry of the Xining, Xifeng and Jixian sections, Loess Plateau of China eolian dust provenance and paleosol evolution during the last 140 ka. Chemical Geology 178(1–4), 71–94 (2001)
- Kasiri M.B., Karimi H.Z.: Study of skeletons of the Iron Age cemetery of Tabriz by strontium isotopes analysis. Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 16, 359–364 (2017)
- Khatsenovich A.M., Rybin E.P., Bazargur D., Marchenko D.V., Kogai S.A., Shevchenko T.A., Klementiev A., Gunchinsuren B., Olsen J.W.: Middle Paleolithic human dispersal in Central Asia: new archaeological investigations in the Orkhon Valley Mongolia. Antiquity 93(370), e20, 1–8 (2019)
- Khatsenovich A.M., Vishnevskaya I.A., Bazargur D., Volvakh A.O., Klementiev A.M., Ge J., Zhilich S.V., Marchenko D.V., Okuneva T.G., Kogai S.A., Gunchinsuren B., Rybin E.P., Olsen J.W., Derevianko A.P.: Late Pleistocene paleoenvironments and episodic human occupations in the

Orkhon valley of Central Mongolia. Archaeology, Ethnology & Anthropology of Eurasia 49(2), 3–22 (2021)

- Kiseleva D.V., Koryakova L.N., Sharapova S.V., Kosintsev P.A., Zaitseva M.V., Streletskaya M.V., Cerednichenko N.V., Fokina A.K., Shagalov E.S.: Opredelenie mikroelementnogo I izotopnogo sostava Sr v obraztsa khkostnoi i zubnoi tkani cheloveka I zhivotnykhiz arkheologicheskikh pamyatnikov Yuzhnogo Uralaepokhi bronzy (Determination of the trace element and Sr isotopic composition in bone and dental tissue samples of humans and animals from Bronze Age archaeological sites of the Southern Urals). Geoarkheologiya I arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya–2017 (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy), 41–46. (2017) (In Russian)
- Kohn M.J., Schoeninger M.J., Barker W.W.: Altered states: effects of diagenesis on fossil tooth chemistry.Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 63(18), 2737–2747 (1999)
- Price T.D., Burton J.H., Bentley R.A.: The Characterization of Biologically Available Strontium Isotope Ratios for the Study of Prehistoric Migration. Archaeometry, 44(1), 117–135 (2002)
- Ronov A.B., Balashov Yu.A., Migdisov A.A.: Geokhimiya redkozemelnykh elementov v osadochnom tsikle (Geochemistry of rare earth elements in sedimentary cycles). Geokhimiya (Geochemistry) 1, 3–19 (1967). (In Russian)
- Scharlotta I., Weber A.: Mobility of middle Holocene foragers in the Cis-Baikal region, Siberia: Individual life history approach, strontium ratios, rare earth and trace elements. Quaternary International 348, 37–65 (2014)
- Sikosek B., Goikovi S.: An experimental determination of geochemical facies of sedimentary rocks in the Dinarides based on Th/U ratio. FreibergerForschungshefte C210, 197–211(1966)
- Sun S.S., McDonough, W.F.: Chemical and isotopic systematics of oceanic basalts: implications for mantle composition and processes. In: Magmatism in the Oceanic Basins. (Eds. Saunders A.D., Norry M.J.). Geological Society London Special Publications 42, 313–345 (1989)
- Taylor S.R., McLennan S.M., McCulloch M.T.: Geochemistry of loess, continental crustal composition and crust model ages. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta47, 1897–1905 (1983)
- Taylor S.R., McLennan, S.M. The Continental Crust: Its Composition and Evolution. Blackwell Scientific, Oxford, 1985. 312 p
- Yokoo Y., Nakano T., Nishikawa M., Quan H. Mineralogical variation of Sr–Nd isotopic and elemental compositions in loess and desert sand from the Central Loess Plateau in China as a provenance tracer of wet and dry deposition in the northwestern Pacific. Chemical Geology 204, 45–62 (2004)

Mining of Ores and Minerals in the Past

Starodubtseva Yama—A New Ancient Mine of the Southern Trans-Urals Steppes



167

Polina S. Ankusheva, Irina P. Alaeva, Maksim N. Ankushev, Dmitry A. Artemyev, Evgeny A. Bazhenov, and Anatoly M. Yuminov

Abstract The research aims to determine the morphology and preliminary dating of the ancient mine Starodubtseva Yama. The mine is located 250 km southwest of Chelyabinsk, Russia. It was first identified with geological prospecting, and then in 2020, it was surveyed during a geoarchaeological expedition. The main research methods included a description of the geomorphological position of the ore occurrence, a topographic survey of the mine, and excavation of test pits along the edges of the site. The ore occurrence is confined to the central part of the Kulikovsky ultramafic massif; schlieren accumulations of copper-magnetite ores in serpentinites are noted. The ancient mine is an oval depression of 16 m \times 13 m and up to 2 m deep, surrounded by a ring of dumps up to 1 m high from the modern surface; the diameter along the outer circle of the dumps is 30–35 m. Geomorphological features, its localization within the distribution zone of metal-producing communities of the Late Bronze Age, and the proximity to the Novotemirsky mine allow preliminary dating of the Starodubtseva Yama mine to the 1st half of the 2nd millennium BC.

Keywords Ancient mine · Bronze Age · Southern Trans-Urals · Sintashta culture · Alakul culture · Copper metallurgy

1 Introduction

The widespread metal production in the steppes of the Southern Trans-Urals began at the turn of the 3rd to the 2nd millennia BC. Evidence of metal smelting from copper ores appeared en masse on the fortified settlements of the Sintashta culture in this region (c. 2050–1800 BC (Hanks et al. 2007; Epimakhov 2020)). They are represented by fragments of ores and slags in the cultural layer, ingots, technological ceramics, furnaces, and metal artifacts. The post-Sintashta period is represented by

P. S. Ankusheva · I. P. Alaeva

South Urals State Humanitarian Pedagogical University, Chelyabinsk, Russia

P. S. Ankusheva (\boxtimes) · M. N. Ankushev · D. A. Artemyev · E. A. Bazhenov · A. M. Yuminov Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_15

the sites of the Alakul culture (c. 1900–1500 BC (Hanks et al. 2007; Epimakhov 2016; Krause et al. 2019))—unfortified settlements and burial grounds. Despite reducing the amount of slag in settlements, evidence for developed metal production in this period is evident. It was represented by copper and bronze tools and jewelry, ceramic and stone foundry molds for casting, metal ingots, and heat engineering structures with signs of metallurgical operations (Grigoriev 2015; Alaeva et al. 2021).

The question remains about the sources of ore raw materials and mining technologies of the population of the above cultural assemblages. Most of the discussions about the role, scale, and degree of specialization of metal production are based only on materials from settlements and burial grounds (Vinogradov 1995; Grigoriev 2015: 313–322; Epimakhov and Berseneva 2016; Chechushkov and Petrov 2021; Vinogradov 2021, etc.), drawing little information about mining. Many regions of North Eurasia characterized disproportion between the number of the identified settlement of metal producing communities and related mines. The southern Trans-Urals of Russia are no exception: identifying ancient mines in the modern Chelyabinsk region and adjacent areas is difficult. Most of them are disturbed or destroyed by the Russian industry in the Modern Age.

Nevertheless, the early attempts to find the ore base of the Alakul populations began in the 1950s (Salnikov 1967). The dense network of Bronze Age archaeological sites in the central part of the modern Chelyabinsk region of Russia made it possible to assume the use of the surrounding ore occurrences of copper, traces of the development of which in the pre-industrial period have survived in the form of the so-called "The Chud mines" (i.e., the mines of non-Russian peoples). The next stage of the search for mines is associated with the expedition headed by E. N. Chernykh in the 1960s–70s. Chernykh proposed the concept of metallurgical provinces that existed in the dawn of the Bronze Age on the territory of the former USSR and were based on the exploitation of various sources of copper. The Eurasian steppe metallurgical province was the largest province of the Late Bronze Age. The Ural Mining and metallurgical region were one of the centers of metallurgy and metalworking (Chernykh 1978, 1992). Surveys of its deposits made it possible to distinguish several metallurgical groups, which included copper products.

In the eastern part of the Ural mining and metallurgical region obtained metal artifacts can be assigned to two groups. They are the Tash-Kazgan (TK) groups and the Yelenovsko-Ushkattinskaya (EU) group, and in chemical characteristics, they are close to the Tash-Kazgan deposits in the southern Urals and Yelenovskoe-Ushkatinskoe in the north part of Mugodzhary, respectively. In Chernykh's opinion, these mines of the Trans-Ural mining and metallurgical center became the basis for the Andronovo (Alakul) metallurgical center (Chernykh 1970: 37–45, 124).

The Bronze Age attribution of the discovered mines has been exclusively justified by their localization in the zone of Late Bronze Age sites in all of these cases, as well as during the recent exploration at the Stepnoye archaeological district (Doonan et al. 2014). So far, such interpretation has not been yet supported by the results of excavations, radiocarbon dating, comparative mineralogical and geochemical analysis of ore composition from these mines and close-by settlements. In the 1990s, the geoarchaeological expedition founded by V. V. Zaykov at the Institute of Mineralogy of the

RAS began to examine copper deposits in the steppe zone of Central Eurasia to search for ancient mining sites. To date, the deposits and ore occurrences with evidence for pre-industrial mining have been discovered in the Ural-Mugodzhary region. The ore bodies' occurrence near to the surface allowed for their development during the Bronze Age (Zaykov et al. 2002; Zaykov et al. 2013). In the Southern Trans-Urals, only three mines have archaeological evidence of the Bronze Age exploitation; they are mines of Vorovskaya Yama, Novonikolaevsky, and Novotemirsky (Zaykov et al. 2000; Ankushev et al. 2018; Ankusheva et al. 2021). We believe this list is not complete yet. The discovery and further research using high-precision methods of new mining sites is the first step towards solving the problem of assessing the level and scope of ancient metallurgical technologies. This article presents the results of the primary field survey of the Starodubtseva Yama copper ore occurrence in the steppe zone of the Southern Trans-Urals. The main task of the expedition was the identification and preliminary dating of prehistoric mines at this ore occurrence.

2 Materials and Methods

The Starodubtseva Yama ore occurrence is located in the Chesma District, 250 km southwest of Chelyabinsk (Russia). This area is included in the modern landscape steppe zone Transural elevated peneplain and represents a hilly plain sufficiently saturated birch groves. The ore occurrence called 'Starodubtseva Yama' (also referred to in geological reports as Kulikovskoe, Novotemirskoe 7) is confined to the central part of the Kulikovsky ultramafic massif. It has a complex structure and consists of tectonically combined blocks of apogharzburgite and apolerzolite serpentinites, gabbroid, and host volcanogenic-sedimentary rocks (Fig. 1).

Schlieren accumulations of copper-magnetite ores in serpentinites were noted during the previous work at the ore occurrence. Magnetite predominates; pyrrhotite, chalcopyrite, and bornite are found. Content (%): Cu 0.37–1.56; Fe 59.8–69.2; Ag 3.2–7.5 ppm. (Tevelev et al. 2018: 109).

Primary data on pre-industrial mining appear in the reports on geological prospecting works in the former Troitsk district of the Ural region (Shilnikov 1932; Bukina and Glushkova 1953; Tevelev et al. 2018: 109). According to the location from the reports, we identified a characteristic structure—a depression surrounded by a shaft or dump—from satellite images from Google Earth software. A visual inspection of the ore occurrence area and its surroundings with an area of 1×1 km was carried out during a field survey in September 2020.

The topographic survey of the Starodubtseva Yama mine consisted of instrumental measurements of heights using a Sokkia CX-62 total station. The survey of highaltitude landmarks of the site's relief was made with a step of 2–4 m. The orthophotoand situational maps of the site were made using aerial photography on a DJI Phantom 4 Pro quadcopter.



Fig. 1 Geological scheme of Starodubtseva Yama and Novotemirsky ancient mines region. 1—Riphean schists and quartzites; 2—Ordovician ultramafic rocks; 3—Ordovician volcanic and terrigenous rocks; 4—Silurian carbonate, terrigenous and volcanogenic rocks; 5—Devonian volcanic, terrigenous, and carbonate rocks; 6—carbonian carbonate, terrigenous and volcanogenic rocks; 7—Permian intrusions of granitoids and diorites; 8—faults; 9—towns; 10—ancient mines (according to the Geological map of the Russian Federation and the adjacent territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Scale 1: 1 000 000. Sheet N40, (41) (Ufa). OJSC "Bashkirgeologiya". Compiled by Kozlov et al. 2001).

Three test pits $1 \text{ m} \times 1$ m in size were laid along the outer edges of the dumps to study the structure of strata of the cultural layer and the boundaries of its distribution. The depth of the pit included the entire thickness of the soil horizon to the culturally sterile subsoil (weathering crust) with a control digging of 10 cm.

3 Results and Discussion

An artificial structure resembling a prehistoric mining site was revealed during the inspection of the ore occurrence territory. This site was named Starodubtseva Yama, following the existing geological reports toponym. The mine is located in the valley of the Temir-Zingeyka River, 2.6 km southeast of the Novotemirsky village. It is situated on a relatively flat area with a slight slope to the north-east to the southwest on the old arable land, sod currently steppe vegetation. The partially overgrown with



Fig. 2 Plan of the surrounding area of the Starodubtseva Yama mine. The contours are drawn every 0.5 m

bushes and detached birches ravine is located 330 m west of the site—it is an oxbow of the river flowing into another ravine, designated on the maps as Sporny (Fig. 2).

The Starodubtseva Yama mine is an oval-shaped depression of 16 m \times 13 m and up to 2 m deep (on the present-day surface). It is aligned with the NNE-SSW direction. The meadow vegetation of the hygrophilous species covers the center of the depression. The depression is surrounded by dumps with soddy steppe vegetation up to 1 m high from the present-day surface. The height of the dumps is the lowest on the southwest side and it is up to 0.5 m, which suggests the presence of an entrance to the working area. The diameter of the mine along the outer circle of the dumps is 30–35 m (Figs. 3, 4).

The outer part of the northwestern dump is shaped like a step $8 \text{ m} \times 1 \text{ m}$ in size—probably cut off by earth-moving equipment during the present-day plowing. A similar step is also observed on the ridge of the northern dump, closer to the inner side, up to $8 \text{ m} \log$. Large (up to 50 cm) serpentinite boulders, fragments of oxidized copper ores—malachite and azurite—are discovered at the top of the dump (Fig. 5). No artifacts were found on the site.

Three test pits $1 \text{ m} \times 1$ m were dug to identify the boundaries of distribution and the specifics of the cultural layer (dumps).

Test pit no. 1

Test pit no. 1 is located at the southeastern edge of the site, in the outer field of the dump. The modern surface of the site is covered with steppe vegetation. The variation of the heights on the surface of the pit was up to 6 cm; the highest northwestern angle of the pit was taken as a conditional zero. The sides of the pit are aligned with the cardinal directions; the features of the cultural layer were recorded every 10 cm at levels of -10, -20, -30, -40 cm (sterile subsoil) from the zero. The pit depth was 40 cm.



Fig. 3 Topographic map of the Starodubtseva Yama mine. The contours are drawn every 0.3 m

Fig. 4 The Starodubtseva Yama mine, view from the southwest (quadcopter photo)



Fig. 5 The mine's dump surface, view from the northeast



The following stratigraphy has been revealed by the test pit (Fig. 6, 1-4):

0cm/-10 cm—Sod (Soil-Vegetation Layer with Plant Roots).

-10 cm/-25 cm—dark gray humus soil with a small amount of serpentinite crushed stone 1-2 cm in size, up to 5 cm; two small rounded sandstone fragments were found in the layer.



Fig. 6 Test pits profiles through Starodubtseva Yama mine: 1, 2—No. 1, north profile; 3, 4—No. 1, east profile; 5, 6—No. 2, south profile; 7, 8—No. 2, west profile
-25 cm/-40 cm—dark gray, wetter, humified soil interspersed with brown sandy loam (buried soil). The layer contains small rounded sandstone fragments 2–5 cm in size.

-40 cm—the sterile layer represented by light brown sandy loam (weathering crust).

The location of the pit and its stratigraphy reflect the periphery of the southeastern dump, which is confirmed by a small amount of serpentinite crushed stone in the cultural layer. No finds were found in the pit.

Test pit no. 2

Test pit no. 2 is located on the outer part of the northeastern dump, which is flattened and shaped like a 'step'—probably due to undercutting with earth-moving equipment during plowing. The modern surface of the site was covered with steppe vegetation. The variation of the heights on the surface of the pit was up to 13 cm; the highest south-western corner of the pit was taken as a zero point. The sides of the pit are aligned with the cardinal directions; the features of the cultural layer were recorded every 10–20 cm at the levels of -10, -20, -30, -40, -60 cm (sterile subsoil) from the zero. The pit depth was 60 cm.

The following stratigraphy has been revealed by the test pit (Fig. 6, 5-8):

0 cm/-10 cm—sod (soil-vegetation layer with plant roots). A fragment of an iron plowshare was found in the sod layer in the northwestern corner of the pit at a depth of 5 cm from the surface.

-10 cm/-40 cm—dark gray humus soil, abundantly saturated with serpentinite crushed stone 3–5 cm in size (individual fragments are up to 25 cm), copper ores (malachite), single rounded sandstone fragments. The layer is a waste rock dump. It becomes thinner in the direction from south to north, which is well observed in the profile. In the upper horizons of the layer, organic remains are present (rotted sod layer).

-0 cm/-60 cm—dark gray, wetter, humified soil interspersed with brown sandy loam (buried soil).

-60 cm—sterile layer represented by light brown sandy loam (weathering crust).

The location of the test pit and its stratigraphy reflect a part of the northeastern dump of the waste ore-host rock, which is confirmed by the abundance of crushed stone of serpentinites and copper ores in the cultural layer. The upper horizons of the dump have been disturbed and loosened by modern plowing. This is evidenced by the significant thickness of the sod layer (up to 20 cm), the abundance of humus and the loose nature of the dump, the presence of remnants of old, redeposited sod in the layer, and the iron fragment of the plow in the near-sod layer. No ancient artifacts were found in the pit.

Test pit no. 3

Test pit no. 3 is located on the outer part of the northwestern dump. The modern surface was covered with steppe vegetation. The variation of the heights on the surface of the pit was up to 14 cm; the highest southeastern corner of the test pit was taken as a zero point. The sides of the pit are aligned with the cardinal directions;

the features of the cultural layer were recorded every 10–20 cm depending on the context at the levels of -10, -20, -30, -50 cm (sterile subsoil) from the zero. The test pit depth was 50 cm.

0cm/-15 cm—Sod (Soil-Vegetation Layer with Plant Roots).

-15 cm/-30 cm—dark gray, dense humus soil with fine gravel of serpentinite 2– 5 cm in size, individual fragments of serpentinite reach 20 cm. Serpentinite contains separate malachite and azurite veins. The layer contains brown sandstone pebbles, as well as a fragment of silicite, in which numerous quartz crystals are visible in the fracture.

-0 cm/-50 cm—dark gray, wetter, humified soil interspersed with brown sandy loam (buried soil).

-50 cm—the sterile layer represented by light brown sandy loam (weathering crust).

The location of the pit and stratigraphy reflect the periphery of the northwestern dump, which is confirmed by the presence of crushed stone of serpentinites and copper ores in the cultural layer. No ancient artifacts were found in the pit.

The discovered structure has the following evidence of mining activities: the location on the territory of ore occurrence, presence of copper-bearing minerals on the surface (malachite and azurite), stratigraphic features of the cultural layer, represented by crushed stones of waste ore-hosting rock. The good sodding and the high degree of flattening of the dumps indicate that the mine was used in antiquity. Let us now consider the facts that suggest the use of the Starodubtseva Yama during the 2nd millennium BC by the Sintashta-Abashevo and/or Alakul populations.

Firstly, geographically, Starodubtseva Yama is located in the center of the region of localization of the Sintashta fortified settlements (Zdanovich and Batanina 2002; Koryakova and Epimakhov 2007: 66–98); the unfortified settlements of the Alakul culture and the final Bronze Age were also identified in the Temir-Zingeyka river valley at a distance of 3–15 km from the mine. The Novotemirsky mine is dated to the 2nd millennium BC according to its artifact complex and the radiocarbon dating. The site is located only 1.45 km northwest of Starodubtseva Yama (Ankusheva et al. 2021).

Secondly, the remaining shape and size of Starodubtseva Yama possess much resemblance with other Late Bronze Age mines of the Southern Trans-Urals, namely: Novotemirsky, Vorovskaya Yama, Novonikolaevsky. All of them today look like a single central depression (quarry) of a rounded or oval shape, surrounded by a circle of flattened soddy dumps of crushed rocks (Table 1). The Alakul culture mines in the Main Ural fault zone (Ishkininsky, Dergamyshsky) and the Mugodzhary Hills (Elenovsky, Sarlybay II) also demonstrate a similar morphology (Zaykov et al. 2005; Tkachev et al. 2013).

Excavations at the Novotemirsky mine have shown that its present-day appearance differs significantly from the buried structure. The latter is a system of backfilled mines and adits and dumps of waste rock and copper-bearing minerals. In addition to the central pit, the main structure of the site, a rectangular shaft of 8 m in depth, a narrow winding manhole, small pits left after sampling of thin ore veinlets were found at the southeastern edge of the site. All mine workings were covered with waste

Table 1 Morphologica	l features of the Bronze	Age mines in the Southe	rn Trans-Urals				
Mine title	Coordinates (latitude, longitude)	Period, culture	Central quarry shape	Size (with dumps), m	Central quarry size, m	Dump height, m	Central quarry depth (current state), m
Novotemirsky	53.6738, 60.1594	LBA (Sintashta/Abashevo, Alakul)	Oval	30×40	20×15	0.2–2	3
Vorovskaya Yama	53.0364, 59.5840	LBA (Alakul)	Round	55×60	30×40	0.8–1,5	3–5
Novonikolaevsky	53.1550, 60.8941	LBA (Alakul?), FBA	Oval	65×40	35×20	0.5	2
Starodubtseva Yama	53.6640, 60.1745	? ?	Oval	30×35	16×13	0.5-1	2
The table is compiled a	ccording to: (Zaykov et	al. 2000; Yuminov et al.	2015; Ankushev et	t al. 2018; Anŀ	cusheva et al. 2021	(

Trans-Urals
Southern
1 the
.Ħ
e mines
Age
Bronze
the
of
features
al
gic
ы
Å.
Morp
-
le

P. S. Ankusheva et al.

rock and weathering crust soil, so they were difficult to identify on the surface. We assume a similar system at the Starodubtseva Yama mine, the features of which can be established with the help of geophysical exploration and archaeological excavations.

Thirdly, the type of copper ores presented at Starodubtseva Yama—oxidized copper ores in ultrabasites—was the preferred raw material of the Sintashta metallurgists. This is confirmed by the mineralogical and geochemical features of slags found in the Sintashta fortified settlements: relict inclusions of serpentinite and Cr-spinels, high content of chromium, nickel in slag, and arsenic in melt inclusions (Grigoriev 2015; Ankushev et al. 2021).

In sum, the location, morphological, geological, and mineralogical features of the Starodubtseva Yama mine make it possible to preliminarily date this site to the Late Bronze Age (the first half of the 2nd millennium BC).

4 Conclusions

We assume that the Starodubtseva Yama mine is another perfectly preserved object of the earliest mining activity in the Southern Trans-Urals. A further test of this hypothesis is possible with the employment of archaeological excavation to find chronology-related artifacts and other evidence of human activity, suitable for absolute dating. Nevertheless, it is already possible to ascertain both, the regular nature of such mines in the Southern Trans-Urals and relatively common features of their morphology and cultural layers. Further understanding of these features contributes to our knowledge of the nature, role, and scale of the most ancient mining activities of the population of the Ural Region and helps to preserve this cultural heritage in the active industrial region of Russia.

Acknowledgements The work is funded by RSF project N° 21-78-20015 "Technologies of mining and metallurgical production of the Bronze Age in the evolution of a cultural-historical landscape in the Ural region".

References

- Alaeva, I.P., Vasyuchkov, E.O., Ankusheva, P.S., Vinogradov, N.B., Rassomakhin, M.A.: The Functionality of the Bronze Age Hearths from the Southern Trans-Urals (Based on the Materials from Zvyagino-4 Settlement). In: Yuminov A., Ankusheva N., Ankushev M., Zaykova E., Artemyev D. (eds) Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. GAM 2019. Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Cham, 96–103 (2021)
- Ankushev, M.N., Yuminov, A.M., Zaykov, V.V., Noskevich V.V.: Mednyye rudniki bronzovogo veka v Yuzhnom Zaural'ye (Bronze Age Copper mines in the Southern Trans-Urals). Izvestiya Irkutskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Seriya Geoarkheologiya. Etnologiya. Antropologiya (Bulletin of Irkutsk State University. Series Geoarchaeology. Ethnology. Anthropology) 23, 87– 110 (2018) (In Russian). https://doi.org/10.26516/2227-2380.2018.23.87

- Ankushev, M.N., Artemyev, D.A., Blinov, I.A., Bogdanov, S.V.: Bronze Age metallurgical slags from the South Urals: types, mineralogy and copper sources. Periodico di Mineralogia 90 (2021). In print
- Ankusheva, P.S., Alaeva, I.P., Ankushev, M.N., Fomichev, A.V., Zazovskaya, E.P., Blinov, I.A.: From Ore to Metal: Exploitation of the Novotemirsky Mine, Southern Trans-Urals, in the Second Millennium BC. Archaeology, Ethnology & Anthropology of Eurasia 49/1, 30–38 (2021)
- Bukina, M.N., Glushkova, G.A. Predvaritelny otchet po geologo-poiskovym rabotam v masshtabe 1: 50 000 (listy N-40-96-B i N-41-85-A) za 1952–1953 gg. (Preliminary report on geological prospecting works at a scale of 1: 50 000 (sheets N-40-96-B and N-41-85-A) for 1952-1953). Ural State University, Sverdlovsk (1953) (In Russian)
- Chechushkov, I.V., Petrov, F.N.: The Annual Metal Production at the Late Bronze Age Sites from the Southern Urals. In: Yuminov A., Ankusheva N., Ankushev M., Zaykova E., Artemyev D. (eds) Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. GAM 2019. Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Cham, 7–19 (2021)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Drevneyshaya metallurgiya Urala i Povolzh'ya (The ancient metallurgy of the Urals and the Volga region), 185 p. Nauka, Moscow (1970) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Metallurgicheskiye provintsii i periodizatsiya epokhi rannego metalla na territorii SSSR (Metallurgical provinces and periodization of the early metal era in the territory USSR). Sovetskaya arkheologiya (Soviet archeology) 4, 53–82 (1978) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.: Ancient mining and metallurgy in the USSR. The Early Metal Age, 359 p. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1992)
- Doonan, R., Hanks, B., Zdanovich, D., Kupriyanova, E., Pitman, D., Batanina, N., Johnson, J.: Metals, society, and economy in the late prehistoric Eurasian steppe. In: Roberts, B.W., Thornton, C.P. (eds) Archaeometallurgy in Global Perspective, 755–784. Springer, N.-Y. (2014)
- Epimakhov, A.V.: K voprosu o radiouglerodnoy argumentatsii ranney datirovki alakul'skikh drevnostey (Revisiting radiocarbon argumentation of early dating of Alakul antiquities). Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii I etnografii (Bulletin of Archaeology, Anthropology, and Ethnography) 3(34), 60–67 (2016) (In Russian)
- Epimakhov, A.V.: Radiouglerodnyye argumenty abashevskogo proiskhozhdeniya sintashtinskikh traditsiy bronzovogo veka (Radiocarbon arguments for the Abashevo origin of the Sintashta traditions in the Bronze Age). Uralsky istorichesky vestnik (Ural Historical Journal) 4(69), 51–60 (2020) (In Russian)
- Epimakhov, A.V., Berseneva, N.A.: Metal Production, Mortuary Ritual, and Social Identity: the Evidence of Sintashta Burials, Southern Urals. Archaeology, Ethnology & Anthropology of Eurasia 44/1, 65–71 (2016)
- Grigoriev, S.: Metallurgical Production in Northern Eurasia in the Bronze Age, 831 p. Oxford: Archaeopress Publishing Ltd (2015)
- Hanks, B.K., Epimakhov, A.V., Renfrew, A.C.: Towards a Refined Chronology for the Bronze Age of the Southern Urals, Russia. Antiquity 81(312), 353–367 (2007)
- Koryakova, L.N. Epimakhov, A.V.: The Urals and western Siberia in the Bronze and Iron Ages. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2007)
- Kozlov, V.I.: Gosudarstvennaya geologicheskaya karta Rossiyskoy Federatsii i sopredel'noy territorii respubliki Kazakhstan (State geological map of the Russian Federation and adjacent territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan). Scale 1: 1 000 000. Sheet N40, (41). OJSC "Bashkirgeologiya", Ufa (2001) (In Russian)
- Krause, R., Epimakhov, A.V., Kupriyanova, E.V., Novikov, I.K., Stolarczyk E.: The Petrovka Bronze Age Sites: Issues in Taxonomy and Chronology. Archaeology, Ethnology & Anthropology of Eurasia 47/1, 54–63 (2019)
- Salnikov, K.V.: Ocherki drevney istorii Yuzhnogo Urala (Essays on the ancient history of the Southern Urals), 408 p. Nauka, Moscow (1967) (In Russian)
- Shilnikov, D.A.: Ocherk mednykh mestorozhdeniy na Yuzhnom Urale v byvshem Troitskom okruge Uralskoy oblasti (Sketch of copper deposits in the South Urals in the former Troitsk district of the Ural region). Chelyabinsk (1932) (In Russian)

- Tevelev, A.V., Kosheleva, I.A., Burshteyn, Y.F., Tevelev, A.V., Kuznetsov, I.Y., Popov, V.S.: Gosudarstvennaya geologicheskaya karta Rossiyskoy Federatsii (State geological map of the Russian Federation). Scale 1: 200 000. Second Edition. South Ural series. Sheet N-41-XIX (Varna). Explanatory letter, 236 p. Moskovskiy filial «VSEGEI», Moscow (2018) (In Russian)
- Tkachev, V.V., Baytleu, D.A., Yuminov, A.M., Ankushev, M.N., Zhalmaganbetov, Z.M., Kalieva, Z.S.: Novyye issledovaniya pamyatnikov gornoy arkheologii v Yuzhnykh Mugalzharakh (Mountain archeology new studies of the South Mugalzhary sites). In: Paper of the Branch of the Institute of Archeology Named after A. Kh. Margulana 2, 264–288. IAB, Astana (2013) (In Russian)
- Vinogradov, N.B.: Khronologiya, soderzhaniye i kul'turnaya prinadlezhnost pamyatnikov sintashtinskogo tipa bronzovogo veka v Yuzhnom Zaural'ye (Chronology, content and cultural identity of the Sintashta type sites of the Bronze Age in the Southern Trans-Urals). Vestnik Cheliabinskogo gosudarstvennogo pedagogicheskogo instituta. Istoriia (Bulletin of the Chelyabinsk State Pedagogical Institute. History Series) 1, 16–26 (1995) (In Russian)
- Vinogradov, N.B.: Metal Production in the Life of Sintashta and Petrovka Communities (Clans): Reflections of the Field Archaeologist. In: Yuminov A., Ankusheva N., Ankushev M., Zaykova E., Artemyev D. (eds) Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. GAM 2019. Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Cham, 178–184 (2021)
- Yuminov, A.M., Ankushev, M.N., Rassomakhin, M.A.: Drevniy mednyy rudnik Novotemirskiy (Yuzhnyy Ural) (Ancient copper mine Novotemirsky (South Urals). Geoarkheologiya i arkheologicheskaya mineralogiya-2015 (Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy), 78–81. Institute of Mineralogy UB RAS, Miass (2015) (In Russian)
- Zaykov, V.V., Zdanovich, G.B., Yuminov, A.M.: Vorovskaya yama—novyy rudnik bronzovovo veka na Yuzhnom Urale (The Vorovskaya Yama is a new Bronze Age mine in the South Urals).
 In: Arkheologicheskiy istochnik i modelirovanie drevnikh tehnologiy (Archaeological source and modeling of ancient technologies). Trudy muzeya-zapovednika "Arkaim" (Works of Arkaim culture preserve), 112–130. Arkaim, Chelyabinsk (2000) (In Russian)
- Zaykov, V.V., Yuminov, A.M., Bushmakin, A.P., Zaykova, E.V., Tairov, A.D., Zdanovich, G.B.: Ancient copper mines and products from base and noble metals in the Southern Urals. Journal of Indo-European Studies Monograph Series 46. Complex Societies of Central Eurasia from 3rd to the 1st millennium BC, 46(2), 417–442. Washington (2002)
- Zaykov, V.V., Yuminov, A.M., Dunaev, A.Yu., Zdanovich, G.B., Grigoriev, SA: Geologomineralogicheskiye issledovaniya drevnikh mednykh rudnikov na Yuzhnom Urale (Geological and mineralogical studies of ancient copper mines in the Southern Urals). Archaeology, Ethnology & Anthropology of Eurasia 4(24), 101–115 (2005) (In Russian)
- Zaykov, V.V., Yuminov, A.M., Ankushev, M.N., Tkachev, V.V., Noskevich, V.V., Yepimakhov, A.V.: Gorno-metallurgicheskiye tsentry bronzovogo veka v Zaural'ye i Mugodzharakh (Mining and metallurgical centers of the Bronze Age in the Trans-Urals and Mugodzhary). Izvestiya Irkutskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Seriya «Geoarkheologiya. Etnografiya. Antropologiya» (Bulletin of Irkutsk State University. Series "Geoarcheology. Ethnography. Anthropology") 1(2), 174–195 (2013) (In Russian)
- Zdanovich, G.B., Batanina, I.M.: Planography of the fortified centres of the Middle Bronze Age in the Southern Trans-Urals according to aerial photography data. In: Jones-Bley, K. Zdanovich, D.G. (ed.) Complex societies of Central Eurasia from the 3rd to the 1st millennium BC, volume 1: ethos, language, culture; general problems; studying Sintashta; the Eneolithic and Bronze Ages (Journal of Indo-European Studies Monograph Series 45), pp. 121–138. Washington, DC: Institute for the Study of Man (2002)

The Paleosoils Properties of Vorovskaya Yama Copper Mine and the Late Bronze Age Climate on the Trans-Urals Plateau



Liudmila N. Plekhanova

Abstract The paleosoil layers from under the dumps of the Late Bronze Age copper mine "Vorovskaya Yama" in the Southern Urals are studied. Based on the morphological and chemical properties of the buried soil and modern surface soil, the climatic conditions that existed during the Late Bronze Age in the Trans-Ural peneplain have been reconstructed. It has been found that the soils of this time contained more organic carbon than at present day. This allows us to conclude that the precipitation in the period of the mine use (2nd millennium BC) was somehow higher compared to the present day. We also highlight the consequences of the ancient anthropogenic pressure visible in the buried soil in the form of highly soluble salts and carbonates drawn up to the surface. It was shown that in the area of distribution of the ancient copper mines, soils under dumps of mines are a unique source of information about the climatic conditions that existed during the period of the mine existence. Taking into account that in ancient times a large number of mines simultaneously operated on different elements of the relief within the same ore-bearing province, the soils buried under the dumps of the mine allow us to reconstruct the soil cover as a whole on different elements of the relief.

Keywords Paleosoils · Paleoclimate · Mine · Urals · Steppe · Buried soils · Bronze Age

1 Introduction

Soils are practically the only natural formations that integrally reflect the climatic, biological, and geomorphological conditions of their formation.

As a source of climate reconstructions, the soil is studied by two principal methods that can provide information about the paleoclimate: the palynological spectra

Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_16

L. N. Plekhanova (🖂)

Institute of Physical-Chemical and Biological Problems in Soil RAS, Pushchino, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*,

(Ryabogina et al. 2019; Stobbe et al. 2016) and the paleosoil method. The methodological basis for reading soil properties allows obtaining data on morphology, granulometry, aggregate composition, hummus, carbonate and gypsum profiles, mobile phosphates as an indicator of anthropogenic impact, and the microbial component of paleosoils.

The comparative analysis of soil profiles located within the same element of the landscape but formed during different periods allows building a directly comparable chronosequence. This comparison provides insights into the soil dynamic through time and helps to reconstruct the climatic conditions in which the soil was formed. The main diagnostic features of the paleosoil that reflect the state and temporal dynamics of moisture are described as the chronosequence of the steppe zone of southern Russia (Demkin et al. 2012; Demkina et al. 2017; Rusakov et al. 2019). The diagnostic features include the humus layer and the reserves of humus; the composition of humus; the change of the magnetic susceptibility; the depth of the soil profile; the carbonate accumulation; gypsum and soluble salts and their reserves in layers up to 1.5 m; the forms of carbonates precipitation; sodic horizons; the severity of signs of alkalinity.

The aridization is diagnosed with complex stratigraphic methods as the decreasing proportion of woody flora and forbs in the pollen spectra, the decreasing proportion of xerophytic plants, the decreasing depth of the humus horizon, and the decreasing magnetic susceptibility which is caused by the depressed growth of plants due to lack of moisture, accessible accumulation of salts, carbonates, and gypsum, approaching the surface, increase of their stocks, transformation of carbonate precipitation forms.

The humidization of the climate is diagnosed by the opposite set of changes in the properties of the profile. There is the desalination of the soil and underground layer, the increase in the humus content, and the magnitude of the magnetic susceptibility. In addition to the morphological, physical, and chemical properties of paleosoils, there are microbiological parameters that can be identified. They provide contrasting characteristics of the microbial community in the steppe paleosoils during the arid and humid climatic periods. A more humid climate leads to an increase in the productivity of phytocenoses, and, consequently, to large biomass of plant litter entering the soil, an increase in the biomass of active microorganisms, and a high proportion of soil organic carbon. Also, in the ecological-trophic structure of microorganisms, those using readily available organic matter predominate.

2 Materials

Ancient mines are not common objects for the analysis of paleosoils. It can be argued that the study of paleosoils under the mine dump of the Bronze Age is pioneering for the Southern Urals, where this type of work was carried out only at three sites— Vorovskaya Yama and Novotemir mine in the Chelyabinsk region and Ishkinino mine in the Orenburg region. Good preservation of soils buried under the embankments is required to fulfill the conditions for building the chrono-series of buried soils and carrying out paleoclimate reconstructions. This condition is fully met by the embankments of mine outflows, which provided the isolation of the ancient soils from wetting and other damage as a result of the mine development. Also, the embankments are voluminous and have a stony character, which makes it possible to compare the soils there under with buried soils under the ramparts of other archaeological sites.

The study area is located in the temperate zone of the West Siberian region which determines the continentality of the modern climate. The climate is sharply continental with little snow and cold winters, dry and hot summers. There is 250–330 mm of precipitation per year, of which 45% is in summer and 12% is in winter, and only 130–180 mm during the growing season. The character of summer precipitation is mainly stormy. The annual evaporation rate is 1.5–2 times higher than the annual precipitation. The moisture coefficient is 0.44–0.77; the hydrothermal coefficient (Selyaninov's GTK) does not exceed 0.8–1.0.

The Vorovskaya Yama mine is located in the southern part of the Chelyabinskregion, on the territory of archaeological sites called the "Country of Towns" dating back to the Middle Bronze Age. Cross-Section 1 is represented by the background soil (Chernozem type, develop on the same deposits as the surface of the entire mine, fine earth of copper-mine rocks with transitions to brown iron ore), cross-Section 4 by the soil buried under the embankment, compared with the development of the mine by the population of the Andronovo cultural community.

3 Results and Discussion

Only a small number of archaeological objects on the territory of the Trans-Ural steppe have been studied regarding their paleosoils (Khokhlova et al. 2019; Plekhanova and Demkin 2008; Plekhanova 2017, 2019; Kashirskaya et al. 2017; Thiemeyer et al. 2013). The diagnosis of paleoclimate changes in the Urals requires more detail. The results of the chemical analysis of the Vorovskaya Yama mine soils are presented in Tables 1 and 2, as well as the granulometric composition which makes it possible to compare the soil data.

Soils under the mine's dump differ from the modern soil by a stronger carbonate accumulation, which lies at a depth of 40–80 cm, as well as by a high content of biogenic elements, namely mobile forms of phosphorus and potassium. The enrichment with mobile phosphates is typical for the possible exploitation of the buried area by a human.

The humus content in the buried soil is 3.8-1.6%; when applying the conversion factor for the Bronze Age (Demkin et al. 2012), high humus content is obtained in the buried soil (9.5–4%) of the time of dumping. This is a very high value. This correlates with an increased value of magnetic susceptibility at a depth of 20–40 cm in the buried soil. According to the humus data, one could assume a warm climate of that period, but carbonates in the upper part of the soil profile (10–12% at a depth

Table 1 Oralinionicatic composition	UI SUIIS AL VULU	vsкауа таша ш	IIIC					
Sampling depth, cm	Fraction conte	ent (mm), %						Silt/clay
	1-0.25	0.25-0.05	0.05-0.01	0.01-0.005	0.005-0.001	<0.001	<0.01	
Cross-section 4, ancient soil								
0–15	39	27	15	3	7	6	19	0.48
20-40	19	20	18	6	16	21	43	0.48
40-60	15	17	23	8	20	17	45	0.39
60-80	16	22	23	7	18	14	39	0.36
Cross-section 1, background soil								
0-10	22	28	24	4	11	11	26	0.43
20–30	29	25	20	5	11	10	26	0.39
40-50	26	29	19	8	8	10	26	0.38
50-70	20	37	24	5	7	7	19	0.36

Table 1 Granulometric composition of soils at Vorovskava Yama mine

ı mine
Yama
orovskaya
2
from
soils
of the
composition c
Chemical
Table 2

Sampling depth,	Ηd	Humus	CaCO ₃	CaSO ₄	P2O5	K_2O	CEC	Exchangeable cations				η*10 ²
cm					According to Machigin			Ca ⁺⁺	Mg^{++}	Na^+	±+	units SI
		%			mg-eq/100 g of soil							
Cross-section 4, 8	ancient	soil										
0-10	7.3	3.8	1	1	4.3	24	29	19.8	8.2	0.36	0.61	0.53
20-40	8.4	1.6	2.5	I	0.8	31	41	12.3	18.6	9.72	0.55	1.63
40-60	8.6	0.8	10.4	0.51	0.6	32	99	19.1	26.4	19.97	0.48	0.85
60–80	8.3	0	11.8	2.00	1	I	I			I	I	0.32
90-110	8.0	I	5.3	3.05	1	1	I			I	I	1.31
110-130	8.2	I	7.0	I	1	I	I			I	I	0.32
130-135	9.4	1	50.3	1	1	1	I			1	I	0.13
140-170	9.0	I	4.1	I	1	1	I			I	I	4.35
Cross-section 1, ł	backgr	ound soil										
0-10	6.8	7.1	I	Ι	2.9	42	Ι	1	I	I	I	0.55
20–30	7.4	3.5	I	Ι	1.0	31	31	22.5	7.42	0.38	0.68	0.63
40-50	7.8	2.2	2.8	I	1.3	21	44	33.0	10.31	0.41	0.42	0.56
50-70	7.9	1.6	6.5	0.10	1.3	20	Ι	1	I	I	I	0.33
80-100	8.2	0.3	6.2	0.07	1	1	I	1	I	I	I	0.18
100-120	8.5	1	6.2	0.11	1	I	I	1	Ι	I	I	0.04
η-magnetic susc CEC-cation excl	eptibil 1ange (ity capacity										

The Paleosoils Properties of Vorovskaya Yama Copper Mine ...

of 40–80 cm) contradict this. Also, the carbonate crust is pronounced (50% CaCO₃) and lays at a depth of 130–135 cm. Highly elevated carbonates of the buried soil can be an indicator of the effective redistribution of carbonates along with the profile due to good wetting in spring and intense drying in summer (Khomutova et al. 2019). This may be a result of the sharp continentality of the more humid and hot climate of that period, compared to modern. Also, highly elevated carbonates in the buried soil make it possible to formulate a hypothesis about the time of the early exploitation of the mine. The dumping, perhaps, occurred during the period of the crisis, as in the Volga steppes (Demkina et al. 2017).

4 Conclusions

Ecosystems of various landscapes, as well as societies, reacted differently to the same changes in climatic conditions. To date, it has been identified (Demkin et al. 2012; Plekhanova and Demkin 2008) that the different compositions of rocks and the degree of drainage of the territory determine different responses of soils to the same climate changes. For the drained territories, the evolution of soils proceeded according to the same type (Chernozem or Kastanozem), changes occurred at the level of the subtype (Demkin et al. 2012; Demkina et al. 2017). For undrained areas, such as low terraces, during the second half of the Holocene, a repeated alternation of soil salinization-desalinization processes was noted. The plausible reason for the more clear reflection of climatic fluctuations and their preservation in the soils of the valleys is the difference in the diurnal variation of temperatures in watersheds and valleys.

Based on the latest developments in the field of paleoclimate reconstructions and studies of cultural layers of archaeological sites, special approaches are needed to soils under the mine dump. In particular, the study of microbiological components is needed (Khomutova et al. 2019; Kashirskaya et al. 2019, 2020; Evgrafova et al. 2008; Thiemeyer et al. 2013), as one cannot be limited only to traditional chemical analysis. There is a need to perform a complex comparison with cultural layers of objects of a similar time, where most of the criteria have yet to be adapted or developed.

Acknowledgements The study was supported by the Russian State Program (No AAAA-A18-118013190175-5; in 'Parus' № 0191-2019-0046). The chemical analysis was performed using the equipment resources of the Collective Use Center. The author is grateful to the archaeologist, Doctor of History, Prof. G. B. Zdanovich, and geologist Prof. V. V. Zaykov for the assistance in studying the paleosoils of the ancient mine.

References

- Demkin, V.A., Borisov, A.V., Demkina, T.S., Udaltsov, S.N.: Soil Evolution and Climate Dynamics in the Steppes of South-East Russian Plain within the Neolith and Bronze Epochs (IV-II mil. BC). Izvestiya Rossiiskoi Akademii Nauk. Seriya Geograficheskaya (1), 46–57 (2012) (In Russian). https://doi.org/10.15356/0373-2444-2012-1-46-57
- Demkina, T.S., Borisov, A.V., Demkin, V.A., Khomutova, T.E., Kuznetsova, T.V., Eltsov, M.V., Udaltsov, S.N.: Paleoecological crisis in the steppes of the Lower Volga region in the middle of the Bronze Age (III-II centuries BC). Eurasian Soil Science 50(7), 791–804 (2017)https://doi. org/10.1134/S1064229317070018
- Evgrafova, S.Yu., Shibistova, O.B., Zrazhevskaya, G.K., Santruckova, H., Elhottova, D., Cerna, B., Lloyd, D.: Phospholipid fatty acid composition of microorganisms in pine forest soils of Central Siberia. Biology Bulletin 35(5). 452–458 (2008)
- Kashirskaya, N.N., Chernysheva, E.V., Plekhanova, L.B., Borisov, A.V.: Thermophilic microorganisms as an indicator of soil microbiological contamination in antiquity and at present. Int. Multi. Sci. GeoConf. SGEM 19(3.2), 569–574 (2019). https://doi.org/10.5593/sgem2019/3.2/S13.074
- Kashirskaya, N.N., Plekhanova, L.N., Chernisheva, E.V., Eltsov, M.V., Udaltsov, S.N., Borisov, A.V.: Temporal and spatial features of phosphatase activity in natural and human-transformed Soils. Eurasian Soil Science 53(1), 97–109 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1134/S1064229320010093
- Kashirskaya, N.N., Plekhanova, L.N., Udaltsov, S.N., Chernysheva, E.V., Borisov, A.V.: The Mechanisms and Time Factor of the Enzyme Structure of a Paleosoil. Biophysics (Russian Federation) 62(6), 1022–1029 (2017).https://doi.org/10.1134/S0006350917060094
- Khokhlova, O., Morgunova, N., Khokhlov, A., Golyeva, A.: Dynamics of paleoenvironments in the Cis-Ural steppes during the mid-to Late Holocene. Quaternary Research 91(1), 96–110 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1017/qua.2018.23
- Khomutova, T.E., Kashirskaya, N.N., Demkina, T.S., Kuznetsova, T.V., Borisov, A.V., Fornasier, F., Shishlina, N.I. Precipitation pattern during warm and cold periods in the Bronze Age (around 4.5–3.8 ka bp) in the desert steppes of Russia: a soil-microbiological approach for palaeoenvironmental reconstruction. Quaternary International 507, 84–94 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.quaint.2019.02.013
- Plekhanova, L.N.: Searching for benchmark soils in the steppe zone of the Trans-Ural plateau to compile the Red book of soils. Arid Ecosystems 7(3), 171–177 (2017).https://doi.org/10.1134/ S2079096117030076
- Plekhanova, L.N.: Anthropogenic degradation of soils on river terraces in the Volga-Ural region in the Bronze Age and its effect on the modern soil-plant cover. Arid Ecosystems 9(3), 187–192 (2019).https://doi.org/10.1134/S2079096119030077
- Plekhanova, L.N., Demkin, V.A.: Paleosols of the Solonchanka IX site and climate of the Transural steppe zone in the fourth century AD. Russian Journal of Ecology, 39(5), 337–345 (2008).https:// doi.org/10.1134/S1067413608050056
- Rusakov, A., Popov, A., Makeev, A., Kurbanova, F., Puzanova, T., Khokhlova, O., Kust, P., Lebedeva, M., Chernov, T., Golyeva, A. Paleoenvironmental reconstruction based on soils buried under Scythian fortification in the southern forest-steppe area of the East European plain. Quaternary International 502(B, C), 197–217 (2019)
- Ryabogina, N.E., Afonin, A.S., Ivanov, S.N., Nikolaenko, S.A., Li, H.C., Kalinin, P.I., Udaltsov, S.N.: Holocene paleoenvironmental changes reflected in peat and lake sediment records of Western Siberia: geochemical and plant macrofossil proxies. Quaternary International 528, 73–87 (2019).https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2019.04.006
- Stobbe, A., Gumnior, M., Rühl, L., Schneider, H.: Bronze Age human-landscape interactions in the southern Transural steppe, Russia – evidence from high-resolution palaeobotanical studies. Holocene 26(10), 1692–1710 (2016).https://doi.org/10.1177/0959683616641740
- Thiemeyer, H., Peters, S., Jedmowski, L.: Landscape evolution and soil formation in the Karagaily-Ayat region. Multidisciplinary Investigations of the Bronze Age Settlements in the Southern Trans-Urals (Russia). Eds.: Krause R., Koryakova L.N. 21–37 (2013))

New Objects of Geoarchaeology of the Baishevsky Archaeological District and the Adjacent Territory of the Bashkir Trans-Urals (The Southern Urals)



189

Peter V. Kazakov

Abstract The paper presents the study of gold placers in the Shuralinsky placer field, where the Baishevsky archaeological district is located. The attractiveness for site location on the banks of residual lakes of the paleorivers in the Kizilo-Urtazym foothill depression of the Bashkir Trans-Urals is analyzed. The discovery of a lake depression from a dry lake named "Sagylkul" allow proposing the expansion of the Baishevsky archaeological district.

Keywords Geoarchaeology · Gold placers · Baishevsky archaeological district · Lake depression · Southern urals

1 Introduction

The study area is located on the eastern slope of the Southern Urals, on the southern closure of the Irendyk ridge and its southeastern spurs. Geomorphologically, it is located in the zone of the transition of the residual mountains of the southern Urals to the elevated peneplain. Administratively, it belongs to the Baymak district of the Republic of Bashkortostan, Russia (Fig. 1).

The main research objects are placer deposits of gold from the upper reaches of the Bolshaya Urtazymka River, the right tributary of the Ural River. The tasks are (1) to reveal the conditions for the formation of placers of the Shuralinsky placer field and the features of the material composition of the host sediments; (2) to characterize the nature of their formation; (3) to describe the morphology; (4) to reveal the composition of concentrated gold.

A survey of the Shurale, Bezymyanny II, and Ulak placer deposits on the right tributaries of the Bolshaya Urtazymka River was carried out. In addition, in the middle part of the Sagyluzyak stream (the left tributary of the Bolshaya Urtazymka river), the depression from the dry Lake Sagylkul was discovered and examined.

P. V. Kazakov (🖂)

Institute of Geology of the Ufa Federal Research Centre of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Ufa, Russia

e-mail: pv_kazakov@list.ru

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_17

Fig. 1 Layout chart of the territory of research (black rectangle)



Regarding archaeological sites, the Baishevsky archaeological district (AMD) and the Historical, Archaeological, and Landscape Museum-Reserve "Irendyk" are located on the territory of the Shurale placer field.

2 Materials and Methods

The key method at Stage I was collecting, studying, and analyzing archival and published materials. During Stage II, topographic maps were analyzed; various altitude aerial photographs and satellite images were analyzed by applying a universal scheme for describing principal landforms. Finally, during Stage III, the acquired landforms and geological sites were located on the landscape and tested during the survey.

The history of gold mining is inextricably connected with the history of ancient societies. The use of gold is visible, along with the evidence for extraction of copper and iron, through the proof of gold mining in ancient and historical times.

Below, I provide examples that indicate the presence of ancient mining of gold placer and ore in the southern Urals within the borders of Bashkortostan.

3 Results and Discussion

1. The survey of gold-containing sites and the plausible arhaeological application of the survey data

In recent times, gold deposits in the Southern Urals were developed by the owners of the Rameyev, Goryaev, Pribylevsky, and other mines yielding hundreds of kilograms of metal.

In the Bolshaya Urtazymka river basin, the Shurala placer field was identified, uniting the Shurale, Bezymyanny II, and Ulak placers (Fig. 2) (Kazakov and Salikhov 2006). A brief description of the results of the study of these placers is provided below.

The Shurale Late Neopleistocene-Holocene alluvial placer is located 7.5 km NW of the village of Baishevo in the valley of the stream with the same name. It begins on the section located from the mouth to the middle part of the valley. After the initial discovery in 1877, it was exploited until 1910. The equivalent of 180 kg of gold was extracted during this time. According to the 1984–85 exploration, the gold-bearing placers are associated with the sand and gravel channel facies of floodplain alluvium and the first terrace. In the horizontal section, the placer has a ribbon-like shape. The total length of the industrial part of the placer is 1830 m, the average width is 48 m, and the average thickness of the rock mass is 2.9 m.

The Bezymyanny II placer is located 6 km NW of the village of Baishevo and 1 km southwest of the Shurale placer. The diluvial-alluvial placer is dated to the Late Neopleistocene-Holocene and confined in the middle and upper parts of the log. According to the geological survey of 1984–1985, the loose deposits containing the placer are represented by clays, loams with angular-rounded pebble material (up to 30–45%) with a thickness of up to 4–6 m. In the horizontal section, the placer has a ribbon-like shape. The length of the industrial part of the placer is 330 m, the average width is 30 m, and the average thickness of the rock mass is 3 m. In the vertical section, the productive layer "hovers" over the placer basis and lies on loam and weathering crusts.

The Shurale and Bezymyanny II placer gold concentrations belong to the Type IV (large) industrial classification. The shape of gold grains varies from oval and rounded to sub-rectangular. Medium and highly rounded gold grains have up to 10–20%. The gold sample is 952. In the Shurale placer, there is gold in the form of distorted octahedral crystals.

The uniformity of the chemical composition, morphology, and size of gold indicates the uniformity of the local sources and their territorial proximity to placers. During the survey of gold placers, the author found that the Shurale and Bezymyanny II streams intersect a well-defined early Eopleistocene paleo-valley of the meridional direction, composed of variegated clay with pebbles.

Also, along the Shurale stream, past gold developments have affected deposits on the first floodplain terrace. Thus, the presence of well-rounded gold in the late Neopleistocene-Holocene placers indicates that it was repeatedly redeposited from intermediate sources of the paleo-valley and the terrace of the modern river's network sediments. In the sides of the valleys of the Shurale and Bezymyanny II streams, there



Fig. 2 The map of gold content of the Shuralinsky placer field (according to (Kazakov and Salikhov 2006), modified). Minerogenic zones: 1—placer zones: IV—Sakmaro-Tanalyk, V—East-Irendyk; 2—placer fields: Shuralinskoye (IIIp); 3—metasomatized zone; 4—geomorphological zones: II6—elevated mountain massifs of the Southern Urals, IIд—the residual mountains of the eastern slope of the Southern Urals; 5—fragments of an eopleistocene paleo-valley; 6—placer gold, worked-out in a muscular way; 7—the primary deposits and ore occurrences of gold. List of deposits and gold discoveries: 79—Urtazym-Goryaevskoe, 80—Ulak-I, 81—Ulak-II (ore); 82—Shurale, 83—Nameless II, 84—Ulak (placer)

is a group of the Urtazym-Goryachevsky deposits of gold of the gold-quartz mineral type. This group is the source of placer gold.

The *Ulak placer* is located to the S from the Shurala placer field. In the sides of the Ulak river valley, the quartz-stranded gold deposits Ulak-1 and Ulak-2 are developed. Like in the Shuralinsky area, they are sources of placer gold.

A total of 374.7 kg of ore and placer gold was obtained at the Urtazym-Goryaev mine between 1877 and 1910.

Currently, the Baishevsky AMD is located within the Shuralinsky placer field. About two hundred settlement, burial, and industrial archeological sites dating from the Stone Age to the Late Middle Ages and historic times have been identified within its borders (Gusev et al. 2010).

Ancient placer gold mining operations can be identified almost only/exclusively indirectly, based on the following archaeological facts discovered during the surveys for gold (Iessen 1948):

- About 50 km N of the Baishevsky archaeological micro-district (AMD), at the Rameyev mine (located on the Sultanka river, the right tributary of the Kizil river), copper and bronze tools were found in the gold-bearing sand: an ax with eyelets and two pieces of ceramic vessels (Iessen 1948). These finds are dated to ca. the 1st millennium BC (the inventory of the former Orenburg Museum, No. 11). Additionally, traces of ancient mining of gold-bearing quartz veins were found (apparently, earlier than 1900 AD), in the form of simple scraping of metallic gold inclusions with stone tools;
- About 20 km W of the Baishevsky AMD, at the Goryaev Tanalyk mine, a copper or bronze dagger and a sickle dated to the beginning of the 1st millennium BC were found (the inventory of the former Orenburg Museum, No. 14 (Iessen 1948));
- About 95 km SE of the Baishevsky AMD, on the Suunduk River near the Kvarkeno railway station, a copper ax with two ears (a celt) was found during the extraction of gold-bearing sands. The artifact is dated to the first half of the 1st millennium BC (inventory of the former Orenburg Museum, No. 6).

According to Gusev et al. (2010), the following archaeological sites are known in the area:

- Burele-1 campsite of the late Mesolithic and Burele-2 campsite of the Neolithic;
- Ulak-1 and Ulak-2 settlements that form a single complex; they belong to the Alakul culture of the Late Bronze Age;
- The Baishevsky burial ground of the 3rd and the early 2nd millennia BC;
- The Late Bronze Age burial mounds, located to the NE of the village of Baishevo.

Due to these archaeological sites within the Baishevsky AMD, the Historical, Archaeological, and Landscape Museum-Reserve "Irendyk" was created according to the Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Bashkortostan No. 354 from November 29, 2002.

2. The survey of the paleolake and probable site locations

The Irendyk ridge sharply expands by more than 20 km in its southern closure. In 1988, in the SE part of this extension at the junction with the geomorphological area of peneplain, 7 km northeast of the village of Baishev (in the SE edge of Karyshkin), I discovered a dry Sagylkul lake, distinguished by the well-preserved coastal dikes. The lake is located directly East of the Baishevsky AMD, which potentially makes it a very attractive archaeological research polygon (Kazakov 2017).

The lake was discovered employing the complex methodology that consisted of the work in state archives and fieldwork. As a result, a dried-out lake was located while studying loose deposits of the western side of the Kizilo-Urtazym foothill depression and by deciphering aerial photographs of the 1:17.000 scale and analyzing maps of the Sagyluzyak stream valley (the left tributary of the Urtazymka River, 9 km south of the epi-Lake Kultuban). This depression looked like a sub-meridionally elongated oval measuring 5.5×2.3 km (Fig. 3). On a 1:50,000 topographic, the oval shape of the bottom with the elevation of 351 masl is emphasized by the 355 masl contour line.

The western side of the basin is abrasive, steep, 15 m high above the bottom, and behind the edge, it takes a slightly convex shape, which is extended 4 km to the south and is the surface of an alluvial bed of the Karasaz stream, the right tributary of the Bolshaya Urtazymka River. The top of the creek originates from the Irendyk ridge with absolute heights of individual peaks of 643 masl and 757 masl. On the plowed



Fig. 3 The lake depression Sagylkul (named by the author) on the Google Earth satellite image

surface of the western side, there are numerous rounded pebbles and small boulders of colored jasper.

The Eastern side of the lake depression is more sloping, cut by small shallow ravines. The southern part of the lake, broken through and lowered by the Sagyluzyak stream, has a horseshoe shape, which is emphasized by a radial fold overlying Devonian age limestone. A ridge of native tuff-sandstone is observed at the break-through of the lake on the right bank of the Sagyluzyak creek. The ridge is latitudinal, 7–10 m in height, 5–12 m in width, and 350-m-long. On the opposite left bank of the stream, symmetrically ridges of bedrock were found, and three coastal lake dikes were examined. Their height ranges from 0.3–0.5 m to 1.5–2.2 m, with the width of 2 to 4 m, and the length of 20 to 50 m, with the distance between shafts of 1–3 m. The shafts are represented by poorly sorted sand-gravel material with fine and medium-rolled pebbles of polymictic composition.

In my view, the most plausible locations of archeological sites are on the banks of this large $(5.2 \times 2.3 \text{ km})$ lake, around the territory and surroundings of the village of Karyshkino. The lake was favorably located near a mountain stream from the wind-protected side of the southeastern spur of the Irendyk ridge on a terrace with a height of 360–365 m asl (5–10 m above the reconstructed water table) (Kazakov 2018).

Moreover, in 1988, as a part of the mapping of Pliocene–Quaternary deposits on a scale of 1:25000 for the local survey, the author mapped and tested for gold dikes of the lakes in the coastal zones of the Sultankul, Atavdy, and Kultuban lakes in the Baimak and Abzelilovsky districts of the Bashkir Trans-Urals. Later, gold has been found by the additional testing. Most of the surveyed lakes are residuals. They belong to the surviving fragments of the ancient river network of the Kizil and Urtazymska rivers or their tributaries within the Kizilo-Urtazym foothill depression. In the depression along the lakes, small ponds from the ancient pre-Atavdinskaya and pre-Koltubanskaya paleolakes are visible in the modern landscape (the Late Neopleistocene-Holocene). Their lake regime was established in the early Neopleistocene and existed until the first half of the middle Quaternary. The pre-Atavda lake basin can be traced to having 20 km in length with a width of up to 4 km; the pre + Koltubanskaya lake is located 15 km S of the Kultuban lake. The thickness of the lake-alluvial deposits varies from 6-13 m to 53 m. The now-dead channels connected many lakes, but some still function today. These include, for example, the Yangelka river, which flows from the lake Subakti in the Kizilo-Urtazymskaya depression.

Lake Kultuban was probably connected to the Sagylkul lake by the Sagyluzayak stream. The discovery of the coastal lake dikes in the southeastern part of the lake basin of the dry Sagylkul lake allows for identifying the climatic conditions of their development. This is possible because the lake deposits are similar in composition and morphology to those on other residual lakes, confirming their similar Late Neopleistocene-Holocene age.

The Karabalykty lake is on the northern rim of the Kizilo-Urtazym depression, 3.5 km NW of the Sabakty lake. Here, on the western shore of the lake, the Ural's oldest Upper Paleolithic site—the Mysovaya campsite—was found (Bader and Matyushin 1973; Matyushin 1973). Mesolithic sites are also known on the Sabakty, Surtanda, and Chebarkul lakes, located south of the Mysovaya (Matyushin 1976).

Stone tools from these lake sites are made of siliceous shales, jasperoids, and siliceous tuffites. Rocks of this composition are found in the form of separate lenses, interlayers, and horizons in the volcanogenic-sedimentary strata of the Middle Devonian from the Krykty and Irendyk ridges that are adjacent from the west.

4 Conclusions

- 1. Regarding the Shurala placer field:
 - It was demonstrated that the Shurale, Bezymyanny II, and Ulak valleys intersect a reconstructed paleo-valley of the early Eopleistocene age. The valley is well-defined in the landscape; it is composed of variegated clays with the inclusion of well-rounded quartz pebbles; the paleo-valley is confined to the meridional zone of tectonic faults, accompanied by the gold-sulfide-quartz and sulfide mineralization;
 - The presence of well-rounded gold, along with poorly rounded gold, discovered at the late Pleistocene-Holocene placers of Shurale, Bezymyanny II, and Ulak, indicates both the proximity of indigenous sources of gold and its repeated redeposition from intermediate sediments of the paleo-valley and terrace sediments of the modern river network.
- 2. For Baishevsky archaeological district and, accordingly, the Historical-Archaeological and Landscape Museum-Reserve "Irendyk":
 - With the opening of the basin of the Sagylkul lake, the expansion of the Baishevsky AMD to the East is desirable, with the most probable location of ancient sites in the area of the village of Karyshkino, on the coastal terrace on the wind-protected side of the Irendyk ridge;
 - For visitors to the Museum-Reserve, an additional attraction may be the washing of gold-bearing sands of residual dumps of placer development along the Shurale stream.

The current analysis of archival and research materials on the territory of the Baishevsky AMD and residual lakes of the Kizilo-Urtazim foothill depression, the western side of which is the "Jasper belt" with numerous outcrops of multi-colored jaspers and flint-like jaspers, allows us to hope for new archaeological discoveries.

Acknowledgements The work was performed within the framework of the State Contract (0252-2017-0012).

References

- Bader, O. N., Matyushin, G. N.: Novyj pamyatnik srednego paleolita na Yuzhnom Urale. Sovetskaya arkheologiya (A new monument of the Middle Paleolithic in the Southern Urals). Sovetskaya arheologiya (Soviet archaeology) 4, 135–142 (1973) (In Russian)
- Gusev, S. V., Zagorulko, A. V., Mineeva, I. M., Ozheredov, Yu. I.: Arkheologicheskie muzeizapovedniki Rossiiskoi Federatsii: Problemy formirovaniya i funktsionirovaniya. (Archaeological Museum Reserves of Russian Federation: Problems of Formation and Functioning). Tom I: Evropeiskaya chast' Rossii (Vol. I: European part of Russia), 256 p. TML-Press Publ., Tomsk (2010) (In Russian)
- Iessen, A. A.: O drevnei dobyche zolota na Urale (About the ancient gold mining in the Urals). In: 200 let zolotoi promyshlennosti Urala (200 years of the Ural gold industry), 12–126. Ural branch of the USSR Academy of Sciences Publ., Sverdlovsk (1948) (In Russian)
- Kazakov, P. V.: Ostatochnye ozera N–Q paleogidroseti, ozernye kompleksy i soputstvuyushchie im poleznye iskopaemye (vostochnyi sklon Yuzhnogo Urala i Zaural'e) (Residual lakes of the N–Q paleohydronet, lacustrine complexes and associated minerals (eastern slope of the Southern Urals and the Transurals)). Geologiya. Izvestiya Otdeleniya nauk o Zemle i prirodnykh resursov Akademii nauk Respubliki Bashkortostan (Geology. Proceedings of the Department of Earth and natural resources Sciences of the Academy of Sciences of the Republic of Bashkortostan) 23, 63–68 (2017) (In Russian)
- Kazakov, P. V.: K istorii dobychi rossypnogo zolota, o nekotoryh artefaktah i perspektivah rasshireniya Baishevskogo arheologicheskogo mikrorajona (Yuzhnyj Ural) (On the history of the production of placer gold, some artifacts, and the perspectives of expansion of the Baishev archaeologic al district (South Ural)). Geologicheskii vestnik (Geological Bulletin) 2, 58–67 (2018) (In Russian)
- Kazakov, P. V., Salikhov, D. N.: Poleznye iskopaemye Respubliki Bashkortostan (rossypnoe zoloto). Chast' 2 (Mineral Resources of the Republic of Bashkortostan (placer gold) Part 2), 288 p. Gilem Publ., Ufa (2006) (In Russian)
- Matyushin, G. N.: Mezoliticheskij i neoliticheskij kompleksy poseleniya Mysovogo na YUzhnom Urale (Mesolithic and Neolithic complexes of the settlement of Mysovoye in the southern Urals). Sovetskaya arheologiya (Soviet archaeology) 4, 143–159 (1973) (In Russian)
- Matyushin, G. N.: Mezolit Yuzhnogo Urala (Mesolithic of the Southern Urals). 368 p. Moscow: Nauka (1976) (In Russian)

Assessment of Excavated Volume and Labor Investment at the Novotemirsky Copper Ore Mining Site



Igor V. Chechushkov, Polina S. Ankusheva, Maksim N. Ankushev, Evgeny A. Bazhenov, and Irina P. Alaeva

Abstract In this work, we attempt to estimate the volume of excavated material at the prehistoric mining site of Novotemirsky. We gather field data and employ computer-aided modeling to reconstruct the unknown three-dimensional geometry of the copper ore quarry and calculate the volume of a vertical shaft located near the quarry. To achieve this, we create a three-dimensional model of the dump around the quarry using the photogrammetric data and the cross-sections; a three-dimensional model of the quarry using the excavation data; a three-dimensional model of the shaft. Each model allows calculating the object's volume and then estimating the amount of excavated rock. Finally, we apply the ethnographic and experimental data to calculate the labor investment and compare this estimation with the archaeological period's length. We conclude that the work could be done in a relatively short period of 2–7 years by one full-time worker. As the work most likely was collective and was stretched during some 300 years or more, the actual annual labor investments were relatively small. Perhaps, the mining work was carried out on a seasonal basis by small groups of miners.

Keywords Bronze age mining \cdot Prehistoric metallurgy \cdot Computer-aided design \cdot Sintashta

1 Introduction

The Bronze Age/Early Iron Age Novotemirsky mining site is located in the south part of the Chelyabinsk region. Two objects have been identified and investigated at the site: (1) a 30×40 m oval quarry, surrounded on three sides by dumps of waste

P. S. Ankusheva · I. P. Alaeva South Ural State Pedagogical Academy, Chelyabinsk, Russia

M. N. Ankushev · E. A. Bazhenov Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia

I. V. Chechushkov (🖂)

Institute of History and Archaeology UB RAS, Ekaterinburg, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_18

rock up to 1 m in height, and (2) a smaller Object 1 located to the SE from the quarry (Fig. 1). The multi-phase research methodology included the geophysics survey of the quarry, the aerial-photogrammetric survey, and the topographical survey, which provided data to create various surfaces and their profiles, and excavations. The latter included the five trenches across the dump, partial excavation of the quarry, and complete investigation of Object 1. As a result, various data were obtained to characterize the site's geometry, chronology, and function (Medvedeva et al. 2019).

In this work, we aim to estimate the volume of excavated rock and the amount of invested labor to assess the magnitude of annual mining operations. In turn, the necessity for complex social structures and community organization can be reasonably guessed. To achieve this goal, we aim to answer the following research questions:

- 1. What is the volume of Object 1?
- 2. What is the volume of the quarry?
- 3. What amount of work corresponds to the excavation of both objects?
- 4. How does the estimated labor investment corresponds with the site's chronology?



Fig. 1 The map of the Novotemirsky copper ore mining site with the principal objects indicated

2 Materials and Methods

Object 1 was excavated completely. The excavation revealed that what looked like an amorphous pit on upper horizons turns to a 2.9×2.3 m rectangular shaft at a depth of 2.5 m from the surface and with an overall depth of 9 m from the surface. The shaft was almost completely backfilled with wasted rock, sand, and soil. Various animal bones and ceramic sherds were found at the shaft's bottom. The cultural attribution of the ceramics allows dating the object as belonging to the Alakul' period of the Late Bronze Age (ca. 1850–1650 BCE). A fireplace was located 4 m north of Object 1. Some smelting operations took place in this fireplace, as suggested by the presence of metallurgical slag, and the ceramic sherd typology allows for the fireplace assignment to the Sintashta-Abashevo period of the Late Bronze Age (ca. 2050–1850 BCE) (Ankusheva et al. 2020).

The quarry was studied only partially. First, the five 1-m-wide trenches were located across the dump to reveal its shape and stratigraphy. The 160 m² excavation unit was located in the southern part of the site, covering parts of the dump and the depression. The dump is composed of crushed serpentinite, brown iron ore, rodingite, magnetite, and copper ores with layers of organic material that delineate phases of the site use. The overall thickness of the dump from the modern to the buried ancient surface is 1.6 m. The profiles provide information on the upper and lower filling of the dump, allowing for the reconstruction of the shape of the dump. The excavation unit also covered approximately 12% of the swampy depression of the quarry, allowing for obtaining data on its depth, shape, and filling. At a depth of 7.6 m from the surface, the excavation process was ceased due to the technical difficulties not reaching the quarry's bottom. At this depth, the quarry area significantly smaller resembles the shape of Object 1, which also agrees with the GPR data that show the shaft-like structure in the center of the quarry. The excavation revealed that the shaft and the lower part of the quarry were partially backfilled with the waste rock, which upper boundary is visible in the cross-section 2 m below the modern surface. The upper part of the quarry is filled with natural sediments. Animal bones and stone tools confirm the Bronze Age date of the site.

The information obtained helps estimate the total volume of excavated rock in both objects, including the unexcavated part of the quarry. We employ computer-aided modeling to determine unknown volumes of complexly shaped three-dimensional objects after gathering all information together (Fig. 2). The method's advantage is the ability to learn about a volumetric object of complex structure and reconstruct its main parameters based on the limited data.

The data to estimate the volume of excavated material in Object 1 consists of its field drawings that allow for the direct calculation of the volume. But the upper bell-shaped part still needs to be modeled.

The initial data to model the quarry are provided by the field surveys and excavation records and include: (1) the records of cross-sections of the dump around the quarry; (2) the elevation model of the quarry and the dump created from with the photogrammetric survey; (3) two cross-sections of the quarry. Their combination



Fig. 2 The three-dimensional model of the quarry, including the dump and a reconstructed shaft: 1—the south-east view with the elevations labeled in the WGS84 elevation system; 2—the view from the top with the north up; 3—the north-east view

provides the initial data for the automated design process to calculate the object's total volume. It is important to note that the underlining assumption is that the volume of irretrievably removed rock, including the excavated ore, would not comprise a significant part of the excavated material. The exact amount of extracted ore remains unknown.

The step-by-step description of the modeling process is the following:

- (1) The digital elevation model is calculated from the photogrammetry data obtained by an unmanned aerial vehicle (a drone).
- (2) The thirteen upper profiles of the dump were obtained from the digital elevation model and combined with the upper limits of the five trenches. The buried soil's upper boundary marks the dump's lower boundary, and it was obtained from the profile records. These upper and lower boundaries are combined in a single volumetric space to model the dump as the three-dimensional object.
- (3) The three-dimensional model of the dump is calculated using the WGS84 elevation model with the reference point at the southwestern corner of the excavation unit at Object 1 with an elevation of ~ 401.1 masl (according to the model with a 0.2 m resolution).

- (4) At the quarry, the profiles revealed with the excavation unit indicate the locations of the quarry's outer limits, the upper boundary of the quarry's filling, and the shape and location of the shaft at a depth of 7 m from the present-day surface.
- (5) The excavation profiles are extrapolated in four directions to the quarry's limits, and a spatial model of the quarry is calculated. Thus, the modeled shape of the quarry is an assumption. However, about 12% of its area was excavated, taken as a sufficient representation to reconstruct the whole object with computer-aided modeling.
- (6) The model of the upper filling is calculated as located between the upper limit of the backfill and flattened upper surface representing the initial unexcavated surface and reconstructed from the profiles in the dump.
- (7) Volume of each three-dimensional object is calculated and summed up to estimate the total volume of the quarry.

3 Results and Discussion

The volume of Object 1 calculates as following. The upper bell-shaped part measures 2.4 m in the vertical dimension (from -210 cm to -450 cm in the excavation units). The three-dimensional object of this part calculated with the upper and lower outlines corresponds to 34 m^2 . The volume of the shaft from the -450 cm to -500 cm is $2.9 \times 2.2 \times 0.5 = 3.2 \text{m}^2$. The volume of the shaft from -500 cm to -900 cm is $1.8 \times 2.7 \times 4 = 19.4 \text{m}^2$. The total volume of Object 1 is $34 + 3.2 + 19.4 = 56.6 \text{m}^2$. This number is taken as the estimation of the volume of excavated material.

The volume of the quarry is calculated as follows.

- (1) The volume of the dump around the quarry is $\sim 1025 \text{ m}^3$.
- (2) The volume of excavated materials that comprised the volume between the reconstructed ancient surface and the upper limit of the backfill is $\sim 660 \text{ m}^3$.
- (3) The estimated volume of the backfill inside the quarry is $\sim 145 \text{ m}^3$.
- (4) The estimated volume of the quarry between the reconstructed surface and the excavation limit is $\sim 805 \text{ m}^3$ (thus, $660\text{m}^3 + 145\text{m}^3$).

The unknown variable is the quarry's depth, as its excavation has not been completed. Thus, the obtained and estimated data are used to calculate its depth as following.

- (1) From the estimated volume of the dump, subtract the reconstructed volume of the upper fill, as follows: $1025 660 = 365 \text{m}^3$.
- (2) From the remaining volume of the dump, subtract the volume of the backfilled dump, as follows: $365 145 = 220m^3$. This number is the estimated volume of the shaft's filling.
- (3) Assuming that the shaft had a near-cylindrical shape, its depth can be calculated with the cylinder's volume formula:

$$V = Sh, \tag{1}$$

$$h = \frac{V}{S},\tag{2}$$

where V is the volume of the cylinder (220 m^3) ; S is the cylinder base area, calculated as 45 m², according to the outline recorded at a depth of 7 m in the excavation unit; *h* is the required depth.

Substituting the data in formula (2), we reach the following estimation: $h = \frac{220}{45} = 4.9 \text{m}^3$. The further application of this estimation to model the three-dimensional object shaped by the reconstructed upper outlined of the shaft, as expected, results in the same volume of 220 m³.

Considering that the shaft's upper outline was recorded at a depth of 3.6 m from the surface, assuming that the part of excavated material is replaced by crumbling and newly-formed soil, the estimated depth of the quarry is about 8–9 m from the ancient surface. The estimated depth agrees well with the known depth of Object 1 and thus can be accepted as a reasonable assessment.

In turn, it allows us to assume that the volume of the quarry can be calculated with the estimated above numbers and follows: $\sim 660 + \sim 145 + \sim 220 = \sim 1025 \text{m}^3$. While losses due to the ore extraction will remain unknown until the excavation of the quarry is completed, the number above remains the most reasonable estimation of the conducted surface mining.

The estimated volumes of the quarry and Object 1 can now be used to calculate the labor investment in mining. Ethnography and experimental archaeology indicate that soil excavation with a wooden tool produces 1.6 m³/person-day, and granite quarrying produces 0.4 m³/person-day (based on 7200 kg/person-day at a density of 2900 kg/m³). As we do not know how the mining process looked like, we will use these numbers as the lower and upper limits for the estimation. The overall labor costs at the Novotemirsky mining site are calculated as follows:

- (1) The total amount of excavated material is 1084 m^3 .
- (2) Labor investment at 1.6 m³/person-day is 677 person-days or 1.85 years.
- (3) Labor investment at 0.4 m³/person-day: 2710 person-days or 7.4 years.

Thus, one full-time working person could spend 2–7 years conducting the excavation work, excluding the ore processing operations. These operations also took place at the site, as the fireplace near Object 1 contained a small amount of metallurgical slag and somehow contributed to the overall labor investment. The ceramic typology suggests that the site was functioning throughout the Late Bronze Age, as the Sintashta and Alakul ceramics types are encountered, and during the Early Iron Age. The Late Bronze Age period's length can be roughly determined as some 300 years during which people were conducting mining. The Early Iron Age mining episode was relatively short as the excavators have encountered only a few artifacts. Thus, in comparison with the length of the period, the labor investment is relatively small as the work was somehow stretched across the period—as even the sterile soil layers formed on top of the early dump layer, and, perhaps, conducted seasonally in a relatively small scale by small groups of miners.

4 Conclusions

The current work has helped to estimate the volume of excavated rock and demonstrated the relatively small annual scale of extraction. We have established a foundation for the future research of prehistoric metallurgy, including assessments of the amount of extracted ore and produced metal.

References

- Abrams, E. M.: How the Maya Built Their World: Energetics and Ancient Architecture. University of Texas Press. Austin (1994)
- Ankusheva, P. S., Klimova, A. D., Khvorov, P. V.: Keramicheskiy kompleks rudnika Novotemirskiy: tekhnologiya i mineralogiya. Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. A. M. Yuminov (Ed.), 116–121. Yuzhno-Uralsky federalny nauchny tsentr mineralogii i geoekologii UrO RAN. Miass (2020) (In Russian)
- Erasmus, C. J.: Monument Building: Some Field Experiments. Southwestern Journal of Anthropology 4, 277–301 (1965)
- Medvedeva, P. S., Alaeva, I. P., Ankushev, M. N., Noskevich, V. V.: Geomorphology of the pit walls of Novotemirsky ancient mine. V Northern Archaeological Congress. Abstracts. December 11–14, 2019. Khanty-Mansiysk. N. M. Chairkina (Ed.), 330–333. LLC Universal Print. House 'Alpha-Print'. Ekaterinburg–Khanty-Mansiisk (2019) (In Russian)

Archaeological Pottery

Middle Eastern Glazed Ceramics of the 11th Century in Bilyar, the Capital of Volga Bulgaria



Svetlana I. Valiulina

Abstract This work presents the analysis of Middle Eastern artistic ceramics of the eleventh century, obtained during the excavation of the city of Bilyar (the capital of Volga Bulgaria in the 11th—first third of the thirteenth centuries) and Bilyarsky II settlement. Among the artifacts found in Eastern Europe, these items represent a rare and unique category of eastern imports. For smore complete characterization and reliable attribution, the chemical composition of glaze and clay matrix was determined using scanning electron microscopy (SEM–EDS); the mineral composition of clay matrix of most informative artifacts was identified by the X-ray phase analysis. As a result, the origin and dating of Mesopotamian luster-painted tableware and Iranian vessels of the eleventh century of the "Sari" type were established. The emergence of imported Middle Eastern artworks in the Middle Volga Regioniis evidence for the initial stage of formation of the Volga Bulgarian urban culture in the eleventh century.

Keywords Volga Bulgaria · Eleventh century · Mesopotamian luster-painted vessels · Iranian glazed ceramics · Morphological analysis · X-ray structural method · Scanning electron microscopy (SEM–EDS)

1 Introduction

Middle Eastern glazed ceramics is a source of particular interest as it allows for looking for the priority direction of economic and cultural relations of Volga Bulgaria. First of all, the example of the capital city of Bilyar is valuable. Taking into account the stratigraphy and the archaeological context, in which Middle East glass was the most significant accompanying material, the collection of the Iranian imported ceramics allows us to trace the dynamics of intercultural interaction and highlights the main stages of the development of the Bulgarian urban culture.

S. I. Valiulina (🖂)

Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia e-mail: svaliulina@inbox.ru

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_19

The tenth century is the period of the emergence of the Volga Bulgaria state in the Middle Volga region. This period was also the apex of the silver and fur trade along the Volga Baltic way. Islam has adopted a state religion but did not fortify its positions. Cities were established only as intermediary shopping centers. Import of art products, including glazed tableware, was practically absent.

In the eleventh century, Islam fortified its positions all over the territory of Volga Bulgaria, according to the historic sources as well the funeral rituals; it was a period of active urban construction and the development of the urban Islamic culture. In these conditions, works of the eastern artistic craft, including glazed ceramics, become popular. The most vivid examples are an Iraqi luster-painted bowl and Iranian "Sari" type ceramics.

2 Methods and Materials

A morphological and stylistic analysis based on a wide range of analogies was carried out to study Mesopotamian luster-painted tableware which is unique for European and Iranian vessels of the eleventh century of the "Sari" type ceramics.

The physical characteristics of the vessels are the mineral and phase composition of clay matrix and non-plastic inclusion (stabilizer), the firing temperature was identified by the X-ray structural method. Body analysis includes the mineralogical characterization by X-ray diffraction (XRD). The mineralogy of body sherds has been studied by XRD directly on the fragments, without powder sampling, using a D8 ADVANCE (Bruker Axs) diffractometer with a Göble mirror, with radiation from a copper anti-cathode, with a wavelength of 0.154178 nm, and diffraction angles of 20 = 3° to 40° explored with 0.02° scan steps and 2 s integration time. X-ray diffraction determines the initial mineral composition of the sample, and the phase composition, i.e., the phase transformations of minerals during the firing process under the influence of high temperatures and the atmosphere in the furnace. Knowing the temperature behavior of transformations, such as the temperatures of calcite decomposition, the formation of quartz, the formation of tridymite and cristobalite, etc., the firing temperature of pots can be determined.

The chemical composition of the glaze and clay matrix was determined by scanning electron microscopy (SEM–EDS) on the Carl Zeiss EVO 50 instruments with an X-ray spectral microanalyzer (Bruker EDS). The studies were carried out at accelerating voltages of 20 kV to increase the sensitivity of such elements as Pb, Sn, Sb, As, Ba. The current mode was varied in the range from 5 to 12 nA for a better locality/analysis speed ratio. The microscope imaging mode is backscattered electrons (BSE). This mode makes it possible to distinguish as accurately as possible the phase composition in samples (layers, inclusions).

Data on quantitative and qualitative analyses are presented in the form of oxides to process the experimental data and find the composition directly in the course of measurements. We have used a calculation algorithm based on the ZAF model scheme, which takes into account corrections for the emerging effects of generation and absorption of characteristic X-ray radiation, as well as for fluorescence from the X-ray radiation bremsstrahlung spectrum.

The earliest and most informative finds came from pre-Mongol Bilyar of the 11th—first third of the thirteenth century. In the central part of the inner city, fragments of pottery with luster paintings were found, belonging to the same vessel: a wide-open bowl, about 21 cm in diameter with a 2.2 cm wide rim, which was horizontally bent outward (Fig. 1, 2).

The remaining fragments do not provide information on the structure of the bottom. Usually, such vessels had a ring base, and the total height of the item could be 5–6 cm. The bowl was made of dense light yellow clay with rare inclusions of detrital albite, the wall thickness reached 0.8 cm, and the surface was covered with opaque white glaze and richly decorated with olive-green luster. On the edge of there is a chain of semi-ovals, which are more significant on the outer surface; on the inner side, their contour repeats a thin line, then a series of dots, palmettes, and simple heavy curls are sequentially located. In the center of the vessel, a large image of a bird or an animal with its paw bent at the knee, and a part of the body is visible; a white background outline is left around the figure, bounded by a thin line. The





Fig. 2 The fragments and reconstructed version of Irag luster painted from Bilyar (BXXXIX/1191)

rest of the space is filled with rows of dots. If the inner side demonstrates a rather complex decoration, the outer one is simpler and standardized: along the edge, the semi-ovals are outlined with a thin line at intervals; the dots are drawn in oblique rows (2–3 each). The bend of the edge is marked by a wide strip of dense luster, under which the same luster the oblique strokes were painted. The body of the vessel was decorated with circles and almond-shaped figures, the background around them was filled with rows of dots-strokes. This part of the vessel was decorated with pale yellow-green luster (Fig. 2).

The structures from which the fragments of the Bilyar bowl came are poor in finds. The dating material is an armor-piercing arrowhead with a massive diamond-shaped combat head and a rhombic section with a neck¹; arrowheads of this type are very typical for the eleventh century, and were widespread in the eleventh century throughout the territory of ancient Rus, in Volga Bulgaria, among the Finno-Ugric peoples of the Volga and Kama regions (Medvedev 1966).

Thus, the structures in which the fragments of the bowl were found can be approximately dated to the beginning of the first half of the eleventh century and thus are the earliest objects of Bilyar.

¹ B XXXIX-88/1353, BGIAMZ: KP.615/806.

3 Results and Discussion

Technological and morphological features, the decoration of the vessel, allow us to attribute it to a relatively well-known and well-studied group of the early Middle Eastern lusters. The scheme of the ornamental composition of the luster painting is characterized by a stable combination of typical elements: a semicircle-tympanum along the rim, a concentric composition with a large central image, which usually looks like a decorative floral subject, and, more often, so-called "figurative" elements that include the man's figure (the standard-bearer, the dancer, the musician) (Miroudot 2008; Atil 1973; Rante 2012) or the animal (the hare, the gazelle, the elephant, the donkey, the camel), or the bird in a white outline on a dotted background (Catalog 2007). The dotted background of luster bowls of this type is compared either with the texture of woven textiles (Watson 2004) or with the basis of metal products decorated with chasing (Feherwari 2000). Birds are perhaps the most common objects for luster painting (Watson 2004: 193; Kühnel 1970; Feherwari 2000). Around the image, there is almost always a narrow white outline, like a shadow, which is usually the main element of the composition. In some cases, instead of a contour, a white background without dotted filling fills the space around the central figure, as in an exquisite Iraqi Xth century bowl (Miroudot 2008). Low bowls with a diameter of 12.5–27 cm were made in a similar style, with a straight side bent outward, placed on a small ring base.

With an obvious decorative and morphological unity, at present, researchers clearly distinguish two artistic and craft centers for the production of such tableware on the territory of modern Egypt and Iraq. Also, the dynamic of its development from the 9th to the beginning of the eleventh century has been demonstrated. The names of the leading masters of the early Fatimid period are known from the signed items: Ibrahim, Muslim, and Baytar (Feherwari 2000).

The earliest artifacts date back to the ninth century. Usually, a bowl from the collection of David in the Copenhagen Museum is given as an example; and Iraq is named as the place of its production in the catalog. A similar vessel in the collection in the Museum Tareq Rajab of G. Fehervari refers to the early Fatimid production, considering the Egyptian pre-Islamic 6th—seventh centuries vessels of the identical shape with brownish-yellow glaze to be prototypes of early lusters. Also, the presence of glaze on the ring base is cited as a defining feature of Egyptian products, while the ring base of Iraqi vessels was not covered with glaze (Feherwari 2000).

According to Fehervari (2000), Fatimid and Abbasid vessels with luster painting have other differences, first of all, the base material: fragile, crumbling faience (frittware, stone paste) in Egypt and light yellow dense clay in Iraq; polychrome luster accompanied with yellow-green complemented by red-brown luster on outer sides of vessels in Egypt, and monochrome luster in Iraq. Due to the high cost and labor intensity, it is likely that polychrome lusters were produced in Egypt for a short time: in the second half of the ninth century (Feherwari 2000). Abbasid vessels also had polychrome paintings. The works of Samarra, Basra, and Susa were polychrome at the beginning of production and became monochrome during the tenth century

(Rio et al. 2010). The ornamentation of Iraqi vessels is characterized by the depiction of almond-shaped figures (Feherwari 2000). In Egyptian chandeliers, epigraphic elements are often present as an integral part of the ornament. According to Khalili (2008), the "figurative" style of images on early luster bowls was deeply rooted and continued the traditions of the fine Egyptian arts in the design of wall panels and pre-Islamic glaze was determinedceramics. The emergence of the "figurative" style is now attributed to the tenth century.

In Iraq, Basra is one of the likely places for the production of such dishes in the tenth century. Thus, the origin of two bowls of the 10th—early eleventh centuries in the Victoria and Albert Museum was attributed (Nos. C. 350–1930; C. 62–1981).

A wonderful bowl in the collection of the Museum of History of Armenia (Inv. No 2040–145) can be considered as an example of the interaction of two art schools— Mesopotamian and Egyptian. The bowl was found in the layer of the ninth century, in the central quarter of Dvin (Dzhanpoladyan and Kalantaryan 1988). The vessel is 26 cm in diameter and 7 cm in height and is decorated with monochrome luster; in the center of the composition, there is an image of a bird; on the outer side, on a glazed ring base, there is an inscription "Made by Taha" written in the Kufic script. The character of the font and the name of the master allow us to attribute it to it a Tulunid Egypt (Zhamkochyan 2009). The problem of locating the emergence place of the ceramics luster painting technique (Egypt vs Mesopotamia) remains unsolved. Meanwhile, the fact of the appearance of such dishes at the beginning of the ninth century for the elite use is recognized as eloquently evidenced by their findings in palace complexes of eastern cities and rare presence in any other contexts. For several centuries, luster-painted tableware retained its status as tableware for aristocratic feasts (Sciau 2012).

Comparing the source material for the production of luster-painted tableware in Egypt and Mesopotamia, Watson (2004) has demonstrated obvious advantages of socalled Basra clay, from which Abbasid chandeliers were made. This clay in its natural state is relatively pure and free from contaminants, does not require much effort and innovation in preparation for use, and is an excellent material for the manufacture of products of various volumes and pale yellow color. Unlike the Mesopotamian potters, the Egyptian potters had to spend time and effort mixing different materials and adding special fillers in their clay to achieve high-quality products (Watson 2004).

In Iran, the imitations of such dishes were produced (Watson 2004; Khalili 2008; Curatola 2007). The finds of early polychrome and monochrome luster products in Nishapur, obtained as a result of archaeological excavations by an expedition of the Metropolitan Museum, are considered to be imports from Egypt and Iraq (Wilkinson 1973). As an illustration, a bowl from the collection of the Tareq Rajab Museum, painted with olive-green glaze imitating monochrome lusters, can be used (Feherwari 2000). According to Fehervari, although the potters of Nishapur did not know the secret of painting lusters, given the huge interest and demand for such products, they made every effort to imitate both polychrome and monochrome types of early lusters. Moreover, these bowls repeated shapes of luster vessels or shapes of Chinese products. Proceeding from the fact that today no other archaeologically known center
of Iran and Central Asia has yielded similar imitations of luster, Fehervari concludes that this production was the prerogative of Nishapur workshops, and imitations date as well as original prototypes from Iraq and Egypt (Feherwari 2000).

In Central Asia, the imitation of the style of early luster painting was created with polychrome glazes on the clay basis (Shishkina 1986; Brusenko 1986). In this way, bowls and jugs were decorated, for example, a jug of the tenth century from Afrasiab in the Hermitage collection (Curatola 2007).

The analytical results of the luster ceramics from Medina al-Zahr turned out to be especially important to reveal the technological characteristics of the Bilyar bowl. This city in Spanish Cordoba lived for a short period from 936 to 1013 AD. However, the excavation yielded a rich collection of luster ceramics and the composition of sherds reflects the dynamics of production, the origin of imports, and peculiarities of the technology. The informative possibilities of luster paintings products were fully realized through the use of a wide range of modern analytical methods, which are capable of solving the problems of technological reconstructions at the level of nanometric measurements (Rio et al. 2010).

The mineral composition of clay of the Bilyar luster-pained bowl was determined by the x-ray phase analysis. The result is presented as the diffractogram (Fig. 3).

In addition to the diopside phase (MgCaSi₂O₆) and albite (Na [AlSi₃O₈]), the presence of quartz in the composition of clay is noteworthy (see Fig. 3). It would seem that this fact contradicts the general characteristics of pure and finely dispersed Mesopotamian clay, but quartz was also detected by analysis of the Mesopotamian luster in several samples from Medina al-Zahra (Del Rio et al 2010. 161). This similarity suggests that the luster-painted bowl from Bilyar, as well as the samples of the similar composition from Medina al-Zahra, were made of carefully cleaned and processed homogeneous clay, in which the prolonged firing at a temperature of 850–950 °C or close to 1000 °C (Sciau 2012: 534) caused the complete thermal transformation of paste, that resulted in the crystallization of the initially purified material. That is, the presence of quartz in the clay of the Bilyar bowl, as well as in lusterware from Medina al-Zahra, should be considered as an acquired technological feature (Del Rio et al 2010. 161).

Using the method of scanning electron microscopy (SEM–EDS), the chemical composition of glaze was determined (Table; wt %) (Table 1).

The analysis showed the use of lead-alkaline glaze, while the chemical composition in terms of the concentration of lead and tin oxides corresponds to the composition of the glaze products produced in the Iraqi workshops, at the end of the period of the appearance of luster decor (Rio et al. 2010). It was found that the early products of the Abbasid luster had an alkaline glaze; later, lead and, in some cases, tin was introduced (Sciau 2012; Rio et al. 2010; Koval 2010). Fatimid lusters from Fustat have a higher lead content (Rio et al. 2010; Koval 2010).

The mineral and chemical composition of the base and the chemical composition of glaze of the Bilyar bowl with luster painting show that the product was made in one of the workshops of Samarra, Basra, or Susa, and later it was imported to the Middle Volga at the beginning of the eleventh century.



d, Å	Mineral	d, Å	Mineral
5,482	Albite	2,643	Diopside
4,433	Quartz	2,546	Diopside
4,266	Quartz	2,515	Diopside
3,720	Albite	2,456	Quartz
3,342	Quartz	2,367	Diopside
3,22	Albite+ Diopside	2,302	Diopside
2,990	Diopside	2,205	Diopside
2,941	Diopside	2,126	Diopside
2,894	Diopside	2,033	Diopside + Quartz
2,847	Diopside	1,984	Albite

Fig. 3 The X-ray analysis of the fragments of the Irag luster painted bowl from Bilyar (BXXXIX/1191), analysts G.M. Eskina and V.P. Morozov

 Table 1
 Analysis by method of scanning electron microscopic (SEM–EDS) of Mesopotamian luster-painted bovl (of the sample from Bilyar State Historical < Archaeplogical and Natural Museum-Reserve, BXXXIX-88/640 ,KP.615/805 (analysts A.A.Trifonov)</th>

Na ₂ O	MgO	Al ₂ O3	SiO ₂	P ₂ O ₅	K ₂ O	CaO	Fe ₂ O ₃	CuO	SnO ₂	PbO
3.31	2.87	1.26	68.98	2.22	4.71	8.19	0.72	0.02	1.03	3.67

A sample of the Abbasid luster of the late 10th—early eleventh century should be considered as another archaeological argument for the contact existence between Volga Bulgaria during its early statehood and the Baghdad Caliphate.

In the 9th and early eleventh centuries, the vessels of Mesopotamian luster were popular on the vast territory of the Islamic culture from Spain to India (Atil 1973).

In Eastern Europe, such finds are extremely rare; at present, in addition to our bowl, two more similar examples are known: a bowl of the ninth century in Staraya Ladoga and a fragment of a dish in Sarkel, found in a 10th-century layer (Koval 2010).

The finds of early luster bowls highlight the route of their arrival to Eastern Europe along the Volga river and key points on the Volga-Baltic trade route in the 9th–eleventh centuries; at the same time, the Transcaucasia, Dvin in particular, acted as an intermediary in the movement of handicraft products and other goods from the Near and Middle East countries to the north.

A different type of Middle Eastern (Iranian) ceramics could have entered the Volga region through Central Asia from the southeast of the Caspian Seam and not only through the Trans-Caucasus.

The fragments of the edge and the wall of a vessel 6.0×5.3 cm, 0.5 cm thick (B XXIII75/2920) are from a bowl made of light red dense, fine structure clay, with polychrome painting on white engobe under colorless transparent glaze on the inner side (Fig. 4, 1).

The nature of the decor and the analysis of the glaze allow identifying the bowl as belonging to the so-called "Sari" ceramic type. This type received its name more than a hundred years ago from the Iranian city of the same name, located on the southern coast of the Caspian Sea. The name persists, although there is no evidence for the production of such tableware in Sari. New archaeological evidence—the open production complexes—show that the likely centers of production of this type of tableware were the workshops of the city of Gurgan in the southeast of the Caspian coast (Catalog 2007) and Nishapur, the capital of Khorasan (Rante 2012).

Despite the small size of the Bilyar find, it has features typical for this group of ceramic. Typically, such vessels on a small hollow base have a conical wide-open shape with straight diverging walls (Curatola 2007), and the find shows an even continuation of the straight walls. The Bilyar fragment also possesses traditional decorative elements: a concentric rosette or a brick-red flower in a dark brown frame and a matching core are applied on a white background along the inner edge and the front side of the vessel; the dark color is accented with a chain of white dots.

The central element of the ornamental composition of the classic "Sari" bowl was the image of a large ornate bird (Feherwari 2000; Watson 2004). Also, in other versions of the composition, round flowers with shoots or "lollipops" were complemented by stylized palm leaves, fans, and calligraphy (Watson 2004; Porter 2014). The sophisticated color scheme of the combination of dark brown, terracotta red, and white could include olive green elements (Fig. 4, 5). The colorless transparent glaze inside did not cover the outer surface, slightly going over the outside of the edge.

For a complete characterization and reliable attribution, the chemical composition of glaze (Fig. 5, 1) and the clay base (Fig. 5, 2) of the fragment from Bilyar were recorded by scanning electron microscopy. The analysis showed the use of lead-silica transparent colorless glaze where lead oxide is almost 54%; the high percentages are Ca and Al compounds, with 12.13% and 3.10%, respectively; their concentration, like that of 1% iron compounds, is most likely due to the nature of sand and the result of the close location of engobe and clay base under a thin layer of glaze.



However, it is obvious that in the future, a representative analytical series will allow for a more accurate explanation of the result. At present, more than 30 fragments of such items have been recorded in pre-Mongolian Bilyar.

For example, a small but vivid fragment from the alchemical workshop of the late 12th-early thirteenth century in Bilyar represents a wide-open vessel: a dish made of light red clay with polychrome painting on white engobe under colorless transparent glaze (AKU262/476; Fig. 4, *3*). The contour of the drawing is made with the sgraffito technique, palmette, or a fan-shaped figure painted in terracotta brown tones on a milky white background. On the outside, the vessel had no painting and was covered with glaze only on top under the edge. By the nature of clay, the plot of the painting, and the color scale, the fragment resembles early Iranian products (tenth-eleventh centuries) (Watson 2004; Pancaroglu 2007; Porter 2014).



Fig. 5 The chemical compositions of a ceramic fragment of "Sari" tipy from Bilyar: 1—glaze (BXXIII 75/2920), 2—clay matrix (BXXIII 75/2920) according to SEM analysis, analyst A.A. Trifonov

This item does not correspond to the time of the workshop's functioning and should probably be regarded as an accidental find due to digging and disturbance of an earlier stratigraphic layer.

At least two fragments (Fig. 4, 4, 5) of the "Sari" type ceramics and derived types are included in the collection of materials from the Bilyar II settlement (AKU321/77–78), located northwest of the fortifications of the pre-Mongolian Bilyar settlement (Valiulina 2016).

The settlement is reliably dated by the rich numismatic and all archaeological material between the tenth and eleventh centuries and the middle of the eleventh century (Valiulina 2019). Among other things, the collection includes two glass lamps—the examples of early Islamic pendant lamps, marked by numerous analogies from the 10th to eleventh centuries (Kröger 1995; Carboni 2001).

Iranian dishes of the "Sari" type were found in other cities of Volga Bulgaria, besides Bilyar and its surrounding areas. includingMuromski gorodok and Suvar (BGIAMZ 505–1169/228).

4 Conclusions

The considered finds of the Early Islamic glazed ceramics are interesting objects to compare with the Middle Eastern glass products (but not beads) of the tenth-eleventh century from the Bulgar cities. The earliest Middle Eastern glassworks—miniature bottles for incense, medicines, perfumes with carved and applied decor, standard weights, inkwells—are known primarily in Bolgar and, also, in Suvar.

The small quantities of produces do not allow to consider them as imports, but rather as personal items or gifts of foreign merchants or ambassadors (Valiulina 2015). The whole sparse but eloquent set of early glass products has a wide list of analogies in the materials of excavations of the Middle Eastern cities and museum collections. This opens up great opportunities in their attribution, allowing for the establishment of their origin and dating. The time of existence of these glass objects is mainly the tenth century. It is important to note that there are no synchronous imported ceramic vessels in the Middle Volga region at this time.

This fact, in the context of other Eastern imports of the tenth century to the Middle Volga region (coin silver, mainly Samanid dirhams, Middle Eastern glass beads), allows us to conclude that during the tenth century in Volga Bulgaria, the urban Muslim culture has not yet developed, and the aristocracy that would have had the need and opportunity to order and purchase expensive and fragile products far from the first necessity did not exist. One of the indicators of the development of the culture of the Muslim city is the dynamic arrival of the Eastern imports—crockery glass, lamps, and glazed ceramics in the eleventh century.

References

- Atil, E.: Freer Gallery of Art Fiftieth anniversary exhibition III. Ceramics from the World of Islam, 255 p. Washington, DC: Smithsonian Institution (1973)
- Brusenko, L. G.: Glazed ceramics of Chach IX-XII centuries, 90 p. Tashkent, Fan (1986) (In Russian) Carboni, S.: Glass from Islamic Lands, 413 p. London: Thames & Hudson (2001)
- Catalog, In: Perpetual Glory. Medieval Islamic ceramics from the Harvey B. Plotnick Collection Chicago, London, 39–153 (2007)
- Curatola, G.: Persian Ceramics from the 9th to 14th century. Skira: Milan, Italy (2007)
- Del Rio, A. R., Roehrs, S., Aucouturier, M.: Castaing, J. & Bouquillon, A. Medina al-Zahra Lustre Ceramics: 10th-century local nanotechnology or importation from the Middle East. In: Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering, 35, No.1C, 157–168 (2010)
- Dzhanpoladyan, R. M., Kalantaryan A. A.: Trade relations of medieval Armenia in the VI-XIII centuries. (according to glassmaking). Archaeological sites of Armenia 14. Medieval monuments Vol. VI. Yerevan, 47 p. (1988) (In Russian)
- Feherwari, G.: Ceramics of the Islamic World in the Tareg Rajab Museum. 399 p. I.B. Tauris. London, N.-Y (2000)
- Khalili, N. D.: Visions of splendour in Islamic Art and Culture, 186 p. Worth Press Ltd, London (2008)
- Koval, V. Yu.: Eastern Ceramics in Rus of the 9th–17th centuries, 269 p. Nauka, Moscow (2010) (In Russian)

Kröger, J.: Nishapur Glass of the Early Islamic Period, 256 p. The Metropolitan Museum of Art, N.Y. (1995)

Kühnel, E.: Islamic Arts, 255 p. Bell, London (1970)

- Medvedev, A. F.: Hand-throwing weapons (bow and arrows, crossbow) VIII-XIV centuries. Arch of archaeological sources, Issue EI 36, 184 p. Nauka, Moscow (1966) (In Russian)
- Miroudot, D.: La production Abbasside. In: Reflets D. Or. D,Orient en Occident Lo ceramique lustree IX-XV siècle, 15–26, Musee du Louvre, Paris (2008)
- Pancaroglu .: Perpetual Glory. Medieval Islamic ceramics from the Harvey B. Plotnick Collection, R.V. Sharp, E. Stepina, Eds.; Art Institute of Chicago Yale University Press, New Haven: Chicago , USA; London, Great Britain (2007)
- Porter, Y.: Les ceramiques de Le Orient musulman medieval (VII e XV e siècle). Terres De Islam. Les Collections de Ceramique Moven-Orientale du Musee Ariana A Geneve, 21–97 (2014)
- Rante, R.: Dish with a standard-bearer. Islamic Art at the Musee du Louvre, 105–107 (2012)
- Sciau, P.: Nanoparticles in Ancient Materials: The Metallic Lustre Decorations of Medieval Ceramics. The Delivery of Nanoparticles. 525–540, Rijeka, Groatia (2012)
- Shishkina, G. V.: Handicraft production of medieval Sogd. Glass. Ceramics. The second half of the VIII beginning of the XIII centuries, 144 p. Fan, Tashkent (1986) (In Russian)
- Valiulina, S.: Early Islamic Glass of the Volga Region in Bulgaria. Annales du 19e Congress de l'Association Internationale pour l'Histoire du Verre. Piran 2012, Koper, 411–419 (2015)
- Valiulina, S.: Medieval Workshop of an Alchemist, Jeweller and Glassmaker in Bilyar (Middle Volga Region, Russian Federation). Pamatky archeologicke CVII, 237–278 (2016)
- Valiulina, S. I.: The Golden Horde Bilyar. The Genoese Gazaria and the Golden Horde. The memory of German Fedorov-Davydov 2, 379–412 Stratum, Kazan-Kishinev (2019) (In Russian)
- Watson, O.: Ceramics from Islamic Lands. Kuwait National Museum the al -Sabah Collection, 512 p. Thames & Hudson, London (2004)
- Wilkinson, C. K.: Nishapur: Pottery of the Early Islamic Period, 374 p. Metropolitan Museum of Art, N.-Y. (1973)
- Zhamkochyan, A.: The Early types of faience. In: A. A. Kalantaryan (ed.). Kalantaryan A., Kalantaryan G., Melkonyan H., Petrosyan H., Hakobyan N., Babayan F., Zhamkochyan A., Nawasardyan K., Hayrapetyan A. Armenia in the Cultural context of East and West. Ceramics and Glass (4th-14th centuries), 99–165 (2009)

Chemical and Technological Characteristics of Glazed Vessels from the Pottery Workshop of the Tsarevskoye Medieval City



Svetlana I. Valiulina and Sergei G. Bocharov

Abstract Glazed pottery is a vivid symbol of the Golden Horde culture. The production of glazed dishes, mosaic architectural tiles, and toys was established almost everywhere in the Golden Horde cities. The products of these workshops are currently well studied from the standpoint of the morphology of products, stylistics of decor, but practically without taking into account the data of chemical and technological analyses. Based on the results of the analysis of glaze and clay matrix of the vessels obtained by scanning electron microscopy in combination with energy dispersive spectral analysis (SEM–EDS), this article presents the results of the chemical and technological analyses of Golden Horde glazed ceramics. The materials came from the pottery workshop in the eastern suburb of Saray al-Jedid of the Tsarevskoye medieval city. The pottery workshop on Estate III worked exclusively with a lead transparent glaze of the PbO-SiO₂ type. The entire manufacturing process represents sustainable craft specialization and standardization of all stages of the production cycle from the selection and processing of reliable and limited raw materials and fixtures to finished products.

Keywords Golden horde · Fourteenth century · Glazed ceramics · Chemical composition · Technological characteristics · Scanning electron microscopy · Energy dispersive spectral analysis

S. I. Valiulina (🖂)

Kazan Federal University, Kazan, Russia e-mail: svaliulina@inbox.ru

S. G. Bocharov Sevastopol State University, Sevastopol, Russia

223

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_20

1 Introduction

The collections of the Archaeological Museum of the Kazan Federal University contain materials obtained during the study of the Tsarevskove medieval city (the Volgograd region, Russia), carried out by the Volga Region Archaeological Expedition (under the leadership of G. Fedorov-Davydov) (Bocharov 2020). A team of the Kazan State University (headed by I. Vayner) excavated the site from 1963 to 1968, studying the eastern suburbs of the medieval city. The total studied urban area is about 3000 m². It received the provisional name "The Three Estates" (Fedorov-Davydov et al. 1974). The materials of the consolidated excavation "The Three Estates" on the territory of the eastern suburb made up the collection of the Tsarevskove medieval city, deposited in the Kazan Federal University Museum. During the study of Estate III, two kilns for firing glazed red clay bowls and stamped (muld) ceramics were found in the adjacent territory. Kiln 1 was located 18 m south of the buildings of Estate III. The lower part of the firing chamber was preserved. The kiln was rectangular, 120×220 m, made of bricks. Kiln 2 was located 0.5 m from the outer side of the eastern wall of Estate III. It was built of bricks; the firing chamber retained the foundations of the three arches of the vault. The kiln had a rectangular shape; 1.20×3.00 m in dimensions. Disposed products from the pottery workshop were thrown into an abandoned reservoir on a neighboring estate, into irrigation ditches and utility pits. During the excavation, a large number of stove supplies, fragments of bowls with sgraffito ornaments (not covered with glaze), and kalyps (molds for pottery making) were found (Fig. 1). The authors of the excavations attributed the beginning of the functioning of the pottery workshop on Estate III to period IIIb with the date of the mid-70 s of the fourteenth century. In their opinion, the estate survived until 1395 in a state of neglect (Fedorov-Davydov et al. 1974).

This study aims to establish the recipe and chemical composition of glaze and raw clay matrix materials and to recover the mechanism of the pottery emergence.

2 Material and Methods

The analytical sample of our research was made up of workshop products, including 8 fragments of vessels and stove supplies (stands, a kalyp-matrix form), smudges, and drops of glaze. Glazed bowls made by local potters are shaped by pulling from a lump of clay (RFK-6–7). Bowl ring bases are molded and made separately. Clay is brown–red, it has medium plasticity and sand inclusions. For all samples, both glaze and clay matrix were analyzed (Table 1). A chemical-technological study of glazed glassware was carried out using scanning electron microscopy combined with energy-dispersive spectral analysis (SEM–EDS), samples were analyzed directly. The study of the samples in back-scattered electrons was carried out on a scanning electron microscope Carl Zeiss EVO 50 inconjunction with the energy dispersive X-ray spectral analysis (SEM–EDS). Samples were sprayed with a thin layer of carbon,



Fig. 1 Fragments of glazed pottery from a workshop of the Tsarevskoye medieval city

Table 1 Results of the chemical composition analysis of	f the gla	ze, engo	be and o	clay mat	rix, SE	M-EDS	(wt%)						
№/description	SiO_2	Na ₂ O	CaO	FeO	K_2O	Al_2O_3	MgO	SnO_2	PbO	TiO ₂	Sb ₂ O ₅	MnO	CuO
1. Stand, 64/1157, a drop of green glaze	35.18	1.35	2.05	2.95	0.66	6.54	1.67	0	47.62	0.2	0	0.02	1.14
2. Stand, 64/1157, clay matrix	50.64	3.3	6.71	8.34	3.73	17.84	4.15	0	4.28	0.83	0	0.08	0.1
3. Bowl, 68/107, green glaze	34.97	1.36	1.82	2.61	0.93	6.24	1.26	0	49.02	0.26	0.1	0.03	0.77
4. Bowl, 68/107, engobe	12.13	1.41	6.95	22.87	1.66	6.25	1.58	0.02	29.75	0.52	0.3	0.81	0.15
5. Bowl, 68/107, clay matrix	35.28	2.39	8.95	8.69	3.49	15.98	3.61	0	12.91	0.77	0	2.52	0.5
6. Bowl, 68/10, green glaze	42.73	1.37	1.41	3.72	0.82	5.92	1.27	0	41.03	0.31	0	0.03	0.83
7. Bowl, 68/10, clay matrix	55.98	3.16	8.26	6.16	3.83	17.92	3.41	0	0	0.81	0	0.11	0
8. Bowl, 68/14,engobe	38.39	1.09	6.21	8.94	1.61	9.27	1.16	0.01	27.66	0.47	0.37	0.04	0.11
9. Bowl, 68/14, yellow glaze	35.58	1.51	1.22	2.65	1.12	6.38	0.9	0	49.67	0.14	0	0.02	0.12
10. Bowl, 8/14 clay	47.48	3.38	10.68	9.24	2.93	18.11	4.78	0	1.95	0.8	0	0.15	0
11. Bowl, 86/16 green glaze	39.61	1.33	0.78	2.5	1.05	7.39	1.01	0	44.86	0.3	0	0.02	0.47
12. Bowl, 86/16, clay matrix	52.98	3.28	8.42	6.13	4.18	18.23	3.07	0	2.51	0.54	0	0.08	0
13. Bowl, 354/694, green glaze	31.27	1.08	1.27	1.26	0.21	5.1	1.21	0	56.66	0.05	0	0.03	1.2
14. Bowl, 354/694, clay matrix	48.35	2.51	10.37	9.55	2.45	16.86	4.34	0	3.5	0.9	0	0.08	0
15. Stand, 354/660, a drop of yellow glaze	33.6	0.67	0.91	3.89	0.14	3.71	0.57	0	53.56	0.11	0.02	0.01	0.25
16. Stand, 354/660, clay matrix	48.6	2.25	11.58	8.46	3.14	17.76	4.12	0	2.79	0.81	0	0.14	0
17. Kalyp-matrix form, IIK/30, a drop of brown glaze	27.79	0.73	1.38	3.15	0.07	6.78	0.96	0	58	0.3	0	0	0.08
18. Kalyp-matrix form, IIK/30, clay matrix	47.99	1.83	11.63	10.13	3.02	20.23	3.64	0	0	0.82	0	0.06	0

226

which was not taken into account in quantitative and qualitative analysis, to ensure the drainage of the charge from their surfaces. The samples were taken at a beam current of 800–1200 pA, an accelerating voltage of 20 kV, and a working distance of 20 mm from the front lens to the sample's surface; the signal accumulation time was 120 s. The X-ray spectral analysis was performed using the Esprit Bruker software. Correction of the readings of the energy dispersive spectrometer was carried out using the ZAF-correction program module. Each sample was analyzed by 5 spectrums, which were collected from several regions. This method ensures high accuracy for detecting major and minor (for example, dyes) elements and the elimination of point analysis brings the loss in the determination of alkali metals to the minimum. For statistical processing, the data from at least three measurements of each sample with similar indicators were taken into account. The analysis average results are presented in oxides in the maximum oxidation states, oxygen was calculated by stoichiometry (Table 1). The detection limit was 0.1–0.5%. The entire "stratigraphy" of the sherd's profile was differentiated and studied separately, with each layer analyzed by five spectra followed by the calculation of average values (see Table 1).

3 Results and Discussion

The analysis established that the pottery workshop of Estate III in the southeastern suburb of Saray al-Jedid (the Tsarevskoye medieval city) produced red clay dishes and bowls with or without engobe-engraved decor, coated with transparent, green or yellow, and brown glaze. In all spectrum, the analysis finds only one recipe for highlead glaze double glass batch, which consisted of two glass-forming components: lead oxide varying from 41.03 to 58% with the average value is 50%, and silicon dioxide (quartz or quartz sand) varying from 27.79 to 42.73%, on average -35.09%(see Table 1). As the main source of raw materials in both glass and glazes of the PbO-SiO₂ type, galena (monometallic lead ore) and lead sulfide (PbS) were typically used. The pyrometallurgical technology was used to obtain the pure lead. In the process of ore roasting (oxidative roasting), lead was oxidized, sulfur was removed, and lead litharge (PbO) was formed. Further, the resulting product was crushed into powder, mixed with crushed quartz or sand, and sintered in the oven to achieve the homogeneous substance (Tite et al. 1998). It is much easier to establish what was used as a siliceous raw material in high-lead glass—quartz pebbles or sand. This is because all impurities, expressed in units of percent, got into the charge together with sand, and if their concentration was noted at the level of trace impurities, then sufficiently pure quartz was added to pure lead.

It is difficult to resolve this issue unambiguously for glaze; on the one hand, lead glaze usually has a thin covering layer. On the other hand, it has a layer of interaction between glaze and clay matrix. The nature of this diffusion layer is a reflection of almost all heat engineering processes during firing: the atmosphere and physicochemical processes in the firing chamber, temperature, firing time and cooling time, the composition of clay matrix and engobe, the presence or absence of glazeless firing, etc. In this regard, the visual-microscopic and analytical study of the vertical cleavage of the sample is important (Fig. 2, 1).

Macro photographs of the cross-section of the sherd provide information on the interaction between the ceramic base and the overlying glaze layer (Fig. 2, 2).



Fig. 2 Macro photos of the SEM–EDS analysis: 1—sample C 64/1157; 2—sample C 64/354–660; 3—sample C 68/10–2; 4—sample C 64/14–2; 5—sample C 68/16–2

The processes of diffusion between the layers are reflected in the chemical composition of the interaction zone; this process is most clearly illustrated by the samples Nos 68/107 and 354/660 (see Table 1, 3-5; 15-17; Fig. 2, 3-5).

The width of the interaction zone in the samples of our analytical sample varies from 40 to 160 μ m. At the same time, the narrowest diffusion zone was noted on the support for the firing of the vessels No. 68/10 (Table, 6–7) and on the wall of the matrix-form No. TsK/30 (Table 1, 17–18), on which random drops of glaze were recorded. The width of the lead glaze interfaces in the Tsarevskoye settlement workshop corresponds to the established parameters of the transition zones of lead glazes from other collections. It differs from the wider zones of interaction between alkaline glazes (Rehren and Yin 2012). The narrow interaction zones (usually 40–130 μ m in the lead glaze samples) indicate a high melting rate of lead glass in a smaller temperature range (Rehren and Yin 2012).

The microstructure of the samples' profiles reflects the physicochemical processes during firing, including movement—the penetration of the glaze into the body. The first firing of products (without glaze) ensured the maximum removal of gases from the clay matrix, but residual gas exchange processes took place during the second firing. Macro photographs show the concentration of bubbles in the clay matrix at the border with glaze and, to a lesser extent, on the boundary layer of glaze. Closer to the surface of the glaze layer there are practically no bubbles, as well as other defects (Fig. 2, 3, 5). We see two opposite movements: gases from clay go into the glaze, and how glaze fills the resulting gaps. In a thin and low-melting layer of high-lead glaze, gases find a free outlet without disturbing (damaging) the smooth and even surface. Since lead glaze has a low melting point with a coefficient of thermal expansion similar to that of ceramic, cracking and flaking of this glaze is much less common than alkaline glazes (Henshaw et al. 2005). This is the situation in which we can observe o- + n our samples (see Fig. 1).

High-lead glasses are characterized by a small amount of alkali metal compounds. In our sample, there is 1.8% on average, as well as calcium oxides—1.35% and magnesium—1.10% (see Table 1). These elements, like aluminum, are primarily natural inclusions in silicon dioxide. At the same time, the glaze of all samples is distinguished by a rather high Al concentration, ranging from 3.71 to 7.39%, with the average value being 6%. The source of aluminum oxide in glaze could be the deliberate addition of clay to the batch to increase the viscosity (Tite et al. 1998; al-Saad 2002; Henshaw 2010). Saiko (1963) admits this option, relying on ethnographic data and the practice of handicraft ceramists in Central Asia. It should be borne i mind that the diffusion process also could cause the entry of these elements into glaze from the clay matrix of vessels, and calcites from engobe (Henshaw 2010).

The concentration of lead in the glass of the PbO-SiO2 type defines it as a glassforming element, but in combination with copper oxide, it could also function as a dye in green glazes, and, being a strong flux, lowering the melting point of Si. The main dye is iron compounds (Table 1), on average 2.84%. At the same time, a lower concentration of iron compounds was sufficient to achieve the coloring effect as silicate raw materials—the sand of the Lower Volga region—contains a significant amount of iron (Kuznetsov et al. 1981). In five samples, in addition to iron, copper average 0.88% are active dyes producing different shades of green (Table 1, 1, 3, 6, 11, 13). A high percentage of iron, especially with a low concentration of copper (0.08–0.25%), gives the glaze a yellow (Table 1, 9, 15) or brown (Table 1, 17). Copper in glaze provided color and additionally also greatly lowered the melting point (Saiko 1963).

The glaze of all eight samples is transparent: the results of the analysis show the absence of tin and antimony oxides. Neither antimony nor manganese was used as bleaching agents-clarifiers in the recipe. The analysis shows an almost uniform glaze composition, which is caused by a stable and standard technology as well as the raw materials of the narrow region of the Lower Volga region.

The results of the clay matrix analysis also demonstrate a narrow localization of values (Table 1), reflecting the general source of raw materials. The unity of the raw material base is also confirmed by the fact that there are also technical ceramics in addition to dishes in the analytical sample – stands for firing (Table 1, 1,2) and a kalyp-matrix form for making a relief ornament (Table 1: 17). Most of the clay matrix samples were taken from the area of active diffusion of the glaze and the clay matrix itself, so the analysis showed the presence of the glaze lead (on average 4.65%); this impurity is especially significant in the clay matrix of the green dish 12.91% (Table 1: 5). In this regard, a high percentage of lead oxide in two samples of engobe 29.75% and 27.66% looks natural; engobe is an interface between the glaze and the clay matrix (Table 1: 4,8). Two more samples were taken from the crock edge opposite to the glaze coating; this area did not experience the glaze diffusion process and there is no lead oxide at all (Table 1: 7, 17).

In this study, the determination of the temperature regime of glaze firing was not an original task, but we have an opportunity to assume this matter, relying on the publication of the results of studies of Islamic ceramics in other regions, which should be considered as the starting point for the beginning of the Golden Horde tradition of pottery. The melting points for Iranian alkaline glazes were determined at 800–900 °C and for Iranian lead glazes at about 650 °C (Hill 2004). In Central Asian lead glazes, the lowest calculated firing temperatures were 700-760 °C. The Tsarevskoye samples must also have similar values. During the excavation of the Tsarevskoye workshop, Guseva (1974) drew attention to the fact that the bulk of the scrap and broken products belonged to fragments of vessels without glaze, i.e. blanks that have failed the first firing, while there were incomparably fewer defective glazed items. This fact was explained by the lower temperature of the second firing (Guseva 1974). Microscopic examination of clay of the vessels showed the presence of glassy neoplasms,¹ reflecting the initial stage of the polymorphic transformation of silica into tridymite, which occurs at temperatures above 870 °C (Valiulina 2005). At the same time, there are rare carbonate grains with signs of temperature transformations, but not destroyed. Carbonates are destroyed at a temperature of 950 °C, i.e. it can be concluded that the temperature of the first firing was not higher than 900 °C.

¹ Apparently, N. Bulatov considered these formations in the clay matrix of the glazed vessels of the Selitrennoye and Tsarevskoye medieval cites to be an additive of crushed glass (Bulatov 1976).

4 Conclusion

The pottery workshop on Estate III in the eastern suburb of the Tsarevskoye medieval city worked exclusively with a lead transparent glaze of the PbO-SiO₂ type. The entire manufacturing process represents sustainable craft specialization and standardization of all stages of the production cycle from the selection and processing of reliable and limited raw materials and fixtures to finished products.

Based on materials from the pottery workshop, the technological characterization and expediency of the formulation of high-lead glazes of a double charge (PbO-SiO₂) have been described. Currently, the technological advantages of lead raw materials have been proven: such raw materials are easier to process, they are more predictable in production, glaze covers the surface with a smooth, even layer; it has a shiny surface and a clear color. All these qualities have provided a wide chronological and geographical range of the existence of high-lead glaze. The chemical and technological characteristics of the Tsarevskoye glazed pottery confirmed the affinity of the production of glazed dishes with the craft tradition of lead glazes of Central Asia. But if the formation of the technological tradition of using lead glaze in Akhsiket, Sughd, Shash, and other cities of Central Asia, was formed over 6– 7 generations (Henshaw 2010), then there was no "period of apprenticeship" in the craft of the Golden Horde. Instead, it appropriated ready-made cultural and technical achievements of the conquered peoples.

Acknowledgements The study was carried out with the financial support of the RFBR, grant No.20-09-00240 "Tsarevskoye medieval city: research of materials from excavations of 1961–1968. From the funds of the Archaeological Museum of the Kazan Federal University and the Historical Museum." We would like to express our gratitude to A. Trifonov.

References

- al-Saad Ziad.: Chemical Composition and Manufacturing Technology of a Collection of Various Types of Islamic Glazes Excavated from Jordan. Journal of Archaeological Science 29, 803–810 (2002)
- Bocharov, S. G.: Krasnoglinyanaya Ceramica s biryuzovoi glazuryu iz arkheologicheskikh issledovanii Tsarevskogo gorodishcha (Red clay pottery with turquoise glaze from the archaeological research of Tsarevskoye medieval city). Povolzhskaya arheologiya (Volga Region Archaeology) 2(32), 32–39 (2020) (In Russian)
- Bulatov, N.M.: Klassifikatsiya krasnoglinyanoi polivnoi keramiki zolotoordynskikh gorodov (Classification of red clay glazed pottery of the Golden Horde cities). In: Srednevekovye pamyatniki Povolzhya (Medieval monuments of the Volga Region), 73–107. Nauka Publ., Moscow (1976) (In Russian)
- Guseva, T. V.: Remeslennye masterskie v vostochnom prigorode Novogo Saraya (Craft workshops in the eastern suburbs of New Saray). Sovetskaya arheologiya (Soviet Archaeology) 3, 125–141 (1974) (In Russian)
- Fedorov-Davydov, G. A., Vainer, I. C., Guseva, T. V.: Issledovanie trekh usadeb v vostochnom prigorode Novogo Saraya (Tsarevskogo gorodishcha) (Research of three estates in the eastern

suburb of New Saray (Tsarevskoye)). In: Goroda Povolzhya v srednie veka (The cities of the Volga Region in the Middle Ages), 89–125. Nauka Publ., Moscow (1974) (In Russian)

Henshaw, C.M.: Early Islamic Ceramics and Glazes of Akhsiket, Uzbekistan, 315 p. (2010)

- Henshaw, C., Reren, Th., Papachristou, O., Anarbaev, A. A.: Lead-glazed slipware of 10th 11th-century Akhsiket, Uzbekistan. Archaeometric and Archaeological Approach to Ceramics. Papers presented at EMAC05, 8th European Meeting on Ancient Ceramics. Lion (2005) BAR International Series 1691, 145–148 (2007)
- Hill, D. V.: The materials and technology of glazed ceramics from the Deh Luran plain, southwestern Iran, 49 p. Michigan (2004)
- Kuznetsov, A. V., Shamanskii, I. I., Miropolskaia, G. L., Tumanova, E. S.: Formovochnye i stekolnye peski SSSR (USSR Molding and Glassmaking Sand), 192p. Nedra Publ., Moscow (1981) (In Russian)
- Rehren, T., Yin, M.: Melt formation in lime-rich proto-porcelain glazes. Journal of Archaeological Science 39, 2969–2983 (2012)
- Saiko, E. V.: Glazuri keramiki Srednei Asii VIII-XII vv. (Po materialam keramicheskikh kompleksov Khuttalya, Sogda, Fergany) (Glazes of pottery of Central Asia 8–12 centuries (According to of ceramic complexes of Kutalya, Sogd, Fergana), 140 p. Tadzik Academy of Science Publ., Dushanbe (1963) (In Russian)
- Tite, M. S., Freestone, I. C., Mason, R., Molera, J., Vendrell–Saz, M., Wood, N.: Lead glazes in antiquity methods of production and reasons for use. Archaeometry 40, 241–260 (1998)
- Valiulina, S. I.: Steklo Volzhskoi Bulgarii (po materialam Bilyarskogo gorodishcha) (Glass of the Volga Bulgaria (based on materials from the Bilyar medieval town), 280 p.Kazan University Publ., Kazan (2005) (In Russian)

Asbestos Ceramics from Archaeological Sites of Southern Fennoscandia (Karelia): Mineralogical and Geochemical Aspects



Marianna A. Kulkova, Dmitry V. Gerasimov, Alexander M. Kulkov, Alexander M. Zhulnikov, Gleb K. Danilov, and Mikhail A. Streltsov

Abstract Pottery with asbestos fiber appeared in Eastern Finland about 4700 BC and widely spread to the North of Fennoscandia and North-Western Russia in the Late Neolithic—Eneolithic periods. In this study, we analyze the asbestos pottery sherds from Eneolithic archaeological sites of Fofanovo and Derevyannoe (ca. 3340–2935 cal BC), located on the shores of the Onega Lake (Karelia), the asbestos pieces from cultural layers and the samples of asbestos rocks from natural outcrops. Ceramic and asbestos samples were studied by pXRF and thin section analyses. The results allowe us to establish that asbestos (serpentine and chlorite) from local metamorphic outcrops (Chevzhavara) was used in the pottery from the named sites. At the Ileksa site located in the southern part of the Onega Lake, different asbestos minerals used in manufacture of the pottery were exploited from the north-western Onega Lake (the Chevzhavara outcrop) and the sources of the north-eastern Karelia. Various technological traditions relying on the use feather and plant temper coexisted at the sites located on the Eastern European Plain (e.g., Volosovo).

Keywords Asbestos pottery • pXRF analysis • Thin section analysis of ceramics • Karelia • Pottery technology • Minerals of Asbestos • Asbestos outcrops • Eneolithic sites

M. A. Kulkova (⊠) · M. A. Streltsov Herzen State University, St-Petersburg, Russia

D. V. Gerasimov · G. K. Danilov Peter the Great Museum of Anthropology and Ethnography (the Kunstkamera) RAS, St-Petersburg, Russia

A. M. Kulkov St-Petersburg State University, St-Petersburg, Russia

A. M. Zhulnikov Petrozavodsk State University, Petrozavodsk, Russia

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_21 233

1 Introduction

A tradition of using asbestos fiber as a temper for the clay appeared in Eastern Finland about 4700 BC and spread after 3600 BC, during the Late Neolithic period (the Eneolithic in the Karelian periodization), from Norway to the Archangelsk region in Russia (Carpelan 1978; Lavento and Hornytzkyj 1996; Pesonen 1996; Børslid Hop 2016; Zhulnikov et al. 2012). Asbestos ceramics were mostly found together with other types of ceramics at the settlements suggesting some special (nontechnological) functions of the asbestos temper (KholkIna et al. 2020). According to the investigations of some scholars (Colomban and Kremenovic 2020), the best fracture resistance is obtained by reinforcing a ceramic matrix with long mineral fibers like asbestos. Some interesting research was published about the archaeological excavations in Corsica (Colomban and Kremenovic 2020). They have shown that asbestos-reinforced artefacts have been produced since the Middle Ages in the northeast part of the island, where there are numerous ophiolite and serpentine outcrops. Other evidence (Kakoulli et al. 2014) suggests that asbestos, a fibrous form of serpentine or amphibole was discovered and used in Cyprussince ancient times. It is also reported that asbestos fibers were added to plaster during the Middle Ages or before in Cyprus. On data of Hulthén (1991), the Early Metal Age-Medieval Age clay vessels could be used for metal production (crucibles and molds) in the regions of Finland and North Scandinavia. Both the closed porosity and the fiber reinforcement improve the mechanical properties of the pottery. But there remain questions about using asbestos in ceramics manufacture.

In Northwest Russia the occurrence of asbestos ceramics was limited by the geographic boundary stretching from the mouth of the Neva River and towards the south-eastern direction. This boundary existed since the Early Neolithic period (5000 BC). Other typologically similar elements of material culture were spread at different times on both sides from the border (Gerasimov and Kholkina 2017; Gerasimov et al. 2019).

Technological characteristics of pottery with asbestos temper were studied since the end of the 19th c. AD. Several types of asbestos pottery that belonged to the Neolithic—Bronze Age were already identified at the beginning of the twentieth century (Pälsi 1915). Early general studies of asbestos pottery, including results produced using mineralogical and geochemical analyses, allowed to define two main sources of asbestos that were used as a temper in the Finnish Neolithic Asbestos Ware (Carpelan 1978; Lavento and Hornytzkyj 1996). The analysis of the mineral composition of asbestos from the earliest pottery in the Saima Lake area in Eastern Finland showed the exploitation of anthophyllite asbestos from the Savolaks metamorphic rocks of Middle Finland. However, the more proximate sources, such as the outcrops of chrysotile asbestos (serpentine) from ultramafic serpentine rocks located near the settlements of Eastern Finland were not exploited.

The typology of Eneolithic pottery for the territory of Karelia (Fig. 1) was developed at the end of the twentieth century by Zhulnikov (1999). Three main types,



Fig. 1 The main types of pottery with asbestos in the Late Neolithic (Eneolithic) sites in the Onega and Ladoga Lakes catchments. I: Voynavolok type, **IIa–IIb**: Orovnavolok type (early and late stages), III: Palayguba type; **1–4** and 7: Rozmega-2, **5** and **27**: Ileksa at the Lake Kushtozero, **6**: Derevyannoye-21, **8**, **9** and **13**: Derevyannoye-12, **10**, **11**: Derevyannoy-14, **13**: Derevyannoye-11, **14–26** Fofanovo-13

named according to eponymous sites—Vojnavolok, Orovnavolok, and Palayguba were defined based on the extensive study of materials from excavations of "closed" dwelling contexts.

Voynavolok type pottery (3500–3100 BC) was made using asbestos and down/fuzz temper. Vessels are of half-egg shape with round bottoms. The main feature of the type is the ornamentation—zig-zag figures, triangles, and other geometric patterns made by comb stamps and surrounded by small dimples and two–three punch stamps (Fig. 1, 20–27).

Orovnavolok type pottery (3300–2500 cal. BC) can be divided into the early and the late stages. The shell was used together with asbestos and feather/fuzz temper during the early phase, and disappeared during the later phase. Vessels are ornamented by: (1) oblique, sometimes intersecting rows of comb (or other) stamps, separated by empty areas; and also by (2) vertical zig-zag patterns of comb stamps (Fig. 1, 14-19). The later pattern became dominant in the late phase (Fig. 1, 8-13), when vessels with flat bottoms have also appeared.

The Palayguba pottery type (2500–1800 cal. BC) emerged under the influence of the Finnish Corded Ware and Upper Volga Fatyanovo cultures. Palayguba ornamentation includes rows of comb stamps of cord imitations and "cord-on-stik" or tiny comb stamps under the rim (Fig. 1, 2, 5–7). Body of a vessel is usually ornamented by vertical or horizontal zig-zag patterns created by long comb stamps, and rows of oval dimples created by short comb stamps (Fig. 1, 1, 3–4, 6). The vessels mainly have flat bottoms, although few miniature vessels with round bottoms were also found.

The typology of asbestos ceramics developed for the Karelian region differs from the typology of Finland, although there are some similarities and a chronological correlation between some pottery types (Zhulnikov et al. 2012; Nordqvist 2018). The typology of pottery from the Kola Peninsula was based on the typology developed for Karelia, Finland, and Northern Norway. Thin section analysis of pottery from the Kola Peninsula showed the use of actinolite asbestos as a temper (Murashkin and Carpelan 2013). For Sweden and Norway, the typology of asbestos pottery is the same as in Northern Finland, although the asbestos tradition appeared later, at the end of the Neolithic period, and existed for a longer time, until the 4th–5th c. AD (Carpelan 1978). Based on the thin section analysis, the pottery from Swedish archaeological settlements was divided into the "Asbestos pottery" type characterized by the amount of asbestos up to 50–60% and the "Asbestos Ware" type characterized by the amount of asbestos of about 90% (Stilborg 2017).

Easternmost Neolithic pottery with asbestos inclusions was found at the site of the Modlona culture in the Vologda and Arkhangelsk regions of Russia (Nedomolkina 2007). The mixture of feather, fuzz/down, and asbestos were used as a temper in the pottery of Modlona type, that has analogies with pottery of Volosovo type in the Upper Volga region. According to some authors (Krainov 1987), pottery of the Volosovo type can also contain asbestos, which is a marker of contacts with the people of Karelia and Finland.

In the final phase of the use of asbestos pottery (1st–5th c. AD), clay with asbestos temper was used for the manufacture of molds for copper metallurgy (Carpelan 1978). However, for the earlier periods, the technological advantages of vessels with

asbestos temper were not obvious. There is some evidence that admixing asbestos in clay was done with a non-utilitarian purpose, especially in the early phase of this tradition (Kholkina et al. 2020).

The purpose of this study is to develop models for procurement of asbestos by prehistoric societies in the areas with and without natural asbestos outcrops, and for pottery manufacture based on mineralogical and geochemical criteria. Analyzing pottery fabrics and defining different mineral types of asbestos used as a temper allow for: (1) the identification of the natural outcrops exploited for the asbestos procurement, (2) the characterization of technological peculiarities of ancient asbestos pottery; and (3) the understanding of transformations of ancient communication networks that served for transmission of ideas and goods between remote territories of Northwest Russia and contiguous regions in different prehistoric periods.

2 Materials and Methods

Sherds of Eneolithic asbestos ceramics and pieces of asbestos rocks from cultural layers of archaeological sites were sampled for the analytical investigation (Fig. 2). Samples of Vojnavolok and Orovnavolok pottery were selected from the assemblages of the sites of Derevjannoy-12, 19, 20, from the western shore of the Lake Onega, and the site of Fofanovo-13, in the mouth of the Shuya River near Petrozavodsk. Fofanovo 13 is a famous workshop for the production of cutting tools of the



Fig. 2 The location of sampled materials. Archaeological sites: 1—Vojnavolok-7; 2—Fofanovo-7, 13; 3—Derevyannoy-7, 16, 19; 20; 4—Ileksa-on-Kushtozero; 5—Chevzhavara asbestos outcrop

Russian-Karelian type, made of local metamorphosed tuffs (Tarasov and Zobkov 2015). The archaeological context at this site is extremely rich in the products of manufacture of tools from metamorphosed tuffs and also contains a lot of asbestos pottery of the Vojnavolok and Orovnavolok types, as well as other materials like amber, copper artifacts and asbestos rocks. This context can be considered as an evidence of complex social-cultural processes associated with the development of a specific cultural union that is attested by the pottery of the Orovnavolok type. We also sampled two pieces of natural asbestos from cultural layers of the sites of Fofanovo-6 and Derevyannoe-16. Two sherds of Orovnavolok pottery were sampled from a collection of the site of Voynavolok-7 from the north-western shore of the Lake Onega. Furthermore, Voynavolok type pottery was sampled from the assemblages of the Ileksa archaeological site at the Lake Kushtozero in the Vologda region, located 100 km away from the natural asbestos outcrop.

Asbestos samples were also taken from the natural outcrop of Chevzhavara, the quarry located 3.2 km to south-west from the Padozero station (Fig. 2). The total area of the quarry is 230 m². The main mineral resource is gabbro diabase. The gabbro dolerites form a sloping sill (PR1 ld) which intrudes the carbonate strata of the tulomzerskaya series (PR1 jt) (Lavrov and Kuleshevich 2020). Ten samples of asbestos minerals were sampled from the veins of this outcrop.

The analyses of ceramics and asbestos minerals were performed by pXRF and thin section microscopy. The use of pXRF to analyze the composition of ancient ceramic is described elsewhere (Daszkiewicz et al. 2020). For the pXRF analysis, ceramic samples were powdered in an agate mortar and prepared using hydraulic press and boric acid into tablets. The chemical composition was determined by Olympus Vanta pXRF in mode GeohimExtra with three measurements for each sample. The average of three measurements for major elements and minor elements is provided in Table 1.

During the analysis of thin sections, we determined various characteristics of the ceramic matrix including: nature and features of aplastic inclusions (mineral composition, their percentage, content, size, shape, distribution, and orientation of different particles); textural and optical characteristics of clay matrix (birefringence, color); shape, amount and orientation of pores. The study of mineral composition of pottery fabrics (i.e., thermal transition of different mineral phases) can allow the assessment of relative firing temperature and firing condition of pottery.

Information obtained from the petrographic analysis of pottery allows to understand the choices of potters for selection and preparation of clay, moulding, firing condition, and final treatment of vessels. These data permits to understand the use of raw materials by the past communities, spatial distribution of social communications, specialization, and development of technological processes.

Thin section analysis of pottery and asbestos samples was performed using polarized microscope Leica DM4500 P with the digital camera Leica DFC 495.

Table 1 The chemical c	ompositio	n of ceram	uic samples	s and asbe	stos sampl	les on the b	ase of pXI	RF analys.	is (%)				
Cermics and asbestos	Index	Mg	AI	Si	Ρ	S	K	Ca	Ti	Λ	Cr	Mn	Fe
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K24	4.47	5.65	23.80	0.978	0.0000	1.47	3.14	0.33	0.018	0.000	0.134	7.52
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K25	4.71	5.31	18.59	1.744	0.0000	1.04	2.61	0.43	0.000	0.008	0.040	4.64
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K26	2.09	6.39	18.96	2.143	0.0000	1.81	1.72	0.58	0.000	0.000	0.055	4.72
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K27	3.17	7.09	20.50	2.061	0.0113	1.53	1.90	0.61	0.000	0.000	0.055	4.29
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K28	1.88	9.04	13.00	3.822	0.0071	1.65	1.91	0.58	0.000	0.000	0.089	6.29
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K29	2.73	7.36	24.58	0.946	0.0000	2.24	1.44	0.59	0.000	0.018	0.040	4.82
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K30	0.00	8.12	12.34	1.043	0.0922	1.43	1.13	0.47	0.008	0.000	0.061	8.12
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K31	3.49	5.55	14.95	2.127	0.0000	1.16	1.60	0.31	0.000	0.000	0.075	6.44
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K32	3.50	7.79	22.85	2.255	0.0000	1.81	2.38	0.55	0.000	0.000	0.077	4.82
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K33	1.40	5.93	16.50	1.162	0.0000	1.51	0.73	0.57	0.015	0.010	0.076	5.22
Ileksa (Kushtozero)	K34	2.54	7.59	15.73	3.262	0.0000	2.20	2.32	0.47	0.019	0.000	0.084	5.14
Derevjannoe XII	K61	1.15	11.36	10.69	1.069	0.1101	0.76	0.61	0.43	0.017	0.010	0.070	7.83
Derevjannoe XII	K62	1.05	9.35	15.91	0.793	0.0476	0.87	1.03	0.39	0.007	0.018	0.064	8.25
Derevjannoe XII	K63	2.14	5.67	18.84	0.553	0.0071	1.47	0.87	0.49	0.000	0.000	0.042	6.41
Derevjannoe XX	K65	3.80	6.18	17.75	0.312	0.0000	0.98	1.65	0.36	0.018	0.009	0.079	6.26
Derevjannoe XX	K65	5.63	4.95	23.51	0.325	0.0000	0.91	1.95	0.29	0.007	0.000	0.089	5.95
Derevjannoe XIX	K66	3.30	1.35	27.50	0.093	0.0374	0.21	2.23	0.10	0.006	0.000	0.067	2.90
Derevjannoe XIX	K67	3.48	6.73	23.95	0.247	0.0283	2.62	1.50	0.38	0.000	0.007	0.074	4.69
Voinavolok VII	K68	0.00	7.85	17.04	1.469	0.0202	0.93	1.18	0.36	0.000	0.008	0.049	5.96
Voinavolok VII	K69	0.44	90.6	17.69	1.017	0.0079	1.14	1.20	0.42	0.011	0.008	0.078	7.32
Fofanovo XIII	K70	2.39	6.41	27.82	0.991	0.0000	1.62	2.62	0.48	0.014	0.000	0.107	5.94
												9	continued)

Table 1 (continued)													
Cermics and asbestos	Index	Mg	AI	Si	Р	S	K	Ca	Τï	>	Cr	Mn	Fe
Fofanovo XIII	K71	3.50	7.52	18.45	1.467	0.0062	1.27	2.12	0.55	0.000	0.009	0.158	8.86
Fofanovo XIII	K72	4.25	5.66	18.21	1.960	0.0000	1.62	2.04	0.55	0.013	0.021	0.101	8.19
Fofanovo XIII	K73	2.41	6.63	23.84	0.819	0.0000	1.61	1.93	0.54	0.012	0.008	0.110	8.15
Fofanovo XIII	K74	3.98	4.78	18.03	2.678	0.0000	1.06	3.37	0.41	0.012	0.006	0.186	7.83
Fofanovo XIII	K75	2.79	7.41	17.88	2.913	0.0000	1.86	2.15	0.45	0.000	0.025	0.121	7.92
Fofanovo XIII	K76	2.72	6.19	25.51	0.790	0.0091	1.46	2.17	0.42	0.014	0.020	0.100	8.67
Fofanovo XIII	K77	4.60	3.90	15.80	1.588	0.0000	0.68	2.59	0.23	0.018	0.000	0.974	4.78
Fofanovo XIII	K78	1.87	4.83	15.85	2.632	0.0000	0.95	1.75	0.31	0.007	0.004	1.335	7.43
Fofanovo XIII	K79	4.33	5.22	22.99	0.328	0.0000	1.43	2.38	0.40	0.011	0.005	0.121	7.05
Chevzhavara outcrop	A01	9.06	1.90	21.95	0.23	0.00	0.021	7.63	0.021	0.00	0.0000	0.09	5.84
Chevzhavara outcrop	A02	7.02	0.59	19.05	0.00	0.02	0.000	6.23	0.027	0.02	0.0000	0.20	18.41
Chevzhavara outcrop	A03	0.60	4.69	18.38	0.13	0.00	0.078	8.27	0.183	0.01	0.0000	0.09	0.23
Chevzhavara outcrop	A04	5.66	0.08	13.06	0.00	0.00	0.000	18.82	0.164	0.01	0.0000	0.18	4.02
Chevzhavara outcrop	A05	10.74	0.89	18.18	0.11	0.00	0.000	17.64	0.081	0.01	0.0000	0.22	1.76
Fofanovo 6	A06	4.70	0.24	14.45	0.22	0.01	0.060	5.42	0.102	0.02	0.0000	0.09	6.28
													continued)

Table 1 (continued)													
Cermics and asbestos	Index	Mg	Al	Si	Р	S	K	Ca	Ti	Λ	Cr	Mn	Fe
Derevjannoe 16	A07	8.35	0.89	20.29	0.15	0.00	0.000	6.83	0.131	0.01	0.0000	0.10	8.04
Cermics and asbestos	Index	Mn	Fe	0	Co	ïZ	Cu	Zn	As	Š	e	Rb	Sr
Ileksa 22/90	K24	0.134		7.52	0.038	0.024	0.009	0.048	0.0000	0.	000	0.010	0.030
Ileksa 20/88	K25	0.040	4	1.64	0.009	0.021	0.018	0.017	0.0005	0	.000	0.003	0.009
Ileksa 16/84	K26	0.055	4	1.72	0.011	0.016	0.015	0.037	0.0009	0	.000	0.008	0.014
Ileksa 21/89	K27	0.055	4	1.29	0.027	0.011	0.008	0.017	0.0000	0	.000	0.007	0.019
Ileksa 23/91	K28	0.089		5.29	0.017	0.020	0.006	0.073	0.0003	0	.001	0.008	0.017
Ileksa 15/87	K29	0.040	4	1.82	0.032	0.019	0.007	0.026	0.0000	0	.001	0.012	0.014
Ileksa 18/86	K30	0.061		3.12	0.087	0.017	0.011	0.019	0.0028	0.	.000	0.009	0.016
Ileksa 19/87	K31	0.075		5.44	0.011	0.024	0.011	0.014	0.0000	0	.000	0.005	0.013
Ileksa 17/85	K32	0.077	4	1.82	0.012	0.022	0.011	0.029	0.0005	0	.001	0.009	0.020
Ileksa 24/92	K33	0.076	<u>v</u>	5.22	0.006	0.024	0.00	0.028	0.0016	0	.001	0.012	0.011
Ileksa 25/93	K34	0.084	<u>v</u>	5.14	0.010	0.029	0.008	0.015	0.0004	0	.001	0.007	0.018
Derevjannoe XII	K61	0.070		7.83	0.009	0.022	0.006	0.021	0.0000	0	.001	0.008	0.011
Derevjannoe XII	K62	0.064	00	3.25	0.029	0.013	0.013	0.015	0.0000	0	.001	0.010	0.011
Derevjannoe XII	K63	0.042	¢.	5.41	0.000	0.016	0.007	0.009	0.0000	0	.000	0.009	0.011
Derevjannoe XX	K65	0.079	¢.	5.26	0.023	0.028	0.006	0.013	0.0003	0	.000	0.005	0.007
Derevjannoe XX	K65	0.089	<u>v</u>	5.95	0.013	0.037	0.006	0.021	0.0000	0	.000	0.007	0.012
Derevjannoe XIX	K66	0.067		.90	0.007	0.032	0.002	0.006	0.0000	0.	.001	0.002	0.002
Derevjannoe XIX	K67	0.074	4	69.1	0.012	0.031	0.007	0.011	0.0000	0.	.001	0.018	0.014
Voinavolok VII	K68	0.049	v	.96	0.026	0.007	0.011	0.015	0.0000	0.	.000	0.010	0.020
Voinavolok VII	K69	0.078	.~	7.32	0.018	0.013	0.013	0.017	0.0005	0.	.001	0.009	0.016
													(continued)

S- and abbeatorsIndexMnFeCoNiCuZnAsSeRbSrso XIIIK700.1075940.0090.0120.0010.0010.0010.0010.0030.034so XIIIK710.1181.9130.0120.0120.0110.0140.0010.0010.0030.034so XIIIK730.1018.190.0120.0120.0110.0140.0010.0010.0040.034so XIIIK730.1018.670.0230.0120.0130.0470.0010.0010.0030.034so XIIIK740.1260.1018.670.0230.0230.0120.0120.0100.0010.0010.037so XIIIK750.1217.920.0230.0270.0120.0120.0110.0010.0010.001so XIIIK760.1010.0910.0120.0120.0120.0110.0010.0010.001so XIIIK760.1217.920.0230.0230.0120.0110.0010.0010.001so XIIIK760.1217.920.0230.0210.0120.0110.0010.0010.001so XIIIK770.930.0040.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.001so XIIIK760.1230.0230.0230.0240.0010.0010.0010.001so XIIIK7	mics and abeators Index Min Fe Co Ni Cu Zn As Se Rb anovo XIII K70 0.107 5.94 0.006 0.012 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001	le 1 (continued)		_				-							242
0 XIIIK700.1075.940.0690.0120.0080.0250.00160.0010.0100.0100.0140 XIIIK710.1588.860.0080.0240.0110.0460.0010.0010.0040.0240.0140 XIIIK730.1108.150.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0100.0010.0010.0040 XIIIK740.1108.150.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0010.0010.0100 XIIIK750.1108.670.0270.0270.0130.0040.0010.0010.0030 XIIIK760.1010.1220.0270.0120.0120.0120.0120.0040.0010.0130 XIIIK791.3357.430.0000.0270.0120.0120.0120.0130.0240 XIIIK790.1217.050.0220.0110.0010.0010.0010.0270 XIIIK790.1217.050.0220.0210.0010.0010.0010.0270 XIIIK790.1217.050.0230.0020.0110.0010.0010.0010 XIIIK790.1210.090.0220.0110.0010.0010.0010.0010 XIIIK790.020.0230.0200.0210.0010.0010.0010.0010 XIIIK790.020.023	α XIII $K70$ 0.107 5.94 0.069 0.012 0.008 0.025 0.0016 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K71$ 0.158 8.86 0.008 0.024 0.011 0.0016 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K72$ 0.101 8.19 0.031 0.045 0.016 0.004 0.001 0.004 α XIII $K73$ 0.110 8.15 0.001 0.012 0.016 0.004 0.001 0.0004 α XIII $K73$ 0.121 7.92 0.027 0.025 0.016 0.004 0.001 0.0004 α XIII $K77$ 0.912 0.012 0.012 0.012 0.004 0.001 0.000 α XIII $K77$ 0.912 0.012 0.025 0.012 0.004 0.001 0.000 α XIII $K77$ 0.912 0.026 0.002 0.001 0.000 0.001 0.000 α XIII $K77$ 0.912 0.002 0.012 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.000 α XIII $K77$ 0.912 0.002 0.012 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.912 0.012 0.012 0.012 0.000 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.912 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.012 0.000 0.000 <th< td=""><td>s and asbestos</td><td>Index</td><td>Mn</td><td>Fe</td><td>Co</td><td>ï</td><td>Cĩ</td><td>Zn</td><td></td><td>As</td><td>Se</td><td>Rb</td><td>Sr</td><td></td></th<>	s and asbestos	Index	Mn	Fe	Co	ï	Cĩ	Zn		As	Se	Rb	Sr	
0 XIIIK10.1588.860.0080.0240.0140.0010.0050.0040.0010.0050.0340 XIIIK730.1108.190.0110.0420.0110.0460.0010.0050.0040.0100.0050.0340 XIIIK730.1108.150.0120.0120.0120.0120.0130.0100.0060.0030.0430 XIIIK760.1108.150.0270.0270.0130.0470.0010.0010.0030.0330 XIIIK760.1217.330.0120.0270.0120.0320.0030.0030.0330.0330 XIIIK790.1217.350.0230.0220.0240.0240.0240.0310.0330.0330 XIIIK790.130.090.0270.0120.0340.0010.0010.0330.0330 XIIIK790.130.090.0260.0110.0260.0110.0110.0330.0330 XIIIK790.130.090.0260.0110.0010.0010.0010.0330 XIIIK790.130.090.0260.0110.0010.0010.0030 XIIIK790.130.090.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010 XIIIK790.130.090.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010 XIIIK790.130.090.001	α XIII $K71$ 0.158 8.86 0.008 0.024 0.011 0.016 0.0016 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K72$ 0.101 8.19 0.031 0.045 0.016 0.0044 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K73$ 0.110 8.15 0.011 0.045 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K74$ 0.186 7.83 0.012 0.047 0.007 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.121 7.92 0.029 0.020 0.0012 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.121 7.92 0.021 0.012 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.121 7.92 0.020 0.012 0.012 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.914 0.726 0.013 0.022 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.974 0.121 7.02 0.002 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.974 0.121 7.03 0.002 0.002 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K77$ 0.974 0.012 0.002 0.002 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 α XIII $K79$ 0.121 0.029 0.022 0.012 0.024 0.001 0.001	vo XIII	K70	0.107	5.94	0.069	0.012	00.00	3 0.0	25	0.0007	0.001	0.010	0.045	
0 XIIIK72(101)819(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(001)(00	α XIII $K72$ 0.101 8.19 0.031 0.042 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 <th< td=""><td>vo XIII</td><td>K71</td><td>0.158</td><td>8.86</td><td>0.008</td><td>0.024</td><td>0.01</td><td>4 0.03</td><td>51</td><td>0.0016</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.004</td><td>0.027</td><td></td></th<>	vo XIII	K71	0.158	8.86	0.008	0.024	0.01	4 0.03	51	0.0016	0.001	0.004	0.027	
w KIIIK730.1108.150.0610.0010.0160.0000.0000.0000.0060.043w XIIIK740.1867.830.0120.0290.0070.0000.0010.0060.039w XIIIK750.1217.920.0290.0200.0130.0120.0010.0010.0030.033w XIIIK760.1008670.0270.0200.0130.0120.0010.0010.0030.033w XIIIK770.9744.780.0000.0270.0130.0120.0010.0010.0330.034w XIIIK770.9740.1217.050.0020.0010.0010.0010.0010.033w XIIIK790.1217.050.0120.0120.0130.0120.0100.0010.0010.033w XIIIK790.1217.050.0020.0230.0120.0110.0110.0110.023w XIIIK790.1217.050.0230.0120.0120.0010.0010.0010.003w XIIIK790.1210.0230.0230.0120.0120.0110.0010.0010.001w XIIIK790.1210.0230.0230.0120.0120.0010.0010.0010.003w XIIIK790.1230.0230.0230.0120.0120.0010.0010.0010.003w XIIIK79 <td< td=""><td>ox XIII$K73$$0.110$$8.15$$0.061$$0.016$$0.004$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K74$$0.186$$7.83$$0.012$$0.045$$0.016$$0.029$$0.0007$$0.000$$0.001$ox XIII$K75$$0.121$$7.92$$0.029$$0.020$$0.012$$0.0012$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K77$$0.974$$4.78$$0.020$$0.027$$0.013$$0.032$$0.0009$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K77$$0.974$$4.78$$0.000$$0.027$$0.012$$0.032$$0.0004$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K77$$0.974$$4.78$$0.007$$0.020$$0.012$$0.022$$0.0044$$0.01$$0.001$ox XIII$K77$$0.974$$0.012$$0.027$$0.027$$0.032$$0.0094$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K79$$0.121$$7.05$$0.020$$0.027$$0.027$$0.024$$0.0014$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K79$$0.02$$0.021$$0.021$$0.022$$0.011$$0.0014$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K79$$0.02$$0.021$$0.021$$0.022$$0.0014$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K79$$0.01$$0.021$$0.022$$0.012$$0.021$$0.0014$$0.001$$0.001$ox XIII$K79$$0.02$$0.021$$0.021$$0.0$</td><td>vo XIII</td><td>K72</td><td>0.101</td><td>8.19</td><td>0.031</td><td>0.042</td><td>0.01</td><td>1 0.0</td><td>46</td><td>0.0004</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.005</td><td>0.034</td><td></td></td<>	ox XIII $K73$ 0.110 8.15 0.061 0.016 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K74$ 0.186 7.83 0.012 0.045 0.016 0.029 0.0007 0.000 0.001 ox XIII $K75$ 0.121 7.92 0.029 0.020 0.012 0.0012 0.001 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K77$ 0.974 4.78 0.020 0.027 0.013 0.032 0.0009 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K77$ 0.974 4.78 0.000 0.027 0.012 0.032 0.0004 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K77$ 0.974 4.78 0.007 0.020 0.012 0.022 0.0044 0.01 0.001 ox XIII $K77$ 0.974 0.012 0.027 0.027 0.032 0.0094 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K79$ 0.121 7.05 0.020 0.027 0.027 0.024 0.0014 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K79$ 0.02 0.021 0.021 0.022 0.011 0.0014 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K79$ 0.02 0.021 0.021 0.022 0.0014 0.001 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K79$ 0.01 0.021 0.022 0.012 0.021 0.0014 0.001 0.001 ox XIII $K79$ 0.02 0.021 0.021 0.0	vo XIII	K72	0.101	8.19	0.031	0.042	0.01	1 0.0	46	0.0004	0.001	0.005	0.034	
w XIIIK740.1867.330.0120.0450.0450.0460.0460.043w XIIIK750.1217.920.0270.0270.0170.0010.0010.0050.033w XIIIK760.1008.670.0270.0270.0120.0110.0010.0310.037w XIIIK770.9749.7430.0000.0270.0120.0010.0010.0030.034w XIIIK770.9740.9740.0070.0120.0010.0010.0010.034w XIIIK790.1217.050.0070.0220.0110.0010.0010.034w XIIIK790.1217.050.0070.0240.0010.0010.031w XIIIK790.1217.050.0070.0240.0010.0010.0010.031w XIIIK790.1217.050.0070.0210.0110.0010.0010.021w XIIIK790.1217.050.0120.0210.0110.0010.0010.001w XIIIK790.1210.020.0210.0110.0010.0010.0010.001w XIIIW Y0.020.0210.0120.0010.0010.0010.0010.001w XIIIW Y0.020.0210.0120.0010.0010.0010.0010.001w XIIIW Y0.020.0210.0120.0010.001 </td <td>vo XIIIK740.1867.830.0120.0450.0160.0290.0070.0000.0000.000vo XIIIK750.1217.920.0290.0200.0130.0470.00000.0010.0000.001vo XIIIK760.1217.920.0270.0200.0130.0130.00120.00120.00100.001vo XIIIK770.9744.780.0000.0270.0130.0130.0030.00120.00100.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0140.0270.0120.0130.0270.0120.0040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0140.0260.0120.0120.0120.0040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0130.0270.0120.0120.0120.0040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0130.0260.0110.0240.0010.0040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1210.020.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.120.1210.0230.0100.0230.0110.0230.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.120.120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0010.001vo XIIIK79</td> <td>vo XIII</td> <td>K73</td> <td>0.110</td> <td>8.15</td> <td>0.061</td> <td>0.019</td> <td>0.01</td> <td>3 0.0</td> <td>16</td> <td>0.0004</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.010</td> <td>0.040</td> <td></td>	vo XIIIK740.1867.830.0120.0450.0160.0290.0070.0000.0000.000vo XIIIK750.1217.920.0290.0200.0130.0470.00000.0010.0000.001vo XIIIK760.1217.920.0270.0200.0130.0130.00120.00120.00100.001vo XIIIK770.9744.780.0000.0270.0130.0130.0030.00120.00100.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0140.0270.0120.0130.0270.0120.0040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0140.0260.0120.0120.0120.0040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0130.0270.0120.0120.0120.0040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0130.0260.0110.0240.0010.0040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1210.020.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.120.1210.0230.0100.0230.0110.0230.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.120.120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0010.001vo XIIIK79	vo XIII	K73	0.110	8.15	0.061	0.019	0.01	3 0.0	16	0.0004	0.001	0.010	0.040	
w XIIIK750.1217.920.0290.0200.0150.0470.0000.0110.0060.0010.0060.033w XIIIK760.1008.670.0270.0270.0150.0130.0010.0010.0010.033w XIIIK770.9744.780.0000.0270.0130.0320.00090.0010.0030.004w XIIIK790.9744.780.0000.0270.0120.0120.0010.0010.003w XIIIK790.1217.050.0420.0200.0120.0240.0120.0010.0010.001w XIIIK790.1217.050.0130.0200.0120.0120.0010.0010.001w XIIIK790.1217.050.0130.0200.0120.0120.0010.0010.001w XIIIK790.1217.050.0130.0200.0110.0010.0010.0010.001w XIIIK790.020.0130.0200.0110.0010.0010.0010.0010.001w XIIIW XIIIW XIII0.010.0100.0210.0100.0110.0010.0010.001w XIIIW XIIIW XIII0.010.0210.0100.0210.0110.0010.0010.001w XIIIW XIII0.010.010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.001w X	vo XIIIK750.1217.920.0290.0200.0130.0470.00000.0010.000vo XIIIK760.1008.670.0570.0270.0150.0130.00120.00100.010vo XIIIK770.9748.770.0070.0130.0120.00120.0010.010vo XIIIK770.9741.3357.430.0000.0270.0120.0390.00040.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.030.0000.0210.0120.0120.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.030.0000.0120.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.030.0000.0120.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.030.0000.0120.0120.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.030.0000.0120.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1210.0910.0130.0120.0120.0110.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1210.0910.0130.0100.0120.0110.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.130.0910.0120.0120.0110.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIVo XII0.0130.0130.0100.0120.0100.0110.0010.001<	vo XIII	K74	0.186	7.83	0.012	0.045	0.010	5 0.0	29	0.0007	0.000	0.006	0.043	
vo XIIIK760.1008.670.0270.0200.0150.0120.0010.0010.0100.0030.037vo XIIIK770.9744.780.0000.0270.0130.0320.0090.0000.0330.024vo XIIIK781.3357.430.0000.0270.0120.0120.0040.0010.0030.048vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0420.0260.0120.0120.0040.0010.0010.003vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0420.0260.0120.0120.0040.0010.0010.003vo XIIIK790.1210.095.840.0130.0200.0120.0110.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.120.200.0160.0110.0040.0010.0010.0010.003vo XIIIK790.020.020.0100.0250.0110.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.020.020.0110.0020.0010.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.020.020.0100.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.020.020.0110.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.020.020.0120.0120.0120.0120.0120.0010.0010.00	vo XIII $K76$ 0.100 8.67 0.057 0.027 0.018 0.012 0.001 0.001 0.001 vo XIII $K77$ 0.974 4.78 0.000 0.027 0.013 0.022 0.009 0.000 0.001 vo XIII $K79$ 0.914 4.78 0.000 0.027 0.012 0.029 0.000 0.001 0.001 vo XIII $K79$ 0.121 7.05 0.001 0.027 0.024 0.024 0.001 0.001 avara outcopA01 0.09 5.84 0.013 0.026 0.014 0.027 0.001 0.001 avara outcopA02 0.20 18.41 0.000 0.026 0.014 0.027 0.001 0.001 avara outcopA03 0.09 0.20 18.41 0.000 0.026 0.011 0.027 0.001 0.001 avara outcopA04 0.18 1.02 0.001 0.002 0.011 0.002 0.001 0.001 avara outcopA04 0.18 1.02 0.001 0.002 0.001 0.000 0.001 0.001 avara outcopA06 0.09 0.001 0.002 0.001 0.002 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcopA06 0.01 0.001 0.002 0.001 0.002 0.001 0.001 avara outcopA06 0.01 0.001 0.002 0.001 0.002 0.000 0.001 <td>vo XIII</td> <td>K75</td> <td>0.121</td> <td>7.92</td> <td>0.029</td> <td>0.020</td> <td>0.01</td> <td>3 0.0</td> <td>47</td> <td>0000.0</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.006</td> <td>0.039</td> <td></td>	vo XIII	K75	0.121	7.92	0.029	0.020	0.01	3 0.0	47	0000.0	0.001	0.006	0.039	
vo XIIIK770.9744.780.0000.0010.0240.0000.0030.0030.0030.0040.0010.0040.004vo XIIIK781.3357.430.0000.0040.0110.0010.0010.0010.0480.048vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0420.0260.0410.0240.0010.0010.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1010.095.840.0130.0260.0140.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA010.090.230.0030.0260.0110.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA020.230.0030.0060.0110.0010.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.130.090.0060.0110.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.130.0030.0050.0010.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.130.0030.0060.0110.0000.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.130.0040.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.1010.0100.0060.0110.0000.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.1010.0100.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcr	vo XIII K77 0.974 4.78 0.000 0.027 0.013 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001	vo XIII	K76	0.100	8.67	0.057	0.020	0.01	5 0.0	18	0.0012	0.001	0.010	0.037	
vo XIII K78 [335 743 0.000 0.027 0.004 0.001 0.007 0.048 vo XIII K79 0.121 7.05 0.042 0.026 0.041 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop A01 0.09 5.84 0.013 0.020 0.002 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 </td <td>vo XIIIK781.3357.430.0000.0270.0120.0390.00040.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0420.0260.0150.0040.0010.0010.001vo XIIIM010.095.840.0130.0200.0150.0160.0010.0010.001avara outcropA010.095.840.0130.0000.0020.0100.0000.0000.000avara outcropA030.090.230.0030.0060.0110.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0040.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0110.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0120.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0070.0250.0110.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0070.0250.0120.0000.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0050.0050.0250.0010.0060.0010.001avara outcropA060.010.000.0050.0250.0150.0050.0010.001avara outcropA060.01<!--</td--><td>vo XIII</td><td>K77</td><td>0.974</td><td>4.78</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.027</td><td>0.01</td><td>3 0.0</td><td>32</td><td>6000.0</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.003</td><td>0.024</td><td></td></td>	vo XIIIK781.3357.430.0000.0270.0120.0390.00040.0010.0010.001vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0420.0260.0150.0040.0010.0010.001vo XIIIM010.095.840.0130.0200.0150.0160.0010.0010.001avara outcropA010.095.840.0130.0000.0020.0100.0000.0000.000avara outcropA030.090.230.0030.0060.0110.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0040.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0110.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0120.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0070.0250.0110.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0070.0250.0120.0000.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0050.0050.0250.0010.0060.0010.001avara outcropA060.010.000.0050.0250.0150.0050.0010.001avara outcropA060.01 </td <td>vo XIII</td> <td>K77</td> <td>0.974</td> <td>4.78</td> <td>0.000</td> <td>0.027</td> <td>0.01</td> <td>3 0.0</td> <td>32</td> <td>6000.0</td> <td>0.000</td> <td>0.003</td> <td>0.024</td> <td></td>	vo XIII	K77	0.974	4.78	0.000	0.027	0.01	3 0.0	32	6000.0	0.000	0.003	0.024	
vo XIII K79 0.121 7.05 0.042 0.041 0.004 0.011 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop A01 0.09 5.84 0.013 0.002 0.001 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop A01 0.09 5.84 0.013 0.002 0.010 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.003 0.003 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001	vo XIIIK790.1217.050.0420.0260.0410.0340.00440.0010.001avara outcropA010.095.840.0130.0200.0150.00000.0000.000avara outcropA020.2018.410.0030.0200.0100.0220.00110.0010.001avara outcropA030.090.230.0080.0060.0100.0220.00110.0010.001avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0060.0110.0010.0010.001avara outcropA050.221.760.0030.0050.0110.0060.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0030.0050.0110.0060.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0030.0050.0120.0110.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.090.020.0050.0210.0060.0060.0010.0010.001avara outcropA060.096.280.0640.0050.0210.0000.0000.0010.001avara outcropA060.090.020.0230.0210.0060.0140.0000.0010.001avara outcropA060.090.000.0050.0230.0010.0000.0000.001avaraA060.010.000.	vo XIII	K78	1.335	7.43	0.000	0.027	0.01	2 0.0	39	0.0004	0.001	0.007	0.048	
avarate outcropA010.095.840.0130.0020.0020.0150.0000.0000.0000.0000.0010.001avarate outcropA020.2018.410.0000.0080.0050.0100.0010.0010.0010.003avarate outcropA030.090.230.0030.0060.0040.0060.17500.0010.0010.003avarate outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0060.0110.0000.0010.0010.003avarate outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0060.0110.0010.0010.001avarate outcropA060.096.280.0050.0050.0120.0000.0000.0010.001avarate outcropA060.096.280.0050.0050.0000.0000.0010.0010.001avarate outcropA060.096.280.0050.0050.0000.0000.0010.0010.001avarate outcropA060.090.0050.0050.0000.0000.0010.0010.0010.001avarate outcropA060.090.0050.0050.0000.0000.0010.0010.0010.001avarate outcropA060.090.0050.0050.0020.0010.0010.0010.0010.001avarate outcropA060.090.0040.0050.005	avara outcrop $A01$ 0.09 5.84 0.013 0.020 0.015 0.000 0.000 0.000 avara outcrop $A02$ 0.20 0.20 18.41 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A03$ 0.09 0.20 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A03$ 0.09 0.22 1.76 0.003 0.007 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A04$ 0.18 4.02 0.013 0.003 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A04$ 0.19 6.28 0.003 0.007 0.011 0.006 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A06$ 0.09 6.28 0.004 0.003 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A06$ 0.09 6.28 0.004 0.003 0.002 0.011 0.000 0.001 0.001 $votA060.000.0010.0030.0030.0030.0030.0000.0000.0010.001votA060.0040.0040.0050.0040.0000.0000.0010.001votA060.0030.0030.0030.0030.0030.0030.0030.0040.0010.0040.001vot$	vo XIII	K79	0.121	7.05	0.042	0.026	0.04	1 0.0	34	0.0004	0.001	0.011	0.027	
avarate outcropA020.2018.410.0000.0280.0100.0010.0010.0010.0010.0010.003avarate outcropA030.090.230.0080.0060.0130.0060.0110.0010.0010.0010.005avarate outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0070.0060.0110.0000.0010.0010.005avarate outcropA050.221.760.0000.0070.0050.0110.0000.0010.0010.005avarate outcropA050.021.760.0000.0010.0000.0010.0010.0010.005avarate outcropA060.018.040.0000.0020.0210.0120.0000.0010.0010.005avarate outcropA070.108.040.0000.0230.0250.0210.0010.0010.0010.005and ebestosIndexYZrMoAgShShShShShPhBiAc2290K240.0040.0140.0250.0250.0250.0030.0050.0010.0020.0052088K250.0040.0140.0250.0260.0160.0030.0030.00461.412189K260.0040.0140.0150.0160.0160.0030.0030.00461.842189K260.0040.014 <td< td=""><td>avara outcropA02$0.20$$18.41$$0.000$$0.02$$0.0011$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$</td><td>avara outcrop</td><td>A01</td><td>0.09</td><td>5.84</td><td>0.013</td><td>0.020</td><td>0.00</td><td>2 0.0</td><td>15</td><td>0000.0</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.000</td><td>0.001</td><td></td></td<>	avara outcropA02 0.20 18.41 0.000 0.02 0.0011 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001	avara outcrop	A01	0.09	5.84	0.013	0.020	0.00	2 0.0	15	0000.0	0.000	0.000	0.001	
avara outcropA030.090.230.0080.0060.0040.17500.0010.0010.0010.0010.001avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0010.0050.0110.0000.0010.0010.006avara outcropA050.221.760.0000.0050.0150.00060.0010.0010.005avara outcropA060.096.280.0000.0050.0150.00060.0010.0010.007voA060.096.280.0640.0030.0230.0300.00060.0010.0010.001annoe 16A070.108.040.0000.0230.0240.0270.00000.0010.0010.002s and asbestosIndexYZrMoAg0.0240.0240.0250.0010.0010.0010.00222/90K240.0040.0130.0030.0050.0140.0250.0130.0050.1370.0030.00420/88K250.0040.0130.0050.0140.0150.0050.1370.0030.00461.4121/90K260.0040.0030.0050.0140.0150.0050.0130.00561.4121/90K250.0040.0030.0050.0140.0150.0050.0130.00561.4121/80K260.0040.0030.0050.0140.015	avara outcrop $A03$ 0.09 0.23 0.008 0.006 0.1750 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A04$ 0.18 4.02 0.013 0.007 0.006 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A05$ 0.22 1.76 0.003 0.005 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avara outcrop $A05$ 0.22 1.76 0.000 0.005 0.001 0.000 0.001 0.001 avora outcrop $A05$ 0.22 1.76 0.000 0.005 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avora outcrop $A05$ 0.22 1.76 0.005 0.001 0.000 0.001 0.001 0.001 avora outcrop $A07$ 0.10 8.04 0.004 0.005 0.021 0.006 0.001 0.001 0.001 avora outcrop $A07$ 0.10 8.04 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 avora outcrop $A07$ V X X $A00$ 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 avora outcrop $A07$ V X X $A00$ 0.001 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 avora outcrop $A07$ V X $A00$ $A02$ $A00$ $A00$ $A000$ $A000$ $A000$ $A000$ $A000$ $A000$ 2290 $K25$ $A0004$ A	lavara outcrop	A02	0.20	18.41	0.000	0.028	0.010	0.0	22	0.0011	0.001	0.001	0.003	
avara outcropA040.184.020.0130.0070.0060.0010.0000.0010.0010.006avara outcropA050.221.760.0000.0000.0010.0010.0010.0010.001vo 6A060.096.280.0640.0630.0580.0300.00000.0000.0020.003vo 6A070.108.040.0000.0030.0210.0000.0000.0010.0010.003vo 6A070.108.040.0000.0030.0230.0270.0000.0010.0010.003s and asbestosIndexYZrMoAg0.0140.0020.0010.0010.0010.0012090K240.0040.0140.0050.0070.0240.0240.0250.0170.00553.392088K250.0040.0130.0050.0140.0150.0140.0130.0050.0140.0136/84K260.0040.0230.0040.0140.0150.0140.0150.0030.00461.411/89K270.0040.0230.0030.0140.0150.0140.0130.00461.801/89K260.0040.0230.0140.0150.0140.0150.0030.00461.811/89K270.0040.0260.0140.0140.0140.0140.0140.0140.014 <td< td=""><td>avara outcrop$A04$$0.18$$4.02$$0.013$$0.007$$0.006$$0.000$$0.000$$0.000$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$$0.001$<td>lavara outcrop</td><td>A03</td><td>0.09</td><td>0.23</td><td>0.008</td><td>0.006</td><td>00.0</td><td>4 0.00</td><td>90</td><td>0.1750</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.001</td><td>0.020</td><td></td></td></td<>	avara outcrop $A04$ 0.18 4.02 0.013 0.007 0.006 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 <td>lavara outcrop</td> <td>A03</td> <td>0.09</td> <td>0.23</td> <td>0.008</td> <td>0.006</td> <td>00.0</td> <td>4 0.00</td> <td>90</td> <td>0.1750</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.020</td> <td></td>	lavara outcrop	A03	0.09	0.23	0.008	0.006	00.0	4 0.00	90	0.1750	0.001	0.001	0.020	
avara outcrop A05 0.22 1.76 0.000 0.005 0.006 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.004 0.001 0.001 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.004 0.004 0.004	avara outcropA05 0.22 1.76 0.000 0.005 0.0016 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 <td>avara outcrop</td> <td>A04</td> <td>0.18</td> <td>4.02</td> <td>0.013</td> <td>0.007</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>5 0.0</td> <td>=</td> <td>0000.0</td> <td>0.000</td> <td>0.001</td> <td>0.006</td> <td></td>	avara outcrop	A04	0.18	4.02	0.013	0.007	0.00	5 0.0	=	0000.0	0.000	0.001	0.006	
00 6 A06 0.09 6.28 0.064 0.058 0.030 0.0000 0.000 0.002 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.003 0.004 0.003 0.003 0.004 0.003 0.003 0.004 0.003 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.003 0.014 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.003 0.014 0.003 0.014 0.003 0.014 0.003 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.0	oo 6 A06 0.09 6.28 0.064 0.063 0.030 0.0000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.0	avara outcrop	A05	0.22	1.76	0.000	0.005	0.02	1 0.0	15	0.0006	0.001	0.001	0.007	
mnoe 16 A07 0.10 8.04 0.000 0.023 0.003 0.027 0.0000 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.001 0.002 0.002 0.002 0.002 0.002 0.002 0.002 0.002 0.003 0.004 0.003 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.004 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014	mnoe 16A07 0.10 8.04 0.000 0.023 0.007 0.000 0.001 0.001 0.001 s and asbestosIndexYZrMoAgSnShBaPbBiOth2/90K24 0.004 0.014 0.005 0.007 0.024 0.026 0.161 0.005 0.005 53.3 0/88K25 0.004 0.013 0.005 0.005 0.015 0.009 0.137 0.003 0.004 61.4 6/84K26 0.004 0.020 0.003 0.006 0.014 0.015 0.003 0.006 61.3 6/84K27 0.004 0.020 0.003 0.004 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.000 61.4 1/89K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.014 0.017 0.026 0.235 0.004 61.4	0 6	A06	0.09	6.28	0.064	0.063	0.058	3 0.0	30	0000.0	0.000	0.002	0.008	
s and asbestos Index Y Zr Mo Ag Sn Sb Ba Pb Bi Other elements 2/90 K24 0.004 0.014 0.005 0.007 0.024 0.026 0.161 0.005 53.39 0/88 K25 0.004 0.013 0.005 0.014 0.005 0.014 6.014 6.014 6.014 0.005 0.015 0.009 0.137 0.003 6.004 61.41 6/84 K26 0.004 0.003 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 61.37 0.003 61.80 1/89 K27 0.004 0.023 0.017 0.026 0.235 0.004 59.11	s and asbestos Index Y Zr Mo Ag Sn Sh Ba Ph Bi Oth 2/90 K24 0.004 0.014 0.005 0.007 0.024 0.026 0.161 0.005 53.3 0/88 K25 0.004 0.013 0.005 0.015 0.016 0.137 0.003 0.004 61.4 6/84 K26 0.004 0.013 0.003 0.016 0.137 0.003 0.004 61.8 6/84 K27 0.004 0.013 0.003 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.004 61.8 1/89 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.004 61.8	nnoe 16	A07	0.10	8.04	0.000	0.023	00.00	3 0.0	27	0000.0	0.001	0.001	0.002	
22/90 K24 0.004 0.014 0.005 0.007 0.024 0.026 0.161 0.005 53.39 0/88 K25 0.004 0.013 0.005 0.015 0.009 0.137 0.003 61.41 6/84 K26 0.004 0.003 0.006 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 61.41 1/89 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.014 0.015 0.375 0.003 61.80	27/90 K24 0.004 0.014 0.005 0.007 0.024 0.026 0.161 0.005 0.005 53.3 0/88 K25 0.004 0.013 0.003 0.005 0.015 0.009 0.137 0.003 0.004 61.4 6/84 K26 0.004 0.003 0.006 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.004 61.4 6/84 K27 0.004 0.020 0.003 0.004 0.147 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.004 61.4 1/89 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.017 0.026 0.004 61.4	s and asbestos	Index	Y	Zr	Mo	Ag	Sn	Sb	Ba	Pb	Bi	Other 6	elements	
0/88 K25 0.004 0.013 0.003 0.015 0.016 0.137 0.003 0.004 61.41 6/84 K26 0.004 0.020 0.003 0.006 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 61.80 1/189 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.017 0.026 0.235 0.004 59.11	0/88 K25 0.004 0.013 0.003 0.015 0.019 0.137 0.003 0.004 61.4 6/84 K26 0.004 0.020 0.003 0.006 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.000 61.8 6/84 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.000 61.8 1/89 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.017 0.026 0.235 0.004 0.04 59.1	12/90	K24	0.004	0.014	0.005	0.007	0.024	0.026	0.161	0.005	0.005	53.39		М
6/84 K.26 0.004 0.020 0.003 0.006 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.000 61.80 1/89 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.017 0.016 0.235 0.004 59.11	6/84 K.26 0.004 0.020 0.003 0.006 0.014 0.016 0.375 0.003 0.000 61.8 1/89 K.27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.004 0.017 0.026 0.235 0.004 0.004 59.1	0/88	K25	0.004	0.013	0.003	0.005	0.015	0.009	0.137	0.003	0.004	61.41		A. K
1/89 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.004 0.017 0.026 0.235 0.004 59.11 &	1/89 K27 0.004 0.023 0.004 0.004 0.007 0.026 0.235 0.004 0.004 59.1	6/84	K26	0.004	0.020	0.003	0.006	0.014	0.016	0.375	0.003	0.000	61.80		Culk
		1/89	K27	0.004	0.023	0.004	0.004	0.017	0.026	0.235	0.004	0.004	59.11		ova

Table 1 (continued)											
Cermics and asbestos	Index	Y	Zr	Мо	Ag	Sn	$\mathbf{S}\mathbf{b}$	Ba	Pb	Bi	Other elements
Ileksa 23/91	K28	0.003	0.022	0.005	0.009	0.019	0.028	0.268	0.004	0.010	62.32
Ileksa 15/87	K29	0.003	0.022	0.003	0.003	0.014	0.019	0.227	0.004	0.002	55.68
Ileksa 18/86	K30	0.004	0.016	0.004	0.006	0.019	0.026	0.278	0.003	0.002	68.08
Ileksa 19/87	K31	0.003	0.016	0.002	0.002	0.017	0.012	0.256	0.004	0.006	65.02
Ileksa 17/85	K32	0.003	0.021	0.003	0.010	0.011	0.016	0.295	0.003	0.003	54.32
Ileksa 24/92	K33	0.004	0.022	0.005	0.006	0.018	0.021	0.171	0.003	0.005	67.42
Ileksa 25/93	K34	0.003	0.016	0.003	0.005	0.022	0.018	0.203	0.002	0.005	61.18
Cermics and asbestos	Index	Y	Zr	Mo	Ag	Sn	Sb	Ba	Pb	Bi	Other elements
Ileksa 17/85	K32	0.003	0.013	0.002	0.008	0.020	0.018	0.195	0.003	0.005	66.91
Ileksa 24/92	K33	0.003	0.015	0.003	0.006	0.017	0.016	0.153	0.004	0.004	63.33
Ileksa 25/93	K34	0.002	0.012	0.002	0.003	0.008	0.014	0.142	0.003	0.008	64.38
Derevjannoe XII	K61	0.003	0.013	0.002	0.007	0.017	0.019	0.130	0.002	0.003	63.42
Derevjannoe XII	K62	0.002	0.012	0.002	0.002	0.011	0.010	0.308	0.003	0.006	56.97
Derevjannoe XII	K63	0.001	0.005	0.003	0.004	0.013	0.016	0.141	0.003	0.007	62.47
Derevjannoe XX	K65	0.003	0.015	0.003	0.006	0.009	0.019	0.080	0.004	0.005	56.87
Derevjannoe XX	K65	0.003	0.019	0.004	0.006	0.017	0.020	0.185	0.005	0.005	65.81
Derevjannoe XIX	K66	0.003	0.020	0.004	0.006	0.015	0.024	0.238	0.003	0.002	62.48
Derevjannoe XIX	K67	0.003	0.017	0.003	0.007	0.025	0.020	0.169	0.003	0.002	52.21
Voinavolok VII	K68	0.005	0.017	0.004	0.012	0.012	0.026	0.309	0.003	0.002	57.11
Voinavolok VII	K69	0.003	0.016	0.003	0.008	0.019	0.021	0.146	0.002	0.002	58.41
Fofanovo XIII	K70	0.003	0.016	0.004	0.005	0.016	0.028	0.302	0.003	0.006	54.81
Fofanovo XIII	K71	0.003	0.012	0.003	0.003	0.019	0.018	0.313	0.002	0.003	58.48
											(continued)

Asbestos Ceramics from Archaeological Sites ...

243

Table 1 (continued)											
Cermics and asbestos	Index	Y	Zr	Mo	Ag	Sn	Sb	Ba	Pb	Bi	Other elements
Fofanovo XIII	K72	0.004	0.018	0.003	0.005	0.012	0.017	0.374	0.003	0.004	57.26
Fofanovo XIII	K73	0.003	0.011	0.003	0.008	0.014	0.019	0.354	0.002	0.006	52.86
Fofanovo XIII	K74	0.001	0.009	0.003	0.006	0.011	0.017	0.182	0.001	0.007	65.34
Fofanovo XIII	K75	0.004	0.015	0.003	0.003	0.016	0.019	0.225	0.002	0.006	63.90
Fofanovo XIII	K76	0.002	0.011	0.003	0.003	0.019	0.023	0.106	0.003	0.003	56.60
Fofanovo XIII	K77	0.003	0.013	0.002	0.008	0.020	0.018	0.195	0.003	0.005	66.91
Fofanovo XIII	K78	0.003	0.015	0.003	0.006	0.017	0.016	0.153	0.004	0.004	63.33
Fofanovo XIII	K79	0.002	0.012	0.002	0.003	0.008	0.014	0.142	0.003	0.008	64.38
Chevzhavara outcrop	A01	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	54.22
Chevzhavara outcrop	A02	0.003	0.004	0.006	0.014	0.013	0.023	0.176	0.002	0.006	51.31
Chevzhavara outcrop	A03	0.003	0.006	0.003	0.010	0.010	0.025	0.154	0.008	0.003	66.93
Chevzhavara outcrop	A04	0.004	0.004	0.005	0.009	0.027	0.024	0.045	0.004	0.000	58.52
Chevzhavara outcrop	A05	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.005	0.017	0.012	0.249	0.001	0.007	50.31
Fofanovo 6	A06	0.004	0.005	0.005	0.011	0.030	0.042	0.198	0.005	0.000	68.97
Derevjannoe 16	A07	0.003	0.004	0.004	0.006	0.014	0.013	0.151	0.003	0.005	56.35

3 Results and Discussion

The chemical composition of 37 samples of ceramics and asbestos is provided in Table 1. A visualization of the compositional characteristics in the ternary Si- (Al + Mg)—(K + Ca + P) diagram is presented in Fig. 3. It is necessary to note that the firing temperatures were low therefore any groups based on ceramic properties like sintering cannot be determined.

The chemical compositional data for pottery was subject to statistical processing using Statistica 10 software. The correlation analysis allows determining the correlations between chemical elements which reflects the mineral composition. Using PCA, some groups of ceramic samples having similar chemical and mineral composition can be identified. The results of PCA are provided in Fig. 5.

The correlation analysis of asbestos allows to differentiate various asbestos minerals based on their chemical composition. Three groups of samples were distinguished (Fig. 5).

Group 1—includes the samples from the Chevzhavara quarry (A01, A02, A04, A05) and Derevjannoe-16 (A07). These samples are enriched in Mg, Se, Zn, Fe, S.

Group 2—the sample from the Chevzhavara quarry (A03). It is characterized by high concentrations of Al, As, Ti, K, Sb, Pb.

Group 3—the sample from Fofanovo-6 (A06). This sample is characterized by high concentrations of K, Co, Zr, Zn, Fe, S.

The sample of asbestos (A07) from Derevyannoe-16 is represented by ferruginous serpentine, as identified by the thin section analysis. The asbestos samples from the Chevzhavara quarry has varying mineral composition. Most of the samples (A01, A02, A04, A05) consist of serpentine with tiny inclusions of olivine or sillimanite, and carbonates. An exception is sample A03 which consists of chlorite phyllite and carbonates. Thin section analysis of sample (A06) from Fofanovo shows that asbestos consists of serpentine (Fig. 4).





Fig. 4 Thin section microstructures of asbestos: **a** Fofanovo-6 site (A06); **b** Derevjannoe-16 site (A07); **c** sample from the Chevzhavara quarry (A03); **d** sample from the Chevzhavara quarry (A02)

The correlation and PC analyses (Fig. 5) allow dividing the collection of asbestos ceramics by the site, into several groups (Fig. 5). The first factor (F1) shows the anticorrelation between the groups of elements (Al, Ti, Zr, Y), and (Mg, Ni, Ca). This is also evidenced from chlorite and serpentine being the main mineral components of the samples. The formula of the second factor (F2) is (Ca, Sr, P, Mg)/(S, Pb, Rb, Sb, Zn). This formula shows the ratio of elements associated with carbonate minerals to elements associated with sulfide minerals. According to Factor 2, ceramic groups attesting to particular sites can be identified.

Group I—ceramics from Fofanovo. These ceramics is characterized by high contents of Ca, Sr, P, Mg.

Group II—ceramics from the sites of Derevyannoe and Voinavolok. This ceramics is characterized by high content of S, Rb, Pb, Sb, Zn.

Group III—ceramics from the Ileksa 1 site plots between samples from the sites of Fofanovo and Darevjanoe. This pottery is enriched in Al, Ti, Zr, Mg, Rb, S, Ca, Zn.



Fig. 5 Factor analysis based on the chemical composition of asbestos (a) and ceramic (b) samples

Thin section analysis of ceramics

Several groups were determined based on the composition of ceramic matrix and temper (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6 Ceramics groups based on thin section analysis: A Group 1. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks and sand (Fofanovo-13, the Voinavolok type); B Group 2. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks (Fofanovo-13, the Voinavolok type); C Group 3. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks and crushed intrusive rocks (Fofanovo-13, the Voinavolok type); D Group 4. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks, sand and grog (Fofanovo-13, the Voinavolok type); E Group 5.1. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks and feather (Ileksa, the Voinavolok type); F Group 6. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks and cut plant (Ileksa, the Voinavolok type)

Group 1. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks and sand [the ceramics from the site of Fofanovo-13, the Voinavolok style (5 samples), the Derevyannoe site, the Palayguba style (2 samples), the Orovnavolok style (5 samples), the Ileksa 1 site, the Voinavolok style (3 samples), the Voinavolok site (1 sample)].

Ceramic samples were produced from chlorite-hydromica clay. Clastic material comprises about 25%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase, feldspar, mica. Temper consists of: (1) crushed metamorphic rocks, serpentine and chlorite (25%) characterized by fragment size 1.5–5 mm; (2) sand (7%) consisting of plagioclase, feldspar, mica of grain size 0.28–0.5 mm. Porosity is 15–20%. The firing temperature is about 600–650 °C.

Group 2. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks [the ceramics from Fofanovo-13, V the oinavolok style (2 samples)].

Ceramic samples were produced from smectite clay. Clastic material comprises about 45%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase and feldspar. Temper consists of: (1) crushed metamorphic rocks, serpentine, wollastonite and gneiss (20%) characterized by fragment size 1.5-5 mm. Porosity is 15-20%. The firing temperature is about 600–700 °C.

Ceramic samples from Ileksa-1, the Voinavolok style (2 samples) were produced from the chlorite clay. Clastic material is about 5%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase, feldspar, mica. Temper consists of: (1) crushed metamorphic rocks, anthophyllite-gedrite, chlorite, gneiss, quartzite (25%) characterized by fragment size 1.5–5 mm. Porosity is 15–20%. The firing temperature is about 650–750 °C.

Group 3. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks and crushed intrusive rocks [ceramics from Fofanovo-13, the Voinavolok style (2 samples)]. Ceramic samples were was produced from the kaolinite clay; the clastic material comprises ca. 45%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase, feldspar, mica. Temper consists of: 1) crushed metamorphic rocks (serpentine, wollastonite, gneiss), crushed intrusive rocks (gabbro) (30%) characterized by fragment size of 1.5–5 mm. Porosity is 15–20%. The firing temperature is about 600–700 °C.

Group 4. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks, sand and grog [ceramics from Fofanovo-13, the Voinavolok style (1 sample); the Derevyannoe site, the Orovnavolok style (1 sample)]. Ceramic samples were was produced from smectitehydromica clay; the clastic material constitutes 25%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase, feldspar, mica. The pores are filled with isinglass. Temper consists of: (1) crushed metamorphic rocks, serpentine, chlorite, anthophyllite (25%) characterized by fragment size of 1.5–5 mm; (2) sand (7%) characterized by grain size of 0.28–0.5 mm, and consisting of plagioclase, feldspar and quartzite; (3) grog (7%) (i.e., crushed pottery of different composition) characterized by fragment size from 0.5 to 1 mm. Porosity is 15–20%. The firing temperature is about 600–650 °C.

Group 5. Temper is presented by crushed metamorphic rocks, sand and feather [the ceramics from Ileksa-1, the Voinavolok style (1 sample)]. Ceramic samples were produced from kaolinite-smectite clay; clastic material is about 35%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase, feldspar, mica, and chlorite. Temper additions: (1) crushed metamorphic rocks—serpentine, anthophyllite (25%) characterized by fragment size of 1.5–5 mm; (2) sand (7%), characterized by grain size of 0.28–0.5 mm, consisting of plagioclase, feldspar and quartzite; (3) feather (25%), characterized by pore size of 3–5 mm. Porosity is 15–25%. The firing temperature is about 600–650 °C.

Group 5–1. Temper is presented by crushed metamorphic rocks and feather [ceramics from Ileksa-1, the Voinavolok style (1 sample)]. Ceramic samples were produced from chlorite-hydromica clay, the clastic material is about 25%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase, feldspar, mica, chlorite. Temper consists of: (1) crushed metamorphic rocks—chlorite, anthophyllite (25%), characterized by fragment size 1.5–5 mm; (2) feather (15%), characterized by pore size 3–5 mm. Porosity is 15–25%. The firing temperature is about 700–750 °C.

Group 5–2. Temper is presented by crushed metamorphic rocks, feather, sand and grog [ceramics from the Voinavolok site, the Orovnavolok style (1 sample)]. Ceramic samples were produced from hydromica clay; the clastic material comprises ca. 25%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase, feldspar, mica, and chlorite. Temper consists of: (1) crushed metamorphic rocks—serpentine (25%), characterized by fragment size of 1.5–5 mm; (2) feather (15%), sizes characterized by pore size of 3–5 mm and porosity of 15–25%; (3) sand (12%), characterized by grain size of 0.28–0.5 mm, consisting of plagioclase and feldspar; (4) grog (5%), characterized by fragment size 0.5–0.8 mm. The firing temperature is about 600– 650 °C.

Group 6. Temper consists of crushed metamorphic rocks and cut plant [ceramics from Ileksa-1, Voinavolok style (1 sample)]. Ceramic samples were produced from hydromica clay; the clastic material is about 45%. The mineral composition of clastic material is plagioclase, feldspar, mica, and chlorite. Temper additions consists of: (1) crushed metamorphic rocks—serpentine, actinolite (20%) characterized by fragment size 1.5–3 mm; (2) cut plant (23%) characterized by pore size of 1–2 mm. Porosity is 20–30%. The firing temperature is about 600–650 °C.

The geochemical and mineralogical analyses allowed to determine that asbestos from the Chevzhavara quarry (A01, A02, A04, A05) and Derevyannoe-26 (A07) consists of serpentine. This suggests that serpentine asbestos from these outcrops was used as a temper in production of pottery at the sites of Fofanovo-13 (4 samples), Derevjannoe, Voinavolok, and Ileksa-1 (3 samples).

Another type of temper was chlorite asbestos. It was extensively used for ceramic manufacture at Fofanovo-13 (6 samples), Derevjannoe (8 samples), Ileksa-1 (5 samples), and Voinavolok (1 sample). In Fig. 5, Factor 1 (F1) shows the portion of chlorite and serpentine components in ceramics samples. The increase of contents of Al, Ti, Zr and Y in the samples is a marker of increased amount of chlorite (Klimovskaya and Ivanov 2018), while high concentration of Mg, Ni and Ca indicates serpentine enrichment. The fact that most of ceramics samples plot within the field of positive values of Factor 1 on the scatter plot in Fig. 5 supports the hypothesis that chlorite asbestos from the Chevzhavara quarry (A03) was used in ceramics production. There are also samples in which both serpentine and chlorite from Chevzhavara quarry were identified.

The chemical composition of ceramics from the Fofanovo, Derevjannoe, and Ileksa sites varies by the second factor (F2) of the PCA. Group I, ceramics from the Fofanovo site, is characterized by the high concentration of Ca, Sr, P, Mg, which is also evidenced from the presence of carbonate-phosphate minerals in the ceramics matrix. Carbonates were also identified in asbestos rocks from the Chevzhavara quarry. The group II—ceramics with high contents of S, Rb, Pb, Sb, Zn was found at Derevjannoe and Voinavolok sites. This composition can reflect presence of sulfide phases in the matrix. It is possible, that some pottery from the site of Derevaynnoe were produced using asbestos with high sulfide content. Furthermore, sample of serpentine (A06) enriched in sulfide elements (K, Co, Zr, Zn, Fe, and S) was found at the Fofanovo 6 site. Based on Factor 2, ceramics samples from the Ileksa site plot between ceramics from Fofanovo and Dervyannoe—Voinavolok sites. Various asbestos types were probably added into the clay, which is also supported from the results of thin section analysis of ceramics.

Certain technological differences were identified between the pottery from Fofanovo, Derevjannoe, Voinavolok and Ileksa sites. The main types of temper used in production of pottery from Fofanovo and Dervjannoe were crushed metamorphic rocks and a mixture of crushed metamorphic rocks and sand. In some cases, pottery was manufactured using a mixture of crushed metamorphic rocks, sand, grog, crushed metamorphic rocks and crushed intrusive rocks. At the Ileksa-1 site, temper mostly consisted of crushed metamorphic rocks, sand and feather/cut plant. At the Voinavolok site, temper consisted of crushed metamorphic rocks, feather, sand, grog and crushed metamorphic rocks.

It is important to note that Fofanovo and Derevjannoe ceramics was produced using mainly local asbestos materials (serpentine and chlorite) from the proximate Chevzhavara outcrop. Pottery recipes were rather simple relying on the use of crushed metamorphic rocks or crushed metamorphic rocks mixed with sand. Ceramics from the Vojnavolok site located in the NE part of the Onega Lake was produced following a more complex recipe incorporating the use of metamorphic rocks, sand and also feather and grog. The site of Ileksa-1 located in the southern part of the Onega Lake, in the vicinity from the Baltic crystal shield, features a higher variety of ceramics recipes relying on the use of feathers and plant. The asbestos minerals used for pottery manufacture at this site were supplied from the Chevzhavara outcrop (NW of Onega Lake) and from the sources in the NE part of Onega Lake. Several different pottery-making traditions coexisted at the Ileksa site. The feather and plant temper were added into the clay during manufacture of pottery from Volosovo sites located on the Eastern European Plain.

4 Conclusions

Investigation of Neolithic pottery from the Onega Lake basin showed that a single local natural source of asbestos was used to obtain a temper for the pottery from the sites nearby the asbestos outcrops. This is particularly seen from the analysis of
samples from the Derevjannoe and Fofanovo sites where the asbestos (serpentine and chlorite) from local metamorphic Chevzhavara outcrop was exploited. This practice was typical for the early pottery-making traditions of Finland where anthophyllite asbestos from a single outcrop was used for the making of pottery over several hundreds of years. Although fragments of other mineralogical/geochemical types of asbestos were also found at those sites, the use of these materials was generally much less common.

The use of mixed clay recipes for ceramics production reflects the interaction of different cultural traditions. An example of such a technological process can be traced at the site of Ileksa-1 where complex clay recipes, including tempters produced from a mixture of feather, grog, plant and asbestos were used. Such technologies reflect the influence of other cultures, such as the Volosovskaya. Various mineral types of asbestos were used at Ileksa-1, which suggests well-established connections between people from different regions.

Acknowledgements The collecting of samples and analyses were carried out within the framework of RSF, project #19-18-00375, which was based on the methodology developed within RFBR project #20-35-90015.

References

- Børslid, Hop Henriette Maria Hop.: Asbestos Ceramics along the West Norwegian Coast. In: Influences, Age and Morphology in the Bronze Age-Early Pre-Roman Iron Age. British Archaeological Reports. International series, 3–12 (2016)
- Carpelan, C.: Om asbestkeramikens historia i Fennoskandien. Finskt Museum 85, 5-25 (1978)
- Colomban, P., Kremenovic, A.: Asbestos-based pottery from Corsica: The first fiber-reinforced ceramic matrix composite, Materials 13, 3597 (2020)
- Daszkiewicz, M., Gavrylyuk, N., Hellström, K., Kaiser, E., Kashuba, M., Kulkova, M., Nykonenko, D., Schneider, S., Winger, K.: Possibilities and limitations of pXRF as a tool for analysing ancient pottery: a case study of Late Bronze and Early Iron Age pottery (1100–600 BC) from the northern Black Sea region. Praehistorische Zeitschrift 95(1), 238–266 (2020)
- Gerasimov, D.V., Kholkina, M.A.: Formation of social-cultural units in the Gulf of Finland region in changing Early and Middle Holocene environment. Samara Journal of Science 20, 177–186 (2017) (In Russian)
- Gerasimov, D.V., Kholkina, M.A., Gusentsova, T.M.: Tracing the boundary: the southern periphery of the Neolithic Asbestos Ware. Estonian Journal of Archaeology 23(2), 146–172 (2019)
- Hulthén, B.: On ceramic ware in northern Scandinavia during the Neolithic, Bronze, and Early Iron Age: A ceramic-ecological study. Archaeology and Environment series (e-book), 8th ed., University of Umea, Umea, Sweden, (1991)
- Kakoulli, I., Prikhodko, S.V., King, A., Fischer, C.: Earliest evidence for asbestos composites linked to Byzantine wall paintings production. Journal of Archaeological Science 44, 148–153 (2014)
- Kholkina, M.A., Gusentsova, T.M., Gerasimov, D.V.: Phoenix feather: on the special significance of the inclusion of asbestos in ceramics of the North-West. The Archaeology of the Moscow region, (Proceedings of Scientific Seminar) 16, IA RAS, Moscow, 49–60 (2020) (In Russian)
- Klimovskaya, E.E., Ivanov, A.A.: Mineralogical and petrographic features of metakomatiites of the Kostomuksha greenstone structure (Karelia). Lithosphere (Russia) 18(6), 870–891 (2018) (In Russian)

- Krainov, D.A.: Volosovskaja Culture. In: The Bronze Age of the forest strip of the USSR (Archaeology of USSR), Science, Moscow, 10–27 (1987) (In Russian)
- Lavento, M., Hornytzkij, S.: Asbestos types and their distribution in the Neolithic, Early Metal Period and Iron Age pottery in Finland and Eastern Karelia. Pithouses and potmakers in Eastern Finland: Reports of the Ancient Lake Saimaa Project 9, 41–70. HPIA, Helsinki (1996)
- Lavrov, O.B., Kuleshevich, L.V.: Mineral associations of gold-copper-sulfide quart-carbonated veins in the gabbro-dolerites of building stone deposit of the Chevzhavara (Southern Karelia). Materials of Fersman Science Session GI KSC RSA 17, 312–316 (2020) (in Russian)
- Murashkin, A.I., Carpelan, K.: Periodization of the Early Metal Age of the Kola Peninsula based on the study of ceramics. In: Problems of periodization and chronology in the archaeology of the Early Metal Age of Eastern Europe (materials of the thematic scientific conference), 200–207. Scythia Print, St-Petersburg (2013) (In Russian)
- Nedomolkina, N.G.: Neolith of Upper Suhona. Ph.D. Thesis. St-Petersburg, 22 p. (2007) (In Russian)
- Nordqvist, K.: The Stone Age of North-Eastern Europe 5500–1800 cal. BC. Bridging the gap between the East and the West, 165 p. Oulu Uiversity, Oulu (2018)
- Pälsi, S.: Riukjarven ja Piiskunsalmen kivikautiset asuinpaikat Kaukolassa, 180 p. Helsinki (1915)
- Pesonen, P.: Early Asbestos Ware—Pithouses and Potmakers. In: Reports of the Ancient Lake Saimaa Project. Helsinki Papers in Archaeology 9. Ed. T. Kirkinen, 9–39 (1996)
- Stilborg, O.: Pottery craft tradition in transition: From Neolithic central China to Bronze Age northern Sweden. Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 16, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, 658–664 (2017)
- Tarasov, A.Yu., Zobkov, M.B.: Eneolithic workshop sites on the western coast of Onega Lake: Spatial analysis. In:Proceedings of the Karelian Research Centre RAS 8, 3–16 (2015)
- Zhulnikov, A.M., Tarasov, A.Yu., Kriiska, A.: Discrepancies between conventional and AMS dates of complexes with Asbestos and Porous Ware—probable result of "reservoir effect"? Fennoscandia Archaeologica 29, 79–86 (2012)

Lithic Tools and Materials

Diversity of Lithic Raw Material Types Used by the Population of the Mountain-Forest Trans-Urals (3rd–2nd Millennium BC)



Olga N. Korochkova, Ivan A. Spiridonov, Irina V. Usacheva, and Evgeny S. Shagalov

Abstract The paper considers various raw material strategies of the population of the mountain-forest Trans-Urals during the Eneolithic and Bronze Age based on the study of the artifacts from the Shaitanskoe 4–6 multilevel archaeological site. The typological, contextual, and geological analyses provide sufficient data for the confident identification of several typical lithic industry complexes attributed to various periods. One of the characteristics of the Eneolithic is a wide range of tools, including numerous knives, scrapers, woodworking tools, and arrowheads. The local craftsmen were well aware of the advantages of the local materials: coal shale, chert, greenstone, quartzite, and granite-gneiss. Stone tools assortment shrunk significantly in the Bronze Age. Most of the Bronze Age tools were made from jasper, ice quartz (silicon dioxide), quartzite, porphyry, and chert. The local people possessed extensive knowledge of local rocks and resources suitable for the production of various tools, knew the signs associated with raw materials deposits and mastered a variety of stone flaking techniques.

Keywords Ural \cdot Archaeology \cdot Geology \cdot Eneolithic \cdot Bronze age \cdot Lithic industry \cdot Typology

O. N. Korochkova (⊠) · I. A. Spiridonov The Ural Federal University, Ekaterinburg, Russia e-mail: olga.korochkova@urfu.ru

I. V. Usacheva Tyumen Scientific Center SB RAS, Tyumen, Russia

E. S. Shagalov A.N. Zavaritsky Institute of Geology and Geochemistry UB RAS, Ekaterinburg, Russia

Ural State Mining University, Ekaterinburg, Russia

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_22

1 Introduction

The third-second millennia BC in the mountain-forest Trans-Urals was the time of dynamic changes, high population density, the building of complicated patterns of relationships, the adoption of new adaptation and symbolic practices (interments, sacred sites, rock art). The local population's craftsmanship and woodworking skills are well known; evidence of this can be found in the numerous implements, boats, oars, skis, various types of flooring, platforms, and sculptured images discovered during the Urals peat bogs excavations (Chairkina 2005; Korochkova 2019). All those items were made exclusively with stone tools. The technological repertoire was largely shaped by the available material. In this article, we attempt to demonstrate the variety and mixed composition of the lithic industry raw material base employing an assemblage of stone tools as a case study. The study provided evidence of the high competence of the local craftsmen, as well as their skills in finding various raw materials.

The Shaitanskoe 4–6 site is located on the eastern coast of the same-name lake in the Kirovgradskii district of the Sverdlovsk region, 70 km north of the City of Ekaterinburg (Fig. 1).

The place was best known for the discovery of the ancient Bronze Age sacred site Shaitanskoe Ozero II and the religious sites of the Eneolithic on the opposite coast of the lake (Serikov 2013; Korochkova et al. 2020). The 2020 excavations season revealed a complex multilevel structure of the site. The 0.7–1 m thick cultural level contained finds of the Neolithic, Eneolithic, Bronze, and Iron ages. The longest periods of occupation occurred during the third millennium BC (the Ayat, Lipchinka, Shapkul, Shuvakish cultural type complexes) and the second millennium BC (Cherkaskul). Within the excavation pit, we discovered an Eneolithic interment with non-typical grave goods set. The interment was made in an oval pit, 1.6×0.56 m, oriented along the NW–SE direction and buried only 7–8 cm deep into the sterile soil. The human remains were represented by fragments of teeth in the southeastern part of the pit. The deceased was laid with his or her head pointing to the lake. The accompanying grave goods included 3 massive knives, 19 arrowheads, 1 dart, 1 adze, 8 beads, and an abrasive block.

The artifacts assemblage consisted of over 9000 items, 34% of which were made from ceramic. The stone items assemblage consisted of about 6000 items. Of that number, there were about 300 tools, and the rest consisted of production debris in the form of flakes, micro flakes, and semi-finished products. A special note should be made on the discovery of a chert zoomorphic figurine.



Fig. 1 Archaeological site Shaitanskoe 4-6 on the map of Eurasia

2 Materials and Methods

For the study of the assemblage, we are employing the means of contextual, typological, and cultural-chronological analyses, as well as the tentative geological age determination data. Our chronological complexes determination relied on the analogies with the known closed-type or single-level complexes. The raw material was identified macroscopically by the mineral composition and texture-structural characteristics of the samples. The definitions were carried out at the Ural State Mining University. Reference collections of minerals and tools that are stored in the Ural Mineralogical Museum and the Archaeological Museum of the Ural Federal University were used for comparative analysis.

3 Results and Discussion

The tentative analysis of the raw materials composition and the typology of the artifacts indicated that the assemblage consisted of roughly two major complexes that correlated with the two main stages of the site's functioning, namely, the Eneolithic and the Bronze Age.

The *Eneolithic complex* (Figs. 2 and 3) consisted of about 250 artifacts including scrapers (24), planer knives (7), push-planes (3), burins (5), reamers, axes, chisels, knives, polishers, a crowbar, borer tips, and saws. Arrowheads were represented by several types. The arrowhead assemblage (17 whole and 23 broken) mostly consists of the miniature willow-leaf or triangular points with straight, rounded, or concave base. The assemblage also contained some original items, e.g. an arrowhead with a wide short stem, and a pentagonal arrowhead with a straight base. One-third of the arrowheads were made from coal shale and the remaining ones from multicolored chert.

A special set from the interment consisted of the long, narrow willow-leaf points with a straight base (Fig. 2, 8, 10, 11). Only one arrowhead of that type was found outside of the internment (Fig. 2, 9).

The raw materials composition of the offering complex was completely different from the rest of the assemblage. The arrowheads, dart points, and the insert tool microliths were made from the typical local coal shale, while a massive blade tool and the original arrowhead with a lengthwise crest and edge retouch were fashioned from rhyolite.

The material of three massive knives (17-20 cm long) was light brown siliceous schist from a thin silicified rock vein (Fig. 3, 6, 7). This material is not typical for the territory. The specific type of the knives, together with the material originating, probably, came from the southern Urals region, suggesting possible ways for the reconstruction of a personal history of the deceased.

The same siliceous schist served as the material for an elegant zoomorphic figurine (Fig. 2, 13). It is important to note, that within the cultural level we did not see any evidence of on-site manufacturing (raw material blanks, flakes) of light-brown siliceous schist items.

Based on the known analogies, a garnet disk debris (Fig. 2, 59) and a thin quartzpeach-sericitic shale plate with engraved signs (Fig. 2, 29) could also, with some caution, be attributed to the Eneolithic complex.



Fig. 2 Shaitanskoe 4–6. Typical tools of the Eneolithic complex

The most commonly used raw materials of the local origin were coal shale, multicolored chert, and apovolcanic green rock. Coal shale was the preferred material for making arrowheads, knives, and reamers. Chert was used for scrapers, push-planes, and carvers. The green rock was good for high-performing chopping and woodworking tools (axes, chisels, adzes, knives, and crowbars) (Fig. 3, *1*, *2*, *3*, *9*, *13*). The local craftsmen were quite familiar with the properties of the local rhyolites, aplites, and shales that served as the material for scrapers, knives, and push-planes. For the



Fig. 3 Shaitanskoe 4-6. Peculiar tools of the Eneolithic complex

production of saws and large tools (hammers, polishers, pestles) they used granitegneiss, gabbro, quartzite, and pegmatite (see Fig. 3). The abrasive block material was quartz-sericitic shale. The level contained a significant amount of production debris, blanks, and a few cores. The lithic debris contained numerous siliceous concretions covered with white loose weathered crust (Fig. 2, 45, 46, 48, 55, 56, 57, 61, 62, 63). This type of concretions is typically found in redeposited placers or loose layers of the alluvial-deluvial sediments. The characteristic surface of the concretions served as an indication of the presence of siliceous rocks, the material widely used in the lithic industry of the local population.

Direct analogies to the Eneolithic tool complex can be found in the Eneolithic burial sites of the Ural and Western Siberia (Matveev et al. 2015; Chairkina 2011; Zakh et al. 1991; 2005).



Fig. 4 Shaitanskoe 4-6. Specific tools of the Bronze Age complex

The Bronze Age complex (Fig. 4) was represented by scrapers (13), knives (16), push-planes (16), a borer, and arrowheads (8). The material of triangular arrowheads with a straight or slightly concave base was gray-green jasper (Fig. 4, 4–11). Similar items were typical for the Trans-Ural Seima-Turbino and Andronovo horizon complexes (Kosinskaya 2011; Korochkova et al. 2020; Matveev 1998). The knives and push-planes on flakes, the material for which was also mainly gray-green or red jasper, belonged to the same group of analogies. The specifics of the material provide reasons for isolating this group into an original set within the assemblage, the closest analogies to which may be found in the Bronze Age complexes. The set lacked the signs of the characteristic flaking techniques typical for the Eneolithic group. The morphogenetic pressure retouch technique was also lost. The artifacts were made mostly from jasper, ice quartz (silicon dioxide), quartzite, porphyry, and low-quality chert. The level contained numerous talcum debris, more than ten quartzite, and fine-grain aplite hones. Stratification data suggested that they belonged mostly to the Bronze Age complex.

The Bronze Age period of the site's functioning was represented with the Cherkaskul culture ceramic; thus, it would be logical to correlate the aforementioned lithic complex with that Bronze Age period. It was difficult to make more accurate attributions since there are few known examples of the lithic industry of the Cherkaskul culture. We believe that the complex will become one of the main benchmarks for the understanding of the lithic industry traditions of the Middle Trans-Ural population in the Bronze Age.

4 Conclusions

The diversity of the material types was a result of the richness of raw material sources in the mountain-forest Trans-Ural. The geological addresses of the finds mainly corresponded to rock outcrops located near the lake (within a radius of 5–50 km). At the same time, the complex contained items, the material of which was not of the local origin (250–400 km away). This correlated with the archaeological context of the internment, the items from which had no analogies in the local Eneolithic complexes.

The Eneolithic complex demonstrated a great variety of stone tools, a high level of flaking technique, and a wide range of raw materials. The items represented in the assemblage reflected various aspects of the economy related to hunting, skin dressing, butchering, and wooden and bone tools manufacturing. The mix of the raw material suggested that the local population possessed extensive knowledge of the local rock resources suitable for the production of various tools, knew the signs associated with the raw materials deposits, and mastered a variety of stone flaking techniques.

The grave goods complex may be considered evidence of the existence of a rather extensive network of information exchange contacts between various groups of the mountain-forest Trans-Ural population.

The Bronze Age complex demonstrated the use of some entirely different lithic industry strategies. The amount and the quality of stone tolls decreased noticeably. The Bronze Age stone tolls assemblage was 5 times smaller than the Eneolithic one. Coal shale and greenstone, the main raw material types for making arrowheads, knives, and massive tools, disappeared completely from the raw material assemblage. Low manufacturing quality and a visible decrease of woodworking tools number in the Bronze Age tool kit were a result of their substitution with the bronze items. The specific raw material mix (jasper, quartz, low-quality chert) may indicate poor knowledge of the available resources. Otherwise, it would be difficult to understand why the population did not use coal shale, high-quality chert, and various volcanic rocks, abundant deposits of which could be found near the Shaitanskoe Lake. The use of jasper and quartz as a preferred raw material may, with some caution, serve as an indication of the origin of the Cherkaskul culture population, which did not inherit, or lost the local Eneolithic industry traditions.

The obvious conservatism of some stone flaking traditions was evidence of the early development of the optimal lithic industry strategies and the existence of the established traditions of skills transfer in the most important fields of knowledge of the pre-written period.

Acknowledgements The article was prepared within RFBR grant no. 18-09-40011 "The Urals and Western Siberia in archaeological retrospective: the most important discoveries, rhythms, phenomena and development paradoxes", as well as within the state assignment of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of the Russian Federation, theme: "Regional Identity of Russia: Comparative Historical and Philological Studies", a topic no. FEUZ-2020.

References

- Chairkina, N.M.: Eneolit Srednego Urala (Eneolithic of the Middle Urals), 312 p. Ekaterinburg: UB RAS, (2005) (In Russian)
- Chairkina, N.M.: Pogrebalnye kompleksy epohi eneolita i rannego zheleznogo veka Zaural'ya (Burial complexes of the Eneolithic and Early Iron Age of the Trans-Urals), 224 p. Ekaterinburg: UB RASN (2011) (In Russian)
- Korochkova, O.N., Stefanov, V.I., Spiridonov, I.A.: Sviatilishche pervykh metallurgov Urala (Sacral Place of the first metallurgists of the Urals). Ekaterinburg: Uralsky Universitet, 214 p. (2020) (In Russian)
- Korochkova, O.N.: Srednee Zauralye i taezhnoe Priob'e v sisteme sviazei Zapadnoaziatskoi metallurgicheskoi provintsii (Middle Trans-Urals and Taiga Ob' in the System of Relations of the West Asian Metallurgical province). In: Vestnik Sankt-Peterburgskogo universiteta (Vestnik of Saint Petersburg University. History) 64(2), 718–739 (2019) (In Russian)
- Kosinskaya, L.L.: Kamennyj inventar' (Stone tools). In: Besprozvannyj E.M., Degtyareva A.D., Korochkova O.N., Kosinskaya L.L., Kuz'minyh S.V., Stefanov V.I. Satyga XVI: sejminskoturbinskij mogil'nik v taezhnoj zone Zapadnoj Sibiri (Satyga XVI: Seiminsko-Turbinsky burial ground in the taiga zone of Western Siberia), 44–51. Ekaterinburg: Uralsky rabochy (2011) (In Russian)
- Matveev, A.B.: Pervye andronovcy v lesah Zauralya (The first people of Andronovo tribes in the forests of the Urals), 417 p. Novosibirsk: Nauka (1998) (In Russian)
- Matveev, A.V., Matveeva, N.P., Serikov Yu.B., Skochina S.N.: Kultovye pamiatniki epokhi eneolita [Cult places of the Eneolithic]. Drevnosti Ingal'skoi doliny, 3, Tyumen: TiumGU, 156 p. (2015) (In Russian)
- Serikov, Yu.B.: Shajtanskoe ozero—svyashchennoe ozero drevnosti (Shaitan Lake is a sacred lake of antiquity). Nizhnii Tagil, Nizhny Tagil State Social and Pedagogical Academy, 408 p. (2013) (In Russian)
- Zakh, V.A., Zotova, S.V., Panfilov, A.N.: Drevnie mogil'niki na Andreevskom ozere bliz Tiumeni (Ancient burial grounds on Andreevsky Lake near Tyumen). In: Drevnie pogrebeniia Ob'-Irtysh'ia (Ancient burials of the Ob and Irtysh), 13–42. Omsk: OmGU, 1991 (In Russian)
- Zakh, V.A., Skochina, S.N., Parkhimovich, S.G.: Gruntovyi mogilnik Chepkul 21 na severe Andreevskoi ozernoi sistemy (Ground burial necropolis Chepkul 21 in the north of the Andreevskaya lake system). In: Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii i etnografii (Vestnik arheologii, antropologii i etnografii) 6, 24–42 (2005) (In Russian)

On the Issue of Consumer Settlements of Flint Products from the Tripolye Settlement-Workshop of the Bodaki in Phase BII



Vera V. Terekhina, Natalia N. Skakun, and Vyacheslav M. Bicbaev

Abstract The article is devoted to studying raw materials (including flint and quartzite rocks) from the sites of the Cucuteni-Tripolye culture from the Bug-Dniester and Prut-Dniester interfluve of their heyday. Based on the data from archaeological contexts, technical and morphological analysis, and geological and mineralogical sciences, the authors identify sites of the developed period of the Cucuteni-Tripolye culture, which were consumers of flint products from the Bodaki workshop. This is indicated by the similarity of Cucuteni-Tripolye tools with those from Bodaki and by the absence of traces of the Volhynian flint processing. Located in the Upper Prut, Middle Dniester, and Middle Bug, these sites are pretty far from the center of high-quality Volhynian flint processing. Nevertheless, their production complexes were based on sets of tools made of imported raw materials; local rocks were used to a lesser extent. The close resource-based contacts of the Cucuteni-Tripolye sites with Bodaki are also emphasized by the isolated finds of tools from the Middle Dniester raw material in its inventory. Adzes of South Bug ferruginous quartzite and blanks made of the Swieciechov flint indicate contacts with the Upper (Middle) Bug and Central Vistula territories. These findings highlight the high level of organization of flint processing, the presence of well-established links between the Tripolye communities in Phase BII, what provided their economy with high-quality tools.

Keywords Eneolithic · Cucuteni-Tripolye · Bug-Dniester and Prut-Dniester interfluve · Stone raw materials · Volhynian flint · Workshop settlement · Consumer settlement

V. V. Terekhina (\boxtimes) · N. N. Skakun Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS, St.-Petersburg, Russia

V. M. Bicbaev National Museum of History of Moldova, Chisinau, Republic of Moldova

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_23

1 Introduction

The flourishing period of the Cucuteni-Tripolye culture [Phase BII according to the periodization by Passek (1949)] was marked by fundamental changes in such a strategically important branch of the economy as flint processing. At this time, the Trypolian communities living in the northwest of the area initiated the development of deposits of high-quality Turonian flint, widespread on the territory of South Volhyn and in the Upper Dniester region (modern Rovno, Ternopol, and Ivano-Frankovsk regions of Ukraine) (Geological map of the Ukrainian and Moldavian SSR 1957; Petrougne 1995: 193, Fig. 1; Petrun' 2004: 204, Fig. 1) (Fig. 1c).

This flint entered the literature under the name "Volhynian" flint. According to chemical and physical analysis, an attempt to divide it into West Volhynian and Podolsk flint failed since differences at the elemental level were insignificant (Konoplya 1998: 153–154).

In 1938, at the outcrops of Volhynian flint, a Polish archaeologist A. Cynkałowski discovered the Trypolian settlement of Bodaki (Cynkałowski 1961, 1969). It is located in the Buchina tract on the left bank of the Goryn River (the right tributary of the Pripyat River) in the Zbarazh district of the Ternopil region of Ukraine (Fig. 1, *I*). Stationary systematic work on this site began in 1987 under the leadership of N.N. Skakun (IHMC RAS) and continued until 2013 (Skakun 1996, 2004, 2007, 2012a, b; Skakun et al. 2012; Terekhina et al. 2014). Studies have shown that the site with an area of 1.3 hectaresdated to the end of Phase BII of the Cucuteni-Tripolye culture (IV millennium BC) was a specialized settlement workshop for the processing of large-noduled Volhynian flint and manufacturing of advanced macroblades (Skakun 1996, 2004, 2005) (Fig. 2).

According to their technical qualities, macroblades were universal blanks for tools, and therefore were in demand by people of the vast area of Cucuteni-Tripolye and beyond (Fig. 3) (Skakun 2004, 2007).

Many flint products found in Bodaki and the presence of specialized workshops in the settlement indicate that their products were intended for exchange.

Currently, Bodaki is the only excavated settlement workshop of the Tripolye in Phase BII specializing in the processing of high-quality Volhynian raw materials.

This study is devoted to the search for settlements-consumers of Bodaki's products based on flint and stone raw material characteristics.

2 Materials and Methods

In the course of the search for settlements-consumers of flint products from Bodaki, information was analyzed on the presence of products from Volhynian flint in archaeological collections originating from synchronous the Tripolian sites of the Upper Prut, Middle Dniester, and Middle Bug regions (Sorokin 1991; Husev 1995; Ryzhov



Fig. 1 A schematic map of connections for stone raw materials between the synchronous Tripolye sites in Phase BII: a—places of flint mining; b—the conditional distance between the Bodaki settlement and the places of Swieciechov flint mining near Annopol city; c—deposits of Volhynian flint; d—the area of circulation of Volhynian raw materials between the Tripolye settlements in Phase BII; e—deposits of the Prut and Dniester flint; f—the area of distribution of late Malice and Lublin-Volhynian cultures; j—Tripolye settlements in Phase BII, in the materials of which Volhynian flint items were found; h—Tripolye settlements in Phase BII, in the materials of which ferruginous quartzite items were found; i—the place of Swieciechov flint mining. 1—Bodaki; 2—Brînzeni VIII; 3—Mereşeuca-Cetăţuia; 4—Busha; 5—Voroshilovka; 6—Sosny; 7—Rusanovtsy; 8—Annopol

2007; Tkachuk 2002; Starkova 2011; Burdo 2012; Burdo and Videyko 2012; Rud' 2018). Among them are Brînzeni VIII in the Upper Prut region (Markevich 1980, 1981, 1985: 76, photos 65, 66, 68; Ţerna and Heghea 2017, 299–308); Mereşeuca-Cetăţuia III in the middle Dniester region (Sorokin 1983: 103–105, 1991: 134); and Busha (Kosakivskyy and Rud' 2009: 351, 2010: 183; Rud' 2018). These sites are about 300 km away from Bodaki in a straight line. Voroshilovka and Sosny are in the middle Bug region and located about 200 km straight from Bodaki (Zayets and Skakun 1990: 105; Husev 1995: 172, 2005: 62) (see Fig. 1). The key visually identifiable varieties of raw materials were defined in the collections of stone products from the Bodaki workshop settlement and the alleged consumer sites. First of all, their color



Fig. 2 Tools and blanks from Volhynian flint in the Bodaki settlement materials: 1—semi-crest macroblade; 2—retouched macroblade; 3—crest macroblade; 4—core with macroblade removal negative

and texture were taken into account. The selected samples were analyzed with an MBS-10 stereomicroscope at a 16-fold magnification; the rock hardness was checked with a steel needle. The presence of CO_2 was checked with 10% hydrochloric acid (HCl) solution. The place of origin of the extracted raw materials was determined by field observations and in accordance with the specialized literature on geology of this and adjacent regions (Polansky 1936; Geologicheskaya...1957; Geologiya...1958;



Fig. 3 Tools and blanks from Volhynian flint in the Bodaki settlement materials: 1—a dart; 2—a fragment of a macroblade with denticulated retouch; 3, 4, 13–17—fragments of macroblades with parallel retouch; 5–10—endscrapers on macroblades; 11, 12—fragments of middle blades

Polovinkina 1966: 140–143; Petrun' 1967, 1998, 2000, 2004, 2005; Pasternak et al. 1968, 1987; Geologiya SSSR...1969; Pryroda...1973; Senkovskyy 1973; Ivanova 1975, 1977; Nature...1975; Pryroda...1978, 1979, 1980; Geologicheskaya...1990; Ivannikov 2005; Mihailescu 1999). A technical and morphological classification of flint tool assemblages and gathering available data on raw materials were conducted for all studied archaeological materials. Next, a comparative analysis of items made of flint and stone was carried out.

3 Results and Discussion

Near the settlement of Bodaki, six outcrops of Volhynian flint were observed. The occurring layers are close to the surface in the Cretaceous sediments of the Turonian stage and in the redeposited state. The proximity to the surface made it possible to mine it with the open method in antiquity (Fig. 4, *1*, *2*).

Two deposits are located near the settlement: one is 1 km from its eastern edge, and another one is only 100 m from the western edge. Nodules from these deposits have a flat-oval or irregularly amoeba-like shape; their sizes vary from 10 cm to 50-60 cm and more (Fig. 4, 3, 4).

Flint concretions are composed of microcrystalline and fine aggregate, and spherulite chalcedony. They are black, dark, or expressive gray, sometimes with a blue tint, mostly covered with a cortex up to 1 mm in thickness. Flint is opaque or semi-transparent (with noticeable translucency at the edges of items), often with a specific pattern in the form of black or gray concentric circles, without cracks or inclusions (Skakun 2004).

Volhynian flint is characterized by ease of knapping and, accordingly, a high degree of suitability for processing (Skakun 1996; Girya 1997: 83–86; Skakun and Plisson 2014; Skakun et al. 2018, 2020; Zakostselna 2018: 262–264). Among the mass of the Volhynian flint products found at the settlement, few artifacts are from other raw materials. So, out of 36 arrowheads and darts, only 2 arrowheads were made of flint of a different type. An arrowhead (length—2.2 cm, width of the hafting element—1.5 cm) (Fig. 5, 1) and two darts (length—6 and 8 cm, the width of the hafting element—3.7 and 3.5 cm, respectively) (Fig. 5, 2,3) were made from semi-transparent (less translucent than Volhynian) raw material of cream-gray color, structurally with amorphous white large and small balls (whitish phantom puncture) and thin needle-like inclusions. In its structure, this raw material is similar to flint, which V.F. Petrun', who professionally dealt with the problems of geoarchaeology, described as a Middle Dniester flint of the Cenomanian age (Figs. 1e and 6, 1) (Petrun' 2005, 130).

Analysis of the flint inventory of the site of Brînzeni VIII located on the Upper Prut (Markevich 1980, 1981, 1985: 76, photos 65, 66, 68; Ţerna and Heghea 2017: 299–308) and the Middle Dniester sites of Mereşeuca-Cetăţuia III (Sorokin 1983: 103–105, 1991: 134) and Busha (Kosakivskyy and Rud' 2009: 345, 2010: 189) shows that the bulk of the items were made of Volhynian flint.



Fig. 4 Volhynian flint from deposits near the settlement of Bodaki: 1, 2—flint outcrops to the surface; 3, 4—flint nodules

The Brînzeni VIII settlement is located in the Syeche tract on the promontory formed by the Racovăț and Dragishte rivers in the Edineț region of the Republic of Moldova (Fig. 1, 2). The total area of the site is 15–18 hectares (Scholz et al. 2018: 82); excavations have uncovered 4 dwellings and 8 pits (Markevich 1981: 18). Flint inventory consists mainly of finished tools from Volhynian flint: medium and large blades with retouch, drills, end scrapers on medium and large blades; among the blanks, there are dart and arrowheads (Fig. 7).

There are no cores and wastes of Volhynian flint processing.

A similar situation is observed in the multilayer settlements of Mereşeuca-Cetățuia (Fig. 8) and Busha.

The first one is located in the Ocnița region of the Republic of Moldova, in the Cetățuia tract, on a high slate outlier (Fig. 1, 3). Phase BII includes the third layer of the site (Mereşeuca-Cetățuia III), where one semi-subterranean dwelling and three utility pits were excavated.



Fig. 5 Dniester flint hunting tools in the Bodaki settlement materials: 1-arrowhead; 2, 3-darts

Fig. 6 Sample of Dniester flint





Fig. 7 Volhynian flint tools and blanks in the Brînzeni VIII settlement materials: 1—blanks for a dart; 2—an endscraper on a macroblade; 3—a fragment of the middle blade with retouch; 4—a fragment of a tool; 5—a "dagger" on a macroblade; 6—a retouched macroblade; 7—a semi-crest macroblade

The second settlement is located about 35 km from Mereşeuca-Cetăţuia III near the village of Busha in the Yampolsky district of the Vinnitsa region of Ukraine on a long cape formed by the confluence of the Bushanka and Murafa rivers (left tributaries of the Dniester) (Fig. 1, 4) (Kosakivskyy and Rud' 2009, 2010). Among the excavated objects, the remains of a burnt house made of clay and belonging to



Fig. 8 Volhynian flint tools and blanks in the Mereşeuca-Cetățuia III settlement materials: 1, 2—fragments of macroblades with parallel retouch; 3—an arrowhead; 4—a macroblade; 5—an endscraper on a macroblade

Phase BII. In addition to tools on blades of Volhynian flint, a precore from this raw material was also found here (Kosakivskyy and Rud' 2009: 345, 2010: 189).

It should be noted that in all three settlements, in addition to finds from Volhynian flint, a full cycle of processing of local, probably, Lower Cenomanian and Upper Cenomanian flint is recorded. Moreover, the primary blank for tools was the middle blade, the length of which was limited by the small size of flint concretions. V.F. Petrun' defined the Lower Cenomanian flint as "sedimentary diagenetic silcrete of the chert gas group in the basins of the Middle Dniester and Prut" (Petrun' 2004: 204). Its small concretions, rarely reaching 10 cm in diameter, have a strong lime cortex. Upper Cenomanian flint V.F. Petrun' has described as Middle Dniester flint occurring in marly limestones of the Upper Cenomanian (Petrun' 2004: 204). S.N.



Fig. 9 Dniester flint nodules (based on the results of exploration by V.M. Bicbaev)

Bibikov noted that such raw materials are found in the form of slab blocks, "placers" of redeposited flint, pebbles, or boulders (Fig. 9) (Bibikov 1953; 1965: 78–80).

Both types of Middle Dniester flint are found on both banks of the Dniester River and on the terraces of its tributaries. S.N. Bibikov, E.K. Chernysh, N.N. Gurina and other researchers described many places, from the city of Mogilev-Podolsky to the city of Kamenets-Podolsky, where the collection and extraction of raw materials could occur in antiquity (Bibikov 1965; 1966; Chernysh 1967; Gurina 1976). In the structure of this flint, amorphous white (light gray), large and small balls (whitish phantom puncture) (see Fig. 6), and thin needle-like inclusions are often traced. In the color range, flint is presented in white, gray, dark gray, and black. Iron oxides give this flint brownish and brown color. Often, flint is semi-transparent along the edges of chips but more opaque than Volhynian. Cataclastic quartz is very often the host rock of this flint. Caverns and cracks are filled with it. The black raw material is usually covered with a lime cortex, filling cavities and cracks in concretions. The quality of this raw material is in many ways inferior to Volhynian flint (Ginter and Kozłowski 1990: 29, Fig. 2; Balcer 1983: 47–48; Konoplya 1998: 142–146).

In Romanian archaeological literature, this type of flint is called "Moldavian flint" or "Prutho-Dniestrian flint". It occurs in the Cenomanian Stage on both banks of the Upper Pruth River and emerges as flint pebbles and cobbles in the alluvial sediments of the same river (Văscăuþanu 1923, 1925; Saulea et al. 1966), spreading across the Pruth River as far away as the Răut and Dniester Rivers (Macovei and Atanasiu 1934: 179–181; Chetraru 1995a, b; Chirica et al. 1996). Geologists refer to this material as Miorcani type flint is the type locality being the village of Miorcani (Botoşani county, Romania) situated on the bank of the Pruth River, where even today, a modern flint mine still exists (Văscăuþanu 1923; Chelărescu et al. 1961).

Outcrops of the same material can also be found at Products from Volhynian, and Middle Dniester flint were also found on the settlements of Voroshilovka and Sosny, located in the Middle Bug. Voroshilovka is situated on an elongated promontory on the right bank of the Southern Bug in the Tyvrov district of the Vinnitsa region of Ukraine (Fig. 1, 5), and the settlement of Sosny is 45 km away on a small remnant of the Zgar River in the Litinski district of the Vinnitsa region of Ukraine (Fig. 1, 6). Moreover, a workshop was discovered in Voroshilovka to manufacture blanks or "repair" of tools from "imported" raw materials (Husev 1995: 174).

Petrographic analysis of materials from these two sites conducted by V.F. Petrun' showed that the overwhelming majority of items were made of Volhynian flint, and only a few items were made of Middle Dniester Cenomanian flint (Husev 1995: 172, 2005: 62). Deposits of both types of raw material are located about 200 and 60 km straight from the settlements. No artifacts from local Bug flint were found.

Particular attention should be drawn to the discovery in the Bodaki tool complex of partially polished chopping tools and their fragments (10 pieces in total), made of milky-white sedimentary rock, consisting of quartz (the structure of the rock under a microscope is granular; there are black point segregations of weathered pyrite). The surface of the products is covered with a thin crust of ferruginization, due to which they have a yellowish tint. In the material from which one of the finished adzes is made (length—10 cm, blade width—5.3 cm, height—2.3 cm, weight—136 g), there is an inclusion of cataclastic transparent vein quartz cemented with fine-grained quartz. Traces remain on the rock's surface after scratching it with a steel needle; it does not react to hydrochloric acid and is light (Fig. 10, *1*).

Another finished tool is an axe made of the same material (length—9.3 cm, blade width—4.6 cm, height—3 cm, weight—72 g) (Fig. 10, 2). By its structure, this rock can be classified as metamorphic, such as ferruginous quartzite. A similar product from the same raw material was found in the tool complex of the Tripolye settlement of Rusanovtsy 1 in the upper reaches of the Southern Bug. It is located 72 km straight from the village of Bodaki in the Letichevsky district of the Khmelnytskyi region of Ukraine (Ovchinnikov 2018: 19, 32, Fig. 12: 2), where the outcrops of



Fig. 10 Ferruginous quartzite chopping tools in the Bodaki settlement materials: 1—an adze; 2—an axe

this rock have also been recorded (Pryroda Chernivets'koyi oblasti 1980). Geologically, this region is represented by formations of the Archean group: highly altered metamorphic, igneous, and various hybrid rocks, including ferruginous quartzites, characteristic of the Ukrainian crystalline massif (Geologiya...1958: 86, Table 9; Geologicheskaya...1957). A thin crust of ferruginization on the studied adzes was formed in the process of oxidation of iron contained in the rock.

Among the few flint chopping tools in the tool complex of the Bodaki settlement, an adze was identified with a trapezoidal cross-section (length—7.4 cm, blade width—4.3 cm, height—1.7 cm, weight—76 g) (Fig. 11) which was made of opaque white heterogeneous ferruginous flint with inclusions of large amounts of pyrite. Such raw materials have not been found in the vicinity of the Bodaki settlement; perhaps its deposits are located in the Middle Dniester.

Of great interest is a single blank of adze (?) (length—9 cm; blade width—5.75 cm; height—1.75 cm) made of opaque spotted gray with a brownish shade flint (Fig. 12).

Such raw materials are widespread in the Cretaceous rocks of the Turonian age of the central Vistula (Poland), in the area of the Rakhov and Groyero anticlines, between Annopol, Swieciechov-Podukhovna (formerly Swieciechov-Lazek), Vymyslovo,

Fig. 11 A Dniester (?) flint adze in the Bodaki settlement materials

Fig. 12 A Swieciechov flint blank of tools in the Bodaki settlement materials



and Vulka-Radzeradovskaya plate (Balcer 1967) (Fig. 1, 8). Swieciechov flint (krzemień świeciechowski) (or previously called Rakhovsky from the old name of Annopol) is presented in the form of flattened-convex concretions up to 50 cm in diameter. Usually, they do not possess a pebble cortex. White or light gray points and spots in the rock usually have a diameter of about 1 mm (Libera and Zakościelna 2002). The presence of flint in shallow water under the influence of the external environment made it available for extraction by ancient people to satisfy their economic needs.

It should be noted that this type of flint during the existence of the Tripolian settlement of Bodaki was used by the population of neighboring Eneolithic cultures, such as the late Malice and Lublin-Volhynian cultures, which metropolises were located in the area of its deposits. Still, it was less in demand than the chocolate and Volhynian flint (Zakościelna 1996: 21). At present, the lack of a sufficient factual base does not allow characterizing the connections of the Bodaki population with the territory of the Central Vistula. However, contacts with representatives of late Malice and Lublin-Volhynian cultures (Fig. 1f) are indicated by imitations of the forms of vessels in the ceramic complex of the workshop settlement (Starkova and Zakościelna 2018).

4 Conclusions

The research allows outlining the range of sites (Brînzeni VIII; Mereseuca-Cetătuia III; Busha; Voroshilovka and Sosny) of the developed period of the Cucuteni-Tripolye culture, which were consumers of flint products from the Bodaki workshop settlement (Fig. 1d). This is indicated by the absence of traces of processing of Volhynian flint in their materials and the similarity of their tools with those found in Bodaki. Located in the upper reaches of the Prut, Middle Dniester, and Middle Bug, they were distant from the center of the high-quality Volhynian flint processing. Despite this, the basis of their production complexes were sets of tools made of these very raw materials; local rocks were used to a lesser extent. The close resource-based contacts of Bodaki with consumer settlements are also emphasized by the discovery in its inventory of single tools made from Middle Dniester raw materials, which were partially used in consumer settlements. Polished chopping tools and their fragments from South Bug ferruginous quartzite and the blank made of the Swieciechov flint indicate contacts with the Upper (Middle) Bug and Central territory Vistula (Fig. 1, 7b). These observations suggest the high level of organization of the flint-processing industries, the presence of well-established links between the Tripolye sites of Phase BII, which provided their economy with high-quality tools.

Acknowledgements The authors are grateful for the advice to Ph.D., associate Professor of the Department of Historical and Dynamic Geology, St. Petersburg Mining University R.A. Shchekoldin, Candidate of Geological and Mineralogical Sciences, and Researcher of the All-Russian Research Geological Oil Institute, Moscow V.A. Agakhanova, Russia.

V.V. Terekhina, N.N. Skakun: the study was carried out within the framework of the state assignment of the Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS, no. 0184-2019-0008 "Production and use of tools in the Paleolithic, Neolithic and Bronze Age (technological, traceological and experimental study of archaeological materials)".

References

- Balcer, B.: Kopalnia krzemienia w Świeciechowie—Lasku, pow. Kraśnik, w świetle badań w 1967 r. Wiadomości Archeologiczne 36, 71–132 (1971)
- Balcer, B.: Wytwórczość narzędzi krzemiennych w neolicie ziem Polski, 338 s. Ossolineum: Wrocław; Warszawa; Kraków; Gdańsk; Łódź (1983)
- Bibikov, S.N.: Rannetripol'skoye poseleniye Luka-Vrublevetskaya na Dnestre (k istorii rannikh zemledel'cheskoskotovodcheskikh obshchestv na Yugo-Vostoke Yevropy) (Early Tripolian settlement of Luka-Vrublevetskaya on the Dniester River (to the history of early agricultural and cattle-breader societies in the South-East of Europe)), 460 p. Izdatel'stvo Akademii nauk SSSR (Publishing House of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR), Moscow; Leningrad (1953). (Materialy i issledovaniya po arkheologii SSSR (Materials and research on archeology of the USSR) 38). (in Russian)
- Bibikov, S.N.: Drevniye kremnevyye vyrabotki na gore Beloy v rayone Kamenets-Podol'ska (Ancient flint mining sites on Mount Belaya in the Kamenets-Podolsk region). In: Tezy dopovidey Podil's'koyi istoryko-krayeznavchoyi konferentsiyi (Abstracts of reports of the Podolsk historical and local lore conference), Khmelnitskyi 62–64 (1965) (In Russian)
- Bibikov, S.N.: Drevniye kremnevyye vyrabotki v Srednem Podnestrovye (Ancient flint mining sites in the Middle Dniester region). Sbornik narodniho musea v Praze. Svazek 20, ½, 3–6 (1966) (In Russian)
- Burdo, N.B., Videyko, M.Yu.: Etnokulturna model Trypillya-Kukuten' (Ethnocultural model of Trypillia-Cucuteni). In: Zemledel'tsy i skotovody drevney Evropy: problemy, novyye otkrytiya, gipotezy (Farmers and cattle-breeders of ancient Europe: problems, new discoveries, hypotheses), 14–19. Kiev; St. Petersburg (2012) (In Ukrainian)
- Burdo, N.B.: K probleme vydeleniya kul'tur v obshchnosti Tripol'ya-Kukuten' (On the problem of highlighting cultures in the Tripolie-Cucuteni community). In: Zemledel'tsy i skotovody drevney Evropy: problemy, novyye otkrytiya, gipotezy (Farmers and cattle-breeders of ancient Europe: problems, new discoveries, hypotheses), 9–13. Kiev; St. Petersburg (2012) (In Russian)
- Chelărescu, N., Nichita, O., Mihul, A.: Zăcămîntul de nisip alb de la Miorcani-Hudeşti, sursă de materie primă pentru sticlă fină. Studii și cercetări științifice (Fizică și științe tehnice), 12(1), 67–77 (1961)
- Chernysh, Ye.K.: Tripol'skiye masterskiye po obrabotke kremnya (Tripolian workshops for processing flint). Kratkiye soobshcheniya o dokladakh i polevykh issledovaniyakh Instituta arkheologii (Brief Communications on reports and field research of the Institute of Archeology) 111: Issledovaniye pamyatnikov kamennogo veka (Study of Stone Age Sites), 60–66 (1967) (In Russian)
- Chetraru, N.: Bobulești VI O stațiune de la începutul paleoliticului superior în Moldova. Anuarul Muzeului Național de Istorie a Moldovei 2, 138–172 (1995a)
- Chetraru, N.: Contribuții la cunoașterea paleoliticului inferior în Moldova. Anuarul Muzeului Național de Istorie a Moldovei 2, 93–138 (1995b)
- Chirica, V., Borziac, I.A., Chetraru, N.A.: Gisements du paléolithique supérieur ancien entre le Dniestr et la Tissa. 332 p. Helios: Iași (1996)
- Cynkałowski, A.: Materiały do pradziejów Wołynia i Polesia Wołyńskiego. Polskie Towarzystwo Archeologiczne, Warszawa, II, 265, 4 s., 31 k. table (1961)

- Cynkałowski, A.: Osiedlekultury trypolskiej w Bodakach nad Horyniem. Wiadomości archeologiczne 34, 221–227 (1969)
- Geologicheskaya karta Moldavskoy SSR (Geological map of the Moldavian SSR) M 1:1500 000. In: A.T. Levadnyuk (Ed.) Atlas Moldavskoy SSR [Karty] (Atlas of the Moldavian SSR [Maps]), 10. Glavnoye upravleniye geodezii i kartografii (Main Directorate of Geodesy and Cartography). Moscow (1990) (In Russian)
- Geologicheskaya karta Ukrainskoy i Moldavskoy SSR (Geological map of the Ukrainian and Moldavian SSR). M 1:1500000. In: Geologiya SSSR. Prilozheniye k T. V: Ukrainskaya SSR, Moldavskaya SSR. (Geology of the USSR. App. to T. 5: Ukrainian SSR, Moldavian SSR). Pt. 1: V.A. Yershov (Ed.) Geologicheskoye opisaniye platformennoy chasti (Geological description of the platform part). Ministerstvo geologii i okhrany nedr SSSR (Ministry of Geology and Subsoil Protection of the USSR), Moscow (1957) (In Russian)
- Geologiya SSSR (Geology of the USSR) 5. Ukrainskaya SSR, Moldavskaya SSR (Ukrainian SSR, Moldavian SSR). Pt. 1. Geologicheskoye opisaniye platformennoy chasti (Geological description of the platform part). P.Ya. Antropov (Ed.). Gosudarstvennoye nauchno-tekhnicheskoye izdatel'stvo literatury po geologii i okhrane nedr (State Scientific and Technical Publishing House of Literature on Geology and Subsoil Protection), Moscow (1958) (In Russian)
- Geologiya SSSR (Geology of the USSR) 45. Moldavskaya SSR. Geologicheskoye opisaniye. Poleznyye iskopayemyye (Moldavian SSR. Geological description. Mineral resources): A.V. Sidorenko (Ed.), 455 p. Nedra, Moscow (1969) (In Russian)
- Ginter, B., Kozłowski, J.K.: Technika obróbki i typologia wyrobów kamiennych paleolitu, mezolitu i neolitu, 28 s. Pańswowe Wydawnyctwo Naukowe, Warsaw (1990)
- Girya, Ye.Yu.: Tekhnologicheskiy analiz kamennykh industry (Technological analysis of stone industries), 198 p. Institut istorii material'noy kul'tury Rossiyskoy akademii nauk (Institute for the History of Material Culture of the Russian Academy of Sciences), St. Petersburg (1997) (In Russian)
- Gurina, N.N.: Drevniye kremneobrabatívayushchiye shakhty na territorii SSSR (Ancient flintprocessing mines on the territory of the USSR), 178 p. Nauka, Leningrad (1976). (in Russian)
- Husev, S.O.: Trypil's'ka kul'tura Seredn'oho Pobuzhzhya rubezhu IV–III tys. do n. e. (Trypillia culture of the Middle Pobuzhye at the turn of the IV–III millennium BC), 304 p. Anteks-ULTD, Vinnitsa (1995) (In Ukrainian)
- Husev, S.O.: Zv'yazky trypilskykh plemen Seredn'oho Pobuzhzhya (za materialamy kremyanoyi industriyi) (Connections of the Trypillia tribes of the Middle Pobuzhye (according to the materials of the flint industry). Naukovi pratsi Kam'yanets'-Podil's'koho derzhavnoho universytetu. Istorychni nauky (Scientific Works of Kamyanets-Podilsky State University. Historical Sciences) 14, 59–66 (2005) (In Ukrainian)
- Ivannikov, A.V.: Geologicheskaya istoriya Ukrainy v melovoye vremya (Geological history of Ukraine in the Cretaceous), 46 p. Kiev (2005) (In Russian)
- Ivanova, I.K.: Geologicheskiy obzor mestonakhozhdeniya kamennogo veka Moldavii (Geological survey of the location of the Stone Age in Moldova). Byulleten' komissii po izucheniyu chetvertichnogo perioda (Bulletin of the Commission for the Study of the Quaternary) 43, 90–117 (1975) (In Russian)
- Ivanova, I.K.: Geologiya i paleogeografiya stoyanki Korman' IV na obshchem fone geologicheskoy istorii kamennogo veka Srednego Pridnestrov'ya. In: G.I. Goretskiy, S.M. Tseytlin (Ed.) Mnogosloynaya paleoliticheskaya stoyanka Korman' IV na Srednem Dnestre: K X Kongressu JNQUA, Velikobritaniya, 1977 (The multilayer paleolithic site Korman IV on the Middle Dniestr: Towards the X Congress of the JNQUA, Great Britain, 1977), 126–181. Nauka, Moscow (1977) (In Russian)
- Konoplya, V.: Klasyfikatsiya kremyanoyi syrovyny zakhodu Ukrayiny (Classification of flint raw materials of the west of Ukraine). Naukovi zapysky. Lvivsky istorychny muzey (Proceedings. Lviv Historical Museum) 7, 139–157 (1998) (In Ukrainian)

- Kosakivskyy, V.A., Rud', V.S.: Doslidzhennya zhytla trypilskoyi kultury na poselenni v s. Busha (Research of housing of Trypillia culture in the settlement in the village of Bush), pp. 336–343. In: S.A. Vasyl'ev (Ed.). S.N. Bybykov y pervobytnaya arkheolohyya (S.N. Bibikov and primitive archeology). Institut istorii materialnoy kul'tury Rossiyskoy akademii nauk (The Institute for the History of Material Culture of the Russian Academy of Sciences), St. Petersburg (2009) (In Ukrainian)
- Kosakivskyy, V.A., Rud', V.S.: Arkheolohiya Bushi ta yiyi okolyts (Archaeology of the Bush and its environs.). Arkheolohiya i davnya istoriya Ukrayiny (Archaeology and Early History of Ukraine) 4, 180–189 (2010) (In Ukrainian)
- Libera, J., Zakościelna, A.: Złoża krzemieni turońskich w przełomowym odcinku Wisły. In: B. Matraszek, S. Sałaciński (Eds.). Krzemień świeciechowski w pradziejach. Materiały konferencyjne, Rynia, Maj 22–24, 2000, 93–109. Warszawa (2002). (Studia nad Gospodarką Surowcami Krzemiennymi w Pradziejach 4).
- Macovei, G., Atanasiu, I.: L'évolution géologique de la Roumainie. Crétacé. Anuarul Institutului Geologic din României 16(1931), 63–280 (1934)
- Markevich, V.I.: Otchet o polevykh issledovaniyakh Moldavskoy arkheologo-etnograficheskoy ekspeditsii v 1979 g. (Report on field research of the Moldavian archaeological and ethnographic expedition in 1979), Chisinau (1980). Arkhiv Natsional'nogo muzeya istorii Respubliki Moldova (Archive of the National Museum of the History of the Republic of Moldova). Case 149 (In Russian)
- Markevich, V.I.: Otchet o polevykh issledovaniyakh Moldavskoy arkheologo-etnograficheskoy ekspeditsii v 1980 g. (Report on field research of the Moldavian archaeological and ethnographic expedition in 1980), Chisinau (1981). Arkhiv Natsional'nogo muzeya istorii Respubliki Moldova (Archive of the National Museum of the History of the Republic of Moldova). Case 158 (In Russian)
- Markevich, V.I.: These remote near ages, 167 p. Timpul, Chisinau (1985)
- Mihailescu, K.D.: Geologicheskiye i paleogeograficheskiye usloviya rayona paleoliticheskikh stoyanok Buzduzhen', Brynzen' i Chuntu (Geological and paleogeographic conditions of the area of the Paleolithic sites Buzduzheni, Brînzeni and Chuntu). Stratum plus 1: Vremya sobirat' kamni (Time to Gather Stones), 280–286 (1999) (In Russian)
- Ovchinnikov, E.V.: Issledovaniya tripol'skogo poseleniya Rusanovtsy v Verkhnem Pobuzh'ye v 2010–2012 gg. (Research of the Tripolye settlement Rusanovtsy in the Upper Bug region in 2010–2012). In: V.S. Sinika i R.A. Rabinovici (Eds.) Drevnosti. Issledovaniya. Problemy. Sbornik statey v chest' 70-letiya N.P. Tel'nova. Seriya: Biblioteka "Stratum" (Antiquities. Studies. Issues. Essays in honour of Nicolai Telnov on the occasion of his 70th birthday. Series: Library "Stratum"), 19–34. Periodicheskoye izdaniye "Stratum plus" (Periodical "Stratum plus"), Chisinau; Tiraspol (2018). (in Russian)
- Passek, T.S.: Periodizatsiya tripol'skikh poseleniy: (III–II tysyacheletiye do n. e.) (Periodization of Tripolian settlements: (III–II millennium BC)), 248 p. Izdatel'stvo Akademii nauk SSSR (Publishing House of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR), Moscow; Leningrad (1949). (Materialy i issledovaniya po arkheologii SSSR (Materials and research on archeology of the USSR) 10). (in Russian)
- Pasternak, S.I., Havrylyshyn, V.I., Sen'kovs'kyy, Yu.M.: Stratyhrafiya i fauna kreydovykh vidkladiv zakhodu Ukrayiny: (Bez Karpat) (Stratigraphy and fauna of Cretaceous sediments of western Ukraine: (Without the Carpathians)), 274 p. Naukova dumka, Kyiv (1968) (In Ukrainian)
- Pasternak, S.I., Sen'kovs'kyy, Yu.M., Havrylyshyn, V.I.: Volyno-Podillya u kreydovomu periodi (Volhyn-Podillya in the Cretaceous period), 257 p. Naukova Dumka, Kiev (1987) (In Ukrainian)
- Petrougne, V.F.: Petrographical-lithological charactristics of stone materials from late-Tripolye cemeteries of Sofievka type. Cemeteries of the Sofievka Tipe 2950–2750. Baltic-Pontic Studies 3, 190–199 (1995)
- Petrun', V.F.: K petrograficheskomu opredeleniyu sostava i rayonov dobychi mineral'nogo syr'ya rannezemledel'cheskimi plemenami Yugo-Zapada SSSR (On the petrographic determination of the composition and areas of extraction of mineral raw materials by the early agricultural tribes of

the South-West of the USSR). Kratkiye soobshcheniya o dokladakh i polevykh issledovaniyakh Instituta arkheologii (Brief Communications on reports and field research of the Institute of Archeology) 111: Issledovaniye pamyatnikov kamennogo veka (Study of Stone Age Sites), 50–59 (1967) (In Russian)

- Petrun', V.F.: Nyzhn'otortons'ki valunchasti kremenevi porody Podnistrov'ya yak spetsializovana artefaktna syrovyna peredskifskoho chasu (Lower Tortonian boulders of Transnistria as a specialized artefact raw material of pre-Scythian times). Arkheolohiya (Archaeology) 3, 91–102 (1998) (In Ukrainian)
- Petrun', V.F.: Kvartsin, kvartsity i kvartsitovidnyye porody v pervobytnoy tekhnike Porozhistogo Podneprov'ya i drugikh regionov Ukrainy (Quartzite, quartzites and quartzite rocks in the primitive technique of the Porozhisny Dnieper and other regions of Ukraine). Naukovi pratsi Istorychnoho fakul'tetu Zaporiz'koho derzhavnoho universytetu (Scientific papers of the Faculty of History of Zaporizhia State University) 9, 194–202 (2000) (In Russian)
- Petrun', V.F.: Vykorystannya mineral'noyi syrovyny naselennyam trypilskoyi kultury (Use of mineral raw materials by the population of Trypillia culture). In: M.Yu. Videyko (Ed.) Entsyklopediya Trypil's'koyi tsyvilizatsiyi (Encyclopedia of Trypillia Civilization) 1, pp. 199–218. Ukrpolihrafmedia, Kyiv (2004) (In Ukrainian)
- Petrun', V.F.: Zaklyucheniye o rezul'tatakh arkheologo-petrograficheskogo izucheniya materialov iz Maydanetskogo (Report on the results of archaeological and petrographic study materials from Maidanetskoe settlement). In: Shmagliy, N.M., Videyko, M.Yu. Maydanetskoye tripol'skiy protogorod (Maidanetskoe settlement—Trypolian proto-town), 128–131. Kiev (2005). (in Russian)
- Polanskyj, G.: Rekonstruktion der geographischen Verhältnisse des Jungpaläolithikums der podolisch-bessarabischen Provinz. Imprint from "Pratsi heohrafichnoyi komisiyi Naukovoho tovarystva Shevchenka" ("Proceedings of the Geographical Commission of the Shevchenko Scientific Society") 1, 3–23 (1936)
- Polovinkina, Yu.I.: Struktury i tekstury izverzhennykh i metamorficheskikh gornykh porod (Structures and textures of igneous and metamorphic rocks). 2.2: Metamorficheskiye porody (Metamorphic rocks), 272 p. Nedra, Moscow (1966) (In Russian)
- Pryroda Chernivets'koyi oblasti (Nature of Chernivtsi region). K.I. Herenchuk (Ed.), 160 p. Vydavnyche ob'yednannya "Vyshcha shkola", Vydavnytstvo pry L'vivs'komu universyteti (Higher School Publishing Association, Lviv University Publishing House), Lviv (1978) (In Ukrainian)
- Pryroda Ivano-Frankivs'koyi oblasti (Nature of Ivano-Frankivsk region). K.I. Herenchuk (Ed.), 159 p. Vydavnyche ob'yednannya "Vyshcha shkola", Vydavnytstvo pry L'vivs'komu universyteti (Higher School Publishing Association, Lviv University Publishing House), Lviv (1973). (in Ukrainian)
- Pryroda Khmel'nyts'koyi oblasti (Nature of Khmelnytsky region). K.I. Herenchuk (Ed.), 152 p. Vydavnyche ob'yednannya "Vyshcha shkola", Vydavnytstvo pry L'vivs'komu universyteti (Higher School Publishing Association, Lviv University Publishing House), Lviv (1980) (In Ukrainian)
- Pryroda Ternopil'skoyi oblasti (Nature of Ternopil region). K.I. Herenchuk (Ed.), 168 p. Vydavnyche ob'yednannya "Vyshcha shkola", Vydavnytstvo pry L'vivs'komu universyteti (Higher School Publishing Association, Lviv University Publishing House), Lviv (1979) (In Ukrainian)
- Pryroda Volyns'koyi oblasti (Nature of Volhyn region). K.I. Herenchuk (Ed.), 147 p. Vydavnyche ob'yednannya "Vyshcha shkola", Vydavnytstvo pry L'vivs'komu universyteti (Higher School Publishing Association, Lviv University Publishing House), Lviv (1975) (In Ukrainian)
- Rud', V.S.: Trypil's'ka kul'tura pivdnya lisostepovoyi zony u mezhyrichchi Pivdennoho Buhu ta Dnistra (etapy BII ta CI). (Trypillia culture of the southern forest-steppe zone between the Southern Bug and Dniester rivers (Phase BII and CI). Avtoreferat dysertatsiyi na zdobuttya naukovoho stupenya kandydata istorychnykh nauk (Abstract of the dissertation for the degree of Candidate of Historical Sciences), 18 p. Kiev (2018) (In Ukrainian)

- Ryzhov, S.M.: Suchasnyy stan vyvchennya kul'turno-istorychnoyi spil'nosti Kukuten'-Trypillya na terytoriyi Ukrayiny (The current state of studying the cultural and historical community of Cucuteni-Trypillia on the territory of Ukraine). In: O. Ol'zhych. Arkheolohiya (O. Olzhich. Archaeology), 437–477. Vydavnytstvo imeni Oleny Telihy (Elena Teliga Publishing House), Kyiv (2007) (In Ukrainian)
- Saulea, E., Popescu, I. and Bratu, E. Geological Map of Romania, scale 1:200 000, 1 Darabani Sheet. Romanian Geological Institute, Bucharest (1966)
- Scholz, R., Rassmann, K., Terna, S.: Stolniceni, Petreni, Brînzeni, Republik Moldau. Luftbildaufnahmen mit Drohnen (UAV) von kupferzeitlichen Siedlungen in Moldawien im Kontext magnetischer Prospektionen und Ausgrabungen. Die Arbeiten der Jahre 2009 bis 2017 e-Forschungsberichte des DAI 2018, Faszikel 1, 76–83 (2018)
- Sen'kovs'kyy, Yu.M.: Sylitsyty kreydy pivdenno-zakhidnoho skhylu Skhidno-Evropeys'koyi platformy (Chalk silicates of the SW slope of the Eastern European platform), 155 p. Naukova dumka, Kyiv (1973) (In Ukrainian)
- Skakun, N., Plisson, H.: Some Results of the experimental-traceological expedition at Bodaki. Sprawozdania Archeologiczne 66, 83–90 (2014)
- Skakun, N.N., Tsvek, Ye.V., Gusev, S.A., Mateva, B.I., Terekhina, V.V.: Issledovaniya poslednikh let na tripol'skom poselenii Bodaki (Research of recent years on the Tripolian settlement of Bodaki). Zapiski Instituta istorii materialnoy kultury RAN (Papers of the Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS) 7, 66–74 (2012) (In Russian)
- Skakun, N.N.: Bodaki—odin iz tsentrov kremneobrabatyvayushchego proizvodstva na Volyni (Bodaki—one of the centers of flint processing in Volhyn). In: Skakun, N.N., Tsvek, Ye.V., Kruts, V.A., Mateva, B.I., Korvin-Piotrovskiy, A.G., Samzun, A., Yakovleva, L.M.: Arkheologicheskiye issledovaniya tripol'skogo poseleniya Bodaki v 2005 g. (Archaeological research of the Tripolian settlement of Bodaki in 2005), 64–79. Institut arkheologii Natsionalnoy akademii nauk Ukrainy (Institute of Archaeology of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine); Institut istorii material'noy kul'tury RAN (Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS), Kiev; St. Petersburg (2005) (In Russian)
- Skakun, N., Terekhina, V., Mateva, B.: The settlement of Bodaki—a Tripolian-culture centre of flint exploitation in Volhynia. In: D.H. Werra, M. Woźny (Eds.) Between history and archaeology papers in honour of Jacek Lech, 289–302. Archaeopress, Oxford (2018)
- Skakun, N.N., Terekhina, V.V., Mateva, B.I. Flint processing industry of farmers and cattle-breeders of the North-Western Black Sea region during the Eneolithic. The Journal of Archaeological Science: Reports 31, 102347 (1–18) (2020)
- Skakun, N.: Le rôle et l'importance du silex dans le Chalcolithique de sud-est de l'Europe (sur la base du matériel provenant des fouilles du campement de Bodaki). In: J. Millon (Ed.) La Préhistoire au Quotidien. Grenoble, 223–235 (1996)
- Skakun, N.N.: Predvaritelnyye rezultaty izucheniya materialov tripolskogo poseleniya Bodaki (kremneobrabatyvayushchiye kompleksy) (Preliminary results of the study of materials from the Tripolian settlement of Bodaki (flint processing complexes)). In: G.F. Korobova (Ed.) Orudiya i sistemy zhizneobespecheniya naseleniya Yevrazii (po materialam epokh paleolita—bronzy) (Tools and life support systems for the population of Eurasia (based on materials from the Paleolithic—Bronze Age)), 57–79. Yevropeysky Dom, St. Petersburg (2004) (In Russian)
- Skakun, N.N.: Excavation at Bodaki (Ukraine) and the important of flintworking activities in the Eneolithic. Memoria Antiquitatis 24, 329–354 (2007)
- Skakun, N.N: Excavation at Bodaki, Ukraine, and the importance of flint working activities in the Eneolithic. In: J.-C. Marquet, C. Verjux (Dir.) Actes de la table-ronde international "L'Europe, déjà, à la fin des temps préhistoriques. Des grandes lames en silex dans toute l'Europe" Tours (Indre-et-Loire, France), vendredi 7 September 2007. (Revue Archéologique du Centre de la France 38 suppl.), 91–108 (2012a)
- Skakun, N.N.: Osobennosti kremneobrabatyvayushchego proizvodstva razvitogo etapa tripolskoy kultury (po materialam poseleniya Bodaki) (Features of the flint-processing industry of the developed stage of the Tripolian culture (based on materials from the settlement of Bodaki)). In:

Mezolit i neolit Vostochnoy Evropy: khronologiya i kulturnoye vzaimodeystviye (Mesolithic and Neolithic Eastern Europe: Chronology and Cultural Interaction), 312–317. Institut istorii materialnoy kultury RAN (Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS); Muzey antropologii i etnografii imeni Petra Velikogo (Kunstkamera) RAN (Peter the Great Museum of Anthropology and Ethnography (Kunstkamera) RAS), St. Petersburg (2012b) (In Russian)

- Sorokin, V.Ya.: Raskopki mnogosloynogo poseleniya Mereshovka-Chetetsuye v 1980 g. (Excavation multilayer settlement Mereşeuca-Cetăţuia in 1980). In: Arkheologicheskiye issledovaniya v Moldavii v 1979–1980 gg. (Archaeological research in Moldova in 1979–1980), 102–111. Shtiintsa, Chisinau (1983) (In Russian)
- Sorokin, V.Ya.: Orudiya truda i khozyaystvo plemen Srednego Tripol'ya Dnestrovsko-Prutskogo mezhdurech'ya (Tools and economy of the tribes of the Middle Tripolye of the Dniester-Prut interfluve), 161 p. Shtiintsa, Chisinau (1991) (In Russian)
- Starkova, E., Zakościelna, A.: Traditions of ceramics production in the Central and Eastern Europe Eneolithic: Tripolye, late Malice and Lublin-Volhynian cultures. Sprawozdania Archeologiczne 70, 65–85 (2018)
- Starkova, E.G.: Keramicheskiye kompleksy finala razvitogo Tripol'ya: po materialam poseleniy Podol'skoy vozvyshennosti i Verkhnego Podnestrov'ya (Ceramic complexes of the final of the developed Tripolye: based on materials from the settlements of the Podolsk Upland and the Upper Dniester region). Avtoreferat dissertatsii na soiskaniye nauchnoy stepeni kandidata istoricheskikh nauk (Abstract of dissertation for the candidate of historical sciences), 27 p. St. Petersburg (2011) (In Russian)
- Terekhina, V.V., Skakun, N.N., Tsvek, Ye.V.: Osnovnyye napravleniya v izuchenii zapadnogo areala tripol'skoy kul'tury (istoriograficheskiy ocherk) (The main directions in the study of the western area of Tripolye culture (historiographical sketch)). Zapiski Instituta istorii materialnoy kultury RAN (Papers of the Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS) 9, 54–69 (2014) (In Russian)
- Terna, S., Heghea, S.: Middle and Late Copper Age settlements from the Brînzeni microzone on the Prut River: Older research in the modern background. Sprawozdania Archeologiczne 69, 297–326 (2017)
- Tkachuk, T.M.: Fazy rozvytku i vidnosna khronolohiya shypynets'koyi hrupy arkheolohichnykh pam'yatok (Phases of development and relative chronology Shypynets group of archaeological sites). Zapysky tovarystva imeni Shevchenka. Pratsi Arkheolohichnoyi komisiyi (Notes of the Shevchenko Society. Proceedings of the Archaeological Commission) 244, 89–114 (2002) (In Ukrainian)
- Văscăubanu, T.: Aasupra cretaceului superior din nordul Basarabiei. Analele Academiei Române, Memoriile Sechiunii Științifice (Seria 3) 1, 287–299 (1923)
- Văscăubanu, T.: Asupra formabiunilor mediterane din nordul Basarabiei. Analele Academiei Române, Memoriile Secțiunii Științifice (Seria 3) 3 (Mem. 6), 239–256 (1925)
- Zakościelna, A.: Krzemieniarstwo kultury wołyńsko-lubelskiej ceramiki malowanej, 266 s. Uniwersytet Marii Curie-Skłodowskiej, Lublin (1996). (Lubelskie Materiały Archeologiczne 10)
- Zakostselna, A.: Kremnevyy i kamennyy inventar' tripolskoy kultury iz raskopok Nemirovskogo gorodishcha. Kollektsii Gosudarstvennogo Ermitazha. (Flint and stone implements of the Tripolian culture from the excavations of the Nemirov settlement. Collections of the State Hermitage). In: Smirnova, G.I., Vakhtina, M.Yu., Kashuba, M.T., Starkova, Ye.G. Gorodishche Nemirov na reke Yuzhnyy Bug: Po materialam raskopok v XX veke iz kollektsiy Gosudarstvennogo Ermitazha i Nauchnogo arkhiva Instituta istorii material'noy kultury RAN (The Nemyrov settlement on the Southern Bug River: Based on materials from excavations in the 20th century from the collections of the State Hermitage and the Scientific Archives of the Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS), 259–275. Gosudarstvennyy Ermitazh (The State Hermitage); Institut istorii materialnoy kultury RAN (Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS), St. Petersburg (2018) (In Russian)

Zayets, I.I., Skakun, N.N.: Rezul'taty issledovaniya proizvodstvennogo inventarya poseleniya Voroshilovka (Results of a study of the production equipment of the Voroshilovka settlement). In: Rannezemledelcheskiye poseleniya-giganty tripolskoy kultury na Ukraine. Tezisy dokladov 1 polevoy seminar (Early agricultural settlements-giants of Tripolian culture in Ukraine), 105–108. Talyanki (1990) (In Russian)

The Role of Stone Raw Materials (Not Flint) in Industrial Complexes of the Upper Paleolithic Sites (Based on Materials from the Cosauti Site, Republic of Moldova)



Natalia N. Skakun, Sergey I. Kovalenko, Vera V. Terekhina, Dmitrii M. Shulga, and Elena Yu. Mednikova

Abstract In the multi-layered Upper Paleolithic site of Cosauti (the Republic of Moldova), which is unique in the richness and variety of finds, unmodified or slightly processed stones with use-wear traces were found, in addition to numerous flint implements. Among the various groups of tools were identified by applying the use-wear analysis: hammer stones, anvils, abrasives, palettes or pigment grinders, polishers, lower and upper grinding stones. These tools were used in various types of economic activities and served to process various materials: antler, bones, skins, ocher, flint, and other types of stone, as well as for crushing, kneading, and grinding plant materials. The obtained data points out the efficient and selective use of different stone raw materials to create the tools for various purposes.

Keywords Late Paleolithic \cdot The Republic of Moldova \cdot Cosauti \cdot Stone raw materials \cdot Use-wear analysis

1 Introduction

The materials of many Paleolithic sites in Eurasia contain large objects made of various types of stone; some are artificially processed, while others retain their natural shapes (Voevodsky 1952; Rogachev 1973; Chernysh 1961; Kuchugura 2003; de Beaune 2003, etc.). For this reason, it is difficult to distinguish between natural stones and tools. That is why these artifacts rarely become objects of special analysis. However, a present, comprehensive study of these finds is gaining significant importance. It includes classical use-wear analysis with the help of microscopes, a 3D

S. I. Kovalenko National Museum of the History of Moldova, Chisinau, Moldova

D. M. Shulga Museum of Bread, St. Petersburg, Russia

289

N. N. Skakun $(\boxtimes) \cdot V$. V. Terekhina $\cdot E$. Yu. Mednikova Institute for the History of Material Culture RAS, St. Petersburg, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_24

visualization which is useful when studying the most worn-out areas, experiments for verifying the results of use-wear analysis, and study of organic residues, which can show what kinds of vegetation were processed (Semenov 1974; Shchelinsky 1994; Hamon and Plisson 2008; Revedin et al. 2010; Stepanova 2020; Pedergnana et al. 2016; Longo et al. 2018; Skakun and Plisson 2014; Skakun et al. 2020a, 2020b, Skakun et al. 2019). Our research is the result of studying a collection of stone objects (64 items) from the Upper Paleolithic site of Cosauti, Republic of Moldova.

2 Materials and Methods

The multi-layer Cosauti site was discovered in 1978 by I.A. Borziyak and M.V. Anikovich in the Soroca region of the Republic of Moldova (Fig. 1).

It is located on the right bank of the river Dniester, in the sediments of the first fluvial terrace (Borziac et al. 1998). All cultural layers of the Cosauti site fall into the general chronological interval from 20 to 16 BP (the stratigraphy of the site has been characterized in several publications, such as Haesaerts et al. 1998: 653, Fig. 2). All of them represent a single industrial complex, which is considered by most researchers as Epigravettian. In Cosauti this period is characterized by the flint blade producing technique, the predominance of borers, primarily retouched and side ones, the presence of end scrapers on the blades, the wide distribution of inserts—micro points and backed bladelets made with the help of vertical and steep retouch removing material over the entire thickness of the workpiece. At present, the data from the Cosauti-site allow it to be included in the Epigravettian culture of the Molodova-Cosauti-Kotu-Mikulints type (Chirica and Borziac 2009: 29–31), the main territory of which covers the Middle Dniester and the Middle Prut.

During many years of excavation, a series of residential and household complexes was uncovered. Data were obtained to characterize various aspects of the life of the inhabitants of this site. Materials are uniquely preserved. It should also be noted that in layer 2B an infant burial was discovered near the fireplace with a concentration of bone fragments, animal teeth, reindeer antlers, flint products, ash, and coals (Kovalenko and Krojtor 2016).

In addition to numerous artifacts of flint, antler, and bone items, sandstone, quartzite, and slate artifacts were found in all layers of the site (STR).

These kinds of raw materials are often found on the coastal shoals and the eroded slopes of the Dniester valley. From the whole variety of stones, the inhabitants of the Cosauti site preferred to use rounded and elongated pebbles, large tiles, and their fragments (Kovalenko 2019). Unfortunately, there is no dedicated work on the mineralogical and petrographic features of these artifacts; however, there is general information on the lithology of stone raw materials in the Middle Dniester region (Peres 1963, 1968). The data on the geological structure of the Dniester river valley and the geomorphology of the vicinity of the site (Ivanova 1977), as well as data on the paleogeography of the area (Adamenko et al. 1996), are also significant. The geological and geomorphological description of the Dniester valley, which is the



Fig. 1 The geographical position of the Upper Paleolithic site of Cosauti (the Republic of Moldova)


Fig. 2 The Cosauti site. 1—a fragment of the lower grinding stone; a, b—micro-photo of use-wear traces on tool 1 (a – \times 100, b – \times 200); 2—a fragment of a pigment grinder; c, d—micro-photo of use-wear traces on tool 2 (c – \times 100, d – \times 200); 3—mano; e, f—micro-photo of use-wear on tool 3 (e – \times 100, f – \times 200) (1–3—layer 2B)

most studied in its middle section (from the city of Mogilev-Podolsky to the town of Soroca), allows for the distinguishing sources of certain types of raw materials (cut by the river up to the crystalline bed). The most ancient rocks, opened by the river to a depth of 70 m, are represented by a stratum of mudstones and siltstones, interbedded by sandstones of the Upper Proterozoic that sometimes form steep slopes.

These dense rocky outcrops were also available in the Upper Paleolithic. In the collection of stone artifacts, the Upper Paleolithic materials are probably associated with fragments of slabs of siliceous sandstones and slate. They are distinguished by the density, roundness of the edges, and the presence of one or two naturally aligned surfaces. The color of these rocks ranges from brownish to grey. According to the mineralogical data, they can be associated with opal-glauconite-quartz silts of biogenic origin and fine-grained carbonate sandstones (Peres 1968), widespread in the adjacent territories of Ukraine and Romania.

The study of the collection of stone finds from the site, stored in the National Museum of the History of Moldova, revealed a series of objects from non-isotropic rocks in cultural layers 1, 2B, 3B, 3, 3A, 4, and 5, excavated over a relatively wide area. Objects for use-wear analysis were initially identified by authors using the macro use-wear analysis developed by the Experimental and Traceological Laboratory in St. Petersburg. This method is based on the characteristics of macro-traces: the visually distinguishable deformations and polishes (Korobkova and Shchelinsky 1996). Further micro use-wear studies of 64 items confirmed that most of them (45 items) were indeed tools used in various production processes. The use-wear analysis was carried out with an MBS-10 binocular microscope with the magnification from $8.4 \times$ to $98 \times$ and an Olympus BHMJ metallographic microscope with magnification from $50 \times$ to $500 \times$. Microphotographs were taken on a Canon EOS 400D digital camera mounted on a metallographic microscope with a DIC (differential interference contrast) module; the photographs were taken with built-in illumination passing through the lens. The multiple photos of each tool, taken at different focus distances, were stacked together with the Helicon Focus software into the final images.

3 Results and Discussion

Firstly, it is necessary to pay attention to grinding stones for processing vegetation. The finds of this functional type are unique. Both components of these tools were found: the upper (movable) part—manos (6 items), and the lower stones (8 items), on which the vegetation was rubbed, kneaded, and fragmented. The working parts of the lower grinding stones have typical use-wear in the form of abrasion, flattening of the surface, spots of bright polish, and weak linear marks (Fig. 2a, b).

The two lower stones from layer 2B are represented by a tile fragment (Fig. 3, 4) and a large subrectangular slab ($30 \times 16 \times 3.5$ cm) of high-quality fine-grained grey sandstone (Fig. 3, 6).

In cultural layer 3, several slabs of dense quartzite sandstone and argillaceous sandstone were found. Their average size is $18 \times 10 \times 5$ cm; the working surfaces



Fig. 3 The Cosauti site. Stone objects. 1, 2—pigment grinders; 3–6—lower grinding stones (1—layer 3B; 2—layer 3; 3, 5—layer 3A; 4, 6—layer 2B)

show slight wear. In layer 3B (Stepanova 2020) and layers 3–5, large sandstone slabs with flat surfaces and similar wear patterns were also found (Figs. 3, 5 and 5, 11).

The rounded flattened pebbles were used as mano, and the working areas of some of them were processed with a light pecking tool with a narrow end for better adhesion with the processed material. On their working surfaces, the zones of smooth polishing and poorly discernible linear traces were revealed: shallow, short strokes, located parallel to each other in central parts and chaotically on peripheral parts (Figs. 2 and 3e, f). The most worked-out tools have intensive wear in the form of small pits, damage, and abrasion along with the entire or most of the circumference of these finds (Fig. 3, 4).

The particular attention deserves two manos from layer 4 (Fig. 4, 4, 7) as they possess strong wear and a mass of pits along their wide working edges, covering almost the entire perimeters of the tools. It was the wear that gave a specific look to these objects, and they are close to a cylindrical shape. The first of them is 4.5 cm in diameter, 4.4 cm in thickness, and the second is 4.8-5.5 and 5 cm in thickness. The larger pestles (Fig. 4, 5, 6, 8) are found in almost every layer of the site, and they are also close to this group of artifacts. For them, flattened pebbles from light brown coarse-grained sandstone were selected; their diameters varied from 5.5 to 9.5 cm.

Quartzite, sandstone, and limestone pebbles of various shapes and sizes were used as hammerstones (4 items) for the knapping of flint nodules, as well as for the processing of stone tools with percussion and pecking (Fig. 5, 2). Elliptical and angular pebbles were preferred; on their working parts, located, as a rule, on the protruding areas, the zones typical for these tools breakage in the form of cellular or star-shaped pits were formed during the work. In addition to pebbles, spherical spherosiderites were used as hammerstones (1 item), often with a concentration of wear traces on opposite areas (Fig. 5, 3).

In the first cultural layer, an anvil was found. The tool was made of a large elliptical pebble of brown sandstone 19 cm in diameter and up to 6 cm in thickness (Fig. 5, 6). On its flattened surfaces, separate small potholes are traced. A fragment of a dense, coarse-grained sandstone tile from layer 2B with typical wear in the form of cellular pits concentrated in the central part also served as an anvil (Fig. 5, 8). A massive fragment of a brown slab from layer 3, rectangular in form, with a shape of $19.5 \times 10 \times 5$ cm, was also used as an anvil that supported a flint core while knapping. Its edges are rounded, and on one of the flattened surfaces, there is an area with small fractures and pits. Finally, from layer 4 originates a fragment of an anvil tile with dimensions of $13.5 \times 12 \times 3$ cm, on the surface of which the roughness from a mass of scratches and small pits localized in the central part is visible.

Judging by the nature and degree of wear, 5 items served as abrasives for processing bone and antler. Two fragments of slate tiles originate from layer 1. On the edges of one of them, $11 \times 6 \times 0.9$ cm, longitudinal grooves and flat flake scars at the corners are seen (Fig. 5, 4). On the second sample, $9.5 \times 8.8 \times 2.4$ cm in size, numerous unidirectional small scratches can be seen on an even surface almost along its entire length; a total of 13 such linear depressions were found (Fig. 5, 5). Three flat sandstone tiles were found in layer 2B. They were used as abrasives. One of these tools is the most worn out. On its surface, slightly concave wear from work, which



Fig. 4 Cosauti site. Pebble tools. 1–3—polishers; 4–8—manos (1—layer 3; 2, 4, 7—layer 4; 3—layer 3B; 5—layer 1; 6, 8—layer 2B)

exposed the stone structure, and deep linear traces located chaotically and parallel to each other, can be seen. At a magnification of $100 \times$, the stepped crumbling of sandstone grains, typical for abrasives, is visible. The boundaries of fine-meshed depressions formed from rock grains fallout are leveled, and the protruding tops are slightly rounded. No use-wear was found on the lower surface of this tool. The tool was painted brown, possibly as a result of contact with ocher substance. The dimensions of the other two fully preserved abrasives are $30 \times 16 \times 3.5$ and $20.5 \times 18 \times 4$ cm.



Fig. 5 The Cosauti site. Stone finds. 1—tool for processing soft material (scraper); 2, 3—hammerstones; 4—tile with abrasion; 5—abrasive; 7—engraved tile; 6, 8—anvils; 9–11—lower grinding stones (1–3, 7, 8—layer 2B; 4–6—layer 1; 9—layer 3A; 10, 11—layer 3B)

Two fragments of argillaceous sandstone tiles from layer 2B were the lower parts of pigment grinders, on which lumps of ocher were crushed and ground (Fig. 2, 2c, d). The working surfaces are smooth, flattened during use, and painted with ocher. Their protruding areas are leveled and slightly polished with poorly discernible linear traces. Among tiles with smoothed surfaces, a fragment from layer 3B stands out. It has elongated proportions, the dimensions of $20 \times 8 \times 2.6-3.5$ cm; one side of this item is uneven, naturally concave, and has dark red saturated ocher spots, occupying mainly protruding sections of the microrelief (Fig. 3, 1, 3). A pigment grinder from layer 3 was made of a large sub-rectangular sandstone slab ($22 \times 16.5 \times 7.4$ cm). It is abundantly covered with red ocher along with one of the surfaces, and this coating has a pronounced linear orientation. In layer 3, six more tiles for grinding ocher were also found, and in two cases, linear traces are well seen on their surfaces (Fig. 3, 2). In the same layer, tiles of brownish quartzite and red granite, similar in the character of wear, were found (Fig. 3, 3).

There are several small sandstone pebbles in the collection, the identification of which is hypothetical. Slightly pronounced use-wear does not allow making an unambiguous classification. Still, the smoothed dark-colored surface with spotty polishing and randomly located linear traces, as well as similar wear on experimental tools, suggests that they were used as skin polishers. The following items were used in this way: a rounded $4 \times 3.6 \times 2.9$ cm pebble with an intensely polished surface (Fig. 4, 3) from layer 3B, a flattened pebble of 3.8 cm in diameter, and 1.2 cm in thickness from layer 3 (Fig. 4, 1), and an elongated pebble $6.5 \times 3.5 \times 1.7$ cm from layer 4, in which local surface polishing is combined with a rich dark (carbonaceous) coloration (Fig. 5, 2).

A single specimen from layer 2B is a scraper with a retouched working edge (Fig. 5, I). Some parts of its blade show use-wear traces in the form of an edge rounding and leveling of sharp edges of retouch. Such traces are typical of tools associated with the processing of soft materials, possibly hides; experimental work is required to clarify their functions.

In addition to the stone tools described above, a subrectangular tile of coarsegrained greyish-yellow sandstone of $12 \times 7 \times 2.1$ cm with deepened lines on one of the flat surfaces deserves attention (Fig. 5, 7). On the surface of the tool, the deepened grooves form an image in the shape of the two "short stairs" and two parallel lines with a zigzag at their base, which resembles the so-called roof-like ("tectiform") symbols (Borziyak 1989). The appearance and location of grooves on the surface indicate intentional application. The small depth and the absence of typical abrasion wear allow us to assume their non-utilitarian origin.

4 Conclusions

Thus, the use-wear analysis has allowed identifying tools for processing stone, flint, bone, antler, hides, mineral pigment, and vegetation within the artifacts assemblage of stone raw materials from the Cosauti site. It should be emphasized that minerals with other physical qualities, including flint, could not be used for producing such functional groups as grinding stones, abrasives, pigment grinders. These data points out the utilization of various raw materials by the inhabitants of the site and their efficient use for production needs.

Acknowledgements The reported study was funded by RFBR and RPF according to the research project N_{2} 19-59-25002.

References

- Adamenko, O.M., Golbert, A.V., Osiyuk, V.A., Matvishina, Zh.N., Medyanik, S.I., Motok, V.E., Sirenko, N.A., Chernyuk, A.V.: Chetvertichnaya paleogeografiya ekosistemy Nizhnego i Srednego Dnestra (Quaternary palaeogeography of the Lower and Middle Dniester ecosystem). (1996) (In Russian)
- Borziac, I., Otte, M., Noiret, P.: Piese de artă paleolitică și de podoabă de la stațiunea paleolitică cu mai multe niveluri de locuire Cosăuți din zona Nistrului mijlociu. Revista Arheologică (2), 5–27 (1998) (In Romanian)
- Borziyak, I.A.: Predmety izobrazitelnoi deyatel'nosti cheloveka na mnogosloinoi pozdnepaleoliticheskoj stoyanke Cosauti na Srednem Dnestre (Objects of human graphic activity at the multi-layered Late Paleolithic site of Cosauti on the Middle Dniester). In: Pamyatniki drevnejshego iskusstva na territorii Moldavii (Monuments of ancient art on the territory of Moldova), 11–26 (1989) (In Russian)
- Chernysh, O.P.: Paleolitichna stoyanka Molodove V (Paleolithic site Molodove V). Kyiv (1961) (In Ukrainian)
- Chirica, V., Borziac, I.: Gisements du paléolithique supérieur recént entre le Dniestr et la Tissa. Iași (2009) (In French)
- de Beaune S.A. Du graines à moudre sur les néandertaliens. La Recherche (360), 56–59 (2003) (In French)
- Haesaerts, P., Borziak, I., Van der Plicht, J., & Damblon, F.: Climatic events and Upper Paleolithic chronology in the Dniester basin: New C-14 results from Cosautsi. Radiocarbon, 40(2), 649–657 (1998)
- Hamon, C., Plisson, H.: Functional analysis of grinding stones: the blind-test contribution. In: «Prehistoric Technology» 40 Years Later: Functional Studies and the Russian Legacy. BAR International Series 1783, 29–38 (2008)
- Ivanova I.K.: Geologiya i paleogeografiya stoyanki Korman IV na obshchem fone geologicheskoi istorii kamennogo veka Srednego Pridnestrovya (Geology and paleogeography of the Corman IV site against the general background of the geological history of the Stone Age of Middle Transnistria). In: Mnogoslojnaya paleoliticheskaya stoyanka Korman IV (Multilayer Paleolithic site Corman IV), 126–181. Moscow (1977) (In Russian)
- Korobkova, G.F., Shchelinskij, V.E.: Metodika mikro-makroanaliza drevnih orudii truda (Methodology for micro and macroanalysis of ancient tools) (1996) (In Russian)
- Kovalenko, S.I., Krojtor, R.V.: Proizvodstvenny i hozyaistvennyi inventar iz kosti, roga i bivnya s mnogoslojnoj stoyanki verhnego paleolita Cosauti (Production and household equipment made of bone, antler and ivory from the multi-layered site of the Upper Paleolithic Cosauti). Revista Arheologică. Ser. Nouă. Vol. XII (1–2), 283–295 (2016) (In Russian)
- Kovalenko, S.I.: Kamennoe syrye na mnogosloinoi paleoliticheskoi stoyanke Koseuc (istochniki, pervichnyi otbor i obrabotka, prednaznachenie) (Stone raw materials at the multi-layered Paleolithic site Koseuts (sources, primary selection, and processing, function)). Revista Arheologică. Ser. nouă. Vol. XV (2), 5–13 (2019) (In Russian)

- Kuchugura, L.I.: K voprosu o tipologii izdeliy iz neizomorfnykh porod v verkhnem paleolite (On the typology of products from nonisomorphic rocks in the Upper Paleolithic). Arkheologichesky almanakh (Archaeological almanac) 13, 308–314 (2003) (In Russian)
- Longo, L., Skakun, N., Sorrentino, G., Vassallo, V., Abate, D., Terekhina, V., Sinitsyn, A., Khlopachev, G., Hermon, S.: Les gestes retrouves: a 3D visualisation approach to the functional study of Early Upper Palaeolithic grinding stones. In: M. Matsumoto, E. Uleberg (eds.). CAA2016: Oceans of Data Proceedings of the 44th Conference on Computer Applications and Quantitative Methods in Archaeology, 447–456 (2018)
- Pedergnana, A., Asryan, L., Fernandez-Marchena, J.L., Olle, A.: Modern contaminants affecting microscopic residue analysis on stone tools: A word of caution. Micron 86, 1–21 (2016)
- Peres, F.S.: Kremnistye obrazovaniya iz melovyh otlozhenij severo-vostochnoj chasti Moldavskoj SSR (Siliceous formations from chalk deposits of the northeastern part of the Moldavian SSR).
 In: Materialy po geologii i poleznym iskopaemym Moldavii (Materials on geology and mineral resources of Moldova), 75–89. Kishinev, Kartya moldovenyaske (1963) (In Russian)
- Peres, F.S.: Novye dannye po litologii verhnemelovyh otlozhenij Moldavskoj SSR (New data on the lithology of the Upper Cretaceous deposits of the Moldavian SSR). Doklady Akademii nauk SSSR (Reports of the USSR Academy of Sciences) 179 (4), 957–960 (1968). (In Russian)
- Revedin, A., Aranguren, B., Becattini, R., Longo, L., Marconi, E., Mariotti Lippi, M., Skakun, N., Sinitsyn, A., Spiridonova, E., Svoboda, J. Thirty thousand-year-old evidence of plant food processing. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107 (44), 8815–18819 (2010)
- Rogachev, A.N.: Ob uslozhnennom sobiratel'stve kak forme khozyaystva v epokhu paleolita na Russkoy ravnine (About complicated gathering as a form of economy in the Paleolithic on the Russian Plain). In: G.V. Lebedinskaya, M.G. Rabinovich (ed.). Antropologicheskaya rekonstruktsiya i problemy paleoetnografii: Sbornik pamyati M.M. Gerasimova (Anthropological reconstruction and problems of paleoetnography: in memory of M.M. Gerasimov). Moscow, 127–142 (1973) (In Russian)
- Semenov, S.A.: Proiskhozhdenie zemledeliya (The origin of farming), 320 p. (1974). (In Russian)
- Shchelinskii, V.E.: Terochnyi kamen iz musterskogo kulturnogo sloya Barakaevskoi peshchery (Grinding stone from the Mousterian cultural layer of the Barakaevskaya cave). In: Neandertalcy Guptskogo ushchel'ya na Severnom Kavkaze (Neanderthals of the Gupta gorge in the North Caucasus), 148–150. Meoty (1994) (In Russian)
- Skakun, N.N., Plisson, H.: Eksperimentalno-trasologicheskaya ekspediciya 2012 g. (Experimental and traceological expedition in 2012). Arheologicheskie vesti (Archaeological reports) 20, 368– 372 (2014) (In Russian)
- Skakun, N.N., Terekhina, V.V., Longo, L., Pantyukhina, I.Ye.: Sovremennyye trasologicheskiye issledovaniya v arkheologii (Modern use-wear studies in archeology). In: Proshloye chelovechestva v trudakh peterburgskikh arkheologov na rubezhe tysyacheletiy (K 100-letiyu sozdaniya rossiyskoy akademicheskoy arkheologii) (The past of mankind in the works of St. Petersburg archaeologists at the turn of the millennium (To the 100th anniversary of the creation of Russian academic archaeology)), 157–165 (2019) (In Russian)
- Skakun, N.N., Zhilin, M.G., Gutierrez Saez, C., Pawlik, A.F., Gorashuk, I.V., Terekhina, V.V., Mateva, B. Bostanova, T.M., Shulga, D.M., Munoz Moro, P.: Rezultaty eksperimentalnotrasologicheskih issledovanii, provodivshihsya v letnej arheologicheskoj shkole v Bolgare (Respublika Tatarstan) (Results of the Experimental Use-Wear Research in the Summer Archaeological School in Bolgar (Republic of Tatarstan). Arheologiya Evraziiskih stepei (Archaeology of the Eurasian steppes) 3, 323–330 (2020a) (In Russian)
- Skakun, N.N., Longo, L., Terekhina, V., Kovalenko, S., Shulga D., Pantyuhina, I., Mednikova, E.Yu.: Kamennye terochniki i pesty iz seletoidnogo sloya grota Brynzeny I (Respublika Moldova) (v svete eksperimentalno-trasologicheskogo issledovaniya, dannyh analiza organicheskih ostatkov i 3D skanirovaniya) (Grinding stones and pestles from the seletoid layer of the Brynzeny I grotto (Republic of Moldova) (in the light of an experimental-use-wear study, data of an analysis of organic residues and 3D scanning)). EMINAK 1(29), 74–86 (2020) (In Russian)

- Stepanova, K.: Upper Palaeolithic grinding stones from Eastern European sites: An overview. Quaternary International 541, 162–181 (2020)
- Voevodskii, M.V.: Paleoliticheskaya stoyanka Rabochij rov (Chulatovo II) (Paleolithic site Rabochy Rov (Chulatovo II)). Uchenye zapiski MGU (Scientific notes of Moscow State University) 158, 101–132. Moscow (1952)

The Use of Pebble Raw Materials in the Paleolithic and Mesolithic of the Urals



303

Yury B. Serikov

Abstract The paper discusses the nature and specificity of the use of local gravels and pebble raw materials has its own typical use of pebbles and pebble raw materials.

Keywords Pebbles · Urals · Paleolithic · Mesolithic ages necessary tools

1 Introduction

Pebbles are water-drenched rock fragments which have the diameter of up to 10 cm. It is always found in the form of open deposits (gravels) in riverbeds and on lake shores. Normally, there are pebbles of various sizes, shapes, composition and colors. Pebbles were the first mineral raw materials used by humans.

In the Urals, various types of mineral raw materials are presented in gravels, including jasper, quartzite, quartzitic sandstone, siltstone, shale, chalcedony and flint. There are also rare minerals such as carnelian, agate, hematite and crystal.

During the earliest periods, pebbles were often used without processing or with minimal processing. Untreated pebbles served as hammerstones, anvils, retouchers, hammers, pestles, abrasives, polishers, fishing sinkers (Serikov 2005: 44–46). Pebbles were also used as the initial mineral raw material for making necessary tools by knapping. Stone tools made from pebbles are enrountered at almost every Upper Paleolithic sites on the Urals. Their study allow us to characterize the role of pebble raw materials in the productive practices of Paleolithic and Mesolithic populations of the Urals.

Russian State Professional Pedagogical University (Branch in Nizhny Tagil), Nizhny Tagil, Russia

Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_25

Y. B. Serikov (🖂)

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*,

2 Results and Discussion

The earliest site that demonstrates the use of pebble raw materials for the tool manufacture is the early Paleolithic Yelniki II location (the Sylva River, the Middle Urals, the Perm Region of Russia). Based on the trogonterian elephant bones found on the site, it can be dated back to the Middle Pleistocene, or the Likhvinskiy interglacial period (about 300,000 years ago). Along with the elephant bones, a chopping made of rounded pebble quartz sandstone and a flake of quartzitic sandstone were found at the location.

There are other early Paleolithic sites with pebble tools that are dated slightly later than Yelniki II. They are the sites of Ganichata I, Ganichata II, Sludka, Tupitza, and Borisovo. All of them are located on the banks of the Kama reservior (the Middle Urals, Perm Region) and are currently being actively destroyed by the wave abrasion. The complex of finds at all locations is represented by choppers, choppings, nucleuses, scrapers, plates, and flakes. They are made of pebbles and boulders of quartz sandstone of different colors. Raw materials were taken from gravels recorded near the locations of Ganichata I and Ganichata II (Pavlov et al. 1995, 5–22).

The collection of finds at the Talitsky Late Paleolithic site (the Chusovaya River, the Middle Urals, the Perm Region) contains 4935 stone products. The population of the site used the rich gravel and pebble deposits of the Chusovaya River to obtain flint (62.5%), siliceous shale (25.3%), quartzite and quartz sandstones (5.2%), silicified limestone (2.7%), rock crystal (2.5%), and jaspers (1.8%). The preference was given to pebbles with the diameter of up to 7 cm. A full cycle of stone processing took place at the site, beginning with testing of raw materials followed by primary splitting, and making tools (Shcherbakova 1994, 22-25).

The Garinskaya site (the Sosva River, the Middle Trans-Urals, the Sverdlovsk Region of Russia) is located in the low-lying part of the Urals among swamps. There are no mountains there, and, consequently, there are no mineral resources. A small gravel deposit was recorded 2 km from the Garinskaya site near the Rychkova village. It should be emphasized that this is the only gravel deposit in the vicinity of the site since other gravel deposits have been identified in 50 km and in the different direction from the site. Since this deposit contains all types of mineral raw materials known at the site, this particular gravel could be used by the Paleolithic population of the Garinskaya site.

The collection of stone products of the Garinskaya site contains 690 items. Their analysis shows that 57.1% of products have a pebble crust (natural crust). Moreover, the percentage of products with the pebble crust is different for different categories. Among nucleuses the percentage with the pebble crust is 90.9%, among splinters—67.2%, among technical chips—58.8%, among plates without retouching—50.5%, among plates processed with retouching—38.2%. Pebbles with diameters of 2–6 cm were used for knapping.

More than a half of all products (56.15%) are made of different types of jasper (green—24.6%; dark gray—24.2%; brown—5.3%; red-green—1.6%; light gray—0.45%). The second place is occupied by a variety of color and structure siliceous

shale—24.4% of products. 15.3% of products are made of black and brown flint of good quality. Products made of quartzite (2.5%), chalcedony (0.9%), aleurolite (0.6%) and milky quartz (0.15%) are presented in small quantaties (Serikov 2019: 5–19).

The original pebble complex of the Upper Paleolithic was found on the shore of the Bolshie Allaki Lake (the Southern Trans-Urals, Chelyabinsk Region of Russia) near the rock shelter site that overlapped the Paleolithic cultural layers. Of the 208 products of the Paleolithic layer, there are 164 (78.85%) that are made of rock crystal. The initial form of raw material was pebbles and druses of rock crystal (Zhilina and Petrin 1989; Petrin et al. 2012).

During the Mesolithic period, the local gravel deposits on the territory of the Northern and Middle Urals continued to be the primary sources of mineral raw materials. In the Mesolithic settlements of Parch 1, 2, and 3 (the Vychegda River, the Northern Urals, the Komi Republic of Russia), the composition of rocks in the collections reflects fully the composition of the local gravel deposit of the Vychegda river (Volokitin et al. 2003: 24–35).

The Ogurdino Mesolithic settlement (the Kama River, the Middle Urals, the Perm region) is confined to the layer of alluvial gravel. The settlement presents products from various types of flint—81.6%, chalcedony—7.2%, quartz—3.7%, siliceous shale—2.7%, siliceous limestone—3.2%, quartzite—0.9%, and jasper—0.7%. Many products still have the pebble crust. It is present on a half of splinters and chips that make up 64.6% of the entire complex of the site (Melnichuk 1989, 245).

In the Mesolithic of the Middle Trans-Urals, the local population had been increasingly using tiles of siliceous shale. The products made of pebbles became very few. Nevertheless, the Mesolithic sites are also known on the territory of the Middle Trans-Urals, and tools were made from pebble raw materials. The Uralskie Zori III Mesolithic settlement is located on the Tura River (the Sverdlovsk Region of Russia). The collection of finds contains 2819 stone products. The raw material features of the site's stone inventory are quite unusual. Almost a half of all products (46.58%) are made of jasper: brown-45.64%; red-green-0.69%; brown-0.25%. Such a significant number of jasper products are not found on any other site of the Middle Urals. Even at the nearby Uralskie Zori I settlement (3,676 stone products), there is no such amount of jasper, although the percentage of jasper products is 9.93%. The study of products made of brown jasper with the application method showed that part of them is chipped from the chunk of the pebble crust. The chipping of pebble crust to get better quality pebble cores or chunks and the division of these cores into nucleus blanks with their subsequent processing led to the appearance of such a significant jasper complex at the site. The study of the jasper complex as a whole has helped us to figure out that the 3-4 medium-sized jasper chunks (15-20 cm in diameter) were split and processed in the settlement. The abundance of colored raw materials (primarily jasper and chalcedony) on the site is evidence of its seasonal functioning during the spring time. In spring, floodwaters had washed away the river's banks and had exposed washed-out coastal graves, where the local population selected the most conspicuous colored raw materials-jasper (brown, red-green) and chalcedony (red, yellow, orange) (Serikov 2000: 160-162).

On the territory of the Southern Trans-Urals, the sources of raw materials were river and lake gravels. Regardless of the location of the sites on each of them, the raw materials were jasper and flint pebbles, as well as rolled tiles. Products from almost all types of mineral raw materials have a pebble crust. Striped (red-green) and grey jasper were most often used, then brown jasper and black siliceous rock. Other types of raw materials were used sporadically (Bezprozvannyj and Mosin 1996, 20, 30).

3 Conclusions

The analysis shows that in each region of the Urals during the Upper Paleolithic and Mesolithic, there are peculiarities of using the local raw material, but almost everywhere, products made of pebble raw materials are preserved. Moreover, there are typical features in the use of pebbles and pebble raw materials at each archaeological site.

References

- Besprozvannyj, E.M., Mosin, V.S.: To the characteristic of the Mesolithic of the southern TRANS-Urals. Novoe v arkheologii Iuzhnogo Zauralia [New in the archeology of the southern TRANS-Urals], 18–47 (1996) (In Russian)
- Melnichuk, A.F.: Materials of Ogurdinskoye Mesolithic settlement. Sovetskaia arkheologiia [Soviet archaeology] 4, 244–249 (1989) (In Russian)
- Pavlov, P.Yu., Denisov, V.P., Melnichuk, A.F.: Paleolithic sites with quartzite inventory in the Upper Kama region. Etnokulturnye kontakty v epokhu kamnia, bronzy, rannego zheleznogo veka i srednevekov'ia v Severnom Priuralye [Ethnocultural contacts in the stone, bronze, early iron age and middle ages in the Northern Urals], 5–24 (1995) (In Russian)
- Petrin, V.T., Nokhrina, T.I., Kulik, N.A., Usacheva, I.V.: Upper Paleolithic complex of rock crystal from the South – Eastern coast of lake Bolshye Allaki (South Urals). Arkheologiia, etnografiia i antropologiia Evrazii. Archaeology [Archaeology, Ethnography and Anthropology of Eurasia] 4 (52), 28–40 (2012) (In Russian)
- Serikov, Yu.B.: Paleolithic and Mesolithic of the Middle TRANS-Ural. Nizhny Tagil, NTGSPA, 430 p (2000) (In Russian)
- Serikov, Yu.B.: Pebbles and their use by the ancient population of the Urals. Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii i etnografii [Bulletin of Archaeology, Anthropology and Ethnography] 6, 42–57 (2005) (In Russian)
- Serikov, Yu.B.: Stone tools and mineral raw materials of the Garin Paleolithic site on the Sosva River. Vestnik Permskogo universiteta. Seriia Istoriia [Perm University Herald. History] 1 (44), 5–19 (2019) (In Russian)
- Shcherbakova, T.I.: Materials of the upper Paleolithic site of Talitsky (Ostrovskaya). Ekaterinburg, Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, 95 p (1994) (In Russian)
- Volokitin, A.V., Mayorova, T.P., Tkachev, Yu.A.: Mesolithic sites Parch 1 and Parch 2 on Vychegda: experience of reconstruction of the natural environment and life activity. Syktyvkar, Publ. House of Komi Scientific Center UB RAS, 62 p (2003) (In Russian)
- Zhilina, I.V., Petrin, V.T. Original industry from the Kyshtym lake district (on the problem of the appearance of cultic places in the Urals). Tekhnicheskii i sotsial'nyi progress v epokhu

The Use of Pebble Raw Materials in the Paleolithic ...

pervobytno-obshchinnogo stroia (Informatsionnye materialy) [Technical and social progress in the age of primitive communal system (Information materials)], 46–48 (1989) (In Russian)

Obsidian as the Main Raw Material for the Production of Tools in the Early Agricultural Societies of Azerbaijan



Roza B. Arazova and Natalia N. Skakun

Abstract The paper discusses the results of interdisciplinary research on identifying deposits that served as the sources of raw material for the production of obsidian tools by farmers of the 6th–4th millennia BC in Azerbaijan. The data obtained indicate the widespread use of obsidian for the manufacturing of various tools; moreover, raw materials from different localities were often used by inhabitans of a single settlement. These facts allow us to suggest close ties between the ancient agricultural peoples of different regions of the South Caucasus.

Keywords Ancient farmers · Azerbaijan · Obsidian tools · Deposits of stone · Interdisciplinary research

1 Introduction

Obsidian has been known as a raw material for the manufacture of tools since the earliest periods of human history. Empirical knowledge about the physical properties of obsidian, such as the ability to easily split into thin blades with the formation of sharp cutting edges, allowed ancient people to skillfully use its natural feature. The widespread use of obsidian as a raw material and as an exchange commodity began in the 8th–4th millennia BC.

A large series of studies is devoted to the examination of obsidian from the Neolithic sites of the Near East and natural deposits by the method of optical spectrography (Cann and Renfrew 1964; Renfrew et al. 1966, 1969; Dixon et al. 1968; Wright 1969). The most frequent chemical elements in obsidian were detected (Fe, Na, Mn, Sr, Ba, Zn, etc.), and four different groups were identified by their presence, each corresponding to a specific deposit of raw material. However, there are also such cases when the group contains raw materials from several sources. When comparing

R. B. Arazova

Department of History and Archaeology, Khazar University, Baku, Azerbaijan

N. N. Skakun (⊠) Institute of History of Material Culture RAS, St. Petersburg, Russia

309

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_26

obsidian groups from the Neolithic sites of the Middle East and the deposits known there (one of them is in Central Anatolia, and the other is in Eastern Anatolia, in the Van region), the exploited sources of raw materials were identified as well as the main directions of the "obsidian trade" (Renfrew et al. 1966; Dixon et al. 1968). The migration routes of the Neolithic people and the sources of obsidian in the Middle East have been suggested by Renfrew. His model considers the movement of obsidian depending on the distance. Accordingly, if a settlement located no more than 250–350 km from the deposit, more than 80% of raw material is obsidian. Outside this "supply zone" and up to 600 km, the percentage of consumed obsidian sources and supply routes. This is the so-called "contact zone," where the proportion of obsidian products drops to 30–40%. Finally, at a distance of more than 600 km, the number of tools made of obsidian drops sharply up to 1% (Renfrew et al. 1966; Dixon et al. 1968).

The article discusses the use of obsidian in the settlements of ancient farmers of Azerbaijan and identifies the locations of this raw material according to petrographic analysis.

2 Materials and Methods

A number of archaeological and statistical studies show that during the Neolithic-Eneolithic period in the southern Caucasus region (including Azerbaijan), obsidian was a preferable raw material for tool-making (Arazova 1986: 29, Fig. 2; Arazova 2006, 2020; Arazova and Skakun 2017, 2019). Inserts of sickles and knives, scrapers, punches, chisels and other tools represent the instrumental complex used by agricultural and cattle-breeding societies in the Caucasian region (Figs. 1 and 2).

Volcanic glass—obsidian—is characterized by a wide variety of structural and textural features of the mineral composition (Kashkai and Mamedov 1961) due to the water content released at different temperatures. Several varieties of obsidian are known, such as homogeneous, banded, and brecciated. Homogeneous obsidian from black-shiny to black, without any luster, resembling resin, was a common raw material for tool-making at the settlements of the Ganja-Kazakh plain. Grey obsidian sometimes with a pearlescent tint can also be found there, especially at the site of Kultepe.

Banded obsidian, which is also quite common, is close to homogeneous black but differs in transparency and alternating black stripes (veins). Tools made of such obsidian are often found on the sites of the Mil-Garabakh steppe.

Brecciated obsidian is dark to reddish-brown with black spots. This type of obsidian is widespread in the Nakhchivan Kultepe.

Obsidian deposits are connected to volcanic centres. Most of the early agricultural settlements in the South Caucasus are located on the plains, adjacent mainly to the Lesser Caucasus Mountains, rich in volcanic formations and obsidian. There are two sources of obsidian in Azerbaijan. The first is located on the border of Nakhchivan and



Fig. 1 Obsidian tools from the Shomutepe site (1–16)



Fig. 2 Obsidian tools from the Chalagantepe site (1–15)

Armenia, on the Guzgunlu, Gumargakh, Aghdaban, and Kochiberu mountains. The second, Kelbajar, has obsidian outcrops in four areas: Kechaldag, Deve-gezu (Small), Deve-gezu (Big), and at the source of the Bazarchay River (Mahmudov 1974). Of the a areas mentioned above, the most typical are Kechaldag and Deve-gezu (Small), located at an altitude of 3162 and 5171 m above sea level. Primary outcrops of raw materials are observed on the north-western and eastern slopes of Kechaldag, and the eastern side of Deve-gezu (Small). These sources are characterized by banded obsidian, from transparent to translucent with black streaks in the form of stripes (Mahmudov 1974: 18).

Two obsidian deposits are known on the territory of Georgia, in the Akhalsixi and Paravani regions (Kashkai and Mamedov 1961: 39–42, Fig. 2; Table 5; Esakia 1984; 2020; Esakia et al. 2017; Biagi and Gratuze 2016). The first is located 12 km north of the City of Akhalsixi, the second is north of the Trialeti Highlands, 15 km northeast of the Paravani Lake. Here homogeneous obsidian is common, i.e., those varying from dark gray to black-shiny color. Occasionally, dark brown stones with black spots can also be found.

There is a whole strip of volcanic manifestations in Armenia, including the Aragats, Geghama, Syunik, and other subzones (Geology of Armenia 1970: 105, Fig. 181). The main outcrops of obsidian are known in Arteni, Atis, Gutansar, Gokhasar, Spitaksar, etc. The following varieties represent obsidian from these sources: black, gray, banded, and brecciated (brown) obsidian, which is especially common.

As noted above, obsidian was widely used as a raw material in the early agricultural settlements of Azerbaijan and dominated over flint and other rocks. However, there are no obsidian outcrops near the sites, while flint, marl, mudstone, and other rocks are found there in abundance. It is a plaucible assumption that obsidian was delivered to settlements from the surrounding mountains. Back in the Soviet Era, obsidian from the sites of Krasnodar Territory and Checheno-Ingushetia and deposits of the North Caucasus was studied by the petrographic method. Based on the obtained indicators, the "obsidian paths" in the North Caucasus were identified (Nasedkin, Formozov 1965). To clarify this issue, petrographic analyses of obsidian from 6th to 4th millennia BC sites of Azerbaijan and deposits of the Lesser Caucasus were carried out by a geologist A.I. Mamedov at the Institute of Geology of the Academy of Sciences of Azerbaijan (in the 1970s). The study was based on the determination of the refractive index and other features (textural and structural). In total, 19 samples from archaeological complexes and 12 samples from deposits were studied (Arazova and Mamedov 1979).

3 Results and Discussion

The obtained data allow us to compare the parameters of the obsidian tools from the settlements with obsidian from natural deposits. As a result, it is possible to establish which deposits served as sources of raw materials for specific sites

Sites	Petrographic features	
	Varieties	Refractive indices
1. Shomutepe (Western Azerbaijan)	Black shiny	1.484
2. Shomutepe (Western Azerbaijan)	Black shiny	1.484
3. Shomutepe (Western Azerbaijan)	Black muddy	1.485
4. Toyertepe (Western Azerbaijan)	Black shiny	1.484
5. Toyertepe (Western Azerbaijan)	Brown with black spots	1.485
6. Gargalartepe (Western Azerbaijan)	Brown with a dark red tint	1.485
7. Gargalartepe (Western Azerbaijan)	Black muddy	1.486
8. Rustepe (Western Azerbaijan)	Black shiny	1.484
9. Baba Dervish (Western Azerbaijan)	Black shiny	1.484
10. Baba Dervish (Western Azerbaijan)	Brown with black spots	1.485
11. Baba Dervish (Western Azerbaijan)	Brown with black spots	1.485
12. Baba Dervish (Western Azerbaijan)	Black muddy	1.486
13. Alikemektepe (Mughan)	Black shiny	1.484
14. Alikemektepe (Mughan)	Black shiny	1.484
15. Alikemektepe (Mughan)	Black shiny	1.484
16. Alikemektepe (Mughan)	Black muddy	1.485
17. Ilanlytepe (Garabakh)	Black shiny	1.484
18. Ilanlytepe (Garabakh)	Black muddy	1.485
19. Kultepe (Nakhchivan)	Black shiny	1.485

 Table 1 Results of petrographic analysis of obsidian samples from the archaeological sites of Azerbaijan

(Tables 1 and 2 show a correlation of the composition of obsidian used in settlements with the composition of obsidian from deposits).

For samples from the settlements of the Ganja-Gazakh plain in the western part of Azerbaijan, adjacent to Georgia, the following indicators were obtained: a low refractive index of 1.484 is typical for black-shiny and transparent obsidian (Shomutepe, Toyertepe, Rustepe, Baba Dervish), and 1.485 is typical for black-muddy sample (Shomutepe, Gargalartepe, Baba Dervish). The same parameters were established for obsidian samples from the nearby Paravani deposit (Esakia 1984; Biagi and Gratuze 2016). This indicates that the primary source of raw materials for these lowland settlements in Azerbaijan was Paravani obsidian (Fig. 3).

This conclusion becomes even more convincing if we consider the relatively close distance from the sites to the deposit: there is no more than 145 km in a straight line from the Lake Paravani region to the above settlements. Fields adjoining this deposit are strewn with obsidian debris; they stretch for tens of kilometres in the Khrami river valley. It is no coincidence that this river's valley was very favourable for settlement from the Paleolithic and later settled agriculture developed there (Berdzenishvili 1963: 5–16; Kushnaryova and Chubinishvili 1970).

Petrographic features	
Varieties	Refractiveindices
Black shiny	1.484
Black muddy	1.485
Black muddy	1.485
Black shiny	1.484
Brown with black spots	1.485
Black muddy	1.486
Black shiny	1.485
Black muddy	1.486
Brown with black stripes	1.487
Black muddy	1.486
Brown with black spots	1.486
Brown with black spots	1.487
	Petrographic features Varieties Black shiny Black muddy Black muddy Black shiny Brown with black spots Black muddy Black shiny Black muddy Brown with black stripes Black muddy Brown with black spots

Table 2 Results of petrographic analysis of obsidian samples from deposits of the South Caucasus



Fig. 3 Sources and transportation of obsidian (VI-IV mil B.C.)

Along with the exploitation of this source, the inhabitants of the settlements mentioned above used obsidian from other adjacent deposits, namely the volcanoes of the Armenian Highlands: the samples from Gutansar and Gokhasar give identical refractive indices with the samples from Gargalartepe and Baba Dervish, equal to 1.486.

Interesting indicators were obtained for samples from the Mil-Garabakh and Mughan steppe (Ilanlytepe and Alikemektepe), where obsidian with the refraction indices of 1.484 and 1.485 was used. Samples from the Kelbajar source yield the same indicators.

It should be noted that at Ilanlytepe, the tools are exlusively made of obsidian (Narimanov 1987: 103). This suggests that the ancient population of the site actively used the Kelbajar deposit, located within a radius of 96 km from the site. It can be assumed that other neighbouring settlements of Garabakh, such as Ismailbeytepe, Chalagantepe, Leylatepe, being near the Kelbajar outcrops, also preferred obsidian and widely used this raw material. However, it is also possible that the population of these settlements could have used other nearby outcrops of volcanic glass.

As for Alikemektepe on Mughan, where Kelbajar obsidian was also used for making tools, the significant remoteness of the settlement from the deposit (approximately 230 km) undoubtedly determines the predominance of flint products over obsidian in the industry.

For an obsidian sample from Nakhchivan Kultepe I a coefficient of 1.485 was obtained. The same coefficient has obsidian from the Bazenk volcano (Syunik subzone), located 78 km from the settlement. Therefore, we may assume, that Bazenk volcano zone could serve as a raw material source for tools from the Kultepe settlement site (Abibullaev 1982: 52–62). Other volcanoes from this subzone, especially rich in brown (or with black spots) obsidian, which is often found in the obsidian industry of Kultepe, could also serve as a source of obsidian import for the Nakhchivan Kultepe.

4 Conclusions

In sum, we can say that the study of obsidian from the Neolithic-Eneolithic sites of Azerbaijan and several deposits of the Lesser Caucasus allows establishing various sources of exploitation and transportation of raw materials. In Azerbaijan, the settlements are located at a distance no more than 300 km from the source, i.e., within the Renfrew's "supply zone". Obsidian tools constitute the basis of the stone industry with about 80% in the assemblage. Consequently, the early farmers of Azerbaijan preferred obsidian, with its physical properties superior to other rocks, especially since the outcrops were abundant near their sites. For example, the supply of raw materials to settlements, of the Ganja-Gazakh plain in the western part of Azerbaijan is explained by contacts and exchange links with neighboring early agricultural tribes of Kvemo-Kartli in the 6th-4th millennia BC. According to some researchers, the exchange among the early tribes arose out of vital necessity, and was based on the ecological diversity and, first of all, the raw material source (Masson 1976: 78).

References

- Abibullaev, O.A. Eneolit i bronza na territorii Nakhichevanskoj ASSR (The Eneolithic and Bronze Age on the territory of the Nakhichevan ASSR). Baku (1982)
- Arazova, R.B.: Kamennye orudiya truda rannih zemledel'chesko-skotovodcheskih plemen Zapadnogo Azerbajdzhana (Stone tools of the early agricultural and pastoral tribes of Western Azerbaijan) (1986) (In Russian)
- Arazova, R.B.: Obsidian in the productive of early farming communities of the Southern Caucasus. In: Von Majkop bis Trialeti. Gewinnung und Verbreiting von Metallen und Obsidian in Kaukasien im 4.-2. Jt.v.Chr. Beiträgedes Internationalen Symposiums in Berlin 1–3, 39–40 (2006)
- Arazova, R.B. Oruduija semledeliya poseleniya Alikemektepe (po dannym eksperimentalnotrasologicheskih issledovanij) (Agricultural Tools of Alikemektepe Settlement (on the Basis of Experimental and Traceological Studies). Archaeology of the Eurasian Steppes, 3, 269–275 (2020) (In Russian)
- Arazova, R.B., Mamedov, A.I.: Sravnitel'noe izuchenie obsidiana iz eneoliticheskih poselenij Azerbajdzhana i mestorozhdenij Zakavkaz'ya (Comparative study of obsidian from the Eneolithic settlements of Azerbaijan and deposits of the Transcaucasus). In: Izvestiya AN Azerb. SSR (ser. ist., fil. i prava) (Bulletin of the Academy of Sciences of the Azerbaijan SSR (series of history, philology and law)) 3, 49–56 (1979) (In Russian)
- Arazova, R. Skakun, N.: The oldest harvesting tools of Azerbaijan (according to experimentaltraceological research. Cuadernos de prehistoria y arqueología de la Universidad de Granada 27, 121–132 (2017)
- Arazova, R.B., Skakun, N.N.: Trasologicheskii analiz orudii truda I videlenie proisvodstv v khosyaistve rannesemledelcheskih poselinii Azerbajdzhana (Tracological analysis of tools and allocation of production facilities in the economy of early agricultural settlements of Azerbaijan). Pvolzhskaya archeologiya 1, 8–17 (2019) (In Russian)
- Badalyan, R.S., Kikodze, Z.K., Kol, F.L.: Kavkazskij obsidian: istochniki i modeli utilizacii i snabzheniya (Rezultaty analizov nejtronnoj aktivacii) (Caucasian obsidian: sources and models of utilization and supply (Results of neutron activation analysis). Istoriko-filologicheskij zhurnal (Historical and Philological Journal) 1–2, 245–264 (1996) (In Russian)
- Berdzenishvili N.Z. Paleoliticheskie pamyatniki iz doliny r. Hrami (The Paleolithic sites of the Khrami River valley). In: Materialy po arheologii Gruzii i Kavkaza (Materials on the archeology of Georgia and the Caucasus), 3, 5–16 (1963)
- Biagi, P., Gratuze, B.: New data on source characterization and exploitation of obsidian from the Chikiani Area (Georgia). Eurasiatica 6, 9–35 (2016)
- Cann, J.R., Renfrew, C.: The Characterization of Obsidian and its application to the Mediterranean Region. Proceedings of the PrehistoricSociety, xxx, 111–133 (1964)
- Dixon, J.E, Cann, J.R., RenfrewC.: Obsidian and the origin of trade. Scientific American 218(3), 38–46 (1968)
- Esakia, K.M.: Proizvodstva drevnih zemledelchesko-skotovodcheskih obshchestv Vostochnoj Gruzii: po dannym eksperimentalno-trasologicheskih issledovanij orudij truda: avtoreferat dis....kandidata istoricheskih nauk (Productions of ancient agricultural and pastoralist societies of Eastern Georgia: data from experimental and traceological research of tools: abstract of the dissertation of the candidate of historical sciences) (1984) (In Russian)
- Esakia, K.M. Obsidian-osnovnoe sirie dlya orudiinih kompleksov drevnesemledelcheski kultur Kavkasa (Obsidian – Main Raw Material for the Toolkit Complexes of the Ancient Agricultural Cultures of the Caucasus). Archaeology of the Eurasian Steppes 3, 266–269 (2020) (In Russian)
- Esakia, K.M., Skakun N.N. Trekhina V.V. Skrebki is poseleniya Arukhlo I, Grusiya (k voprosu osootvetstvii formi I funkzij drevnoh orudij)(Hide-Scrapers from Arukhlo I Settlement in Georgia (on correspondence of the shape and function of prehistoric implements). Pvolzhskaya archaeologiya 3, 87–94 (2017) (In Russian)
- Geologiya Armyanskoj SSR. Petrografiya. Vulkanicheskie porody (Geology of the Armenian SSR. Petrography. Volcanic rocks (1970) (In Russian)

- Karapetyan, S.G.: Osobennosti stroeniya i sostava novejshih liparitovyh vulkanov Armyanskoj SSR (Features of the structure and composition of the newest liparite volcanoes of the Armenian SSR) (1972) (In Russian)
- Kashkaj, M.A., Mamedov, A.I.: Perlity, obsidiany, pekhshtejny i ih mineralogo-petrograficheskie i fiziko-himicheskie osobennosti (Perlites, obsidians, pechsteins and their mineralogical, petrographic and physicochemical features. Academy of Sciences of the Azerbaijan SSR (1961) (In Russian)
- Kushnaryova, K.H., Chubinishvili, T.N. Drevnie kul'tury Yuzhnogo Kavkaza (Ancient cultures of the Southern Caucasus), (1970) (in Russian)
- Masson, V.M.: Ekonomika i social'nyj stroj drevnih obshchestv (Economy and social structure of ancient societies) (1976) (In Russian)
- Mahmudov, H.: Vulkanicheskie styokla Azerbajdzhana (po Kelbadzharskomu rajonu) (Volcanic glasses of Azerbaijan (in Kelbajar region) (1974) (In Russian)
- Nasedkin, V.V., Formozov, A.A.: Vulkanicheskoe steklo iz stoyanok kamennogo veka Krasnodarskogo kraya i CHecheno-Ingushetii (Volcanic glass from sites of the Stone Age and Krasnodar Territory and Checheno-Ingushetia). In: Arheologiya i estestvennye nauki (Archaeology and Natural Sciences), 167–170 (1965) (In Russian)
- Narimanov, N.G. Kultura drevnejshego zemledel'chesko-skotovodcheskogo naseleniya Azerbajdzhana (Culture of the oldest agricultural and cattle-breeding population of Azerbaijan) (1987) (In Russian)
- Renfrew, C., Dixon, J.E., Cann, J.R: Obsidian and early cultural contact in the Near East. Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society, xxxii, 30–72 (1966)
- Renfrew, C., Dixon, J.E., Cann, J.R.Further Analysis of Near Eastern Obsidians. Proceedings of the Prehistoric Society, xxxiv, 319–330 (1969)
- Wright, Y.A.: Obsidian analysis and prehistoric Near Eastern trade: 7500 to 3500 B.C. Michigan (1969)

"Home, Sweet Home": Stones from the Bronze Age Settlement Hearths (South Trans-Urals, Russia)



Irina P. Alaeva, Maksim N. Ankushev, Egor O. Vasyuchkov, and Polina S. Ankusheva

Abstract The paper presents the results of the analysis of 200 stones from hearths, ash soil, and the inter-structure territory of the southern Trans-Urals Bronze Age settlements (21–16 centuries BC). Revealing of the stones' main parameters (size, weight, breed, presence/absence of fire impact, surface treatment) made it possible to characterize the gradation using different types of stones. Stones from the hearths filling have similar characteristics: homogeneous rock composition, similar size and weight, traces of deliberate crushing chips to obtain the desired size, traces of strong fire impact. Stones from the ash soil strata are diverse: some rocks were used to manufacture tools (talcochlorite, quartzite), metallurgy (magnetite ore), and rocks used in the hearths. On many of the stones from the ash soil, the impact of the fire was noted. Such a composition of the ash soil may indicate the nature of its formation as a result of burning out the garbage. A wide variety of raw materials also characterizes the stones collected in the inter-structure area. Still, unlike stones from the hearths, they do not have a standardized size, many chips, and there are no stones with traces of fire. Based on a comparative analysis of the parameters of stones from different structures, it can be concluded that the selection of stones for hearths was intentional. Besides, the hearths were not associated with metallurgy (copper was practically absent in the hearth soils). These facts indicate that the hearths with stones were used only for heating.

Keywords Bronze age · Late Bronze age · Hearths · Rocks · Sintashta culture · Alakul culture · Southern Trans-Urals

M. N. Ankushev · P. S. Ankusheva Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia

319

I. P. Alaeva (⊠) · E. O. Vasyuchkov · P. S. Ankusheva South Ural State Humanitarian Pedagogical University, Chelyabinsk, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_27

1 Introduction

Stones in ancient hearths can be used for different purposes: as a part of a structure (lining the boundaries of the hearth, laying out /bottom of the hearth, house structure, a vault over the hearth) and as a functional element (using the properties of stones in heat accumulation, heat transfer). On Bronze Age settlements from the southern Trans-Urals (2nd millennium BC), stones in the construction of hearths are practically unknown. On the contrary, hearth depressions with a scattering of small rocks, which do not have traces of coating, processing, and occur chaotically, are massively presented.

Hearths with stones are among the varieties of furnace structures of Bronze Age settlements of the Ural-Kazakhstan region (Potemkina 1985; Koryakova and Epimakhov 2007). On the Sintashta and Petrovka cultures' fortified settlements, they are represented by elongated depressions filled with carbonized stones and grooves with stones leading to the sides of a pit well (settlements Arkaim, Ust'ye I). On unfortified settlements, in Alakul house structures, they are presented in the form of depressions with stones located near the walls of the house structure, sometimes at some distance from the pit wells (noted in the settlements of Mirny II, Mirny III, Kulevchi III). In the Final Bronze Age, they are represented by pits with horizontal chimneys lined with stones (found in the settlements of Malaya Berezovaya-4, Atamanovka V).

The main aim of the study is to determine the functional purpose of stones in hearth depressions in the southern Trans-Urals Bronze Age settlements. The following tasks were set in the work: characterization of morphological parameters of stones from various objects; determination of the rocks strength properties and resistance to fire impact stress; an analysis of the geological situation in the territories of localization of settlements to determine the local/ non-local nature of the raw material; a comparative study of stones from different types of objects (hearths with stones from the ash soil and inter-structure territory); a comparison of the petrology of stones from hearths and the tool complex.

2 Materials and Methods

For the study, hearths with stones were selected. They were found in the five Bronze Age settlements of the southern Trans-Urals, belonging to the two periods: the Sintashta-Petrovka period—21 to 18 centuries BC (Ust'ye I settlement) and the Alakul period, 18–16 centuries BC (Bolshaya Berezovaya-2, Malaya Berezovaya-4, Zvyagino-4, and Chebarkul III settlements).

From the materials of the five settlements, 200 specimens of stones were selected from objects and structures of various morphologies (Table 1):

• From the filling of hearths: depressions and grooves on the side of the well, filled with stones; depressions with stones near the walls of the house structure;

Settlement	Number of samples	Localization	Number of rock types	Rocks	Traces of fire impact on stones
Ust'ye I	32	House structure No. 12: object 1 (hearth) object 5 (well)	2	Hematite-quartz, quartz pebbles	100%
Bolshaya Berezovaya-2	91	House structure No. 2: pit 1 (well), hearth 1	2	Quartz pebbles, granite	83%
Zvyagino-4	30	House structure No. 1: object 2 (hearth)	1	Quartz-carbonate metasomatite	100%
Malaya Berezovaya-4	28	Sector 12M, outside house structures	9	Vein quartz, silicite with quartz veins, chloritolite, quartzite, granite, talcochlorite	Absence
Chebarkul III	19	Excavation area B, house structure No. 2, yellow ash soil above object 1B	6	Quartz-carbonate metasomatite, granite gneiss, talcochlorite, silicite, vein quartz, magnetite ore	80%
Total	200				

Table 1 Objects with stones in the Southern Trans-Urals Bronze Age settlements

- From the ash soil strata;
- From scatters in the inter-structure territory.

The sample from the fortified settlement Ust'ye I includes stones from object 1 (hearth) and object 5 (well) of house structure No. 12. The functioning of the hearth and well in house structure No. 12 is attributed to the period of the Petrovka culture, while a fragment of the Sintashta vessel was found at the bottom of the well.

Object 1 (hearth) is located on the high side of the well (object 5), 1 m from the edge of the well pit. It has an elongated oval shape, dimensions 1.1×0.4 -0.5 m. The eastern part of the object was slightly deepened into the sterile soil by 2–5 cm; within the western depression (0.5×0.5 m, up to 15 cm deep), an accumulation of stones was localized (Fig. 1a, b). The sides of the recess were lined with flattened rectangular stone tiles measuring 30×15 cm and 20×30 cm, 5–7 cm thick, the central part was filled with small unprocessed stones measuring from 2×2.5 cm to 8×9 cm. The object's filling is gray humus soil. The finds within object 1 are insignificant: a fragment of a vessel's body, a flint chip, and three burnt animal bones.

Object 5 (well) is located in the southern part of house structure No. 12, at the buried soil level, the dimensions of the pit were 2.6×2.4 m, after one meter it



Fig. 1 Hearths with stones from the Southern Trans-Urals Bronze Age settlements. Ust'ye I fortified settlement: a—plan, profile of object 1, b—photo of stones from object 1. *Legend*: 1—humus soil, 2—stones, 3—sterile soil

was reduced to 1.6×1.6 m, in the bottom part, the diameter of the well shaft was 85 cm. The depth of the well from the floor level in the construction was 3.7 m. Around the well, an in-depth near-well zone with a complex system of ditches in the pit's sides was formed. On the northwestern and southeastern sides of the well pit, inclined grooves leading into the well were arranged diagonally from each other. In the grooves' filling, accumulations of small stone were found, measuring from 2×2.5 cm to 8×9 cm.

In the Ust'ye I fortified settlement's collection, a total of 32 samples were presented: from object 1 (the hearth), there are 15 specimens, and from the filling of the southwestern groove of object 5 (the well), there are 17 specimens. Half of the collection is very small in size, varying from $2.5 \times 2 \times 1.5$ cm to $4 \times 4.5 \times 2$ cm, weighing from 20 to 93 g; the second half has sizes from $5 \times 3 \times 2$ cm to $8 \times 3.5 \times 3$ cm, weighing from 42 to 365 g. On stones of a larger size, randomly located chips were recorded. The stones from the filling of the hearth and the groove on the well's side had similar parameters.

Most of the stones from the filling of object 1 (the hearth) and the groove onboard object 5 (the well) are hematite-quartz rocks, quartz pebbles. In rare cases, there are granites, chlorite schist, and siltstone. All samples showed traces of temperature effects of varying degrees (from strong on granites to weak on quartz pebbles) in the form of cracks, destroyed rock structure, the reddish shade of the surface.

The collection from *the Bolshaya Berezovaya-2 settlement* contains materials from house structure No. 2 (a hearth and a well) and the inter-structure territory. The functioning of the identified house structures and the entire settlement is associated with the Alakul culture.



Fig. 2 Hearths with stones. Bolshaya Berezovaya-2 unfortified settlement: **a**—plan, profile of Hearths 1, **b**—photo of stones from Hearths 1. *Legend*: 1—humus soil, 2—bones, 3—fragments of ceramics, 4—stones, 6—sterile soil

Hearth 1 is located in the northern part of the house structure at the edge of the pit well, about five meters from the side of the well. The size of the furnace was 0.3×0.4 m, the depth reached 10 cm, and the depression was lenticular. The hearth is filled with small stones (several fragments of Alakul ceramic vessels and small animal bones are among them) (Fig. 2).

Pit 1 (the well) was located in the southern part of house structure No. 2 within a large near-well depression (7.5×6 m). At the sterile soil level, the pit dimensions were 2.5×1.8 m, one meter deeper, the pit parameters were 2.2×1.4 m. The depth of the pit was 2.8 m from the sterile soil. Within the near-well zone, on the descent to the pit well, areas of calcined soil were recorded, up to 5 cm thick. The areas of carbonization (0.7×0.45 m, 0.6×0.22 m, 0.4×0.2 m) were located 30–40 cm from each other in the southern and the eastern part of the near-well zone. Heaps of rough stones were localized at the edge of the pit well.

The collection from the Bolshaya Berezovaya-2 settlement includes 91 specimens. Twelve samples are coming from the filling of Hearth 1 in house structure No. 2. The parameters of the stones are varying from 2.5×3.2 to 9×7.5 cm in size, weighing from 15 to 189 g. Almost all stones from the filling of the hearth belonged to quartz pebbles. Chips were noted on the surface of half of the stones; traces of fire impact were recorded on most of the specimens. Seventeen specimens are coming from the near-well zone of pit well 1. The dimensions of stones are varying from $4 \times 2 \times 1.5$ cm to $15 \times 7.5 \times 5$ cm in size, weighing 27 to 494 g. Rocks are represented by quartz pebbles, hematite-quartz rocks, silicites, granites. Chips were noted on six stones, traces of fire impact on ten specimens. There are 62 pieces of stones collected from the inter-structure territory: 1 to 5 m around house structure No. 2 and the adjacent house structure No. 3. The parameters of the stones: half of the stones (32 samples) are very small in size (from $2.5 \times 2 \times 1$ cm to $4.5 \times 4.5 \times 3$ cm,

weighing from 10 to 133 g); there are 17 samples of small stones, ranging in size from $5 \times 4 \times 3$ cm to 7.5×6.5 cm, weighing from 56 to 282 g and there are 12 samples of a larger size: from $8 \times 5 \times 3$ cm to $14 \times 5 \times 2.5$ cm, weighing from 123 to 555 g. Fragments from the inter-structure territory are represented by a wide variety of rocks: quartz-silicite pebbles, hematite-quartz rock, quartzite, ferruginous quartzite, gabbro, granites, silicites, chloritolite, chlorite schist with pseudomorphs of limonite over pyrite. Chips were noted only on 14 stones; most of the stones have no traces of fire impact.

The collection from *the Zvyagino-4 settlement* contains materials from the filling of object 2 (the hearth) in house structure No. 1. The ceramic complex of the settlement belongs to the Alakul culture; several fragments of ceramics are attributed to the Fedorovo culture.

Object 2 (the hearth) is located 1.5 m from the longitudinal wall of the house structure in its northern corner. It was a hollow in the sterile clay, elongated-oval in shape, 80×55 cm in size, 32 cm deep (Fig. 3). The hearth was filled with many carbonized stones, at the bottom—a black carbonaceous layer, up to 14 cm thick. A fragment of an Alakul culture vessel was found in the filling of the hearth.

The collection from the Zvyagino-4 settlement contains 30 stones from the filling of object 2 (the hearth). The dimensions of the stones range from $5 \times 2.5 \times 2$ cm to $11 \times 7 \times 5$ cm, weighing from 30 to 582 g. Chips were noted on six specimens, traces of strong fire impact were recorded on all stones (Fig. 4a, b). All stones belonged to



Fig. 3 Hearths with stones. Zvyagino-4 unfortified settlement: **a**—plan, profile of object 2, **b**—photo of stones from object 2. 1—humus soil, 2—clay, 3—fragments of ceramics, 4—coal, 5—stones, 6—sterile soil



Fig. 4 Stones with fire impact traces from hearths. Zvyagino-4 unfortified settlement

the same rock - quartz-carbonate metasomatite.

The collection from *the Malaya Berezovaya-4 settlement* contains materials from the inter-structure territory; some stones were 3–10 m from the house structure. Along with the stones, the ceramics of the Alakul culture are presented in the cultural layer.

The collection contains 28 stones of different sizes. Parameters of stones: from $35 \times 25 \times 20$ to $12.5 \times 9 \times 4$ cm, weighing from 19 to 406 g. Chips were noted only on three specimens; traces of fire impact were not recorded. Among the rocks, the following are noted: quartz vein fragments, silicite with quartz veins, chloritolite, quartzite, granite, talcochlorite.

The *Chebarkul III settlement* has two stratigraphic horizons: the Alakul culture and the Cherkaskul-Mezhovka cultural complex. The collection includes stones from the ash soil strata, loose soil of yellow color with carbonized spots. The yellow ash soil lies over house structure No. 2. In the ash soil strata, artifacts belonging exclusively to the Alakul culture were presented. The functioning of house structure No. 2 was determined by the seventeenth century BC based on radiocarbon dating of animal bones from the bottom of the well.

The collection from the Chebarkul III settlement contains 19 samples. Most of the stones were small in size, from $3 \times 3 \times 1.5$ cm to $7.5 \times 4.5 \times 2$ cm, weighing from 30 to 151 g, two of them were represented by tiles measuring $23 \times 16 \times 3.5$ cm, weighing 350–385 g. Chips were recorded on five stones, traces of fire impact were

noted on most specimens (15 units). The stones belong to various rocks: quartzcarbonate metasomatite, granite gneiss, talcochlorite, silicite, quartz vein fragments, magnetite ore.

3 Results and Discussion

Based on the study of stones from the Bronze Age settlements objects of the Southern Trans-Urals, several conclusions can be drawn.

The rocks presented in the five settlements in the different landscape zones of the southern Trans-Urals demonstrate a great variety. Analysis of the geological situation in the zones of localization of monuments indicates the use of local rocks, and its diversity does not allow us to talk about any import in the supply of rocks, both for objects and the manufacture of a tool kit.

Near the unfortified settlements Bolshaya Berezovaya-2, Malaya Berezovaya-4, and the fortified settlement Ust'ye I, at least 25 types of rocks are recorded (Fig. 5).

In Zvyagino-4 and Chebarkul III unfortified settlements, at least 18 types of rocks are recorded (Fig. 6).

A clear gradation was recorded in the use of rocks for different purposes. The stones from fillings of hearths from various settlements were similar (quartz pebbles, quartz-bearing rocks, and quartz-carbonate metasomatite were most often used for these purposes). At the same time, for the creation of tools and stone products, a stable set of rocks was used for each type of tool and known in different Bronze Age settlements (Table 2).

The parameters of stones from different objects and structures are significantly different:

- Stones from the filling of hearth depressions, grooves on the board of wells, and depressions with stones near the walls of house structure both Sintashta-Petrovka (Ust'ye I, object 1, object 5) and Alakul period (Bolshaya Berezovaya-2, pit 1, center 1; settlement Zvyagino-4, object 2) had similar characteristics. It is homogeneous in rock composition, size, and weight, with signs of chipping/deliberate crushing to obtain the desired size, all with traces of strong fire impact (Fig. 4).
- 2. Stones from the ash soil layer over house structure No. 2 in Chebarkul III have a great variety of types: both rocks that could be used for making tools (talcochlorite, quartzite), and rocks that were used in hearths with stones. Besides, fragments of metallurgical waste (magnetite ore) were also found in the ash soil layer. On many specimens from ash soil, traces of fire impact are noted. Such a composition of the ash soil may indicate the nature of its formation as a result of burning out the garbage.
- 3. Stones from the inter-structure area are also characterized by a wide variety of rocks (settlements Bolshaya Berezovaya-2 and Malaya Berezovaya-4). Unlike



Fig. 5 Geological structures in the area of Bolshaya Berezovaya-2, Malaya Berezovaya-4, Ust'ye I settlements. 1-Middle Riphean amphibolite, quartzite, shale; 2-Early Ordovician serpentinites and metasomatites: 3-Early Ordovician basalt metatuffs, shales, metatuffites; 4-Middle Ordovician shale, siltstone, sandstone; 5-late Ordovician trachybasalts, basaltic trachyandesites, basalts, andesites, tuffs, siltstones; 6-Early Silurian diorites, granodiorites, plagiogranites; 7-Early Silurian diorites, granodiorites, tonalites, plagiogranites; 8-Silurian metagabbro, metagranodiorites, metagranites; 9—Silurian crystalline schists, metatuffs and metasilicites; 10—Middle Devonian basalts, tuffs, andesite, rhyodacite, rhyolite, jasper; 11-Middle Devonian andesites, basaltic andesites, rhyolites, tuffs, shales; 12-Middle Devonian basalts, basaltic andesites, tuffs, shales, jaspers, rhyodacites; 13-Middle Devonian hornblende diorites and gabbros; 14-Late Devonian monzodiorites, granosyenites, granites, granodiorites; 15-Early Carbon trachybasalts, basaltic trachyandesites, rhyodacites, tuffs, sandstones, siltstones; 16-Early Carbon sandstones, siltstones, shales, limestones, tuffs; 17-Early Carbon sandstones, siltstones, gravelstones, conglomerates, shales, limestones; 18-Early Carboniferous adamellites; 19-Early carbon limestone, shale, quartz sandstone, limestone, marble; 20-Early Permian granitoids and metasomatites; 21-Early Permian granitoids; 22-Early Permian monzodiorites, granosyenites, granitoids; 23-late Triassic conglomerates, gravelstones, sandstones, siltstones, shales; 24-Paleogene sands, silts; 25-Neogene clays with gypsum inclusions

stones from hearths, they are not standardized in size, do not have a large percentage of chips. Among them, there are no rocks with fire impact.

The revealed selectivity in the choice of rocks for hearths may indicate their special purpose for heating houses and peoples.

Several options for using stones in hearths to accumulate heat:

- 1. Using heated stones for heating sleeping places or as mobile hearths;
- 2. Using the steam (like in a sauna) for different purposes:
 - Describing the life of the Slavs in the 9th age, Ibn Rustah noted that the hot stones used to generate steam and heat dwelling (Ibn-Dasta 1869, 33 p.);
 - For hygiene purposes (steaming the skin cleansing);
 - For medicinal purposes, steam inhalation (warming up the upper respiratory tract). Use steam as evidenced by the intense destruction of stones (Hot stones watered by cold water);



Fig. 6 Geological structure in the area of settlements Zvyagino-4, Chebarkul III. 1—Early Proterozoic biotite gneisses, quartzites; 2—Early Ordovician metasandstones, aleurolites, quartz sandstones, phyllites, metabasalts, shales; 3—Early Ordovician metabasalts, metatuffs, rhyolites, shales; 4—Early Ordovician metabasalts, schists, quartzites, metasandstones; 5—Middle Ordovician serpentinites, gabbro, dolerite dikes; 6—Silurian shales, quartzites, metabasalts and metatuffs; 7—Silurian miaskites, carbonatites, pegmatites; 8—Early Devonian basalts, sand-stones, siltstones, shales; 9—Middle Devonian basalts, andesites, tuffs, jaspers, shales; 10—Middle Devonian metabasalts, shales, limestones; 11—Late Devonian diorites, granodiorite, granite; 12—Early Carbonian conglomerates, sandstones, schists, marbles; 13—Middle Carbonian limestones, mudstones, siltstones, sandstones; 14—Middle Carbonian granite–gneisses; 15—Late Carbonian melange serpentinites; 16—Early Permian granites; 17—Early Permian monzodiorites, granosyenites; 18—Early Permian granites, leucogranites

• For drug purpose. Describing the life and customs of the Scythians, Herodotus noted that the Scythians cleansed the body in a steam bath: "The Scythians then take the seed of this hemp and, creeping under the rugs, they throw it on the red-hot; and, being so thrown, it smolders and sends forth so much steam that no Greek vapor-bath could surpass it" (Herodotus 1921–25, 273–275 p.). Considering the Iranian origin of the Scythians, one can assume the existence of this tradition for Indo-Iranian cultures of the Bronze Age.

4 Conclusions

The standardization of stone sizes and the use of specific rocks indicate the purpose of the hearths as heating. Also, it is indicated by the absence of metallurgical activity. Analysis of soil from the hearth on the Zvyagino-4 settlement showed a low quantity of copper (Alaeva et al. 2021). Stones were not used in the construction of the hearths. This is indicated by the absence of clay coating and the randomness in the

Settlement	Rocks in objects	Rocks of tools	Geological structure of the settlement area	
Ust'ye I	Object 1 (hearth): hematite-quartz rock, quartz pebble	Pestle (syenite, basalt, tuff, quartz porphyry, sandstones, silicite, quartzite, carbonaceous shale); coasters (slate); casting mold (talc)	The settlement is confined to the Bredy suite (C ₁ bd), composed of sandstones, conglomerates, siltstones, gravel stones, limestones, shales, coal beds. In the west and east, these rocks are bordered by volcanic rocks of basic, intermediate, and felsic composition, volcanogenic-sedimentary rocks of the Bereznyakovo strata (D ₃ -C ₁ bz). In the north, phyllite schists of the Moscow strata (O ₁₋₂ ms) are found. Serpentinites of the Uspenovo gabbro-dunite-lherzolite-harzburgite complex (10?u) are manifested in the west. In the southwest, there is a large Dzhabyk-Sanarka granite complex (γ P ₁ ds ₁₋₂) represented by biotite and two-mica granites (Tevelev et al. 2018)	
Zvyagino-4	Object 2 (hearth): quartz-carbonate metasomatite	No stone tools were found in the 2018 excavation	The settlement is confined to the serpentinites of the Kazbaevo massif $(O_2čk)$. In the east, there are terrigenous and terrigenous-carbonate rocks of the Mayachnaya suite $(O_{1-2}mč)$, Birgildy (C_1br) , and Solnechnaya (C_1sl) sequences. In the west - sediments of siliceous-terrigenous strata (C_1jt) and basalts-andesites of the Kuluevo strata $(D_{1-2} kV)$. The Kalinovo (P_1st) and Zvyagino (P_1ds) granite massifs are located nearby (Petrov et al. 2015)	
Bolshaya Berezovaya-2	Hearth 1: quartz pebble, granite	Hammer (silicite); Stands (sericite-quartz slate)	The settlements are confined to the contact of sericite-quartz schists, quartzites, radiolarites, and various volcanogenic rocks of the Arsi terrigenous strata $(D_3 an)$ and apogharzburgite,	
Malaya Berezovaya-4	Inter-house structure area: vein quartz, silicite	Pestle, graters, abrasives (quartzite, sandstone, silicite; whetstones (silicite); sinker (talcochlorite); mace (serpentinite)	apodunite serpentinites of the Brient dunite-harzburgite complex ($\Sigma D_1 br$), passing into talc rocks. In the west, the Arsi strata bordered with the Kiembaevo suite ($D_1 km$) composed of basalts, rarely andesites, interlayers of marbleized limestones, and silicites. In the east, the Slyuda strata (O_1 sl) is developed, composed of quartz-epidote-plagioclase-hornblende crystal schists and interlayers of graphite-muscovite-containing quartzites (Moseichuk et al. 2017)	

 Table 2
 Rocks in bronze age settlements

(continued)
Settlement	Rocks in objects	Rocks of tools	Geological structure of the settlement area
Chebarkul III	Ash soil above house structure 2: Granite-gneiss, talcochlorite, magnetite ore, silicite, quartz-carbonate metasomatite	Pestles, abrasives (quartzite, sandstone,); grater (granite-gneiss); hammers (quartz pebbles, silicite); supports (carbonaceous shale); casting molds (chloritolite); sinker (quartzite)	The settlement is located in the contact zone of the Elanchik (PR ₁ el), Kyshtym strata (PR ₁ kš), the Verkhne-Saitovo suite (R ₂ vs) composed of amphibolites, quartzites, gneisses, schists and gravelites, metasandstones, metasiltstones of the Kundravy suite (Vkn). Metamorphic rocks border on granites of the Kisegach (P ₁ uk) and Elanchik (P ₁ e) massifs. In the southwest, there are volcanic rocks, siliceous and carbonaceous shales of Bulatovo (S ₁ -D ₁ bl) and Kopalovo strata (D ₂₋₃ kp), as well as conglomerates, gravel stones, sandstones, siltstones, clay shales, limestones of the Sosnovo strata (C ₁ ss). The area is complicated by bodies of apogarzburgite serpentinites and gabbroids of the Chebarkul massif (O ₂ čk), with which talc-carbonate rocks are associated (Petrov et al. 2015)

Table 2 (continued)

arrangement of stones. The strong impact of fire on stones indicates their function is keeping warm in the house.

Thus, we concluded that the special heating hearths with stones were used in the settlements of the Bronze Age. The hearths with stones were used only for heating purposes.

References

- Abu-Ali Ahmed Ben Omar Ibn-Dasta: Izvestiya o hozarah, burtasah, bolgarah, mad'yarah, slavyanah i russah (News about the Khozars, Burtases, Bulgarians, Magyars, Slavs and Russians), 214 p. Imperial Academy of Sciences, St. Petersburg (1869) (In Russian)
- Alaeva, I.P., Vasyuchkov, E.O., Ankusheva, P.S., Vinogradov, N.B., Rassomakhin, M.A.: The Functionality of the Bronze Age Hearths from the Southern Trans-Urals (Based on the Materials from Zvyagino-4 Settlement). In: Yuminov A., Ankusheva N., Ankushev M., Zaykova E., Artemyev D. (eds.) Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy. GAM 2019. Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer, Cham, 96–103 (2021) DOI: https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-030-48864-2_14
- Herodotus: The Histories. With an English translation by A.D. Godley, 446 p. Heinemann, London (1921–25)
- Koryakova, L.N. Epimakhov, A.V.: The Urals and western Siberia in the Bronze and Iron Ages. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 394 p. (2007) DOI: https://doi.org/10.101/BO9780511 618451
- Moseichuk, V.M., Yarkova, A.V., Mihailov, I.G., Kashina, L.V., Surin, T.N., Plokhikh, N. A., Tsin, D.F.: Gosudarstvennaya geologicheskaya karta Rossijskoj Federacii. Masshtab 1:200 000.

Seriya Yuzhno-Uralskaya. List N-40-XXIV. Obyasnitelnaya zapiska (State geological map of the Russian Federation. Scale 1:200 000. South Ural series. Sheet N-40-XXIV. Explanatory note), 127 p. Moscow, VSEGEI (2017) (In Russian)

- Petrov, V.I., Shalaginov, A.E., Punegov, B.N., Gorlova, L.I., Zabelkina, L.G., Grigorova, T.B., Nikolskiy, V.Yu., Shalaginova, T.I., Petrova, A.S., Sereda, V.V.: Gosudarstvennaya geologicheskaya karta Rossijskoj Federacii. Masshtab 1:200 000. Izdaniye vtoroye. Seriya Yuzhno-Uralskaya. Obyasnitelnaya zapiska (State geological map of the Russian Federation. Scale 1:200 000. Second edition. South Ural series. Sheet N-41-VII. Explanatory note), 167 p. Moscow, VSEGEI (2015) (In Russian)
- Potemkina, T.M.: Bronzovyj vek lesostepnogo Pritobol'ya (Bronze Age of the forest-steppe Tobol region), Publ. house "Science", Moscow376 p. (1985) (In Russian)
- Tevelev, Al.V., Kosheleva, I.A., Burshtein, E.F., Tevelev, Ark.V., Kuznetsov, I.Ye., Popov, V.S.: Gosudarstvennaya geologicheskaya karta Rossijskoj Federacii. Masshtab 1:200 000. Izdaniye vtoroye. Seriya Yuzhno-Uralskaya. List N-41-XXV. Obyasnitel'naya zapiska (State geological map of the Russian Federation. Scale 1:200 000. Second edition. South Ural series. Sheet N-41-XXV. Explanatory note), 236 p. Moscow, VSEGEI (2018) (In Russian)

Site Analyses and Geographic Information Systems (GIS) in Archaeology

Geoarchaeological Studies of Kurgans with Moustaches: Achievements and Prospects



Ivan V. Grudochko

Abstract The paper presents the results of geoarchaeological studies of kurgans with two stone ridges (referred to as moustaches) from the dual perspective of geology and radiocarbon dating. The first describes the survey of rocks in a monument and their sources, as a result of which we proposed the reconstruction of the construction process of the entire complex. We believe that the construction of one complex could be carried out within a fairly short period: a month or no more than one season. Radiocarbon data quite confidently date the kurgans with moustaches to the III/IV to mid-VII centuries.

Keywords Middle ages \cdot Great migration of peoples \cdot Steppe \cdot Nomads \cdot Kurgans with Moustache \cdot Geology \cdot Radiocarbon dating \cdot Chronology

1 Introduction

The history of the Eurasian nomads is closely connected with the Ural-Kazakh region. It was in these steppes that the main migrations of the nomads of antiquity and the Middle Ages occurred. The history of the formation of the Scythian-Saka, Sarmatian, Hunnic, Turkic, and other cultures cannot be studied without archaeological materials of the South Ural region and Kazakhstan (Tairov 2017; Botalov 2008). One of the turning points in world history is the Migration Period, which can be traced here through the disappearance of the Hunno-Sarmatian (Late Sarmatian) archaeological culture and the emergence of a completely new historical and archaeological phenomenon called kurgans with moustaches. We believe that it is these complexes that testify to the initial stage of the Turkification of the Ural-Kazakh steppes.

Kurgans with moustaches were discovered in the first half of the XX century. This original archaeological complex is a burial mound from which two arched stone ridges (referred to as moustaches) 15 to 200 m or more in length extend. These monuments are mainly located in the Ural-Kazakhstan steppes (Fig. 1), although

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_28

I. V. Grudochko (🖂)

South Ural State University, Chelyabinsk, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences,



Fig. 1 The zonality of kurgans with moustaches. I—Southern Trans-Urals; II—ugodzhary; III— Ulytau and Turgay; IV—Northern Kazakhstan; V—Central Kazakhstan; VI—East Kazakhstan; VII—Southern Kazakhstan

there are isolated cases of their presence in Kalmykia, the Dnieper region, and in Crimea (Botalov et al. 2006; Tihomirov 2020; Tihomirov et al. 2020).s

Their cultural and chronological definitions are still being debated. They belong to the Early Saka period (Beisenov 1996; Habdulina 2007; Beisenov 2020¹) or the Great Migration of Peoples Era and the Middle Ages (Botalov et al. 2006). We share the latter idea (Grudochko 2020). This ambiguous assessment results from the small number of found inventory and different opinions on its interpretation: some believe that the objects of the first millennium AD were placed into the kurgans with moustaches, and supporters of the late (early Medieval) interpretation believe that the kurgans with moustaches were built near and on top of early nomadic monuments.

In the last decade, geoarchaeological methods have been actively applied to the study of kurgans with moustaches. Let us describe the results of two approaches—geological and radiocarbon dating—which significantly expanded the knowledge on these complexes, and also allow us to determine their chronology.

The first approach was applied to two monuments from the Kamenny Ambar microdistrict (the Chelyabinsk region) and published in 2015 (Nikolski and Grudochko 2015). We assumed that a survey of the rocks from which kurgans were built, as well as searching for the source of raw materials, would help to reveal the construction process, labor costs, knowledge, and architectural and construction

¹ A. Z. Beysenov has recently expressed the need to review the chronology of kurgans with moustaches.

skills. In other words, this study is primarily aimed at studying the technological capabilities of the ancient population rather than the ritual or spiritual sphere of life. We are attempting to discover how long it would have taken to build these planned megastructures.

In our study, we completed a survey of the area, determined the raw materials used for the construction of the kurgans, and established the regularity of the raw materials' location in the kurgan with moustaches. We concluded that the workflow during the construction of the kurgans with a moustache in Sukhodol and Sarbulat-1 was as follows: (1) stone collection; (2) storing the stone in piles or immediately delivering them; (3) delivery of stone material to the site; (4) unloading, and possibly immediately laying out the structures; (5) returning for more stone materials. For both monuments, we have adopted the minimal values of labor resources to fulfill all labor costs. However, they also allow us to state with a high degree of probability that the construction of one kurgan with moustaches could be carried out within one season, and most likely—no more than a month.

The 16 radiocarbon dates (as of 2018) indicate the period from the III to the mid-VII centuries AD. A comparison with the inventory typology allows us to suggest the period of the IV–VII centuries as the most probable time of construction. It would seem that it is necessary to finally abandon the Scythian-Saka attribution of these monuments.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Geological Research

We examined two sites from the Kamenny Ambar microdistrict (Kartalinsky district, Chelyabinsk region): Sukhodol and Sarbulat-1. The tasks of our geological survey included: (1) identifying the stones used and establishing the regularity of their location as part of the structure; (2) survey of the surrounding area to detect possible sources of raw materials for construction; (3) calculating the mass and volume of raw materials used and attempting to restore the technological process, labor costs, and time of construction. The volume of the stone material was calculated by measuring the area and approximate volume, taking into account the volume weight of a particular type of rock. These data are listed in Tables 1 and 2.

The kurgan with moustaches of Sukhodol (Fig. 2, 2) consisted of a central stone embankment, two arched stone ridges (moustaches) extending from the embankment in an easterly direction, and stone platforms at their beginnings and ends. The diameter of the central embankment is 12 m; the height is 0.15-0.2 m. It consisted of stones of different sizes, laid in 1–3 layers. The thickness of the rock layer increased from the periphery of the embankment to its center. The arc length of the northern moustache is 203 m, the southern moustache—85.5 m. In straight lines, they were measured at 194.5 and 172 m, respectively. The ridges vary in width from 1 to 2.5 m

	1	1		U		
Size/diameter (m)	Square (for a circle of $3.14 \times r^2$)	Height (m)	Volume (m ³)	Volumetric weight (t/m ³)	Volume weight (t)	Stone type
The Central kurg	zan					
12 (d)	$ \overset{\approx 113:4}{_{28.3}} =$	≈0.18	5.1	2.6	5.1×2.6 = 13.3	Granite
	$ \overset{\approx 113:4}{_{28.3}} =$	≈0.18	5.1	3	5.1×3.0 = 15.3	Gabbro
	$ \overset{\approx 113:4}{_{28.3}} =$	≈0.18	5.1	2.8	5.1×2.8 = 14.3	Basalt
	$ \overset{\approx 113:4}{_{28.3}} =$	≈0.18	5.1	2.7	5.1×2.7 = 13.8	Quartz
	$\sum = 113.2$		$\sum_{20.4} =$		$\sum = 56.7$	
The western play	tform of the nor	thern mou	stache			
4.3 × 5.8	≈25.0	0.18	≈4.5	2.6	11.7	Granite
The western platform of the southern moustache						
4(d)	12.6	0.18	≈2.3	≈2.8	6.4	Gabbro, Basalt, Quartz
The eastern plat	form of the nor	thern mous	stache	·		
4.25×5.75	≈24.44	0.18	≈4.4	2.7	11.9	Quartz
The Eastern play	form of the Sou	th mousta	che			
4.25×5.75	≈24.44	0.18	≈4.4	2.7	11.9	Quartz
Northern moust	ache					
82.5 × 1.8	148.5	0.18	27	2.7	73	Granite
29.7×1.8	53.46	0.18	8	3	24	Gabbro
24.5×1.8	44.1	0.18	14	2.8	39	Basalt
42.3 × 1.8	76.14	0.18	14	2.7	38	Quartz
					$\sum = 174$	
Southern moust	iche					
4×1.8	7.2	0.18	1.3	2.6	3	Granite
33.6 × 1.8	60.5	0.18	11	3	33	Gabbro
49.3 × 1.8	88.7	0.18	16	2.8	43	Basalt
84.6 × 1.8	152.3	0.18	27	2.7	73	Quartz
	$\sum = 308.7$				$\sum = 152$	

 Table 1
 The composition and the parameters of the Sukhodol kurgan with a moustache

The total weight of the volume of stone material of the Sukhodol complex is 424.6 t

Size/diameter (m)	Square (for a circle of $3.14 \times r^2$)	Height (m)	Volume (m ³)	Volumetric weight (t/m ³)	Volume weight (t)	Stone type	
The Central and	d South kurga	ins					
11(d)	95	0.4	38	2.6	98.8	Granite	
The Central and Northern kurgans							
8(d)	50.2	0.3	15.1	2.6	39.3	Granite	
Four platforms of moustaches							
4(d)	12.6	0.2	2.5	2.6	$6.5 \times 4 = 26$	Granite	
Northern moustache							
164 × 1.5	246	0.2	49.2	2.6	127.9	Granite	
Southern moust	ache						
138 × 1.5	207	0.2	41.4	2.6	107.6	Granite	

 Table 2
 The composition and the parameters of Sarbulat-1 kurgan with moustaches

The total weight of the volume of stone material of the Sarbulat-1 complex is 399.6 t

(the average width is 1.8 m). The platforms at the ends of the moustaches are subrectangular in shape and vary in size from 4×4.5 to 5.5×6 m, or: the western platform of the southern ridge had a circular shape with a diameter of 4 m (Botalov et al. 2006, 39–40). The moustaches were constructed of alternating stone types with different lithological compositions. The composing rocks of the right shore side of the river valley also alternate, replacing each other in the latitudinal direction, and the moustaches of the Sukhodol complex (intentionally or not) repeat the lithology of the side (Fig. 3, *I*, *II*).

The complex was built using 4 types of rocks: granite, gabbro, basalt, and quartz. The technical and geological parameters of the Sukhodol kurgan with moustaches are provided in Table 1.

The Sarbulat-1 monument consisted of two stone kurgans, from which two stone ridges branched off in the eastern direction. The northern embankment is 8.0 m in diameter and 0.3 m high; the southern embankment is 11.0 m in diameter up to 0.4 m high. The northern moustache extends to the East with an arc length of 164 m. The western and eastern ends are decorated with rounded platforms with a diameter of about 4 m and a height of 0.2 m. The southern moustaches, stretching out from the kurgan to the NW, had the shape of an arc with the length of 138 m; with its ends made in the form of rounded pads with a diameter of 4 m and a height of 0.2 m. The widths of both ridges ranged from 1.0 m to 2.0 m. The Northern kurgan was square-shaped with the side length of about 8.5 m, and the South as a more or less regular pentagon with the length of the northside of 8.5 m, NE—7 m, SE—8.5 m, SW—8 m, and NW—8 m (Botalov et al. 2006, 59–61).

Technical and geological characteristics of the kurgan with the moustaches of Sarbulat-1 are in Table 2.

The kurgans of the central structure and the ridges are composed of leucogranites and individual blocks of quartz. The composition of the rocks of this complex differs



Fig. 2 Kurgans with moustaches of the Southern Trans-Ural Region. 1-Sarbulat-1; 2-Sukhodol

from the site of Sukhodol, mainly because there is no alternation of different rocks throughout the ridges. However, the location of variegated stones and white blocks of quartz is subject to a certain pattern. Their concentrations mark the ends of the ridges and their end layouts, except for the western end of the southern ridge.



Fig. 3 The layout of the Sukhodol kurgan with moustaches, sources of stone raw material, and the most convenient delivery paths (satellite image with legend). a—tectonic scarp; 6—the most convenient delivery path; B—stone storage location; r—the Sukhodol kurgan; I, II—scheme of linking structures of Sukhodol kurgans (I) the lithology of its location (II); I—lithology intervals of Sukhodol kurgan moustaches (no scale); II—geological map of the tape; 1—quartz; 2—basalt; 3—gabbro; 4—granite; 5—inclusion of serpentinites

2.2 Radiocarbon Chronology

As of 2018, we know and processed 16 dates obtained from 12 complexes (Table 3).

Six complexes originate from the Southern Trans-Urals (Sarbulat-1, Sukhodol, Kainsai, Gorodishchenskoe IX, Rymniksky, Selentash) (Botalov 2009, 129; Botalov 2013, 71; Grudochko and Epimakhov 2015), six are from Central Kazakhstan (Tandaily 2, Zhamantas, Kyrykungir, Koytas, Besoba, Kabantau) (Beisenov et al. 2016a, b, 2017, 2018). Thirteen samples are from the kurgans of the central structure, and three came from the end sites of the moustache (Gorodishchenskoe IX, Kabantau). The measurements were conducted in the four laboratories (Le, SPb, Ki, UBA) by scintillation and accelerator mass spectrometry (AMS). The following materials were used as sources of carbon isotopes: ceramics (4), animal bone (9), human bone (2), and charcoal (1). The OxCal 3.10 program (the IntCal13 calibration curve) was used to calculate the calibrated intervals; all uncalibrated dates (BP) are from 1950. The results are presented in Table 3. A combined date was formed for kurgan 5 of the Selentash burial ground (Fig. 4, selentash comb). Despite the relatively low level of statistical agreement between the two dates (Ki-17075 and SPb-958), the result seems quite realistic (1539 \pm 29 BP) if compared to the rest of the values in our series. In the further work on the summation of probabilities. In general, the series looks quite homogeneous, which is well recorded on the chart (Fig. 4, 4–5).

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Geological Research

The workflow during the construction of the complex Sukhodol can be described as following: (1) collected raw material (Fig. 3, θ) could be stored in piles or loaded and shipped for the construction site of the monument (Fig. 3, δ); (2) unloading for the construction and (3) a return for additional material. While constructing the kurgan with the moustache, the horse-drawn transport could be probably used, since many stones could not be moved manually at a distance of about 1.5 km due to their size and weight (this is the distance from the procurement site to the site the kurgan. Theoretically, the team of people involved in the construction was divided into groups by specialization: (1) stone pickers and loaders; (2) people who drove horses and delivered building material to the site; (3) builders. We suppose that the stone pickers and loaders were assigned to spots with various lithological compositions. Therefore, during the delivery and construction of the kurgan, an alternation of intervals consisting of different rocks was obtained. Judging by the

Table 3 Radiocarbon c	thronology of kurga	ns with moustaches	s from Southern Tra	ns-Urals and Cen	tral Kazakhstan		
Monument	Complex	Lab code	Kind of analysis	Material	Convention date	Calibrated date	
						68.20%	95.40%
Sarbulat	Kurgan 2	Ki-15634	Scintillation	Ceramics	1540 ± 80	430-590AD (68.2%)	340-660AD (95.4%)
Suhodol	Kurgan 5	Le-8303	Scintillation	Animal bone	1550 ± 100	410-610AD (68.2%)	250-300AD (3.2%) 310-660AD (92.2%)
Kajnsaj	Kurgan 14	Ki-15635	Scintillation	Ceramics	1470 ± 80	460-490AD (4.2%) 530-660AD (64.0%)	410-690AD (95.4%)
GorodishchenskoeIX	Northern moustache	SPb-535	Scintillation	Charcoal	1460 ± 50	560-645AD (68.2%)	430-490AD (5.0%) 530-670AD (90.4%)
Rymnikskij	Central kurgan	SPb-957	Scintillation	Horse bone	1560 ± 65	420-570AD (68.2%)	380-640AD (95.4%)
Selentash*	Kurgan 5	Ki-17075	Scintillation	Ceramics	1760 ± 150	80-430AD (68.2%)	100BC-650AD (95.4%)
Selentash*	Kurgan 5	SPb-958	Scintillation	Ceramics	1530 ± 30	430-490AD (25.9%) 530-580AD (42.3%)	430-600AD (95.4%)
		*combined date			1539 ± 29	430-490AD (41.7%) 530-570AD (26.5%)	420-590AD (95.4%)
							(continued)

Table 3 (continued)							
Monument	Complex	Lab code	Kind of analysis	Material	Convention date	Calibrated date	
						68.20%	95.40%
Tandajly 2	Kurgan 2a (east)	UBA-28348	AMS	Horse bone (jaw fragment)	1795 ± 36	300-320AD (6.2%) 130-260AD (62.0%)	120-340AD (95.4%)
Tandajly 2	Kurgan 2 (west)	UBA-28347	AMS	Human bone	2468 ± 28	670-610BC (14.4%) 760-680BC (26.0%) 600-510BC (27.7%)	470-410BC (8.7%) 770-680BC (28.9%) 670-480BC (57.8%)
Kyrykungir	Central kurgan	SPb-1438	scintillation	Horse bone	2440 ± 50	670-640BC (5.0%) 750-680BC (16.9%) 550-400BC (46.3%)	757-678BC (21.2%) 670-400BC (74.2%)
Zhamantas	East kurgan	UBA-24912	AMS	Animal bone (horse?)	1654 ± 30	345-370AD (13.8%) 375-430AD (54.4%)	260-290AD (3.8%) 480-540AD (6.9%)
							(continued)

 Table 3 (continued)

Table 3 (continued)							
Monument	Complex	Lab code	Kind of analysis	Material	Convention date	Calibrated date	
						68.2 <i>0%</i>	95.40%
Zhamantas	West kurgan	UBA-28349	AMS	Human bone	2471 ± 32	670-610BC (16.2%) 760-680BC (25.0%) 600-520BC (27.0%)	470-410BC (8.5%) 770-480BC (86.9%)
Kojtas	East kurgan	UBA-23661	AMS	Horse bone	1680 ± 27	335-410AD (68.2%)	250-300AD (12.2%) 320-430AD (83.2%)
Besoba	East kurgan	UBA-28362	AMS	Horse bone	1670 ± 28	340-415AD (68.2%)	250-300AD (8.6%) 320-430AD (86.8%)
Kabantau	East platform of north moustache	UBA-28358	AMS	Animal bone (small cattle)	1564 ± 29	430–540 AD (68.2%)	420-560AD (95.4%)
Kabantau	East platform of north moustache	UBA-28359	AMS	Animal bone (small cattle)	1555 ± 29	430–550 AD (68.2%)	420-570AD (95.4%)



Fig. 4 Radiocarbon chronology of kurgans with moustaches. I—all dates; II—dates excluding early complexes; K—Central Kazakhstan; U—Southern Urals; 1—Kyrykungir (Beisenov et al. 2016);
2—Zhamantas, Western kurgan (Beisenov et al. 2017); 3—Tandajly 2, kurgan 2 (Western kurgan);
4—Tandayly 2, kurgan 2a (Eastern kurgan) (Beisenov et al. 2016); 5—Koytas, Eastern kurgan; 6—Besoba, Eastern kurgan (Beisenov 2017); 7—Zhamantas, Eastern kurgan (Beisenov et al. 2017);
8—Kabantau (Eastern platform of the Northern moustache) (Beisenov et al. 2018); 9—Rymnikski (Grudochko and Epimahov 2015); 10—Kabantau (Eastern platform of the Northern moustache) (Beisenov et al. 2018); 11—Sukhodol, kurgan 5; 12—Sarbulat-1, kurgan 2; 13—Selentash; 14—Kajnsay, kurgan 14; 15—Gorodishhenskoe IX, kurgan 5 (Botalov 2009, 2013; Grudochko and Epimahov 2015)

assortment in the kurgan with the moustache, there were 4 brigades. Each part of the brigade had collectors and transporters with horses. It is also possible that the transporters worked independently and drove up to the assembly points where the stone material was ready for loading.

The average working capacity of one horsepower is 75 kg m/s, which means the power expended when a load weighing 75 kg is lifted evenly vertically at a speed of 1 m/s or 75 kg m of work per 1 s (Work and energy of a horse, 2015). The same value can be represented as 4500 kg m/min or 270 tm/h. The working capacity of a person aged 20 to 49 years on average is from 11 to 16 (average 14.1) kg m/min per 1 kg of body weight. Taking 60 kg as the average value of body weight, we get a working capacity of 846 kg m/min or 14 kg m/s (50.76 tm/h) (Evaluation test 2015). According to other data, the human working capacity of the same age in indicators below the average ranges from 500 to 700 (average 600) kg m/min or 10 kg m/s (36 tm/h) (Sirotin and Belozerova 2015).

To calculate the time required for delivery of the total quantity of stone with one horse, the following calculation will be made 424,6 (the total weight of stones) divide into 270 (the horse performance), and multiply by 1500 (the distance from the place of gathering stones to a kurgan). We get a value of about 2359 h (98.2 days). It does not take into account the time of loading and unloading, weather conditions, etc. It is difficult to say how much time per day people had to work. We will conditionally accept daylight hours with breaks for eating and resting people and horses. If we accept the hypothesis of four brigades and a light day of 12 h, then it would take 2359: 4 (horses) = 589: 12 = 49 days, i.e., about 1.5–2 months to build the Sukhodol kurgan with a moustache. This calculation does not take into account the working capacity of a person, which is approximately 0.1–0.2 of the working capacity of a horse. Theoretically, this could be enough for loading, unloading, and laying the stone.

The scope of work during the construction of the Sarbulat-1 monument was similar to the previous complex: collection, transportation, construction. The total weight of the stone material used to create the kurgan with the moustache of Sarbulat-1 was 399.6 t (see Table 2). The location of granite where the raw material was collected,

Monument	Distance from the place of collecting stones to the burial kurgan (m)	The number of ho workday	orses and the total ru	unning time a	t 12-h/6-h
		1 horse (days)	4 horses (days)	10 horses (days)	50 horses (days)
Sukhodol	1500	196/393	49/98	19.6/39.3	3.9/7.9
Sarbulat-1	300	37/74	9.3/18.5	3.7/7.4	0.7/1.5

Table 4 Modeling the construction time of Sukhodol and Sarbulat-1 burial kurgans with moustaches, depending on the number of horses and working hours

is at a distance of about 300 m to the west of the monument, that is, 5 times closer than on Sukhodol. The calculation of the time of delivery of stone material when using one horse was made similarly and amounted to 444 h (18.5 days), or about 37 workings 12-h-long days, just slightly longer than a month. Since the structure of the ridges does not show the alternation of sections with different types of stones, it is difficult to assume the number of brigades that could be involved in the construction.

When analyzing the Sukhodol complex, we assumed the presence of the four brigades corresponding to the assembly sites of various bedrock. In Sarbulat-1, 37 working days correspond to the use of only one horse. For both monuments, we have adopted the most minimal values of labor cost resources to fulfill all labor requirements. However, they also allow us to state that the construction of a single kurgan with moustaches could be carried out within no more than one season. The actual number of laborers and draft power remains unknown, but given that these monuments were left by the pastoral population, the number of horses involved as the main draught power was no more than one to four. The construction time of a single kurgan with a moustache would be less if more labor will be involved: draft the horses and people serving them (with a competent organization of the work process). In Table 4, we tried to describe the modeling using different numbers of horses depending on the 12-h and 6-h workday. It should be noted that the proposed scenarios are just a mathematical description of a horse continuously walking for 6/12 h a day with a constant working capacity of 75 kg-m/sec. However, with all the assumptions, it can be assumed that the construction of a burial kurgan with moustaches hardly required colossal labor costs in nomadic communities.

It is most likely that the construction of these ritual complexes was associated with some collective events (holidays, commemorations), which were arranged by the pastoral population during their summer stay in the southern Trans-Urals.

3.2 Radiocarbon Chronology

Before proceeding to a discussion of the results, it is necessary to point out the shortcomings of the initial data. The dates were obtained in different ways (scintillation counting and AMS) from different territories. Table 3 and Fig. 4 clearly show that the dates were distributed in the same way: earlier dates (AMS) in Central Kazakhstan and later ones (scintillation counting) in the Southern Trans-Urals. This nuance must be taken into account when interpreting radiocarbon dates. However, on the other hand, this picture does not contradict our historical knowledge about the vector of nomadic migrations from east to west, implying that the earlier complexes are in the east, and the later ones are in the west.²

Summing up the probabilities of the results of radiocarbon dates formed two intervals, amount which the early ones are the large kurgans and the kurgan with the moustache of Kyrykungir (Fig. 4, *I*). The second interval is comprised of the actual kurgans with moustaches and shows the following values (Fig. 4, *II*): 340–590 AD at 68.2%, and—210–660 AD at 95.4%. Thus, the radiocarbon dates available today allow us to state with a high degree of confidence (95.4%) that the events of interest occurred from the beginning of the III to the middle of the VII centuries AD.

The Southern Urals monuments (Fig. 4, *U*) demonstrate the interval of 420–620 AD (68.2%) and 380–670 AD (95.4%), or from the last decades of the IV century AD to the second half of the VII century AD. The Central Kazakhstan monuments (Fig. 4, *K*) are older with 330–550 AD (68.2%) and 160–570 AD (95.4%), or the middle of the II—first quarter of the V centuries AD. The extension is due to the Tandaily-2 complex (UBA-28348, 1795 \pm 36), which is still the earliest among the kurgans with moustaches (according to the radiocarbon dating). At the same time, the relative chronology between the earlier (Central Kazakhstan) and the later (the Southern Urals) complexes is documented. It should also be noted that all the dates are consistent with each other, showing a continuous column throughout the entire period of construction of kurgans with moustaches.

Separately, we will single out the Tandaily 2 and Zhamantas complexes from Central Kazakhstan consisting of larger kurgans, to which complexes with a moustache are attached. The dates from the large kurgan date back to the Early Iron Age (2468 \pm 28 and 2471 \pm 32), while the head kurgan of the complex with the moustache was built some 700–800 years later (1795 \pm 36 and 1654 \pm 30). This observation is quite consistent with the concept of those researchers who state that in Central Kazakhstan there was a developed tradition of using older kurgans for the construction of kurgans with moustaches (Botalov and Gutsalov 2000, 197–198;

 $^{^2}$ It is quite evident that there are absolutely no AMS dates for the territory of the Southern Trans-Urals to clarify the chronology. Therefore, in 2021, we sent 4 duplicate samples for three burial kurgans with moustaches of the Southern Trans-Urals. Their results and generalization with previously available data will be published in the next papers.

Botalov et al. 2006, 89–91). Only one date of the Kyrykungir complex (SPb-1438, 2440 \pm 50) contradicts the general column of radiocarbon values. The monument consists of a single kurgan, from which the ridges depart, but it is not necessary to exclude the secondary use of this kurgan for the construction of the kurgan with the moustache. We also did not use the dates from the Kyzylshilik burial ground, which show significant deviations. The sample from Kurgan 2b was taken from a pile of bones of domestic animals (18 cm from the top of the kurgan) with the result of 99 \pm 28. The remaining three samples obtained from different objects of kurgan 6 showed inconsistent values (140 \pm 24; 890 \pm 26 and 1351 \pm 26) (Beisenov and Kasenalin 2018, 97).

We compared the artifacts that relate to the burial under the kurgans with moustaches. The radiocarbon chronology of the kurgans with moustaches does not contradict the typology of the inventory (Fig. 5).

From the point of view of radiocarbon dating, the number of available dates for both, Central Kazakhstan and Southern Trans-Urals is not enough. Nevertheless, the data available today outline the period of construction of kurgans with moustaches during the III/IV to the middle VII centuries AD (95.4%).

4 Conclusions

As we have seen, the geoarchaeological method allowed us to significantly expand our knowledge about the kurgans with moustaches. The earliest complexes (III/IV centuries) appeared in Eastern Kazakhstan, Tarbagatai, and Chingistau as a result of the migration of nomads from Central Asia. For the more eastern regions, we know several complexes from the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region (Grudochko et al. 2020), where we should look for the origins of this tradition. At the initial stage, the new population develops the Eastern Sary-Arka, and by about the second half of the century reached the Trans-Urals. However, a separate study should be devoted to this issue.

For the construction of kurgans with moustaches (not only Sukhodol and Srabulat-1 but also other similar monuments), it is necessary to align the terrain of the site, the proximity, and accessibility for the extraction of stone material. Judging by the area of the kurgans with a moustache of the Trans-Ural group, all of them are located within the Trans-Ural peneplain and the continental-marine basement plain, which have such surfaces with numerous small rocky outcrops of bedrock and deposits of blocky-gravelly material, especially along modern river valleys. Thus, these geomorphological areas had rational conditions for the availability of stone material and, accordingly, optimal labor costs in the construction of kurgans with moustaches. Simply put, the labor costs for their construction were not as large as it seems at first glance.



Fig. 5 Inventory from the kurgans with moustaches and synchronous burial monuments of the 5thsixth centuries in the Ural-Kazakhstan steppes. 1, 2—Kamenny Ambar (kurgan 6); 3—Arkaim; 4—Borovoe; 5, 5a, 6, 6a, 8—kurgan with moustaches Kanattas (kurgan 19); 5/5a—variants of drawings the buckle; 6a—reconstruction of the belt; 7—kurgan with moustaches Zevakino (kurgan 1); 9, 10, 12–15—kurgan with moustaches Solonchanka I; 11, 16, 17—kurgan with moustaches Atasu-2

Acknowledgements The research was funded by RFBR and Chelyabinsk Region, project 20-49-740011.

References

- Beisenov, A.Z.: Nahodki kostej zhivotnyh v kurganah s «usami» Central'nogo Kazahstana (Finds of animal bones in the barrows with "ridges" of Central Kazakhstan). Teoriyaipraktikaarheologicheskihissledovanij (Theory and practice of archaeological research) 1(29), 122–134 (2020) (In Russian)
- Beisenov, A.Z.: Kurgany s «usami» Central'nogo Kazahstana (Kurgans with "mustache" of Central Kazakhstan). In:Arheologicheskoe nasledie Centralnogo Kazahstana: izuchenie I sohranenie. Sbornik nauchnyh statej, posvjashhennyj 70-letiju organizacii Central'no-Kazahstanskoj arheologicheskoj jekspedicii Akademii nauk Kazahstana. T. 2. (Archaeological heritage of Central Kazakhstan: study and preservation. Collection of scientific articles dedicated to the 70th anniversary of the organization of the Central Kazakhstan archaeological expedition of the Academy of Sciences of Kazakhstan. V. 2). Research center of history and archeology «Begazy-Tasmola» Publ., Almaty, 31–37 (2017) (In Russian)
- Beisenov, A.Z.Dujsenbaj, D.B., Ahijarov, I.K., Svjatko, S.V.: Radiouglerodnyedatykurgana s «usami» izmogil'nikaTandajly 2 v CentralnomKazahstane (Radiocarbon dates for kurgan with "mustache" from the burial Handily 2 in Central Kazakhstan). In: Evrazija v kajnozoe. Stratigrafija, paleojekologija, kultury (Eurasia in the Cenozoic. Stratigraphy, paleoecology, cultures), 233–239. ISU Publishing House, Irkutsk (2016) (In Russian)
- Beisenov, A.Z., Dujsenbaj, D.B., Svjatko, S.V.: Kurgan s «usami» Zhamantas (Kurgan with "mustache" Zhamantas) Samarskij nauchnyj vestnik (Samara scientific Bulletin) 3(20), 227–231 (2017) (In Russian)
- Beisenov, A.Z., Kasenalin, A.E.: Tasmolinskij mogilnik Kyzylshilik (Tasmola burial ground Kyzylsharyk). Teoriya i praktika arheologicheskih issledovanij (Theory and practice of archaeological research) 4(24), 85–100 (2018) (In Russian)
- Beisenov, A.Z., Hasenova, B.M., Ahiyarov, I.K., Dujsenbaj, D.B.: Kurgan s «usami» Kabantau v Centralnom Kazahstane (Kurgan with a 'moustaches' of Kubuntu in Central Kazakhstan). Vestnik Dagestanskogo nauchnogo centra (Bulletin of the Dagestan Scientific Center) 71, 64–76 (2018) (In Russian)
- Beisenov, A.Z., Umitkaliev, U.U., Kulkova, M.A.: Radiouglerodnaya data kurgana s «usami» Kyrykungir (Vostochnaya Sary-Arka) (The radiocarbon date of the mound with a "moustache" Karakuri [East Sary-Arka]). In: Evrazija v kajnozoe. Stratigrafija, paleojekologija, kultury (Eurasia in the Cenozoic. Stratigraphy, paleoecology, cultures), 249–255. ISU Publ. House, Irkutsk (2016) (In Russian)
- Botalov, S.G.: Gunny i tjurki (istoriko-arheologicheskaja rekonstrukcija) (Huns and Turks [historical and archaeological reconstruction]). 672 p. Rifey Publ. House, Chelyabinsk (2008) (in Russian)
- Botalov, S.G.: Pozdnegunnskoe ili rannetjurkskoe vremja v zavolzhskih i uralo-kazahstanskih stepjah (Later Hun or early Turkic time in the Volga and Ural-Kazakhstan steppes). In: Jetnicheskie vzaimodejstvija na Juzhnom Urale: sb. nauch. tr. (Ethnic Interactions in the Southern Urals: collection of scientific works), 128–138. SUSU Publ. House, Chelyabinsk (2009) (In Russian)
- Botalov, S.G.: O gunnah evropejskih i gunnah aziatskih (On the Huns of Europe and the Huns of Asia). In: Gunnskij forum. Problemy proishozhdenija i identifikacii kul'tury evrazijskih gunnov: sb. nauch. tr. (The Huns forum. The problem of origin and identification of the culture of the Eurasian Huns: collection of scientific papers), 32–87. SUSU Publ. House, Cheljabinsk (2013) (In Russian)
- Botalov, S.G., Gutsalov, S.Ju.: Gunno-sarmaty Uralo-Kazahstanskih stepej (Huns-Sarmatian of the Ural-Kazakhstan steppes). 268 p. Rifey Publ. House, Chelyabinsk (2000) (in Russian)

- Botalov, S.G., Tairov, A.D., Lyubchanskij, I.Eh.: Kurgany s «usami» uralo-kazahstanskihstepej (Kurgans with 'moustaches' of the Ural-Kazakhstan steppes). 232 p., Chelyabinsk (2006) (In Russian)
- Grudochko, I.V.: Kurgany s «usami». Epoha pozdnej drevnosti i rannego srednevekov'ya uralokazahstanskih stepej (IV–VII vv. n. e.) (Kurgans with 'moustache'. The epoch of the late prehistory and Early Middle Ages of the Ural-Kazakhstan steppes [4th–7th AD]), 352 p. Studiaad Archaeologiam Pazmaniensia 16, Magyar Őstörténeti Témacsoport Kiadványok 9, Budapest (2020) (In Russian)
- Grudochko, I.V., Epimahov, A.V.: Hronologija kurganov s «usami»: sravnitel'nyj analiz radiouglerodnyh i arheologicheskih datirovok (Chronology of kurgans with 'moustache': comparative analysis of radiocarbon and archaeological dates). In: Kazahskoehanstvo v potoke istorii: Sbornik nauchnyh statej, posvjashhennyj 550-letiju obrazovanija Kazahskogo hanstva (Kazakh khanate in the flow of History: Collection of scientific articlesdedicated to the 550th anniversary of the Kazakh Khanate), 534–541. Almaty (2015) (In Russian)
- Grudochko, I.V., Minligareev, N.I., Motovilov, A.M., Stanishevskaya, S.S.: Kurgany s 'usami' Sinczyan-Ujgurskogo avtonomnogo rajona KNR (Kurgans with 'moustache' Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous region of China). In: Nauka YuUrGU: materialy 72-i nauchnoi konferencii. Sekcii social'no-gumanitarnyh nauk (SUSU Science: Proceedings of the 72 Scientific Conference. Social Sciences and Humanities sections), 246–253. SUSU Publ. House, Chelyabinsk (2020) (In Russian)
- Nikolski, V.Yu., Grudochko, I.V.: Geoarheologicheskoe issledovanie kurganov s «usami» Yuzhnogo Zauralya (Geoarchaeological study of kurgans with 'moustaches' of the Southern Trans-Urals). In: Etnicheskie vzaimodejstviya na Yuzhnom Urale: materialy VI Vserossijskoj nauchnoi konferencii (Ethnic Interactions in the Southern Urals: materials of the VI All-Russian Scientific Conference), 273–282. Chelyabinsk State Museum of Regional Lore, Chelyabinsk (2015) (In Russian)
- Rabota i energiya loshadi (Work and energy of the horse). In: Rossijskij gosudarstvennyj agrarnyj universitet Moskovskaya selskohozyajstvennaya akademiya imeni K.A. Timiryazeva, Zooinzhenernyj fakultet: gigiena ispolzovaniya loshadi (Russian State Agrarian University Moscow Agricultural Academy named after K.A. Timiryazev, Faculty of Animal Engineering: Hygiene of horse use) (2015). URL: http://www.activestudy.info/rabota-i-energiya-loshadi/ (date of request: 8.01.2020) (In Russian)
- Sirotin, A.B., Belozerova, L.M.: Sposob opredeleniya fizicheskoj rabotosposobnosti cheloveka (A method for determining the physical performance of a person). In: Patent naizobretenie (A patent for an invention) (2015). URL: http://www.findpatent.ru/patent/243/2438576.html (date of request: 8.03.2020) (In Russian)
- Tairov, A.D.: Rannie kochevniki Zhajyk-Irtyshskogo mezhdurech'ja v VIII–VI vv. do n. je (Early nomads of the Zhaiyk-Irtysh interfluve in the VIII–VI centuries BC). 392 p. Kazakh Scientific Research Institute of Culture Publ. House, Astana (Nur-Sultan) (2017) (in Russian)
- Test ocenki fizicheskoj rabotosposobnosti (PWC 170) (Physical performance Assessment Test [PWC 170]). In: Soobshchestvo studentov Kirovskoj gosudarstvennoj medicinskoj akademii (Community of Students of the Kirov State Medical Academy) (2015). URL: http://vmede.org/index.php?topic=488.0 (date of request: 0.03.2020) (In Russian)
- Tihomirov, V.A.: Kurgan s «usami» Severnoe-1 iz krymskih predgorij i evrazijskie analogii (The kurgan with the "mustache" Severnoye-1 from the Crimean foothills and Eurasian analogies).
 In: Novye issledovaniya molodyh arheologov v Krymu. Materialy nauchnoj konferencii (New research by young archaeologists in the Crimea. Materials of the scientific conference), 71–79.
 Institute of Archeology of the Crimea, Russian Academy of Sciences, Simferopol (2020) (In Russian)
- Tihomirov, V.A., Bytkovski O.F., Muld S.A.: Kurgan s «usami» Severnoe-1 v Belogorskom rajone Respubliki Krym i poiski analogij v Zauralyei Kazahstane (The kurgan with the 'moustache' Severnoye-1 in the Belogorsky district of the Republic of Crimea and the search for analogies in

the Trans-Urals and Kazakhstan). Istoriya i arheologiya Kryma (History and archeology of the Crimea) 12, 83–100 (2020) (In Russian)

Habdulina, M.K.: Tasmolinskaya arheologicheskaya kultura: sovremennoe sostoyanie (Tasmola archaeological culture: current state). Voprosy istorii i arheologii Zapadnogo Kazahstana (Problems of history and archaeology of Western Kazakhstan) 2, 181–194 (2007) (In Russian)

The Remote Methods for Search and Study of Archaeological Objects in Bashkortostan



Ramil R. Nasretdinov, Ilshat I. Bakhshiev, and Roman N. Gabitov

Abstract Together with expanding technical and technological opportunities in modern archeology, the methods of geoarchaeology, which are applied in combination with classical methods of archaeological exploration, deem to be the fundamental ones. However, the study of the mound burial grounds located in the steppe zone of the Southern Urals is complicated as they are located in the zone of intensive agricultural development, which has become an essential problem. As a result of years-long plowing, a significant part of the mound surfaces has been damaged and is virtually not visible on the modern landscape. The localization of these objects will help in defining the borders of archaeological sites to take measures for their further protection during construction works and will make it possible to form corresponding programs for their full-fledged archaeological study. The use of the technologies has made it possible to specify the structure and composition of the II Samarsky burial mound located in the steppe zone of the Bashkir Trans-Urals. For many decades, the burial ground has been subject to intensive plowing. This feature makes it possible to use the cemetery as an experimental test site. In this paper, we present the research method to obtain the aerial photography of the site with the help of unmanned aerial vehicles of a geodetic class, combining the photography with the application of aerial geodesy and photogrammetric processing of the received aerial photographs. The results of the conducted remote sensing studies have revealed sixteen stable anomalies, which otherwise can barely be visually identified. In 2020, during the excavation of anomaly №18, two burials of the Bronze Age were found. Thus, it was proved that the previously identified anomalies are the remnants of the heavily destroyed burial mounds.

R. R. Nasretdinov · R. N. Gabitov

Research and Production Center for the Protection and Use of Immovable Cultural Heritage Objects of the Republic of Bashkortostan, 47 Chernyshevsky Str., Ufa 450076, Russia e-mail: romagabitov@ya.ru

I. I. Bakhshiev (🖂)

R.G. Kuzeev Institute for Ethnological Studies—Subdivision of the Ufa Federal Research Centre of the RAS, 6 Karl Marks Str., 450077 Ufa, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_29

Keywords Archaeology · Bronze age · South urals · Archaeological sites · Interdisciplinary methods in archaeology · Unmanned systems and aerial photography

1 Introduction

Modern archaeological research is increasingly dominated by complex research with the active involvement of geoarchaeological methods (Schubert 2016; Asăndulesei 2017; Shakirov & Khuzin 2018; Daragan and Svoyski 2018; Piskareva et al. 2019).

In recent years, our work at the territory of the Republic of Bashkortostan, Russia, has demonstrated an urgent need to review the approaches and methods of analyzing the topography of archaeological sites. It is necessary to pay attention to the data that literally lies on the surface with the help of the micro-surface analysis. The traditional methods of topography hinder to achieve the perceptual unity of the object on the natural landscape. It complicates finding the solution to a number of issues, as it does not reveal the hidden potential of the object under study, even when determining the borders of the site's territory. For conducting an outdoor study of archaeological objects in Bashkortostan, in addition to traditional methods of recording data (e.g., the instrumental survey using ground and satellite geodesy), the remote sensing methods, which have significant advantages in their turn, may also be actively used (Bakhshiev et al. 2018).

A review of works that involved the use of remote sensing methods testifies that many researchers applying aerial photography to take a photo-tone images (orthophoto map) (Bykov et al. 2013; Perkić & Vuković 2018; Wernke et al. 2014) or to create a 3D model of the landscape of various resolution (Tataurova et al. 2016; Vinokurov & Pigin 2016). Others limit themselves to a demonstration of view or panoramic photographs taken with unmanned aerial vehicles.

Out of the total amount of research carried out in the former Soviet Union, the prominent ones are the works by Daragan and Svoyski, whopurposefully used the morphometric analysis of the digital surface model and expressed a number of methodological considerations on the analysis of aerial survey materials (Daragan & Svoyski 2018; Daragan 2020).

The experience of working at the sites of various types has shown that contour lines do not always objectively illustrate the necessary details of individual elements of archaeological complexes (Bakhshiev et al. 2018: 35–37).

The review of the literature on the given topic and the methodological considerations of works by Daragan and Svoyski, our own experience have suggested that there are two methodologically different approaches to the remote method of recording and studying of archaeological sites:

1. The analysis of objects that are well-defined on the landscape, including the use of orthophoto maps, which can be traced visually with the naked eye under any conditions (including conditions of high vegetation).

2. The analysis of barely defined objects, which can be overseen. This depends on the depth and degree of processing of the materials obtained (Daragan & Svoyski 2018: 38).

In the paper, we will touch on the analysis of objects that are weakly defined on the landscape.

2 Materials and Methods

The method is based on the aerial photography of the site with the unmanned aerial vehicles of a geodetic class (the quadcopters and aircraft-type UAV's). Our approach is based on the deciphering of a digital surface model received via the combined use of aerial geodesy and photogrammetric processing of aerial photographs. This approach was applied to study the archaeological sites in Bashkortostan.

The process of deciphering involves an in-depth analysis or assessment of a digital surface model through its mathematical visualization. It provides carrying out a comprehensive or directed analysis of the topographic roughness, the morphometric properties of which can appear on one side but at the same time disappear on the other.

The geodetic component of the method is based on the accurate temporal and spatial tracking of the UAV's flight paths, its height, position, pitching, etc. Owing to this, each photo is assigned with the time it was taken and coordinates. All these calculations are performed during the post-processing with specialized software which calculated coordinates of each photograph. Further, the obtained calculations of coordinates are used in the photogrammetric processing of aerial photographs. In the Russian-language archaeological literature, this part of the algorithm has been thoroughly described (Krupochkin & Papin 2018). The practical advantage of the method was most significantly manifested in the study of the burial mounds of the Trans-Ural part of Bashkortostan. The analysis of objects that are barely defined in the landscape is presented here on the example of the II Samarsky burial mound.

3 Results and Discussion

The early scientific exploration of the II Samarsky burial ground was carried out in 1989 by Morozov, who identified the five earth barrows that are varying from 20 to 33 m in diameter and from 0.3 to 1 m in height. Intensive plowing of all mound barrows was already pointed out during the initial archaeological research of the site.

When examining the mounds in 2010–2011, a significant deterioration in the physical preservation of the site caused by the continuation of intensive plowing was recorded. In addition to the originally known mounds, there were four more weakly defined mounds found, which were practically destroyed by plowing. At that time,

it seemed to us that we had managed to record the site in its completeness, including nine mounds. Mounds N_{2} 5 and 6 were the largest and quite well defined, while the rest were barely identified.

In 2011, the rescue archaeological excavations of mound N_0 5 were carried out by Bakhshiev, which resulted in finding the remains of two heavily destroyed burials. The features of the burial rites made it possible to attribute the complex to the Yamnaya (Pit-Grave) Culture of the Southern Urals (Bakhshiev et al. 2014).

In 2017, during the site's inspection, Nasretdinov visually recorded mounds N_{P} 3 and 6, as well as the excavated mound N_{P} 5. The rest of the barrows were almost undefined, and their safety was not certain.

In 2018–2019 as part of the testing of the applied remote methods of recording and identifying archaeological monuments, Nasretdinov & Gabitov made an aerial survey of the site.

Besides nine mounds recorded in 2011, the results of aerial photography of the obtained digital model revealed additional 16 barrows, which had been identified as anomalies until the moment of our field research (Fig. 1). The comparison of the 2011 map with the results of the aerial survey confirmed the object identification with the help of the digital surface model. Morphologically, the anomalies are identical to each other, including the confirmed mounds N° 1–9. The anomalies represented an elevation of the landscape in cross-section, arched with a flattened top and rounded in its layout; a number of them were distorted and elongated under the influence of plowing furrows. At the adjacent territory, other anomalies and technogenic processes that led to their formation were not observed.

Optical or program distortions were also excluded since the survey of the territory of the site had been carried out twice: in the spring of 2018 and 2019, so it can be



Fig. 1 The II Samarsky burial mound. Digital model of the surface of the territory of the monument (non-deciphered)



Fig. 2 The II Samarsky burial mound. Digital model of the surface of the territory of the monument (with deciphered elements). a—mound # 5 (explored in 2011); b—mounds found in 2010–2011; c—mounds identified in 2018–2019 based on the results of aerial photography; d—mound # 4, 18 (explored in 2020)

stated that the anomalies are stable. The barrows vary from 17 to 47 m in diameter and from 0.03 to 1.2 m in height (Fig. 2).

In 2019, during the repeated extended aerial survey of the territory of the site, which is located to the east of the main group, at the edge of the high bedrock terrace, four additional anomalies were revealed. Moreover, some of them are definitely identified as mounds in the field inspection. Thus, the number of burial mounds in the cemetery increased to 25 items, including a separate eastern group of four mounds. The exact dimensional characteristics of each object have been established as follows (Table 1).

Considering the current map of the site, drawn up on the results of aerial photography, the barrow field is elongated meridionally. The majority is concentrated around the central mound $N^{\circ}6$. From the central mound, a group of seven barrows extends in a chain to the west. A group of six barrows is concentrated in the northwest. The third group of six barrows stretches in the opposite direction—to the southeast. A group of four mounds is located separately in the eastern part of the site. The identified mound groups within the burial ground probably reflect different chronological stages of its formation.

In 2020, in order to verify the data received by the remote sensing, archaeological excavations of mound \mathbb{N}_{2} 4 and the anomaly (mound) \mathbb{N}_{2} 18 were carried out (Fig. 3). The results of the excavations confirmed that the outlined "anomaly" is a heavily plowed mound. In mound \mathbb{N}_{2} 4, a single burial was found, and in mound \mathbb{N}_{2} 18, there were two burials. The identified complexes are dated back to the Late Bronze Age (the Early Alakul Culture).

Mound №	Diameter (m)	Height (m)
1	19	0.2
2	18	0.1
3	25	0.4
4	22	0.23
5	Researched in 2011	
6	47	1.2
7	25	0.21
8	26	0.17
9	23	0.17
10	24	0.15
11	24	0.22
12	17	0.13
13	19	0.3
14	20	0.09
15	22	0.16
16	16	0.14
17	21	0.17
18	14	0.1
19	16	0.03
20	23	0.2
21	18	0.1
22	35	0.3
23	17	0.3
24	20	0.2
25	22	0.2

Table 1	II Sama	rsky burial
mound.	Paramete	rs of the
burial m	ounds	

4 Conclusions

Thus, the use of remote sensing made it possible to reveal stable anomalies (mounds), beginning from 0.03 m in height (mound N° 19) which are barely identifiable by other methods. Our experience has confirmed that the topographic analysis of the smallest details, barely traced on the digital model of the surface, makes it possible to fully reveal the hidden potential of the monument. This method is specifically relevant for the destroyed sites. For instance, in Bashkortostan, the results of remote analysis of separate settlements have revealed lines of defense that were not previously recorded by archaeologists. Also, it is possible to identify and record housing surface depressions as well as substantially update the object composition of the burial mounds.



Fig. 3 The II Samarsky burial mound. Archaeological research in 2020: **a**—general view of burial mounds # 4 and 18 under study. The view from the southeastern side **b**—archaeological complexes of mound # 18

Most significantly, the complex of non-destructive methods tested at the II Samarsky burial ground demonstrates its relative versatility in the study of archaeological objects in open space.

Acknowledgements This study supported by Budget Project "Cultural integration of the population of the Southern Urals in antiquity, the Middle Ages, Early and Late Modern Periods: factors, dynamics, models" (N^a AAAA-A21-121012290083-9 by Ilshat I. Bakhshiev).

References

- Asăndulesei, A.: Inside a Cucuteni settlement: remote sensing techniques for documenting an unexplored Eneolithic site from northeastern Romania. Remote Sensing, 9(1), 2–19 (2017)
- Bakhshiev, I.I., Kufterin, V.V. and Grig or'ev, N.N.: The Samarsk II Kurgan [Barrow] Burial Site a New Yamna Culture Necropolis in the Trans-Ural Region of Bashkortostan. Anthropology & Archeology of Eurasia 53(1). 7–27 (2014)
- Bakhshiev, I.I., Noskevich, V.V., Nasretdinov, R.R.: Geofizicheskie i distancionnye issledovanija ukreplennogo poselenija jepohi bronzy Ulak-1 v Bashkirskom Zaural'e: sootnoshenie poluchennyh dannyh s rezul'tatami arheologicheskih raskopok (Geophysical and remote studies of the Ulak-1 fortified settlement of the Bronze Age in Bashkir Trans-Urals: The correlation of the obtained data with the results of the archaeological excavations). Povolzhskaya Arkheologiya (The Volga River Region Archaeology). 3(25), 30–44 (2018) (In Russian)
- Bykov, A.L., Kostiuk, A.S., Bykov, V.L., Bykov, L.V., Tataurova, L.V., Orlov, P.V., Pogarsky, P.M.: Primenenie materialov ajerofotosemki s bespilotnogo letatel'nogo apparata dlja kartograficheskogo obespechenija arheologicheskih rabot (Application of aerial photographs from unmanned aerial vehicles for cartographic support for archaeological work). In: Interjekspo GEO-Sibir-2013 (Interexpo GEO-Siberia-2013), 139–145. The Siberian State University of Geosystems and Technologies Publ., Novosibirsk (2013) (In Russian)
- Daragan M. About appearance of mega-hillforts in the Ukrainian Forest-Steppe in the early Scythian time: the search for an explanatory model. Tyragetia. Serie nouă 29(1), 117–139 (2020)
- Daragan, M.N., Svoyski, Yu.M.: Kartirovanie i morfometricheskii analiz vnutrennego prostranstva Zapadnogo Belskogo gorodishcha (Mapping and morphometric analysis of an internal space of Western Belskoe hillfort). In: Virtualnaia arkheologiia (Virtual Archaeology). The State Hermitage Museum Publ., Moscow, 38–57 (2018) (In Russian)
- Krupochkin, E.P., Papin, D.V.: O perspektivah ispol'zovaniya bespilotnoj s'emki v arheologicheskih issledovaniyah (On the Prospects of Using Unmanned Survey in Archaeological Research). Teoriya i praktika arheologicheskih issledovanij (Theory and Practice of Archaeological Research) 24(4), 71–84 (2018) (In Russian)
- Perkić, D., Vuković, M.: Documenting an archaeological landscape and its features using a low cost UAV–Case study: Mravinca in Dubrovačko primorje. Opvscvla archaeological 39(1), 75–83 (2018)
- Piskareva, Ya.E., Astashenkova, E.V., Prokopets, S.D., Sergusheva, E.A., Ivliev, A.L., Dorofeyeva, N.A., Lyaschevskaya, M.A., Bazarova, V.B. and Pshenitchnikova, N.F.: Kompleksnye issledovaniya na Novoselishchenskom gorodishche v Khankayskom rayone Primo'ya (Complex studies at Novoselischenskoye ancient fortified town site in Khanka region of Primorye). Mul'tidisciplinarnye issledovanija v arheologii (Multidisciplinary Research in Archaeology) 1, 88–114 (2019) (In Russian)
- Schubert, Ch.: 3D-fotogrammetrija s primeneniem BPLA v processe arheologicheskogo issledovanija (Multicopter-based 3d photogrammetry in archaeology). Vestnik Omskogo universiteta. Serija «Istoricheskie nauki» (Herald of Omsk University. Series "Historical studies") 4(12), 124–127 (2016) (In Russian)
- Shakirov, Z.G, Khuzin, F.Sh.: Kompleksnye issledovaniia Biliarskoi arkheologicheskoi ekspeditcii (Comprehensive studies by Bilyar archaeological expedition). Povolzhskaya Arkheologiya (The Volga River Region Archaeology) 2(24), 91–94 (2018) (In Russian)

- Tataurova, L.V., Bykov, L.V., Svetleishii, A.Z., Orlov, P.V. Sozdanie landshaftnykh modelei mestnosti i trekhmernaya rekonstruktsiya arkheologicheskikh pamyatnikov (Creation of landscape models of the terrain and three-dimensional reconstruction of archaeological monuments). In: Interjekspo GEO-Sibir-2016 (Interexpo GEO-Siberia-2016). The Siberian State University of Geosystems and Technologies Publ., Novosibirsk, 124–129 (2016) (In Russian)
- Vinokurov, N.I., Pigin, A.P.: Topograficheskie raboty na arheologicheskom pamjatnike «Bagerovo-Severnoe» (Topographical works on the Bagerovo-Severnoye complex). Geoprofi (Geoprofi) 3, 50–54 (2016) (In Russian)
- Wernke, S.A., Adams. J.A., Hooten. E.R.: Capturing Complexity: Toward an Integrated Low-Altitude Photogrammetry and Mobile Geographic Information System Archaeological Registry System. Advances in archaeological practice 2(2), 147–163 (2014)

Complex Investigation (GIS, Photogrammetry, and Natural-Scientific Methods) of the Northwestern Colchis Historical and Cultural Landscape in the Late Antique and Medieval Times



Galina V. Trebeleva, Gleb Yu. Yurkov, Andrey S. Kizilov, Konstantin A. Glazov, and Tatiana Yu. Shvedchikova

Abstract The Markul archaeological expeditions have been conducted since 2001. Traditional methods used for the humanities and natural-scientific methods have been applied together with digital technologies. The analysis of written sources and art history, archaeological excavations, photogrammetry, isotope study of anthropological material have been carried out, a geographic information system (GIS) has been created, the chemical composition of artifacts has been recognized. GIS includes more than 500 objects in total. A catalogue (a book) of temples in the western part of the region has been prepared; catalogue for its eastern part has almost been completed. An important result of the research is the precise location of the Great Abkhazian (Kelasur) Wall, which is one of the most controversial and mysterious historical and architectural sites of Abkhazia. The exact GPS coordinates of 208 towers that survived by 2015 have been established, and their plan has been drawn up. Several methods were used: archaeological prospecting with pits, elemental analysis, and spatial analysis to date the site. In 2014, stationary research began at the newly identified Markul settlement, the only large site known today inside Kelasur Wall. Using the isotope method, the characteristics of the people living in this area were revealed.

Keywords Northwestern colchis · Antiquity and the middle ages · GIS · Photogrammetry · Chemical analysis · Isotope analysis

G. Yu. Yurkov N.N. Semenov Federal Research Center for Chemical Physics RAS, Moscow, Russia

```
A. S. Kizilov
Federal Research Centre the Subtropical Scientific Centre RAS, Sochi, Russia
```

G. V. Trebeleva ($\boxtimes) \cdot K.$ A. Glazov \cdot T. Yu. Shvedchikova Institute of Archaeology RAS, Moscow, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_30

1 Introduction

In ancient times, Northwestern Colchis played an essential role in the interaction between the ancient world and the world of barbarian tribes. The area was densely populated, as demonstrated by numerous written sources and archaeological evidence. The history of the region is named as "antique-centered" according to available ancient written data; however, archaeologically, this territory has been studied without any generalizations and attempts to evaluate the role of the local population. The present study is based on the analysis of archaeological sources: the occurrence and territorial distribution of artifacts left by the local population.

2 Materials and Methods

Historical methods include a study of written sources, primarily the works of Pliny Secundus, Claudius Ptolemy, Flavius Arrian, Pseudo Arrian, Procopius of Caesarea and Agathius of Myrene, and a number of others; arranging and carrying out archaeological excavations at the Markul settlement; art analysis of ornament; examination of architectural features and other decorative elements in order to find similarities and date the findings more precisely.

Digital technologies comprise creation of a geographic information system (GIS) and photogrammetry. Archaeological research on the territory of Abkhazia is targeted at forming a GIS of archaeological sites was started by the Institute of Archeology of the Russian Academy of Science in 2001, as part of the Black Sea expedition. The first leader of the expedition was Yu.V. Gorlov, and since 2006 the expedition has been led by G.V. Trebelev, Ph.D. in History. Later, the expedition was renamed Markul, when exploration activities were combined with a stationary study of a large fortified settlement discovered in 2013 in the Ochamchir region. Nowadays, the GIS includes about 200 temples of late Antique and Medieval periods which had been either erected on the area of pagan sanctuaries or which were used simultaneously with them and individual fortresses-settlements, preserved as architectural objects, towering above the surface of the earth; 208 towers of Kelasur Wall with sections of the wall connecting surviving towers; about 150 sites where the settlements of Bronze and Neolithic Ages were noted, excavations were carried out in settlements (for example, the Tamysh settlement, Achmardin burial grounds, etc.), i.e. these sites are not found above the daylight surface, but archival data enabled to locate them precisely (Fig. 1). Generally, any GIS is just a tool, not a final product, so its replenishment continues and will continue.

Photogrammetry has been used to investigate the architectural remains of temples and fortifications (Trebeleva et al. 2019a, c). This method consists of software processing of a series of sequential photographs of an object further creating a threedimensional 3-D model, which is scaled and analyzed in detail by graphic editors. Depending on the size and complexity of the object, a series of photographs may



Fig. 1 General map of the region's site, derived from GIS (from Neolithic period until the middle ages): 1-temples; 2-settlements; 3-towers of Kelasur Wall

vary from several tens to several hundreds photographs. The shooting technique depends on the height of the remaining walls and the size of the temple. Usually, shooting is carried out in three rounds with an offset of about 1 m in a circle, from eye level, with arms outstretched and a tripod raised to the maximum height. Thus, three survey cones are obtained, which, given the continuity of the series, allow to obtain a three-dimension object. Frame resolution while shooting depends on the goals and capabilities of the computer. To determine the architectural features of the temple, drawing up a plan, projections and sections, 6–8 Mpx is enough. Nikon 5100 camera was used for shooting. The total number of frames per object is from 100 to 400, with 60–80% overlapping files depending on size and complexity. The accuracy of the model can vary depending on the design of the temple, the continuity of the shooting, the ability to capture high quality hard-to-reach details and the continuity of the series. If the technology is followed, this is confirmed by high-quality stitching of models of the inner and outer surfaces with the door and window openings.

Due to this method, it became possible to obtain any orthographic projections of a structure, sections, etc., allowing to measure the necessary geometric parameters, such as the length, width, height of the wall, including the thickness of the walls in different areas, the depth of the window openings, etc. without coming into direct contact with the object (Fig. 2).

Archeometry methods include isotope analysis of human remains, and chemical (elemental and phase) analysis of the mortar from the masonry of the investigated



Fig. 2 Temple Nizhnyaya Dranda according to photogrammetry data: **a**—plan; **b**—view of the south wall along the section of line aa1; **c**—view of the north wall along the section of line bb1; **d**—view of the western facade from the outside

objects. For isotopic analysis, primary sample preparation was carried out by specialists of the Physical Anthropology Group of the Institute of Archeology, RAS; the analytical part of the study was carried out at the "Mass Spectrometric Research" of the Center for Collective Use (Isotope Analysis) of the Institute of Ecology and Evolution named after A.N. Severtsov, RAS.

Chemical (elemental and phase) analysis of the binder solution from the masonry of the investigated objects makes it possible to determine the method of preparing the binder solution and to suggest the construction technology. Energy dispersive analysis (EDA) was used to determine the chemical elemental composition of the binder solution in the masonry of fortifications. The phase composition of the samples was determined using X-ray phase analysis (XPA), i.e. it was established which chemical compounds formed the elements identified using the EDA method. Carrying out such combined analysis of the binding component of the masonry of archaeological monuments is a new direction in archeology. This is based on the knowledge that contemporaneous objects on a specific limited territory have the same chemical composition, and non-contemporaneous objects have different chemical composition because of altered mineral deposit (gypsum, sand, clay, limestone), different mixing methods and proportions of the components of the used mixture. For instance, the chemical composition of the binder mixture in the masonry of the walls of the contemporaneous monuments will differ in quantity, but will have same composition, while for the non-contemporaneous ones it will differ significantly from each other.
The described studies were carried out on a JEOL JSM 6380 LA scanning electron microscope with an energy-dispersive analyzer and a Shimadzu XRD 6000 X-ray diffractometer.

The method was tested by analyzing the solution from the laying of the Anakopia fortress (Trebeleva et al. 2014), one of the simultaneous medieval site of Abazgia studied by excavations.

In the course of studies of the tower of the southern wall in the second line of defense of the fortress of Anakopia, three main cultural horizons of different time periods were revealed. The first layer dated of 10th twelfth centuries, the second dated of eighth-ninth centuries. The third layer, which is the main layer of towers and walls of the second line of defense, refers to the seventh century. (Trapsh 1975). Seventeen samples were taken from various parts of this fortress and investigated. In total, four types of binding solutions were found on the site. In the first type the admixture of sand is 14–15% in relation to lime, in the second type the sand admixture is approx. 30%, in the third type it is about 50% and in the fourth type the admixture of sand is over 50%. It is necessary to immediately specify that the solution of the fourth type is likely to indicate the rush repairs, since it had not been found in the smooth rows of masonry, but found separately in small spots, and extremely rarely. If we consider the distribution of these types, it becomes obvious that all samples taken from the walls of the fortress do not simply replicate the same type of solution, but almost completely reproduce it. The discrepancy in the ratio between components (Ca and Si) is only one percent. Moreover, the places where these samples were found are located at a considerable distance from each other which indicates that this is a not just a random coincidence but the use of one solution, a single knead following the technology of making a solution (Fig. 3). In general, the variety of types of the solution of the binder composition on the fortress was quite predictable since the fortress was built during several stages of construction. While interpreting the results of the research, it should be taken into consideration that while doing repairs, the defenders of the fortress altered the composition of the solution. The main result is that we were able to observe the reproducibility of the various types of solution and their presence among each other, which confirms that the research method selected were justified and characterize construction technologies and assist in dating. As for the impurities of other components (Fe, Na, Mg and others) on the Anakopian fortress, in all types of solution they were basically identical, which indicates one source of sand taking. If we compare samples from various objects located at a significant distance from each other, for example the Kelasur tower, the same ratio of Ca and Si can be noted with a different amount of impurities, and simultaneously in one object, with different ratios of Ca and Si a set of impurities may correspond. Thus, the ratio of Ca and Si reveal actual construction technology, and other impurities show a source of raw materials.

The sickness of the binding layer and the type of masonry enable to date the sites. All the above said made possible, if not to determine the exact chronological date, then at least to group the monuments according to the simultaneity of their construction time. At the same time, not only one sample from the temple was taken for analysis, but samples of solutions from different architectural elements: apse, narthex, naves, etc., in order to highlight and see the stages of rebuilding and renovation of the same site.

3 Results and Discussion

An important result of the research was the identified Kelasur Wall location (Fig. 4), which has been one of the most controversial and mysterious historical and architectural sites of Abkhazia. (Trebeleva 2019b). This site had been known for a long time (Dubois de Montpéreux 1937: 147, Uvarova 1891: 93, Ivaschenko 1925: 61–89; 1926: 90–92, etc.), but its detailed study had not been done. The most disputable issue of this monument is its origin and purpose. Generally, all the scientific works on the origin and purpose of Kelasur Wall can be divided into several groups:

 The Greeks erected it to protect their colony (mainly Dioscuria (Sukhum) and Guenos (Ochamchira)) from the northern barbarians from the mountain (Dubois de Montpéreux 1937: 147; Kudryavtsev 1922: 28, 29, 53). They associate Kelasur Wall with the "Corax Wall" mentioned by Hecataeus of Miletus. (Hecataei Milesii Fragmenta 185);



Fig. 3 Anakopia tower, the areas where the samples of mortar were taken from and the type of mortar were coloured



Fig. 4 The first tower of Kelasur Wall (view from the sea)

- It was built by the Byzantines or undertheir cooperation with the Abasgians and the Apsils during the war against the Persians. (Chernyavskyi 1882, 18; Miller 1909, 74–76; Ivaschenko 1925, 61–89 Adzinba 1958, 106–152, etc.);
- (3) the Persiansbuilt it Alexidze (2000);
- (4) Prince Levan II Dadiani built it between 1628 and 1653. (Beradze 1971; Voronov 1973).

Thus, the literature analysis has demonstrated that the researchers' opinions differ drastically, ranging from the period of antiquity to the new time, for as long as twenty-three centuries. There was also no precise location of this site since researchers described not the entire wall in its length but its parts. The methods of finding location existing in the nineteenth-twentieth centuries did not allow to locate the object on the foothills and in the subtropical forest quickly and effortlessly. The most detailed description was done by Yu.N. Voronov. However, in his final article, a number of contradictions can be noted: he wrote that the wall had 279 towers (Voronov 1973: 109), but there were only 268 on the diagram (Voronov 1973: 107). He drew the general scheme of the wall up to the Ingur River, while noting that the last tower stood on the Gedzhir River. (Voronov 1973: 106) An alternative route for the passage of the wall is described by I. Likhachev: after the Otapa cave it turns to the south to Bedia. (Likhachev 1881: 245–248) (Fig. 5). The passing routes suggested by Voronov Yu.N. and Likhachev I. were based on main geographical markers: rivers and settlements in GIS system.

Therefore, the first goal was to obtain the exact geographic location of all towers and fragments of walls between using a GPS receiver. As a result, 208 towers were



Fig. 5 Kelasur wall and surrounding sites of late Antique and medieval periods: 1-settlement, 2-settlement with temple, 3-fortress, 4-actual route of the Kelasur Wall, 5-the Kelasur Wall by Voronov, 6-the Kelasur Wall by Likhachev

localized on the ground, with sections of connecting walls between them, of which 9 towers were along the Aaldzga river. Previously these towers had not been defined or described. Thus, it can be concluded that Kelasur Wall stretched downhill to the sea along the foothills rather than along the river Ingur, as it had been earlier supposed, but along the river Aaldzga in the area of the modern city of Ochamchir and the ancient town of Guénos. The final length of the wall was 80 km, the accurate location of the surviving towers was defined using GPS coordinates, plans were drawn for 208 towers and sections of the walls that survived until 2015 (see Fig. 5).

Elemental analysis of the chemical composition of the mortar (binder mixture) of 208 towers and sections of surviving walls was used to date Great Abkhazian (Kelasur) Wall. A total of 738 samples from the towers and sections of the walls have been analyzed together with 276 samples from other historical and architectural medieval objects. To exclude the error in determining the composition and possible restoration of Kelasur Wall, samples were taken from different sections of the walls and at different depths in the mortar.

Elemental composition analysis showed that three types of mortar were found in the masonry of Kelasur Wall (3–7% of admixture of lime, 12–18% of lime, 35–45% lime content). Comparison of the composition of mortar of Kelasur Wall with the mortar of other historical objects of late antiquity and the Middle Ages allowed us to conclude that sections of Kelasur Wall with the composition of the mixture of the first group were erected in the era of late antiquity (the early Middle Ages, possibly in the third-fourth centuries). Sections with the composition of the second group were erected in the tenth-eleventh centuries; and the sections of the third type were constructed in the sixteenth-eighteenth centuries. The first type of mortar is found in all objects of Kelasur Wall, and the two other types are found in the western part of the wall, in the section from the river Kelasur to the river Bolshaya Machara. In the same section, the traces of reconstruction of the towers were noted: some of the sections along the Kelasur River were rebuilt into garrisons. During the study, surface material was collected, and the pits were laid on the territory of the towers of Kelasur Wall. The materials date from the third century AD to the fifteenth century.

Another field of work was the continuous investigation in Eastern Abkhazia's territory to accurately locate all medieval objects and analyze their relation to Kelasur Wall. During the explorations, 79 sites were located. Two of them (Chkhotol and Marcul settlements) were discovered for the first time. (Trebeleva and Yurkov 2015). As revealed by spatial analysis of the sites, many temples of the eighth-twelfth centuries were located on both sides of Kelasur Wall, meaning that it was no longer used as a defensive structure (see Fig. 5).

In 2014 stationary excavations began at the Markul settlement. It is located inside Kelasur Wall, 10 km from the ancient settlement of Guenos on two high plateaus, gradually turning into the foothill part. A convenient access to the mountain plateau is located on the south side (Fig. 6).

The following architectural objects have been found: defensive walls (before the start of the access to the plateau and along the southern and northern edges of the plateau), the Southern tower (Alakhash-abaa), the Northern tower, and a temple with a temple fence.



The Alahash-Abaa Tower has been preserved in the best state. In 2017, it was investigated by the photogrammetric method, allowing to study in detail its geometric dimensions and architectural features, in particular, the specific elements of timber longitudinal reinforcing belts of the structure (Trebeleva et al. 2019b) (Fig. 7).

The tower is rectangular, measuring 13.9×8.5 m, the thickness of the walls in the lower part is 1.2–1.4 m, with an internal size of the lower part of 11.3×6.0 m. The tower has survived almost to its entire height which is 6, 5–6.7 m. On the inner side of the walls, at a height of 4.0–4.5 m above the present-day ground level, there are 7 window openings-loopholes that have been preserved, measuring 0.7×0.5 m–0.8 $\times 0.6$ m, which are now laid outside. The construction and architectural feature of the tower is the presence of specific elements of timber longitudinal reinforcing belts of the structure. The first belt is located 1.4–1.7 m above the current ground level, the second is 1.1–1.3 m higher above the first. At present, the beam frame has not survived, but according to the shape of the remaining openings, it can be assumed that the beams had a rectangular section along the entire length, measuring 20×25 cm. The longitudinal belts of the beams were located on the outer and inner sides of the walls opposite each other and were tied with transverse beams after 2, 5–2.8 m, from which through wholes have also been preserved in the walls. This technology was



Fig. 7 South tower (Alakhash-abaa): 1—view from the south; 2—eastern wall inside the tower; 3—3D model of the tower, inside view of the eastern wall; 4—3D model of the tower, outside view; 5—3D model of the tower, reconstruction of the beams

described in detail by the Roman architect Vitruvius (Vitr. De architectura I, V, 3). And such a reception was noted during the construction of the Roman fortifications of Sebastopolis (the modern city of Sukhum). (Trapsh 1969: 300). In the medieval fortifications of northwestern Colchis, such a technique as strengthening the walls with longitudinal belts of beams has not yet been recorded. In the fortifications of the Turkish time, similar structures were found, however not rectangular, but round beams, not peeled from bark were used. (Trapsh 1969: 301). Today this tower is the only monument of the local, non-antique population, where the Roman construction technology was applied. Excavations carried out in the Alahash-Abaa tower in 2018 revealed the presence of two levels of floors, and in the lower layers of the tower, ceramics and glass of the Roman and Byzantine (third-fourth centuries AD) time were found. According to the data of radiocarbon analysis of coal, the tower was destroyed by fire at the end of the fifteenth century—at the beginning of the sixteenth century, that is, during the period of civil strife between the influential princes Shervashidze and the Mengrelian princes. (Trebeleva et al. 2019a; Bgazhba and Lakoba 2007: 162-167).

To the north of the Alakhash-abaa tower, at the highest point of the plateau, there are the ruins of a small church (Fig. 8).

The church is a slightly elongated trapezoid with a semicircular apse on the east side, turning into longitudinal walls without shoulders. The masonry is irregular, rubble with double-sided lining when slightly processed blocks were used. The height of the preserved walls varies from 0.1 to 1.5 m. The excavations at the temple, carried out in 2014–2017, allowed to determine its functioning from the turn of the fourth-fifth centuries AD to the fifteenth-sixteenth centuries. The earlier date is determined



Fig. 8 Photogrammetric survey of the temple and its territory (2017)

by the findings from the collective burials on the territory of the temple, the last date is determined by the coins, in particular, the "Nuremberg Tokens" (Fig. 9).

During the excavation of the temple and its territory, burials were also uncovered (Trebeleva and Shvedchikova 2019: 162–173). According to the calculations done, 32 people were buried on the territory of the temple complex with a significant predominance of male burials; burials of children of different ages were also found. To determine the local origin of the buried, an analysis of the content of strontium isotopes in the dental and bone tissue of nine buried people from the excavations in 2016 was carried out. The study was carried out in the All-Russian Scientific Research Institute named after V.I. A.P. Karpinsky (St. Petersburg). (Fig. 10).



Fig. 9 Nuremberg token from excavations at the temple of the Markul settlement



Fig. 10 Isotope analysis of bone remains for Sr (Markul settlement—blue; from the temple in the village of Veseloe—yellow)

Strontium isotope signals in the series ranged from 0.708527 to 0.710201. A group of individuals with values of approximately 0.7091 was distinguished. Their non-local origin can explain the difference of this group from the others. For the correct interpretation of the results, the comparison was based on data of a similar analysis of buried from the crypt of the temple near the village Veseloe (area of Adler) in the 9th—eleventh centuries. The temple was investigated by the staff of the Institute of Archeology of the Russian Academy of Sciences during the preparation for the Olympic Games in 2014. The figures of those buried from the crypt of the temple in the village of Veseloe and those buried on the Markul settlement turned out to be similar. These indicators are also typical to the craniologically defined as representatives of the local population and odontologically being the ancestors of the modern Abkhaz population.

The next stage of work with anthropological material was the study of the isotopic parameters of nitrogen and carbon in human bones and teeth in order to reconstruct the paleo diet. Fifteen samples of bone and dental tissues of individuals were taken from excavations on the territory of the Markul temple, and one sample from the burials at the necropolis on the southwestern slope of the settlement (pit 1).

The average values of 16 samples were -12.88/8.54%. The highest nitrogen values of 10.4% were recorded in a woman from pit 1, the lowest (6.10%) in a child of the age of infantilis II, as well as the lowest carbon value (-14.23) (works in 2017). In general, the diet of the buried can be characterized as based mainly on plant components with a small amount of meat and dairy foods. The food was based on C4 plant photosynthesis type, taking into account the period of existence of the settlement, this was millet.



Fig. 11 Isotopic indicators of nitrogen and carbon: comparison of data from the village of Veseloe (black dots) and the Markul settlement (red dots), samples of animals (crosses)

Comparative analysis (see Fig. 11) of data from the excavations of the temple near the village Veseloe 9th—eleventh centuries (Adler district), where 124 individuals were subjected to isotope analysis, showed that in the diet of this population also plant food and C4 plants of the type of photosynthesis prevailed, but in general, it was very diverse. Both groups show similar trends, but the diet of the Markul population has proven to be more specialized and traditional.

"Northern Tower" is located at the northern foot of the second plateau. It is almost completely destroyed. The established dimensions of the tower are 12×6 m, the wall thickness is from 1.2 to 1.5 m, and the height of the surviving remains is from 0.1 m to 1.5 m (Trebeleva 2020). In 2019–2020 excavations were carried out at the site of the tower, on an area of 60 sq. meters. Excavations revealed two levels of floors. A significant result was discovering architectural details—capitals of columns and fragments of bas-reliefs, which allowed interpreting the "Northern Tower" as the remains of a dwelling, a "palace" of a local ruler. But given the thickness of the walls and the presence of a buttress, the tower also had defensive functions. The discovered ceramics allows this tower to be dated from the first centuries of our era (red-lacquered ceramics) to the 14th—fifteenth centuries.

In addition to the territory of the plateau itself, the work was carried out on the southwestern slope of the settlement. Here, in the western part of the slope, a necropolis of the Tsebelda time was discovered (Trebeleva et al. 2018). In the central part of the slope, excavations revealed the presence of a settlement of the Hellenistic and Roman times: among the numerous fragments of locally produced ceramics, fragments of black-glazed ceramics (Fig. 12), together with fragments of the necks



Fig. 12 Black-glazed ceramics from excavations on the southwestern slope of the Markul settlement

and bottoms of Chio and Fasos amphorae, were found. In general, ceramics is within in the period from the fourth century BC to the turn of the era. (Trebeleva 2019a).

Thus, gradually, slowly, depict the picture of the life of the people of this area. In the early period of its history, people lived mainly on the south-western slope, but in the first centuries of our era, the situation began to change dramatically: the population ascended to the plateau and enclosed themselves with stone walls. We cannot yet say at what exact period this happened, but it can be assumed that the people, who previously lived on an open slope, began to move to the top of the plateau and build fortifications, probably because of the Gothic-Sarmatian invasions in the middle of the third century: "When the Scythians began to devastate everything that was in their path, the inhabitants of the Pontic coast retired inland to more fortified places" (Zosima, I, 32).

Another area of work was the creation of the catalogue of late antique and medieval temples. This category of monuments is remarkable because on the one hand, they are easily found on the ground, since the absolute majority of them rise above the earth's surface. On the other hand, they mark not only the direct spread of the Christian religion but also the demographic situation in the region, as well as its administrative and political division—each temple is political and administrative center, i.e. the temple is considered as "the central place", in accordance with the theory of V. Christaller (1980). Moreover, there is a lot of evidence that Christian churches in Abkhazia were built on the sites of or nearby pagan sanctuaries, which is typical for Abkhazia. For example, there is the famous and recognized Ilor temple, and next to it there is a pagan sanctuary, where priesthood rites are still held (Kvaratskheliya 2020).

This work has not yet been fully completed to date: the catalogue of temples in Western Abkhazia (Gagra, Gudauta, Sukhum regions) has been published (Sakania and Trebeleva 2019), and the processing of materials based on the results of exploration in Eastern Abkhazia (Gulripshsky, Ochamchira, Tkvarchal and Gali districts) is continued.

4 Conclusions

By analyzing the location of the site, a number of principles of forming the settlement system in the geographical and geopolitical space of northwestern Colchis can be noted, both in the area of the seaside lines and in the depth of the country: this is the location of settlements on the routes of the caravan trail, and in the coastal area—at a distance of a day's crossing of the coastal fleet in places with the convenient port for ships. Moreover, we often see the closeness of ancient city-states and fortresses to large settlements of the local population in the Gagra (Nitika) area, traced by multiple burial grounds of the Tsebelda time (traces of the settlement itself have not yet been identified, but explicitly, burial grounds and settlements are not far apart from each other), in the Pitsunda area is the Alasadzyh temple complex and the Ldzaa sanctuary, in the Bambora area it is known that a large settlement was found in this area from the Neolithic period to the Middle Ages, in the Sukhum area there is famous Esher settlement, in the area Santo Tomasso there is a Tamysh settlement. Not all sites have been fully investigated, not all have been identified, but certain trends in their location can be traced quite clearly.

Analysis of the data during a more detailed examination of the sites (Kelasur Wall and Markul settlement) allows us to draw a number of conclusions.

The Tsebeldin period (2nd—seventh centuries) was a turning point in the progress of the life of the people of northwestern Colchis. In this hard period, military tension increased, and massive defensive structures were erected (Kelasur Wall itself, the defensive structures of the Markul settlement, and, possibly, other so far unknown sites). Most likely, the reason behind the construction of fortifications was the Gothic-Sarmatian invasions of the middle of the third century. The basis of the economy during this period was agriculture, and the cultivated crop was millet.

The formation of a unified Abkhazian kingdom in the eighth century is characterized by the flourishing of this territory: the number of temples increased significantly, architecture became more complex, many defensive structures lost their importance (for example, the Kelasur Wall). Agriculture remains the basis of the economy, but the diet became more varied.

References

- Adzinba, I.E.: Arhitekturnye pamyatniki Abhazii (Archaeological monuments of Abkhazia) 155 p. Suhum (1958) (in Russian)
- Alexidze, Z. La Construction de la ΚΛΕΙΣΟΥΡΑ d'apres le nouveau manuscript sinaïtique No 50. In: Travaux et Mémoires13. Paris, 673–681 (2020) (In French)
- Beradze, T.: Vahushti Bagrationi i voprosy istoricheskoy geografii Odishi (Vakhushti Bagrationi and questions of the historical geography of Odisha). In: Sbornik istoricheskoy geografii Gruzii (Collection of Historical Geography of Georgia) IV, 137–151. Tbilisi (1971) (in Russian)
- Bgazhba, S. Z. Lakoba. Istoriya Abkhazii s drevneyshikh vremen do nashikh dney. (History of Abkhazia. From ancient times to the present day). 392 p., Sukhum (2007) (In Russian)

- Chernyavskiy, S.V.: Zapiska o pamyatnikah Zakavkazya, issledovanie kotoryh naibolee nastoyatelno (A note on the monuments of Western Transcaucasia, the study of which is most urgent) In: V arkheologicheskiy syezd v Tiflise Protokoly Podgotovitelnogo komiteta, izdannyye pod red. sekretarya Komiteta I.D. Mansvetova (V archaeological Congress in Tiflis Protocols of the Preparatory Committee, published under the editorship of. Secretary of the Committee I.D. Mansvetova) I, 14–24, Moscow (1882) (In Russian)
- Christaller, W.: Die zentralen Orte in Süddeutschland eine ökonomisch-geographische Untersuchung über die Gesetzmässigkeit der Verbreitung und Entwicklung der Siedlungen mit städtischen Funktionen. Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft Publ. Darmstadt (1980) (In German)
- Dubois de Montpéreux, F. Puteshestvie vokrug Kavkaza (Travel around the Caucasus). Transl. from French N.A. Dankevich- Pushchina. Abkhaz State Publishing House. Suhum 180 p. (1937) (in Russian)
- Ivaschenko, M.M.: O napravlenii Kelasurskoy steny. (About the direction of the Kelasur wall) In: Izvestiya Abhazskogo nauchnogo obschestva (Bulletin of the Abkhaz Scientific Society) 4, 90–92, Suhum (1926) (In Russian)
- Ivaschenko, M.M.: Velikaya Abhazskaya stena (Great Abkhaz wall) In: Izvestiya Abhazskogo nauchnogo obschestva (Bulletin of the Abkhaz Scientific Society) 1, 61–89, Suhum (1925) (in Russian)
- Kudryavcev, K.D.: Sbornik materialov po istorii Abhazii (Collection of materials on the history of Abkhazia). 184 p. Suhum (1922) (in Russian)
- Kvaratskheliya, S.: Serdtse byka i tayny Bytkhi: kak posvyashchayut v abkhazskiye zhretsy. (The heart of the bull and the secrets of Bytkha: how to initiate the Abkhaz priests.) In: Sputnik Abkhaziya (Sputnik Abkhazia) [Electronic resource]. Access mode: https://sputnik-abkhazia.ru/Abkhazia/20200221/1029499573/Po-sledam-Poslednego-iz-ushedshikh-vozrozhdenie-svyatilischa-Bytkha.html (2020) (In Russian)
- Lihachev, I.: Chlovskaya peschera i legenda o Ablaskire—Prometee (Chlouvskaya cave and the legend of Abrskil—Prometheus). In: Trudy V Arheologicheskogo syezda v Tiflise (Proceedings of the V archaeological congress in Tiflis), 245–248, Moscow (1881) (In Russian)
- Miller, A.A.: Razvedki na Chernomorskom poberezhe Kavkaza v 1907 (Exploration on the Black Sea coast of the Caucasus in 190). In: Imperatorskaya Arheologicheskaya Komissiya (Imperial Archaeological Commission) 53, 74–76 (1909) (In Russian)
- Sakania, S.M., Trebeleva, G.V.: Pozdneantichnyye i srednevekovyye khristianskiye khramy Severo-Vostochnogo Prichernomorya. Katalog. (Late antique and medieval Christian churches of the North-Eastern Black Sea region. Catalog) Vol. 1. Zapadnaya Abkhaziya (Gagrskiy, Gudautskiy, Sukhumskiy rayony. (Western Abkhazia (Gagra, Gudauta, Sukhum districts), 201 p., Magnitogorsk (2019) (In Russian)
- Trapsh, M.M.: Trudy v 4h tomah (Works in 4 volumes) Vol. 2. Drevniy Sukhumi (Ancient Sukhumi), 375 p., Suhumi (1969) (In Russian)
- Trapsh, M.M.: Trudy v 4-h tomah (Works in 4 volumes) Vol.4. Materialy po arkheologii srednevekovoy Abkhazii (Materials on the archeology of medieval Abkhazia). 258 p. Suhumi (1975) (in Russian)
- Trebeleva, G.V.: Antichnyye sloi Markulskogo gorodishcha (Antique layers of the Markul settlement) In: Antichnyye Relikvii Khersonesa: Otkrytiya, Nakhodki, Teorii/Materialy nauchnoy konferentsii, "Antique Relics of Chersonesos: Discoveries, Findings, Theories"/Proceedings of a Scientific conference), 270–273 (2019a) (In Russian)
- Trebeleva, G.V.: Velikaya abkhazskaya (Kelasurskaya) stena: rezultaty issledovaniya (The Great Abkhazian (Kelasur) Wall: Research Results). 397 p., Moscow (2019b) (In Russian)
- Trebeleva, G.V., Khondziya, Z.G., Shvedchikova, T.Yu., Yurkov, G.Yu.: Issledovaniya na yugozapadnom sklone Markulskogo gorodishcha (Research on the southwestern slope of the Markul settlement) Kratkiye soobshcheniya institua arkheologii (Brief communications of the Institute of Archeology), 252(2), 265–272, 2018 (in Russian)

- Trebeleva, G.V., Khondziya, Z.G., Yavorskaya, L.V., Yurkov, V.G.: Rezultaty raskopok v bashne Alakhash-abaa Markulskogo gorodishcha v 2018 g. (Results of excavations in the Alakhashabaa tower of the Markul settlement in 2018). In: Problemy issledovaniya drevnikh i srednevekovykh poseleniy i mogilnikov Zapadnogo Kavkaza. IX «Anfimovskiye chteniya» po arkheologii Zapadnogo Kavkaza. Materialy mezhdunarodnoy arkheologicheskoy konferentsii (Problems of research of ancient and medieval settlements and burial grounds of the Western Caucasus. IX Anfimov readings on the archeology of the Western Caucasus. Materials of the International Archaeological Conference, 326–333, Krasnodar (2019a) (In Russian)
- Trebeleva, G.V., Kizilov, A.S., Glazov, K.A., Khondziya, Z.G., Yurkov, G.Yu.: Oboronitelnyye sooruzheniya Markulskogo gorodishcha. K voprosu datirovki (Defensive structures of the Markul settlement. To the question of dating) In: Kratkiye soobshcheniya instituta arkheologii. (Brief reports of the Institute of Archaeology), 256, 230–239 (2019b) (In Russian)
- Trebeleva, G.V., Sakania, S.M., Glazov, K.A., Kizilov, A.S., Khondziya, Z.G., Yurkov, G.Yu.: Issledovaniye khramov pozdneantichnoy i rannesrednevekovoy Abkhazii: fotogrammetriya i 3D modelirovaniye (Study of temples of late antique and early medieval Abkhazia: photogrammetry and 3D modeling). In: Problemy issledovaniya drevnikh i srednevekovykh poseleniy i mogilnikov Zapadnogo Kavkaza. IX «Anfimovskiye chteniya» po arkheologii Zapadnogo Kavkaza. Materialy mezhdunarodnoy arkheologicheskoy konferentsii (Problems of research of ancient and medieval settlements and burial grounds of the Western Caucasus. To the 110th anniversary of the birth of N.V. Anfimova. IX "Anfimov readings" on the archeology of the Western Caucasus. Materials of the international archaeological conference, 318–325. Felitsyn's museum Publ., Krasnodar (2019c) (In Russian)
- Trebeleva, G.V., Yurkov, G.Yu.: Po Velikoy Abkhazskoy (Kelasurskoy) stene: ot r. Kelasur do r. Ulys i problema vostochnogo kontsa (Along the Great Abkhazian (Kelasur) wall: from the river. Kelasur to r. Ulys and the problem of the eastern end) In: Problemy istorii, filologii i kul'tury, v pechati (Problems of history, philology and culture) 1, 365–383 (2015) (In Russian)
- Trebeleva, G.V.: Issledovaniya Markulskogo gorodishcha v 2019 godu: Dalnyaya bashnya (Research of the Markul settlement in 2019: Dalnaya tower). In: Hypanis. Trudy otdela klassicheskoy arkheologii IA RAN (Hypanis. Proceedings of the Department of Classical Archeology of the IA RAS.) 2, 224–232 (2020). (in Russian)
- Trebeleva, G.V., Shvedchikova, T.Yu.: Zakhoroneniya na territorii Markul'skogo khrama (Burials on the territory of the Markul temple) In: Hypanis. Trudy otdela klassicheskoy arkheologii IA RAN (Hypanis. Proceedings of the Department of Classical Archeology of the IA RAS), 1, 162–173, Moscow (2019). (in Russian)
- Uvarova, P.S.: Kavkaz. Abkhaziya, Adzhariya, Shavshetiya Poskhovskiy uchastok. Putevyye zametki Grafini Uvarovoy (Caucasus.Abkhazia, Adjara, ShavshetiaPoskhovsky section Travel notes of Countess Uvarova). 323 p., Moscow (1891).(In Russian)
- Voronov, Yu.N.: Kelasurskaya stena (The Kelasur wall). In: Sovetskaya arheologiya (Soviet archaeology) 2, 100–122 (1973) (In Russian)

The Use of Remote Sensing Methods for Studying of the Ancient Greek Land Division System of Tauric Chersonesos on the Mayachnyy Peninsula of the Crimea Peninsula



Tatiana N. Smekalova and Edgar A. Terekhin

Abstract A detailed analysis of the 1940s archival aerial photographs and a 1966 satellite image, has shown that the earliest land division of the ancient Tauric Chersonesos affected the Sredinnyy Peninsula of the Crimean Peninsula, as well as the territory to the southeast of the fortification on the isthmus of Mayachnyy, which is on the outside the Mayachnyy Peninsula. Before, it was believed that such division had affected only the territory of the Mayachnyy Peninsula. Land surveying of the Sredinnyy Peninsula probably began from the Great Chersonesos road, as evidenced by the parallel orientation and the regular square shape of the blocks of sections adjacent to the road. Thus, the area of the initial land surveying was probably 930–940 hectares, almost twice of the territory of 460–470 hectares, as is has been previously assumed.

Keywords Tauric Chersonesos · Ancient greek land division system · Mayachnyy peninsula · Remote sensing methods

1 Introduction

The townsite of Chersonesos and its nearby agrarian surroundings (the chora) are now the rare example of a well-preserved ancient Greek cultural landscape in the Mediterranean and the Black Sea region. In 2013, owing to its worldwide scientific importance, the archaeological site of the 'Ancient city Tauric Chersonesos and its chora'

T. N. Smekalova (🖂)

E. A. Terekhin

Center for History and Archaeology of Crimea of V.I. Vernadsky Crimean Federal University, Academician Vernadsky Ave., 4, 295000 Simferopol, Russia

National Research Center "Kurchatov Institute", Academician Kurchatov Sq., 1, 123098 Simferopol, Russia

Belgorod State National Research University, Pobedy St., 85, 308015 Belgorod, Russia e-mail: terekhin@bsu.edu.ru

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_31

was included in the list of monuments protected by UNESCO. The Mayachnyy Peninsula constitutes the north-western extremity of the Heraclean Peninsula protruding to the open sea and separated from the latter by the Kazachya Bay deeply cut into the coast from the north (Fig. 1a). It is exactly here, as many researchers suppose, that the earliest Chersonesean land division was carried out in the first half of the fourth century BC. The neck of land 760 m wide, formed by the endpoint of the bay, and the sea is raised 20–36 m above sea level and dominates the entire adjoining area of the Heraklean Peninsula. At this isthmus, not later than at the end of the first—beginning of the second quarter of the fourth century BC, a fortification was erected constituted by two lines of defensive walls with towers (Shcheglov 1993).

The prominent Russian archaeologist Mikhail I. Rostovtsev, informed by Strabo about ruined Old Chersonesos (VII 4. 2), has presumed that the site had been situated on the isthmus of the Mayachny Peninsula and only subsequently was transferred to the place where now the Chersonesean townsite is located (Rostovtsev 1914; Nikolaenko 2018). The discovery of the fortifications on the isthmus of the Mayachnyy Peninsula by Karol Kościuszko-Waluszyński in 1890 initiated the discussion on their character. The scholars considered the hillfort on the isthmus as one of the Chersonesean strongholds mentioned in the Chersonesean Oath (IOSPE I², 401), a shelter site barring access to the settled Mayachny Peninsula. Shcheglov (1994) has reconstructed the general plan of the fortifications on the isthmus, drawn their detailed plan, and defined their purpose as a combination of a military fortress viewing the Herakleian Peninsula, the agricultural territory, a dwelling district with a specially allocated sacred area in the south and a haven in the north. An investigation of fortified structures conducted on the isthmus by Dem'yanchuk and Nessel' confirmed the Shcheglov's supposition that the fortification here combined the function of a fortress and a settlement (Dem'yanchuk and Nessel 2011). Based on the aggregate evidence, Nikolaenko (2018) has succeeded in the reconstruction of the history of the chora of the Mayachnyy Peninsula on the isthmus where, in the second quarter of the fourth century BC, a fortified settlement was built. According to Zedgenidze (2019), the purpose of the fortress was that of the protection of the land plots on the Mayachnyy Peninsula, preventing the necessity to construct fortified towers in the estates, like it was within the other area of the Herakleian (надо: Heraklean) Peninsula (Zedgenidze 2019).

The first detailed plan of the Chersonesean land division system was compiled in 1786 by the topographer I.O. Pepelev by the order of Academician K.I. Hablitz. The second,—unique in its information richness,—plan of the remains of the ancient land-division structures on the Mayachnyy Peninsula was drawn by lieutenant-colonel L. Serristori in 1825 (Nikolaenko 2018). The next research stage included a recording of the scheme of ancient land plots in the half-verst map (1 versta = 0.5334 km) of 1886 (scale 1:21,000). Rostovtsev recognized the great significance of the discovery of the ancient land-division system for the entire Black Sea and Mediterranean region. In 1911, Pechenkin, after a recommendation by Rostovtsev, realized a corrected plan of the ancient land plots on the Mayachnyy Peninsula (Shcheglov 1993). In the 1960s, Strzheletskiy in collaboration with Shcheglov, Kutykina (Nikolaenko), and Zherebtsov drafted field drawings of blocks nos. 49–54 on the Mayachnyy Peninsula



Fig. 1 a—plan for the land division of the Herakleian Peninsula created based on archival aerial photographs of the 1940s and satellite image of 1966; b—an enlarged part of the ancient land division in the area of the Mayachnyy and Sredinnyy peninsulas

(Nikolaenko 2018). Later, in 1969–1983, the collection of detailed drawings on location was supplemented by topographic plans fulfilled by Ye.N. Zherebtsov on several blocks in the south of the Mayachnyy Peninsula (1985).

2 Materials and Methods

Despite the important attainments of the archaeological cartography in the sphere of recording the remains of the ancient land division, a critical moment in the studies of the ancient land division at the near chora of Chersonesos, including the Mayachnyy Peninsula, has come only when the collection of trophy German Luftwaffe photos of 1941–1944 kept in the National Archives and Records of the United States of America (NARA II) became available. The special importance of this source is in the fact that by the beginning of the World War II, the areas of the Heraklean and Mayachnyy peninsulas still had not been built up and, therefore, the structure of the ancient land division is visible undisturbed in these images. For plotting the grid of land lots, a CORONA panchromatic satellite photograph of 1966 with the spatial resolution of 0.5 m was used. It was obtained from the resources of the National Geological Service of the United States of America (USGS). Based on the mosaic of the geo-referenced aerial photographs of 1941–44, along with the satellite photo of 1966, the grid of ancient land division was plotted with precise geographic coordinates. The detailed plans of the internal division of blocks of the land plots over the entire Heraklean Peninsula including the Mayachnyy Peninsula, were also drawn (Fig. 1a) (Smekalova et al. 2018). The main principles of the Chersonesean land division were thus defined (Smekalova 2019). Also, the examination of the detailed aerial photographs of the 1940s has enabled us to return to the problem of the initial ancient land division which is the subject of the present article.

3 Results and Discussion

In the course of the studies mentioned above, it was established that a *hekatorygos*, i.e., a square with the side of 100 *orgyiai* or 209.4 m, was originally the unit of a singular citizen's land lot (Smekalova et al. 2018). The configuration of the plotted grid of land lots (Fig. 1a) and the direction of the division axes on the Mayachnyy and Sredinnyy peninsulas are different from the other territory of the Herakleian peninsula. The sizes of the blocks on the Mayachnyy and Sredinnyy peninsulas constituted of the four citizen's *hekatorygoi* plots also differ from those on the Herakleian peninsula where the blocks comprised 6 *hekatorygoi* each (Fig. 1b). This fact implies that the Sredinnyy Peninsula was among the first land division areas as well as the Mayachny Peninsula, as supposed by practically all the researchers (Nikolaenko 2018).



Fig. 2 Block 138: **a**—aerial photograph of April 23, 1944, from the NARA II collection. GX 1893 sd2/994; **b**—a drawing of the internal land division of block 138 against the background of the relief of the terrain

Moreover, the examination of the aerial photos of the 1940s allowed archaeologists to conclude that, according to the 'initial' grid, the land was divided before the construction of the fortifications on the isthmus of the Mayachnyy Peninsula on its south-eastern side and at the joint of the Mayachnyy and Sredinnyy peninsulas (Fig. 2a, b). Here, we see a critical difference between the orientations of the borders of blocks nos. 42, 44, 43, 43a, and 138, and the other vast territory of the Herakleian Peninsula.

At the same time, the orientation of the land division of these 'borderland' blocks coincide with the directions of the walls of the fortress on the isthmus of the Mayachnyy Peninsula (see Fig. 1a, δ). Hence, the area adjoining the external side of the fortification was, possibly, divided simultaneously with the construction of the fortress on the isthmus. Block 44, the extreme one on the southwest from the seaward side, adjoins the walls of the fortification. Block 42 adjoins the fortification on one side and the Great Chersonesean Road on the other (Fig. 1a, b). Blocks 43 and 43a, located south from that road follow the orientation of the walls of blocks 44 and 42.

The specially marked difference between the 'initial' plan of the plots and the subsequent total division of the Herakleian Peninsula is discernible at the example of the scheme of the detailed inner division of block no. 138 (Fig. 2b). The external and internal borders of the block, as well as the plantation walls of the vineyards,

were traced through a German aerial photo of 1944 (Fig. 2a). Block no. 138 is demarcated according to the the orientation of the walls on the isthmus of the Mayachnyy Peninsula, as well as blocks nos. 44 and 42 (see Fig. 2b). In the junction places of of block no. 138 with blocks nos. 45, 137, and 139, which are divided according to the 'new' scheme, we see an abrupt disruption of the inner boundaries and division walls of the vineyards (see Fig. 26). The probable boundary between the 'initial' and 'new' division system is shown in Fig. 16. Blocks nos. 42, 44, 138, 43, and 43a were demarcated according to the 'old system. Demarcation of blocks nos. 45, 137, and 139 was carried out according to the 'new' rules.

Possibly, the area of the 'initial' land division extended also to the territory which later comprised blocks nos. 45, 46, and 137, but subsequently, during the global surveying of the entire Herakleian Peninsula, these blocks were re-demarcated. It is unclear what induced the surveyors to retain the previous inner division at block no. 138. Perhaps, it was the proximity to the seashore with its irregular outlines, which in the case of re-planning would have compelled surveyors to solve a complicated problem of demarcation of marginal areas. It is also cannot be ruled out that blocks nos. 42, 44, 138, and others, adjoining the Mayachnyy and Sredinnyy peninsulas were owned by some influential citizens who did not want to re-plan their long-established vineyards. This fact can be indirectly suggested by the well-known Chersonesean IOSPE I² 403 inscription where large plots, presumably located in the region of the Mayachnyy Peninsula, are enumerated. Thus, the Pasicharos' land tenure comprised over 22 hekatorygoi or 96 ha. Promathion son of Dionysius, also owned a very large plot of land totalling over 20 hekatorygoi or 91 ha; otherwise unknown son of Nanon possessed a plot of over 11 hekatorygoi (48 ha) (Smekalova & Terekhin 2018; Smekalova et al. 2018).

The land division on the Sredinnyy Peninsula started beginning from the Great Chersonesean Road that is suggested by the parallel orientation and the regular square form of blocks nos. 35 and 36, adjoining the road, as well as blocks nos. 34 and 37 of the 'second row' (see Fig. 16). The bordering blocks nos. 32 and 32a are only blocks of the irregular form, evidently defined by the complex outlines of the Streletskaya Bay. Therefore, we should recognize the high significance of the Great Chersonesean Road that connected the settlement on the isthmus of the Mayachny Peninsula with Chersonesos via the shortest and most convenient land route about 8.5 km long.

4 Conclusions

A detailed examination of archive aerial photographs of the 1940s and a satellite image of 1966 succeeded in demonstrating that the earliest land division took place on the Mayachnyy Peninsula, as supposed earlier, and on the neighbouring Sredinnyy Peninsula, as well as at the outside territories to the south-east from the fortification on the isthmus. In other words, the fortifications on the isthmus defended the Mayachnyy Peninsula itself and also its neighboring territories to the southeast and east from the Peninsula. In case of the enemy's attack, people working in these lands could have

a shelter behind the fortification walls on the isthmus, together with the residents of the Mayachnyy Peninsula.

At the same time, the presence of land plots at the approaches from the external south-eastern side of the fortification on the isthmus of the Mayachnyy Peninsula strengthened its defensive capacity because it created additional obstacles against an attacking enemy. The enemy, having entered a vineyard, which was covered with plantation walls and grape spreading or twisting over the trees, had difficulty getting out from there. If the enemy had found himself in an area where the plantation walls ran perpendicularly relative to the walls of neighbouring fields, he would have finally lost the orientation in such a trap. As evidenced by Aristotle, "so rural dwellers act while planting vines arranging them for safety in crossing rows" (Arist. Pol. VII X.5. 28–30).

Thus, it may be concluded that the area of the initial land division was 930-940 hectares, almost twice the territory of 460-470 ha as supposed before (Shcheglov 1993). This figure takes into consideration the rise of the sea level and abrasion of the shores by now, which increase the area by 10-12%.

Acknowledgements The research was funded by RFBR and the Republic of Crimea, project no. 20-49-910002.

References

- Dem'yanchuk, S.G., Nessel', V.A.: Novyye dannyye o fortifikatsionnykh sooruzheniyakh na peresheyke Mayachnogo poluostrova (New data on fortifications on the isthmus of the Mayachnyy Peninsula). Khersonesskiy Sbornik (Chersonesos Collection) 16, 65–78 (2011) (In Russian)
- Nikolaenko, G.M.: Drevnosti Mayachnogo poluostrova. Arkheologicheskaya kharakteristika pamyatnikov (Antiquities of the Mayachny Peninsula. Archaeological characteristics of the monuments), Albatros, Sevastopol, 344 p. (2018) (In Russian)
- Rostovtsev, M.I.: Strabon kak istochnik dlya istorii Bospora. (Strabo as a source for the history of the Bosporus). Sbornik statey v chest V.P. Buzeskula (Collection of articles in honor of V.P. Buzeskula), 366–380. Kharkov (1914) (In Russian)
- Shcheglov, A.N.: Osnovnyye strukturnyye elementy antichnoy mezhevoy sistemy na Mayachnom poluostrove (Yugo-Zapadnyy Krym) (The main structural elements of the antique boundary system on the Mayachny Peninsula (Southwestern Crimea)). In: Istoriya i arkheologiya Yugo-Zapadnogo Kryma (History and Archaeology of the South-West Crimea). (Ed. by Yu.M. Mogarichev), 10–38, Tavria, Simferopol (1993) (In Russian)
- Shcheglov, A.N.: «Staryy» Khersones Strabona. Ukrepleniya na peresheyke Mayachnogo poluostrova: topografiya i fortifikatsiya ("Old" Chersonesos of Strabo. Fortifications on the isthmus of the Mayach Peninsula: topography and fortification). In: Mogarichev Yu.M. (ed.). Problems of the history and archeology of Crimea. In: Istoriya i arkheologiya Yugo-Zapadnogo Kryma. History and Archaeology of the South-West Crimea (Ed. by Yu.M. Mogarichev), 8–42, Tavria, Simferopol (1994) (In Russian)
- Smekalova, T.N.: O velichinakh ploshchadi i yedinitsakh yeye izmereniya na khore Khersonesa Tavricheskogo (On the sizes of land plots and units of their measurement on the chora of Tauric Chersonesos). Vestnik drevney istorii (Journal of Ancient History) 1, 58–76 (2019).
- Smekalova, T.N., Terekhin, E.A., Pasumanskiy, A.E.: Rekonstruktsiya antichnoy sistemy mezhevaniya khory Khersonesa Tavricheskogo s ispol'zovaniyem metodov distantsionnogo

zondirovaniya (Reconstructing the ancient land division system of Tauric Chersonesos with the aid of remote sensing). Vestnik drevney istorii (Journal of Ancient History) 2, 306–332 (2018) (In Russian)

- Smekalova, T.N., Terekhin, E.A.: Novyye dannyye o voyennoy organizatsii grazhdan Khersonesa Tavricheskogo, otrazhennoy v strukture yego zemel'nogo kadastra (New Evidences about Social-Military Organization of Tauric Chersonesos as reflected in the structure of its cadaster). Stratum Plus 5, 89–105 (2018) (In Russian)
- Zedgenidze, A.A.: Khersones Tavricheskiy: prostranstvennaya organizatsiya i naznacheniye ukrepleniya na peresheyke Mayachnogo poluostrova (Tauric Chersonesos: spatial organization and purpose of the fortification on the isthmus of the Mayachny Peninsula). Vestnik drevney istorii (Bulletin of Ancient History) 3, 608–639 (2019) (In Russian)
- Zherebtsov, E.N.: Materialy k periodizatsii antichnykh pamyatnikov Mayachnogo poluostrova (Materials for the periodization of the ancient monuments of the Mayachny Peninsula). Kratkiye soobshcheniya instituta arkheologii (Brief Communications of the Institute of Archaeology) 182, 38–45 (1985) (In Russian)

Geoarchaeological Studies on the Territory of Baikal Siberia: Approach and Methods



Natalia E. Berdnikova, Ivan M. Berdnikov, Galina A. Vorobieva, Alexander A. Shchetnikov, Ivan A. Filinov, Ksenia A. Krutikova, Dmitrii P. Zolotarev, and Ekaterina A. Lipnina

Abstract In the work, we offer a brief review of the geoarchaeological research concept, which we use during the studying of the Baikal Siberia archaeological sites. Our developments allow us to distinguish typical sediments and situations for the MIS 2 and MIS 1 geoarchaeological complexes, define the features of the sediments and archaeological complexes in them, create the system of correctness revealing of radiocarbon dates based on geoarchaeological assessment. Our research is based on four positions: (1) Geoarchaeology is a source study discipline with its methods of study. (2) The main object of research is the geoarchaeosite, which is a complexly structured integral system, where the summation of traces of natural and anthropogenic events is encrypted. (3) Geoarchaeology should be a transdisciplinary direction, the nature of which is determined by the complex origin of the geoarchaeological site. (4) Geoarchaeological research should be based, first of all, both on the methods of actualism and stratigraphy with overcoming mistakes in identifying objects and phenomena, as well as on pedolithological and event approaches. Our proposed geoarchaeological developments, which for many years have been successfully used in research on the territory of Baikal Siberia, are in a constant process of refinement and approbation, which significantly expands their capabilities and prospects.

Keywords Baikal siberia · Geoarchaeology · Concept · Geoarchaeosite · Actualism · Stratigraphy · Pedolithological approach Event approach

Irkutsk State University, Karl Marx-str., 1, 664003 Irkutsk, Russia

A. A. Shchetnikov e-mail: shch@crust.irk.ru

I. A. Filinov e-mail: filinov@crust.irk.ru

A. A. Shchetnikov · I. A. Filinov Institute of the Earth's Crust SB RAS, Lermontov-str., 128, 664003 Irkutsk, Russia

391

N. E. Berdnikova (\boxtimes) · I. M. Berdnikov · G. A. Vorobieva · A. A. Shchetnikov · I. A. Filinov · K. A. Krutikova · D. P. Zolotarev · E. A. Lipnina

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_32

1 Introduction

Geoarchaeology implies archaeological research using the methods and concepts of geosciences (Butzer 1982: xi). Its main goal is to build integrated models of human and environmental systems and to investigate the nature, sequence, and causes of anthropogenic and natural impacts on the landscape (French 2003: 3).

The development of archaeology, first of all, of the Stone Age, took place as a part of geological research; therefore geology and archaeology have always coexisted in symbiosis (Medvedev 2008; Kuzmin 2017; Butzer 1982; Waters 1992; Rapp and Hill 2006; Goldberg and Macphail 2006). The starting point for the formation of geoarchaeology is associated with the works of Karl Butzer (1964, 1971), who was the first to use the term "geoarchaeology" (Butzer 1973). The book published a little later with the term "geoarchaeology" in the title was no less important for the development of this discipline. (Davidson et al. 1976). Colin Renfrew proclaimed the basic slogan in the preface to this book: "every archaeological problem starts as a problem in geoarchaeology" (ib.: 2).

Geoarchaeology is provided with a large number of various publications in current world practice, including the thematic journal "Geoarchaeology: an International Journal", monographs, collections, special issues, and individual papers (Butzer 1964, 1971, 1973, 1982; Waters 1992; Goldberg and Macphail, 2006; Rapp and Hill 2006; Woodward and Huckleberry 2010; French 2003, 2015; Gilbert 2017; Kluiving et al. 2017; Siart et al. 2018; and many others).

A huge set of methods has been formed in studying problems associated with the "nature—human" system in all its aspects for more than 50-year history of the development of geoarchaeology as a separate direction (Stein and Farrand 2001; French 2003; Canti and Huisman 2015; Karkanas and Goldberg 2018). By the joint efforts of scientists, starting with Karl Butzer (1982) and Michael (1992), the basic principles, subject areas, research fields, and procedures for geoarchaeology have been determined (Butzer 1982, 2008; Waters 1992; Goldberg and Macphail 2006; Rapp and Hill 2006; Kelley and Sanger 2017). The main research fields are the geochronological context of sites, the spatial context, the preservation of data at and outside the archaeological site, and ancient landscapes (Butzer 1982; Waters 1992). The system of geoarchaeological study necessarily includes the functions of a quick transition to different-scale levels. Macro-scale research is related to the environment. Meso-scale level locates a geoarchaeosite in an environmental system. Micro-scale research investigates the site itself (Butzer 2008).

However, there are methodological differences in the definition of the essence and role of geoarchaeology. Some perceive it as an independent fundamental discipline (Goldberg and Macphail 2006; Bebermeier and Schütt 2011), others as an interdisciplinary approach (Butzer, 1982, 2008; Waters 1992; Rapp and Hill 2006; Kuzmin 2017). Within the last approach, the position of geoarchaeology is defined as a subsidiary, and the use of natural scientific methods becomes an aim in itself (Barrera and Pardo 2020). Serious problems of geoarchaeology are the problems of interdisciplinary cooperation, the degree of integration and duration of such cooperation, different views on the scope of research, the absence of a common conceptual and terminological apparatus (Butzer 2008; Chazan 2017; Meignen et al. 2017), an arbitrary choice of the geoarchaeological methods, as well as theoretical and methodological fuzziness. These problems are still far from being solved.

In Russia, the development of geoarchaeology as a scientific direction also took place in the system of the world trend of close and mutual cooperation with the Earth sciences. The research tradition of Russian archaeology does not imply the formation of interdisciplinary systems (subdisciplines) in separate directions with their names. However, geoarchaeological procedures can be traced from the 1920s to the works of Alexei Pavlov, Valerian Gromov, and their followers (Medvedev 2008).

The term "geoarchaeology" in Russian literature began to be used in the 1980s, primarily in publications of Siberian researchers of the Paleolithic. But it did not receive wide distribution. Only in the twenty-first century, the geoarchaeological trend is becoming more pronounced (Zaykov et al. 2012; Panin 2012; Kuzmin 2017; Pitulko and Pavlova 2010; Sorokin 2018). Contemporary Russian scientists have an ambiguous attitude towards geoarchaeology, from acceptance to almost complete rejection (Tetenkin 2003; Zolnikov et al. 2013).

The concept of "geoarchaeology" initially contains an axiological aspect of significance, within which it is perceived as an auxiliary discipline for archaeological research. The current situation determines the need to consider the essence of geoarchaeology, its significance, and possibilities in Russian archaeological practice.

At Irkutsk State University, the origin and formation of the geoarchaeological study are associated with the name of the leader of the Irkutsk archaeological school German Medvedev (1936–2015). Our long-term studies, based, among other things, on his proposals, allowed us to create an original geoarchaeological concept (research system) with its methods and procedures, in which the central place is given to the geoarchaeosite. It was formed as a result of cooperation with representatives of natural sciences, regardless of foreign developments (due to limited access to publications on this topic in the Soviet and, partially, in the post-Soviet period). On the one hand, this concept has much in common with global geoarchaeological studies. The purpose of this article is to show the results of using our research system in the study of the Late Pleistocene and Holocene geoarchaeosites of Baikal Siberia.

2 Materials and Methods

Our approaches and methods have been tested for nearly forty years on several hundred stratified and exposed geoarchaeological objects of Baikal Siberia¹ of a

¹ In this study, Baikal Siberia is understood as a region located within the boundaries of the south of Central Siberia, the Cis-Baikal mountain region and Western Transbaikal. The expediency of using

wide age range (Stratigraphia 1990; Vorobieva 2010). Including such well-known sites as Malta, Ust-Belaya, Galashikha, Sosnovyi Bor, Strizhovaya Gora, Igetei, Georgievskoe, Kazachka, Gorelyi Les, Ust-Khaita, A. G. Generalov site, Tuyana, I. W. Arembovskii site, Ulan-Khada, Sagan-Zaba 2, Posolskaya, Irkutsk Fortress, etc.

As a result of many years of interdisciplinary geoarchaeological research, we got the opportunity to implement our concept.

And it, as mentioned, was formed at the initial stage independently of the wellknown world geoarchaeological developments. We focus on the archaeological site during conducting geoarchaeological research. The term "geoarchaeological object" or "geoarchaeosite" was used to clarify this concept (Medvedev 2008; Fouache and Rasse 2009). Below is the text, we mainly use the second term. If we proceed from the provisions of Karl Butzer on the scale of geoarchaeological research (2008), then micro-scale studies associated with the study of the geoarchaeosite itself are basic in geoarchaeological research.

Geoarchaeology in our developments acts as a source study discipline with its methods of analysis, synthesis, and assessment of the reliability of geoarchaeological data and results. There is such a separate direction (subdiscipline) as "source studies" in the Russian historical tradition, which considers approaches and methods of working with historical sources. The theoretical and methodological development of archaeological source study in Russian science was proposed by Lev Klejn (1978).

Geoarchaeosite is the only source of information about ancient cultures and the environment. It can be defined as an area with archaeological remains, traces of past human activities, and natural processes in an exposed or stratified position. In turn, the geoarchaeosite is a structured integral system of natural and cultural genesis.

The issue of choosing integrated studies and their organization is quite acute today. A wide arsenal of natural-scientific methods of geoarchaeological research requires systematization, determination of their minimum standard set, and determination of the protocol for their implementation (Canti and Huisman 2015; Fouache 2013; Kokinou 2015). This is a quite voluminous work, which, in addition to time-consuming, requires methodic and methodological developments.

In terms of classification, integrated scientific approaches boil down to multidisciplinary, interdisciplinary, and transdisciplinary approaches, which differ in the degree of integration, the capacity of cooperation, and the research motivation. The most effective form of cooperation is transdisciplinarity, which defines new forms of interaction with the crossing of disciplinary boundaries in solving problems and creating a new methodology for gaining knowledge (Mobjörk 2010; Hirsch et al. 2013). This also applies to geoarchaeology, when none of the parties (humanitarian or natural) acts to the other as a leading or auxiliary discipline (Kluiving and Guttmann-Bond 2012).

The most effective form of cooperation for geoarchaeology is transdisciplinarity, which defines new forms of interaction in solving scientific problems and creating a new methodological basis for obtaining knowledge (Clark 2009; Mobjörk 2009,

this term is fully justified from the point of view of cultural and geographical research. This is also confirmed by archaeological data.

2010; Hirsch et al. 2008, 2013). This is the initial stage of the formation of transdisciplinary cooperation, which will allow the involvement of the public in the future in a wide discussion of the results of geoarchaeological research (Kidder and Liu 2017).

Geoarchaeological research is based on the methods of actualism² and stratigraphy with "recognition thresholds". Evgenia (1994) has developed the problem of "recognition" in archaeology. She introduced the concept of the "recognition threshold" of paleolife fragments, which depend on the chronological gap between the present and the past. This gap is the reason for the "recognition mistakes", overcoming of which allows adequately identifying various phenomena in the system of a geoarchaeosite. They include the modernization mistake (when later analogs are used as objects-differentiators), the archaization mistake (when a young source is taken as an earlier one), the socialization mistake (when a natural formation is interpreted as a cultural one), the naturalization mistake (when artifactual objects and traces are considered as results of natural processes), and the substitution mistake (when one formation of the same is taken for another).

Traces set of natural and anthropogenic events sealed in sediments are encoded in the geoarchaeosite. An event is defined as a change in state, and any process consists of a series of explicit or latent events. The principle of eventfulness can be determined as revealing and identification of various traces and remains of natural and cultural origin in the deposits of a geoarchaeosite, and their correlation with different events. The pedolithological and event (event-contextual) approaches were formed on their basis. The pedolithological approach is defined as a set of methods of soil science and lithology in combination with other tools used to decipher the genesis of deposits, reconstruct the paleoenvironment, and the stratigraphic sequence of events (Vorobieva 2010). The event approach is aimed at determining the aggregates of phenomena that are in close connection. The formation of this connection is due to a certain meaning and content. The concept of "context" is widely used in geoarchaeology with its different levels and forms being distinguished (Butzer 1982; Rapp and Hill 2006). The term "geoarchaeological context" was proposed by Mariya Aleksandrova in Russian scientific literature (Aleksandrova 1998). The main task of the event-contextual approach is the identification of archaeological traces in the sediments with overcoming the "recognition mistakes". This, in turn, makes it possible to reliably and fully organize the process of interpreting geoarchaeological contexts and adequately reconstruct the way of life of ancient communities (Berdnikova and Vorobieva 2009).

The classification of geoarchaeosites is based on the structural features of the sediments and the nature of the inclusion of cultural remains in them. Exposed sites,

 $^{^{2}}$ Actualism (lat. actualis—real) is one of the methodological approaches in the natural sciences. It is based on the principle of uniformity, according to which natural processes occurring in past geological epochs, and the phenomena caused by these processes, have much in common with modern ones (Geological Dictionary, 1978, p. 30).

where archaeological material is out of sediments and stratified sites in which material is confined to sediments are distinguished. Among the latter, there are 'macrolayered', 'microlayered' (thin-layered), redeposited, and their various combinations (Medvedev and Vorobieva 1998; Berdnikov et al. 2017). Macrolayered situation is formed in the profile of a fully developed soil, mainly modern. As a rule, the age of such soils in Baikal Siberia does not go beyond the Holocene, and the chronological interval of the formation of soil horizons with their small thickness (0.1–0.5 m) is several thousand years. Archaeological finds are contained in a "compression" state in these soil horizons, creating a "cultural palimpsest" that is extremely difficult to subdivide into chronological stages. The sites in which cultural remains are included in separate numerous paleosoils (ancient buried soils) are defined as microlayered, where archaeological materials and complexes are located in situ. Buried soils, according to the degree of profile development, are divided into embryonic and less developed soils with a chronological interval of formation usually about \sim 10–500 years. The lack of paleosoil signs or the presence of only its fragments and derivatives as a lithological basis for the inclusion of cultural remains may indicate the processes of redeposition.

German Medvedev proposed a very apt term "culture-bearing" layers for lithological layers with archaeological material (Medvedev and Nesmeyanov 1988). Cultural sediments of anthropogenic genesis with material that remain included in them are formed in places of long-term human habitation (tells, tepe, long-term settlements, and cities). They can be defined as "cultural" layers (Berdnikova and Vorobieva 2011).

Cultural layers reflect different types of human activities in a particular area. In determining their function, we proceed from the results of studying the post-medieval cultural layers of the historical part of Irkutsk. Among them, layers are distinguished reflecting the use of plots for arable land, pastures, vegetable gardens, a courtyard, a roadway with backfill (poles, gravel, sand, cobblestones), and without backfill. Traces of carts were recorded in the road layers. Areas with improvement elements (slag interlayers, brick pavements), construction layers on which materials were prepared (interlayers of shavings and chips, broken brick mixed with lime mortar) are determined.

3 Results and Discussion

A wide signal variety of global and regional natural events has been recorded in terrestrial deposits. It allowed us to develop the climatic-stratigraphic scheme for the Upper Pleistocene and Holocene of Baikal Siberia, reconstruct the paleogeographic situation from the MIS 5 to MIS 1, and track the dynamics of natural and cultural processes (Stratigrafiya 1990; Vorobieva 2010, 2016).

The typicality of geoarchaeological sections is based on the fact that traces of global and regional natural events reveal certain patterns of manifestations and combinations in sediments.

In the terrestrial deposits of geoarchaeosites of Baikal Siberia, a lot of various signals of global-regional climatic and other natural events were recorded, presented by the form of paleosols and loess, traces of cryogenesis, aeolian, deluvial and solifluction processes, catastrophic events, fluctuations in the level of Lake Baikal and descents of ancient lakes. Traces of global regional and local events (climatogenic, seismogenic, various exogenous, anthropogenic, etc.), which are recorded in the sediments, have certain patterns of manifestations and combinations. Signals of recurring natural changes (climatic fluctuations, fluctuations in the level of reservoirs) can be attributed to ordinary events. We refer to extraordinary events as those triggered by some rare and, as a rule, rapid processes (earthquakes, erosion, floods, mudflows, landslides). Sets of combinations of traces of ordinary and extraordinary events can be noted in separate sections and have a unique character, or they can have certain stability of their manifestation and be recorded in many sections. Thus, the typicality of the deposits for different chrono-sections and their visual recognition are formed.

Typical sediments of geoarchaeosites based on forecasting global and regional climatic events, various local seismic processes (climatogenic, anthropogenic, various exogenous, anthropogenic, etc.), which are recorded in the sediments and have certain patterns of the display and combinations. Typicality expressed in the regular recurrence of the strata system is formed, first of all, by global and regional climatogenic factors. As a result of the long-term research, the opportunity of distinguishing the typical deposit systems for the different chronointervals of the Pleistocene and Holocene of Baikal Siberia has appeared (Vorobieva 2010; Stratigrafiya 1990). The classification of geoarchaeosites, the specificity of the formation of culture-bearing sediments, and the typicality of land sections for different chronointervals allowed us to create information form for various sites of Baikal Siberia from the end of Pleistocene to the Middle Holocene.

The typicality system of the geoarchaeosites of the MIS 1 and MIS 2 is the most developed on the modern research level in Baikal Siberia. As a rule, the series of soils with cultural remains, which formed the multilayered situation, are recorded in the sediments of this age. There are about 50 geoarchaeosites, where the multilayered situation is formed by the microlayered and microlayered combination (Berdnikova and Vorobieva 2012).

Geoarchaeosites of the MIS 2—early MIS 1 of Baikal Siberia (Fig. 1) occupy the middle and lower tier with relative elevation marks in the range of 9–30 m. Materials of these sites are connected with a soil formation of different genesis: proluvial (Makarovo 2), aeolian (Krasnyi Yar 1, Sosnovyi Bor), mixed aeolian-colluvium (Kitoiskii Most 1), eolian-colluvium-alluvial (Ust-Belaya, Galashikha), with loess-like deposits with a predominance of the colluvium component. From 2 (for example, Cheremushnik 2) to 10 cultural-bearing layers (Ust-Belaya) are recorded at many sites.

Despite the diverse genesis of sediments, the typical stratigraphic situations, which represent the global and regional paleoclimatic changes are revealed (Vorobieva 2010). The Bølling-Allerød (BA) soils are well expressed in the soil-loess sections. The substantial split (up to 10 layers) and archaeological material saturation are



observed for the BA soils in the sediments with a predominance of eolian component independently of the hypsometric position of the geoarchaeosites (Sosnovyi Bor, Ust-Belaya, Galashikha). The sandy strata of the Younger Dryas (YD) well manifest in such deposits (Berdnikova et al. 2015). The cryoarid environments are characterized for the Younger Dryas on the territory of Baikal Siberia(Vorobieva 2010). We created

4Fig. 1 Typical deposits of Final Pleistocene geoarchaeosites of Baikal Siberia — geoarchaeosites on the map $\frac{1}{2}$ 3—culture-bearing layer (c.l.) and its number. MIS 3, MIS 2, MIS 1—Marine Isotope Stages 3, 2, 1, BA—Bølling-Allerød, YD—Younger Dryas, HL—Holocene. a Map of the location of geoarchaeosites: B-Malta-Most 1 (52°49'40.23"N, 103°32'31.98"E); C-Novyi Angarskii Most (52°15′20.17"N, 104°16′26.88"E); D—Sosnovyi Bor (52°50′06.9"N, 103°35′37.7"E); E— Galashikha (52°54′40.61"N, 103°38′54.93"E); F—Ust-Belaya (52°55′15.54"N, 103°39′7.86"E); G—Kitoiskii Most (52°28′40.2"N, 103°46′26.7"E). b Malta-Most 1: 20–23 m terraced surface, right bank of the Belaya River, excavations by Natalia Berdnikova in 1991–1993, photo by Natalia Berdnikova. HL—light and medium loams, gray forest soil. Early MIS 1—high-carbonate loesslike loams. MIS 2-sandy loam, medium loam, sands with burial soils. MIS 3-heavy loams, soliflucted pedocomplex. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating for c.1. 3–18, 7–18, 2 cal BP. c Novyi Angarskii Most: 14-16 m terraced surface, left bank of the Angara River, excavations by Irina Lezhnenko in 1999–2000, photo by Irina Lezhnenko (Vorobieva 2010). HL-light, medium loams, dark gray forest soil. Early MIS 1-loess-like medium loams with Bølling-Allerød burial soil. MIS 2medium, heavy loams with burial soils. Age-based on 14 C-dating for c.l. 5–18, 7–17, 8 cal BP d Sosnovyi Bor: 22-24 m terrace surface covered with a 4-5 m layer of aeolian sands, right bank of the Belaya River, excavations by German Medvedev in 1966–1969, photo by German Medvedev. HL-sandy loams, sod-podzolic soil. Early MIS 1-layered aeolian sands with a series of underdeveloped Bølling-Allerød burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating: c.l. 3b-14, 3-13, 6 cal BP; c.l. 4-14, 8-13, 6 cal BP; c.l. 5-14, 9-14, 2 BP. e Galashikha: 8-9 m terrace, right bank of the Belaya River, excavations by Natalia Berdnikova in 1999, photo by Natalia Berdnikova. HL-sandy loams, gray forest soil. Early MIS 1-layered aeolian and alluvium sandy loams and sands with a series of underdeveloped Bølling-Allerød burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating: c.l. 4–13, 6–13, 4 cal BP; c.l. 5-14, 1-13, 6 cal BP. f Ust-Belaya: 8-9 m terrace, left bank of the Belaya River, excavations by Ivan Berdnikov and Natalia Berdnikova in (2012), photo by Ivan Berdnikov. HL-sandy loams, gray forest soil. Early MIS 1-layered aeolian and alluvium sandy loams and sands with a series of underdeveloped Bølling-Allerød burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating: c.l. 16–14, 2–13, 8 cal BP; c.l. 14-from 14, 3-13, 8 to 13, 6-13, 4 cal BP. g Kitoiskii Most: 20-24 m terrace, right bank of the Kitoi river. Excavations by a team of Irkutsk State University in 2019: photo by Natalia Berdnikova. MIS 1-subaerial sediments with Holocene sod-podzolic soil, Younger Dryas deflated sands, and Bølling-Allerød burial soils (up to 5). MIS 2-layered aeolian and colluvial (?) sands with a series of underdeveloped burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating for c.l. 1: from 18, 7-18, 1 to 18, 2-17, 5 cal BP

the database of the ¹⁴C-dating for the MIS 2—early MIS 1 archaeological complexes, which has 141 definitions. This made it possible to enough confidently determine enough the age of certain sediments.

Lots of multilayered Holocene geoarchaeosites of Baikal Siberia, which have geomorphological features and specificity of the sedimentation, different degrees of informativeness, are studied (Berdnikov et al. 2017). The sediments in which the cultural remains of Holocene cultures are enclosed are presented by several variants (Stratigraphy 1990; Vorobieva 2010; Berdnikov et al. 2014, 2017). These are subaerial (aeolian) sediments with a fully developed modern soil profile, subaerial (mainly colluvium with aeolian and in some cases proluvial components) sediments of acclivous slopes, and alluvial cones (Fig. 2).

The most common types of Holocene sites in Baikal Siberia are microlayered sites with subaerial sediments, represented by developed modern soil profiles. Holocene microlayered sites are associated with floodplain, slope, and fan deposits.



Floodplain sediments in the valleys of the Angara river, its tributaries of the first order (the Irkut and Belaya rivers), and the right-bank part of the Middle Yenisei (the Kan River) include thin (~5–20 cm) humus horizons, which are embryonic and underdeveloped soils, to which archaeological complexes are confined. The thickness of the Holocene strata, the number, and the color of soil vary, although the patterns of paleoclimatic environments are traced in them—from weakly humified soils of the Early Holocene to the greater thickness and more humified soils of the Middle Holocene, which was the warmest period.

The subaerial sediment of slopes and cones have been studied in detail on the west coast of Baikal Lake (Stratigraphy 1990; Vorobieva 2010, 2016). The part of the Holocene sections has a layered structure and culture-bearing sediments are recording in buried soil as on river floodplains. As a rule, they are divided by the

Fig. 2 Typical deposits of Holocene geoarchaeosites of Baikal Siberia. on the map 473—culture-bearing layer (c.l.) and its number. MIS 1—Marine Isotope Stage 1, BA—Bølling-Allerød, YD—Younger Dryas, HL—Holocene, SA—Subatlantic, SB—Subboreal, AT-Atlantic, BO-Boreal, PB-Preboreal. a Map of the location of geoarchaeosites: B-Berloga (53°1′55.36"N, 106°51′12.06"E); C—Ust-Belaya (52°55′15.54"N, 103°39′7.86"E); D—A. G. Generalov site (57°24'18.01"N, 97°39'54.67"E); E—Ust-Belava/floodplain (52°55'22.05"N, 103°39'22.04"E); F-Ust-Khaita (52°51'40.91"N, 103°10'24.88"E); G-Kholmushino 3 (52°51′42.07"N, 103°19′1.56"E); H—Elovka-Nugan 1 (51°44′25.96"N, 102°46′25.22"E). b Berloga, multilayered (microlayered) site in slope sediments: 3-7 m slope, Kurkut Bay, Little See of the Lake Baikal, excavations by Olga Goriunova in 1976-1982, photo by Olga Goriunova (Vorobieva 2010). YD-BA-colluvial and colluvial-aeolian sands with burial soils, HL-colluvial loams, sandy loams, and sands with burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating: c.l. 2-2, 5-1, 7 cal BP; c.l. 2a-3, 0-2, 7 cal BP; c.l. 3-5, 3-4, 8 cal BP; c.l. 6-from 10, 2-9, 5 to 9, 0-8, 5 cal BP (incorrect); c.l. 7a-7, 6-7, 1 cal BP; c.l. 7b-9, 6-8, 7 cal BP; c.l. 7c-from 11, 4-11, 1 to 10, 5-10, 1 cal BP; c.l. 8-12, 8-10, 8 cal BP. c Ust-Belaya: 8-9 m terrace, left bank of the Belaya River, excavations by Ivan Berdnikov and Natalia Berdnikova in 2012, photo by Ivan Berdnikov. Archaeological complexes in microlayered sediments (sandy loams, gray forest soil). d A. G. Generalov site: 15 m terrace, right bank of the Chuna River, excavations by a team of Irkutsk State University in 2013–2014, photo by Ivan Berdnikov. Archaeological complexes in microlayered sediments (sandy loams, slightly soddy, strongly podzolic soil). e Ust-Belaya/floodplain, multilayered (microlayered) site in floodplain sediments: 4-5 m floodplain, left bank of the Belaya River, excavations by Ivan Berdnikov in 2017-2018, photo by Ivan Berdnikov. Floodplain sediments (sandy loam, sands, light clay loams) with burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating for c.l. 3: from 6, 8-6, 5 to 6, 5-6, 3 cal BP. f .Ust-Khaita, multilayered (microlayered) site in floodplain sediments: 7-8 m floodplain, right bank of the Belaya River, excavations by a team of Irkutsk State University in 2001, photo by Natalia Berdnikova (Vorobieva 2010). Floodplain sediments (sandy loam, sands, light clay loams) with burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating: c.l. 5—from 8, 4–8, 1 to 7, 2–6, 9 cal BP: c.l. 5a-from 8, 4-8, 1 to 7, 3-7, 0 cal BP: c.l. 6-from 9, 5-9, 0 to 9, 0-8, 6 cal BP: c.l. 7-from 9, 5-9, 1 to 9, 1-8, 7 cal BP; c.l. 8-10, 2-9, 6 cal BP; c.l. 9-from 12, 5-11, 9 to 11, 2-10, 7 cal BP; c.l. 10-from 12, 7-12, 2 to 12, 5-11, 9 cal BP. g Kholmushino 3, multilayered (microlayered) site in floodplain sediments: 7-8 m floodplain, left bank of the Belaya River, excavations by Ivan Berdnikov in 2016, photo by Ivan Berdnikov. Floodplain sediments (sandy loam, sands, light clay loams) with burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating for c.l. 3: 8, 6–8, 3 cal BP. h Elovka-Nugan 1, multilayered (microlayered) site in floodplain sediments: 5 m floodplain, left bank of the Irkut River in Tunka valley, excavations by a team of Irkutsk State University in 2015, photo by Ivan Berdnikov. Floodplain sediments (sandy loam and sands) with burial soils. Age-based on ¹⁴C-dating: c.l. 1–5,9–5,7 cal BP, c.l. 2 – 6,2–5,9 cal BP

light interlayers of sandy and sandy-gravelly composition, their thickness is about 5 cm that 2–3 times less thickness of humus horizons of soils, and in some cases also thick proluvial layers.

The microlayered sites where cultural remains are included in the buried soil of floodplain sediments are the most informative for the archaeological reconstructions. Typical examples include such sites as Gorelyi Les, Ust-Khaita, Kholmushino 3, Ust-Belaya (Southern Angara region, Belaya river), Kazachka 1, (Kansk-Rybinsk basin, Kan river), Elovka-Nugan 1 (Tunka valley, Irkut river) (Saveliev et al. 1974, 2001; Berdnikova et al. 1991,2015; Berdnikov et al. 2015, 2017, 2017a). The formation chronointerval of buried soils in the floodplain sediments can vary from several tens to several hundred years.

The microlayered sites where the archaeological materials included in the sediments of slope genesis also have enough high informational degrees but have their specificity. In Baikal Siberia, these include mainly the sites of the Baikal coast, for instance, Ulan-Khada, Sagan-Zaba 2, Buguldeika, etc. (Goriunova 2012; Losey et al. 2014). The stratigraphy of the Baikal sites, due to the powerful slope processes occurring in some areas, is much more complicated than at the sites with floodplain sediments (Vorobieva 2010).

Currently, more than 30 microlayered sites of the Holocene age in which sediments are from 3 to 20 isolated cultural horizons, are known in the Baikal Siberia. There are Gorelyi Les, Ust-Khaita, Kholmushino 3, Ust-Belaya in the Southern Angara Region (Saveliev et al. 1974, 2001; Berdnikova et al. 1991; Berdnikov et al. 2017), Kazachka 1 in the Kansk-Rybinsk basin (Generalov 1979; Saveliev et al. 1984), Ust-Yodarma 2, Ust-Keul 1 in the Northern Angara region (Lipnina et al. 2010], Ulan-Khada, Sagan-Zaba 2, Ityrkhei, Buguldeika 1 and 2, Berloga, Tyshkine, Pad Dolgaya 2 on the Baikal coast (Losey et al. 2014; Timoshenko and Bocharova 2016), Elovka-Nugan 1 in the Tunka Valley (Berdnikov et al. 2015).

The database of the ¹⁴C-dating contained 330 values defining for the Early and Middle Holocene microlayered sites is collected. Natural science dating methods, primarily radiocarbon and paleomagnetic, in combination with typology methods make it possible to create high-resolution "cultural records" that allow developing the relative and absolute chronology of Holocene complexes in a particular area.

The example of using one of the main approaches (event) in our researches can be demonstrated in the studies of geoarchaeosite Malta-Most 1 (Fig. 3). This approach, in particular, allows identifying the features of cultural-bearing horizon 3 of this site (Berdnikova et al. 2007). Malta-Most 1 is located on the right side of Belaya River (left tributary of Angara river) on the lower outskirts or Malta village, on the flattened terraced surface with relative elevations of 21–23 m from the edge of the river Belaya. Nine cultural-bearing horizons are recorded in the sediments of MIS 2—MIS 1 age. The cultural remains of layer 3 are connected with an underdeveloped soil with a pygmy profile A-B-C, where A is low-humus horizon 3 up to 5 cm thick, B—brownish illuvial horizon 5–7 cm thick. Its age is determined in the interval 19.046–18.750 cal BP.

The compact congestion of the finds on the square about 150 m^2 with remains of the bonfire was found. 79 dolomite slabs ranging in size from 10 to 60 cm in diameter, which was located along the perimeter of an oval-shaped spot of finds, elongated along the north–south line, were fixed. The part of small slabs was in the center of the find spot. Microstratigraphic studies have revealed the different degrees of preservation of the soil profile depending on the intensity of use of the habitat surface.

The deposits around the find congestions on some areas were tighter and were changing the colors from grey to ash yellowish. According to our opinion, this phenomenon is connected with trampling by the ancient people of the habitat surface. The strongest seal of culture-bearing sediments is recorded in the north part of the complex, where the least number of finds are noted. Besides the habitat surface was



Fig. 3 Geoarchaeosite Malta-Most 1. Plan of the activity use of the sectors and distribution of archaeological finds in culture-bearing layer 3

covered by the powdered hematite (ochre). Thanks to observations during excavations, it was revealed that the artifacts were covered with ochre, and the slabs had already laid on the surface covered with ocher. It allows distinguishing three stages of human use in this area. The first stage is connected with habitation and economic activity, as evidenced by artifacts, a few faunal remains, and a fireplace. After the end of the use of this territory, the habitat surface was covered with ochre (second stage). Finally, slabs were laid on top of the ochre backfill (third stage). One slab was also placed on the fireplace. There were no noticeable traces of pyrogenic and temperature effects on it. Traces of sub-horizontal passages of burrowing insects have been preserved under the slabs.

Analysis of the soil cover state of the site in combination with data on the development cycles of soil entomofauna made it possible to determine the time of the site's functioning. It has been established that the laying of insects masonry (presumably wasps) in the soil occurred before the surface was covered with ochre and the slabs were laid, and the appearance of mature individuals after these actions. This is evidenced by the change in the direction of movement of insects from vertical (top to bottom) to subhorizontal, parallel to the base surface of the slabs, which became an obstacle for insects. Subhorizontal passages of insects were easily traced due to their ochre coloration. Since in most cases the underground development cycle of burrowing insects covers the warmest summertime and does not exceed 1.5 months, it can be assumed that the sprinkling of the habitat with ochre and the laying of slabs was carried out in the summer, presumably in July. Planigraphy of finds of the layer 3, the Malta-Most 1 site suggests the presence of living space, represented by a compact accumulation of archaeological material with a bonfire on its periphery, around which a trampled surface is fixed. At the final stage of the site's functioning, the entire area was covered with ochre and filled with dolomite slabs, which is probably associated with some kind of ritual action. "Closure" of the habitat surface and bonfire sites also noted during excavations of several Late Paleolithic complexes of Baikal Siberia, including such objects as Kulakovo 1, Cheremushnik 1, 2, Sosnovyi Bor, Kholmushino 1, Ust-Belaya, and Galashikha (Berdnikova et al. 2007).

To verify the results of any analyzes, in our opinion, a geoarchaeological assessment should be applied, which is an expert opinion. The main purpose is to determine the conformity degree between various data, both archaeological and natural science, including data of geomorphology, stratigraphy, and absolute dating. We carried out a geoarchaeological assessment of the results of ¹⁴C dating of complexes with ancient ceramics from the Far East and Transbaikalia, which showed the presence of serious problems based on the discrepancy between radiocarbon and geoarchaeological data to test this approach (Berdnikova et al. 2018).

4 Conclusions

Thus, our developments made it possible to identify typical sediments and situations for geoarchaeosites MIS 2 and MIS 1 in the Baikal Siberia to determine the features of culture-bearing sediments and archaeological complexes in them, and to create a system for revealing the correctness of radiocarbon dates based on a geoarchaeological assessment.

When conducting geoarchaeological research, we are based on several provisions:

- (1) Geoarchaeology is a source study discipline based on the system of work with a source, which includes methods of synthesis, analysis, interpretation, and criticism, both of the sources themselves and research procedures.
- (2) The main object of research is the geoarchaeosite. It is a complexly structured integral system in which a set of traces of natural and anthropogenic events is encoded. The geoarchaeosite acts as the main source of information about ancient cultures and the environment, for example, on the changes in climatic conditions for the interval of the studied sediments, the features of landscape situations, extraordinary natural events, the peculiarities of the territory inhabited by ancient people (reasons for choosing a place of residence, its comfort, protection of the habitat from natural and anthropogenic risks, threats); the peculiarities of life. Studies of the territory surrounding the geoarchaeosite supplement the obtained data.
- (3) Geoarchaeology is a transdisciplinary direction, the nature of which is determined by the complex nature of geoarchaeosite. It provides constant cognitive and communicative relations between representatives of various sciences,
which are aimed at expanding the disciplinary vision of the research subject and the formation of new knowledge levels.

(4) Geoarchaeological studies are based, first of all, on the event approach, within which it is possible to separate events of a global, regional and local character, as well as on the method of actualism corrected by the "thresholds" and "mistakes of recognition".

Proposed geoarchaeological developments are in a constant process of refinement and testing, which expands its opportunities and prospects, and now they can be defined as a new tradition of research. It has been successfully used in geoarchaeological researches on the territory of Baikal Siberia for many years. The geoarchaeological study makes it possible to see informational forms of the unique and typical structures of geoarchaeosites and their groups. The event approach allows distinguishing out different levels of reality of geoarchaeosites and forming adequate archaeological ideas, which means to see the past in a model of a set of states and events. This, in turn, leads to a confident cultural and chronological identification of the objects themselves and the archaeological complexes included in them. Various categories of geoarchaeosites form models of their states and relationships. This allows us to solve the problems of standardization and verification of the archaeological research process, adequate preparation of information for formalization to store and process it in big data systems.

We hope that the development of our proposed geoarchaeological concept will allow in the foreseeable future to form a Russian school of geoarchaeology. Moreover, this school will not be inferior to foreign ones in terms of technical equipment and at the same time will have sufficient originality to withstand strict scientific competition.

Acknowledgements The work was funded by the State Contract of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education of Russia, project No. FZZE-2020-0021. Excavations of the Ust-Belaya and Kitoiskii Most geoarchaeosites were carried out in 2017-2018 with the financial support of the grant from the Government of the Russian Federation, project № 075-15-2021-631

References

- Aleksandrova, M.V.: "Ideologiia raskopok i prioritety arkheologicheskogo issledovaniia (u istokov sovetskoi metodiki raskopok paleoliticheskikh poselenii) ("Ideology" of excavation and priorities of archaeological research (at the origins of the Soviet methodology of excavation of Paleolithic settlements). In: Vostochnyi gravett (East Gravette), 142–150. (1998) (In Russian)
- Barrera F.B., Pardo, J.F.J.: Geoarchaeology as Geoarchaeology. Journal of anthropological and archaeological sciences. 2.(5), 319–321 (2020)

Bebermeier, W., Schütt, B.: Geoarchaeology – a new discipline? Die Erde, 142 (3), 209–212 (2011) Berdnikov, I.M., Berdnikova, N.E., Vorobieva, G.A., Rogovskoy, E.O., Klement'ev, A. M., Ulanov,

I. V., Lokhov, D. N., Dudarek, S. P., Novosel'tseva, V.M., Sokolova, N.B.: Geoarkheologicheskie kompleksy rannego golotsena na iuge Srednei Sibiri. Otsenka dannykh i perspektivy issledovanii (Geoarchaeological complexes of the Early Holocene in the south of Central Siberia. Data assasment and research prospects). Bulletin of the Irkutsk State University. Geoarchaeology, Ethnology, and Anthropology Series 9, 46–76 (2014) (In Russian)

- Berdnikov, I.M., Berdnikova, N.E., Rogovskoy, E.O., Lipnina, E.A., Ulanov, I.V., Lokhov, D.N., Sokolova, N.B., Klement'ev, A.M., Krutikova, K.A., Abrashina, M.E.: Mestonakhozhdenie Elovka-Nugan I—pervyi mul'tisloichatyi arkheologicheskii ob"ekt golotsenovogo vozrasta v Tunkinskoi doline (Elovka-Nugan I site—the first multilayered archaeological site of the Holocene age in the Tunka valley). Bulletin of the Irkutsk State University. Geoarchaeology, Ethnology, and Anthropology Series 14, 24–48 (2015) (In Russian)
- Berdnikov, I.M., Berdnikova, N.E., Vorobieva, G.A.: Multisloychatye mestonakhozhdeniya kak osnova dlya paleogeograficheskikh i kulturnykh rekonstruktsiy v srednem golotsene Baykalo-Eniseyskoy Sibiri (Multilayered Sites as a Basis for Paleogeographic and Cultural Reconstructions in the Middle Holocene of the Baikal-Yenisei Siberia). Bulletin of the Irkutsk State University. Geoarchaeology, Ethnology, and Anthropology Series 21, 5–32 (2017) (In Russian)
- Berdnikova, N.E., Berdnikov, I.M., Vorobieva, G.A.: Geoarkheologicheskaia otsenka radiouglerodnogo datirovaniia drevneishei keramiki rossiiskoi chasti Severnoi Azii (Geoarchaeological assessment of radiocarbon dating of the oldest ceramics of the Russian part of North Asia). In: Drevnie kultury Mongolii, Baikal'skoi Sibiri i Severnogo Kitaia (Ancient cultures of Mongolia, Baikal Siberia and Northern China), 15–21 (2018) (In Russian)
- Berdnikov, I.M., Rogovskoy, E.O., Lokhov, D.N., Kuznetsov, A.M., Kogai, S.A., Lipnina, E.A., Berdnikova, N.E., Saveliev, N.A., Sokolova, N.B., Ulanov. I.V.: Novye radiouglerodnye dannye dlia neoliticheskikh kompleksov mnogosloinykh mestonakhozhdenii Tunkinskoi doliny i Priangar'ia (New radiocarbon data for the Neolithic complexes of the multilayered sites of the Tunka valley and the Angara region). In: Evraziia v kainozoe. Stratigrafiia, paleoekologiia, kultury (Eurasia in the Cenozoic. Stratigraphy, paleoecology, cultures) 5, 220–230 (2017a) (In Russian)
- Berdnikova, N.E., Lezhnenko, I.L., Saveliev, N.A., Medvedev, G.I., Georgievskaia, G.M.: Arkheologicheskie pamiatniki Usol'skogo raiona: Materialy k Svodu pamiatnikov istorii i kul'tury Irkutskoi oblasti (Archaeological sites of the Usolskii region: Materials for the Code of historical and cultural sites of the Irkutsk region). 110 p. Irkutsk (1991) (In Russian)
- Berdnikova, N.E., Vorobieva, G.A.: Vozmozhnosti interpretatsii geoarkheologicheskikh kontekstov (Possibilities of interpreting geoarchaeological contexts)). In: Vuzovskaia nauchnaia arkheologiia i etnologiia Severnoi Azii. Irkutskaia shkola 1918–1937 gg. (University scientific archaeology and ethnology of North Asia. Irkutsk school 1918–1937), 202–219 (2009) (In Russian)
- Berdnikova, N.E., Vorobieva, G.A.: Geoarkheologicheskie aspekty v issledovaniiakh kul'turnykh otlozhenii (Geoarchaeological aspects in the study of cultural deposits). Metodika mezhdistsiplinarnykh arkheologicheskikh issledovanii (Methodology for interdisciplinary archaeological research), 18–37, Publishing house "Nauka", Omsk (2011) (In Russian)
- Berdnikova, N.E., Vorobieva, G.A.: Osobennosti mnogosloinykh arkheologicheskikh ob"ektov v nizhnem techenii r. Beloi (iug Baikal'skoi Sibiri) (Features of multilayered archaeological sites in the lower reaches of the Belaya river (south of Baikal Siberia) In: Fenomen geoarkheologicheskoi mnogosloinosti Baikal'skoi Sibiri. 100 let Baikal'skoi nauchnoi arkheologii (Phenomenon of geoarchaeological multilayered of Baikal Siberia. 100 years of Baikal scientific archaeology), 54–72 (2012) (In Russian)
- Berdnikova, N.E., Vorobieva, G.A., Goriunova, O.I., Lipnina, E.A., Medvedev, G.I., Miromanov, A.V., Rogovskoy, E.O., Tarakanovskii, S.P., Slagoda, E.A., Oshchepkova, E.B.: Severnaia Evraziia v antropogene: chelovek, paleotekhnologii, geoekologiia, etnologiia i antropologiia (Northern Eurasia in Anthropogene: Man, Paleotechnology, Geoecology, Ethnology and Anthropology). 124 p. Publishing house "Ottisk", Irkutsk (2007) (In Russian)
- Berdnikova, N.E., Vorobieva, G.A., Berdnikov, I.M.: Geoarkheologicheskii ob''ekt Ust'-Belaia. osobennosti stroeniia otlozhenii i vmeshcheniia kul'turnykh ostatkov (Geoarchaeological site Ust'-Belaya. Specific features of deposits structure and containment of cultural remains). In: Fundamental'nye problemy kvartera, itogi izucheniia i osnovnye napravleniia dal'neishikh issledovanii: (Fundamental problems of the quarter, the results of the study and the main directions of further research), 55–56 (2015) (In Russian)

- Butzer, K.W.: Environment and Archaeology: An introduction to Pleistocene geography. 524 p. Aldine Publishing Company, Chicago (1964)
- Butzer, K.W.: Environment and Archaeology. An Ecological Approach to Prehistory. 703 p. Aldine-Atherton Publishing Company, Chicago & New York (1971)
- Butzer, K.W.: Spring sediments from the Acheulian Site of Amanzi (Uitenhage District, South Africa). Quaternaria 17, 299–319 (1973)
- Butzer, K.W.: Archaeology as Human Ecology. 364 p. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1982)
- Butzer, K.W.: Challenges for a cross-disciplinary geoarchaeology: The intersection between environmental history and geomorphology. Geomorphology. 101 p., 402–411 (2008)
- Canti, M., Huisman, D.J.: Scientific advances in geoarchaeology during the last twenty years. Journal of Archaeological Science 56, 96–108 (2015)
- Chazan, M.: Geology/Archaeology in action: a personal perspective. Archaeological and anthropological sciences, 9, 1671–1676 (2017).
- Clark G. A.: Accidents of History: Conceptual Frameworks in Paleoarchaeology. In: Camps M., Chauhan P. (eds.). Sourcebook of Paleolithic Transitions. Methods, Theories and Interpretations, 19–41. Springer (2009)
- Davidson D.A., Shackley M.L. (eds.).: Geoarcheology: Earth Science and the Past. 408 p. Duckworth, London (1976)
- Fouache E.: The Geoarchaeological Approach. In: Corsi C., Slapšak B., Vermeulen F. (eds.), Good Practice in Archaeological Diagnostics, Natural Science in Archaeology, 245–252. Springer (2013)
- Fouache, E., Rasse, M.: Archaeology geoarchaeology and geomorphosite managment: towards a typology of geoarchaeosites. In: Reynard E., Coratza P., Regolini-Bissig (eds.), Geomorphosites, 213–224. Springer (2009)
- French, C.A.: Geoarchaeology in Action: Studies in Soil Micromorphology and Landscape Evolution. 291 p., Routledge, London (2003)
- French, C.A.: Handbook of Geoarchaeological Approaches to Settlement Sites and Landscapes. 144 p. Oxbow Books, Oxford (2015)
- Geological Dictionary. Nedra Publishing House, Moscow, 486 p. (1978) (In Russian)
- Generalov, A.G.: Neoliticheskaia keramika mnogosloinogo poseleniia Kazachka Neolithic ceramics of the multilayered site Kazachka. Kratkie soobshcheniia instituta arkheologii (Brief communications of the Institute of Archeology) 157, 43–47 (1979) (In Russian)
- Gilbert, A.S. (ed.): Encyclopedia of Geoarchaeology, 1070 p. Springer, Dordrecht (2017)
- Goldberg, P., Macphail, R.I.: Practical and Theoretical Geoarchaeology, 467 p. Wiley Blackwell Science, Oxford (2006)
- Goriunova, O.I.: Istoriia issledovaniia i znachenie pervogo v Rossii mnogosloinogo geoarkheologicheskogo ob"ekta Ulan-Khada na Baikale (k 100-letiiu otkrytiia) (The history of research and the significance of the first in Russia multilayered geoarchaeological site Ulan-Khada on Lake Baikal (to the 100th anniversary of its discovery). In: Evraziia v kainozoe. Stratigrafiia, paleoekologiia, kul'tury (Eurasia in the Cenozoic. Stratigraphy, paleoecology, cultures) 1, 10–21 (2012) (In Russian)
- Hirsch, H.G., Hoffmann-Riem, H., Biber-Klemm, S., Grossenbacher-Mansuy, W., Joye, D., Pohl, C., Wiesmann, U., Zemp, E. (eds.): Handbook of Transdisciplinary Research, 448 p. Springer, Bern (2008)
- Hirsch H. G., Hoffmann-Riem H., Biber-Klemm S., Grossenbacher-Mansuy W., Joye D., Pohl C., Wiesmann U., Zemp E. (eds.).: Transdisciplinary theory and practice. 210 p. TheATLAS, Texas (2013)
- Karkanas, P., Goldberg, P.: Reconstructing Archaeological Sites. Understanding the Geoarchaeological Matrix. 298 p., Wiley Blackwell, Oxford (2018)
- Kelley, A.R., Sanger, D.: Holistic geoarchaeology in the Penobscot Valley, Maine, USA: context, scale, and interpretation. Archaeological and anthropological sciences. 9, 1627–1644 (2017).

- Kidder T., Liu H.: Bridging theoretical gaps in geoarchaeology: archaeology, geoarchaeology, and history in the Yellow River valley, China. Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 9 (8), 1585–1602 (2017)
- Klein, L.S.: Arkheologicheskie istochniki (Archaeological sources), 120 p. Leningrad State University, Leningrad (1978) (In Russian)
- Kluiving S.J. Guttmann-Bond E.B. (eds.): Landscape Archaeology between Art and Science. From a Multi- to an Interdisciplinary Approach. 527 p. Amsterdam University Press, Amsterdam (2012)
- Kluiving S., Kootker L., Hermans R (eds.): Interdisciplinarity between Humanities and Science. 183 p. Sidestone Press, Leiden (2017).
- Kokinou E.: Geoarchaeology: a Review in Techniques. In: Sarris A. (ed.). Best Practices of GeoInformatic Technologies for the Mapping of Archaeolandscapes, 209–217. Archaeopress, Oxford (2015)
- Kuzmin, Y.V.: Geoarkheologiia: estestvennonauchnye metody v arkheologicheskikh issledovaniiakh. (Geoarchaeology: natural science methods in archaeological research), 396 p. Publishing House of Tomsk State University, Tomsk (2017) (In Russian)
- Lipnina, E.A., Lokhov, D.N., Medvedev, G.I., Novosel'tseva, V.M., Rogovskoy, E.O.: Rezul'taty spasatel'nykh rabot na mestonakhozhdeniiakh Ust'-Edarma I–III v zone zatopleniia Boguchanskoi GES v 2010 godu (Results of rescue works at the sites of Ust-Yodarma I–III in the flooded zone of the Boguchansk hydroelectric power station in 2010). In: Problemy arkheologii, etnografii, antropologii Sibiri i sopredelnykh territorii (Problems of archeology, ethnography, anthropology of Siberia and adjacent territories) 16, 538–541 (2010) (In Russian)
- Losey, R.J., Nomokonova, T.Y., Saveliev, N.A.: Radiouglerodnoe datirovanie i fauna mnogosloinoi stoianki Bugul'deika II na Baikale (po materialam raskopok 2006–2008 gg.) (Radiocarbon dating and fauna of the Buguldeika II multilayered site on Lake Baikal (based on materials from the 2006–2008 excavations). Bulletin of the Irkutsk State University. Geoarchaeology, Ethnology, and Anthropology Series 7, 18–36 (2014) (In Russian)
- Medvedev, G.I.: Geoarkheologiia (Geoarchaeology) In: Anthropogen, paleoanthropology, geoarcheology, ethnology of Asia (Anthropogen, paleoanthropology, geoarcheology and ethnology of the Asian), 133–155. Publishing House "Ottisk", Irkutsk (2008) (In Russian)
- Medvedev G.I., Nesmeyanov S.A.: Tipizatsiia "kul'turnykh otlozhenii' i mestonakhozhdenii kamennogo veka (Typification of "cultural deposits" and Stone Age sites). Metodicheskie problemy arkheologii (Methodological problems of archaeology), 113–142, Publishing house "Nauka", Novosibirsk (1988) (In Russian)
- Medvedev, G.I., Vorobieva, G.A.: K probleme gruppirovki geoarkheologicheskikh ob'ektov Baikalo-Eniseiskoi Sibiri (To the problem of grouping geoarchaeological objects of Baikal-Yenisei Siberia) In: Paleoeologiia pleistotsena i kultury kamennogo veka Severnoi Azii i sopredelnykh territorii (Paleoeology of the Pleistocene and Stone Age culture of North Asia and adjacent territories), 148–159. Publ. House of the Institute of Archaeology and Ethnography SB RAS, Novosibirsk (1998) (In Russian)
- Meignen, L., Goldberg, P., Bar-Yosef, O.: Together in the field: interdisciplinary work in Kebara and Hayonim caves (Israel). Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences 9, 1603–1612 (2017) Mobjörk, M.: Consulting versus participatory transdisciplinarity: A refined classification of transdisciplinary research. Futures 42(8), 866–873 (2010)
- Mobjörk, M.: Crossing boundaries the framing of transdisciplinarity. 94 p. Centre for Housing and Urban Research Series. Report № 64. Örebro University, Mälardalen University (2009)
- Mobjörk, M.: Consulting versus participatory transdisciplinarity: A refined classification of transdisciplinary research. Futures. 42 (8), 866–873 (2010)
- Panin, A.V. (ed.): Geomorfologicheskie protsessy i geoarkheologiia: ot landshaftnoi arkheologii k arkheoturizmu (Geomorphological processes and geoarchaeology: from landscape archaeology to archaeotourism), 317 p. "Universum", Moskva—Smolensk (2012) (In Russian)
- Pitulko, V.V., Pavlova, E.Yu.: Geoarkheologiia i radiouglerodnaia khronologiia kamennogo veka Severo-Vostochnoi Azii (Geoarchaeology and radiocarbon chronology of the Stone Age of Northeast Asia), 264 p., Nauka, St. Petersburg (2010) (In Russian)

- Rapp, G.Jr., Hill, C.L.: Geoarchaeology. The Earth—Science Approach to Archaeological Interpretation, 386 p. University Press, New Haven-London (2006).
- Saveliev, N.A., Goriunova, O.I., Generalov, A.G.: Raskopki mnogosloinoi stoianki Gorelyi Les: (predvarit. soobshchenie) (Excavations of the multilayered site Gorely Les: (preliminary communication). In: Drevniaia istoriia narodov iuga Vostochnoi Sibiri (Ancient history of the peoples of the south of Eastern Siberia), 1, 160–199. Irkutsk State University Publishing House, Irkutsk. (1974) (In Russian)
- Saveliev, N.A., Generalov, A.G., Abdulov, T.A.: Mnogosloinoe arkheologicheskoe mestonakhozhdenie Kazachka 1 kak osnova dlia periodizatsii golotsenovykh kultur Kansko-Rybinskoi kotloviny (Multilayered archaeological site Kazachka 1 as a basis for the periodization of the Holocene cultures of the Kansk-Rybinsk depression). In: Problemy issledovaniia kamennogo veka Evrazii (k 100-letiiu otkrytiia paleolita na Enisee) (Problems of the study of the Stone Age of Eurasia (to the 100th anniversary of the discovery of the Paleolithic on the Yenisei), 136–142 (1984) (In Russian)
- Saveliev, N.A., Teten'kin, A.V., Igumnova, E.S., Abdulov, T.A., Ineshin, E.M., Osadchii, S.S., Vetrov, V.M., Klement'ev, A.M., Mamontov, M.P., Orlova, L.A., Shibanova, I.V.: Mnogosloinyi geoarkheologicheskii ob''ekt Ust'-Khaita (predvaritelnye dannye) (Multilayered geoarchaeological site Ust-Khaita (preliminary data). In: Sovremennye problemy Evraziiskogo paleolitovedeniia (Modern problems of Eurasian paleolithic studies), 338–352 (2001) (In Russian)
- Siart, C., Forbriger, M., Bubenzer, O. (eds.): Digital Geoarchaeology New Techniques for Interdisciplinary Human-Environmental Research, 296 p. Springer (2018)
- Sorokin, A.N.: "Slony' i "cherepakhi' geoarkheologii ("Elephants" and "turtles" of Geoarchaeology). Izvestiia Irkutskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Seriia Geoarkheologiia. Etnologiia. Antropologiia (Bulletin of the Irkutsk State University. Geoarchaeology, Ethnology, and Anthropology Series) 25, 3–18 (2018) (In Russian)
- Stein, J.K., Farrand, W.R. (eds.): Sediments in Archaeological Context, 304 p. University of Utah Press, Salt Lake City (2001)
- Stratigrafiya, paleogeografiia i arkheologiia iuga Srednei Sibiri (Stratigraphy, paleogeography and archeology of the south of Central Siberia), 165 p. Publ. House of Irkutsk State University, Irkutsk (1990) (In Russian)
- Tetenkin, A.V.: Ot "khoziaistvennogo uklada' do "geoarkheologii': rekonstruktsiia nauchnogo diskursa irkutskoi shkoly (From the "Economic Structure" to "Geoarhaeology": The Reconstruction of Scientific Discourse of the Irkutsk Archaeological School). Izvestiia laboratorii drevnikh tekhnologii (The Bulletin of the Laboratory of Ancient Technologies) 1, 8–25 (2003) (In Russian)
- Timoshchenko, A.A., Bocharova, E.N.: Predvaritel'nye rezul'taty izucheniia mnogosloinogo arkheologicheskogo ob"ekta Bugul'deika I na iugo-zapadnom poberezh'e oz. Baikal v 2016 godu (Preliminary results of the study of the multilayered archaeological site Buguldeika I on the southwestern coast of Lake Baikal in 2016). In: Evraziia v kainozoe. Stratigrafiia, paleoekologiia, kul'tury (Eurasia in the Cenozoic. Stratigraphy, paleoecology, cultures) 5, 180–187 (2016) (In Russian)
- Volosova, E.V.: O problemakh poznavatel'noi spetsifiki arkheologii (On the problems of specificity of cognitive archaeology). In: Metodologiia i metodika arkheologicheskikh rekonstruktsii (Methodology and Methods of Archaeological Reconstructions), 4–10, Institute of Archaeology and Ethnography SB RAS, Novosibirsk (1994) (In Russian)
- Vorobieva, G.A.: Pochva kak letopis' prirodnykh sobytii Pribaikal'ia: problemy evoliutsii i klassifikatsii pochv. (Soil as a chronicle of natural events in the Baikal region: problems of soil evolution and classification), 205 p. Publ. House of Irkutsk State University, Irkutsk (2010) (In Russian)
- Vorobieva, G.A.: Prirodno-klimaticheskie sobytiia na poberezh'e Srednego Baikala v rannem golotsene (Natural and climatic events on the coast of Middle Baikal in the Early Holocene). Geografiia i prirodnye resursy (Geography and natural resources) 3, 91–100 (2016) (In Russian)
- Waters, M.R.: Principles of Geoarchaeology: A North American Perspective, 399 p. University of Arizona Press, Tuscon (1992)

- Woodward, J., Huckleberry, G.: Editorial Introduction: 25 Years of Geoarchaeology. Geoarchaeology: An International Journal, 25 (1), 1–5 (2010)
- Zaykov, V.V., Yuminov, A.M., Zaykova, E.V., Tairov, A.D.: Osnovy geoarkheologii (Geoarchaeology), 293 p. Institute of Mineralogy UB RAS, Miass (2012) (In Russian)
- Zolnikov, I.D., Chupina, D.A., Deyev, E.V., Tsybankov, A.A., Slavinski, V.S., Postnov, A.V.: K voprosu o molodosti alliuvialnykh kompleksov Angary po materialam rabot v zone zatopleniia Boguchanskoi GES. (About the young aged Angara alluvial sediments based on the findings of salvage excavations in the flooding area of the Boguchany hydroelectric power plant). In: Arkheologiia, etnografiia i antropologiia Evrazii (Archaeology, Ethnology, and Anthropology of Eurasia) 41(4), 38–49 (2013) (In Russian)

Reviews. Thoughts. Memoirs

Historical Experience and Ancient Metal Production in the South Trans-Urals



Nikolay B. Vinogradov

Abstract The article highlights the need to consider and understand the historical experience of environmental management in connection with the early stages of the history of mining and nonferrous metallurgy in the Southern Urals. The author agrees with the opinion of a historian of ancient metallurgy, E. N. Chernykh, who proposes to push back the initial stage of the anthropogenic transformation of the environment in connection with the rapid development of mining of nonferrous metals during the Bronze and Early Iron Ages.

Keywords Metallurgical production \cdot South Urals \cdot Anthropogenic impact \cdot Late Bronze Age \cdot Early Iron Age

1 Introduction

The idea of such an article first came to my mind when I was a student and visited a house of a former dredge maintenance master who lived in the Leninsk Village near the Town of Miass (Chelyabinsk region, Russia). One of the results of this visit was a small collection of archaeological artifacts collected on the canvas of a dredge which was presented to me. And how many witnesses of ancient history have perished forever for science in dumps of dredges? Growing up in the northern part of Miass, I walked and traveled a lot in the valley of the Miass River and personally observed the scale of the man-made disaster (Fig. 1).

It is believed that anthropogenic changes of the environment initially became noticeable since the industrial revolution. This is the eighteenth to nineteenth centuries for Russia. During this period, the signs of civilization's pressure on the environment had appeared. For example, only the Chelyabinsk Forest has decreased by two-thirds over 230 years (from 1736 to 1966) (Samarin and Volgin 1983: 20).

Archaeological discoveries of the second half of the twentieth century and the early twenty-first century made it possible to push back the beginning of the anthropogenic

Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_33

N. B. Vinogradov (🖂)

South Urals State Humanitarian Pedagogical University, Chelyabinsk, Russia

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*,



Fig. 1 A man-made quarry in the upper reaches of the Miass River—the consequences of the activities of gold miners. Photo by Nikolai B. Vinogradov

transformation of the nature of the region by several thousand years. One of the most important reasons is metal production that used charcoal in the metallurgical process (Fig. 2). Already in the Bronze Age (3rd–1st millennia BC), metal production in the Southern Urals changed the environment both underground (mines), surface relief (quarries), and, probably the vegetation coverage of the region (nullification of large forest tracts). Before the advent of modern mining methods, this aspect of anthropogenic impact was the strongest. It is unlikely that we will be able to correctly count the many thousands of hectares of forests, recycled for several thousand years in the charcoal.

Nonferrous metallurgy has been both the happiness and the curse of our land for five thousand years. It is suffice to say that communities specialized in metal production that exploited a large number of deposits, primarily copper-bearing minerals, appeared with enviable constancy and flourished for several hundred years in the Southern Urals. Their life was confined to copper deposits and woodlands which were sources of charcoal. These are the communities (clans) that inhabited the fortified settlements at the turn of the Middle and Late Bronze Age (twenty-first to eighteenth centuries BC) (Fig. 3) and the population of the Itkul culture of the mountain-forest Urals in the seventh to third centuries BC (Vinogradov 2018: 74–75) (Fig. 4).

Nowadays, a whole series of mines with unambiguous traces of development during Antiquity and, in particular, in the Bronze Age is known in the Southern



Fig. 2 The Orenburg expedition. Eighteenth century. Heap charcoal burning. Picture from open internet sources



Fig. 3 The Late Bronze Age. The fortified settlement of Ustye I. Blister copper ingots. Photo by Nikolai B. Vinogradov



Fig. 4 The Early Iron Age settlement of the Bolshoi Itkul. Artistic representation of the life of the inhabitants. Painting by Yu. Shmelev

Urals (Zaykov et al. 2005: 101–115; Ankushev et al. 2018: 87–110; Ankusheva et al.: in print).

The mining work of the ancient peoples of the Urals was so extensive that the Russian industrialists of the eighteenth century very clearly oriented themselves in the search for ore deposits to the so-called "Chud" mines. This historical experience is well known.

A Russian archaeologist E. N. Chernykh believes that only a single ore field of Kargaly in the Northern Orenburg region yielded up to 1 million tons of good quality copper ore during the Bronze Age (1995: 118). He also gives data on the scale of forest destruction in the region in Antiquity. According to Chernykh, smelting of one ton of copper requires 1.5–2 hectares of forest as fuel (charcoal) (1995: 115; 1997: 66–67). And this is in the Orenburg region, which has never suffered from an abundance of forests!

It is unlikely that the Russian industrialists who exploited the copper deposits of the Southern Urals in the eighteenth century were aware of the experience of their predecessors from the Bronze Age. However, in 1760 (only 25 years since the founding of the first copper smelter in the South Urals), Orenburg Governor-General Johann Reinsdorp wrote to Empress Elizaveta Petrovna of Russia: "... scaffolding and wood-burning scaffolding has become so scarce that one has to drive for the five to six hundred versts from Orenburg" (Materials on the history of the Bashkir ASSR 1956: 479–480).

The administration of the Orenburg Cossack army in the eighteenth-nineteenth centuries took some protective measures to protect forests. These measures were applied to metallurgical plants that consumed large quantities of charcoal. Moreover, the Cossacks were forbidden to use the pine located in the vicinity of the villages forest from for construction (Chernov 2013). This caused a forced surge of public interest in stone architecture and the emergence of artels of builders engaged in the construction of such buildings (Fig. 5). Due to these protective measures, we still have the opportunity to breathe the healing air of the remaining 17 ancient relict tape pine forests in the Chelyabinsk region (Samarin and Volgin 1983: 15–21).

Since the nineteenth century, the "gold rush" has been added to copper smelting and iron-making industries in the Southern Urals (Fig. 6). It is important to note the complete adherence by the miners and prospectors of the Southern Urals from the Bronze Age to the present day to the same concept, which can be expressed by the phrase: "After Us The Deluge!" There was no place for reclamation.

Fig. 5 A shed with walls and roof of the limestone of the stone slabs. The village of Chernorechye, Troitsky district, Chelyabinsk region. The ban on the use of wood for construction contributed to the emergence of such architecture. Pay attention to the roofing material—stone slabs. Photo by Nikolai B. Vinogradov





Fig. 6 The Svetlinsky quarry near the modern town of Plast. Photo by Nikolai B. Vinogradov

The landscape of the floodplain of the Miass River in its upper reaches (up to the Town of Karabash) has become largely anthropogenic for several centuries due to the gold rush. Metals and money instantly left, and they still leave our places, and only disfigured landscapes, carved forests and strange names of settlements in the mountain-forest part of the Southern Urals, such as Northern Ovens, Kovalevsky Ovens, Kiolimsky Ovens—the former settlements of coal burners—remain the inhabitants of these places.

The twentieth century added a fighter nature of technical equipment, but absolutely nothing has changed in the people's awareness of the extent and consequences of this tragic problem. Look at these giant quarries near such towns as Korkino (coal), Plast (gold) (Fig. 6), Satka (magnesite), Bakal (iron). Look at the dead mountains near Karabash poisoned by sulfur (copper-smelting production since 1908) (Fig. 7), at the Sak-Elga river with the entire periodic table in the water. And this list is getting longer every year. We risk waking up one day on the isthmus between two quarries.

The mineral wealth of the Southern Urals has served people for many thousands of years. Radically change the pattern of their use, by adding only one element—the restoration of mutilated quarry and mine workings landscapes still does not work.



Fig. 7 The mountains near the Town of Karabash. Photo by Nikolai B. Vinogradov

References

- Ankushev, M.N., Yuminov, A.M., Zaykov, V.V., Noskevich V.V.: Mednyye rudniki bronzovogo veka v Yuzhnom Zauralye (Bronze Age Copper mines in the Southern Trans-Urals). Izvestiya Irkutskogo gosudarstvennogo universiteta. Seriya Geoarkheologiya. Etnologiya. Antropologiya (Bulletin of Irkutsk State University. Series Geoarchaeology. Ethnology. Anthropology) 23, 87– 110 (2018) (In Russian)
- Ankusheva, P.S., Alaeva, I.P., Ankushev, M.N., Fomichev, A.V., Zazovskaya, E.P., Blinov, I.A.: From ore to metal: Novotemirsky deposit exploitation of the South Trans-Urals during 2nd millennium BC. Archaeology, Ethnology & Anthropology of Eurasia. In print.
- Chernov, N.N.: Ustroystvo lesov Orenburgskogo kazach'yego voyska (The device of the forests of the Orenburg Cossack army). Lesnoye khozyaystvo (Forestry) 3(46), 32–37 (2013) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Drevneye gornometallurgicheskoye proizvodstvo i antropogennyye ekologicheskiye katastrofy (K postanovke problemy) (Ancient mining and metallurgical production and anthropogenic environmental disasters (On the problem statement)) // Vestnik drevney istorii (Bulletin of ancient history) 3, 110–121 (1995) (In Russian)
- Chernykh, E.N.: Kargaly. Zabytyy mir (Kargaly. The forgotten world). Nox, Moscow (1997) (In Russian)
- Materials on the history of the Bashkir ASSR. T. IV., Part 2. Moscow, 479-493 (1956) (In Russian)
- Samarin, V.P., Volgin L.M.: Lentochnyye bory Chelyabinskoy oblasti i nekotoryye voprosy ikh sokhraneniya (Tape pine forests of the Chelyabinsk region and some questions of their preservation) // Flora i rastitel'nost' Urala i puti ikh okhrany (Flora and vegetation of the Urals and ways of their protection). CHGPI, Chelyabinsk, 15–21 (1983) (In Russian)

- Vinogradov, N.B.: Sintashta kak transkulturnyy fenomen (Sintashta as a transcultural phenomenon). Povolzhskaya archeologiya (The Volga River Region Archaeology) 1(23), 74–90 (2018) (In Russian)
- Zaykov, V.V., Yuminov, A.M., Dunaev, A.Yu., Zdanovich, G.B., Grigoriev, S.A.: Geologomineralogicheskiye issledovaniya drevnikh mednykh rudnikov na Yuzhnom Urale (Geological and mineralogical studies of ancient copper mines in the Southern Urals). Archaeology, Ethnology & Anthropology of Eurasia 4(24), 101–115 (2005) (In Russian)

The Problems with the Definition of Artifacts Material (Geologists' Help for Archaeologists)



Larisa Ya. Kabanova and Elizaveta V. Zaykova

Abstract Often archaeologists may face difficulties determining the rock type from which prehistoric artifacts are made, even using microscopy and various analytical methods. To help archaeologists give the correct name of the rock, the article describes various types of rocks with an emphasis on their macroscopic features: color, structure, size of the constituent particles. Igneous rocks are characterized as plutonic (intrusive) as well as poured to the surface—volcanic (effusive). Rocks of various compositions such as ultrabasic, basic, medium, and acidic are described. In each group, rocks of volcanic and plutonic facies are distinguished. Macroscopically, volcanic rocks differ from plutonic rocks in the presence of volcanic glass and porphyry texture. The unevenly grained texture of plutonic rock differs from the porphyry texture of volcanic rock by the presence of larger crystals in the background of a full-grained or a fine matrix. Rocks with high silica content usually have a light color and consist mainly of leucocratic minerals. Also, they are distinguished by high hardness. Rocks of ultrabasic and basic composition are composed entirely of dark-colored minerals or contain a small amount of leucocratic minerals (main plagioclase for the normal series rocks). For sedimentary rocks, their division by particle-size distribution and roundness degree is given. Macroscopically, they are usually characterized by a layered structure. A large section is devoted to siliceous rocks, which in ancient times were used for various purposes; visually they differ well by structural and textural features. For their full characterization, chemical analysis has been made. Photos of various types of rocks and their description are given. To diagnose rocks in the field, we use data obtained in the laboratory during a detailed study of them in thin sections and polished sections.

Keywords Artifacts · Rocks · Intrusive · Plutonic · Volcanic (extrusive) · Sedimentary · Color · Structure · Texture · Photos

L. Ya. Kabanova · E. V. Zaykova (🖂)

Institute of Mineralogy SU FRC MG UB RAS, Miass, Russia e-mail: zaykova@mineralogy.ru

L. Ya. Kabanova South-Urals State University, Miass, Russia

421

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_34

1 Introduction

Recently, many archaeologists have begun to use the names of rocks and minerals that make up archaeological sites more competently. Scientific meetings to help archaeologists were held in Bulgaria (2008) and Germany (2011). Since 2014, Miass has hosted annual conferences on geoarchaeology. However, often archaeologists (especially, young ones) have difficulties in determining rocks. The minerals used in the artifacts are usually known and their number is limited: quartz, quartz crystal, malachite, azurite, native copper, but with the diagnosis of rocks there are some difficulties. This article provides a summary of the macroscopic features of various rocks.

2 Materials and Methods

The samples of plutonic and volcanic rocks described in the article are taken from various facies and formations, mainly from the Southern Urals. Ultramafic plutonic rocks (dunite, pyroxenites. harzburgite, lherzolite) and basic (gabbro) are collected from outcrops of the Nurali massif. Leucocratic and two-mica granites were studied using samples from Chashkovsky, and rapakivi granite of the Berdyaushsky massifs.

Ultrabasic and basic volcanic rocks occur in different geodynamic settings. Picrites in contact with aphyric and variolitic basalts are analogous with the Siberian traps, and a sample of tholeiitic basalt is an analog of compact basalt flow from the Hess basin. The amygdaloidal and variolitic basalts are taken from the Baymak-Buribay formation in the Southern Urals.

Volcanic rocks of medium and acid composition (andesibasalts, andesites, dacites, rhyolites) form dikes and extrusions within the Magnitogorsk zone.

Sedimentary rocks, represented by gravelites and quartz sandstones, are taken from the Devonian age outcrops in the Uchalinsky zone of the Southern Urals. Fine-and fine-grained sandstones, alternating with clay and siliceous siltstones, are made up of rocks from the volcanic-sedimentary section of the Middle Devonian Karamalytash formation.

Special attention was paid to the study of igneous rocks—plutonic and volcanic. In the macroscopic study, the color of the rock at first has been studied. The color of the rock depends on the silica and the dark-colored minerals content. Ultrabasic and basic rocks are dark-colored, medium, and acidic are light-colored. Rocks of moderate-alkaline and alkaline composition differ in appearance from the rocks of the normal series with lilac or lilac-bluish tint.

The next step in the macroscopic description of the rock is to study the size of the minerals, their shape, relationships, and the quantitative composition. Determination of structural and textural features of rocks allows making their preliminary determination. Volcanic rocks, in contrast to volcanic rocks, contain a glassy phase, the quantitative content of which is also a criterion for determining the types and varieties of volcanic rocks. Volcanic rocks of different compositions sometimes have the same color (gyalobasalt and obsidian). A steel needle is used for microscopic examination. Basalt and andesite volcanic glass is scratched by a needle, and acidic glass does not react to the needle. For a complete determination, a chemical analysis is carried out.

The rock samples selected from parent outcrops, then in the laboratory of them made the thin sections, polished sections, and polisheds.

Microscopic examination using a polarizing microscope allows by the crystaloptical method and microstructural analysis, as well as quantitative calculations of minerals in the section, to more exactly diagnose rocks.

For the study of sedimentary rocks, the granulometric method and structuraltextural analysis are used. Minerals are determined using binocular and polarizing microscopes. X-ray diffraction analysis is performed to more exactly diagnose some minerals.

3 Results and Discussion

Igneous rocks are formed from magma as a result of its cooling and solidification (Petrographic... 1995, Kabanova 2008; Geological... 2011; Tolkovyi... 2002) have been divided into two classes:

- (1) Plutonic, formed during the long-term crystallization of magmatic melt in the earth's crust, holocrystalline;
- (2) Volcanic—formed during the relatively rapid magma crystallization on the earth's surface, with a microcrystalline, cryptocrystalline, or glassy ground-mass, sometimes with inclusions of crystals (porphyry rocks).

By silica content, igneous rocks are divided into ultramafic, basic, intermediate, and acidic.

Among **igneous ultramafic (ultrabasic) rocks** represented by dunites, olivinites, and peridotites, plutonic rocks are predominated (Fig. 1). Pyroxenites, according to the modern classification, are transitional from ultramafic to basic rocks. All of them are massive, sometimes banding, usually fine-grained rocks, in color dark olive-green sometimes nearly black, but usually they are serpentinized and took greenish color. Fully serpentinized hyperbasites are called serpentinite. On the weathered surface, they are covered with a brownish-brown weathering crust (Magmatic... 1983).

The ultrabasic volcanic rocks are rare and represented by meimechites, picrites (Fig. 2), and komatiites. Picrites are characterized by spheroidal or block parts.

Igneous rocks of the basic composition—a large group that includes basalt, gabbro, and anorthosite.

Basalt (Fig. 3) is a widespread volcanic rock, massive, or amygdaloidal, dark, nearly black. In outcrops, there is often columnar or stratified jointing. Underwater basalts have a pillow or tubular structures. Changes in basalts are usually expressed in chloritization. Unlike serpentine, chlorite is much darker.



Fig. 1 Ultrabasic plutonic rocks: **a**—weakly serpentinized dunite; **b**—serpentinite (olivinite) with an orbicular texture; **c**—harzburgite with a pseudoporphyric structure and a brown weathering crust; **d**—lherzolite

The term "gabbroid" is generalized for all basic plutonic rocks. Ore varieties are usually darker in color (Fig. 4b).

More often **intermediate igneous rocks** are represented by volcanic varieties than plutonic.

Among volcanic rocks, and esibasalts and and esites are often found. They usually have a manifested porphyry texture (Fig. 5). And esibasalts are darker and sometimes amygdaloidal.

The **plutonic** analog of andesibasalt is diorite, and andesite is quartz diorite. Diorite is a greenish-gray, dark gray to near black rock with a coarse-grained, coarse, medium, and finely granular, rarely porphyritic texture. Quartz diorite contains from 5 to 25% quartz which fills the gaps.



Fig. 2 a—contact of picrite with basalt; in basalt, variolite texture is shown; b—contact of picrite with glassy basalt

Acidic rocks usually are represented by granites and granodiorites, rare there are volcanic varieties.

Granites are large-, medium- and fine-grained, rarely pegmatoid rocks, equigranular or porphyraceous (Fig. 6), pink, gray, and yellow. Sometimes rocks are gneissoid, as a result of replacement layered strata, or developed under crystallization unilateral pressure, or in under superimposed dynamometamorphism.

A beautiful variety of granites is rapakivi. In them, large rounded secretions (ovoids) are represented by orthoclase often with a margin of plagioclase (Fig. 6c). Most researchers believe that they have a metasomatic origin (Petrographic... 1981).

Acidic volcanic rocks are represented by dacites and rhyolites.

Dacites are gray, sometimes pinkish-gray rocks with an aphyric or porphyry texture and a massive or fluid-structure (Fig. 7a). The glass is dark, sometimes pinkish-gray or greenish, opaque. Sometimes there are bubbly and pumice varieties of dacite.

Rhyolites can be massive and banded. Massive rhyolites have a greenish-gray and white color. Banded rhyolites are characterized by alternating bands of white, pink, sometimes light violet or lilac color (Fig. 7b).

In subvitreous rhyolites, there is an alternation of varying degrees of crystallized bands, black, brown, or white less often lilac in color volcanic glass. Glassy rhyolites differ in color from their crystallized analogs. Massive glass usually has a black (Fig. 7c) or smoky color, there are variegated varieties in which there is an alternation of black and reddish-brown glass; some varieties of glass have a characteristic silvery luster. Often there are cream or nearly white rhyolites. There are pumice and perlite of rhyolite composition (Fig. 7d).

The presented material on different composition igneous rocks allows us to identify criteria for determining rocks by macroscopic diagnosis, among which the



Fig. 3 Basalts: **a**—aphyric oceanic basalt with a glassy crust in the upper part and a porous texture; **b**—plagioclase basalt with a megaporphyric structure; **c**—variolite basalt; **d**—almond-stone basalt

main ones are the color of the rock, the size of mineral grains, their quantitative composition, mineral relationships, and structural and textural features.

Sedimentary rocks should be considered mineral or organic rocks that have arisen on or near the surface of the lithosphere and exist under a thermodynamic environment that are characteristic of the upper part of the Earth's crust (Pustovalov 1940; Strakhov 1960; Pettijohn 1961; Frolov 1992–1993). The reference book on lithology (1983, p. 25) gives more exact determination: sedimentary rock is the geological body that coming into being as products of physical and chemical destruction of the lithosphere by chemical deposition and vital activity of organisms, or both at the same time. This does not contradict the classification given in the 1998 work «Systematics and classification of sedimentary rocks and their analogs». There are several groups of sedimentary rocks.

"Clastic rocks should be considered sedimentary rocks with a clastic structure and quartz-silicate composition (except for fine clay rocks" (Frolov, book 2) (Fig. 8).



Fig. 4 Plutonic rocks of the basic composition: **a**—orthopyroxenite with fine-grained gabbro vein; **b**—ore clinopyroxenite; **c**—contact of gabbro with hornblendite; **d**—gabbro with epidote vein (left) and pegmatite vein



Fig. 5 Intermediate volcanic rocks: \mathbf{a} —andesibasalt with a megaphyric structure; \mathbf{b} —andesite with a porphyry texture



Fig. 6 Granites: a-equigranular granite, leucocratic; b-two-mica granite; c-rapakivi granite



Fig. 7 Acidic volcanic rocks: **a**—dacite with porphyritic texture and cataclastic structure; **b** banded rhyolite with spherulite perlite textures; **c**—glassy rhyolite with porphyry texture and massive structure; **d**—rhyolite with lithophysae



Fig. 8 Clastic sedimentary rocks: a—polymictic gravellite; b—fine-medium grained quartz sandstone; c—banded quartz sandstone; d—alternation of clayey siltstones with sandstones

The granulometric classification is the main one for clastic rocks (it gives the main name of the rock). The most common division by size of composing particles is given below (Pustovalov 1940; Pettijohn 1961; Frolov 1992–1993): conglomerates with the size of the fragments of 10–1 cm (unrounded varieties are called rubbler formations); gravelites—1–0.1 cm; and sandstones—0.1–0.01 cm. Sandstones with a size of fragments 0.01–0.005 cm are fine-grained sandstones that are transitional to siltstones. If up to 20–30% of silt or clayey particles are found in sandstones, the rock is called silt or clay sandstone.

Further classification of sandstones is based on the composition of fragments. Most often these are quartz or quartz-feldspar sandstones (Fig. 8b, c). Fragments of quartz grains, as the most resistant to weathering mineral, usually predominate in sandstones over all other fragments. If there is a lot of calcite in the cement of quartz sandstone, such a rock is called "calcareous sandstone".

Siltstones are dense, cemented fine-clastic rocks (0.005–0.0001 cm). It is very difficult to see grains even by a binocular microscope (Fig. 8d).

Mudstones (cemented clay) are composed of particles less than 0.0001 cm. Their composition is diverse and compound.

The fragment's size in the rock can vary greatly. In poorly sorted varieties, the maximum size of fragments can be ten times larger than their average size, although there are coarse-grained rocks with more or less the same size of fragments.

Large fragments usually are represented by rocks, not minerals.

Siltstones and mudstones usually have a polymictic composition, but visually it is difficult to determine.

An additional characteristic of sedimentary rocks is stratification (Fig. 9).

Silicites (siliceous rocks)—a term used by G. I. Teodorovich, G. I. Bushinsky, V. T. Frolov, I. V. Khvorova, etc. to refer to the class of siliceous sedimentary rocks in which free or aqueous silica of biological or chemical (not clastic)



Fig. 9 Types of bedding. 1, 2—cross unidirectional: 1 with straight, 2—with concave lamina; 3—cross diversidirectional with wedge-shaped straight seams; 4–10—wavy: 4—unidirectional, 5—diversidirectional, 6—flasher; 7—arge wavy or trough-like, 8—the waves are mainly symmetrical, 9—asymmetric waves and landslide folds, 10—wavy-horizontal, 11—cross-horizontal, 12—horizontal interrupted and uninterrupted

origin prevails (Frolov 1992–1993; Khvorova 1994, 1995). The composition of the Mesozoic-Cenozoic varieties is usually opal-cristobalite, and the older ones are chalcedony-quartz.

In English literature, the term *siliceous rocks* and *silicalites* are used to rocks with a high content of free silica.

Of particular interest, both now and in ancient times, are *jaspers* (Zaykova 1991). These are mainly red-colored rocks with various, often whimsical patterns, consisting of silica (SiO₂) and iron oxides, characterized by high hardness. Although only thin-layered rocks, often containing radiolarians, are purely sedimentary in origin, and many others formed with the participation of hydrothermal material, but, as a technical term, this name is applied to all groups of rocks. The exact name of the rock requires not only microscopic study but also knowledge of theirs chemical composition (Fig. 10).

In English, *«jasper»* is a dense cryptocrystalline opaque or a weakly translucent variety of silicites associated with iron ores. The typical color is red, although yellow, green, grayish-blue, brown, and black are found too. It is also used to refer to all red silicites irrespective of an association with iron ores (Fig. 11).

Thus, most authors the term «jasper» understand as rock consisted of micro- and cryptocrystalline quartz (quartz-chalcedony), painted mainly in a various tint of red.



Fig. 10 The genetic plot of silicites by chemical composition. The diagram is based on chemical analyses of samples collected by the authors in Mugodzhary and Bashkiria. Data on nodule-digenetic silicites are from the opencut mining Dalny (Magnitogorsk) and some analyses from Japan. 1—ferruginous, 2—subferruginous, 3—non-ferruginous (Zaykova 1991)



Fig. 11 a-d, f—jasper: a-b—thin-laminated, apparently hydrothermal-sedimentary; c—brecciated with additional hydrothermal material: d—brecciated «calico» f—«landscape», brecciated; e—phthanite

In the fieldworks, jaspers are easily determined by their appearance and high hardness, as they consist of silica mainly. Decorative character landscape jaspers depend on a variety of colors and a whimsical pattern.

Phthanites differ from jaspers: they are gray, dark gray to black, hard, dense siliceous rocks of quartz or quartz-chalcedony composition. The color is associated with organic carbon, sometimes with manganese oxides, sometimes with bivalent iron compounds (Fig. 12).

Among siliceous rocks, siliceous siltstones and siliceous shales—sedimentary thin-plate rocks composed of cryptocrystalline or micro-grained quartz, sometimes of chalcedony, are very common. They may contain spicules of sponges, radiolarian residues, and plant detritus. The colors are different.

Flints (cherts)—gray, dark gray siliceous rocks with concentric separateness are nodules among sedimentary rocks (Zaykova 1991).

For an approximate name of siliceous rocks, it is a necessary attention to the hardness—it is high of all silicites, then refer red-colored varieties to jaspers, gray-colored ones to phthanites, spherical ones with concentric jointing to flints. For jasper and frantov it is desirable to note the presence of stratification, the features of the figure. The exact name of the rock is possible if you know its chemical composition.



Fig. 12 Siliceous gray-colored rocks: **a**—phthanite; **b**—light siliceous layers among fine-grained sandstones with cross-bedding; **c**—alternation of siliceous layers with siliceous-clay and sandy ones; **d**—siliceous layers in volcanic (grauwacke) sandstone

4 Conclusions

Examples of macroscopic description of rocks which have different composition and genesis determined by the data of various investigations are presented in the article. A general scheme of macroscopic rock description is proposed:

- (1) The color of the rock with an indication of the uniformity or heterogeneity of the color;
- (2) Grain size and shape. For sedimentary rocks, the degree of roundness;
- (3) Mineralogical composition of the rock;
- (4) The genesis of the relationship of minerals or minerals and glass in the rock. For sedimentary rocks, the presence and nature of stratification;
- (5) Other structural and textural features.

To classify the rock as siliceous, it is necessary to check its hardness and to classify it as jasper or phthanite, specify the color.

References

Geologicheskii Slovar. V. 2. St. Peterburg. VSEGEI. 476 p. (2011) (In Russian)

- Zaykova, E.V.: Cremnistye porody ophiolitivykh associacii (na primere Mugodzhar). M.: Nauka. 134 p. (1991) (In Russian)
- Kabanova, L.Ya.: Petrographiya magmaticheskikh gornykh porod. Ekaterinburg: UB RAS. 152 p. (2008) (In Russian)
- Magmaticheskie gornye porody. Nauka. Vol. 1, P. 1, 367 p.; P. 2, 768 p. (1983) (In Russian)
- Petrographicheskii Kodeks. Magmaticheskie i metamorphicheskie obrazovaniya St. Peterburg, VSEGEI. 128 p. (1995) (In Russian)
- Pettijohn, F.J.: Osadochnye porody. Moscow: Nedra. 750 p. (1961) (In Russian)
- Petrographiya osadochnykh porod. Moscow: Gostop-tekhizdatm. V. 1. 476 p. v. 2. 420 p. (1940) (In Russian)
- Petrographicheskii Slovar. M.: Nedra. 498 p. (1981) (In Russian)
- Sistematica i classiphicaciya osadochnykh porod i ikh analogov. St. Peterburg, Nedra. 352 p. (1998) (In Russian)
- Spravochnic po litologii. Moscow: Nedra. 510 p. (1983). (In Russian)
- Strakhov, N.M.: Osnovy teorii litogeneza. Moscow: AS. V. I. 212 p.; V. II. 574 p. (1960) (In Russian)
- Tolkovy slovar angliiskich geologicheskich terminov. Moscow: Geocart. V. 1, 535 p.; V. 2. 636 p. (2002) (In Russian)
- Phrolov, V.T.: Litologya. Moscow: MSU. V. 1, 336 p.; V. 2, 430 p.; V. 3, 352 p. (1992–1993) (In Russian)
- Khvorova, I.V.: Oceanskii tip sedimentogeneza i ego speciphica (sravnitelnyi analiz sedimentogeneza na oceanskikh I continentalnykh plitakh) Soobshchenie 1. Osnovnye cherty sedimentogeneza v epicontinentalnykh moryakh mezozoya i cainozoya. Litologya i poleznye iscopaemye 6, 23–38 (1994) (In Russian)
- Khvorova, I.V.: Oceanskii tip sedimentogeneza i ego speciphica (sravnitelnyi analiz sedimentogeneza na oceanskikh i continentalnykh plitakh) Soobshchenie 2. Osobennsti sedimentacii v oceanakh. Litologya i poleznye iscopaemye 1, 3–15 (1995) (In Russian)

Search and Mining of Silver in the Urals



Evgenii A. Kurlaev

Abstract The collocation "Zakamskove silver" is mentioned in the Russian historical records and silver items were regularly found in the Urals and Siberia. The common view of many historians and archaeologists is that it was about this term refers to silverware made in the East. At the same time, searches for precious metal ores in the Urals and adjacent territories have been going on for centuries since the first mention of the mountains in the Russian chronicles. The author demonstrates that there is silver in the Urals in great quantities in polymetals, and the earliest known mining of silver and copper in Russia began in 1492 on the Pechora River. Accordingly, the term "Zakamskoye silver" refers to another silver-copper deposit located in the northern Urals. Whether it was exploited in the Antiquity and Middle Ages has been the subject of contention, but by the beginning of the Russian colonization, it had been already exhausted and abandoned. During the industrial development of the region in the eighteenth century, silver contained in copper ore was recognized as unprofitable for extraction. However, the presence of silver in copper ore was proved. In the nineteenth to twentieth centuries, silver in the Urals began to be mined in significant quantities from polymetals due to technological progress. In archaeological and historical research, this fact allows us to look differently at the presence of silver in copper items and copper in silver items, indicating that these items are made from local raw materials. The study covers the period from about the 12th to the early twentieth centuries.

Keywords Ural · History of mining · Protoindustrial archaeology · Silver mining · "Zakamskoye silver"

E. A. Kurlaev (🖂)

Institute of History and Archaeology of UB RAS, Ekaterinburg, Russia e-mail: kurlaev@el.ru

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_35

1 Introduction

In the archaeological literature in Russian, the collocation "Zakamskoye silver" (meaning, "silver which was obtained from the people, who lived to the east from the Kama River") has become a historical term for Middle Age silver items that originated in the East from the Russian Towns. Since the eighteenth century, such silver items have been found in hoards in the Kama region and Western Siberia. Actual silver artifacts as well as the chronicle mentions of the tribute collection in the form of "Zakamskove silver" have led scholars to the conclusion that silver objects from the hoards were a special type of tribute. Moreover, many scholars have believed that at that time Middle Ages silver deposits were not yet discovered and were not exploited in the Urals (Bader and Smirnov 1954: 3). This uncontested point of view on "Zakamskoye silver" has not changed in Russian literature even until the present day: "for the Russians, the main prey ... is silver in the form of coins and various silver utensils. In the Kama region and general in the Urals in the Middle Ages, there were no silver mines, and all the ancient Ural silver was imported. The appearance of many silver items or silver-containing items in the Antiquity and Middle Ages in the Urals was associated solely with trade" (Belavin 2013, 2014).

But what this statement is based on? Of course, it is impossible to refute the fact of numerous archaeological finds of silverware (dishes) and coins of oriental origin. Still, in the Novgorod chronicles (PSRL 1841: 21, 65) once tributary relations are mentioned, there is no word about these items. At the same time, the amount of silver that the Novgorodians paid,—paying off from the conquerors,—is huge: at the beginning of the fifteenth century only the Lithuanian prince Vitovt received from them 60 poods of silver (983 kg) (Karamzin 1817: 386). In my opinion, a considerable amount of silver items was made from metal that came from sources in the northern Urals. For my part, I will try to demonstrate that in the Middle Ages the Russians were actively searching for and mined silver in the northern Urals. I rely on historic records to identify these sources. This means that the term "Zakamskoye silver" at least partially may signify metal obtained from polymetallic ores of the northern Urals. Later on, in the course of history, the Urals had become the source of silver for the Russian State.

2 Discussion

In this section, I discuss the evidence that silver was available in the northern Urals; that it had been searched and mined since the Middle Ages; and that what is referred to as "Zakamskoye silver", is metal obtained from polymetallic ores of the northern Urals. Silver in its native form is rare, but non-ferrous metal ores can be the source of both, gold and silver. The most important source is the mining of gold and silver from copper, copper-nickel, and lead–zinc ores. In this work, information about

the industrial smelting of silver in the Urals from gold, silver, and copper ores is presented.

At the beginning of the XIV century, the famous Venetian traveler Marco Polo (1254–1324) wrote about the extraction of silver by the Russians: "They have a lot of silver ores; they mine a lot of silver" (Readings... 1862: 215–348). The Berber traveler Ibn Battuta (1304–1377) and the Arab historian Ibn al-Wardi (mid-fifteenth century) spoke about the silver mine in the Rus country.

It is hard to guess what kind of deposit these authors mentioned, but the testimonies of the medieval travelers of the fourteenth to fifteenth centuries are more reliable. The development of the territory of the Pechora River and the Polar Urals is associated with the repeated and numerous military campaigns that went to collect tribute from the eleventh century from Novgorod, and from Moscow in the following centuries. The Russian governors demanded furs and silver from the local people of Yugra (a collective name for lands and peoples between the Pechora River and the Urals). In 1193, when the Novgorod army approached the walls of the Yugra Town, the defenders offered the Novgorodians a ransom: "silver, and sables, and other ornaments" (PSRL 1841: 21).

Other documents mention a dispute over this tribute between Moscow and Novgorod. So, in the annals of 1332, there is a record relating to the Moscow Prince Ivan I Kalita, which says: "The Grand Duke Ivan came from the Horde and reignited anger at Novgorod, asking them for Zakamsk silver" (PSRL 1841: 65). Around the beginning of the XIV century, "The Novgorodians promised Mikhail Tverskoy 6000 pounds of silver, and Vitovt paid about 60 poods (1 pood = 16.38 kg): before the discovery of America, that was a lot" (Karamzin 1817: 386). The mines of "Zakamskoye silver" (a silver mine in the Ural Mountains) in the XII centuries were owned by the people of "Yugra", and in the XIV century, it was already controlled by the Novgorodians. As a result of the Moscow-Novgorod War in 1478, Novgorod lost its independence.

Already in 1491, Moscow organized a geological exploration expedition for copper and silver ore by order of Tsar Ivan III to the former Novgorod colony on the Pechora River (PSRL 2001: 223). It was the first industrial production of non-ferrous and precious metals known in Russia. N. M. Karamzin wrote: "This important discovery made the sovereign the greatest pleasure. And from that time, we began to mine, smelt metals and mint coins from our silver" (Karamzin 1998: 506). Later, the presence of copper, silver, and gold on the Pechora River was confirmed by the famous Russian geologists A. A. Chernov and I. P. Bartenev (Bartenev 1897: 53–66).

In the XVII century, there were 20 geological survey expeditions sent to the Urals and adjacent areas in silver's search (Kurlaev 2006). In 1617, a peasant Yakov Litvinov reported to Moscow the discovery of copper on the banks of the Kama River near the village of Grigorova. Litvinov identified the areas of ancient mines: "… in the old days they made silver in Vogulichs …, and before there, up to Vogulich, 320 versts… (presumably, the legendary "Zakamskoe silver"); used to make silver in the old days in the Pechora" (the above-mentioned deposit on the Pechora River) (Russian State Archive of Ancient Acts. Case 365. 1618. № 1: 12, 14, 15).

Year	Silver received				
	Poods ^a	Pounds ^b	Kg		
1814	11	6	182.63		
1815	14	12	234.23		
1816	7	25	124.89		
1817	3	14	54.87		
1818	2	22	41.76		
1819	1	29	40.87		

 $^{a}_{h} 1 \text{ pood} = 16.38 \text{ kg}$

^b 1 pound = 0.4095 kg

In 1663, an expedition to the northern Urals,—"in vogulichi",—was organized in Cherdyn under the leadership of foreman Blinov. The route passed along one of the ancient waterways leading to the eastern slopes of the northern Urals. In 1669, experiments with copper ore from this area yielded 0.2% silver. The memory of the search for silver ores was preserved among the people: one tract was called a "silver mine", and a rock nearby was called a "silver cliff" (Chupin 1873). A century later, the merchant M. Pokhodyashin built the Petropavlovsk plant (the modern City of Severouralsk) nearby these places. In the copper ore of six mines, 0.07% silver in copper was found, although, only 0.18% silver in copper was considered economically viable for industrial extraction at that time. Nevertheless, in the early 1770s, silver copper was sent for ligature to the St. Petersburg Mint, and 2000 poods of silver copper were taken to Kolyvan for cleaning.

Thus, during 1754–1920, silver was retrieved from gold in the Urals' Chemical and Gold Alloy Laboratory. Since 1799, there was already more than 1 pood mined and since 1824 there was a sharp increase in the amount of silver obtained, coming to over 10 poods. Already in 1880, 68 poods (1114 kg) of silver were obtained using this technology. As an example, Tables 1 and 2 show the dynamics of metal smelting from silver ore at the Berezovsky state-owned fields in 1814–1819 (Table 1) and the Ural copper smelters in 1904–1914 (Table 2) wherein in 1912, the maximum amount of extracted silver was 666 poods (10,909 kg) (Rukosuev et al. 2020, 294–300). This book was the first to show the presence of silver in the northern Urals and the first place in mining in Russia during the First World War (Shumkin 2021: 11). In the USSR, the volume of smelting of precious metals was classified.

So, there is silver in the Urals, which was mined on an industrial scale, which becomes the basis for subsequent reflections. In my opinion, the testimonies of medieval travelers were true: at that time the Russians were exploiting mines and smelting silver, primarily in the Pechora River region. By the XVII–XVIII centuries, these deposits were probably depleted and were economically unprofitable for operation, but they were still remembered and the Russians who occasionally tried to resume the production. The Great Russian historian N. M. Karamzin also drew attention to the depletion of the source of "Zakamsky silver". He wrote: "Until now, we

 Table 1
 Smelting of silver at the Berezovsky state-owned industries in 1814–1819

ver smelting at	Year	Silver received		
4		Poods	Pounds	Kg
	1904	67	33	1098.81
	1905	73	02	1195.82
	1906	78	06	1277.89
	1907	69	32	1131.53
	1908	59	27	967.53
	1909	452	-	7403.76
	1910	371	18	6077.72
	1911	387	01	6339.10
	1912	666	02	10,909.16
	1913	31	18	508.52
	1914	79	33	1295.37

Table 2Silver smelting atcopper smelters in the Uralsin 1904–1914

have used other people's precious metals, obtained by foreign trade and exchange with Siberian peoples through Yugra; this last source, as it probably depleted, for in the annals and treaties of the fifteenth century there is no longer a word about Zakamsky silver. But for a long time, we had a rumor that the half-worn countries near the Stone Belt abound in metals..." (Karamzin 1998: 505).

3 Conclusions

In this paper, I have demonstrated that silver existed in the Urals in great numbers included in polymetallic ores in combination with gold, copper, or lead. In the Middle Ages in the Ural region, there were at least two centers for obtaining silver: one in the Pechora river area and another one near the Lake Vagran in the Northern Urals. This latter one, I associate with the chronicle "Zakamsky silver". By the time the Russians arrived at the Urals, the mines were depleted, and the extraction of silver became economically unprofitable before the advent of progressive technologies in metallurgy.

Having demonstrated the existence of a source of silver copper in the northern Urals in the Middle Ages according to written sources, I aim to draw the attention of archaeologists to the presence of silver in bronze items and vice versa copper in silver, as a sign of local production, as well as an abundance of silver items in medieval cultures of the Urals, in particular, local silver torcs (the "hryvnias" in Russian) of the Glazov type in the basin of the Vyatka River on the sites of the Polomskaya (the VI–IX centuries AD) and Chepetsk archaeological cultures (the X–XIII centuries AD).

For example, the knowledge of the existence of a deposit of silver copper in the northern Urals allows us to look differently at the finds containing silver copper objects of the early metal era. So, during the excavations of Geological III settlement on the Kondé river, attributed to the Polymyat type of the pre-Seima period of the Bronze Age (the end of the 3rd–1/3rd millennium BC), 12 copper finds were discovered and analyzed by spectral analysis, 10 of which had 0.13–0.43%, and lunar—1.6% silver. The researcher analyzed various versions of the origin of such a composition: from natural ore, in particular, from cuprous sandstones of the Nizhnekamsk metallurgical region to artificial alloy or the result of import (Koksharov 2012). I believe that the source of raw materials was the silver-copper deposit I have indicated, located in the region of Severouralsk, approximately 250–300 km west of the Geological III settlement.

Currently, in the northern Urals, geologists are searching for ancient mining and silver-bearing minerals. The author's hypothesis should be further tested by the study of the chemical composition of bronze and silver items.

References

- Bader, O.N., Smirnov, A.P.: «Serebro zakamskoye» pervykh vekov nashey ery. Bartymskoye mestonakhozhdeniye. Trudy GIM: Pamyatniki kultury ("Zakamskoye Silver" of the first centuries of our era. Bartym location. Proceedings of the State Historical Museum: Cultural Monuments. Is. XIII. State Publ. House kult-prosvet literature. Moscow, 25 p. (1954) (In Russian)
- Bartenev, I.P.: O mednykh rudakh na reke Tsil'me (On copper ores on the Tsilma River). News of the Imperial Russian Geographical Society. T. 33. 53–66 (1897) (In Russian)
- Belavin, A.M.: «Serebro zakamskoye» v istorii i arkheologii Permskogo Preduralya. Vestnik Permskogo nauchnogo tsentra UrO RAN ("Zakamskoye silver" in the history and archaeology of the Perm Cis-Urals). Bulletin of the Perm Scientific Center UB RAS 2, 50–61 (2013) (In Russian)
- Belavin, A.M.: Tayny «zakamskogo» serebra. In: Nauka v Rossii. 2014. № 4. (Belavin A.M. Secrets of "Zakamsky" silver. In: Science in Russia 4, 96–103 (2014) (In Russian)
- Chupin, N.K.: O nachale i razvitii gornogo promysla v Bogoslovskom Urale. Gornyy zhurnal (To the beginning and development of mining in the Theological Urals) 1–6, 88–108 (1873) (In Russian)
- Karamzin, N.M.: Istoriya gosudarstva Rossiyskogo (History of Russian Government). T. V. St-Peterburg, p. 386 (1817) (in Russian)
- Karamzin, N.M.: Istoriya gosudarstva Rossiyskogo: (History of the Russian State: [in 4 kn.]. Book 2. T. IV–VI. M: Ripol classic, 655 p (1998) (In Russian)
- Koksharov, S.F.: Pervyy metall Kondy. Vestnik arkheologii, antropologii i etnografii (Conda's first metal. Bulletin of archeology, anthropology and ethnography 4(19)), 27–42 (2012) (In Russian)
- Kurlaev, E.A.: K voprosu o kompleksnom istoriko-arkheologicheskom issledovanii pamyatnikov promyshlennosti XVII-XVIII vv. (On the issue of a comprehensive historical and archaeological study of industrial monuments of the 17th–18th centuries). Ural Historical Bulletin: materials for the II International Archaeological Congress, 14, 157–170 (2006) (In Russian)
- Polnoye sobraniye russkikh letopisey (Complete collection of Russian chronicles (PSRL) Novgorod Chronicles. Volume III. 1st edition. SPb., 320 p. (1841) (In Russian)
- Polnoye sobraniye russkikh letopisey (Complete collection of Russian chronicles (PSRL). Volume VIII. 2nd ed. M., 312 p. (2001) (In Russian)
- Puteshestviye venetsiantsa Marko Polo v XIII stoletii (Journey of the Venetian Marco Polo in the 13th century). Readings at the Imperial Society of Russian History and Antiquities at Moscow University. April-June. Book 2, 215–348 (1862) (In Russian)

- Rukosuyev, Ye.Yu. Kurlayev, Ye.A., Shumkin, G.N.: Gornozavodskaya promyshlennost Urala v XVIII nachale XX veka: Blagorodnyye metally (Mining industry of the Urals in the 18th–early 20th centuries: Noble metals). Yekaterinburg, 320 p (2020) http://www.ihist.uran.ru/files/Blagor odnye_web.pdf (In Russian)
- Shumkin, G.N.: Where I dig gold in the mountains Science of the Urals, 9–10. p. 11 (2021) http://uran.ru/node/6450 (In Russian)
Problems and Perspectives of Stone Type Investigation: Attempts to Find Out an Origin of Medieval Sculptures of Eurasian Nomads



Aleksandr V. Yevglevskyy

Abstract The 7th–13th-century medieval Eurasian sculptures contain a lot of information about nomads' spiritual culture. Unlike other works of ancient art, statues, being bulky, are often stand in the open air while exhibited in museums. As a result, natural and anthropogenic factors have a destructive effect on them, which makes it difficult to analyse their iconography and to identify places of their origin. The experience in studying the stone type of medieval sculptures under a magnifying glass in cooperation with geologists, but especially using mineralogical and petrographic analysis, helped to identify plausible places of origin for some of unidentified sculptures. In other words, it helped to localize an approximate area of their manufacture, to outline landmarks for finding quarries for the extraction of raw materials and ways of moving them to religious sites, to create conditions for identifying the school of artisans and the style of the master, which significantly depends on the type of stone.

Keywords Medieval sculptures of Eurasian nomads · Stone type · Origin of statues · Mineralogical and petrographic analyses

1 Introduction

The partial or complete absence of identification of archaeological objects complicates the extraction of scientific information. This is especially true of medieval statues, which are kept outdoors of many museums in Eastern Europe. This has led to a tangible effect on them of natural and especially anthropogenic (storage negligence, polluted environment, vandalism, etc.) factors, aggravating the clarification of their origin.

Perhaps the only way to approximate the region of origin of unidentified sculptures is a detailed comparison of their stone type with the geological characteristics of stone samples taken in places where it exits on the surface, or, at least, focusing on the geological maps. In rare cases, similar statues, which have precise or approximate

Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_36

A. V. Yevglevskyy (⊠)

Donetsk National University, DPR, Donetsk, Ukraine

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*,

indications of their origin may help to find out the origin of unidentified statues. However, the mini-lessons received from geologists on determining the rock type, its properties, and theoretically possible areas of its emergence on the surface, as well as the author's accumulated observations, are only an insufficient minimum for scientific research. We need closer cooperation with geologists, in particular, to apply their mineralogical and petrographic analysis for studying stone types.

The dominance of a certain stone type in the region, more precisely, the ornamental qualities of stone could affected sculptors, determining them to use certain tools and provoking the appearance of pictorial nuances, which were not obligated by the canon. Finally, the type of stone played an important role in the formation of sculpture iconography among a particular group of nomads at a certain period in a particular territory. The examination of the rock is of great importance when there is practically nothing left of the sculpture, i.e. when it is only clear that it conveys an image of a deceased medieval nomad. In this case, by analogy with the structure of the stone type of other adequately studied statues, one can approximate the period of the sculpture's origin.

2 Materials and Methods

Only a few specialists on the nomad medieval sculptures turned to the mineralogical and petrographic analysis (Pletneva 1974; Geraskova 1991; Yevglevskyy 2005). Sometimes researchers simply stated the importance of such a method and outlined the ways of work (Isaieva 2006), but most of them determine the stone type, so to speak, "by the eye," which often leads to errors. Although the petrographicmineralogical method, due to objective and subjective reasons, does not guarantee an accurate result (which is difficult to achieve even with a whole range of additional measures). Nevertheless, it helps to approximate the area of the statue's manufacture and reveal the ways of their movement to religious sites (burial mounds and enclosures). In many cases, it could contribute to determining the typological and chronological characteristics of sculptures. In the future, this method may create conditions for delineation of the area of a particular nomad's tribe of r even a kin, as they undoubtedly had their own ethnic and cultural traditions and styles. In some cases, it may be possible to identify the quarries for the extraction of raw materials. Finally, such an analysis helps to choose an individual method of restoration for each sculpture and to identify the museum conditions which are necessary for the proper storage.

The petrographic-mineralogical method could be very useful in many cases that are difficult to explain by providing their plausible explanations. For example, in some cases, judging by iconography or type of a sculpture, one could suppose that it should had been produced in a certain area. However, the corresponding stone type is not marked on the geological map of the corresponding region. For example, in the North-Western Azov Sea Littoral (between the Dnieper and Molochnaya rivers), at least fifteen limestone sculptures of the 2nd half of the 12th—the 1st half of the thirteenth century were found. There are three more sculptures that are made from shell rock and shell rock-limestone. Moreover, the overwhelming majority of these findings are concentrated in the coastal zone of the Azov Sea (in the Sivash region), where it is logical to expect a significant release of limestone to the surface. However, the geological map does not show any limestone deposits there. There can be three explanations for this: (1) people brought monoliths for making sculptures from neighboring areas where there is limestone; (2) all the samples interpreted with a magnifying glass as limestone are incorrectly identified. Such an assumption is possible but the shell rock barely can be confused with another type; (3) limestone outcrops, for some reason, are not marked on the geological map. If so, why? This stone type is not among the rare ones, it was impossible to miss it during any superficial way of exploring the geological structure of the region.

In connection with the problem of limestones in the Sivash region, a sculpture of the 2nd half of the 12th—the 1st half of the thirteenth century, made from ditritenummulite limestone, from the "Askania-Nova" biosphere reserve deserves special attention. Nummulites (from Lat. Nummulus—a little coin) are a genus of unicellular organisms of the order of foraminifera. Nummulite limestone is composed of shells impregnated with fine pores, symmetrically spirally twisted, and in the form of a rounded plate or biconvex (less often up to a spherical shape). Fossil remains of nummulites are known in the Upper Cretaceous and Paleogene deposits of the tropics and subtropics of Europe, Asia, Africa, and America. Thus, we can resanob-ably expect their presence in the North-Western Azov Littoral, but for some reason, they are not marked on the geological map of the Sivash region. Consequently, the sculpture or a blank monolith was most likely brought there from the Crimea Penin-sula, where nummulite deposits are found in sufficient quantities. If this is the case, it is still unclear why the craftsmen did not use the easily available numerous outcrops of different types of sandstones, which are even more malleable for skillful sculpting?

Unfortunately, we cannot solve such problematic cases within the limited space of the article, and the title of the article focuses on tasks aimed at the prospect of research.

A considerable problem is the condition of the taken samples, which often turn out to be practically unsuitable for objective exploration (or it is very difficult), since the upper layer of the rock is weathered, i.e. the informative structural elements of the stone were destroyed. First of all, we are talking about sandstones, the weathered samples of which, when examined through a magnifying glass by an experienced geologist (not to mention an archaeologist), can be confused with limestone and even with granite. However, the problem is not only in the poor preservation of most of the statues. It is also the fact that it is often impossible to take a sample from a sculpture in good condition, either because of a ban by the museum administration (and no arguments help) or because of the absence of damaged areas on statues, which makes it impossible to take a sample without causing visible damage to a sculpture. In this case, we need some kind of non-contact research methods, somewhat close to laser technologies, with the help of which modern specialists harmlessly restore sculptures. The catastrophic lack of funds to pay for the professional examination of specimens adds to all the mentioned difficulties in the investigation of statues. This is especially true for the post-Soviet states, where there is often no funding even for rescue work in the zones of the destruction of archaeological sites. Therefore, it is difficult to overestimate every sample taken from the sculpture, with the preserved top layer of stone. However, even in this case, it is not always possible to make a thin section from the sample, since it turns out to be too thin for a mechanical cut or too fragile.

3 Results and Discussion

The work on taking the samples of medieval nomads' stone sculptures is in full swing at the Donetsk national university. However, the general tendencies, i.e. where and how many sculptures were made from certain stone types, have already been determined. As for the Eastern European steppes, we can confidently say that the majority of sculptures were made of grey and yellowish-grey fine-grained quartz sandstone with contact and film-porous cement. However, the thin sectioning suggests that the number of sculptures made of feldspar-quartz sandstones and it is likely that their number will increase significantly, since when viewed through a magnifying glass, feldspar is often not visible. Besides, feldspar intensively erodes, clay mineral replaces it and, as a result, it is carried out of the surface of the rock. Instead of feldspar grains, pores remain, so it often seems that the sandstone has a primary quartz composition (Isaieva 2006). Sculptures made of limestone are about two times less than those made of sandstone; limestone is either an oolitic structure or an oolitic one with an admixture of whole and detrital shells (shell-detrital-oolitic). Allied rocks, i.e. limestone-shell rock and shell rock, are concentrated, as a rule, in the coastal zones. Sculptures made of granite are found in the Eastern European steppes about five times rarely than sandstone statues. In rare cases, the sculptures are made of gneiss, crystalline schist, marl, chalk.

At the moment, the analysis of a large number of sculptures by a pair of combined features "a rock type" and "an iconographic type" (the ethnic and cultural layers) permits us to confidently say that, for example, sculptures made of granite, wherever they were recorded now in Eastern Europe, most likely come from the Northern Azov region. For sculptures made of gneiss, quartzite, or chalk, we also may approximately determine the production area. A completely different situation is for numerous types of sandstones and limestones. Their outcrops are common in the vast expanses of the Eastern European and Asian steppes, but the deposits formed under specific conditions. Therefore, not an archaeologist nor even a geologist could examine the samples through a magnifying glass properly; the only hope is on thorough professional petroglyph and mineralogical research, firstly on the microscopic study of rocks in transparent thin sections.

After getting the characteristics of the sample, the next step is the search for similar stone types by passing along promising routes and recording every outcrop

of bedrock on the way. Then, one should make a general comparison of recorded samples with sculpture ones in the laboratory. After that, one needs to compare the samples more accurately by microscopic methods and, if it is necessary and possible, involves spectral, chemical, and other analyzes. Such research steps (field explorations and laboratory work) could help to narrow the area of distribution of probable raw materials or even, with luck, to find a specific place of its extraction by a medieval craftsman (Isaieva 2006).

For now, we have only two dozen thin sections; in other cases, we get information on the stone type of sculptures literally in an artisanal way, i.e. "under a magnifying glass". However, we hope that in the future, our university will significantly improve its financing and, as a result, we will be able to produce at least a few more thin sections. Then, for sure, we will supplement our superficial results with numerous corrections. In any case, we have advanced much further than S. Pletneva did, who in her fundamental research "The Polovtsian stone statues", without close contact with geologists, had to give such vague definitions for many sculptures as "greystone", "flagstone", etc. (Pletneva 1974).

In addition to the problem of undocumented sculptures, a thorough comparison of the typological and chronological characteristics of the sculptures with the archeopetrographic data puts forward the following questions: to what extent and under what circumstances the accessibility of raw material suitable for sculpting influenced the master's choice of stone type, and what other factors could also influence them. So to say, to what extent did the master become dependent on a fashion for the stone type, its color, hardness, and graininess? Whether the level of craftsman's skills, they need to do the work as quickly as possible, the wishes of a family group, etc., influenced on his choice of the stone type as well?

At the same time, we can say that the choice of the stone type has no correlation with social, age, and sex characteristics in any way. It is quite another matter that nomads could not have such motivations by a certain period in principle.

4 Conclusions

In general, it is clear now that the paradigms in the tradition of making sculptures, at least for Eastern European sculptures, have undoubtedly changed over time, including the attitude to the choice of stone type.

In any case, at the pinnacle of the heyday of the sculpture-making, they used the softest stone types, i.e. fine-grained sandstone of light shades and especially chalk, which was suitable to perform on it the subtle details of clothing, weapons, jewelry, hairstyles, faces and other nuances of iconography. Likely, archeopetrography could also help to solve other related questions that not only are not mentioned in the article but also have not even been raised for today.

I would like to emphasize once more that it is important to have as many stone samples with mineralogical and petrographic characteristics, which were obtained using the thin section method, as possible.

References

- Geraskova, L.S.: Skulptura serednovichnykh kochovykiv stepiv Skhidnoi Evropy (Sculpture of medieval nomads of the steppes of Eastern Europe). 130 p. Naukova dumka Publ., Kyiv (1991) (In Ukrainian)
- Yevglevskyy, A.V.: Ob antropogennyh faktorah razrusheniya kamennyh izvayanij (On the anthropogenic factors of destruction of stone statues) Arheomineralogiya i rannyaya istoriya mineralogii. Materialy Mezhdunarodnogo seminara. Syktyvkar, Respublika Komi, Rossiya. 30 maya 4 iyunya 2005 g. (Archeomineralogy and early history of mineralogy. Materials of the International Seminar. Syktyvkar, Komi Republic, Russia. May 30 June 4, 2005), 15–16. Syktyvkar (2005) (In Russian)
- Isaieva, I.V.: Zastosuvannia petrohrafo-mineralohichnoho metodu pry vyvchenni tiurkskykh kamianykh statui (Application of petrographic-mineralogical method in the study of Turkic stone statues). Naukova paradyhma heohrafichnoi osvity Ukrainy v XXI stolitti: Zbirnyk naukovykh statei II mizhvuzivskoi naukovo-praktychnoi konferentsii 22 hrudnia 2006 roku (Scientific paradigm of geographical education of Ukraine in the XXI century: Collection of scientific articles of the II interuniversity scientific-practical conference on December 22, 2006), 408. Donetsk (2006) (In Ukrainian)
- Pletneva, S.A.: Poloveckie kamennye izvayaniya (Polovtsian stone sculptures). Arheologiya SSSR. Svod arheologicheskih istochnikov (Archeology of the USSR. Set of archaeological sources), E 4–2, 200 p. (1974)

About the Life and Work of Archaeologist Prof. Gennady B. Zdanovich



Natalia Ankusheva

On November 19, 2020, a great scientist, professor of Chelyabinsk State University, archaeologist Gennady B. Zdanovich passed away. It is hard to believe this loss. The activity of Prof. Zdanovich was wide and various. These are both archaeological discoveries, and wide educational, public activity. But the main thing that he left, what he opened for us is a special approach to archaeological antiquities and through them to the man. Prof. Zdanovich is a Doctor of Historical Sciences, Professor; General Director of the Specialized Natural Landscape and Historical and Archaeological Center "Arkaim"; Head of the Department of Archaeology, Ethnography and Socio-Natural History at Chelyabinsk State University and author of more than 150 scientific publications, including 4 monographs.

Gennady B. Zdanovich was born on October 4, 1938 in Makhachkala, Dagestan. After high school graduation, he entered Alma-Ata film college, graduated from it in 1959, and till 1961 worked as a projectionist. His way in archaeology began in 1961 when he joined the Department of History of Ural State University. As a student, he began working in the university laboratory of archaeological research headed by the great Soviet archeologists Vladimir F. Genning. Then he took part in archaeological expeditions on the territory of the Urals.

In 1966 Gennady B. Zdanovich graduated from the University and left for Petropavlovsk city in Northern Kazakhstan where he became the teacher of Petropavlovsk State Pedagogical Institute and researcher of the North Kazakhstan Historical and Local Lore Museum. In 1967 he organized the North Kazakhstan archaeological expedition.

By this time the Northern Kazakhstan steppes were practically a blank spot on the archaeological map of the country. Already in the first years of work, the expedition

On Behalf of the Editorial Board

N. Ankusheva (🖂)

South Urals Federal Research Center of Mineralogy and Geoecology, UB RAS, Miass, Russia

Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86040-0_37 449

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022 N. Ankusheva et al. (eds.), *Geoarchaeology and Archaeological Mineralogy*,

has found out the monuments of the unknown Bronze Age culture which was named "Petrovsky". Petrovka II, Novonikolskoye I, Bogolyubovo IV fortified Bronze Age settlements were discovered and investigated. The results of these works were highly evaluated by the leading domestic specialists.

In Northern Kazakhstan, Gennady B. Zdanovich developed and introduced a new method of excavation of Bronze Age multilayer settlements by wide areas with the construction of stratigraphic columns. For the first time in the region, Gennady B. Zdanovich began to involve specialists in natural science methods to archaeological research and analysis of material. He developed a new periodization of the Bronze Age cultures of the Ural-Kazakhstan region. In 1976 by results of these researches he defended the dissertation on a scientific degree of the candidate of historical sciences.

Since the end of the 1960th years based on the North Kazakhstan archaeological expedition, the scientific collective which subsequently became the basis of the Chelyabinsk archaeological school was formed. The collective included: Svetlana Ya. Zdanovich (now Ph.D., the associate professor of ChelSU), Victor F. Zaybert (now the corresponding member of National Academy of Sciences of Republic Kazakhstan), Maral K. Khabdullina (the doctor of historical sciences, the director of Scientific Research Institute of Archaeology named by K. A. Akishev), Alexander D. Tairov (Doctor of History, Head of the Department of History and Ethnology, SUSU), Anatoly A. Pleshakov (Ph.D., Head of the History of Kazakhstan Department at North Kazakhstan University), Tatiana S. Malyutina (Ph.D. in History, Associate Professor at ChelSU), Natalia S. Tatarintseva (curator of the "Nature and Man" Museum on Arkaim), Nadezhda O. Ivanova (Deputy Director of the Chelyabinsk Region's Regional Museum of 'Nature and Man'), Nadiya Konstantinova (Deputy Director of the Chelyabinsk Region's Regional Museum of 'Nature and Man'), etc. When creating the scientific team, Gennady B. Zdanovich showed great ability to unite and captivate young researchers with the ideas of studying antiquity and creative talent for posing and solving archaeological issues.

In 1972–1975, Gennady B. Zdanovich worked as the senior teacher of the Karaganda State University, and in 1976 together with the collective he moved to Chelyabinsk and created a Laboratory of Archaeological Researches in Chelyabinsk State University. For many years he headed this laboratory, and in 1994 he became the Head of the Department of Archaeology, Ethnography, and Social and Natural History.

The Ural-Kazakhstan archeological expedition headed by Gennady B. Zdanovich was formed in 1976 and based on the North-Kazakhstani expedition, deployed largescale research in the territory of the Southern Urals. Together with the Ural Archaeological Expedition of Vladimir F. Genning, they conducted multi-year researches of the Bronze Age cultural complex on the Sintashta River in the Breda district of the Chelyabinsk region.

Here the first fortified settlement in the steppe Trans-Ural region of the circular plan of the beginning of II millennium BC was excavated, rich burial complexes with a circular arrangement of burial pits, complex grave structures, remains of wooden chariots, and numerous animal sacrifices in the burial chambers were studied. Ethnic interpretations Vladimir F. Genning and Gennady B. Zdanovich concluded the settlement in the Southern Urals in the Bronze Age Indo-Iranian tribes with high culture.

In the Ural-Kazakhstan archaeological expedition headed by Gennady B. Zdanovich, the students and young specialists worked, who became now the leading Chelyabinsk archaeologists: Nikolay B. Vinogradov (Doctor of History, Head of the Archaeological laboratory of the Chelyabinsk State Pedagogical University), Sergey G. Botalov (Doctor of History, Director of the Archeological Scientific Center), Vadim S. Mosin (Doctor of History, Director of the South Ural Branch of the Institute of History and Archaeology UB RAS), Stanislav A. Grigoryev (Ph.D., senior researcher of the Institute of History and Archaeology UB RAS), Dmitry G. Zdanovich (Ph.D. in History, Director of the Scientific and Educational Complex for studying the problems of nature and man at Chelyabinsk State University), Andrey V. Epimakhov (Ph.D. in History, Associate Professor of SUSU), Ilya E. Lyubchansky (Ph.D. in History, Associate Professor at Chelyabinsk State University), Nikolay M. Menshenin (Chief Specialist at the State Research Center for the Protection of Historical and Cultural Monuments in Chelyabinsk Region), etc. The Chelyabinsk archaeological school was being formed and the works are well-known not only in Russia but all over the World.

In 1987 the expedition team led by Sergei G. Botalov and Vadim S. Mosin, researching the Bredinsky area in the territory to be flooded by Karaganda Reservoir, discovered Arkaim fortified settlement, a wonderfully preserved site, sincultural complex explored on the Sintashta River. The excavations began in the same year under the leadership of Gennady B. Zdanovich. On Arkaim, archaeological groups from all over the country worked—in different periods in excavations participated over 400 people. Archaeological researches combined with geodesic and geophysical works allowed restoring the appearance of the ancient monument.

Arkaim is one of the brightest phenomena in the history of mankind's architecture. It consists of many elements designed in a single space: deep moats, high defensive walls, 60 houses, drainage waterways, complex complexes of four fortifications, inner and outer defense systems were implemented in a single structure and built on the model of concentric circles with an overall diameter of 170 m. This is a huge geometric symbol, built by the ancient people in the space of the steppe sacred to them.

The studies of the scientific team headed by Gennady B. Zdanovich provided to examine that the Arkaim was built about 4000 years ago in the beginning of the II millennium BC. It was inhabited by people of Caucasoid appearance, whose culture was associated with the Indo-Iranian tradition. They can make strong pottery and decorated it with geometric ornaments, bronze metallurgy, processed lead, tin, gold, and silver, raised livestock, cultivated small fields, and vegetable gardens. They were excellent horsemen and creators of light steppe chariots. Among them were priests and poets, creators of myths and rituals.

The efforts of the scientific community, organized by Gennady B. Zdanovich, resulted in stopping the construction of the Karaganda Reservoir. In 1991 the area of the Arkaim valley around the ancient monument was declared a protected area.

At the end of the 1980s, the work of the research group was joined by the group of deciphering of the aerial photos headed by Ia M. Batanina. As a result of the work of this group in the Chelyabinsk region and adjoining areas of the Orenburg region, Trans-Ural Bashkiria, and the Republic of Kazakhstan over 20 fortified settlements, archaeologically referred to as "monuments of Sintashta type" were discovered. Each settlement has the strong geometrical form—as a rule, circle, rectangular or oval. All of them were protected by complex fortification systems, including moats, ramparts, defensive systems, towers, and fortification complexes.

Under the leadership of Gennady B. Zdanovich and Ia M. Batanina for the first time in Russia, the deciphering of aerial photographs began to be used for a comprehensive archaeological survey of vast areas. As a result of the use of aerial photographic method, Archaeological atlas of Kizilsky area was published, which contains information about more than 800 archaeological sites.

The territory of location of Sintashta type monuments was named "Land of Cities". For its protection and research by the Administration of the Chelyabinsk region in 1994 was organized a Specialized Natural Landscape and Historical and Archaeological Center "Arkaim" headed by Gennady B. Zdanovich and started to work an Integrated Archaeological, Ethnographic and Environmental Expedition of the Center "Arkaim". Summarizing the results of the researches, G. B. Zdanovich defended the doctoral dissertation in 2002, where he presented his vision of the Bronze Age cultures of the of the Ural-Kazakhstan steppes.

On Arkaim, Gennady B. Zdanovich gathered the specialists in natural sciences: geologists, soil scientists, hydrologists, botanists, zoologists, and paleozoologists.

In the late 1990's—early 2000's a scientific base and a large museum complex were created on Arkaim, the building of the Museum of Nature and Man was constructed, where not only the demonstration but also the storage and processing of the most valuable collection material is carried out. The open-air historical park was created—a system of reconstructions of domestic and sacred buildings from the Stone Age to the late XIX century and the Museum of ancient technology.

Later Prof. Zdanovich headed the scientific team, which conducted complex research on the territory of the steppe and forest-steppe of Trans-Urals. Archaeologists and ethnographers of the "Arkaim" Center studied the stages of cultural landscape formation, the history of Trans-Ural cultures and their interaction, and, first of all, the culture of the "Land of Cities" population. Now the development of museum activities at Arkaim is continued. Gennady B. Zdanovich was undoubtedly the main linchpin of this great team.